BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY



OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES OF YALE UNIVERSITY DECEASED DURING THE YEAR 1944-1945

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The Bulletin, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- 1. The University Catalogue Number.
- 2. The Report of the Treasurer Number.
- 3. The Catalogue Numbers of the several Schools.
- 4. The Alumni Directory Number.
- 5. The Obituary Record Number.

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

OBITUARY RECORD

OF GRADUATES DECEASED DURING THE YEAR ENDING JULY 1, 1945

INCLUDING THE RECORD OF A FEW WHO DIED PREVIOUSLY, HITHERTO UNREPORTED, AND OF A NUMBER OF STUDENTS WHO LEFT COLLEGE TO ENTER FEDERAL SERVICE

NUMBER 104

NEW HAVEN 1946

CONTENTS

| Biographies of Graduates | ٠ | ٠ | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | • | 5 |
|-------------------------------|-----|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|---|---|---|-------------|
| Yale College | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | • | | 5 |
| Sheffield Scientific School | | • | • | • | | • | • | • | | | | • | 240 |
| School of Engineering. | | • | • | | • | | • | • | | | • | | 320 |
| Graduate School | | • | | • | • | | • | • | • | • | • | | 325 |
| Masters of Arts | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | • | • | | 325 |
| Master of Science . | | | • | • | • | • | • | | | • | | | 333 |
| Doctors of Philosophy | - • | | • | • | • | | • | • | • | | | | 334 |
| School of Medicine | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | • | • | • | | 339 |
| Divinity School | • | | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | 344 |
| School of Law | | • | • | • | • | | • | | • | • | • | • | 355 |
| Bachelors of Laws . | • | | • | • | • | • | • | | | | | • | 355 |
| Master of Laws | • | • | • | • | • | • | | | | | | • | 373 |
| | • | | | • | • | • | • | • | | | | | 374 |
| Doctor of Law | • | | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | | 376 |
| | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | • | • | | | 377 |
| | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | | | • | | 377 |
| School of Forestry . | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | | | • | 378 |
| School of Nursing . | • | | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | | • | | 384 |
| Supplement | | | | | | | | | • | • | | | 385 |
| Dates of Death of Recipients | of | Ho | nor | ary | De | gre | es | • | | | | | 425 |
| Dates of Death of Certificate | e H | Iold | ers | anc | l N | on- | Gra | adua | ates | | | | 42 5 |
| Statistics | | | • | • | • | | ٠ | | | | | | 433 |
| Index | • | • | • | • | | • | • | • | | • | ٠ | | 435 |

YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD*

YALE COLLEGE

Herbert McKenzie Denslow, B.A. 1873.

Born August 20, 1852, in Lynn, Mass Died September 7, 1944, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Dwight Bennett Denslow, secretary Hazard Powder Company, New York City; son of Allen Andrews and Rebecca Bradley (Tallmadge) Denslow of Savannah, Ga., and New Haven, Conn. Mother, Loise Atkinson (Staple) Denslow; daughter of Rev. Mark Staple, D.D., and Elizabeth Atkinson (Smith) Staple of Newburyport, Mass. Yale relatives include a cousin, Malcolm M McKenzie, '79.

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute. Second prize for English composition first term Sophomore year and first prize second term; Exhibition prize and philosophical oration appointment Junior year; second prize for English composition, Townsend Premium, and salutatory oration appointment Senior year; Class Picture Committee; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon,

Alpha Delta Phi, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa

Taught Latin, English, and mathematics at General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven, 1873-74; instructor in natural science Olivet College 1874-75; studied at Yale Divinity School and tutor in mathematics in Yale College 1875-77, attended Berkeley Divinity School, Middletown, Conn., 1877-78, ordained deacon Trinity Church, Middletown, May 29, 1878, and priest St Paul's Church, New Haven, May 30, 1879; minister Grace Church, New Haven, Conn, 1879-82, Trinity Church, Rutland, Vt, 1882-85, Trinity Church, Seneca Falls, N.Y., 1885-93, Harcourt Parish, Gambier, Ohio, 1893-96 (professor of liturgics Kenyon College), Grace Church, Muncie, Ind, 1896-1901, and St. John's Church, Lafayette, Ind, 1901-02; Eugene H Hoffman professor of pastoral theology General Theological Seminary of the Protestant Episcopal Church 1902-27, sub-dean 1907-31, and lecturer in liturgics 1924 until retirement 1931, resided in Hartford 1931-44, MA Hon. Kenyon College 1896; D.D. General Theological Seminary 1907, lecturer Hobart College 1889-93; examining chaplain for Vermont 1882-85 and Indiana 1896–1901; on diocesan board of missions Vermont and Central

^{*}If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere

New York 1882–93 and Indiana 1896–1901; deputy to General Convention of Protestant Episcopal Church, Indianapolis, 1901; charter member and first president Interdenominational Ministerial Association of Ontario and Seneca counties; president Torrey Botany Club 1928–29; member corporation New York Botanical Garden and honorary custodian of herbarium, member Connecticut Botanical Society and St. James' Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Married June 28, 1877, in New Haven, Anna Mary, daughter of George and Mary (North) Olmsted. Children Dwight Norton (Kenyon Coll. ex-'99); Rebekah (Mrs. Frederick D Graves); Theodore North (B.A. Trinity Coll 1904 [1923]); and Helen Elizabeth (Mrs. Henry Sherman

Smart). Mrs. Denslow died September 21, 1924.

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by children, eight grandchildren, and ten great-grandchildren.

John Calvin Goddard, B.A. 1873.

Born September 18, 1852, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died March 17, 1945, in Orlando, Fla.

Father, James Edward Goddard, a merchant in New York City; son of Hezekiah and Eunice (Rathbone) Goddard of New London, Conn. Mother, Catherine Frederica (Jennings) Goddard of New York City. Yale relatives include. John C Goddard (B.A. 1833) and George W. Goddard (B.A. 1845) (uncles); Salter S. Clark, '73 (brother-in-law); Carolus T. Clark, '09, Edward G. Clark, '11, Salter S. Clark, Jr, '12, and Coleman T. Clark, ex-'18 (nephews)

Bartlett High School, New London. Third premium for solution of mathematical problems Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; second Clark premium for solution of astronomical problems and second prize for English composition Senior year; Com-

mencement speaker, member Delta Kappa and Alpha Delta Phi.

Teacher in Yonkers, NY., 1873, a founder of Lawrence, Texas, 1874 and resided there until 1878 (engaged in editing a newspaper, managing a grain warehouse, selling real estate, and studying law and medicine); attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1878–81 (graduate 1881); ordained in Western Avenue Congregational Chapel (later Covenant Congregational Church) 1881 and minister there 1881–84; minister Salisbury (Conn.) Congregational Church 1884–1920 and minister emeritus 1920–45; S.T.D. Gettysburg College 1915; president Salisbury Choir 1908–20, Litchfield County Choral Union 1912–13, and Taconic School Corporation; secretary Scoville Memorial Library, Salisbury, 1892–1930, president 1930–45; trustee The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, 1904–45 (secretary of the

1

board 1904-29) and Mansfield State Training School and Hospital 1916-20; moderator General Association of Connecticut 1895; secretary Board of Education, Salisbury, 1889-93; secretary Class of 1873 from 1933 until 1945; Class Fund agent and toastmaster at Class dinners for the past thirty-five years; author A Leave of Absence and Other Leaves (1901), contributed section on Protestant Church to History of Connecticut by Norris Galpin Osborn, '80 (1925), editorial writer Hartford Times 1922-33 and Hartford Courant 1933-41, surveyor Litchfield North West Association of Churches 1889-1945, member Society of Colonial Wars (historian and chaplain), Sons of the American Revolution, Connecticut Historical Society, Litchfield North Association of Ministers (scribe and

registrar 1885–1929), and Salisbury Congregational Church

Married (1) August 2, 1883, in Rutland, Vt., Harriet, daughter of Charles Allen and Harriet W Warren Children Catherine Alden (Mount Holyoke Coll. ex-'06), the wife of Howard Lewis Aller (M E. Cornell Univ 1906); Miriam Warren (Simmons Coll. ex-'09), the widow of Charles H. Davis, '09 (page 121); Rose, the wife of William Mansfield Clark, Sc.D. (B.A. Williams Coll. 1907, M.A. 1908; Ph D Johns Hopkins Univ. 1910); Charles Allen, '10; John Calvin, Jr. (BA Williams Coll. 1912); Louisa Page, the wife of Joseph B. Stamp, Jr, ex-'15 S.; Ruth Salisbury, the wife of Lindley Calhoun Morton (Univ. California ex-'13); and Priscilla Alden, the wife of Edwin Lyon Allen, Jr (Univ. Michigan ex-'20). Mrs. Goddard died February 2, 1923. Married (2) November 26, 1932, in Hartford, Kathryn Cornelia Belden (Wheaton Coll. 1912), daughter of John Henry Belden and Fannie Maria (Clark) Belden (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1890).

Death due to congestive heart failure. Buried in Salisbury Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, twenty-three grandchildren, four of whom are Donald H. Davis, '37 S, Coleman W Morton, '41, Robert S Morton, ex-'44 S., and Warren A. Morton, '45W E., and twelve great-grandchildren.

James Hudson Roberts, B.A. 1873.

Born June 11, 1851, in Hartford, Conn. Died May 15, 1945, in Wethersfield, Conn

Father, William Walker Roberts, a druggist in Hartford; son of Titus Merriman and Lucia (Parmelee) Roberts of Bristol, Conn. Mother, Abigail Wells (Willard) Roberts; daughter of Asaph and Sophronia (Wells) Willard of Hartford. Yale relatives include: John Willard (B A. 1849) (uncle); Albert Warren (BA 1867) (cousin); Willard B Roberts, ex-'72 S. (brother); and Mary Florence Berry Roberts (Graduate School 1903-06, School of the Fine Arts 1903-05) (daughter-in-law).

Hartford Public High School Second mathematics prize Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year, member Gammu Nu. Attended Yale Divinity School 1873–

76 (B.D. 1876).

Attended Boston University and Andover Theological Seminary 1876-77, ordained in Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford, September 12, 1877; served as missionary for the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions in China 1877-1906; visited the United States 1887-89, 1896-98, and 1900-01; forced to flee across Gobi Desert during Boxer uprising early in 1900; attended Hartford Theological Seminary 1906-07; minister Congregational Church, Southbury, Conn., 1907-08, West Suffield 1908-09, Bolton 1909-10, and South Congregational Church, East Hartford, 1911 until retirement from the ministry 1917; field secretary for Connecticut and Rhode Island of The Lord's Day League of New England 1917; supplied pulpits on various occasions and substitute minister Congregational Church, Brookfield, 1919; author: Circular Letters from Kalgan, North China, to the First Congregational Church, Waterbury, Conn. (2 vols, 1903-04), A Flight for Life and An Inside View of Mongolia (1903), and of numerous poems and hymns; member board of managers North China Union College; registrar and treasurer Hartford Association of Congregational Ministers 1930; chaplain Colonel Jeremiah Wadsworth Branch of the Connecticut Society Sons of the American Revolution; member National Geographic Society and South Congregational Church, East Hartford.

Married (1) September 19, 1877, in Marlboro, Mass, Grace Lilla, daughter of Charles Marshall and Sarah Greene (Warren) Howe Children: Charles Asaph, '02, '06 L, John Willard (B A. Amherst Coll. 1904); and James Walker (B A Amherst Coll. 1906). Mrs. Roberts died March 31, 1920 Married (2) April 4, 1921, in East Hartford, Emma Urania Forbes Hollister, daughter of Stephen Porter and Sarah Ann (Wadsworth)

Forbes.

Death due to pulmonary edema Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, sons, a stepdaughter, Elizabeth Sarah Hollister (BS Connecticut Coll for Women 1920; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1926), five grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

Walter Hull Buell, B.A. 1880.

Born August 27, 1858, in Killingworth, Conn. Died November 30, 1944, in Bronxville, N.Y.

Father, Jeremiah Sherman Buell, a farmer in Killingworth and Madison, Conn; son of Jeremiah and Polly (Norton) Buell of Killingworth Mother, Frances Jedidah (Hull) Buell; daughter of Dr. Luther Hull and Clarissa (Denison) Hull of Killingworth. Yale relatives include. Lewin F. Buell, '85, and Colin S. Buell, '85 (brothers), Ralph L. Buell, ex-'13 (nephew).

Morgan School, Clinton, Conn High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Commencement speaker; member Gammu Nu, Linonia, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate

School 1882–83 (M.A. 1883)

Principal Lee's Academy, Madison, 1880–81; teacher School of the Lackawanna, Scranton, Pa., 1881–82 and principal 1884–99; principal Guilford (Conn) Institute 1883–84; traveled in Europe and studied at the Sorbonne and University of Berlin 1890–91; teacher French and German and head modern language department The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, 1899–1924, trustee 1924–26, acting headmaster 1924–25, headmaster 1925–26, headmaster emeritus 1926–44; since retirement had resided in Bronxville; co-adapter: French Daily Life and German Daily Life (1901); editor: Newson's First and Second French Books, First German Book, and German Reader (1901), Modern Language Bulletin 1912–14, and Modern Language Journal, president New England section Modern Language Association of America 1914–15 and chairman of the Connecticut group for two years, chairman education committee Scranton Y M.C.A., and director John Raymond Institute, Scranton; member American Philological Association and Reformed Church, Bronxville

Married December 29, 1885, in Scranton, Louise Hopkins, daughter of Rev. Thomas Mullins Cann and Sarah Smith (Goodenow) Cann No

children. Mrs Buell died December 14, 1934.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in West Cemetery, Madison Survived by two sisters, Gertrude Buell Decker (BA Smith Coll 1889) of New Rochelle, NY., and Miss Edith May Buell of Bronxville.

John Edward Bushnell, B.A. 1880.

Born October 21, 1858, in Saybrook, Conn. Died February 17, 1945, in Wooster, Ohio.

Father, John Frederick Bushnell, engaged in farming and insurance business in Saybrook; son of John Bushnell. Mother, Emma Palmer (Caulkins) Bushnell; daughter of Roswell Caulkins of Lyme, Conn

Morgan School, Clinton, Conn Second Gamma Nu prize for declamation Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Class deacon three years, Class Cup Committee Senior year; member Linonia, Gammu Nu, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Divinity School 1880–84 (B.D. 1883).

Ordained in Fairfield (Conn.) Congregational Church July 30, 1884, and minister there 1884–88; pastor Presbyterian church, Rye, NY, 1888–93, Phillips Presbyterian Church (later consolidated with Madison Avenue

Presbyterian Church), New York City, 1893–1900, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Minneapolis, Minn., 1901 until retirement 1930, pastor emeritus 1930–45; D.D New York University 1899; author: Summit Views (1919) and The History of Westminster Presbyterian Church (1938), trustee Macalester College and on committee on instruction about 1903–33; delegate and speaker Pan-Presbyterian Alliance, Aberdeen, Scotland, 1913, pioneer in broadcasting sermons in the Northwest 1923; American representative at rededication of restored Church of Columbo on Island of Iona, Nova Scotia (1913).

Married June 14, 1887, in Brooklyn, NY, Florence Augusta, daughter of Eli Phelps and Sarah Morris (Clapp) Ellsworth. Children: Ellsworth,

'11, John Horace, and Paul Palmer, '21.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis. Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, and a brother, Roswell C. Bushnell of De Land, Fla. Another brother, Henry A. Bushnell, '79, died in 1932.

John Russell Hanlon, B.A. 1882.

Born September 3, 1857, in Berlin, N.J. Died July 7, 1944, in San Rafael, Calif.

Father, Rev. Thomas O'Hanlon, D.D, LL.D. (B.A. Princeton 1863, M A. 1866), a Methodist minister; president Pennington (N.J) School for Boys, son of John and Catherine (Landers) O'Hanlon of Ireland. Mother, Hannah Maria (Maps) O'Hanlon, daughter of William Russell and Mary Ann (Tucker) Maps of Long Branch, N J Yale relatives include a nephew, Morgan H. Alvord, '24.

Pennington School for Boys, attended Dickinson College 1878-79 and Wesleyan University 1879-80. Entered Yale College Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Taught Latin, Greek, and the sciences Pennington School for Boys, 1882–84, head mathematics department and vice-president 1884–1900; principal Dinuba (Calif) High School 1900–05, Glenn County High School, Willows, 1905–10, Santa Inez High School 1910–13, Adin High School, Modoc County, 1914–15, and Hayward High School 1916 until retirement 1938; resided in Fairfax, Calif, 1939–44; member Masonic order and First Methodist Church, Hayward, Calif.

Married December 27, 1882, in Ocean Grove, N J., Lida Davis, daughter of Theodore Washington and Margaret (Hickman) Lillagore and sister of T Nelson Lillagore, '91 Children: Russell Yale (Royal School of Mines [London] 1904–07), John Nelson (Univ. California ex-'09); Marguerite Hickman (Coll of the Pacific ex-'14), the wife of Walter K Wilson; Marie Maps (B A Univ. California 1918; Mrs. Percy Murray Armitage;

died July 22, 1924); and Laura May, the wife of Bert B. Meek Mrs Han-

lon died October 27, 1941.

Death due to myocardial insufficiency. Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, Oakland, Calif Survived by two daughters, two sons, eight grandchildren, four sisters, Mary Ann H. Alvord, the widow of Samuel M. Alvord, '96, of Bolton, Conn, Mrs. Dallas Hall Platt of Los Angeles, Miss Cassie L. O'Hanlon of Ocean Grove, and Miss Laura J Hanlon of Claremont, Calif, and a brother, Joseph Thornley O'Hanlon (B A Princeton 1899) of Boonville, Calif. Another brother, Thomas O'Hanlon, Jr., '89, died in 1923.

Arthur Scranton, B.A. 1882.

Born January 24, 1860, in Scranton, Pa Died February 1, 1945, in Chilliwack, British Columbia, Canada.

Father, Joseph Hand Scranton, founder of the town of Scranton, son of Jonathan and Roxanna (Crompton) Scranton. Mother, Cornelia (Walker) Scranton; daughter of William P. and Lucy (Adam) Walker Yale relatives include: William W Scranton, '65 (brother); Charles H. Doud, '97, William D. Scranton, '97 S., and J Hamilton Scranton, '98 (cousins); Worthington Scranton, '98 (nephew).

Prepared at Phillips-Andover.

Until 1912 lived abroad, for the most part in Germany, France, and Russia; for a time was manager of the Lackawanna Steel Company, Buffalo, N.Y., later lived in Slatington, Pa, and in Edmonton, Alberta, 1930-45.

Married October 15, 1884, in St Albans, Vt, Mary Dumesnil, daughter of Emerson and Mary (Graham) McIlvaine. Children: John Walworth and Marian (both deceased) Mrs. Scranton is no longer living.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Ashes interred in Burnaby, British Columbia. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Charles Winslow Burpee, B.A. 1883.

Born November 13, 1859, in Rockville, Conn Died May 13, 1945, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Thomas Francis Burpee, a woolen manufacturer in Rockville; Colonel 21st Regiment Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War, son of Thomas and Betsey (Temple) Burpee. Mother, Adeline Minerva (Harwood) Burpee, daughter of Ebenezer and Minerva (Dimock) Harwood Yale relatives include: Lucien F Burpee, '79 (brother), Thomas D. Goodell, '77, and Edwin B. Goodell, '77 (cousins)

Rockville High School. First prize in English composition first term

Sophomore year and second prize second term; first dispute appointment and Exhibition speaker Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; on board Yale Courant Sophomore year; chairman editorial board Yale Daily News Senior year; a Class deacon; coauthor Medea, a two-act play produced by Yale University Dramatic Association 1881; acting fleet captain Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Senior year; member Gamma Nu, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

City editor Waterbury (Conn.) American 1883-91; part owner Bridgeport (Conn) Standard 1891-95; on staff Hartford Courant 1895-1904 (managing editor 1900-04); editor Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company, Hartford, and later chief of reinstatement division 1904 until retirement 1935; literary editor Hartford Times 1930-35; author: The Military History of Waterbury (1891), Graduate Course of Applied Psychology in Life Insurance (1913), First Century of the Phoenix National Bank of Hartford (1914), A History of Hartford County (1928), A Century in Hartford (1931), and Burpee's The Story of Connecticut (1939, 4 vols), contributed to History of Waterbury (1896) by Rev. Joseph Anderson, DD, member Yale Corporation, and History of Connecticut in Monograph Form by Norris Galpin Osborn, '80 (1925); enlisted as private First Connecticut Volunteers during Spanish-American War; Captain Connecticut National Guard, and Colonel First Regiment 1917-21; vicepresident Yale Alumni Association of Hartford 1908-09, president 1909-10, and secretary Hartford Yale Loan Fund; Connecticut State secretary National Citizens League for the Promotion of a Sound Banking System; secretary Municipal Art Society of Hartford, on Hartford Board of Education and High School Building Committee; member National Economic League, Sons of the American Revolution, Connecticut Historical Society, Friends of Hartford, and Congregational church

Married November 5, 1885, Bertha, daughter of Ransom B. and Anna (Stillman) Stiles and a descendant of Ezra Stiles (BA 1746) Son: Stiles, '26

Death due to a stomach hemorrhage. Buried in White Oak Cemetery, Southbury, Conn Survived by son

Francis Bartlett Kellogg, B.A. 1883.

Born September 20, 1855, in Avon, Conn. Died October 25, 1944, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Bela Crocker Kellogg, a harness maker in Avon, judge Avon district probate court, postmaster and town clerk of Avon; son of Rev. Bela Kellogg (B.A. Williams Coll. 1800) and Lydia (Candee) Kellogg of Brookfield and Avon Mother, Mary Golden (Bartlett) Kellogg; daughter of Rev John Bartlett (B.A. 1807) and Jane (Golden) Bartlett of West

Avon. Yale relatives include Rev. Shubael Bartlett (B.A. 1800) (great-uncle); Wing Yung (B.A. 1854) (brother-in-law); Herbert H Kellogg, '94, Morrison B. Yung, '98 S, Charles A. Kellogg, '00, and Bartlett G.

Yung, '02 (nephews).

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year; first dispute appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; president Freshman Glee Club, member Class glee club three years and University Glee Club four years (secretary and treasurer Junior year, president Senior year); member College Choir and University Orchestra four years; coeditor Yale Song Book, financial editor Yale Courant Junior and Senior years; chairman Senior Promenade Committee, member University Club, Eta Phi, Sigma Epsilon, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head. Attended Yale School of Law 1883–84 and Yale School of Medicine 1884–86 (MD 1886)

Studied at New York Medical College and Flower Hospital 1886–87 (M D. 1887) and in Vienna 1891–92, house surgeon Ward's Island Hospital, New York City, 1887–88, physician in New Haven 1888–89 and Tacoma, Wash, 1889–97; oculist and aurist in Los Angeles 1897 until retirement 1924; president Children's Home Society of California 1919–22, California State Homeopathic Society, Municipal League, and Los Angeles City Club; president Yale Club of Southern California 1899–1909 and chairman and honorary president Southern California Alumni Association Scholarship Fund; on Civil Service Commission, Los Angeles, oculist Local Draft Board No. 17, Los Angeles, in World War I, fellow American College of Surgeons; member Los Angeles and Los Angeles County Medical societies, Los Angeles Eye, Ear, Nose and Throat Society, California and American Medical associations, American Institute of Homeopathy, and First Congregational Church, Los Angeles

Married August 28, 1889, in New Haven, Conn, Elizabeth, daughter of John and Mary (Tuttle) Brockett Children: Sanford Brockett, '17; Mary Brockett Kellogg Hornaday (B.A. Mills Coll 1920; M A. Univ Southern California 1921); and Frances Elizabeth Kellogg Walther (cert

Mus. Mills Coll. 1924). Mrs. Kellogg died July 16, 1934

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Hollywood Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by children, three grandchildren, two great-grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Jane Kellogg of Los Angeles.

John Atwood Moore, B.A. 1883.

Born February 9, 1861, in St. Louis, Mo Died March 17, 1945, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Henry Clay Moore, chief engineer Missouri Pacific Railroad Company, St. Louis; son of Robert and Mary (Stibbs) Moore of Beaver, Pa. Mother, Amanda R. (Atwood) Moore.

Washington University Academy, St. Louis Second dispute appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; member

Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Engaged in land speculation Tacoma, Wash.; occupied in St. Louis and as a rancher in Montana; associated with Altman & Taylor Machinery Company, Mansfield, Ohio; worked successively in Cleveland, Boston, Indianapolis, and in Springfield, Mass., from about 1909 until 1914; auditor Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company 1914–45; member Roman Catholic church.

Married September 20, 1904, Mary Hannah Hice. No children. Mrs. Moore died March 19, 1927.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Wilbur Franklin Booth, B.A. 1884.

Born August 22, 1861, in Seymour, Conn. Died July 7, 1944, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Rev Albert Booth (B A. 1850). Mother, Louisa (Tristram) Booth. Yale relatives include: Franklin Booth (Ph B. 1859) (uncle); and Franklin H Booth, '98 (nephew).

Cheshire (Conn) Academy. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin composition Freshman year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year; salutatory oration appointment and Commencement speaker Senior year; Class baseball team Sophomore year; member Delta Kappa, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1884-86 and Yale School of Law 1886-88 (LL B. magna cum laude 1888; Betts Prize and honors Junior year; Jewell Prize Senior year).

Admitted to Connecticut bar 1888 and Minnesota bar 1889; lawyer in St Paul 1889–90 (member Peters [Frank G, '86] & Booth) and in Minneapolis 1890–1944 (in partnership with his brother, Samuel, 1898; partner Tryon & Booth 1904–09), judge Hennepin County district court 1909–14, United States District Court, District of Minneapolis, 1914–25, and United States Circuit Court of Appeals 1925–44; assistant counsel Minneapolis & St Louis Railway Company 1890–98 and receiver 1925–39; president Yale Alumni Association of the Northwest 1910, member Hennepin County, Minnesota State, and American Bar associations, and Minnesota Historical Society

Unmarried.

Death due to Parkinson's disease. Ashes interred in Bridgeport, Conn. Survived by a sister, Mrs Ella B. Disbrow, and a brother, James Rubert Booth, both of Bridgeport. Another brother, Samuel A. Booth, '84, died in 1898

Edmund Petrie Cottle, B.A. 1884.

Born July 6, 1861, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died December 18, 1944, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, Octavius Orlando Cottle, a lawyer in Buffalo; son of Philip Smith and Harriet Biron (Weston) Cottle of Fredonia, N.Y. Mother, Frances Ford (Petrie) Cottle; daughter of Joram and Frances (Ford) Petrie of Little Falls, N.Y

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass President and member Freshman Lacrosse Team; University Lacrosse Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; president Yale Lacrosse Association Junior and Senior years; member Class Lacrosse Club; floor manager Senior Promenade Committee; member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon; awarded degree in 1885 with enrollment in Class of 1884.

With American Lacrosse Team in-England for six months 1884; special student University of Buffalo Law School and studied law with his father 1885–87; admitted to the bar 1887; lawyer in Buffalo 1887 until retirement 1941 (associated with his father 1887–1912); secretary and treasurer Ellicott Brick Company 1903–37; member New York National Guard 1885–1911; private 8th Brigade Signal Corps 1885–86, Second Lieutenant Company F, 74th Regiment, 1886–90, First Lieutenant 1890–92, and Captain 1892–94; Lieutenant Colonel 74th Regiment 1894–98; Lieutenant Colonel 201st Regiment, New York Volunteers, during Spanish-American War, commanding that regiment at Camp Block, Hempstead, N.Y., Fort George G. Meade, and Greenville, S.C.; also served as provost marshal Second Division, Second Army Corps; aide-de-camp to Governor Theodore Roosevelt 1899–1901; retired in February, 1911, as Brevet Colonel; member First Presbyterian Church, Buffalo.

Married June 26, 1902, in Buffalo, Bessie Edgar, daughter of William Alexander and Belle (Brewster) McKenna Children Frances McKenna, the wife of Alexander John McDonald (Univ. Pennsylvania ex-'18), and Edmund Petrie, Jr, '26 (died November 4, 1927)

Death due to ascending aerogenic infection. Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by wife, daughter, a grandson, and a sister, Jennie Williams Cottle (Wellesley Coll. 1895–96) of Buffalo

Reginald Foster, B.A. 1884.

Born January 2, 1863, in Worcester, Mass. Died December 21, 1944, in Boston, Mass

Father, Dwight Foster (BA 1848). Mother, Henrietta Perkins (Baldwin) Foster. Yale relatives include Joseph Perkins (BA. 1727) (great-great-great-grandfather); Timothy Pitkin (B.A 1747) and Roger Sher-

man (MA Hon. 1768) (great-great-grandfathers); Simeon Baldwin (B.A. 1781) and Enoch Perkins (B.A. 1781) (great-grandfathers); Ebenezer Baldwin (BA. 1763), Nathan Perkins (MA. Hon. 1774), and Samuel Perkins (BA. 1785) (great-great-uncles); Roger S. Baldwin (BA. 1811) (grandfather), Ebenezer Baldwin (BA. 1808), Thomas C Perkins (BA. 1818), and George W Perkins (B.A. 1824) (great-uncles); Edward L. Baldwin (B.A. 1842), Roger S. Baldwin (B.A. 1847), George W. Baldwin (BA. 1853), and Simeon Baldwin (BA. 1861) (uncles); Roger Foster, '78, and Burnside Foster, '82 (brothers); James K Thacher, '68 (brother-in-law); Edward B Whitney, '78, Roger S. Baldwin, '90, and Marion P. Whitney (Ph D. 1901) (cousins); Henry C. Thacher, '02, Thomas A. Thacher, '08, and Roger S Foster, '21 (nephews).

Boston Latin School and Noble's School, Boston. Second-rank composition prize first term Sophomore year and third-rank prize second term; first dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; awarded Yale Record prize for best humorous piece Junior year; financial editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta.

Attended Boston University School of Law 1884–86 (LL B 1886); admitted to the bar 1887, lawyer in Boston 1887–1944 (associated with his brother Alfred 1887–98; member Foster & Turner 1898–1936); associated with New England Mutual Life Insurance Company, Boston, 1888–1943 (attorney and counsel, vice-president and counsel 1922–43, director 1905–43), trustee Central Building Trust 1899–1940, Pemberton Building Trust 1899–1944, and Provident Institution for Savings in the Town of Boston 1924–44; vice-president Boston Yale Club 1915–16 and 1924–25; member Bar Association of the City of Boston, and Massachusetts and American Bar associations

Married March 8, 1893, in Boston, Harriette Story, daughter of Abbott Lawrence (B A Harvard 1849) and Harriette White (Paige) Lawrence. Children Ruth (M D Univ Maryland 1931); Lawrence, '21; Reginald, Jr., '22; and Maxwell Evarts, '23.

Death due to paralysis agitans. Ashes interred in Manchester, Mass. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. James K. Thacher of New Haven, Conn, and Miss Elizabeth Foster of Nice, France

Gerard Fountain, B.A. 1884.

Born October 25, 1861, in New York City. Died September 27, 1944, in Scarsdale, NY.

Father, Gideon Fountain, a builder in New York City; son of Anthony Fountain. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Keech) Fountain. Yale relatives in-

clude: George H. Fountain, ex-'76 (brother); Frederick S Winston, '77, and Brown Caldwell, '91 S. (brothers-in-law), Garrard B. Winston, '04, Hampden Winston, ex-'07 S, and Guion H Fountain, ex-'12 Spec L (nephews).

Everson's Collegiate School, New York City Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; coxswain Class crew Sophomore and Junior years; member Yale Yacht Club, Delta Kappa, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Engaged in real-estate business with his brother in New York City 1884–87; associated with John V. Farwell & Company, wholesale dry goods, Chicago, 1887–90, called home because of brother's illness, and assumed responsibility for completing his building contracts; independently engaged as an architect of suburban houses in Westchester County, NY, until retirement; a lecturer Yale School of the Fine Arts in 1927; chairman Junior Red Cross, Westchester County, in World War I; member Century Association of New York

Married April 28, 1898, in Edgewood, Pa., Elizabeth Miller Caldwell (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1897), daughter of John and Lidie J. (Miller) Caldwell Children: Audrey (B A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1922), the wife of Edward C. Porter; Olivia Caldwell (B.A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1924), the wife of S. L. Tesone; John Caldwell, '27; Katrina; and Gerard, Jr, '39, '43 M.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in churchyard of St James the Less Church, Scarsdale. Survived by wife (died September 19, 1945), children, three grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Foster Paul of New York City and Mrs. Harvey Genung of Santa Barbara, Calif

Frank Campbell Hughson, B.A. 1884.

Born September 26, 1861, in Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Died April 28, 1945, in Albany, NY.

Father, John Coonley Hughson, lumber merchant and manufacturer in Loudonville, NY; son of George and Mary Ward West Hughson of Broome Center, N.Y. Mother, Ellen (Campbell) Hughson; daughter of John and Mary (Meehan) Campbell of Rochester, NY.

Albany Academy. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Dunham Boat Club and Kappa Sigma Epsilon

Associated with Hughson & Company, lumber, Albany, 1884 until retirement 1938 (member of firm 1891–1938); member Albany Institute of History and Art, Albany Chamber of Commerce, and Fourth Presbyterian Church, Albany (trustee 1892–1945 and elder 1937–45).

Married January 26, 1929, in Merion, Pa, Frances Jeanette Heath (BA. Temple Univ. 1906; MD Woman's Medical Coll. of Pennsylvania 1912),

daughter of Nathan Brown Heath (M.A. Muhlenberg Coll. 1917) and Emma Frances (Hughson) Heath.

Death due to a tumor. Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Eva Gertrude Hughson Patton of Albany.

David Kinley, B.A. 1884.

Born August 2, 1861, in Dundee, Scotland. Died December 3, 1944, in Urbana, Ill.

Father, David Kinlay of Andover, Mass, foreman Smith & Dore Textile Mills, Andover; son of Richard Kinlay. Mother, Jessie Preston (Shepherd) Kinlay, daughter of Mungo and Isabella (Fraser) Shepherd of Dundee.

Punchard Free School, Andover, and Phillips-Andover. Entered Yale College Junior year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; member Gamma Nu and Phi Beta

Kappa

Principal North Andover High School 1884-90; attended Johns Hopkins University Graduate School 1890-92 and University of Wisconsin Graduate School 1892-93 (Ph D 1893; fellow in economics); assistant in economics Johns Hopkins University 1891-92 and University of Wisconsin 1892-93; instructor in economics Goucher College 1891-92; member faculty University of Illinois 1893-1944; assistant professor of economics 1893-94 and professor 1894-1919, dean College of Literature and the Arts 1894-1906, organizer of courses in commerce (now College of Commerce and Business Administration) 1902 and director 1902-15, dean Graduate School 1906-19, vice-president of the University 1914-19, acting president 1919-20, president 1920-30, president emeritus 1930-44; LL.D Illinois College 1908, University of Wisconsin 1918, University of Nebraska 1921, and Yale University 1924; received Newman Memorial Award for outstanding contributions to education 1930; honorary member faculty University of Santiago, Chile; Brevet Colonel Illinois National Guard 1920-30; author: The History, Organization and Influence of the Independent Treasury of the United States (1893), Money, a Study of the Theory of the Medium of Exchange (1904), Government Control of Economic Life and Other Addresses (1936), and reports prepared for National Monetary Commission 1910; editor "Preliminary Economic Studies of the War" (published under auspices of Carnegie Foundation 1919) and of many reports of Committee on Research, Division of Economics and History, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 1913–22, chairman board of directors First National Bank, Champaign, Ill, 1932-40; delegate Fourth International Conference of American States at Buenos Aires 1910; minister plenipotentiary and special delegate representing United States at centennial of Chilean

independence 1910; delegate second Pan-American Scientific Congress, Washington, 1915; special delegate to the Orient for Chicago Century of Progress Exposition 1931; his paper was read at the First International University Congress, organized by Cuban government, at Havana 1930, president American Economic Association 1913, Yale Club University of Illinois 1916, and National Association of State Universities in the United States of America 1923–24; trustee Institute of Economics 1923– 25; honorary member American Association of Public Accountants; on Illinois Insurance Commission 1906-07, Illinois Tax Commission 1910-30, Illinois Board of Natural Resources and Conservation 1917–30, Illinois Commission on State Salaries 1919, Illinois Advisory Committee on School Finance 1932-37, and Illinois Advisory Committee on Inter-governmental Debts 1933-37; member Economists' National Committee on Monetary Policy 1935-44 (on executive committee 1935-38), Royal Economic Society (London), Wisconsin Academy of Sciences, Arts, and Letters, Phi Gamma Delta, Beta Gamma Sigma, Scabbard and Blade, Alpha Kappa Psi, and First Congregational Church, Champaign.

Married June 22, 1897, in Mount Vernon, Ohio, Kate Ruth, daughter of George Daniel and Harriet (Laugherty) Neal Daughters: Harriet Kinley Brooks (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1921, M.S. Simmons Coll. 1930) and Janet Fraser (B.A. Univ. Illinois 1924), the wife of John Robert Gregg, S.C.D,

Litt.D Mrs Kinley died April 28, 1931

í

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Roselawn Cemetery, Champaign. Survived by daughters and two grandchildren.

Charles Buxton Hobbs, B.A. 1885.

Born January 7, 1863, in Richmond, Va Died October 8, 1944, in Bay Shore, N.Y.

Father, Edward Harmon Hobbs, LL.D. (B A. Middlebury Coll 1862; grad. Albany Law School 1864), member Hobbs & Gifford, lawyers, New York City; son of Benjamin and Lucy (Beaman) Hobbs of Ellenburg, N.Y. Mother, Julia Ellen (Buxton) Hobbs; daughter of Benjamin and Eunice (Pridham) Buxton of Baltimore, Md.

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute Third composition prize first term and second composition prize second term Sophomore year; second prize Junior Exhibition and oration appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; Class glee club Sophomore and Junior years; Class crew Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years, substitute University Crew Sophomore year; University Crew Junior and Senior years; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1885-87, admitted to the bar 1887; clerk Equitable Mortgage Company, New York City, 1887-88

and treasurer 1888–93; member Hobbs & Gifford (later Gifford, Stearns & Hobbs), lawyers, 1900–04, Gifford, Hobbs, Haskell [William S., '92] & Beard [Anson M., '95] (later Gifford, Hobbs & Beard) 1904 until retirement 1923, counsel Merrill, Rogers, Gifford & Woody (later Gifford, Woody, Carter & Hays) 1924–34; president Brooklyn Bedford Bank for a short time; founder Lake Placid Club Snobird Sports; member Emmanuel Church (Episcopal), Great River, Long Island.

Married June 7, 1893, in Richmond, Mary, daughter of Thomas Franklin and Mary Eliza (Buxton) Minor Son. Edward Harmon, Jr. (died March 13, 1902). Mr. and Mrs. Hobbs celebrated their 50th wedding anni-

versary on June 7, 1943.

Death due to pulmonary edema. Buried in Emmanuel Cemetery, Great River, Long Island Survived by wife.

Philip Parley Hubbard, B.A. 1885.

Born June 9, 1859, in Litchfield, Conn. Died April 6, 1945, in Torrington, Conn.

Father, John Henry Hubbard, a lawyer in Litchfield; judge Connecticut Supreme Court, member United States House of Representatives 1863–67; son of Parley and Anna (Catlin) Hubbard of Salisbury, Conn. Mother, Abby Jane (Wells) Hubbard; daughter of Tomlinson and Electa (Smith) Wells of Litchfield. Yale relatives include: John T. Hubbard, '80, and Frank W. Hubbard, '88 (brothers); and Henry H. Wells, '00, (cousin).

Litchfield School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; secretary University Lacrosse Club Junior year; Class tennis club Senior year.

Engaged in coal, iron, and hardware business Roxbury Station, Conn., 1885–87; bookkeeper First National Bank, Brewster, N.Y., 1887–90; treasurer Shepaug, Litchfield & Northern Railroad Company, Litchfield, 1890–99; associated with First National Bank, Litchfield, 1900 until retirement 1937 (bookkeeper 1900–10, cashier 1910–30, vice-president 1930–33, and president 1933–37); treasurer Litchfield County 1909–42, Town of Litchfield 1910–26, and Litchfield County Farm Bureau 1910–45; secretary and treasurer Litchfield Electric Light and Power Company; secretary Litchfield Scientific Association; member Company F, 10th Separate Battalion, Connecticut Home Guard, April 18, 1917–January 17, 1919; vestryman St Michael's Church (Episcopal), Litchfield.

Married May 9, 1896, in Litchfield, Harriet Augusta, daughter of Charles McIntyre and Augusta (Walker) Cooke Daughters: Miriam and Harriet Wells, the wife of George P. Spaar. Mrs. Hubbard died December

11, 1935.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in New East Cemetery, Litchfield Survived by daughters.

William Procter Morrison, B.A. 1885.

Born February 6, 1862, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died October 26, 1944, in Boston, Mass.

Father, John Morrison, senior partner James Morrison & Company, meat packers, Clifton, Ohio; son of James and Mary (Hunter) Morrison of County Antrim, Ireland. Mother, Elizabeth Ann (Procter) Morrison; daughter of William and Olivia (Norris) Procter of Cincinnati. Yale relatives include four nephews, John Morrison, '17 S, Robert A J. Morrison, '20 S, Thompson Morrison, '33 S., and Hunter Morrison, Jr., '33 S.

Woodward High School and William S Rix School, Cincinnati High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu, Psi

Upsilon, Wolf's Head, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Associated with James Morrison & Company 1885–86 and Morrison Packing Company, Kansas City, Kans., 1886–89; independently engaged as a grain broker in Cincinnati 1889–95; with Arcadian Process Company, manufacturers of chemicals, Cincinnati, 1895–1900; attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1901–02; admitted to the bar about 1902; lawyer in Cincinnati, Boston, and Phippsburg, Maine; salesman Bay State Paper Company, Boston, 1909–13, and Whitaker Paper Company 1913–21.

Unmarried.

Death due to heart disease and old age. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by a sister, Miss Catherine Morrison of Cincinnati, and four brothers, Harley J. Morrison, '87 S., Edwin Morrison, '89 S., Robert Morrison, ex-'97 S, and Hunter Morrison, '99 S.

Warren Austin Adams, B.A. 1886.

Born September 14, 1861, in Skaneateles, N.Y. Died August 24, 1944, in St. Petersburg, Fla.

Father, Emerson Henry Adams, a banker in Skaneateles; son of Henry and Eliza (Barbour) Adams of Canton Center, Conn Mother, Annette (Austin) Adams; daughter of Warren and Hannah (Van Etten) Austin of Owasco and Skaneateles, NY.

Skaneateles Academy. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; special honors in ancient languages Senior year; Class glee club Sophomore year; Class tennis club three years.

Instructor in Latin Kenyon Preparatory School, Gambier, Ohio, 1886-87; attended universities of Berlin and Munich 1887-89 and Yale Graduate School 1893-96 (Ph.D. 1896); instructor in languages Montclair (N J.) Military Academy 1889-91, instructor in German Cornell University

1891-93 and Yale University 1893-99; assistant professor of German Dartmouth College 1899-1904, professor 1904-31, professor emeritus 1931-44, and department head at various times, editor: Gottfried Keller's Romeo und Julia auf dem Dorfe (1900), Goethe's Hermann und Dorothea (1904), and Rogge's Der grosse Preussenkonig (1914); M.A. Hon. Dartmouth 1908; member Christ Church (Congregational), Hanover, N.H.

Married (1) September 2, 1896, in Chicago, Ill., Grace Smith (B.L. Smith Coll. 1894), daughter of Sidney B. and Marianna (Sutton) Smith Sons: Austin Lockwood, '18, and Henry, '25 (died January 28, 1926) Mrs Adams died January 31, 1916. Married (2) September 13, 1927, in Woodstock, Vt, Mary, daughter of Benjamin Vaugh and Isabelle Frances (Kerswell) Page.

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis. Ashes interred in Hanover. Survived by wife, one son, five grandchildren, and two bothers, Henry E.

Adams of Skaneateles and Spencer L. Adams, '95 L.

In 1926 Mr. Adams established at Yale, in memory of his son, the Henry Adams Memorial Fund for the purchase of books on modern European history.

Robert Appleton, B.A. 1886.

Born September 30, 1864, in Clifton, N.Y. Died January 19, 1945, in North Andover, Mass.

Father, John Adams Appleton, member D. Appleton & Company, publishers, New York City; son of Daniel and Hannah (Adams) Appleton of New York City. Mother, Serena Parker (Dale) Appleton; daughter of Dr Eben Dale and Mary (Johnson) Dale of Gloucester, Mass. Yale relatives include: Daniel S. Appleton (B.A 1843) (uncle); and D. Sidney Appleton, '80 (cousin)

St Paul's School, Concord, NH. Stroke of Class crew three years and substitute University Crew Sophomore and Junior years; on University Crew Senior year; member Class boat club, Yale Yacht Club, University Boat Club (winner single scull race Senior year), Eta Phi, and Scroll and

Key.

Associated with D Appleton & Company 1886–1905; established his own firm, Robert Appleton Company, 1905 (published *The Catholic Encyclopedia*); retired in 1925, a founder American Defense Society, Inc., 1915, trustee and treasurer during World War I, chairman board of trustees 1937–44, an active worker in civic affairs, promoted construction of Welfare Island Prison and Women's Prison on Tenth Street, New York City; member Association of Grand Jurors of New York County 1922–44 (president 1927–35, honorary president 1935–44, chairman prison committee, and editor Association's publication *The Panel*); on Class reunion

committees; awarded Distinguished Service Prize by Class of 1886 in 1936; member Church of the Heavenly Rest (Episcopal), New York City.

Married August 17, 1889, in Norwich, Conn, Juliet Bull, daughter of Henry Vail and Juliet Hubbard (Bull) Edmond Son. John Adams, '14

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia. Buried in Ridgewood Cemetery, North Andover. Survived by wife, son, four grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Marion Appleton of North Andover.

Lewis Birely Hamilton, B.A. 1886.

Born June 7, 1864, in Waterbury, Conn. Died February 11, 1945, in Bay Pines, Fla

Father, David Boughton Hamilton, president Rogers & Brother (now International Silver Company) and Manufacturers National Bank, Waterbury; senator from fifth district in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1881; son of David and Deborah Knapp (Boughton) Hamilton of Danbury, Conn. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Birely) Hamilton, daughter of Lewis and Catherine Deborah (Krebs) Birely of Frederick, Md Yale relatives include a half brother, Paul D. Hamilton, '94 S., and a half nephew, David B. Hamilton, '28 S.

English and Classical School, Waterbury, and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn. Third mathematical prize Sophomore year, president Bicycle Club Senior year (broke Yale and intercollegiate two-

mile record Sophomore year)

Levelman Meriden & Waterbury Railroad Company 1886–87 and transitman 1887-88; first assistant engineer Confluence and Oakland Railroad (Calif.) 1888-89; manager Layton (Pa.) Paving Brick Company 1889-91; associated with Banker and Campbell Company, manufacturers of bicycles, 1891–94; division engineer Cross Creek Division of Pittsburgh, Carnegie & Western Railroad, Independence, Pa., 1894-98; commissioned Second Lieutenant, 1st Regiment Volunteer Engineers, Presidio of San Francisco, June 23, 1898; transferred to 2d Regiment; promoted First Lieutenant April 24, 1899; stationed at Honolulu August, 1898-April, 1899; mustered out of service April 28, 1899, with rank of Captain, held a government position in the Philippines; engaged in building bridges in Siam and Ceylon 1907–12; engineer in Los Angeles 1912–14, an assistant engineer E. I. duPont de Nemours & Company, Penns Grove, N-J, 1916-17 and Worth Steel Company, Claymont, Del, 1917–19, draftsman Bureau of Surveys, Department of Public Works, Philadelphia, 1919-24; assistant engineer Department of City Transit, Philadelphia, 1924–28 and New Jersey State Highway Department, Cliffside, Lodi, and Midland, 1928-33; retired in 1933 and had since resided in Florida.

Married January 7, 1891, in New Castle, Pa, Harriot Guérard, daughter of Colonel Robert Bruce McComb and Annie (Guérard) McComb. Children Edgar Guérard (Carnegie Inst. Technology 1911–13, 1914–16; Harvard 1924–25); Charles Alfred; and William Rogers (Carnegie Inst. Technology 1918–20, 1921–22). Mr and Mrs Hamilton were divorced.

Death due to acute peritonitis. Ashes interred in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by children and a sister, Miss Katherine Deborah Hamilton of Tryon, N.C.

Charles Frederick Odell, B.A. 1886.

Born July 18, 1863, in Tarrytown, N.Y. Died April 30, 1945, in Tarrytown, N.Y.

Father, Jacob Odell, president Jacob Odell & Sons, lumber and coal, Tarrytown, assemblyman New York Legislature; son of Jonathan S. and Jane W. (Tompkins) Odell of Tarrytown. Mother, Harriet Eliza (Barker) Odell; daughter of Dr John Barker and Harriet (Howland) Barker of Adams, Mass.

Irving School for Boys, Tarrytown, and Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Freshman Baseball Team, Class baseball team Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years; University Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years, winner 100-yard dash Class games Freshman year and fall and spring athletic games Junior year, 220-yard dash Class games Freshman year, fall athletic games Sophomore and Junior years, and spring athletic games Junior year; Class glee club; member Hé Boulé and Psi Upsilon

Associated with Jacob Odell & Sons 1886–1917; president Tarrytown & Irvington Union Gas Light Company 1895–97; secretary Tarrytown Merchants Association 1901–10; manager Huyler & Company, chocolate products, Plattsburg, N.Y., 1915–17; religious secretary base hospital at Camp McClellan 1918; overseas April, 1918–June, 1919, with Y.M.C A.; physical director with American troops at Verdun, Soissons, and Coblenz, and with Army of Occupation; ordained deacon in Episcopal church 1920 and priest 1922, chaplain Harts Island Prison and House of Refuge, New York City, 1921–23, resident chaplain Western State Penitentiary, Pittsburgh, 1923–24; minister St. Luke's Church, Caribou, Maine, and Church of the Advent, Limestone, 1924–28, and St. Peter's Church, Portland, 1928 until retirement 1937, chaplain Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1937; successively secretary, treasurer, second assistant chief, first assistant chief, and chief Tarrytown Fire Department; member Masonic order and Christ Church (Episcopal), Tarrytown (assistant rector).

Married September 28, 1892, in Tarrytown, Louise Marion, daughter of Jonathan and Julianna (Reeves) Dade Children Helen Margaret, the wife of John Matteson Squiers (Kenyon Coll. ex-'13); and Eliott Dade.

Death due to myocardial failure. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren

Middleton Arnold Caldwell, B.A. 1887.

Born April 4, 1863, in Newburyport, Mass. Died October 22, 1944, in Norwood, Mass.

Father, John Caldwell, owner of a grocery store in Newburyport; son of John and Eleanor (Orne) Caldwell of Newburyport Mother, Ellen Langdon (Pickering) Caldwell; daughter of Valentine and Ruth (Chase) Pickering of Newington, N H

Noble's School, Boston.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1887-89 (LL B. 1889); admitted to the New York and Massachusetts bars 1889; lawyer in Boston 1889-91 and New York City 1891 until retirement 1917 (in legal department New York Central & Hudson River Railroad Company); engaged in the administration of his uncle's estate in Newburyport, member Episcopal church

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Newburyport. Survived by a brother, George Andrews Caldwell (Massachusetts Inst. Technology ex-'93) of New York City.

Walter Boughton Chambers, B.A. 1887.

Born September 15, 1866, in Brooklyn, NY. Died April 19, 1945, in New York City.

Father, William Pease Chambers (B A. Union Coll [NY] 1848), a lawyer in New York City; son of William Chambers. Mother, Caroline (Boughton) Chambers.

Brooklyn Collegiate and Polytechnic Institute. Secretary University Baseball Club Junior year; art editor Yale Record Senior year; member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Studied architecture University of Munich 1887–88 and École des Beaux Arts, Paris, 1889–91; in office of Richard Morris Hunt, architect, New York City, 1891–95; associated with Ernest Flagg, architect, 1896–1906; since 1906 had been independently engaged as an architect in New York City; one of his best-known works is the restoration of Washington's Headquarters at Dobbs Ferry, N Y. (1917), he designed Furness House, New York City (1918), International Mercantile Marine Company Building, New York City (1922), Edwin McClellan Hall (1925) and Charles Bingham Hall (1928) at Yale University, Lucinda Memorial Chapel,

Rockville, Conn, and a group of seven buildings at Colgate University; awarded gold medal by American Institute of Architects for best-designed apartment building erected in New York City, 1911, and honorable mention 1912; received New York City Downtown Association award 1922; awarded gold medal by Fifth Avenue Association 1928; contributed illustrated articles to architectural periodicals; trooper, Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1899–1905 and 1916–18; a founder Society of Beaux-Arts Architects; fellow American Institute of Architects; member Architectural League, Century Association, The Pilgrim Society (New York and London), Society of Colonial Wars, and Society of Ex-Members of Squadron A.

Married (1) June 9, 1897, in Brooklyn, Ethel, daughter of Peter Notman Son Robert Notman. Mrs Chambers died July 19, 1898. Married (2) April 23, 1901, in Dresden, Germany, Elizabeth Margery, daughter of Robert W and Elizabeth (Gregory) Ferguson. Sons: Peter Ferguson, '23, and William Hall (B A. Colgate Univ. 1932).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, sons, and grand-children.

Robert Nelson Corwin, B.A. 1887.

Born October 6, 1864, in Baiting Hollow, N.Y. Died October 14, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Josiah Frank Corwin, a farmer in Baiting Hollow; son of Robert and Margaret (Hallock) Corwin of Baiting Hollow. Mother, Jane Amanda (Norton) Corwin; daughter of Nelson and Eliza Jane (Robbins) Norton of Selden, NY.

Norwich (Conn) Free Academy. Second dispute appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Football Team; University Football Team three years (substitute Sophomore year; captain Senior year); member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones. Graduate member Elizabethan Club

Instructor in Latin and German William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia, 1888–90, studied at University of Jena 1888, and universities of Berlin and Heidelberg 1890–92 and summer 1893 (MA and Dr.Phil. University of Heidelberg 1893), member faculty Yale University 1892–1944; instructor in German 1892–97, assistant professor 1897–99, professor 1899–1933, professor emeritus 1933–44; chairman Board of Control Yale University Athletic Association 1915–19, Board of Admissions 1919–33 (chairman emeritus 1933–44), and Committee on Teaching Appointments 1921–22, head German department Sheffield Scientific School and chairman of its committee on admissions for many years; represented Yale on College Entrance Examination Board 1909–33 (vice-chairman of the

board 1912–17, chairman 1917–20); associate fellow Pierson College (Yale University) 1933–44; secretary Class of 1887 from 1917 to 1944 and editor Thirty-five Year Record of the Class of '87 (1924) and Fiftieth Year Record of the Class of '87 (1938); author: "Entwicklung und Vergleichung der Erziehungslehren von John Locke und Jean-Jacques Rousseau" (1894), German and English exercises for supplementary use with Whitney's Compendious German Grammar and Whitney's Brief German Grammar (1898); editor: Theodor Storm's Auf der Universitat (1910), Paul J. L. Heyse's Vetter Gabriel (1911), and Gottfried Keller's Romeo und Julia auf dem Dorfe (1912); trustee Taft School for Boys 1926–33; treasurer Connecticut University Extension Committee 1928–37, member Association of New England Deans, Modern Language Association of America, New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools (president 1929–30; wrote a history of the organization from 1885 to 1935), and Congregational Church, Baiting Hollow.

Married October 6, 1888, in Philadelphia, Margaret Wardell, daughter of Rev. Leonard W. Bacon, D.D. (B.A. 1850), and Susan (Bacon) Bacon, granddaughter of Rev. Leonard Bacon, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. 1820), sister of Susan Almira Bacon, Ph.D. 1911, Nathaniel T. Bacon, '79 S, Rev. Benjamin W. Bacon, '81, Theodore D. Bacon, '83 S, Selden Bacon, ex-'83, Leonard W. Bacon, '88, and half sister of David L. Bacon, '16 S. Children: Margaret Trumbull (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll 1912; M.A. Hon. Yale 1934; Litt.D. Rutgers Univ. 1943); Robert Nelson, Jr. (died in infancy); Wallace Graham, '17; John Bacon (died in infancy); and Leonard

Bacon (B.A. Univ. Oklahoma 1932).

Death due to uremia. Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, three grandchildren, and two brothers, Benjamin F. Corwin, '95, and Arthur F Corwin, '99 S.

Edward Winchester Goodenough, B.A. 1887.

Born June 12, 1865, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 10, 1944, in Wallingford, Conn

Father, Rev. Arthur Goodenough, D.D. (BA 1862). Mother, Hannah (Brett) Goodenough. Yale relatives include a cousin, Thomas C. Brett, '96 S.

J. W. Beach private school, Windsor Locks, Conn. One-year honors in natural and physical sciences and second dispute appointment Senior year; member Yale Society of Natural History.

Bookkeeper in Waterbury, Conn, 1887–88; studied medicine with Dr. Alfred North and Dr Thomas L. Axtelle, Waterbury, 1889–90; assistant principal Waterbury High School 1890–91; attended Yale School of Medicine 1891–93 (M.D. cum laude 1893; a vice-president Y M.C A. 1892–

93, member Delta Epsilon Iota), assistant surgeon Soldiers' and Sailors' Home, Quincy, Ill., 1893-94; physician and surgeon in Waterbury 1894 until retirement in May, 1944, specializing in pediatrics since 1914; clinical assistant in pediatrics Yale University 1910-16; on staff Waterbury Hospital 1919-44 (assistant physician 1922-25, assistant pediatrician 1925-29, consulting pediatrician 1929-36, and honorary member 1936-44); held several civic positions in Waterbury (town physician 1895–96; on board of education 1902-04; examining physician draft board 1917-18; milk and food inspector 1939-44), medical examiner Town of Wolcott, Conn., 1904-20; member Volunteer Medical Service Corps 1918; secretary Class of '93 M., and vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine; director Waterbury Y M.C.A. and chairman finance committee; member Waterbury Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, New England Pediatric Society, American Medical Association, Hezekiah Beardsley Pediatric Club, and Masonic order; deacon First Congregational Church, Waterbury (superintendent Sunday School 1895-96, president Men's League, and chairman finance committee).

Married June 1, 1897, in Waterbury, Edith Sunderland, daughter of Leroy Sunderland and Sarah Jane (DeLancey) White. Son: Robert De-Lancey (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. ex-'25) Mrs. Goodenough died De-

cember 7, 1938.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Winchester (Conn.) Cemetery Survived by son, three grandchildren, two sisters, Helen Evelyn Goodenough (grad. Mount Holyoke Seminary 1891) of Winchester Center, Conn, and Gertrude Lilian Goodenough James (B.A. Mount Holyoke Coll 1901) of Brooklyn, N.Y., and a brother, Giles Frederic Goodenough, '93. Another brother, Rev. Silas H. Goodenough, ex-'95, died in 1893

George Henry Guernsey, B.A. 1887.

Born April 6, 1862, in Westport, Conn. Died February 6, 1945, in Puente, Calif.

Father, George Henry Guernsey of Westport; fought in the Battle of Gettysburg 1863, son of George Henry Guernsey Mother, Mary (Newell) Guernsey

Staples Academy, Easton, Conn. Yale Athletic Team Senior year.

Grammar school teacher in Portland, Ore, 1887–88 and Deep River, Easton, and Weston, Conn., 1888–94, attended University of Georgia School of Medicine 1894–99 (MD 1899), physician in Hendricks, Ga., 1899–1902, engaged in drug business in California 1903 until retirement 1925 (associated with R F Billings Pharmacy, Corona, 1906–12; manager drug department Lancaster Cooperative Association 1912–18, owned drug

stores in Buena Park and Rivera 1918–25); after retirement bought an orange grove in Ontario, Calif, where he resided until about 1943, member Modern Woodmen of America and Easton Congregational Church.

Married August 8, 1888, in Easton, Ella, daughter of David and Julia (Turney) Edwards. Children Mabel (B A Pomona Coll. 1912), the wife of Victor Elbert Moon; and John Edwards (B.A. Pomona Coll 1912, M.S Univ. California 1913). Mrs Guernsey died August 12, 1938

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis. Buried in Belleview Cemetery,

Ontario. Survived by children.

Henry Ebenezer Stevens, B.A. 1888.

Born June 14, 1866, in New York City Died December 6, 1944, in Fletcher, N.C.

Parents, Henry Ebenezer and Mary Jane Stevens.

New York School of Languages. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Commencement speaker, member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa.

Had been engaged in lumber and real-estate business in New York City (owner Stevens, Roylance & Company and partner H. E. Stevens & Son); president and treasurer Oak Realty Company, with offices in New York City and Fort Myers, Fla; resided in Hendersonville, NC, from 1935; member 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, and Sons of the American Revolution.

Married (1) April 6, 1892, in New York City, Ida Amelia, daughter of P. D and Margaret (Henderson) Strauch. Daughters: Ida Margaret (died May 18, 1900) and Dorothy Antoinette. Mrs. Stevens died January 9, 1924. Married (2) December 3, 1925, in New York City, Nellie Rusk Tinstman.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife and one daughter.

Clifford Webster Barnes, B.A. 1889.

Born October 8, 1864, in Corry, Pa. Died September 18, 1944, in Lake Forest, Ill.

Father, Joseph Barnes, a real-estate dealer in Los Angeles, Calif.; son of Joshua and Susan (Null) Barnes of Buffalo, NY. Mother, Anna Louise (Webster) Barnes; daughter of Hugh and Margaret Morgan (Griffith) Webster of Buffalo.

Buffalo High School; attended University of California 1885–88. Entered Yale College Senior year. Attended Yale Divinity School 1889–92 (B.D. 1892; general secretary Yale University Y M C.A 1890–92; on board of managers Yale Cooperative Association 1891–92).

Divinity fellow in church history University of Chicago 1892-93 (M.A. 1893); resident worker Hull House, Chicago, 1893-94; ordained in Sedgewick Street Congregational Church, Chicago, October 24, 1894, and minister there; at Chapel Presbyterian Church and Fourth Presbyterian Church 1894-97, acting pastor Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City, winter 1898, studied at University of Oxford spring 1898; director Christian Student Movement and acting president American Art Association, Paris, 1898-99; instructor in sociology and director of social settlement work University of Chicago 1899-1900; president Illinois College and professor of sociology 1900-05; general secretary Religious Education Association of America, New York City, 1905-07 (special commissioner to Europe on moral and religious training in schools 1906-07); founder Chicago Sunday Evening Club 1907 and president 1907-44; appointed deputy commissioner, American Red Cross Commission to Greece, with rank of Major, September, 1918; discharged March, 1919; awarded Medal of Military Merit with silver palm (Greece) 1918 and made Knight of the Order of the Golden Cross by the Greek Government 1919; LL.D. Lake Forest College 1913 and Illinois College 1925; awarded University of Chicago Alumni Medal 1941; delegate to World Conference on Faith and Order, Lausanne, Switzerland, 1927, and International Chamber of Commerce meeting Amsterdam, Holland, 1929; sanitary inspector City of Chicago 1895-97; organizer Committee of Fifteen, Chicago, 1908 and president 1908–16; president Legislative Voters' League of Illinois 1909– 24 (chairman executive committee 1907-09) and Chicago Church Federation 1925-27; vice-president American division World Alliance for International Friendship Through the Churches 1927-35 and Chicago Association of Commerce 1927-31; chairman Chicago Community Trust 1916-44, civic department Inter-Church War Work Committee, War Recreation Board of Illinois, and War Camp Community Service; honorary chairman Soldiers and Sailors Center, organizer Citizens' Welfare Committee; on Western committee Federal Council of Churches of Christ in America 1921-22; member executive committee of the Committee of 1,000 in 1927; member First Presbyterian Church, Lake Forest.

Married May 5, 1898, in Lake Forest, Alice, daughter of Simon Somerville and Martha (MacWilliams) Reid Children, Lilace Reid and Somerville Reid (died May 2, 1911). Mrs Barnes died May 21, 1939.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Lake Forest Cemetery. Survived by daughter, two sisters, the Misses Ella Louise and Grace May Barnes, both of Pasadena, Calif., and a brother, Wilbert Edwin Barnes of Pasadena

William Herbert Corbin, B.A. 1889.

Born July 20, 1864, in Union, Conn. Died April 14, 1945, in Hartford, Conn

Father, William Melvin Corbin, manufacturer and merchant in Union, represented town in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1868, State senator from twentieth senatorial district session of 1875; son of Benjamin and Maria (Potter) Corbin of Union. Mother, Josephine (Walker) Corbin; daughter of Harvey and Julia Ann (White) Walker of Union. Yale relatives include a nephew, William H Wiley, '17

Hartford Public High School. First dispute appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year, captain Freshman Football Team; on Freshman and Sophomore crews; University Crew Junior and Senior years; University Football Team three years (captain Senior year); College Choir three years; financial manager Yale Daily News Senior

year; member Psi Upsilon and Skull and Bones

Instructor Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y, 1889–92, headmaster Pingry School, Elizabeth, N.J., 1892-97, secretary and treasurer Central Woolen Company, Stafford Springs, Conn, 1897–1900, secretary and treasurer William H. Wiley & Son Company and its successor, Wiley-Bickford-Sweet Company, manufacturers of footwear and military equipment, Hartford, 1900-22 and vice-president 1922 until retirement 1926, vicepresident and treasurer Ballard Oil Company, Hartford, 1932-33; tax commissioner State of Connecticut 1907–20 (on special commission to investigate taxation of oyster properties 1909, and commission to investigate taxation of public service and financial corporations of the State 1911); president New England Association of Tax Officials 1913-14; chairman committee on inheritance taxes National Tax Association 1909-10, on executive committee 1911-14, and author of many reports read at its conferences; an editor The Health Finder 1939-45; author Edwin Clinton Terry, Ph B (1944); M A Hon Yale 1914, president Hartford Public Library 1939–45, trustee Horace Bushnell Memorial 1928–45 and Watkinson Library, Hartford, 1936–45; on board of education West Middle School District 1901-20, member Hartford Common Council and Board of Aldermen; executive vice-president Hartford Chamber of Commerce 1926-29 and president 1929-30; director Hartford Better Business Bureau, Y.M C.A., Charity Organization Society, Municipal Art Society, and Connecticut Civil Service Reform Association, member Yale Alumni Association of Hartford and its representative on Alumni Board 1910-30, director and on executive committee Yale Football Y Association, and on Fifty-fifth Reunion Committee of his Class, member Sons of the American Revolution and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford

Married July 16, 1890, in Manchester, Conn, Mary, daughter of John Francis and Charlotte (Griswold) Williams. Children: Walker Williams,

'19, and Elinor (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1921), the wife of C. Wardell St. John, '11.

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, children, two grand-children, a sister, Mrs Annie C. Wiley of West Hartford, and a brother, Junius Benjamin Corbin of Darien, Conn.

Herbert Augustine Smith, B.A. 1889.

Born December 6, 1866, in Southampton, Mass. Died July 21, 1944, in South Salem, N.Y.

Father, Rev. Burritt A. Smith (B A. 1843). Mother, Ellen Maria (Rowley) Smith. Yale relatives include: Frederick J. Barnard, '63, and Charles F. Neergaard, '97 (brothers-in-law), and Charles Y. Mead, '44 S. (nephew).

Phillips-Exeter High oration appointment and Junior Exhibition Prize Junior year, high oration appointment, Townsend Premium, and special one-year honors in English Senior year; winner one-mile walk fall athletic games Sophomore year; on board Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Yale Assembly Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Delta Phi, Skull

and Bones, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Graduate School 1889–93 (Ph.D 1897); assistant in English Yale University 1891–92, instructor 1892–98; an organizer Yale Graduates Club, first secretary, and on Board of Governors; studied at the Sorbonne 1899–1900, editorial writer New York Evening Post and World's Work 1900–01; with U.S. Forest Service 1901 until retirement 1937 (editor 1901–20, assistant forester in charge of public relations 1920–26; on special assignments 1926–37); author. "Classicism and Criticism from Dryden to Pope" (1897), collaborated on history of forest policy and forestry movement in the United States 1938–41; editor-in-chief Journal of Forestry 1935–37, contributed articles on forestry to American Year Book, U.S Department of Agriculture Yearbook, and to periodicals; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and Society of American Foresters (chairman Washington section 1931 and history of forestry committee 1938–41), member Agriculture History Society, Washington

Married (1) April 15, 1895, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Loretta Josephine, daughter of George W Mead (B A. 1851) and Sarah Frances (Studwell) Mead and sister of D Irving Mead, '97. Children: Gifford Pinchot (died in infancy), Theodore Studwell, '23; Earl, '25, '27 F.; and Sarah Frances (B A Smith Coll 1927), the wife of William Peter Marseilles, Jr. Mrs. Smith died January 15, 1925. Married (2) December 12, 1928, in Rich-

mond, Va., Lilian Johnston Taliaferro Conway, daughter of William

Meade and Sue Henry (Michel) Taliaferro.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in the crypt of Mead Memorial Chapel, Waccabuc, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, five grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Edwin C. Perkins of Ogunquit, Maine.

Langdon Trufant Snipe, B.A. 1889.

Born May 27, 1867, in Boston, Mass. Died December 13, 1944, in Bath, Maine.

Father, Seth Trufant Snipe, merchant and postmaster in Bath; son of Jordan and Lydia (Preble) Snipe of Arrowsic, Maine Mother, Ann Marie

(Spinney) Snipe.

Bath High School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; assistant treasurer Yale University Boat Club Junior year and president Senior year, president Dunham Boat Club Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head

Studied in medical department Bowdoin College 1889-90 and College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1890-93 (M.D. 1893); physician in Bath 1893-1944; president medical staff Bath Memorial Hospital 1909-44, Patten Free Library Association 1938-44, and Bath Savings Institution 1941–44; vice-president Bath National Bank 1942–44, member Board of Education 1906–13 (chairman 1908–13), represented Bath in Maine House of Representatives 1922; examining physician Bath Draft Board during World War I and member U S Pension Board, on board of managers Old Ladies Home Association 1920-44, medical examiner of Sagadahoc County 1917–18; fellow American Academy of Medicine, member Maine Medical Association (president 1923; awarded gold medal for fifty years' service 1943), American Medical Association, and Masonic order, moderator Winter Street Congregational Church, Bath, 1923-43

Married July 8, 1896, in Bath, Christine, daughter of Christopher Otis and Margaret (Edgecombe) Carter. Children. son and a daughter who

died in infancy

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Bath Survived by wife.

Arthur Espy, B.A. 1890.

Born July 1, 1869, in Clifton, Ohio. Died October 11, 1944, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, James Espy, president Ohio Valley National Bank, Cincinnati, son of Josiah Murdoch and Maria (Murdoch) Espy of Bedford, Pa, and Columbus, Ohio. Mother, Jane (Andrews) Espy; daughter of Samuel George and Ann (Swan) Andrews of Rochester, N.Y. Yale relatives include: Samuel Andrews (B.A. 1759) (great-great-grandfather); Samuel J. Andrews (BA 1785) (great-grandfather); and James Espy Herron, ex-'19, and J. William Herron, '23 (nephews).

William S Rix School, Cincinnati. First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment and special one-year honors in political

science, history, and law Senior year, Class Day Committee.

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1890–92 (LL.B. 1892), admitted to the bar 1892, associated with Harmon, Colston, Goldsmith & Hoadly, Cincinnati, 1890-92; lawyer in Cincinnati 1892-1918; president Southern Ohio Savings Bank & Trust Company 1918-44; member Ohio Senate 1906-08, city clerk of Cincinnati 1912 and 1913; assistant treasurer of the United States at Cincinnati 1915-21, on Cincinnati City Council 1931-32 and City Charter Committee 1937-44, author: Legislative Investigations of Cincinnati from 1906 to 1908 (1910) and articles on municipal statutes, franchises, and annexations; president Cincinnati Democratic Club and chairman executive committee for many years; Democratic candidate for Congress 1928, elected a delegate to Democratic National Convention, Chicago, 1944; president Spring Grove Cemetery Association 1919-44; treasurer Cincinnati Council Boy Scouts of America 1916-39 and May Festival Association 1924-44; a director Cincinnati Institute of Fine Arts 1927-44; represented Cincinnati Yale Club on Alumni Board 1923-36 and a director; vice-chairman Draft Board No. 17. Hamilton County, Ohio, 1941-44, vestryman Calvary Episcopal Church, Clifton

Married November 19, 1903, in Cincinnati, Elizabeth Davis, daughter of William W. Seely (B A. 1862) and Helen (Simpson) Seely. Children: Wallace Seely, '26, George Andrews, '29, James, '30, and Elizabeth Davis, the wife of Louis Bonner Owens (B.A. Emory Univ. 1927, MD. 1929; MA Univ Cincinnati 1931).

Death due to hypertensive arteriosclerosis. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife, children, eleven grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Jane E. Herron of East Blue Hill, Maine.

William Appleton McConnel, B.A. 1890.

Born October 23, 1866, in West Bridgewater, Pa. Died June 5, 1945, in Beaver, Pa.

Father, William Phillips McConnel of Beaver; engaged in manufacturing and river steamboat enterprises; son of James and Elvira (Phillips) McConnel of Freedom, Pa Mother, Lydia Ann (Stewart) McConnel; daughter of Charles and Priscilla (Appleton) Stewart.

Phillips-Exeter. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Class Picture Committee; member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied law in office of Buchanan & Reed, Beaver, 1890–93, admitted to the bar 1893; member Buchanan, Reed & McConnel (later Buchanan & McConnel), lawyers, 1893–1901; practiced independently in Beaver 1901–26; judge Court of Common Pleas, Beaver County, 1926–36; associated with his sons Stewart and Richard in law firm of William A McConnel & Sons, Beaver, 1936–45; member Masonic order and First Methodist Church, Beaver.

Married July 10, 1895, in Beaver, Sarah Stokes Bruce (Mount Holyoke Coll. ex-'95), daughter of William Horace and Maria (Stokes) Bruce. Sons: William Bruce (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'19), Stewart Phillips, '20 (LL B. Univ. Pittsburgh 1922); Thomas Stokes (B A. Dartmouth 1924); and Richard Appleton (B S. Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1926; LL B Univ. Pittsburgh 1929).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Beaver Cemetery. Survived by wife, sons, eleven grandchildren, one great-grandchild, and a sister, Jessie McConnel (Mount Holyoke Coll. ex-'95) of Beaver.

Donald McCormick, B.A. 1890.

Born October 29, 1868, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died May 15, 1945, in Harrisburg, Pa.

Father, James McCormick (B A. 1853). Mother, Mary Wilson (Alricks) McCormick. Yale relatives include: Henry McCormick (B A. 1852) (uncle); Henry McCormick, Jr., '84, James McCormick, Jr., '87, William McCormick, '87, and Robert McCormick, '00 (brothers), Henry B. McCormick, '92, and Vance C. McCormick, '93 S. (cousins).

Prepared at Harrisburg Academy.

Studied law 1890–93; admitted to Dauphin County bar 1894 but did not practice law; associated with Dauphin Deposit Bank (later Dauphin Deposit Trust Company), Harrisburg, 1893–1945 (secretary 1905–10, treasurer 1910–12, president 1912–45); an organizer Harrisburg Clearing House Association, president 1913–38, and chairman of the board, Federal Food Administrator for Dauphin County and district chairman American Red Cross during World War I; treasurer Class of 1890 from 1931 to 1945 and secretary pro tempore 1939–40, on Forty- and Fifty-year Class reunion committees; member Harrisburg Chamber of Commerce and Pine Street Presbyterian Church, Harrisburg.

Unmarried.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery. Survived by a sister, Eliza McC. Finney, the wife of William Webster Finney of Churchville, Md.

Stuart Henry Rowe, B.A. 1890.

Born May 24, 1869, in New Haven, Conn. Died June 5, 1945, in Yonkers, N.Y.

Father, Henry Benjamin Rowe, bookkeeper and cashier W. & E. T. Fitch Company, manufacturers of saddlery and hardware, New Haven; son of John Henry and Harriet (Bishop) Rowe of New Haven. Mother, Celia (Stuart) Rowe; daughter of Joseph G. and Elvira Anne (Cowan) Stuart of Augusta, Maine.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Oration appointment and shared second Winthrop Prize Junior year; special two-year honors in ancient languages Senior year, Commencement speaker; Dwight Literary Society

Freshman year, College Choir Senior year.

Taught Latin and Greek Pennington (N J.) School for Boys 1890-92; University fellow in pedagogy Columbia University 1892-94; studied in Germany 1894-95 (Dr Phil. University of Jena 1895); professor of pedagogy and director of practice teaching State Teachers College, Mankato, Minn., 1895-98; supervisory principal Lovell School District, New Haven, 1898-1904; head department of psychology and principles of education Brooklyn (NY) Training School for Teachers 1904-10; principal Wadleigh High School for Girls, New York City, 1910 until retirement in 1938 because of ill-health; lecturer in pedagogy Yale University 1901-04, Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences 1908-09, and Adelphi College 1909-10; author: Herbarts Ansichten von dem Zwecke des lateinischen und griechischen Unterrichtes dargestellt und beurtheilt (1895), The Physical Nature of the Child and How to Study It (1899, 1906), The Lighting of School-Rooms (1904), and Habit-Formation and the Science of Teaching (1909), contributed articles to educational journals; secretarytreasurer Minnesota Child Study Association 1896-98; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member Connecticut Council of Education, New York Society for Experimental Study of Education, New England Teachers Institute, American Psychological Association, National Education Association of the United States, and Riverside Church, New York City

Married June 4, 1897, in Syracuse, N.Y, Agnes Helen, daughter of Patrick Henry and Nancy (Slattery) Ford. Daughter: Constance (Sorbonne [Paris] 1927–28; Litt B New Jersey Coll for Women 1930; M A. Columbia Univ. 1935, Ph D. 1945)

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Hartsdale, N Y. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs Mabel Rowe Campbell of Thompsonville, Conn.

Edward Minott Shelton, B.A. 1890.

Born October 3, 1868, in Torrington, Conn. Died December 9, 1944, in Mexico City, Mexico.

Father, William Minott Parker Shelton of Torrington and Litchfield, Conn; son of William Minott Parker Shelton. Mother, Mahala (Sandford) Shelton of Litchfield.

Hartford (Conn) Public High School. Second Berkeley Premium in Latin composition Freshman year; oration appointment Junior and Senior

years; member Dwight Literary Society and Yale Assembly.

Instructor Milwaukee (Wis) Academy 1890–91; read law in Washington, Iowa, 1891–93; admitted to Iowa bar 1893 and Montana bar 1904; lawyer in Washington and Burlington, Iowa, 1893–97 and Livingston, Mont., 1899–1905 (member Shelton & Harvey); associated with Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company 1897–98 and 1905 until retirement 1938 (in legal department in Burlington and Chicago 1897–98, in office of general counsel, Burlington, 1905–09 and general offices, Chicago, 1909–38; vice-president and general counsel 1937–38); since retirement had resided in Pasadena, Calif.

Married (1) February 17, 1897, in Burlington, Brownie Alice, daughter of William T. Virgin (M.D. Hahnemann Medical Coll. 1867). No children. Mr. and Mrs. Shelton were divorced in 1905 Married (2) March 16, 1907, in Burlington, Annie May, daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Julia Kendall (Campbell) Jones Son Edward Minott, Jr. (B.A. Harvard 1930).

Death due to an intestinal disorder Ashes scattered Survived by wife

and son.

Paul Ecoff Greer, B.A. 1891.

Born January 18, 1869, in Rochester, Pa. Died March 19, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Howard Greer (Allegheny Coll. ex-'67), a manufacturer and inventor in Rochester, Marietta, Ohio, and Chicago, son of David and Sophia (Conway) Greer of Pittsburgh. Mother, Aberilla (Ecoff) Greer; daughter of Samuel and Martha (Small) Ecoff of Sharon, Pa Yale relatives include: Howard Greer, Jr, '88 S. (brother); and Henry L Greer, '24 (nephew).

Lakeview (Ill.) High School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Yale Bicycle Club and '91 Literary Society.

Associated with Greer Spike Company, manufacturers of railroad spikes, Chicago, 1891–1905, traveled in Canada, Alaska, and Europe 1902–05, attended Harvard Law School 1905–08 (LL.B. 1908); admitted to Massachusetts bar 1908 and California bar 1910; lawyer in Boston 1908–09, Los Angeles 1909–26 (member Phelps [William W., LL M. 1891], Greer, Winston [Frederick J, '86] & Wharton 1913–15), and West Palm Beach, Fla, 1927 until retirement 1935; since retirement had resided in California and New York.

Married Marie Elizabeth Moretti. Children: Paul Ecoff, Jr. (Univ. Florida 1928–30); Madeline Louise, the wife of George Robert Leslie, Jr.; Virginia Elizabeth, the wife of Robert Lysle Tompkins; and David. Mrs. Greer died June 10, 1926.

Death due to a paralytic stroke. Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh Survived by children, five grandchildren, and a sister, Lily Greer (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1896) of Mount Desert Island, Maine.

Frederick Morgan Johnson, B.A. 1891.

Born September 21, 1868, in Norwich, Conn. Died August 18, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Charles Coit Johnson of Norwich; treasurer Norwich & New York Steamboat Company; president Gas & Electric Light Company of Norwich and Norwich and Jewett City (Conn.) National banks; son of Charles and Hannah Morgan (Coit) Johnson of Jewett City. Mother, Julia Cleveland (White) Johnson; daughter of Norman and Mary Abiah (Dodge) White of New York City. Yale relatives include: Erskine N. White (BA. 1854) (uncle); and Edward L Parsons, '89 (cousin).

Norwich Free Academy An editor Yale Daily News Senior year; member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with New York & New Jersey Telephone Company, Brooklyn, 1891–92, employed in New York City 1892 until retirement 1941; clerk Jessup, Paton & Company (later Cuyler, Morgan & Company), bankers, 1892–94, with New York Life Insurance Company 1894–1941 (successively in accounts and treasurer's departments 1894–99, premium cashier 1899–1920, an assistant treasurer 1920–27, and a secretary 1927–41), trustee American Savings Bank, New York City, 1911–32, and Grant Monument Association; on board of governors New York Skin and Cancer Hospital; member New York Society of the Order of the Founders and Patriots of America, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Norwich Society of New York, New England Society, Chamber of Commerce of the State of New York, and Masonic order; trustee Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church 1916–43 and an elder 1930–44.

Married June 17, 1903, in Pelham Manor, N.Y, Janet Posey, daughter of Adam Thomas and Mary Jane (Scott) Smith No children

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Yantic Cemetery, Norwich Survived by wife.

Francis Louis Slade, B.A. 1891.

Born April 11, 1870, in New York City. Died October 4, 1944, in Upper St. Regis, N.Y.

Father, Francis H. Slade (B.A 1854). Mother, Elizabeth (Stokes) Slade. Yale relatives include: John M. Slade (BA 1851) and William E. Dodge Stokes, '74 (uncles); William S Slade, '04 (half brother); and William E. D. Stokes, Jr, ex-'19 (cousin).

Everson and Halsey School, New York City. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa, graduate member Elihu.

Employed in New York City 1891 until retirement 1926; associated with National Bank of Commerce 1891-96 (loan clerk 1893-96), traveled around the world 1896-98; with Standard Plunger Elevator Company; treasurer and director Hoyt & Woodin Manufacturing Company, lumber, and Vacherie Cypress Company 1916-26, vice-president and later president and chairman executive committee City and Suburban Homes Company; trustee and treasurer Phelps Stokes Fund, trustee Manhattan Real Estate and New York Real Estate associations, on board of managers West Side branch YMCA. 1896–1930; director New York City Y.M.C A. 1922-44 (chairman building committee 1930-44 and supervised construction of several branches; trustee 1933-44; vice-president 1935-43; vice-chairman of the board 1940-44); member National Council of Y.M C.A. 1924–38, General Board 1926–31, and International Committee 1931-34; on board of managers Babies Hospital 1908-43, Presbyterian Hospital 1933-44, and Neurological Hospital, New York City; Sergeant Troop 2, Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1895–1902; treasurer Committee of Fourteen on Vice 1914–16, member New England Society, Metropolitan Museum of Art, American Museum of Natural History, and New York Zoological Society; trustee Madison Square Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married October 12, 1907, in Baltimore, Md, Caroline McCormick (Bryn Mawr Coll. ex-'96), daughter of William Grigsley McCormick (Univ. Virginia ex-'71) and Eleanor (Brooks) McCormick and sister of Chauncey McCormick, '07 No children.

Death due to heart failure. Ashes interred in churchyard of St John's in the Wilderness, Paul Smiths, N.Y Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs W. Reierson Arbuthnot of East Grinstead, England

Charles Revell Holden, B.A. 1892.

Born January 9, 1871, in Chicago, Ill. Died March 4, 1945, in Altadena, Calif.

Father, William Hiram Holden, a lawyer in Chicago; treasurer and librarian Chicago Law Institute; son of Charles Newton and Frances (Woodbury) Holden of Chicago. Mother, Sarah Jane (Revell) Holden; daughter of Fleming and Emma (Manning) Revell of London, England.

West Division High School, Chicago, and private tutors. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; financial editor Yale Courant

Senior year; member Yale Union and Zeta Psi.

Attended Northwestern University Law School 1892–93 (an editor Northwestern Law Review), admitted to the bar 1893 and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1895; lawyer in Chicago 1893 until retirement 1936, clerk Moran, Kraus & Mayer 1892–99, junior partner 1899–1900, member Kraus & Holden 1900–01, Kraus, Alschuler & Holden 1901–15, and Kraus, Holden & Lawless 1915–17; vice-president and counsel Union Trust Company 1914–29 and First National Bank of Chicago 1929–36, on Illinois Banking Commission; president Chicago Crime Commission 1923–25; second vice-president Y M C A and advisory member board of managers, treasurer and senior counsel Chicago Association of Commerce, trustee Baptist Theological Union, Chicago, 1908–35, University of Chicago 1913–45 (chairman finance committee), and Chicago Y W.C A.; resided in Altadena 1936–45; member Illinois Reserve Militia (1918), Chicago and Illinois State Bar associations, and Chicago Law Institute, trustee First Baptist Church, Chicago.

Married (1) December 12, 1893, in Chicago, Mertie Adelaide Towne (Smith Coll ex-'94), daughter of Henry and Adelaide (Paul) Towne. Son William Henry Towne, '15. Mrs. Holden died December 15, 1897. Married (2) August 14, 1901, in Chicago, Cora, daughter of Charles and

Eliza Jane (Millis) Eaton. No children.

Death due to acute cardiac decompensation Ashes interred in Rose Hill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, son, a grandson, and a sister, Ethel H Chapman (Vassar Coll. ex-'05), the wife of George Mills Chapman (B.A Cornell Univ 1905) of Evanston, Ill.

George Gray Knowles, B.A. 1892.

Born January 27, 1872, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 7, 1945, in Hollywood, Calif.

Father, James Gray Knowles, a manufacturer in Wilmington, Del.; son of George Gray Knowles of Glen Olden, Pa. Mother, Ella (Urie) Knowles of Seaford, Del.

E

Friends' School, Wilmington. Member Yale Union and Alpha Delta Phi.

In woolen business in Wilmington 1892–93 and South America 1893–94; woolen merchant in London, England, 1894 until retirement 1918, resided in Hollywood from about 1924; a founder American Universities Club of London about 1910.

Married December 5, 1898, in London, Dorothy Ethel, daughter of Major John Humphrey Spark (Royal Artillery) and Gertrude B (Pudan) Spark. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Hollywood. Survived by wife.

Arthur Franklin Lewis, B.A. 1892.

Born February 29, 1872, in Nichols, Conn. Died April 23, 1945, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Rev. Frank B Lewis (B.A. 1868) Mother, Georgiana Frances (Ambler) Lewis Yale relatives include: Richard C Ambler (LL B. 1878) and George F. Lewis (M D. 1884) (uncles); Fred L. Hurd, ex-'03 S, Robert C. Lewis, '09 S., Frederick B. Lewis, '09 S., and George A. Hurd, '10 (cousins).

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn.

Assisted his father in church work in Bozeman, Mont., 1892–93; attended General Theological Seminary of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States 1893-96 (graduated 1896), ordained deacon June 24, 1896, and priest November 11, 1896; in charge of parishes at Philipsburg and Granite, Mont, 1896-97, minister St. Andrew's Church, Butte, Mont, 1897–98, Christ Church, Delaware City, Del., 1898–1900, All Saints' Church, Leonia, N J., 1900-03, and St. James' Church, Ridgefield, 1901-03; rector Christ Church, Unionville, Conn, 1903-07, St John's Church, North Haven, 1907-24, and St Michael's Church, Naugatuck, 1924–45; studied sociology at Columbia University 1900–01; chaplain House of Representatives, Connecticut General Assembly, 1925–26, and Naugatuck police and fire departments, Captain Connecticut State Guard in World War I; reserve chaplain United States Army 1925-45; president board of managers Masonic Home, Wallingford, Conn, 1930-31, vicepresident Masonic Charity Foundation of Connecticut 1910-45 and acting president 1930; director for Diocese of Connecticut, Church Mission of Help, and represented Diocese on Army and Navy Commission in World War II; on executive committee Camp Washington (Conn.) Association; member Masonic order.

Married June 2, 1896, in Bridgeport, Conn, Edith Raynor, daughter of George Ambler and Mary Elizabeth (Sammis) Thompson Son: George Birdseye, ex-'20 S.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Ashes interred in Lakeview Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Miss Mary Curtiss Lewis of Bozeman

James Archibald Turnbull, B.A. 1892.

Born July 31, 1869, in Brooklyn, NY. Died July 12, 1944, in Manchester, Conn.

Father, Thomas Turnbull, secretary Hartford (Conn.) Fire Insurance Company, son of James and Grace (Patterson) Turnbull of Gladsmuir, Scotland. Mother, Janet Duncan (Catanach) Turnbull; daughter of Archibald and Margaret (Notman) Catanach of Philadelphia. Yale relatives include two nephews, H. Cromwell Freeman, '26 S., and H. Hoyt Freeman, '32 S.

Attended Trinity College (Hartford) 1888-90. Entered Yale College

Junior year; member Psi Upsilon.

Engaged in actuarial work Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1892–99; in charge actuarial department Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1899–1901, secretary 1901–05, and general agent for central New York State 1905–13; treasurer Northern Connecticut Light and Power Company, Windsor Locks, 1913–28; assistant treasurer Manchester Electric Division, Connecticut Power Company, 1928–44; partner Leonard, Turnbull & Johnson, insurance, Syracuse, N.Y., 1905–13, treasurer Enfield (Conn) Construction Company and Stafford Springs Aqueduct Company 1913–28, assistant treasurer Thompsonville Water Company 1913–28; member Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Married June 1, 1894, in Hartford, Frances Hall, daughter of Harrison B Freeman (B.A 1862) and Frances Hall (Bill) Freeman and sister of Harrison B. Freeman, '92. Children: Frances Freeman (B A. Vassar Coll. 1919), James Archibald, Jr, Helen (died in infancy), and Harrison Freeman, '25 S Mrs. Turnbull died September 21, 1925.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by one daughter, two sons, three grandchildren, and a brother,

Thomas Turnbull of Casanova, Va.

Newton Foster Vail, B.A. 1892.

Born March 24, 1869, in Palmyra, N.Y. Died March 3, 1945, in Geneva, N.Y.

Father, John P. Vail, a photographer in Geneva; son of James Dawson and Keziah F. (Wycoff) Vail. Mother, Rose (Foster) Vail; daughter of

Hıram and Nancy (Reeves) Foster of Palmyra Yale relatives include a cousin, Charles F. Kent, '89

Geneva High School; B.A. Hobart College 1890 (member Phi Beta

Kappa), M.A. 1897 Entered Yale College Senior year.

Studied Greek, Latin, and archeology at Columbia University 1895–1900 (fellow in Latin 1896–97); engaged as private tutor in New York City 1897–99; instructor in Latin and Greek Chapin Collegiate School, New York City, 1899–1901 and Cascadilla School, Ithaca, N Y., 1901 until retirement 1925; since retirement had resided in Geneva; member North Presbyterian Church, Geneva.

Unmarried.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Geneva. Survived by no immediate relatives.

James Addison Babbitt, B.A. 1893.

Born October 22, 1869, in Waitsfield, Vt. Died October 15, 1944, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Rev. James Howard Babbitt (B A. Amherst Coll. 1865, M A 1887; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1868); trustee Brattleboro (Vt) Academy; superintendent of schools Swanton and Brattleboro, Vt; son of Edward and Eliza C. (Sweet) Babbitt of Taunton, Mass. Mother, Mary French (Abbott) Babbitt; daughter of Rev. Sereno Timothy Abbott (B A. Amherst Coll. 1833; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1836) and Sarah (French) Abbott of Seabrook, N H.

Phillips-Andover. First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; member Phi Gamma Delta.

Studied at Haverford College (M.A. 1896), and University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1894–98 (M.D 1898; member Alpha Mu Pi Omega), physician in Philadelphia, specializing in diseases of the nose, throat, and ear, 1898–1944; member faculty of Haverford College 1893–1944 (registrar and in charge physical education 1893–1903, associate professor of physiology 1903–12, professor of hygiene and physical education 1912–28, professor emeritus 1928–44); on faculty of University of Pennsylvania 1911–44 (assistant instructor in otology 1911–15, instructor 1915–17 and 1918–24, assistant professor 1924–25, assistant professor of otolaryngology 1925–33, and clinical professor 1933–34; professor of clinical laryngology 1934–35, professor emeritus 1935–44, associate professor of otolaryngology in the Graduate School of Medicine 1920–44); otolaryngologist Children's Hospital of Mary J. Drexel Home and Pennsyl-

vania, Lankenau, and Polyclinic hospitals of Philadelphia; consulting otolaryngologist Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Misericordia, University, and Fitzgerald-Mercy hospitals; member courtesy staffs Bryn Mawr, Presbyterian, Chestnut Hill, and Episcopal hospitals; for many years edited Haverford College Athletic Annual, on editorial staff The Laryngoscope and Archives of Laryngology 1939; director American Red Cross Hospital No 1 (American Friends Reconstruction Unit) in Sermaize-le-Bain, Marne district, September, 1917-January, 1919; chief Bureau of Medical and Surgical Relief in Germany January-May, 1919; assimilated rank of Major; fellow American Laryngological Association (secretary 1935-36, president 1939-40), American Otological Society, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology (president 1943-44), American Laryngological, Rhinological, and Otological Society, Inc. (president 1941-42), American College of Surgeons (member board of governors), College of Physicians of Philadelphia (chairman section on otology and laryngology 1923, 1927, and 1931), and Philadelphia Laryngological Association; member American Intercollegiate Football Rules Committee 1906–25, chairman Football Central Board of Officials 1906-07, National Collegiate Athletic Association Soccer Committee 1911–12, and Football Committee 1915–16; secretary and manager Football Association of Eastern Colleges 1918-19; secretary Society of College Gymnasium Directors 1902-03; president Alpha Mu Pi Omega 1922–23, Alumni Society of the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1943-44, and Pennsylvania branch American Association for the Advancement of Physical Education; a founder and president Middle Atlantic States Collegiate Athletic Association, member William Pepper Medical Society, Phi Beta Kappa, Sigma Xi, Masonic order, and Society of Friends.

Married (1) September 11, 1895, in Swanton, Mary Abigail, daughter of Edward Payson and Helen (Best) Adams Children. Mary Evelyn (B A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1918), the wife of Alan Woods Hastings (B.S. Haverford Coll 1921 and Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1922); Helen Adams (B A Wellesley Coll. 1920), the wife of Edward Lownes Webster (B S in M E Univ Pennsylvania 1914); Elizabeth Dixie (died in infancy); and Mary Adams (Connecticut Coll. for Women ex-'31). Mrs. Babbitt died March 31, 1911. Married (2) June 20, 1921, in Mount Vernon, N Y, Marcella Stovall Hardwick Cordray, daughter of George Washington and Anna McK (Stovall) Hardwick.

Death due to intracranial hemorrhage. Buried in West Laurel Hill Cemetery, Montgomery County, Pa. Survived by wife, three daughters, four grandchildren, two stepchildren, Marcella Stovall Cordray McIver, the wife of Renwick Smedberg McIver (B.S. United States Naval Academy 1921), and David Price Cordray (B A. Haverford Coll. 1932; M.D.

Univ Pennsylvania 1936), and two brothers, Theodore Perley Babbitt (Philadelphia Coll. Pharmacy and Science 1900-01) of Cleveland and Winfred Howard Babbitt (B A. Williams Coll 1895) of Manila.

George Mason Creevey, B.A. 1893.

Born July 4, 1872, in Town of Hope, NY. Died April 30, 1945, in New Hartford, Conn

Father, Henry Creevey, a merchant in New York City, son of Rev George Chapman Creevey and Margaret (Sinclair) Creevey of Meriden, Conn. Mother, Polly Maria (Mason) Creevey; daughter of Sampson and Maria Anne (Yeaw) Mason of Town of Hope. Yale relatives include John K. Creevey (BA 1866) (uncle); and William S. Creevey, '02 (cousin).

Adelphi Academy, Brooklyn, NY. Oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year, member Zeta Psi and Phi Beta

Kappa; graduate member Elihu

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1893–96 (MD. 1896); on house staff Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, 1896–1900; practiced in New York City 1899 until retirement 1941; assistant to Dr. Charles McBurney 1899-1906, general surgeon and anesthetist 1899–1907; specialist in anesthesia 1907–41; attending surgeon Cornell University Medical College Dispensary 1901–02, at various times held appointments as anesthetist at Bellevue, New York, and Roosevelt hospitals; chairman committee on anesthesia Doctors Hospital, New York City, until 1942; consulting anesthetist Flower-Fifth Avenue Hospital, New York Orthopaedic Dispensary and Hospital, and New York Eye and Ear Infirmary; invented apparatus and new methods for administration of anesthetics and was consulted frequently on arrangements of hospital operating rooms, member American Medical Association, American Society of Anesthetists, International Anesthesia Research Society, International College of Anesthetists, New York Academy of Medicine, and Century Association.

Married September 5, 1901, in New Hartford, Lucy Morris Ellsworth (B A. Smith Coll. 1901), daughter of William Webster and Helen Yale (Smith) Ellsworth and sister of Bradford Ellsworth, '03 Children Carlotta (B.A Smith Coll. 1924), the wife of Francis F Harrison, '20; Kennedy, '26; and Eileen (B A. Smith Coll. 1932; Ph.D California Inst Technology 1938), the wife of Newman Arnold Hall (B.A. Marietta Coll. 1934; Ph D. California Inst. Technology 1938).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Old Town Hill Cemetery, New Hartford Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, one of whom is Dirck Dey Harrison, '47 March, and a sister, Mrs. James Griffin of East Orange, N.J.

Winthrop Edwards Dwight, B.A. 1893.

Born December 23, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 3, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Rev Timothy Dwight, DD, LL.D. (B.A. 1849), president of Yale University 1886–99. Mother, Jane Wakeman (Skinner) Dwight. Yale relatives include: Rev. Jonathan Edwards (BA. 1720) (great-

Prepared by private tutors. An editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee. Attended Yale Graduate School 1893–94 (Ph D 1895) and Yale School of Law 1894–96 (LL.B. 1896; John Addison Porter Prize and an editor Yale Law Journal Senior year).

Special student Balliol College, University of Oxford, 1896–97 and studied French language and literature in Paris 1897–98; admitted to Connecticut bar 1896 and New York bar 1899; lawyer in New York City 1899–1944, associated with Simpson, Thacher & Barnum 1899–1901; assistant counsel Tenement House Commission, State of New York, 1900; partner Dwight & Scoville 1911–44 (Herbert Scoville, '01, a member until 1937); associate fellow Timothy Dwight College (Yale University) 1935–44; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New Haven Colony Historical Society, New England Society, Society of the Cincinnati, and Huguenot Society of America.

Married October 30, 1917, in New Haven, Mary Ketcham Talmage, daughter of William Platt and Lydia Collins (Coit) Ketcham. No children

Death due to virus pneumonia. Buried in New Germantown Cemetery, Oldwick, N J Survived by wife, a stepdaughter, Mrs. Lillian Talmage St George of Oldwick, a stepson, Thomas Hunt Talmage (Princeton ex-'17) of Crystal Bay, Nev., and four step-grandchildren.

Irving Phillips Lyon, B.A. 1893.

Born January 12, 1870, in Hartford, Conn. Died November 11, 1944, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, Irving Whitall Lyon (M D. Univ. Vermont 1862 and Columbia Univ. 1863), a physician in Hartford; assistant surgeon United States Army 1862; son of Solomon Rundle and Hannah (Rundle) Lyon of Bedford, N.Y. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Tucker) Lyon, daughter of Frederick Darrow and Louisa (Jacobs) Tucker of Bedford and Ithaca, N.Y.

Hartford Public High School. High oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Union and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1893–97 (MD 1897); on staff Johns Hopkins Dispensary summer 1894; bacteriologist and pathologist Wilson Sanitorium, Baltimore, summer 1896; attended clinics in Germany summers 1895 and 1897, resident house officer Johns Hopkins Hospital 1897-98; physician in Buffalo 1898-1944, clinical assistant New York State Pathological Laboratory 1900-03; assistant attending physician Buffalo General Hospital 1910-16, attending physician 1916-33, and consulting physician 1933-44; attending physician Buffalo Municipal and Buffalo City hospitals, Ernest Wende Hospital for Acute Communicable Diseases, and Health Center Free Dispensary; clinical pathologist New York State Institute for the Study of Malignant Diseases 1899–1902; instructor in medicine University of Buffalo 1899–1907, lecturer in clinical medicine 1907-14, assistant professor of medicine 1914-21, and associate professor 1921-29; author of chapters on diseases of the spleen in Osler's Modern Medicine (1908, 1915) and of articles in medical journals and textbooks; commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps, June 17, 1918; assistant to chief of medical service, Base Hospital, Camp Upton, July-August, 1918, and chief August, 1918, until discharge May 1, 1919, a student of and authority on American seventeenth-century antiques, he pursued extensive studies on the seventeenth-century oak furniture of Massachusetts and Connecticut, differentiating types and defining their origin and maker; contributed articles on antiques to periodicals, member Buffalo Academy of Medicine, Erie County Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of New York, American Association of Pathologists and Bacteriologists, and American Medical Association.

Married October 23, 1900, in New York City, Kate Parker, daughter of Hervey Williams and Anna (Kinsley) Lathrop Children Kate Lathrop (died in infancy), Mary Phillips (B.A. Vassar Coll 1926), and Kate Lathrop (B.A. Univ. Buffalo 1931), the wife of Stephen Thomas Keiley (New York Univ. 1937–41). Mrs. Lyon died April 17, 1941

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Union Cemetery, Bedford, N.Y.

Survived by two daughters, a sister, Mrs. John P. Penney, Jr., of Pittsburgh, and a brother, Charles Woolsey Lyon, ex-'95 S. (died December 21, 1945).

Franklin Arthur Moore, B.A. 1893.

Born September 16, 1870, in Detroit, Mich. Died December 17, 1944, in Detroit, Mich.

Father, Franklin Moore, engaged in lumber business in Detroit; son of Captain Joseph Moore and Elizabeth (Kennedy) Moore of Bedford, N.H, and Detroit Mother, Helen Maria (Heath) Moore; daughter of William H. and Elizabeth Smith (Bartlett) Heath of Warehouse Point, Conn.

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior year

Traveled around the world and lived in Europe 1893–96; president Merchants Truck Company, Detroit, 1897–98; had not been actively engaged in business since 1898.

Unmarried.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Detroit Survived by no immediate relatives.

Charles Lennox Macauley Pope, B.A. 1893.

Born July 30, 1871, in Indianapolis, Ind Died February 21, 1945, in Mexico City, Mexico.

Father, Charles Frederick Roehr Pope, an actor and theater manager; owned and controlled theaters in Indianapolis, Kansas City, St. Louis, and New Orleans, United States consul at Toronto, Canada, 1889–93; son of Christian Frederick and Johanna Maria (Papst) Roehr of Saxony, Germany, and Rochester, N.Y Mother, Margaret Elizabeth (Macauley) Pope, daughter of John and Bridget (Smith) Macauley of Rochester Yale relatives include Alfred M Pope, '94 (brother); and Russell Burke, '28, John M Pope, ex-'30, and John M Burke, '33 (nephews).

Smith Academy and Peet School, St Louis. First colloquy appointment Junior year, second colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew; Class crew Sophomore and Junior years; manager Class football team Senior year, an editor Yale Courant Senior year and contributed to Yale Literary Magazine, member Yale Union, University Tennis Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head. Honorary representative Yale Athletic Association at first Yale-Oxford meet, London, 1894.

Reporter and special writer New York Evening Sun 1893-95; an organizer, director, and treasurer St Nicholas Skating & Ice Company, New

York City, 1895–97, president Standard Realty Company and member Pope & Jones, real estate, New York City, 1897–1903; associated with Sovereign Bank, Canada, and later represented New York Lubricating Company in that country 1903–05, engaged in theatrical writing and producing in New York City 1905–06, 1908–11, and 1913–15; contractor, builder, miner, and prospector Goldfield and Rawhide, Nev, 1907–08, president and manager Knickerbocker Motor Car Sales Company and sales manager Regal Auto Sales Company, New York City, 1912–13, engaged in managing family property and occupied variously in motion-picture business, professional acting, and playwriting 1915–25; investment counselor, New York City, 1925–45; volunteer worker Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Department of Justice, in World War I; member Episcopal church.

Married December 18, 1905, in Yonkers, N.Y., Katharine Josephine Roberts, daughter of Charles and Anna Agnes (Foley) Pease Son Charles

Roberts, '30.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in American Cemetery, Mexico City. Survived by wife, son, and two sisters, Miss Helen Macauley Pope (died May 30, 1945) and Katherine Pope Burke, the wife of Charles Russell Burke (Columbia Univ. ex-'91), of New York City.

George Brown Spalding, B.A. 1893.

Born December 19, 1870, in Dover, N.H. Died February 2, 1945, in Miami, Fla.

Father, Rev. George Burley Spalding, D.D., LL.D. (BA Univ Vermont 1856; Union Theological Seminary 1858–60; grad Andover Theological Seminary 1861), minister First Presbyterian Church, Syracuse, N.Y.; son of James Spalding (MD Dartmouth Coll. 1814) and Eliza (Reed) Spalding of Montpelier, Vt. Mother, Sarah Livingston (Olmstead) Spalding; daughter of Rev. John W Olmstead, D.D. (M.A. Hon. 1854), and Mary (Livingston) Olmstead of Boston, Mass.

Syracuse High School and Phillips-Andover. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; president

Woolsey Club Senior year; member Psi Upsilon.

Taught English and languages Reed and Stearns Classical School, Hartford, Conn., 1893–94; attended Auburn Theological Seminary 1894–95 and 1899–1900 (diploma 1900) and Andover Theological Seminary 1897–99; because of ill-health traveled around Cape Horn 1895–97 and in Europe 1895 and 1910; licensed to preach by Syracuse Presbytery May 7, 1900; assistant minister Madison Square Presbyterian Church, New York City, 1900–02; temporary minister Congregational Church, Fryeburg, Maine, 1902–03; minister First Presbyterian Church, Victor, Mont,

1903-05 and Red Lodge 1905-06; established New England Congregational Church, Saratoga Springs, NY., July 17, 1906, and minister there 1906-08, minister First Congregational Church, Stonington, Conn., 1908-12, Rocky Hill 1912-14, Key West, Fla, 1914-15, and Plymouth Church, Coconut Grove, 1915–20 (minister emeritus 1939–45), became associated with Interchurch World Movement in 1920; member American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1924–44; trustee Atlanta Theological Seminary 1916–20, president Saratoga Springs Christian Endeavor Union and Ministerial Association 1907-08; moderator General Congregational Conference of Florida and the South East 1916, scribe 1917–21; delegate to National Council of Congregational Churches, New Haven, Conn., 1916, Columbus, Ohio, 1917, and Washington, D.C., 1925; author: Coronet Memories (1899); on extension committee Miami Chamber of Commerce, chaplain New York and Pennsylvania societies of Montana; vicepresident New York Society of Miami and New England Society of Florida, member New York Society of Colonial Wars.

Married September 2, 1909, in Stonington, Emeline Palmer (B.L. Smith Coll. 1901), daughter of Noyes Stanton and Emeline (Palmer) Palmer. No children, Mrs Spalding died July 15, 1942.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Stonington. Survived by a sister, Gertrude Spalding Henderson (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1892), the wife of Frank L. Henderson of St. Louis and Stonington.

Samuel Evans Stokes Allen, B.A. 1894.

Born February 8, 1874, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 27, 1945, in Providence, R.I.

Parents, Theodore M. and Elizabeth Kempton (Stokes) Allen.

William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia, and private school in Cold Spring, N.Y. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Union and Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1895-96 (M A. 1897).

An enthusiastic mountaineer he had climbed the Matterhorn and mountains in the Tyrol and the Canadian Rockies; contributed a series of articles to London Alpine Journal and Boston Appalachia; former member Boston Appalachian Club and Royal Geographic Society; had been in ill-health since about 1908 and had not engaged in any activity from that time.

Unmarried

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Bala-Cynwyd, Pa. Survived by no immediate relatives.

André Alden Beaumont, B.A. 1894.

Born August 4, 1870, in San Antonio, Texas. Died November 24, 1944, in Forty Fort, Pa.

Father, Col. Eugene Beauharnais Beaumont, U.S.A. (grad. U.S. Military Academy 1861); Civil War veteran; instructor in cavalry tactics at U.S. Military Academy 1875–79; son of Andrew and Julia Ann (Colt) Beaumont of Lebanon, Conn. Mother, Margaret Jane (Rutter) Beaumont; daughter of Nathaniel and Mary Ann (Cist) Rutter of Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Yale relatives include a cousin, Thomas Darling, '86.

Trinity Military Institute, Tivoli-on-Hudson, N.Y.

Engaged in surveying for various coal companies 1894–96; associated with Lehigh & Wilkes-Barre Coal Company 1896–1930 (royalty clerk 1896–98, general superintendent's clerk 1898–1914, in charge royalties on coal 1914–30); auditor of royalty accounts Glen Alden Coal Company, Scranton, 1930 until retirement 1937; treasurer Hollenback Coal Company 1918–28; secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of the Wyoming Valley 1907–11 (chairman information committee); librarian Concordia Singing Society, Wilkes-Barre; member St. Stephen's Church (Episcopal), Wilkes-Barre.

Married April 20, 1899, in Wilkes-Barre, Elsie Peironnet, daughter of Edmund Griffin Butler (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1868) and Clara Theresa (Cox) Butler. Children. André Alden, Jr, '21, Edmund Butler, '28; and Elsie Peironnet (B.A. Vassar Coll 1930), the wife of Robert Russell French (B.A. Harvard 1932) Mrs. Beaumont died March 10, 1920.

Death due to myocardial sclerosis. Buried in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Hortense B. Elliott of Wilkes-Barre.

Frederick Merrell Boyer, B.A. 1894.

Born January 13, 1872, in Watertown, N.Y. Died November 11, 1944, in Henderson, N.Y.

Father, Frederick H. Boyer, a grocer in Watertown; son of Joseph Boyer of Evans Mills, N.Y. Mother, Sylvia (Merrell) Boyer; daughter of Hiram Augustus and Caroline (Remington) Merrell of Sackets Harbor and Watertown, N.Y.

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi.

Studied law in office of Lansing & Lansing, Watertown, 1894–97; admitted to the bar 1897; lawyer in Watertown 1897–1944; associated with Lansing & Lansing 1897–1910, local attorney New York Air Brake Company 1914–44; secretary Harmon Paper Company, Brownville, N.Y,

and Warren Parchment Company, Dexter, NY; attorney Beebee Island Corporation, electric power, Watertown; president Watertown Board of Education 1938, government appeal agent for local Selective Service Board 1941–44, member Jefferson County Bar Association and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Watertown (treasurer, vestryman 1897–1944, warden 1912–44, chancellor Diocese of Central New York 1924–44).

Married September 9, 1903, in Holland Patent, N.Y., Jessie Willard, daughter of James Thomas and Catherine Louise (Hamlin) Hall. Children Sylvia Louise (B.A. Smith Coll 1926), the wife of Malcolm Lock-

wood Williams (B S Univ. Pennsylvania 1924); and Catherine.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Brookside Cemetery, Watertown Survived by wife, daughters, and a brother, Edwin Dodge Boyer of Watertown.

George Francis Dominick, Jr., B.A. 1894.

Born July 21, 1871, in New York City. Died December 19, 1944, in Charleston, S.C.

Father, George Francis Dominick, member Dominick & Dickerman, bankers and brokers, New York City; son of William Francis and Lydia Gardner (Wells) Dominick of New York City. Mother, Emma Louise (Sparks) Dominick, daughter of John and Mary Eliza (Lamont) Sparks. Yale relatives include Bayard Dominick, '94, William F. Dominick, '98, Morris Groves, '99, and Gayer G. Dominick, '09 (cousins).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; chairman Yale Courant Senior year, member University Club and Psi Upsilon. Graduate student

in English Yale University 1898–1901 (M.A. 1901)

Associated with N W Harris & Company, bankers, New York City, 1894 and Dominick & Dickerman 1894–95, member Dominick & Williams 1899–1906; in partnership with his brothers Lamont and Everett in firm of Dominick Brothers & Company, 1906 until retirement 1920; food administrator for Township of Greenwich, Conn., 1916–18; chairman Food Control Commission, Second Federal Reserve District, 1918; contributed articles to *Field and Stream*, *Chicago Journal of Commerce*, and newspapers; member The Pilgrims, Downtown Association, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich (vestryman 1924–34).

Married April 6, 1904, in Hartford, Conn, Lucy Wilcox, daughter of Stephen C Pierson (B.A 1864) and Hannah Pettibone (Lattimer) Pierson and sister of Decius L. Pierson, '94 Children: Antoinette Pierson, the wife of James Moulton Thomas (B A Princeton 1925, B.D. Protestant Episcopal Theological School 1929); George Francis, 3d; and Lucy Wil-

cox, the wife of John Rodney Wilson, ex-'32.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, and two brothers, Lamont Dominick, '95, and Everett Dominick, '04.

John Henry Goss, B.A. 1894.

Born June 5, 1872, in Waterbury, Conn. Died October 16, 1944, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Chauncey Porter Goss, president Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury, son of Ephraim and Margaret (Porter) Goss of Pittsford, N.Y. Mother, Caroline Amelia (Ketchum) Goss, daughter of Cornelius and Caroline (Ryan) Ketchum of Bushnell's Basin, NY Yale relatives include: Milton J. Warner, '94, Herbert D Gallaudet, '98, and George M Smith, '01 (brothers-in-law), William M. Goss, ex-'17, Chauncey P. Goss, 3d, '26, Richard W. Goss, '29, Alden Young Warner, ex-'29, Eliot P. Goss, '31, Milton P. Warner, '33, and George A. Goss, Jr., '42 (nephews); and William M. Goss, Jr, '44 (grandnephew).

Holbrook School, Ossining, NY., and private tutor. Second DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; Yale Athletic Team Sophomore and Junior years, Class football team Senior year; member Psi Upsilon.

With Scovill Manufacturing Company 1894–1944 (toolmaker apprentice 1894-96; assistant to superintendent of burner department 1897-1903, acting superintendent 1903-05, superintendent 1905-08, superintendent of manufacturing department 1908-09; general superintendent of the plant 1909-38; secretary 1918; vice-president 1919-38; president and general manager 1938-44); president Alden M Young Company 1912-44; first vice-president Connecticut State Chamber of Commerce 1921–23, general director 1936–38; vice-president Manufacturers Association of Connecticut 1916-41 (on research and streams pollution committees) and Connecticut Conference on Social Work (president 1932); chairman Connecticut branch National Economy League 1933-34; administrator for Connecticut, National Relief Administration, 1933, a director Industrial Wastes Board for State of Connecticut 1915-21, 1925-31; member Puerto Rico Child Feeding Committee 1931, Legislative Commission on Jails 1934, Milk Administration Board 1935-37, and Board of Mediation and Arbitration 1937–44; trustee Waterbury Foundation 1924–44 and Taft School 1928-33; director Waterbury YMCA. 1905-14 (president 1911-13), State Farm for Women 1917-44 (treasurer of the board 1922-44), St Mary's Hospital 1927-44, and Rollins College, corporator Waterbury Hospital 1919–44; on Waterbury School Board 1914–22 and Waterbury Board of Finance 1922–38; author The Economic and Ethical Responsibility of the Average Man & Woman (1932); member Forty-year and

Fifty-year Class reunion committees and First Congregational Church,

Waterbury.

Married (1) June 17, 1902, in Pine Orchard, Conn, Ella, daughter of Alden March and Ellen (Shepardson) Young. Children: Elizabeth Alden, the wife of Henry Wellesley Wild (Univ. Birmingham, England, 1924); John Brockway, '28; and Milton Warner, '32 Mrs. Goss died October 15, 1933. Married (2) May 11, 1935, in Guilford, Conn, Margaret Marden, daughter of Jeremiah Jordan and Jennie (Marden) Goodwin.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Hugh Lindsay Thompson and Mrs. William Kelley-Patterson, both of Waterbury, and a brother, Chauncey Porter Goss, Jr., of Middlebury,

Conn Another brother, George A. Goss, '03, died in 1942.

Charles David Kyle, B.A. 1894.

Born December 28, 1870, in Cayuga, N.Y. Died March 28, 1945, in Auburn, N.Y.

Father, David Kyle, engaged in agriculture in Cayuga; son of John and Mary (Andrews) Kyle of Cayuga. Mother, Frances Amelia (Mersereau) Kyle; daughter of William and Abigail (Baker) Mersereau of Cayuga.

Auburn Academic High School. Oration appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment and Townsend Premium Senior year; Commencement speaker, on Boys' Club Committee Freshman year.

Read law in Auburn and Syracuse 1894–96; engaged in farming in Cayuga 1896 until retirement 1933; member Presbyterian Church, Cayuga.

Married November 29, 1921, in Cayuga, Lucy Oliver Allen, daughter of John and Mary E. (Shaw) Oliver No children.

Death due to septicemia Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cayuga. Survived by wife and a stepdaughter, Marjorie Oliver Allen Benedict (B.A Mount Holyoke Coll. 1931; Ph D Massachusetts Inst Technology 1935), the wife of Manson Benedict (B.S. Cornell Univ. 1928; M.S. Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1932, Ph.D. 1935).

Walter Edward Sanders, B.A. 1894.

Born February 19, 1872, in New York City. Died March 25, 1945, in Trenton, N.J.

Father, Rev Marshall Danforth Sanders (B.A Williams Coll. 1846; grad Auburn Theological Seminary 1851), a missionary in Ceylon, president Jaffna College; son of Anthony and Celinda (Brown) Sanders of

Williamstown, Mass. Mother, Caroline (Webb) Sanders; daughter of Dr. Walter Webb and Lucy Lord (Salisbury) Webb of Adams, NY.

Newton (Mass) High School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Yale Union

Instructor in sciences St. Matthew's School, San Mateo, Calif, 1894-95, Michigan Military Academy 1895–96, and Detroit University School 1897– 1900; graduate student University of California at Berkeley 1894-95, University of Chicago 1896-97, University of Michigan 1900-01, and Cornell University 1901-03 (M.E. 1903; instructor in experimental engineering 1902-03; member Sigma X1); chief engineer blast furnaces and night master mechanic Schoenberger Works of American Steel & Wire Company, Pittsburgh, 1903-04; instructor in machine design Pennsylvania State College 1904-05; manager packing department Mechanical Rubber Company, Cleveland, Ohio, 1905-10; mechanical sales manager Thermoid Rubber Company, Trenton, 1910–11, assistant sales manager C. J Tagliabue Manufacturing Company, thermometers, Brooklyn, 1911-13; mechanical engineer Paul B. Huyette Company, Philadelphia, 1913-15; engineer and consultant Essex Rubber Company, Trenton, 1915-41; engineer H. A Smith Machine Company, Hopewell, NJ, 1941-45; president Trenton Engineers Club 1925 and Yale Club of Mercer County, N.J., 1940-41 (on governing board 1941-42); member Masonic order and Prospect Presbyterian Church, Trenton.

Married (1) October 21, 1911, in Cleveland, Gertrude, daughter of Nathaniel Moore Jones (MD. Coll. of Wooster 1866) and Fannie (Shepard) Jones. Mrs. Sanders died July 22, 1917. Married (2) October 18, 1923, in Trenton, Laura, daughter of Joseph Samuel and Margaret Ann (Watson) Lister. Son: Walter Edward, Jr, Class of 1948 E.

Death due to a cerebral accident Buried in Ewing Presbyterian Church Cemetery, Trenton. Survived by wife, son, and two half brothers, Rev. William Henry Sanders, D D (B A Williams Coll. 1877; B.D. Hartford Seminary Foundation 1880), of Wilmington, Del, and Joseph Anthony Sanders (B.A. Amherst Coll. 1878; M D. New York Univ 1882) of Utica, N.Y. Another half brother, Frank K. Sanders, Ph D. 1889, died in 1933.

James Cowan Sawyer, B.A. 1894.

Born March 30, 1872, in Dover, N.H. Died August 8, 1944, in Lawrence, Mass.

Father, Charles Henry Sawyer (M A. Hon. Dartmouth Coll 1887), president Sawyer Woolen Mills, Dover; governor of New Hampshire 1887–89; son of Jonathan and Martha (Perkins) Sawyer of Watertown, N Y. Mother, Susan Ellen (Cowan) Sawyer; daughter of James Wellington Cowan (M D. Dartmouth Coll 1835) and Elizabeth (Hodgdon)

Cowan. Yale relatives include: William D Sawyer, '89, Charles F. Sawyer, ex-'90 S, and Edward Sawyer, '98 (brothers); Jonathan S. Bradley, '08 (cousin), and Jonathan Sawyer, '13, and Henry S. Sawyer, '29 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover President Freshman Football Team; assistant manager University Football Association Junior year; secretary and business manager University Glee and Banjo Clubs Association Senior year; Class Supper Committee; member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Studied at Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1894–95 and Harvard University 1895–96, manager Somersworth Machine Company, Dover, 1896–98, member Dunning [Harry W, '94] & Sawyer, managers of foreign tours, 1899–1901; trustee and treasurer Phillips-Andover 1901 until retirement 1939; since retirement had resided in Durham, N.H.; vice-president Merrimack Mutual Fire Insurance Company and Cambridge Mutual Fire Insurance Company 1912–34 and Andover National Bank 1913–33; on Board of Public Works, Andover, 1903–12 (secretary 1906–12), vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1918–19; member Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities (State vice-president 1927–30 and 1932–35, trustee 1930–32) and First Parish (Congregational), Dover.

Married June 10, 1897, in Dover, Mary Pepperrell Frost (B A. Smith Coll 1894), daughter of George Seward Frost (B A. Harvard 1865, M.A. 1868) and Martha Hale (Low) Frost. Sons: George Frost, '24, and Charles Henry, '29

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Pine Hill Cemetery, Dover. Survived by wife, sons, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Elizabeth Coffin Sawyer of Exeter, N.H

Charles Rives Skinker, B.A. 1894.

Born December 18, 1870, in St. Louis, Mo. Died March 21, 1945, in La Jolla, Calif.

Father, Thomas Keith Skinker (B.A. Washington University 1863; Univ Virginia Law School 1866–67), a lawyer in St. Louis, son of Thomas Skinker (B.A. Union Coll 1825) and Jane (Neilson) Skinker of St. Louis. Mother, Adela Bertha (Rives) Skinker, daughter of Alexander Rives (Univ. Virginia 1828–29) and Isabella Bachem (Wydown) Rives of Charlottesville, Va Yale relatives include two cousins, William Maffitt, '93, and Thomas S Maffitt, '99.

Smith Academy, St. Louis, attended University of Virginia 1888–89 and Washington University 1889–90 Entered Yale College with the Class; high oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Baseball Team; Class baseball team Junior year; assistant manager Yale University Baseball Association Junior year, president

Senior year; a director Yale Field Corporation and Yale Athletic Financial Union Senior year; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and

Key, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended St. Louis Law School (now Washington University School of Law) 1894–96 (LL B. 1896); admitted to the bar 1896; lawyer in St Louis 1896–1922 (associated with his father for several years) and Denver, Colo., 1923 until retirement 1935; resided in La Jolla 1936–45; member Church of St. James-by-the-Sea (Episcopal), La Jolla.

Married October 27, 1904, in Baltimore, Md, Elizabeth Baldwin, daughter of Montgomery Osborne and Annie (Jackson) Selden Children. Nancy Selden, the widow of Captain James B. Howat, Charlotte Keith,

the wife of Casey Eugene Marquis; and Charles Rives, Jr., '36 E

Death due to coronary heart disease Ashes interred in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and three sisters, the Misses Isabella Neilson and Bertha Rives Skinker, both of La Jolla, and Mrs. Jane Skinker Matthews of New York City.

Ralph Tousey, B.A. 1894.

Born October 21, 1873, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died September 25, 1944, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, John Euart Tousey, manager American News Company, New York City; son of Sinclair and Mary (Goddard) Tousey of Lakeville, N.Y. Mother, Nellie (Elderkin) Tousey; daughter of John and Renelcha (Hallock) Elderkin of Setauket, N.Y Yale relatives include Thomas Tousey (B.A 1707) and Thomas Tousey (BA 1785)

Brooklyn Collegiate and Polytechnic Institute Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta

Ps1.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1894–98 (M D 1898); house surgeon City Hospital, Blackwell's Island, New York City, 1899; physician in Brooklyn 1899–1904 and New York City 1904 until retirement 1925; chief of medical department St Bartholomew's Clinic 1908–12; instructor in gynecology New York Post-Graduate Medical School 1911–15, since retirement had resided in Seattle, member Masonic order and Presbyterian church

Married (1) June 3, 1896, in Keyport, N.J., Eléna, daughter of José and Eliza Geraldine (Teer) Martinez Daughter. Elisa Geraldine Tousey Shepard Kelley, the wife of John Thomas Kelley Dr and Mrs Tousey were divorced in 1904. Married (2) September 7, 1909, in New York City, Clara Sophia, daughter of Emil and Dora Briner Son Ralph, Jr. (died November 3, 1932). Dr. and Mrs Tousey were divorced

Death due to a paralytic stroke. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery,

Brooklyn Survived by daughter, three grandchildren, and three sisters, Miss Lilian Tousey of Washington, Conn, and Miss Elizabeth Tousey and Mrs Paul E. Vernon, both of Brooklyn.

Julian Cone Bingham, B.A. 1895.

Born June 5, 1873, in Willimantic, Conn. Died July 29, 1943, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, William Henry Harrison Bingham, a paper-box manufacturer in Williamntic and Northampton; associated with Williamntic Linen Mills and Kingsbury Box and Printing Company, son of Elisha Cone Bingham of Millington, Conn Mother, Laura Day (Brown) Bingham; daughter of Lydia (Smith) Brown of Westchester, Conn.

Willimantic High School First Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and

Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa.

Associated with Northampton Paper Box Company 1895 until retirement in 1907 because of ill-health.

Unmarried.

Death due to cardiac decompensation. Buried in Bridge Street Cemetery, Northampton. Survived by three brothers, William Bristow Bingham (BS Worcester Polytechnic Inst. 1898) of Penfield, N.Y., Edward Clary Bingham of Meriden, Conn., and Bradford Browne Bingham (B.S. Worcester Polytechnic Inst. 1908) of Athol, Mass.

Charles Kingsley, B.A. 1895.

Born April 25, 1874, in Paris, France. Died December 2, 1944, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Charles Kingsley (Univ Rochester ex-'67; D.D.S New York Coll Dentistry 1869), a dentist in Paris, teacher at École Dentaire de France, son of Nathaniel and Eliza (Williams) Kingsley of Pittsford, Vt Mother, Jessie (Bradbrook) Kingsley, daughter of Gustavus A. and Eliza (Ross) Bradbrook of Philadelphia. Yale relatives include: Rolfe Kingsley, '02 S. (brother); and Rolfe Kingsley, Jr, '39 (nephew).

Private school, Lowestoft, England. Second colloquy appointment

Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with Charles Scribner's Sons, New York City, 1895-1907 and 1919 until retirement 1940 (organizer Charles Scribner's Sons, Ltd.,

and managing director London office 1919–40); with Ernest Dressel North, choice, rare, and secondhand books, New York City, 1907–09, J. A. Ripley & Company 1909–13, and Cosmopolitan Magazine 1913–14, manager and secretary Book and Print Shop 1914–16, associated with Dodd, Mead & Company 1916–19; member National, Liberal, Devonshire, and Authors' clubs, London

Married June 2, 1903, in New York City, Emily, daughter of Roland and Charlotte (Burwell) Merritt. Children. Charles, Jr. (B S. Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1927, M S 1932), and Eleanor (The Sorbonne, Paris, 1930–31), the wife of René Albrecht Carrié (B.A. and M A Columbia Univ. 1923, Ph.D. 1935).

Death due to senile psychosis. Survived by wife (died April 25, 1945), children, and three grandchildren

William Grant McCann, B.A. 1895.

Born November 3, 1868, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died February 4, 1945, in Cohoes, N.Y.

Father, Charles Carl McCann, a farmer and merchant of Philadelphia; son of John and Catherine (Ranney) McCann of Blue Bell, Pa. Mother, Phoebe Goulding (Shoemaker) McCann; daughter of Charles and Sarah (Childs) Shoemaker of Blue Bell.

Friends Central School, Philadelphia, and Monson (Mass) Academy. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; member Beta Theta Pi; awarded B.A. degree 1897 with enrollment in Class of 1895 Attended Yale Divinity School 1897–1900

Associated with F. W. Woolworth & Company 1901–12 (assistant in New Haven, Conn, 1901, manager Concord, NH, store, and of the Cohoes store 1903–12), secretary Southworth Company, publishers, Troy, N.Y., 1912–14; engaged in business in Cohoes 1914–26; treasurer Mermac Cleansing Company, dry cleaning, Cohoes, 1928 until retirement 1944; member Masonic order; deacon First Baptist Church, Cohoes (honorary assistant minister for a few years)

Married June 21, 1894, in Philadelphia, Winifred Evelyn, daughter of Edwin Hersey and Georgiana (Johnson) Nason Children. Verna Elizabeth (grad. New York State Teachers Coll. 1918), the wife of John McCreary (M E. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1919), Helen Hatch (died May 1, 1908), and Donald (died October 18, 1918).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Troy Survived by wife, one daughter, two grandsons, and a sister, Mrs. Gilbert S. Smith of Avalon, N.J.

Rowland Gardiner Paynter, B.A. 1895.

Born June 20, 1874, in Georgetown, Del. Died December 16, 1944, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, John Henry Hobart Paynter (B A. Union Coll 1858), attorney general of Delaware 1885 and justice of Delaware Supreme Court 1885–90; son of Samuel Rowland and Sally Ann (Ross) Paynter of The Drawbridge, Sussex County, Del Mother, Sallie Custis (Wright) Paynter; daughter of Gardiner Harrison and Cassandra Wise (Waples) Wright of Georgetown.

Wilmington Conference Academy, Dover, Del Second colloquy appointment Junior year and first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi

Attended University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1895–98 (M.D. 1898), resident physician Hospital of the Protestant Episcopal Church, Philadelphia, 1898–1900; physician in Georgetown 1900 until retirement from active practice 1925; president Farmers Bank of the State of Delaware, Georgetown, 1917–44 and Kent County Mutual Insurance Company 1934–44; vice-president Delaware, Maryland & Virginia Railroad Company 1918–44, trustee Delaware State Hospital 1905 (treasurer 1918–44), The Trustees of the Protestant Episcopal Church of the Diocese of Delaware 1936–44, and University of Delaware 1937–44; vestryman St Paul's Church, Georgetown.

Married November 6, 1920, in Lewes, Del., Leah Anderson, daughter of Hiram Rodney Burton (M.D. Univ. Pennsylvania 1868) and Margaret Virginia (Rawlins) Burton. No children.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in St. Paul's Cemetery, Georgetown. Survived by wife.

John Gardner Talcott, B.A. 1895.

Born-June 27, 1873, in Talcottville, Conn. Died November 2, 1944, in Talcottville, Conn.

Father, Samuel Augustus Talcott, associated with Talcott Brothers, woolen manufacturers, Talcottville; postmaster of Talcottville, son of Samuel and Asenath (Morgan) Talcott of Gilead, Conn. Mother, Rosa Jane (Talcott) Talcott, daughter of Horace Wells and Jane Maria (Gardner) Talcott of Talcottville Yale relatives include H. Gardner Talcott, ex-'71 (uncle), and Ely M. T. Ryder, '96 S, C Denison Talcott, '02, Louis H. Talcott, '02, and M Gardner Talcott, '02 (cousins)

Collins Street Classical School, Hartford, Conn Oration appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended Philadelphia (Pa.) Textile School 1896–97 (awarded silver medal for general excellence), partner Talcott Brothers 1895–96, 1897–1918 and secretary-treasurer of its successor, Talcott Brothers Company, 1918–44; president First National Bank, Rockville, Conn., 1919–30; postmaster of Talcottville 1899–1943; on School Board of the Town of Vernon (Conn.) 1916–44 (secretary 1919–40) and State Board of Education 1919–29; treasurer Tolland County Y M C A 1920–44 and member executive committee of the Connecticut branch of the organization; member executive committee Congregational Home Missionary Society 1921–26, prudential committee American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1926–37, Hartford Association for the Endowment of American Colleges in the Near East College Association, Inc., 1928–29, and Connecticut committee of Puerto Rico Child Feeding Committee 1931, clerk Talcottville Congregational Church 1899–1944, and deacon and Sunday School superintendent 1917–44

Married June 7, 1905, in Manchester, Conn, Charlotte Florence White (B A Smith Coll 1897), daughter of Henry Hudson and Charlotte Elizabeth (Hilliard) White Son John Gardner Talcott, Jr., A.U.S, '35. Mrs Talcott died May 5, 1944.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Talcottville Cemetery Survived by son and a grandson.

William deForest Thomson, B.A. 1895.

Born January 5, 1873, in New York City Died December 29, 1944, in Nice, France.

Father, William Hanna Thomson, LL D. (B A Wabash Coll 1850, M A. 1857; M D. Albany Medical Coll. 1859; M.A. Hon Yale 1861), a brain specialist in New York City; author; professor of materia medica and diseases of the nervous system New York University 1868–90 and lecturer on morals and religion 1890–97; son of Rev. William McClure Thomson, D.D. (B.A. Miami Univ. 1828, M A. 1835, Princeton Theological Seminary 1829–31), and Eliza (Hanna) Thomson of Beirut, Syria, and Denver, Colo Mother, Catherine Sarah (Jackson-VanDyck) Thomson; daughter of Peter and Elizabeth Jackson-VanDyck. Yale relatives include: Herbert G Thomson, '93 (brother); and John D Thomson, '95 (cousin).

Phillips-Andover. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; Class deacon four years, member Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with his brother in Anchor Post Iron Works, New York City, 1895–1903; retired in 1903 because of ill-health; resided in New York, Massachusetts, Florida, and Europe; author: *The Passing of Time* (1907), *Roman Chimes* (1938), and verses and prose.

Married June 26, 1902, in Boston, Mabel Maria Dolores Whitney,

daughter of Walter and Elinor (Whitney) Burgess.

Death due to heart disease Buried in Cocade Cemetery, Nice (later to be buried in San Lorenzo Cemetery, Rome, Italy). Survived by wife and an adopted son, Rev Dr G. Taccarini Thomson.

William Neill Whitelaw, B.A. 1895.

Born March 7, 1869, in Kidder, Mo. Died November 28, 1944, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, John Whitelaw of Kidder; senior partner Whitelaw & Son, lumber and hardware; president Kidder Board of Education; trustee Kidder Institute; son of William and Jean (Wilson) Whitelaw of Glasgow, Scotland, and Portage, Wis. Mother, Mary (Neill) Whitelaw; daughter of John and Margaret (Moreland) Neill of Mill-o-Tor, Perthshire, Scotland, and Portage.

Kidder Institute and Drury College. Entered Yale College Junior year;

dissertation appointment Senior year.

Attended University of Kansas City School of Law 1898–1900 (LL.B. 1900; member Phi Delta Phi) and University of Washington 1916–18 (M.A. 1918, instructor in history and economics); in office of Yeager & Strothers, lawyers, Kansas City, for a year; principal Arlington (Wash.) High School 1905–07 and Jackson and Thirty-second Street schools, Everett, Wash, 1907–10; superintendent Issaquah (Wash.) public schools 1910–13, substitute instructor in history and economics Roosevelt and Lincoln High schools, Seattle, 1914 until retirement 1937; private Company K, Washington National Guard, 1907–09.

Married June 25, 1907, in Seattle, Dorothy Ellis (Grinnell Coll. ex'98), daughter of Marianna (Meserve) Ellis. Son: John Willis (B.A. Univ. Washington 1929, MA 1931). Mrs. Whitelaw died September 12, 1942.

Death due to hemorrhage from a peptic ulcer. Ashes interred in Washelli Columbarium, Seattle. Survived by son, three sisters, Miss Margaret Whitelaw of Kidder, Mrs Owen J. Williams of Cambria, Wis., and Mrs. Charles Theodore Shaw of Cameron, Mo, and four brothers, John Whitelaw, Jr (Drury Coll. ex-'96), of De Soto, Kans, Henry Neill Whitelaw (B.S. Univ. Chicago 1904; MD Rush Medical Coll. 1906) of Corvallis, Ore., James Whitelaw (died February 6, 1945), and Ralph Wardlaw Whitelaw of Kidder.

Leo Arnstein, B.A. 1896.

Born January 25, 1877, in San Francisco, Calif. Died August 14, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Eugene Arnstein, partner in mercantile firm of Stein, Simon & Company, San Francisco; manager London, Paris and American Bank, San Francisco; partner banking firm Lazard Frères & Company, New York City; son of Lemuel and Pauline (Simon) Arnstein of Sulzbach, Germany. Mother, Josefine (Mandelbaum) Arnstein, daughter of Elias and Sophie (Weiner) Mandelbaum of Klattau, Austria.

Sachs' Collegiate Institute, New York City. Entered with Class of 1897 and transferred to 1896 Senior year; first dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; president Yale Chess Club Senior year; member Yale Union.

With J. H. Rossbach, Inc., importers of hides, skins, rubber, and wax, New York City, 1896-1902 and 1919 until retirement 1939 (secretary and treasurer 1919-25, vice-president and treasurer 1925-39); general manager Nathan Manufacturing Company, locomotive equipment, New York City, 1903-07; vice-president Randolph Motor Car Company, Chicago, 1908-10 (in charge eastern branch 1909-10); secretary Borough of Manhattan 1910-14; assistant to president of Board of Aldermen, City of New York, 1914-15; chairman committee on finance Board of Education 1916-17 and executive manager March-June, 1917; chairman military relief committee and executive committee New York County chapter American Red Cross 1917–18; commissioned Lieutenant Colonel, United States Army, October 14, 1918, and in personnel and operations division of General Staff, Washington; discharged December 20, 1918; a governor New York Hide Exchange, Inc., 1929-33 and its successor Commodity Exchanges, Inc., 1933-39; vice-president Mount Sinai Hospital 1902-38, president 1938-44; on Emergency Welfare Board 1934-38 and first deputy commissioner, Department of Welfare, New York City, 1941-43 and acting commissioner and later commissioner 1943-44; trustee National Child Labor Committee 1915-36 and Henry Street Settlement 1916-44, an incorporator Federation for the Support of Jewish Philanthropic Societies of New York City (trustee 1916-43, honorary trustee 1943-44); member Greater New York Fund Committee on Administration and Distribution, Planning Committee, Hospital Council of New York City, and administrative council American Association of Labor Legislation 1910–25.

Married November 19, 1901, in New York City, Elsie, daughter of Max and Rosalie (Stettheimer) Nathan. Children Elizabeth Nathan (B.A. Barnard Coll. 1924, M.D Columbia Univ 1927; died February 23, 1940); Margaret (B.A Smith Coll 1925; C.P H. Johns Hopkins Univ 1934); William Eugene, '30 S; and Robert Leo, '41.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife, one daughter, two sons, a granddaughter, two sisters, Mrs Adolf Liebmann and Mrs. Joseph L Lilienthal, both of New York City, and a brother, Hugo Arnstein, ex-'09. Another brother, Walter Arnstein, '02 S., died in 1933.

Sherman Day, B.A. 1896.

Born September 7, 1874, in New York City. Died December 18, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Henry Mills Day (BA Western Reserve Univ. 1859; BA. ad eundem Yale 1859), founder Day & Heaton, brokers, New York City; son of Henry N Day (BA. 1828) and Jane Louisa (Marble) Day of New Haven, Conn. Mother, Sarah (Vallette) Day; daughter of Henry and Julia (Carley) Vallette of Cincinnati, Ohio Yale relatives include: Jeremiah Day (B.A. 1756) (great-great-grandfather); Jeremiah Day (B.A. 1795), Thomas Day (BA. 1797), and Mills Day (BA. 1803) (great-great-uncles), Thomas Day (BA. 1839) and Charles Day (B.A. 1840) (great-uncles), and Harry V. Day, '95 S. (brother).

Cutler School, New York City High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, manager Yale Athletic Association Junior year and president Senior year; a director Yale Athletic Financial Union and Yale Field Corporation Senior year; member University Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon,

Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Clerk Day & Heaton 1896–97; attended New York Law School 1897–99 (LL B. 1899); admitted to the bar 1899, lawyer in New York City 1899 until retirement 1939; with Hornblower, Byrne, Miller & Potter 1899–1905; associated with Louis C Krauthoff 1905–08; member Krauthoff, Harmon & Mathewson 1909–15, Harmon, Patterson, Eagle [J. Frederick, '96], Greenough & Day 1915–16, and Patterson, Eagle, Greenough & Day 1916–39, counsel Virginia Day Nursery, New York City; president Henry Hooker & Company, carriage makers, New Haven; member Troop 2, Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1896–1901; on Yale Committee for Participation in the Restoration of the Library at Louvain 1924.

Unmarried

Death due to hypertension Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Edgar Conrad Lackland, B.A. 1896.

Born June 17, 1874, in St. Louis, Mo. Died November 22, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Edgar Conrad Lackland, a merchant in St. Louis; son of Rufus James and Mary Susannah (Cable) Lackland of Rochester, NY. Mother,

Elise Meta (Kayser) Lackland; daughter of Henry and Emily (Lassen) Kayser of St. Louis. Yale relatives include a nephew, P Huntington Smith, 3d, '36.

Smith Academy, St. Louis. Freshmen Glee Club; University Glee Club three years (substitute Sophomore year, president Senior year), College Choir Junior and Senior years; Cup man; member University Club, Eta

Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Washington University School of Law 1896–98 (LL B. 1898); admitted to the bar 1898, associated with Sheddon & Blair, lawyers, St. Louis, 1898–1904; president and director Thornton Construction Company, St. Louis; member Municipal Assembly, St. Louis, 1903–05, legal adviser Missouri Anti-Saloon League, Interchurch-Omnipartisan 1903–05; vice-president Sanitation & Supply Company, disinfectants, New York City; in charge development insulated wire division Marlin-Rockwell Corporation, New Haven, 1918–20 and sales manager Rockbestos Products Corporation, asbestos insulated wires and cables, 1920–31; manager asbestos wire division Collyer Insulated Wire Company, Pawtucket, R.I., 1931–32, president E. C. Lackland, Inc., imported wines and spirits, New Haven, 1934–44; member Mendelssohn Glee Club, New York City, and St. Mark's Church (Episcopal), St. Louis.

Married (1) May 11, 1907, in Tuxedo, NY, Frances Ford Benjamin Page, daughter of George Hillard Benjamin (BA. Union Coll. 1872) and Jane Miller (Seymour) Benjamin. No children Mr. and Mrs. Lackland were divorced in 1925 Married (2) June 17, 1925, in New York City, Bertha Messinger Bassett, daughter of William C and Augusta Middle-

brook (Wordin) Messinger.

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Fair View Cemetery, West Hartford, Conn Survived by wife, a stepdaughter, Ann Frances Bassett Slaymaker (Smith Coll. ex-'39), the wife of William F. Slaymaker, '39 S, and two sisters, Caroline Elise L Smith, the widow of Huntington Smith, '09, and Miss Mary Lackland, both of New York City.

William Southworth Miller, B.A. 1896.

Born September 27, 1873, in Evanston, Ill.

Died June 1, 1945, in Dyer, Ind.

Father, Henry Giles Miller (B A. Hamilton Coll. 1848), a lawyer in Chicago; son of Abner and Sally (Lyman) Miller of West Moreland, N.Y. Mother, Sarah Caroline (Mason) Miller; daughter of Roswell Bertram and Harriet Lavinia (Hopkins) Mason of Chicago Yale relatives include: Edward G. Mason, '60, Henry B Mason, '70, and Alfred Bishop Mason, '71 (uncles); Henry G. Miller, '95 (brother), Henry E Mason, '89, Edward H. Mason, '92, James R. Trowbridge, '94, Roswell

B. Mason, '95, Julian S. Mason, '98, Huntington Mason, '99, Maurice Mason, '01, Norman H. Mason, '02, Roy Mason, '02, Elmer B. Mason, ex-'02, Mason Trowbridge, '02, Macdonnell Mason, ex-'03, Lawrence Mason, '04, Calhoun Mason, ex-'04, George C. Mason, ex-'07, and Frederic O Mason, '09 (cousins).

University School, Chicago. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Baseball Team; Class baseball team Sophomore and Senior years (captain Sophomore year); assistant manager Yale University Baseball Association Junior year, president Senior year, Yale Shooting Club Team four years (president Junior year, captain Senior year); on board Yale Daily News Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; Sophomore German and Junior Promenade committees; member University Club, Yale Union, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Northwestern University Law School 1896–98; admitted to the bar 1898, lawyer in Chicago 1898 until retirement January 1, 1945; with Follansbee & Follansbee 1898–1900, associated with Northern Trust Company 1900–45 (vice-president and general counsel 1918–45); president Northern Trust Safe Deposit Company 1928–45, secretary James C. King Home for Old Men, Chicago, 1906–45; second vice-president Yale Club of Chicago 1914–15 and first vice-president 1921–22; on forty-year Class reunion committee, member Episcopal church.

Married (1) August 24, 1904, in Winona, Minn., Susan Talmadge, daughter of William Jay and Cornelia (Foster) Whipple. Children: William Whipple, '28; Mary (Vassar Coll. ex-'30), the wife of Charles Nancrede Proctor (B A Dartmouth Coll. 1929); and Susan Martha (B A. Smith Coll 1932), the wife of Albert Fleetford Sise (Harvard 1924–28). Mrs. Miller died June 9, 1911 Married (2) June 14, 1913, in Elwood, Ind, Mary Pembroke, daughter of Joseph Bentley and Frances Cook (Durbin) Wilde Son Joseph Southworth, '36.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Survived by wife, children, and thirteen grandchildren.

Lee Rutland Scarborough, B.A. 1896.

Born July 4, 1870, in Colfax, La. Died April 10, 1945, in Amarillo, Texas.

Father, Rev George Washington Scarborough of Cameron, Texas; a Baptist minister, Civil War veteran, son of Irvin and Frances (Cannon) Scarborough of Georgia Mother, Martha Elizabeth (Rutland) Scarborough, daughter of William Battle and Nancy (Little) Rutland of Nashville, Tenn.

B.A Baylor University 1892; taught at Baylor University Academy and

principal of Mexia (Texas) High School 1892-95. Entered Yale College Senior year; philosophical oration appointment, one-year honors in political science and law, and in history; member Yale Union and Phi

Beta Kappa.

Ordained by Missionary Baptist Church 1896; minister Cameron Baptist Church and traveled in western Texas and New Mexico holding revival meetings 1896-99, attended Southern Baptist Theological Seminary 1899–1900; minister First Baptist Church, Abilene, Texas, 1900–08; professor of evangelism Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary 1908–15 and president of the Seminary 1915 until retirement 1942, D.D. Baylor University 1908, LL D. Union University (Tenn) 1927; author-Recruits for World Conquests (1914), With Christ After the Lost, A Search for Souls (1919), Marvels of Divine Leadership (1920), Prepare to Meet God (1922), Endued to Win (1923), Christ's Militant Kingdom (1924), Holy Places and Precious Promises (1924), How Jesus Won Men (1926), Ten Spiritual Ships (1927), Products of Pentecost (1934), My Conception of the Gospel Ministry (1935), A Blaze of Evangelism Across the Equator (1937), A Modern School of the Prophets (1939), and After the Resurrection, What? (1942); a director Baptist Standard, president General Baptist Convention of Texas 1929-31 and Southern Baptist Convention 1938-40 (member executive board of missions and education committees); trustee and financial secretary Simmons College (now Hardin-Simmons University) 1901-08, raising the money to erect two large buildings; general director seventy-five-million-dollar campaign of Southern Baptists 1919; member First Baptist Church, Edinburg, Texas.

Married February 4, 1900, in Abilene, Mary Parker Warren (Ph.B. Ouachita Coll. 1892), daughter of Caleb Parker and Mary Ann (Harkrider) Warren. Children. George Warren (B A. Baylor 1921; LL.B. Univ. Texas 1922; Yale School of Law 1922-23); Euna Lee (B A. Baylor 1924; BRE. Southern Baptist Theological Seminary 1926), the wife of Rev Anson David Foreman, Jr. (B A. Baylor 1924; M Th Southern Baptist Theological Seminary 1926), Lawrence Rutland (Decatur Baptist Coll. 1921–22); Neppie (B A. Baylor 1930); Ada Beth (B A. Baylor 1932), the wife of G. A Johnson (Agricultural and Mechanical Coll of Texas 1924–25), and William Byron (B A and LL B. Baylor 1935).

Death due to cerebral apoplexy. Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Fort Worth, Texas. Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren.

[Edward] Dorland Smith, B.A. 1896.

Born April 29, 1875, in Peru, NY Died February 5, 1945, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, Oliver Keese Smith, a farmer and stock breeder in Peru, son of Stephen Keese and Jane (Keese) Smith of Peru. Mother, Mary Sarah (Dorland) Smith (Wells Coll. ex-'71); daughter of Edward Mott and Susannah Leggett (Battey) Dorland of Starksboro, Vt.

Plattsburg (NY) High School. First dispute appointment Junior year; oration appointment and two-year honors in natural sciences Senior year. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1896–99 (MD 1899; an editor Yale

Medical Journal Senior year; member Nu Sigma Nu).

Interne Bridgeport Hospital 1900-01; ophthalmic and aural surgeon in Bridgeport 1901-45, studied in London and Vienna 1906-07, 1909, 1911-12 and in India 1912 and 1914 (performed cataract operations under Indian Medical Service, Amritsar, Punjab, 1912); clinical assistant and assistant surgeon Manhattan Eye, Ear, and Throat Hospital, New York City, 1902-07 and New York Eye and Ear Infirmary 1908-12; attending eye and ear surgeon Bridgeport Hospital 1905-45; eye surgeon Bridgeport Municipal Clinic, author of numerous papers on eye experiments published in medical journals; compiler. Constitution and By-Laws (a book on hospital staff organization) and Yale Views (1899); on Fairfield County Committee on Sanitation and Medicine of the Connecticut State Council of Defense and physician Bridgeport draft board and member medical advisory board 1917-18; member Bridgeport Medical Society, Fairfield County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, New York Academy of Medicine, American Medical Association, American Ophthalmological Society, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology, and Society of Friends.

Married June 27, 1909, in Huntington, Ind, Blanche Strain, daughter of Charles Hamlin Good (M.D. Rush Medical Coll. 1883) and Edith (Strain) Good No children. Dr and Mrs Smith were divorced in 1912.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in "God's Acre," Peru. Survived by a sister, Mrs. John Glover Hawley of West Hartford, Conn.

Thomas Bucklin Wells, B.A. 1896.

Born April 5, 1875, in Painesville, Ohio. Died August 2, 1944, in Neuilly-sur-Seine, France.

Father, Thomas B Wells (BA 1859) Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Jonas) Wells. Yale relatives include: Thomas W. Stiles, '79, Henry Farnam, '95, George B Farnam, '97, Thomas W Farnam, '99, and Tracy Farnam, ex-'11 M (cousins); and Thomas B Wells, 2d, ex-'24 (nephew).

Northwestern Preparatory School, Evanston, Ill Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Delta Kappa Epsilon

Reporter on New York Journal 1896–99; associated with Harper & Brothers, publishers, New York City and London, 1900 until retirement 1931 (in publicity department, secretary and editorial adviser on book and magazine scripts 1915–18, vice-president 1918–25, chairman board of directors and executive committee 1925–31); associate editor Harper's

Magazine 1906–19 and editor-in-chief 1919–31; since retirement had resided in France, Captain, American Red Cross, during World War I; overseas at evacuation hospitals in France May, 1918–January, 1919; graduate member Elizabethan and Elihu clubs.

Married June 21, 1902, in Greenwich, Conn, Harriet, daughter of George P. Sheldon (B A. 1867) and Frances (Pendleton) Sheldon and

sister of George P. Sheldon, Jr., ex-'99. No children

Death due to heart disease. Temporarily buried in the cemetery at Neuilly-sur-Seine Survived by wife and a brother, Frederick B. Wells, ex'93 S.

Albert Boardman Kerr, B.A. 1897.

Born March 17, 1875, in Clearfield, Pa. Died June 20, 1945, in Charlottesville, Va

Father, James Kerr, president Beech Creek Coal & Coke Company and its successor, Pennsylvania Coal & Coke Company, Clearfield; member United States House of Representatives 1889–91 and clerk of the House 1891–95; son of James and Margaret (Daugherty) Kerr of Reedsville, Pa. Mother, Julia Boardman (Smith) Kerr, daughter of Henry Boardman and Laura (Gibbs) Smith of Clearfield Yale relatives include two nephews; Walter B. Kerr, Jr., ex-'34, and Chester Brooks Kerr, '36.

Washington (D.C.) High School. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; on board Yale Daily News Junior year and managing editor Senior year; Triennial Committee; member Yale Union, Alpha

Delta Phi, and Skull and Bones.

Attended New York Law School 1897-99 (LL.B 1899); admitted to the bar 1899, lawyer in New York City 1899-1921, 1931-38, and in Washington 1922; engaged in legal care of father's coal interests 1899– 1905; partner Sage [Dean, '97], Kerr & Gray 1903-05, Zabriskie, Murray, Sage & Kerr 1905–18, and Zabriskie, Sage, Kerr & Gray 1918–21; American counsel Royal Bank of Canada 1905–21; associated with Sage, Gray, Todd [William A, '97] & Sims 1931-33; attorney Presbyterian Medical Center 1933-38, chief counsel U.S. Housing Corporation, Washington, April-October, 1918, president and director Potts Run Coal Company, Clearfield, 1907-23; secretary and director Hooverhurst & Southwestern Railroad Company 1899–1907; treasurer and director North River Coal & Wharf Company 1899-1907; trustee Roanoke College 1936-41, chairman executive committee Atlanta University Fund 1932-33; author: Jacques Coeur, Merchant Prince of the Middle Ages (1927), The Long Crooked River (1929), and Valiant Hearts (1936), resided in Paris and Cannes 1921–22, 1923–31, and in Charlottesville from retirement in 1938 until 1945; member Squadron A, New York National Guard, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Author's Club (London), and St. Paul's Episcopal Church, University, Va.

Married (1) October 11, 1913, in Lawrence, NY., Rosamond, daughter of Winthrop Burr (BA. Harvard 1884) and Frances (Page) Burr. No children Mr. and Mrs. Kerr were divorced in 1930. Married (2) November 4, 1933, in Salem, Va, Rosalie Stevens (Columbia Univ. 1918–19), daughter of Judge George Seton Stevens and Lucy Ramey (Gravely) Stevens Daughter Rosalie Keith

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis Buried in Monticello Memorial Park, Charlottesville. Survived by wife, daughter, and four brothers, Brigadier General Frederick Blair Kerr, U.S.A. (B.S. United States Military Academy 1899) of Clearfield, Walter B. Kerr, '04 S., Chester M Kerr, ex-'10 S, and James Kerr, ex-'16.

Theodore Frelinghuysen Russel, B.A. 1897.

Born July 3, 1873, in Pottsville, Pa. Died March 3, 1945, in Reading, Pa.

Father, Thomas F. Russel, a merchant in Pottsville. Mother, Isabelle (Lee) Russel

Phillips-Andover. Freshman Glee Club; second glee club Sophomore and Junior years; substitute University Glee Club Senior year; College Choir Junior and Senior years; member Class Cup Committee.

In paymaster's department Philadelphia & Reading Coal & Iron Company, Pottsville, 1897–1912; traveled extensively in all parts of the world 1912 until about 1933; resided in Reading 1933–45; overseas with American Red Cross September, 1918–November 25, 1919; inspector U.S. Base Hospital 29 in England September, 1918–January, 1919; in Paris January–February; detailed to allied prisoners in Germany, with headquarters in Berlin, February–June; Red Cross delegate in charge of all work in Copenhagen, June until November 25, 1919; assimilated rank of First Lieutenant September 16, 1918, Captain October 5, 1918, and Major and deputy commissioner August 19, 1919.

Unmarried

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Charles Baber Cemetery, Potts-ville Survived by no immediate relatives.

William Asahel Todd, B.A. 1897.

Born July 14, 1869, in Unionville, Conn. Died March 26, 1945, in Altadena, Calif.

Father, William Todd, a machinist and engineer. Mother, Reginia Rachel (Stedman) Todd; daughter of Simeon and Lucy Ann (Hart) Stedman of Unionville.

Unionville School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years Instructor in Latin and Greek, Betts Academy, Stamford, Conn, 1897–1900; engaged as private tutor 1900–01; taught Greek and English Berkeley School, New York City, 1901–02; master Nathan Hale School, New York City, 1902–03; attended New York University School of Law 1903–05 (LL B 1909; member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to the bar 1905, lawyer in New York City 1905 until retirement in 1942 because of ill-health; member Zabriskie, Murray, Sage [Dean, '97] & Kerr [Albert B, '97] (later Zabriskie, Sage, Gray & Todd, Sage, Gray & Todd, and Sage, Gray, Todd & Sims); resided in California 1942–45; trustee New Rochelle (N Y.) Hospital Association; disaster chairman American Red Cross, New Rochelle, during World War I; member American Bar Association; vestryman Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Rochelle.

Married (1) July 18, 1908, in New York City, Emilie Reed, daughter of Elwood and Elzira (Gove) Evans. No children Mrs. Todd died January 8, 1937. Married (2) June 23, 1939, in New York City, Marjorie James Wilkeson, daughter of Henry and Sara Louise (Bradbury) James

Death due to hemorrhage from gastric ulcer Ashes interred in Mountain View Mausoleum, Altadena Survived by wife.

Irving Dillaye Vann, B.A. 1897.

Born September 17, 1875, in Syracuse, N.Y. Died August 7, 1944, in Syracuse, N.Y.

Father, Irving G. Vann (B.A 1863). Mother, Julie Florence (Dillaye) Vann.

Syracuse High School and Phillips-Andover. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Yale Shooting Club Team Freshman year, secretary and treasurer Sophomore and Junior years.

Attended Harvard Law School 1897–1900 (LL B. 1900), admitted to the bar 1901; lawyer in Syracuse 1901–10 and 1911–44 (member Fowler, Crouch & Vann 1911–13, Fowler & Vann 1913–14, Fowler, Vann & Paine 1914–15, Vann & Tuck 1917–23, and Vann, Tuck, Sheridan & Sheridan 1923–44); deputy attorney-general State of New York, Albany, 1910 and 1911; trustee Court of Appeals Library 1930–44 (chairman of the board 1942–44); director Yale Alumni Association of Syracuse 1937–44; member National Municipal League, Syracuse Chamber of Commerce, Onondaga County, New York State, and American Bar associations, Onondaga County Historical Society, and First Presbyterian Church, Syracuse

Unmarried.

Death due to pneumonia. Ashes interred in Oakwood Cemetery, Syracuse. Survived by no immediate relatives.

In 1931 Mr. Vann gave about 2,000 pieces to the Yale Numismatic

Collection, and in 1934 and 1938 gave several thousand miscellaneous volumes from the library of his father to the University Library.

Robert King Vibert, B.A. 1897.

Born December 24, 1875, in Unionville, Conn. Died November 23, 1944, in Unionville, Conn.

Father, Watson Vandon Vibert, a mechanic in Unionville; son of Oliver and Nancy E (Loomis) Vibert of East Hartford, Conn. Mother, Margaret Fallow (King) Vibert; daughter of Robert Campbell and Rachel (Scott) King of Unionville. Yale relatives include an uncle, J. Scott King, '87

Unionville High School. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior

years.

Principal of grammar schools in Burnside and East Hartford 1897–99; engaged in cattle business in Texas 1899 and as a civil engineer for Mexican Central Railroad, Mexico City, about 1902; president Vibert & Dixon, Inc, camera supplies and stationery, Ancon, Canal Zone, 1904 until about 1912, partner of its successor R. K and R. J. Vibert 1912–19, and independently operated the business 1919 until retirement 1928, resided in Farmington, Conn, 1928–29 and in Unionville from 1929; treasurer Union School District; prosecuting attorney Borough Court of Unionville 1937–39 and deputy judge 1939–43, private First Connecticut Volunteers 1898, member Masonic order and Unionville Congregational Church.

Married October 12, 1909, in Hartford, Marjorie Ruthven Monteith (Simmons Coll ex-'08), daughter of Henry Ruthven Monteith (B.A. Dartmouth Coll 1869) and Ella (Ryder) Monteith and sister of Isabella Monteith, ex-'97 Mus Children Isabel Gilchrist (Russell Sage Coll. 1933–34), the wife of Raymond Leonard Benton; Ruthven Monteith (Univ. Connecticut ex-'39), Robert King, Jr. (Univ. of the South ex-'41), Peter Loomis, John Witherspoon; William Monteith; and Thomas Monteith Mrs Vibert died April 30, 1934

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Avon, Conn Survived by children, six grandchildren, and a brother Louis Vandon Vibert of Akron, Ohio.

Francis Millward Wilson, B.A. 1897.

Born October 4, 1875, in Orange, N.J. Died May 15, 1945, in Old Bennington, Vt.

Father, Thomas Wilson, a broker in New York City; president New York Produce Exchange Mother, Margaret Nichols (Millward) Wilson.

Halsey School for Boys, New York City Member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club (vice-commander Senior year) and Zeta Psi.

Associated with Barber and Company, Inc (later Barber Steamship Lines, Inc.), New York City, 1897 until retired and placed on reserve list in 1920 (became member of the firm and secretary in 1903, second vice-president until 1920), made many business trips to Europe and around the world; owner and proprietor Kalarama Orchards, Inc., Williamstown, Mass., and Bennington 1921–40; served with the British and American Secret services; purser aboard a United States Merchant Marine ship 1941–42; assistant marine superintendent Prudential Steamship Corporation, New York City, 1943–44, civilian aide to Rear Admiral Nathaniel Reilly Usher, commander of Brooklyn Navy Yard during World War I, awarded honorary membership American Legion for care of wounded men at New Rochelle home and at soldiers camp at Bennington until 1922; member New York Produce and Maritime Exchange, New Rochelle (NY.) police and fire departments, and St Matthew's Church (Episcopal), New York City, and St Peter's Church, Bennington.

Married August 19, 1914, in Philadelphia, Pa., Mary, daughter of John

William and Elizabeth (Bomford) French No children.

Death due to cardiac failure. Buried in Park Lawn Cemetery, Bennington. Survived by wife.

Carl Emanuel Andreen, B.A. 1898.

Born November 28, 1872, in Swedona, Ill. Died July 5, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Andrew Andreen, a Lutheran minister in Swedona; son of Andreas Andreen (formerly Anderson). Mother, Hilda Helena (Esping) Andreen; daughter of Julius and Sophia (Berzelius) Esping of Swedona. Yale relatives include three nephews. M Albert Andreen, '14, Paul H. Andreen, '14, and Earl P. Andreen, Ph D 1936.

Bethany Academy and College (Lindsborg, Kans) 1892–95. Entered Yale College Sophomore year, oration appointment Junior and Senior

years.

Traveling agent for Svea Illustrated Weekly, Worcester, Mass., 1898–1901; associated with Lutheran Augustana Book Concern, Rock Island, Ill, 1901–03; because of ill-health moved to San Francisco and was unoccupied 1903–05; clerk U.S. Pension Bureau, San Francisco, 1905–13; chief of refund section, retirement division, U.S. Pension Bureau, Washington, 1913–31; chief of retirement section, U.S. Civil Service Commission, 1931 until retirement 1940, since retirement had traveled extensively in the United States; resided in Washington 1940–44; member Masonic order and of various churches of the Evangelical Lutheran Synod.

Married June 1, 1921, in Philadelphia, Florence May, daughter of John-Alfred and Anna Augusta (Anderson) Johnson. No children.

Death due to an intestinal disorder. Buried in Ottumwa (Iowa) Cemetery Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs Hilda A Larson of Turlock, Calif, and Mrs Victoria A. Ericson of Wakefield, Nebr., and a brother, Rev Alexis Andreen, ex-'00 D. Two other brothers, Gustav A Andreen, '94, and Philip Andreen, ex-'97 G, died in 1940 and 1933 respectively.

Enoch Frye Bell, B.A. 1898.

Born May 26, 1874, in North Hadley, Mass. Died June 10, 1945, in Clifton Springs, N.Y.

Father, Rev James Madison Bell, D.D (B A. New York Univ. 1854; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1857), a Congregational minister in Massachusetts and New Hampshire; son of Thaddeus and Eleanor (Youmans) Bell of New York City Mother, Susan Foster (Frye) Bell; daughter of Enoch and Mary (Foster) Frye of Andover, Mass. Yale relatives include two nephews, Ernest W. Spring, '24 S., and Thaddeus G. Bell, '45W Oct. S.

Phillips-Exeter. Honor division Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club and Apollo Glee Club Freshman year; chairman Freshman Religious Committee; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Auburn Theological Seminary 1898–99 and 1900–02 (B.D. 1902), Yale Divinity School 1899-1900, and Andover Theological Seminary 1905-06 (graduate 1906); supplied his father's pulpit for six months in 1901, ordained Congregational minister by Middlesex Association, North Leominster, Mass., May 23, 1902; associated with American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1902 until retirement 1944 (missionary in Sapporo, Japan, 1902-04, instructor in psychology and history Kobe College 1904 and Doshisha University, Kyoto, 1904-05; assistant foreign secretary, Boston, Mass., 1906-10, associate secretary 1910-21, editorial secretary 1921-43, editor Missionary Herald 1921-42; librarian and historian 1942-44); D.D. Middlebury College 1925; Hyde lecturer Andover Newton Theological Seminary 1943-44; trustee Central Turkey College, Aintab, 1909-24 and its successor Aleppo College 1924-37, Anatolia College, Thessaloniki, Greece, 1912-45, Clifton Springs Sanitarium and Clinic 1927-45, and International College, Isimir, Turkey, 1933-45; a director American Congregational Association; on committee on reference and counsel of the Foreign Missions Conference; member twentyfive and thirty-five year Class reunion committees, Sons of Colonial Wars, and Mt. Vernon Congregational Church, Boston.

Married September 11, 1901, in New Haven, Conn., Anna Elizabeth, daughter of Peter Elmendorf and Mary Catherine (Crampton) Bowman and sister of Ernest F. Bowman, ex-'07. Son. John Frye, '31.

Death due to acute coronary insufficiency. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Leominster, Mass. Survived by wife, son, a grandson, and a brother, Sidney Eugene Bell of Leominster.

William Francis Dominick, B.A. 1898.

Born September 21, 1875, in New York City. Died January 16, 1945, in Greenwich, Conn.

Father, William Gayer Dominick, member Dominick & Dickerman, bankers and brokers, New York City; son of William Francis and Lydia Gardner (Wells) Dominick of New York City. Mother, Anne deWitt (Marshall) Dominick; daughter of Henry Perry and Cornelia (Conrad) Marshall. Yale relatives include: Bayard Dominick, '94, George F. Dominick, Jr, '94, Lamont Dominick, '95, Morris Groves, '99, Everett Dominick, '04, and Gayer G. Dominick, '09 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second banjo club Sophomore year; University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Architecture 1898–1901 (B S 1901); studied at Beaux Arts ateliers, France, 1901–02; architect in New York City 1902–44; associated with McKim, Mead & White 1902–05 and Schickel & Ditmars 1905–06, independently engaged 1906–42; partner William Dominick, Coffin & Coffin 1943–44 (appointed by Mayor La-Guardia to design large postwar school project); designed Christ Church and Riverside School, Greenwich, many city and country homes, banks, and churches; associate architect, appointed by Mayor of New York, of Red Hook Houses, a federal housing project in Brooklyn; served with Battery F, Field Artillery, during World War I; member American Institute of Architects (awarded certificate of merit for excellence in small house design 1941) and Round Hill Community Church, Greenwich.

Married November 25, 1902, in New York City, Mary Stimson, daughter of Theodore Weston (B A. 1853) and Catherine Boudinot (Stimson) Weston, sister of Frederick W Weston, '99, and half sister of Theodore W. Weston, '85. Children' William Gayer, '25, Theodore Weston, '31, DeWitt, '30, and Catherine Boudinot, the widow of Alexander G. Walcott, '32.

Death due to occlusion of coronary artery. Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, and three sisters, Alice D Simmons, the widow of Frank H. Simmons, '98, Mrs James D. Pell, and Mrs. C. L. Buchanan.

[Charles] Brownell Gage, B.A. 1898.

Born April 14, 1874, in Astoria, N.Y. Died February 3, 1945, in Bolton, Conn.

Father, Charles Tyler Gage, a journalist in York, N.Y; son of Nathaniel and Eliza Gage of Stittville, N Y. Mother, Sara Anne (Perrin) Gage, daughter of Rev Otis Perrin and Betsy (Houghton) Perrin of Woodstock, Conn

Private tutor, attended College of the City of New York 1889–92; taught school in Stafford and Windham, Conn., 1892–94 Entered Yale with the Class; honor division Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, leader of mission classes Senior year; member Student Volunteer Band, Yale Union, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Toured the United States with Yale Missionary Band 1898-99; attended Union Theological Seminary 1899-1903 (diploma 1903, BD 1911), Columbia University Graduate School 1902-03, and Yale Graduate School 1910, 1917-18, 1923-24 (M.A. 1911, Ph.D 1924); secretary for student and foreign work Brooklyn Y M C.A. 1901-02, sent to Changsha by Yale Foreign Missionary Society 1904 and worked in China in association with Yale-in-China 1904-24 (a founder Yali in Changsha 1904-06 and chairman governing board 1911-24; dean Collegiate School 1906-14; an organizer College of Arts 1914, dean 1914-23, and provost 1923-24; taught education and psychology 1918-24, chairman academic faculties 1922-24; trustee Hunan-Yale Medical College 1913-23; president Hunan Christian Educational Association), headmaster Suffield (Conn.) Academy 1924-39, headmaster emeritus and executive secretary board of trustees 1939-41; ordained June 14, 1912, in Church of Christ in Yale University, minister Bolton Congregational Church 1941-45; with International Committee, Y.M C A, in France, July, 1918-June, 1919, working with Chinese Labor Corps in Calais base area; trustee Yale-in-China Association 1926-45; author of series English Learned by Use (4 vols., 1915-20) and "The American College in the Orient" (1924), a governor Yale Publishing Association, member Appalachian Mountain Club and Springfield (Mass) Theological Club.

Married (1) January 12, 1904, in Norwich, Conn, Helen Robertson Howe (Wellesley Coll. 1895–96, MD Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania 1901, C.P.H. Yale Univ 1919, Dr.P.H. 1923), daughter of Rev Samuel Henry Howe, DD (BA. Hanover Coll. 1861; grad. Princeton Theological Seminary 1864), and Katharine Boucher (Buss) Howe, and sister of Samuel H. Howe, Jr., '02, and J. Ralph Howe, '04. Children Katharine Perrin (BA Wellesley Coll. 1926; Sister Mary Anselm), Robertson (died August 3, 1917); Emily Thornton (BA. Welles-

ley Coll 1930); and Eleanor Williams, the wife of Dean Frederick Betts Mrs Gage died January 6, 1937 Married (2) May 27, 1938, in Meriden, Conn, Delight Walkly Hall (B.A. Radcliffe Coll. 1913), daughter of Rev. Alfred Henry Hall (B.A. Harvard 1867; grad Andover Theological Seminary 1873) and Mary Delight (Twichell) Hall

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes scattered Survived by wife, three daughters, a granddaughter, and a sister, Nina Diadamia Gage (B.A. Wellesley

Coll. 1905; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1925) of Nashville, Tenn.

Franklin Atkins Lord, B.A. 1898.

Born November 9, 1876, in Winnebago, Minn Died January 16, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Livingston Chester Lord, LL.D. (M A Hon. Harvard 1912), president Eastern Illinois State Teachers College, Charleston, son of Benjamin and Antoinette (Case) Lord of Killingworth, Conn Mother, Mary Eliza (Cook) Lord, daughter of Hannah (Granniss) Cook of Terryville, Conn.

State Teachers College, Moorhead, Minn, and Phillips-Exeter Honor division Freshman year; second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year, chairman Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Class statistician and historian; Class Picture Committee; member Yale Union, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta. Attended Yale School of Law 1898–1900 (LL B 1900; University Debating Team; third Wayland Prize; member Corbey Court and Kent Club).

Admitted to New York bar 1900; clerk Root [Elihu, LL D 1900], Howard, Winthrop & Stimson [Henry L, '88], lawyers, New York City, 1900–02; deputy district attorney County of New York 1902–05; partner Rand, Moffat & Webb, New York City, 1906–08 and Lord & Schwab 1908; deputy commissioner of police New York City 1915–18 and parole commissioner of the city 1918–21; lawyer in Washington 1921–32, secretary U S Shipping Board 1923–32, associated with The New York Shipbuilding Company, Camden, N.J., 1932–35; chief clerk Court of Special Sessions, New York City, 1935; writer with Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios 1944–45; author His Name on the Door (1909) and Light Fingers (1926), coauthor Cooper Hoyt, Inc; contributed articles about crime to magazines; associate counsel for legislative council to revise criminal court laws 1910 and for legislative committee to investigate the government of New York City 1921.

Married April 30, 1930, in Washington, Mary Louise Bargeron Kasey, daughter of William Leslie and Clara (Perkins) Bargeron. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Rose Lawn Cemetery, Charleston, Ill Survived by wife and a sister, Ethel L. Awty (Univ. Minnesota ex'98), the widow of William J. Awty, of Charleston.

Darius Edward Peck, B.A. 1898.

Born May 5, 1877, in Hudson, N.Y. Died December 6, 1944, in Schenectady, N.Y.

Father, Willard Peck (B A. Hamilton Coll. 1864, M A. 1867), member Cadman & Peck, lawyers, Hudson, son of Darius Peck (B A. Hamilton Coll 1825, M A 1828) and Harriet M. (Hudson) Peck of Cazenovia, N Y Mother, Mary Langford (Curran) Peck; daughter of Edward and Mary Jane (Langford) Curran of Utica, N.Y. Yale relatives include: George L. Curran (B A. 1863) and John E. Curran, '70 (uncles); and Stanley D. Curran, ex-'92, Henry H. Curran, '98, and John H. Thomas, '02 (cousins)

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Honorable mention Hugh Chamberlain Greek Prize, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; two-year honors in history Senior year; associate editor Yale Daily News Sophomore and Junior years and editor Senior year; Class Picture Committee, member Dunham Boat Club, Yale Union, Kappa Psi, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Instructor in Greek and Latin Hudson High School 1898–99; studied law in his father's office and at Albany Law School 1899–1900; admitted to the bar 1901; associated with Cadman & Peck 1902; lawyer in New York City 1902–13 (with Page & Conant 1902–03, Lord, Day & Lord [Franklin B, '05] 1903–09, and Ely [Morris U., '98], Billings [Luther G, Jr, '98] & Chester [Colby M., '97 S] 1909–13); in law department General Electric Company, Schenectady, 1913–44 (assistant manager 1920–29, vice-president and general counsel 1929–44); secretary and treasurer Mohawk Gas Company and Schenectady Power Company 1915–20, secretary Adirondack Power & Light Corporation, Amsterdam, N.Y., 1920–24 and of its successor, Mohawk Hudson Power Corporation 1925–29.

Married June 19, 1922, in Schenectady, Juliette Michailes Brown, daughter of Constant and Julie (Marchand) Michailes Children. Willard Langford (Class of 1945) and Molly Curran.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Vale Cemetery, Schenectady. Survived by wife, children, a stepdaughter, Marjorie M. Brown Thayer (B A Vassar Coll. 1938), the wife of Philip Hiram Thayer, Jr. (B S. and M A. Harvard 1936), a sister, Mary Langford Peck Hols-

apple (B.A. Smith Coll. 1904), the wife of Lloyd B Holsapple, '05, and a brother, Philip C Peck, '96.

James Otis Rodgers, B.A. 1898.

Born October 11, 1874, in Toledo, Ohio. Died May 16, 1945, in New Rochelle, N.Y.

Father, James Scott Rodgers, president Rodgers Shoe Company, Toledo; son of James and Matilda (Scott) Rodgers of Hanging Rock, Ohio Mother, Mary Lurancy (Parker) Rodgers; daughter of Welcome Otis and Lurancy Almeda (Barney) Parker of Norwalk, Ohio. Yale relatives include a nephew, LeRoy R Brooks, '33

Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; University Football Team four years (substitute Freshman year, captain Senior year); Freshman Crew; University Crew Sophomore year (participated in Yale-Henley regatta); Senior Promenade Committee; member

Yale Union, Hé Boulé, Alpha Delta Phi, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Harvard Law School 1898-1900, superintendent Lanyon Zinc Company, Iola, Kans, 1900–03, vice-president 1903–06, president and general manager 1906-08, receiver 1908 until 1911 when, because of failing natural gas supply, the firm liquidated and went out of existence; with Patterson, Teele & Dennis, certified public accountants, New York City, 1903; in collaboration with George V. Reynolds, '01, presented to St. Louis a plan for lighting the city with natural gas by pipeline from Kansas; an insurance broker in New York City 1911-45; president Rodgers, Hobart & Carr, Inc. (later Rodgers & Carr, Inc.), 1911–20, sub-broker with Willcox, Peck, Brown & Crosby (later Brown, Crosby & Company) 1920–45; eastern representative The Scientific Cast Products Corporation, Cleveland, 1941–45; vice-president Andes Electin Company, New York City; secretary and treasurer Modern Development Corporation, New York City, 1945; graduate head coach Yale football team 1898, Freshman crew coach 1901-02, and graduate head coach Yale crew 1911-12 (spent six months in England studying rowing methods); amateur crew coach New York Athletic Club 1934–36, member Huguenot Memorial Church (Presbyterian), Pelham Manor, NY.

Married April 30, 1902, in Cleveland, Ohio, Cara Worthington, daughter of Willis Benjamin Hale (B A Union Coll 1870) and Clarissa Clark (Worthington) Hale. Children: Carolyn Hale and James Otis, Jr., '28

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Anne May R. Berdan, the wife of John M. Berdan, '96, and Florence Olive R Brooks (B.A. Wells Coll 1902), the widow of Edward L Brooks, '05.

Edward Burnham Smith, B.A. 1898.

Born December 16, 1875, in Detroit, Mich. Died October 28, 1944, in Palmyra, Va.

Father, George Henry Smith, associated with a book store, and a manufacturer in Detroit, son of Justin Ely and Cornelia (Wetmore) Smith of Hallowell, Maine Mother, Sarah Francis (Corning) Smith; daughter of Charles W and Sarah Colborne (Gay) Corning of Troy, N.Y. Yale relatives include three cousins, Frederick W Sprague, '87, Ralph W. Sprague, '92 S, and Edward P. Smith, '94 S.

Private tutor Member Coystrel Crew and Psi Upsilon

Associated with Seely Manufacturing Company, Detroit, 1898–99 and 1904–06, in operating department Detroit United Railway 1899–1902; traveled in Colorado, New Mexico, and Texas 1902–04; associated with Farrand Company, Detroit, 1906–07, in automotive department Standard Accident Insurance Company, Detroit, 1907–09, in charge Holden & Murray (later M S Holden Company), insurance, Detroit, 1910–14; engaged in farming in Palmyra from 1914; served as principal Palmyra High School 1918–21; spent winters of 1940 and 1941 in Mexico, member temporary Coast Guard Reserve, patrolling inland waterways in Florida, during World War II; member All Saints Church (Episcopal), Palmyra.

Married July 31, 1911, at Farren Point, Canada, Lilian Flora Griggs Cooke, daughter of William Duncan and Ellen Mar (Eacutt) Griggs. No children

Death due to involutional melancholia. Buried in Palmyra. Survived by wife and a brother, George Henry Smith of Fort Lauderdale, Fla.

Frederic Ely Williamson, B.A. 1898.

Born June 14, 1876, in Norwalk, Ohio. Died September 29, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Rev James De Long Williamson, D.D (B A. Western Reserve Univ. 1870, M A 1873, B D Union Theological Seminary 1875), a Presbyterian minister in Ohio, acting president Society for Savings, Cleveland, 1912–25 and executive vice-president 1924–27, acting president Adelbert College and Western Reserve University 1921–23; son of Samuel Williamson (B A Jefferson Coll 1829) and Mary Eladsit (Tisdale) Williamson of Cleveland Mother, Edith Day (Ely) Williamson, daughter of Heman and Mary Frances (Day) Ely of Hartford, Conn. Yale relatives include. Jeremiah Day (B A 1756)(great-great-grandfather); Thomas Day (B.A. 1797)(great-grandfather), Jeremiah Day (B A. 1795) and Mills Day

(B.A. 1803)(great-great-uncles); Thomas M. Day (B A 1837)(great-uncle); George H. Ely, '65, and Albert H. Ely, '85 (uncles), Malcolm M Ely, ex-'91, Heman Ely, '94 S, Theodore W. Ely, '05 S, Albert H. Ely, Jr., '15, and Thomas Marshall, '28 (cousins), and James W. Williamson, '39 S (nephew).

University School, Cleveland First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; business manager Yale Daily News Senior year, member

Alpha Delta Phi.

With New York Central & Hudson River Railroad Company (later New York Central Railroad Company) 1898–1925 and president of company and of many of its lessors and subsidiaries 1932 until retirement September 1, 1944 (claims agent Mohawk Division, Albany, 1898–1900, joint agent of the company and the Rome, Watertown and Ogdensburg Railroad Company, Rome, 1900-02 and also for West Shore Railroad Company and Mohawk & Malone Railway, Utica, 1901-02, freight agent at Troy 1902-03; in car accountant's office, New York City, 1903-06 [chief clerk 1904-06 and car accountant 1906]; assistant superintendent Harlem Division 1906-07, superintendent freight terminal, Albany, 1907-11, St Lawrence Division, Watertown, 1911-16, and Hudson River Division 1916; general superintendent New York City Terminal District 1918-21 and general superintendent First District, Albany, 1921-25), vicepresident in charge of operation and maintenance Northern Pacific Rail way Company, St. Paul, Minn., 1925-28, president Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company, Chicago, 1928-32; in charge of assembly New York State Guard and its movement to Mexican Border 1916; general agent Association of American Railroads, coordinating train and car movements on railroads terminating on the Atlantic coast, 1917, department general agent at Governor's Island, and later general agent, Port of Embarkation of New York, Hoboken, N J, under United States Railroad Administration 1917–18; Colonel, Transportation Service, U.S. Army Services of Supply, December 27, 1943-January 31, 1944, M A Hon Yale 1932, LLD. Colgate University 1935, DEng Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1941; trustee Adelbert College and Western Reserve University 1936-41; member Advisory Group New York Stock Exchange 1934-37; on Finance Committee New York World's Fair 1939; director Association of American Railroads 1932-34 and chairman Eastern Presidents' Conference 1938-44; director Federal Reserve Bank of New York, vice-president New York State Chamber of Commerce 1942-44; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1924-25, on council of New York Yale Club 1932-34 and Graduate Placement Committee of the Alumni Board 1944, associate fellow Saybrook College (Yale University) 1936-43; member executive committee Class of 1898 and twentyfive and thirty-five year reunion committees; awarded Yale Bowl trophy by Montclair Yale Club 1937, member American Railway Engineering

Association, Ohio and Albany societies of New York, The Pilgrims of the United States, and Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland.

Married October 11, 1905, in Cleveland, Hilda, daughter of Samuel A. Raymond, '70, and Emma Eugenie (Stone) Raymond, and sister of Henry A Raymond, '05, Edward Raymond, '13, and Jonathan S. Raymond, '17. No children.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Ruth Williamson of Cleveland, and a brother, Arthur P. Williamson, '07.

In his will Mr Williamson provided for the establishment of an endowment fund for scholarship awards in the undergraduate schools of Yale, to be known as the Frederic E. Williamson Fund

John Munro Woolsey, B.A. 1898.

Born January 3, 1877, in Aiken, S.C. Died May 4, 1945, in New York City.

Father, William Walton Woolsey (ex-1864), a cotton planter and banker in Aiken, son of John Mumford Woolsey (B.A. 1813) and Jane (Andrews) Woolsey of Cleveland, Ohio, and New Haven, Conn. Mother, Katharine Buckingham (Convers) Woolsey; daughter of Charles Cleveland and Catharine (Buckingham) Convers of Zanesville, Ohio. Yale relatives include Benjamin Woolsey (B.A. 1709) and Jonathan Edwards (BA 1720) (great-great-great-grandfathers), Timothy Dwight (B.A. 1744) and Benjamin Woolsey (B.A 1744) (great-great-grandfathers); John Andrews (MD Hon 1827)(great-grandfather); Timothy Dwight 1769) and Theodore Dwight (M.A Hon 1798)(great-greatuncles), William C Woolsey (BA. 1813), Theodore D Woolsey (BA. 1820), and John W. Andrews (BA. 1830)(great-uncles); Ebenezer B. Convers, '61 (uncle), Rev Thomas H Yardley, ex-'89 S. (cousin), Convers K Woolsey, '29, Edward L Bacon, Jr, '31, and Charles S Woolsey, '36 (nephews) Rev Thomas Buekingham, one of the founders of Yale College and a Fellow of the college 1701-09, was his great-great-greatgreat-great-grandfather

Phillips-Andover. Honor division Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, two-year honors in history Senior year, member University Club (president Senior year), Kipling Club, Hé Boulé, Alpha Delta Phi, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1898–1901 (LL B 1901; founder Columbia Law Review 1901, trustee 1907–13, and secretary first editorial board, member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to practice in New

York 1901 and before Supreme Court of the United States 1907; an admiralty lawyer in New York City 1901 until appointment to bench 1929; associated with Convers [Ebenezer B, '61] & Kirlin, and the successor firms Kirlin, Woolsey & Hickox [Charles R., '93], and Kirlin, Woolsey, Campbell, Hickox & Keating 1901-29, and member of firm 1908-29; judge United States District Court, Southern District of New York, 1929 until retirement December 31, 1943, among his better known decisions was the widely publicized lifting of the customs ban on James Joyce's Ulysses in 1933; instructor in equity Columbia University School of Law 1905-06 (on board of visitors 1934-45 and chairman of the board 1938-41); LLD. Columbia 1929, member advisory committee on research in international law Harvard Law School 1928-45; on visiting committee Harvard Law School 1932-42 and Harvard Forest 1940-45, member advisory committee Harvey School, Hawthorne, NY., 1932-42 (chairman 1940-42); admiralty counsel French High Commission in New York, World War I, American associate editor Revue de Droit Maritime Comparé, of Paris, 1922–29; on board of governors Yale Publishing Association 1926-31; president Alumni Association of Phillips-Andover 1933-34 and Columbia Law School Alumni Association 1934–36, member Addison Gallery Art Committee, Phillips-Andover, 1937–44 and chairman Addison Gallery Associates 1939-43; associate fellow Branford College (Yale University) 1934-45; author: Address on the 175th Anniversary of the Incorporation of the Town of Petersham, Massachusetts (1929), charter member American Law Institute, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York (secretary library committee 1926–29), American Bar Association, Phi Beta Kappa Associates, New England Society of New York (president 1937-38), Connecticut branch Society of Colonial Wars, Holland Society of New York, American Antiquarian Society, Walpole Society, Century Association, Downtown Association, Grolier Club, University Club, Union Club (Boston), Petersham Country Club, and Episcopal church.

Married November 14, 1911, in Athol, Mass, Alice Bradford Bacon (B A. Colorado Coll. 1896, M A. Radcliffe Coll 1900), daughter of Rev. Edward W Bacon, '69 D, and Mary Elizabeth (Staples) Bacon, and great-granddaughter of Seth P. Staples (B A 1797) and Jonathan Knight (B A. 1808) Son: John Munro, Jr, '38, '41 L.

Death due to chronic cardiovascular disease with hypertension Buried in Woolsey family cemetery, Glen Cove, Long Island, NY Survived by wife, son, a sister, Catharine B. Woolsey (BA. Barnard Coll 1908), and two brothers, Convers B Woolsey, '01, and William W Woolsey (BA. Williams Coll. 1911)

In 1923 Judge Woolsey gave a sum of money to the Yale University Press. He also established a trust fund in 1927 for the purchase of books for the Yale Law Library and in later years gave the Law Library a large number of law reports and treatises. Among his gifts were 200 volumes of records, briefs, and opinions in cases in which he participated, of his opinions while on the bench, and of other documents of his legal career from law school to retirement "The whole collection," the Librarian said, "provides a valuable record of the life of an eminent lawyer and judge in New York City during the first half of the twentieth century."

Clarence Eugene Coffin, B.A. 1899.

Born October 2, 1876, in Indianapolis, Ind. Died October 3, 1944, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Father, Charles Emmet Coffin, president Central Trust Company of Indianapolis; treasurer Indianapolis Star Publishing Company; son of Zachariah T and Caroline (Armfield) Coffin of Salem and Bloomington, Ind Mother, Elizabeth (Holloway) Coffin. Yale relatives include a nephew, Charles H Bradley, Jr. (Class of 1945).

Shortridge High School, Indianapolis, and Phillips-Andover. Second

colloquy appointment Senior year, member Zeta Psi.

Employed in Indianapolis 1899–1909 and 1917 until retirement about 1934, associated with C. E. Coffin & Company, bankers, 1899–1900 and Central Trust Company 1900–09 (assistant secretary 1900–06, secretary 1907–08, secretary and director 1908–09, secretary, director, and member executive committee 1909); with Emerson W. Chaille & Company, real estate, 1917–18, secretary-treasurer Miesse & Coffin, Inc., general agents Globe Indemnity Company of New York; partner Brandon & Company; receiver Bingham & Bingham, lawyers; fruit grower and owner Portledge Orchards Company, Hood River, Ore, 1909–16; president Hood River Abstract & Investment Company 1916–17; secretary-treasurer Hood River Creamery, member Company H, Second Battalion, Indiana State Militia, World War I, president Welfare Loan Society, Indianapolis, 1924; member Masonic order and Christian Science Church

Married August 17, 1904, in Waynesville, N.C, Lenora, daughter of Charles Roberts and Lenora (Wiles) Smith. Children. Clarence Eugene, Jr (grad U.S. Naval Academy 1927), Tristram (B A. De Pauw Univ. 1933); and Caroline (De Pauw Univ. 1931–32; Univ. Wisconsin 1932–34), the wife of James Donald Peirce (B A. Indiana Univ. 1936, M D. 1940)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, a half sister, Carolyn Coffin Bradley, the wife of C Harvey Bradley, '21, and a stepsister, Jean Coffin Ingram, the wife of Admiral Jonas Howard Ingram (B.S. United States Naval Academy 1907) of Jeffersonville, Ind.

Samuel Anderson Gilmore, B.A. 1899.

Born May 30, 1878, in Uniontown, Pa Died October 25, 1944, in Gibsonia, Pa.

Father, John Gilmore, a merchant in Uniontown. Mother, Mary S (Beall) Gilmore.

Kıskımınetas Springs School, Saltsburg, Pa. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Football Team, University Football

Squad three years; member Beta Theta P1.

Attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1899–1902 (LL.B. 1902); admitted to the bar 1902; lawyer in Pittsburgh 1902 until retirement in 1932 because of ill-health (associate member Evans [Berne H, '99], Noble [Edward T., '99] & Evans 1914–18), general counsel West Penn Railways Company 1905–13; receiver for Isabella-Connellsville Coke, United Coal, and Naomi Coal companies 1913–17, president Gilmore Coal Mining Company and Sagamore Coal Mining Company; member Episcopal church.

Married April 10, 1912, in Uniontown, Mary Guthrie, daughter of Isaac and Nancy Rogers (Guthrie) Taylor Daughters Nancy Taylor; Mary Beall, the wife of John W. Clark, and Eleanor.

Death due to a cardiac condition. Buried in Uniontown Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughters, a grandson, and a brother.

John Lee Gilson, B.A. 1899.

Born March 21, 1878, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 24, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John William Gilson, a glassware merchant in New Haven, son of John William and Katherine (Smith) Gilson of Hartford, Conn. Mother, Anna (St Lawrence) Gilson; daughter of Timothy David and Ann (Lee) St. Lawrence of Hartford. Yale relatives include a cousin, Arthur J. St. Lawrence, '09 S.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Awarded Yale Courant "Minerva" and Yale Record "Owl" Senior year; member Dunham Boat Club (captain Harlequin Crew), Vernon Hall, and Phi Gamma Delta. Attended Yale School of Law 1899–1902 (LL.B. 1902; president and manager Yale Law School Football Association; on editorial board Yale Shingle; member Corbey Court).

Admitted to New York and Connecticut bars 1902; lawyer in New York City 1902–03 and New Haven 1904–44; managed his father's estate 1903; member Platt [Omar W, '99], Gilson & Greene 1903–04 and Simpson [Earnest C., '99 L.], Birely [Charles W., '96] & Gilson 1906–12, clerk

of Probate Court, District of New Haven, 1907-13 and judge 1913-44; enlisted Company F, New Haven Grays, 1904; member Second Company Governor's Foot Guard 1907-44 (promoted Lieutenant 1912, Commandant 1918-32; retired with rank of Major 1922), honorary member Richmond (Va) Light Infantry Blues and Old Guard of the City of New York; Connecticut chairman Military Training Camps Association 1922-44, civilian aide to Secretary of War for State of Connecticut 1923-44; president Governor's Foot Guard Veteran Association, New Haven Colony Historical Society 1924-44, and Connecticut Probate Assembly 1933-37, a governor Mory's Association 1913-44 (president 1915-44); trustee Fowler Trust Association, St Thomas More Corporation 1938– 44 (president 1943-44), and Junior College of Commerce 1939-44; chairman for New Haven, Connecticut Tercentenary Committee, and general chairman New Haven Colony Tercentenary Commission, on Connecticut committee American Historical Research Fund; director New Haven Community Chest 1927–28 and on executive committee 1932, on business advisory board Visiting Nurse Association of New Haven 1938-44; member New Haven Municipal Music Committee, executive committee Federal Housing Administration, and World Court Committee; chairman Thirtyfive year Class reunion committee; honorary member Berzelius and Association of the Army of the United States; member New Haven County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut (chairman committee of judicial administration, and probate section), American Bar Association, and St Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Married April 17, 1907, in New York City, Alice Eleanor, daughter of Felix Cornell and Alice (Masterson) Mulgrew. Children: Alice St. Lawrence (B A. Marymount Coll. 1929), the wife of Paul Donovan, '28 S; John Mulgrew (died January 9, 1914); and Anna Constance (died Febru-

ary 8, 1930).

Death due to acute hepatitis Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, one daughter, two granddaughters, a sister, Mrs. Percy Bryan Keenan of New Haven, and two brothers, Raymond Jacques Gilson of New Haven and Thomas St Lawrence Gilson.

Morris Groves, B.A. 1899.

Born November 27, 1875, in New York City. Died May 11, 1945, in New York City.

Father, George Morris Groves, a wholesale silk merchant and realestate dealer in New York City Mother, Mary (Dominick) Groves; daughter of William Francis and Lydia Gardner (Wells) Dominick of New York City. Yale relatives include Bayard Dominick, '94, George E. Dominick, Jr., '94, Lamont Dominick, '95, William F. Dominick, '98, Everett Dominick, '04, and Gayer G. Dominick, '09 (cousins), and Adams Batcheller, Jr., '30 (nephew).

Allen School for Boys, New York City. Member University Club.

Associated with F. M. Smithers & Company, brokers, and variously employed in New York City for a time; traveled extensively in many parts of the world, an usher St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to asthma and heart disease. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Arthur Sears Hamlin, B.A. 1899.

Born December 2, 1876, in Canandaigua, N.Y. Died March 8, 1945, in Summit, N J.

Father, Frank H. Hamlin (BA 1869). Mother, Elizabeth Pearce (Wright) Hamlin. Yale relatives include: Frederick-H. Hamlin, '95 (cousin); and Frank H. Hamlin, '28, Henry P. Hamlin, ex-'30, and Arthur S Hamlin, 2d, '33 (nephews).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment, two-year honors in political science and law, and Townsend Premium Senior year; an associate editor Yale Daily News Sophomore and Junior years and an editor Senior year; Freshman Baseball Team; member Psi Upsilon: Graduate member Elihu.

Attended New York Law School 1899–1901 (LL.B. 1901) and night-school tutor in law of real property 1901–04; admitted to the bar 1901, lawyer in New York City 1901–13 (associated with Winthrop & Stimson [Henry L, '88] 1901, Charles H. Sherrill ['89] 1901–03, deForest Brothers [Robert W., '70, and Henry W, '76] 1903–06, Simpson, Thacher [Alfred B, '74] & Bartlett [Philip G, '81] 1906–08, and Maloney [William R., '00] & Hamlin 1908–13); deputy attorney-general State of New York 1910; a director, secretary, and treasurer Seth Thomas Clock Company and its successor General Time Instruments Corporation (merger of Seth Thomas Clock and Western Clock companies) 1913 until retirement January 1, 1943; member Company A, 4th Battalion, New Jersey State Militia during World War I; author Copyright Cases (1904), member Congregational church, Canandaigua.

Married June 5, 1912, in Morristown, N.J., Cornelia Ellen, daughter of Seth Edward and Sarah Adelia (Gross) Thomas and sister of Seth E Thomas, '99 S. Children. David, '36; Sarah Thomas, the wife of Henry Root Stern, Ir., '36; and George Wright, 2d, '42.

Root Stern, Jr., '36; and George Wright, 2d, '42.

Death due to acute suffurative pancreatitis. Buried in Woodlawn Ceme-

tery, Canandaigua. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two brothers, George W. Hamlin, '95, and Henry W. Hamlin, '02.

Othniel Bliem Lessig, B.A. 1899.

Born June 8, 1875, in Pottstown, Pa. Died August 23, 1944, in Pottstown, Pa.

Father, Joshua Bechtel Lessig, a contractor in Pottstown; a founder and secretary Ellis & Lessig Steel & Iron Company, Pottstown; son of Joshua Bair and Christina (Bechtel) Lessig of Pottstown Mother, Amanda High (Bliem) Lessig; daughter of Jacob Eshbach and Mary (High) Bliem of Upper Potts Grove, Pa.

The Hill School, Pottstown. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; member Phi Lambda Phi.

Resided in Pottstown 1899–1944; instructor in German and European history and assistant principal Pottstown High School 1899–1904; partner O B Lessig & Brother, wholesale and retail tobacco and cigars, 1904–18; associated with The Ferro-Phos Company 1918–44 (secretary and treasurer 1919–44); secretary Pottstown Gas & Water Company 1908–44; author of an unpublished book on Lessig genealogy; secretary Pottstown Family Society 1933–44; treasurer Elks Home Association; charter member Colonial Club of Pottstown; member Sons of the American Revolution, Pennsylvania German, Pennsylvania Historical, and Montgomery County Historical societies, and Emmanuel Lutheran Church, Pottstown.

Married February 20, 1907, in Pottstown, Anna Rebecca, daughter of Elias Henry and Ida Aquilla (Moll) Gilbert. Children: Gilbert Bliem (died in infancy) and Spencer Bliem (B.A. Lafayette Coll. 1935).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Pottstown Cemetery. Survived by wife, one son, one granddaughter, two sisters, Caroline L. Bachman, the wife of Morton Bachman, D D.S. of Upper Darby, Pa., and Mrs. Ruth L Passmore of Tunkhannock, Pa., a brother, Joshua Bliem Lessig of Pottstown, and stepmother, Mrs. Emma Dickenshied Lessig of Hosensack, Pa.

Walter Byron Smith, B.A. 1899.

Born December 29, 1878, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 2, 1945, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Byron Laflin Smith, president Northern Trust Company, 'Chicago, son of Solomon Albert and Mari (Laflin) Smith of Chicago. Mother, Carrie Cornelia (Stone) Smith, daughter of Rensselear and Zenana (Ham-

mill) Stone of Chicago. Yale relatives include two nephews, Solomon B. Smith, '28, and Edward Byron Smith, '32.

Harvard School, Chicago, and Phillips-Andover. On executive committee University Golf Club Junior year and president Senior year; member Psi Upsilon.

Attended Y.M C A. Business College, Chicago, 1899; associated with John H. Wren & Company, brokers, Chicago, 1900–05 and partner 1905 until retirement 1910, president James C. King Home for Old Men, Chicago, 1914–45; trustee and treasurer St Luke's Hospital 1906–45, trustee John Crerar Library 1914–45, Glenwood Manual Training School 1918–45, Art Institute of Chicago 1925–45 (treasurer 1927–44, vice-president 1925–45), Otho S. A. Sprague Memorial Institute 1932–45, Chicago Home for Incurables 1936–45, and Alexander Hamilton Memorial Fund 1937–45; on executive committee United States Golf Association 1915–17, member Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago.

Married (1) June 6, 1905, in Lake Forest, Ill, Florence, daughter of Hiram Rudolph and Martha (Hughitt) McCullough Daughter Winifred Byron, the wife of Alfred McCormack (B A. Princeton 1921; LL B. Columbia 1925). Mrs. Smith died September 8, 1913. Married (2) September 5, 1936, in New York City, Grace Mary Ryan.

Death due to hemopericardium. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, daughter, four grandchildren, and two brothers, Solomon A. Smith, '99, and Bruce D. Smith, '06.

Moses Alford Watterson, B.A. 1899.

Born June 8, 1876, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died June 15, 1945, in Cleveland, Ohio

Father, Moses George Watterson (B A. Western Reserve Univ. 1860), president Dime Savings & Banking Company, Cleveland; son of William and Anne (Sayle) Watterson of Warrensville and Cleveland, Ohio Mother, Helen Eliza (Farrand) Watterson (Oberlin Coll. 1866–68); daughter of William and Eliza Sarah (Alford) Farrand of Cleveland. Yale relatives include a cousin, George B. Watterson, ex-'15 S

Central High School, Cleveland, and St Paul's School, Concord, N.H Associated with Walworth & Neville, loggers, Walville, Wash, 1899–1901; employed in Chicago 1901–06 (clerk Willson Brothers and book-keeper J. Lang Electric Company) and in Cleveland 1906 until retirement in 1929 because of ill-health, associated with Erner Electric Company 1906–16; assistant sales manager Baker Motor Vehicle Company (successively Baker R & L Company and Baker Raulang Company), electric and magnetic transmissions for automobiles, and later, industrial tractors and

trucks, 1916–18 and general sales manager 1918–29; member Troop A, Ohio National Guard, and Euclid Avenue Baptist Church, Cleveland.

Married June 2, 1931, in Shaker Heights, Ohio, Margaret Moore Toz-

zer, daughter of Edward Young and Jane (Armistead) Moore.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, two stepchildren, Miss Virginia Tozzer and Capt Brent A. Tozzer, a sister, Miss Evangeline Watterson (Lake Erie Coll. 1892–93) of Wooster, Ohio, and a brother, John S. Watterson, ex-'00 S. (B A Cornell Univ. 1902) of Willoughby, Ohio. Another brother, Julius E. Watterson, ex-'07, died in 1918.

Albert Munger Barrell, B.A. 1900.

Born August 29, 1876, in Chicago, Ill. Died August 2, 1944, in Chicago, Ill.

Parents, James and Susan (Finley) Barrell. Yale relatives include a nephew, John W. Barrell, '15.

Carleton School, Bradford, Mass., and Phillips-Andover. Member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Engaged in brokerage business in Chicago 1900 until retirement 1927 (at various times associated with Finley Barrell & Company and Stein, Alstrin & Company)

Married September 15, 1917, in Chicago, Marjorie A Sullivan. No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife.

Guilford Duncan, B.A. 1900.

Born February 27, 1878, in St. Louis, Mo. Died May 9, 1945, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, William Duncan, vice-president and manager Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company; president Charter Oak Stove & Range Company and Ludlow-Saylor Wire Company, St Louis, son of Robert Duncan. Mother, Frances Smith (Pickering) Duncan

Smith Academy, St Louis Member Zeta Psi.

Associated with Ludlow-Saylor Wire Company 1900–45 (assistant purchasing agent 1903–06, secretary 1906–08, vice-president 1908–12, and president 1912–45), president of the board Charter Oak Stove & Range Company, a director industrial department Y M.C.A, St Louis, member Pilgrim Church (Congregational), St Louis.

Married June 11, 1903, in St. Louis, Emma Larrimore, daughter of

James and Hetty (Grant) Aull. Children. William Guilford (died May 1, 1918) and Winifred Collier, the wife of Charles Lewis Thompson, 2d (B.A. Princeton 1929).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Oak Grove Mausoleum, St Louis Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Marie Duncan Low and Fanita Duncan Dobson, the wife of Rev. Roy Calvin Dobson, D.D. (B.A. Washington Coll. [Tenn.] 1897; M A. Princeton Theological Seminary 1900), both of St. Louis.

Herbert Gilman Williams, B.A. 1900.

Born June 4, 1878, in Rochester, NY. Died March 18, 1945, in Rochester, N.Y.

Father, Louis Lafayette Williams, founder and president Rochester Business Institute; son of Mason and Wealthy (Green) Williams of Livonia, N.Y. Mother, Sarah Caroline (Gilman) Williams; daughter of James and Sarah Ann (Andrews) Gilman of Rochester.

Bradstreet School, Rochester, and Phillips-Andover. Oration appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Zeta Psi.

Employed in Rochester 1900 until retirement 1940; treasurer Reed Chemical Company, manufacturers of fly paper, 1900–03; a partner Crescent Perfume Company, toilet articles, 1903–09; special representative Union Central Life Insurance Company of Cincinnati 1909–13, owner Herbert G. Williams Company, toilet articles, 1913–14; general manager William H. Wilson Iron Works 1914–20, secretary and assistant treasurer Pullman Manufacturing Company, hardware specialties, 1920–25, treasurer 1925–32, vice-president 1932–36, and president 1936–40; member Third Presbyterian Church, Rochester.

Married February 9, 1904, in Rochester, Susan Alida, daughter of William Rogers and Catherine Augusta (Rice) Peters Son: Herbert Gilman, Jr. (B.A. Cornell Univ 1934).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester. Survived by wife, son, and a granddaughter

Will [Hills] Hutchins, B.A. 1901.

Born July 11, 1878, in Colchester, Conn Died February 9, 1945, in Washington, D C

Father, Rev. William T. Hutchins (BD 1876). Mother, Charlotte Ann (Hills) Hutchins. Yale relatives include: Aaron M. Hills (B.D. 1874)

i

(uncle), and Henry H Sykes, '89 S., Edward J. Hutchins, '04 S., Harold

L. Hutchins, '09 S., and Albert E Hutchins, '13 (cousins).

Springfield (Mass.) High School Second Henry James TenEyck Prize, Townsend speaker, and second colloquy appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment and two-year honors in English Senior year; enlisted Battery A, Connecticut Volunteers, June 23, 1898; trained at Camp Haven, Niantic, mustered out of service October 5, 1898; member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Studied painting under Jean Paul Laurens in Paris 1901–02; landscape painter in Deerfield, Mass., 1902-11 (studied in Italy 1904); awarded BFA. Yale 1909, directed Yale Dramatic Association 1911–12; engaged in acting and producing plays 1912–16; taught at Deerfield Academy 1917–18, teacher of art and head of the department Scarborough (N.Y.) School 1920–25; professor of art American University 1925–45; author: Jeanne d'Arc at Vaucouleurs (1910), coauthor The Day That Lancoln Died (1912), translated François Coppee's Pater Noster, an associate editor Christian Art 1907–08; contributed art reviews and critiques to periodicals, lecturer at Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences and Institute of Arts and Sciences, Columbia University, 1913-15; conducted public lecture courses for City of New York 1913-15; Trowbridge Memorial Lecturer at Yale 1924-25; L.H.D. American University 1941; secretary library committee Washington Cathedral; went overseas with Y.M.C.A. November, 1918, engaged in educational work with Italian officers and at University of Bologna; awarded honorary rank of captain by Italian government, member The Arts Club and St. Margaret's Church (Episcopal), Washington.

Married June 20, 1913, in Washington, Lola May Evans (B A. George Washington Univ. 1902; M A. Columbia Univ. 1903), daughter of Samuel Byer and Mary Lola (Woodworth) Evans Son: Louis Whiting (B.A.

1937, Ph D. 1941).

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife and son.

William Arthur Stickney, B.A. 1901.

Born May 28, 1879, in St Louis, Mo. Died September 12, 1944, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, William Albert Stickney, a wholesale dealer in cigars and to-bacco in St Louis, son of August Grosvenor and Louisa (Wilson) Stickney of West Townsend, Mass Mother, Millicent M (Taylor) Stickney; daughter of Joseph and Mary (Schaeffer) Taylor of Covington, Ky.

Smith Academy, St Louis University Golf Team Senior year, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Alpha Delta Phi

Broker in St. Louis 1901–44; associated with A. G. Edwards & Company 1901–28 and 1931–44 (partner 1907–28 and 1931–44); in charge St. Louis office Richards & Company of New York 1928–29, general partner Love, Bryan & Company of New York 1929–31; held city and district golf championships, member Sons of the American Revolution.

Married (1) October 24, 1914, in Boston, Sarah, daughter of Guy Wilbur Currier (Massachusetts Inst. Technology ex-'88; Boston Univ. School of Law 1892-94) and Marie Glass (Burress) Currier and sister of Guy Currier, Jr., ex-'30. Son: Richard Currier, '41 Mr and Mrs. Stickney were divorced in 1917. Married (2) July 16, 1924, in Nashville, Tenn, Mary Louise Burke Byrn. Mr and Mrs. Stickney were divorced in 1927.

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St Louis. Survived by son, a sister, Mildred S Willis, the wife of Orion J. Willis, '03, and a brother, Albert Taylor Stickney of St. Louis.

Malvern Hall Tillitt, B.A. 1901.

Born August 24, 1879, in Elizabeth, N.C. Died April 4, 1945, in New York City.

Father, I N. Tillitt, a teacher in Elizabeth

Prepared privately DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman and Junior years; Junior exhibition appointment, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale School of Law 1901–04 (LL.B. 1904).

Admitted to North Carolina bar; practiced law with Isaac Meekins, in Elizabeth; secretary to Reginald C Vanderbilt, '02, editorial writer Virginian-Pilot (Norfolk), Evening Post (New York), and Washington Post, contributed to Wall Street Journal and American Banker; engaged in publicity writing for National City Bank, New York City; author: The Price of Prohibition (1932); compiled legal appendix in The Law of Drinking, by Richard Braithwait (edited by Brian Hooker, '02; 1903).

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by wife, Margot Heather-Keen Tillitt.

Clarence Henry Adams, B.A. 1902.

Born October 14, 1879, in Black Earth, Wis. Died August 24, 1944, in Denver, Colo.

Father, Frank Adams, founder and president Colorado Ice and Cold Storage Company, wholesale ice manufacturing and cold storage, Denver;

police commissioner of Denver; son of John and Eliza (Blanchard) Adams of Pasadena, Calif. Mother, Emma Jane (Wilson) Adams; daughter of Henry and Mary (Homewood) Wilson Yale relatives include: Alva B. Adams, '96 S (cousin), and William H Adams, 2d, '42 (nephew).

Denver High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; two-year honors in history Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club.

Associated with Colorado Ice and Cold Storage Company 1902–44 (treasurer 1904–17, vice-president and manager 1917–27, president 1927–44), treasurer and manager Proudfit-Ormsby Commission Company, wholesale fruit and produce, Denver, 1904–12 and president 1912–17; president The International Trust Company 1932–44 and Carlson-Frink Company, distributors of milk and manufacturers of ice cream, 1929–44; president Colorado Yale Association 1932–33 (on Scholarship Fund Committee 1929–30) and Colorado Bankers Association 1943–44; trustee University of Denver 1936–44; member convention finance committee Rotary International, Denver, 1942; in charge dairy division U S. Food Administration for Colorado in World War I; chairman Colorado Finance Committee in World War II.

Married August 15, 1905, in Denver, Eugenia Hale, daughter of William Orr and Mary Elizabeth (Hale) McFarland. Sons: Clarence Henry, Jr., '28, and Eugene Hale, '34. Mrs. Adams died September 5, 1939.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Fairmount Mausoleum, Denver. Survived by sons, six grandchildren, and two brothers, Frank Wilson Adams and Fred Maxie Adams, both of Denver.

Terry Joseph Chapin, B.A. 1902.

Born June 8, 1881, in Enfield, Conn. Died May 3, 1945, in Suffield, Conn.

Father, Joseph Terry Chapin, a farmer in Enfield; son of Dan Terry and Mariva (Sadd) Chapin of Enfield. Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Barber) Chapin, daughter of Shadrack and Elizabeth (Pease) Barber of East Windsor, Conn.

Enfield High School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Union.

Teacher St George's School, Summit, N J, 1902–03; attended New York Law School 1902–04 (LL B. 1904); clerk Peckham, Warner & Strong, lawyers, New York City, and Morgan & Seabury; admitted to New York bar 1904 and Connecticut bar 1905; lawyer in Hartford, Conn., 1905–45; associated with Barbour & Trainor 1905 and Bill & Tuttle [Joseph P, '89] 1905–06, member Chapin & Henry 1906–12; practiced independently 1912–45, justice of the peace, Suffield, 1912–45, deputy judge 1943–

45; on Suffield legal advisory board World War I; member Hartford County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, Commercial League of America, Sons of the American Revolution, Jeremiah Wadsworth branch Connecticut Society of the American Revolution, Veteran Corps of First Company Governor's Foot Guard, and First Congregational Church, Enfield (clerk and treasurer for many years).

Married (1) January 1, 1907, in Suffield, Jessie Maud, daughter of Edward Orville and Melvina (Crowell) Douglass Son Douglass Norton (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1934; LL.B Hartford Coll. of Law 1938). Mrs. Chapin died January 5, 1927. Married (2) July 18, 1931, in Enfield, Mary Charlotte Beeman Grant, daughter of Carl Leonard and Matilda (Lund)

Beeman. Mrs. Chapin died December 18, 1942.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Enfield Cemetery Survived by son, two grandchildren, and two brothers, Charles Clarence Chapin of Enfield and Archer Louis Chapin (B.A. Cornell 1908, E E 1910) of Maplewood, N.J.

William Worthington Herrick, B.A. 1902.

Born February 19, 1879, in Sherman, Conn. Died June 1, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Rev. Edward P. Herrick (B.D. 1871) Mother, Pamela Goodrich (Wheeler) Herrick. Yale relatives include. Claudius Herrick (B.A. 1798) (great-grandfather); Henry Herrick (B.A. 1822) (grandfather), John P. Herrick (B.A. 1824) and Edward C. Herrick (M.A. Hon. 1838)

(great-uncles); and Gustav Schwab, Jr., '36 (nephew).

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn, and Rollins College 1897–98. First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; manager Freshman Glee Club; University Glee Club and College Choir three years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Sigma Xi. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1901–05 (M.D. cum laude 1905, awarded Campbell Gold Medal Senior year; chairman editorial board Yale Medical Journal Senior year, member Nu Sigma Nu).

Physician in Wallingford and Gaylordsville, Conn, 1905–06, interne on medical and pathological services St. Luke's Hospital, New York City, 1906–08; physician in New York City, specializing in internal medicine, 1908–17 and 1919–45; assistant in medicine College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1908–10, instructor 1910–13, associate 1913–17, assistant professor of medicine 1919–22, assistant clinical professor 1922–24, associate professor of clinical medicine 1924–27, and professor 1927–45; chief of clinic, General Medicine, Vanderbilt Clinic, 1919–25 and medical director 1925–28; attending physician Sloane Hospital

for Women and House of Rest for Consumptives, New York City; attending physician, medical service, Presbyterian Hospital, 1928-45; assistant physician Roosevelt Hospital; consulting physician Babies' Hospital, Nursery and Child's Hospital, Beekman Street Hospital, New York Infirmary for Women and Children, Woman's Hospital, Nassau Hospital (Mineola), Elizabeth A. Horton Memorial Hospital (Middletown), Mount Vernon and White Plains hospitals, St. Agnes Hospital (White Plains), Vassar Brothers Hospital (Poughkeepsie), and Greenwich, Stamford, and Sharon (Conn) hospitals, trustee Sharon Hospital and Trudeau (NY) Sanatorium 1938-45; editor-in-chief Nelson Loose-Leaf Living Medicine (1920), internist Medical Advisory Board, Selective Service; member committee on Prenatal and Maternal Care, White House Conference on Child Health and Protection, 1931; commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps, September 1, 1917, chief of medical service Base Hospital, Camp Jackson, September 1, 1917-January 10, 1918; medical consultant, Southeastern Department, including all camps and military hospitals, December 1, 1918, until discharge April 3, 1919; president New York Academy of Medicine 1945; fellow American College of Physicians; member American Medical Association, Association of American Physicians, American Heart Association, and Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married June 15, 1910, in Scarborough, NY, Emily Elizabeth, daughter of Gustav Henry and Caroline Ogden (Wheeler) Schwab and sister of Gustav Schwab, '02 Children: William Worthington, Jr., '33; John Ogden (died January 17, 1916), and Eunice Wheeler (Bennington Coll. ex-'40), the wife of Thomas R Trowbridge, Jr., '31.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Sharon. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, four grandchildren, and a sister, Amy Herrick (cert. in music Yale Univ. 1920).

James Wakeman Hubbell, B.A. 1902.

Born April 8, 1881, in Danbury, Conn. Died July 20, 1944, in New York City.

Father, James Wakeman Hubbell (B A. 1857). Mother, Mary Wing (Gregory) Hubbell Yale relatives include Stephen Hubbell (B A. 1826) (great-uncle), Henry L Hubbell (B.A. 1854) and Lewis Gregory (B.A. 1864) (uncles), Benjamin Hubbell, '97, and Clara M Hubbell (Graduate School 1899–1903) (cousins), and John S. Stanton, '17 (nephew).

Oberlin Academy; attended Oberlin College 1898–99 Entered Yale College Sophomore year, first colloquy appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year, member Beta Theta Pi.

With New York Telephone Company 1902-14 and 1919-44 (clerk traffic department 1902; assistant district manager, Brooklyn, 1903 and manager 1903-12; district manager Newark, N.J., 1912-14, traffic engineer New York City 1919-21, general traffic engineer 1921-25; chief engineer upstate territory, Albany, 1925-26 and general manager and vicepresident 1926-34; vice-president in charge of operations and on executive committee, New York City, 1934-41; president 1941-44); president Empire City Subway Company 1941-44, traffic engineer Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, 1914-17 and engineer of equipment and buildings 1917; sergeant Troop A, First Pennsylvania Cavalry, serving on Mexican border 1916; commissioned Major, Signal Officers Reserve Corps, April 17, 1917; commanding officer First Reserve Telegraph Battalion (later designated 406th Telegraph Battalion), Signal Corps Training Camp, Monmouth, N.J., June-August, 1917; overseas August, 1917-September, 1918, participated in occupation of Toul and Baccarat sectors, Champagne-Marne defensive, and Marne-Aisne offensive; on detached service in charge engineering division, Office of Chief Signal Officer, November, 1917-February, 1918, attended Staff Officers School, Army War College, Washington; promoted Lieutenant Colonel October 28, 1918, and assigned as Division Signal Officer, 16th Division, Camp Kearny; discharged December 3, 1918; trustee Union Dime Savings Bank, New York City, 1943-44, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1929-30, president 1931-32; on Emergency Committee of 100 (New York City), Mayor's Business Advisory Committee, and New York City Post-War Industrial Committee; member Commerce and Industry Association of New York.

Married (1) January 17, 1907, in Plainfield, NJ, Frances Whitney Phillips (BA. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1903), daughter of Edward and Agnes (Fisher) Phillips. Children. James Wakeman, Jr. (died August 1, 1916); Edward Phillips (B.A Williams Coll. 1935); and Frances (Wellesley Coll. ex-'39; diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll 1938), the wife of Theodore Conrow Merwin (BA. Princeton 1934). Mr. and Mrs. Hubbell were divorced in 1923 Married (2) May 3, 1926, in New York City, Lucy Moyer Hegeman (BA. Wellesley Coll. 1903), daughter of John Aycrig Hegeman (BA Princeton 1876) and Elizabeth Conrad (Moyer) Hegeman. Mr. and Mrs. Hubbell were divorced in 1940. Married (3) October 10, 1941, in New York City, Nothera, daughter of John Henry and Catherine (Wilson) Barton. Adopted daughter. Virginia Barton.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Old Cemetery, Wilton, Conn Survived by wife, one son, daughters, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Miss Harriette Gregory Hubbell and Grace Wakeman Hubbell Taylor (Ph.B. and M A Oberlin 1898), the wife of William B. A. Taylor (B.A. Oberlin 1894), both of New York City.

Mark Skinner Willing, B.A. 1902.

Born October 9, 1878, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 14, 1944, in Mount Holly, Va.

Father, Henry Jenkins Willing, partner Marshall Field & Company, Chicago Mother, Frances (Skinner) Willing; daughter of Mark and Elizabeth (Williams) Skinner of Chicago. Yale relatives include: Richard Skinner (B.A. 1862) (uncle); and Ambrose C. Cramer, '13 (cousin).

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; chairman governing board and on house committee Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Senior year, Class Supper Committee, member Alpha Delta Phi; honorary member Elihu

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1902–04; admitted to the bar 1905, lawyer in New York City, specializing in estate work, 1905–06; partner Cramer & Willing, mining supplies, Chicago, 1906–44; president Willing Investment Trust 1925–44; trustee Estate of Henry J. Willing 1900–44 and St. Luke's Hospital, Chicago, 1910–38; director Chicago Legal Aid Society; with American Red Cross in France November 30, 1917–August 3, 1918, assigned to Bureau of Military Affairs and Civil Affairs with assimilated rank of Captain; member Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago.

Married October 2, 1905, in Quincy, Ill., Margaret Woodbridge, daughter of Robert Dean McFadon (B A Harvard 1878) and Rose (Woodbridge) McFadon Children: Margaret, the wife of John V. Farwell, 3d, '18; Evelyn Pierrepont, the wife of Joseph William Chinn (B.S. Univ. Virginia 1935; M D. George Washington Univ. 1940); Mark Skinner, Jr. (Univ. Richmond ex-'42); and Frances Skinner (died February 24, 1921)

Died after a long illness. Temporarily buried in Yeocomico Cemetery, Westmoreland County, Va. Survived by wife, two daughters, son, and four grandchildren

Robert Andrews Granniss, B.A. 1903.

Born January 23, 1880, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 7, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Robert Andrews Granniss, vice-president New York Mutual Life Insurance Company, New York City, son of George Benjamin and Laura Ann (Dunham) Granniss of Brooklyn. Mother, Florence (Peters) Granniss; daughter of Charles and Phoebe (Dyer) Peters of Ellsworth, Maine Yale relatives include a great-uncle, John A. Peters (B A. 1842) St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. On board of governors University

Club Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Kappa Psi, Alpha Delta Phi, and Elihu.

Assistant secretary Pease & Elliman, Inc, real-estate brokers, New York City, 1903–04 and first vice-president 1904–45; organizer Radium Luminous Material Corporation, watch, clock, and gun sight illuminating, New York City, and vice-president until 1923; president Realty Purchasing & Mortgage Company, and Indoor Polo Association of America 1926–35, vice-president Mortgage Financing Corporation and McLean & McLean, insurance agents, 1912–45; enlisted as private Remount Service, National Army, October 17, 1918, attended Officers Training Camp, Camp Joseph E. Johnston; discharged November 23, 1918; governor Metropolitan Club of New York City (chairman executive committee 1935–45) and Garden City Golf Club; member Society of the Cincinnati, Society of the War of 1812, and Veteran Corps of Artillery; vestryman Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), New York City.

Married October 25, 1906, in New York City, Mary Langdon, daughter

of Louis Albert and Mary (Smith) de Bary. No children.

Death due to an embolism Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Morristown, N.J. Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Mary Wadsworth Granniss of Morris Plains, N.J.

Donald Kent Johnston, B.A. 1903.

Born December 17, 1881, in New York City Died September 8, 1944, in Uniontown, Pa.

Father, Henry P. Johnston (B.A. 1862, M.A. Hon 1889). Mother, Elizabeth Kirtland (Holmes) Johnston Yale relatives include: William C. Johnston (B.A. 1860) (uncle); and James Walker, '94 S., and Curtis H. Walker, '99 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second McLaughlin Memorial Prize Freshman year; second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, on Dwight Hall executive committee and

president Berkeley Association Senior year; member The Pundits

Attended General Theological Seminary 1903–04 and Episcopal Theological School 1904–06 (BD. 1906); ordained deacon and priest 1906, with Rev. Paul Jones, '02, organized and built St. John's Church and House, Logan, Utah, 1906–11, canon St. Mark's Cathedral, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1911–13; assistant rector All Saints' Church, Worcester, Mass, 1913–16 and Emmanuel Church, Boston, 1916–19, in charge Grace Church, Lawrence, 1918–19; rector St. Peter's Church, Uniontown, 1919 until retirement 1941; deputy to general convention of Protestant Episcopal Church, Cincinnati, 1910; author The Religious Aspects of Scientific Healing (1920); coeditor The Portal 1906–11.

Unmarried.

Death due to acute myocarditis Buried in Lyme (Conn) Cemetery. Survived by two brothers, Henry Selden Johnston, '96, and John H. Johnston, '99 S.

William George Metzger, B.A. 1903.

Born November 1, 1879, in Logansport, Ind. Died February 16, 1945, in Scranton, Pa.

Father, William George Metzger, vice-president and treasurer Metzger Linseed Oil Company, Chicago and Toledo; son of Frederick and Christina Magdalene (Smith) Metzger of Toledo. Mother, Sophia Cecilia (McCabe) Metzger; daughter of John and Sophia (Jennings) McCabe of Boone County, Ky.

Private tutor, attended Georgetown University 1898–99.

Assistant payroll clerk New England Mine of Fairmont (W.Va.) Coal Company 1903-06 and assistant superintendent Robinson Run Mine 1906-07, shipping clerk and timekeeper Fairmont Mining Machinery Company for a few months in 1906; superintendent Despard Mine of Clarksburg Fuel Company (subsidiary of Fairmont Coal Company) 1907-08; assistant to Fairfax S Landstreet, coal expert, in examination of virgin coal lands at Pembina River, Alberta, Canada, 1908; general manager Sequoyah Coal & Mining Company, Arkansas, and Poteau Valley Railroad Company, Oklahoma, 1908–10; coal operator in Chicago 1910– 22; safety engineer Hudson Coal Company, Scranton, 1922–45; chief clerk exemption board No. 47, Chicago, during World War I; director Scranton Chapter American Red Cross and chairman First Aid Division World War II; vice-president Safety Engineers Association of the Anthracite Field 1933-35; treasurer Engineers Society of Northeastern Pennsylvania 1923-27 and vice-president 1927-30; member American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, National Safety Council, Inc. (vice-chairman in charge engineering mining section 1933-34 and chairman mining section 1934-35), Yale Engineering Association, and St. Paul's Church (Roman Catholic), Scranton.

Married November 20, 1915, in Chicago, Ethel Marie, daughter of John Charles and Mary Agnes (Dolan) O'Connell. Children: William George, 3d, '39; Mary Louise, the wife of Capt. Dudley Chapin Ferguson, A U.S. (Dartmouth Coll ex-'30); Helen Cecelia, Sarah Elizabeth; and John Frederick, '45W

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, and sister, Mrs. Stella Metzger Mercil of Chicago.

Harry Brown VanDeventer, B.A. 1903.

Born August 14, 1881, in Newark, N.J. Died January 25, 1945, in Rosemont, Pa.

Father, Andrew Kinney VanDeventer, treasurer Southern Pacific Railroad Company and allied lines; son of William Kinney and Eliza (Kinney) VanDeventer of Flemington, N.J. Mother, Ella Henrietta (Riker) VanDeventer; daughter of James Brown and Harriet (Heming-

way) Riker of Newark.

Pingry School, Elizabeth, N J. Shared Hugh Chamberlain Greek Prize at entrance; first Berkeley Premium and special prize for excellence in Latin composition Freshman year; first Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, philosophical oration appointment and first Winthrop Prize Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa (president Senior year). Attended Yale Graduate School 1903–06 (M A. 1904, Ph.D. 1907; fellow in Latin 1903–06)

Taught Latin at University School, Cleveland, 1906–07; instructor in Latin Princeton University 1907–10, assistant professor and preceptor of classics 1910–15; assistant professor of Latin University of Pennsylvania 1915–26, professor 1926–45; author: "Subordinate Verb Clauses in Gaius" (1907); on priorities board of the War Industries Board, Washington, 1918; member Classical Association of the Eastern Atlantic States, American Philological Association, American Association of University Pro-

fessors, and Central Baptist Church, Elizabeth.

Married February 26, 1927, in Germantown, Pa., Mariana McCaulley (B A and M A. Cornell Univ. 1912), daughter of Francis Hervey and Lulu (Paynter) McCaulley. No children.

Death due to acute pulmonary edema, secondary to myocarditis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth. Survived by wife.

John Markham Riley, B.A. 1904.

Born January 24, 1879, in Pryorcreek, Indian Territory.

Died August 17, 1944, in Tulsa, Okla.

Father, John M. Riley, a farmer and stockman in Pryorcreek Mother, Isabelle (Wilson) Riley.

Bacone (Okla.) University. First colloquy appointment Junior year.

Clerk Union Agency, U.S Department of the Interior, Muskogee, 1904–05; deputy marshal U.S. Department of Justice, Ardmore, Indian Territory, 1906–07; deputy clerk U.S. Circuit Court, Muskogee, 1908–11; engaged in oil business in Muskogee 1912–15; clerk U.S. War Department

5

and Department of Commerce 1916 and in Post Office Department, Washington, 1917 and 1919, associated with Chalmers Motor Car Company, Detroit, 1918, auditor Bureau of Internal Revenue, U.S. Treasury Department, Washington, 1920 and internal revenue agent Oklahoma and Arkansas Division 1921–24; oil lease and royalty broker, Tulsa, 1925 until about 1943, accountant Oklahoma Fixture Company, Tulsa, 1943–44; member Holy Family Cathedral (Roman Catholic), Muskogee.

Married September 12, 1913, Ida Prophet. Children: William Ketcham Riley, U.S.N; Lieut Louise Isabelle Riley, M.C.; Richard Tecumseh

Riley, U.S N, and Elizabeth Ann.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Green Hill Cemetery, Muskogee. Survived by wife and children

Arthur Willis Blackman, B.A. 1905.

Born October 4, 1881, in Milford, Conn. Died January 30, 1945, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Willis Wygant Blackman, an engineering specialist with Bosworth Machine Company, Milford; assistant postmaster Milford, son of Theodore and Eveline (Wygant) Blackman of New Haven. Mother, Delia (Townsend) Blackman; daughter of Amos and Melissa (Huntington) Townsend of New Haven.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. First division stand Freshman year, oration appointment and second John Addison Porter Prize in American History Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew Squad.

Taught Latin Pomfret (Conn) School and read law 1905-07; attended Yale School of Law 1907-08 (LL.B. 1908; an editor Yale Law Journal); admitted to Connecticut and Massachusetts bars 1908; lawyer in Boston 1908-45, with Choate, Hall [John L., '94] & Stewart 1908-10; assistant counsel New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1910-28, counsel 1928-34, and attorney in Massachusetts 1934-45; with United States Railroad Administration 1918-20; instructor in equity and lecturer on carriers Northeastern University 1918-45; counsel Eastern Claim Conference 1940-45; on executive committee Yale Club of Boston 1924-25 and vice-president 1928-29; member Association of American Railroads, Boston, Massachusetts, and American Bar associations, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Brookline, Mass

Married June 7, 1913, in New Bedford, Mass, Constance, daughter of Robert and Sarah Hunt (Gordon) Snow and sister of Robert Snow, ex-'20. Children Arthur Willis, Jr, ex-'38 E; Sally Hunt, the wife of Lieut. Joseph S Lukesh, Robert, Peter Blackman, A.A.F.; and John Nicholas Blackman, ex-'45W. (Ensign U.S. Navy).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Walnut Hills Cemetery, Brookline. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

Richard Monroe Fairbanks, B.A. 1905.

Born October 8, 1883, in Indianapolis, Ind. Died July 26, 1944, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Father, Charles Warren Fairbanks, LL D (B A. Ohio Wesleyan Coll 1872), a lawyer in Indianapolis; United States Senator 1897–1905; vice-president of the United States 1905–09; son of Loriston Monroe and Mary Adelaide (Smith) Fairbanks of Union County, Ohio. Mother, Cornelia (Cole) Fairbanks (B A. Ohio Wesleyan Female Coll. 1872); daughter of Philander Blakeslee and Dorothy Barton (Witter) Cole of Marysville, Ohio.

Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; secretary and treasurer Freshman Baseball Association; Junior Promenade Committee; Senior Cup Committee; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head.

Attended Indiana Law School 1905-09 (LL B 1909); admitted to the bar 1009; clerk Merchants National Bank, Indianapolis, 1905-06; lawyer in Indianapolis 1909–17; copublisher *The Muncie News* 1909–12; secretary Indianapolis Traction & Terminal Company 1912–14; associated with Indianapolis News Publishing Company 1918–44 (vice-president 1920– 40, chairman of the board of directors 1908-44, president and publisher 1940-44); president American Trust & Savings Bank, Springfield, Ohio, 1919-20, American Switch & Frog Company, Indianapolis, 1930-40, and radio station WIBC, Indianapolis, 1944; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison, May 13-August, 1917; commissioned Captain, Infantry, August 15, 1917, assigned to 29th Battalion, 159th Depot Brigade, Camp Zachary Taylor, August-December 11, and 164th Infantry Brigade to December 24, 1917; overseas December 24, 1917-June 16, 1918, with Army General Staff College, Langres, France, January-June 10, 1918; discharged August 21, 1918; member Masonic order and Meridian Street Methodist Church, Indianapolis.

Married (1) June 7, 1911, in Indianapolis, Louise, daughter of Harold Barcroft and Louise (Freeman) Hibben. Son: Richard Monroe, Jr, ex-'34 S. Mrs. Fairbanks died September 10, 1912. Married (2) November 14, 1918, in Indianapolis, Robertine, daughter of Robert and Elise (Emerson) Buchanan. Son: Michael Buchanan.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis. Survived by wife (Mrs Daniels), sons, two grandchildren, a sister Mrs. Adelaide F. Causey of Indianapolis, and a brother, Robert Fairbanks, ex-'09.

Aubrey Milton Holter, B.A. 1905.

Born May 22, 1883, in Helena, Mont. Died March 9, 1945, in Helena, Mont.

Father, Anton Martin Holter, founder and president A. M. Holter Company, wholesale hardware, Helena; aided in development of mining in Montana, son of Christen and Bertha Maria (Flostad) Foyen of Norway. Mother, Mary Pauline (Loberg) Holter; daughter of Nels Peter and Margaret (Shjultzen) Loberg of Norway. Yale relatives include two nephews, Richard M Holter, '29, and Edwin O. Holter, Jr., '30.

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn. First division stand Freshman year; first dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale

Corinthian Yacht Club.

Successively secretary, treasurer, and vice-president A. M. Holter Company 1905–45, vice-president The Holter Company, mining and lumber, and Holter Realty Company 1922–45 and N Bar Ranch of Fergus County, Mont, 1935–45; member St. Peter's Pro-Cathedral (Episcopal), Helena.

Married (1) September 10, 1913, in St Joseph, Mo., Florence, daughter of William and Bertha Christine (Schletzbaum) Hayton. Daughters: Mary Pauline (Stephens Coll 1932–34; Montana State Coll. 1935), the wife of Albert R Andersen (Carroll Coll. 1933–35; LL.B. Univ. Montana 1939); Helen Hayton (Stephens Coll. 1932–34; Montana State Coll. 1934–36), the wife of Robert Ford Clary, Jr. (B.A. Princeton 1937; LL.B. Harvard 1940); Doris (Stephens Coll. 1937–40), the wife of Roger Rice; and Barbara (Stephens Coll. 1942; Univ. Montana 1943), the wife of Albert Robert Kirkland (Univ. Arizona 1939). Mr. and Mrs. Holter were divorced in 1937 Married (2) September 4, 1937, in Boulder, Mont., Nannie Conrad Smithers, daughter of William Robinson and Nannie Wheatley (Bowen) Conrad.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Forestvale Cemetery, Helena. Survived by wife, daughters, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Clara H Kennett of Helena, and two brothers, Norman Bernard Holter of Helena and Edwin O. Holter, '94. Another brother, Percy W. Holter, '07, died in 1908.

Benedict Edward Lyons, B.A. 1905.

Born June 13, 1883, in Thomaston, Conn. Died April 21, 1945, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, John Lyons, associated with Plume & Atwood, brass manufacturers, Thomaston; son of Peter and Elizabeth (Russell) Lyons of County Clare, Ireland. Mother, Catherine (Monahan) Lyons; daughter of Matthew and Nora (Sexton) Monahan of County Clare.

Thomaston and Waterbury (Conn.) High schools. Second colloquy appointment Senior year. Attended Yale School of Law 1905-08 (LL.B. 1908; registrar of the School Senior year; member Corbey Court).

Admitted to the bar 1908; lawyer in Hartford 1908-45; in law office of Edward M. Day, '94, 1908-10; practiced independently 1910-45, specializing in land and estate cases; secretary and counsel Tull Brothers, hardware and tools, 1923-45; represented Thomaston in Connecticut General Assembly 1909-10 (House Chairman of Committee on Claims); member Hartford and Litchfield County Bar associations, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, and Church of St. Thomas the Apostle (Roman Catholic), West Hartford.

Married June 19, 1922, in Kensington, Conn., Margaret Josephine, daughter of Joseph Henry and Margaret (McGovern) Scott Daughters

Catherine May Scott and Dorothy Rose Scott.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn Survived by wife, daughters, a sister, Mrs Edward Hickey of Flushing, N.Y., and a brother, William H. Lyons of Thomaston.

Howard Palmer, B.A. 1905.

Born November 28, 1883, in Norwich, Conn. Died October 24, 1944, in Westerly, R.I.

Father, George S. Palmer, '78. Mother, Ida Amelia (Cooke) Palmer. Yale relatives include: Frederick P. Latimer, '97, and Edward A Palmer, ex-'or (cousins).

Norwich Free Academy. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club

Attended Harvard Law School 1905–08 (LL B 1908), admitted to the bar 1908; lawyer in Boston 1908–10 (with Whipple [Sherman L, '81], Sears & Ogden 1908–09, associated with H Eugene Bolles 1909–10); associated with Palmer Brothers Company, manufacturers of bed comfortables, New London, Conn., 1910 until retirement 1928 (secretary and purchasing agent 1918–28); pioneered in exploration and mapping of North Selkirk Mountains, British Columbia, 1908–15, ascending fifty new or little-visited peaks; explored Canadian Rockies between Mount Columbia and Mount Robson 1916–27; assisted in organizing Mount Logan Expedition to Alaska 1925; author: Mountaineering and Exploration in the Selkirks (1914) and Pioneer of the Canadian Alps (1930); coauthor, with J. Monroe Thorington, A Climber's Guide to the Rocky Mountains of Canada (1921; enlarged edition 1930; revised edition 1940); editor Life on a Whaler, by Nathaniel William Taylor, B.A. 1844 (1929), contributed sections on Rocky Mountains and on mountaineering (in part) to En-

cyclopedia Britannica (1929); made studies and measurements of movements of glaciers, which were published by Royal Geographical Society (London), Surveyor General's Office (Ottawa), and Smithsonian Institution (Washington), cartographer Reconnaissance Map of Northern Selkirk Mountains and the Big Bend of the Columbia River (1920); contributed articles on the history and topography of Canadian cordillera to Appalachia, National Geographic Magazine, Geographical Journal (London), Outing Magazine, and Harvard Handbook of Travel, Palmer Peak, Palmer Glacier, and Palmer River named in his honor by Canadian government, vice-president New London County Historical Society 1928-44; trustee Public Library of New London 1930-44; fellow Geographical Society of London, corresponding member Geographical Society of Philadelphia; member Boston Society of Natural History, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Museum of Natural History, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, Harvard Travellers Club, Explorers Club (New York), American Alpine Club (secretary 1911-16, vice-president 1923-25, president 1926-28, councilor 1917-22 and 1929-42; editor The American Alpine Journal 1930-34), British Alpine Club, Canadian Club of Winnipeg, Appalachian Mountain Club, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), New London.

Unmarried.

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London Survived by two half sisters, Neva P. Johnson, the wife of James Reid Johnson (grad. U.S. Naval Academy 1922) of New London, and Georgeanna P. Rice (Connecticut Coll. for Women ex-'30), the wife of Frederick Warren Rice of Old Lyme, Conn

Edward Seymour Stringer, B.A. 1905.

Born May 22, 1883, in Hastings, Minn. Died November 16, 1944, in St. Paul, Minn.

Father, Edward Charles Stringer (B A. Hamilton Coll. 1876), member Stringer & Stringer, lawyers, St. Paul; United States attorney District of Minnesota 1894–98, son of William and Mary A. (Peek) Stringer of Auburn, N Y. Mother, Anna Isabel (Seymour) Stringer (B.A. Elmira Coll 1879); daughter of McNeil and Elmira (Burpee) Seymour of Mount Morris, N Y Yale relatives include McNeil S. Stringer, Jr., '36, and Warren Stringer, '39 (nephews)

St Paul High School and private tutor. First division stand second term Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended St Paul College of Law 1905-07 (LL B. 1907); admitted to the bar 1907, lawyer in St. Paul 1907-44; member Stringer & Seymour 1907-21 and O'Brien, Stone, Horn & Stringer (later O'Brien, Horn & Stringer)

1921-44; professor of constitutional law St Paul College of Law 1929-42; member Ramsey County, Minnesota State, and American Bar associations and Sons of the American Revolution, trustee Dayton Avenue Presbyterian Church, St. Paul.

Married October 4, 1911, in St. Paul, Rachel Elizabeth, daughter of John Dennis and Sarah (Slater) O'Brien. Children Edward Seymour, Jr (Univ. Minnesota ex-'37); Sarah Seymour (Univ. Minnesota ex-'37), the wife of Terrence Murdock Donohue, John Dillion, ex-'39; William Slater (B A. Harvard 1941); and Richard Shackleton.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St Paul Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two brothers, McNeil

S. Stringer, '07, and Philip Stringer, '21.

Abel Cary Thomas, B.A. 1905.

Born January 30, 1883, in New York City. Died February 21, 1945, in New York City

Father, Abner Charles Thomas, LL.D. (C E. Philadelphia Polytechnic Inst.), a lawyer in New York City; surrogate of New York County 1900–11; son of Abel Charles and Maria Louise (Palmer) Thomas of Philadelphia. Mother, Lucy Annah (Carnahan) Thomas; daughter of Isaac Van Zandt and Rowena (Cary) Carnahan of Cincinnati. Yale relatives include a great-great-great-grandfather, Samuel Cary (B A 1755)

Columbia Grammar School, New York City, and Phillips-Andover

Second colloquy appointment Senior year, member The Pundits

Attended Harvard Law School 1905–08 (LL B 1908); admitted to the bar 1908; clerk Hamilton & Becket, lawyers, New York City, 1908–09, member Reynolds & Thomas (later Reynolds, Thomas & Friedman [Stanleigh P., '05], and Thomas & Friedman) 1909–23; general counsel and secretary Warner Brothers Pictures, Inc., and secretary and director of the corporation, whose interests expanded to involve Vitaphone Corporation, Stanley Company of America, and First National Pictures, 1923 until retirement in 1936 because of ill-health; unoccupied 1936–38, practiced law independently in New York City 1938–45; legal adviser to Henry W. Savage, theatrical producer; editor A Treatise on the Law of Mortgages of Real Property in the State of New York (1913), member Masonic order

Married in 1920, Edna Waddill Mr. and Mrs Thomas were divorced in

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by three sisters, the Misses Ethel Cary and Lucy Cary Thomas of New York City, and Mrs. Rhoda Cary Thomas Luyster of Pasadena, Calif.

Mr. Thomas was a collector of rare books and manuscripts, many of

which he presented to the Yale University Library. In 1936 he gave over 4,000 volumes to the library of Timothy Dwight College (Yale University).

Benjamin Van Campen, B.A. 1905.

Born July 7, 1879, in Olean, N.Y. Died September 21, 1944, in Olean, N.Y.

Father, George Van Campen (Fredonia [N Y.] Normal School 1871-72; Milton [Wis] Coll. 1872-73), agent for New York Life Insurance Company, Olean; son of George Van Campen and Sophia Theoda (King) Van Campen of Olean Mother, Emily Allen (Borden) Van Campen; daughter of William Henry Borden (M D. Univ. Buffalo 1849) and Lavina Depew (Van Campen) Borden of Scio, N.Y., and Milton.

Olean High School and private tutor. Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee

Club Sophomore year; University Glee Club Squad Junior year.

Attended University of Buffalo Medical School 1905–08 (M.D. 1908); house surgeon German Hospital, Buffalo, 1906–08; senior house physician Boston Floating Hospital July–September, 1908; physician and surgeon Olean 1908–44; owner, operator, and resident surgeon West Side Hospital, Olean, 1925–36, attended Medical Officers Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison, June 13–August 25, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps Reserve, March 17, 1917, Captain September 21, 1917, Major September 12, 1918, and Lieutenant Colonel May 2, 1919; service at Camp Zachary Taylor with 801st Infantry, American Expeditionary Force, and as post surgeon, Headquarters, Advance Section, Services of Supply; overseas September 8, 1918–June 12, 1919, discharged June 13, 1919, commissioned Colonel, Medical Reserve Corps, November 13, 1924; member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Olean.

Married (1) June 8, 1911, in Olean, Josephine, daughter of Matthew and Sarah (Carter) McCarthy Children: Marjorie (died in infancy), Avery George, ex-'35, Mary Jane, the wife of Howard Alfred Vincent, and Joan. Dr and Mrs Van Campen were divorced in 1934. Married (2) in

September, 1935, Mrs. Lois Stanley.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Mount View Cemetery, Olean. Survived by wife, two daughters, son, and three grandchildren.

Harry Beal, B.A. 1906.

Born May 26, 1885, in Oneida, N.Y. Died November 22, 1944, in Ancon, Canal Zone.

Father, Joseph Beal (BA Colgate Univ. 1879), a lawyer in Oneida; counsel Department of Farms and Markets, State of New York; son of

John and Catherine (Cotes) Beal of Hamilton, NY. Mother, Helen Clymena (Clark) Beal; daughter of Hiram R. and Sophia Olivia (Wilcox) Clark of Munnsville, NY.

Oneida High School and Colgate Academy, Hamilton First division stand Freshman year and honors in studies of Freshman year; honors in English composition Sophomore and Senior years; second Henry James TenEyck Prize, philosophical oration appointment and honors in studies of Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; secretary Freshman Union; on executive committee Y.M.C.A.; treasurer Yale Union Junior year and president Senior year, president Berkeley Association Senior year; member The Pundits, Linonia, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa (vice-president Senior year).

Taught Latin and English St. Paul's School, Concord, NH, 1906-08, attended General Theological Seminary of the Protestant Episcopal Church 1908-09 and Episcopal Theological School 1909-11 (BD 1911); ordained deacon June 11, 1911, and priest June 6, 1912; minister in charge Constableville, Port Leyden, and Greig, NY., 1911-14; rector Church of the Messiah, Newton and Auburndale, Mass, 1914-17 and Grace Church, New Bedford, 1917–23; dean Holy Trinity Cathedral, Havana, Cuba, 1923–26; dean and rector St Paul's Cathedral, Los Angeles, 1926–37, bishop Missionary District of the Panama Canal Zone 1937-44, incorporator Bishop Johnson College of Nursing, Los Angeles, 1927 and trustee 1927-37; organizer and president New Bedford Legal Aid Society; president New Bedford Men's Mission 1920-23; honorary chairman third New Bedford Community Fund Campaign; chairman New Bedford Central Council of Social Agencies 1920–23 and Los Angeles Council of Social Agencies 1933–35; deputy general of Convention of Episcopal Churches at Los Angeles 1928, 1931, and 1934; chairman Examining Chaplains, Dioceses of Massachusetts and Los Angeles; on standing committee Diocese of Los Angeles; secretary Missionary District of Cuba 1925–26, DD Church Divinity School of the Pacific 1929 and University of Southern California 1936, second vice-president Yale Club of Southern California 1928; member of Conference Foundation, Inc (Wellesley), 1915-33, California chapter Society of Colonial Wars (chaplain 1934–36), and Sons of the Revolution.

Married June 18, 1913, in Stamford, Conn, Marjorie Berry Clements (Vassar Coll. ex-'11), daughter of Augustus Mortimer and Adda (Thompson) Clements. Daughter: Louise Marjorie (B.A. Pomona Coll. 1937), the wife of Col. Raymond Stone, Jr, U.S.A (BS United States Military Academy 1923).

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular-renal disease with uremia. Ashes placed in the altar of St Luke's Cathedral, Ancon Survived by wife, daughter, one granddaughter, and three sisters, Helen Marjorie Beal (Syracuse Univ. 1906–08) of Raleigh, N.C., Blanche B Marks (Syracuse

Univ 1908-09), the wife of Lloyd B Marks (Boston Univ. 1910-12) of Boston, and Beatrice B Flagg (B.A Univ. Wisconsin 1920), the wife of Sewell Leroy Flagg (B.A. Colby Coll 1920) of New Orleans.

Ralph Blackhurst Bennett, B.A. 1906.

Born January 23, 1883, in Waterville, N.Y. Died May 6, 1945, in The Dalles, Ore.

Father, David Smith Bennett, a broker and owner of a hop farm; son of John J. and Sara (Orton) Bennett of Brookfield, NY. Mother, Sarah Ann (Blackhurst) Bennett; daughter of James F and Elizabeth (Fernhead) Blackhurst of New York City. Yale relatives include: John J Orton (BA 1842)(great-uncle), and Ralph F. Stoddard, '08 (cousin)

Waterville High School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior

years.

Engaged in tutoring in Waterville 1906-07; editor Connecticut Western News and Sharon (Conn.) News 1908-09, Utica (N.Y.) Press 1909, and Syracuse (N.Y.) Post-Standard 1910; reporter Portland Telegram 1910 and Portland Oregonian 1911; co-owner Ashland (Ore.) Tidings 1912, Hood River (Ore.) News Company, Inc., 1913-18, and Bennett Brothers, automobiles and farm implements, Hood River, 1919-31; editorowner The Dalles Optimist 1931-39; postmaster The Dalles 1939-45; on Hood River City Council 1929-31; officer candidate, Infantry, National Armý, stationed at Camp McArthur, September, 1918-April, 1919; reserve Army of the United States with rank of Captain; member Masonic order and American Legion; vestryman, church school superintendent, and lay reader St. Mark's Episcopal Church, Hood River, and vestryman St. Paul's Church, The Dalles, 1932-45.

Married March 22, 1919, in Portland, Anne Helen Johnson (B.A. Univ. Washington 1917), daughter of Gustave Charles and Hannah Marie (Hammergran) Johnson. Sons Ralph Blackhurst, Jr. (B A. Harvard 1942), and John Hammergran (Western Reserve Univ. 1941–42).

Death due to acute myocarditis Ashes scattered Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Elizabeth Bennett Cushing of New York City, and a brother, Leigh Smith Bennett of Hood River.

John Raymond Brandon, B.A. 1906.

Born January 23, 1884, in Ansonia, Conn. Died January 9, 1945, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Timothy Brandon, engineer Osborne & Cheesman Company, manufacturers of brass and brass goods, Derby, Conn; son of John and

Julia (Scanlon) Brandon of County Cork, Ireland. Mother, Mary Ann (Nolan) Brandon; daughter of Michael and Johanna (Herelehy) Nolan of Tipperary, Ireland.

Derby High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year. Attended Yale School of Medicine

1906–07.

Treasurer and business manager Knickerbocker Stock Company, theatrical producers, 1907-08; teacher of shorthand and English Spencer College, Jersey City, N.J., 1908-09; stenographer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1909-10; cost clerk, factory accountant, and systemizer Eaton, Crane & Pike Company, stationers, Pittsfield, Mass., 1910-11; assistant to the dean St. Louis University School of Medicine 1911–14 (M.A. St. Louis University 1912; member Phi Beta Pi); assistant to general superintendent Southern California Edison Company, Los Angeles, 1914-16, taught typing, stenography, and commercial law Sawyer School of Business, Los Angeles, 1916–18, associated with Los Angeles school system 1918–26 and 1928–45, teacher of public speaking Los Angeles High School 1918–21 and Lincoln High School 1921–24, instructor in English Hollywood High School 1924-26, George Washington High School 1928-31 and 1938-45, and John Marshall High School 1931-38 (substitute vice-principal 1932-33); on leave of absence 1926-28 and studied at Columbia University 1926-27; member English Graduate Union of Columbia University, Yale Club of Southern California, and Mother of Good Council Church (Catholic), Hollywood.

Married June 17, 1915, in Los Angeles, Georgia Cheesman, daughter of David Leavenworth and Mary W. (Cheesman) Durand No children

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Inglewood Park Cemetery, Inglewood, Calif. Survived by wife, five sisters, Mrs. Ann Reynolds, Mrs. Margaret Zipf, Mrs. George H. Johnson, Mrs. Allan MacAller, and Miss Catherine J. Brandon, and two brothers, M. L. and Tom Brandon.

Edgar Hart Guynn, B.A. 1906.

Born February 26, 1878, in Sacramento, Ky Died February 13, 1945, in Columbia, Tenn.

Father, John William Guynn, a carpenter in Sacramento; son of Richard and Eliza (Fisher) Guynn of Greenville, Ky. Mother, Lucretia Janie (McEuen) Guynn; daughter of Henry Clay and Elizabeth (Baker) McEuen of Sacramento.

Sacramento Academy; attended University of Kentucky about 1899–1900; B.A. National Normal University 1903, principal Webster (Fla) High School 1903–04; superintendent Patriot (Ind) High School 1904–05. Entered Yale College Senior year.

Engaged in social service work in New York City about 1906–09; graduate student in English and education Columbia University 1907–09 (M A. 1909), principal Ridgefield (N J.) High School 1906–18; teacher Columbus (Ohio) Academy 1918–19; owner and principal Guynn School of Concentration, Columbus, 1919–31; president Bethel College, McKenzie, Tenn, 1931–32; principal Graham School, Williamsport, Tenn., 1940–42, Highland Park School, Columbia, 1942–44, and Beechland School, Columbia, 1944–45, ordained in Cumberland Presbyterian Church, Columbia, April 16, 1927, minister Marietta Cumberland Presbyterian Church, Knoxville, Tenn, 1934–36, McCains Church and Glenwood Church, Columbia, and in Pulaski, Tenn., 1936–45; member Business Men's Pocket Testament League (Columbus) and Masonic order.

Married August 24, 1909, in Lebanon, Ohio, Edith Katherine, daughter

of Zephaniah and Sarah (Monfort) McCreary. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Columbia Survived by wife and two brothers, Joseph Guynn of Electra, Texas, and David Guynn of Evansville, Ind.

John Archibald Stevenson, B.A. 1906.

≥ Born March 23, 1884, in Chicago, Ill. Died February 8, 1945, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Robert Stevenson, president Robert Stevenson & Company, wholesale drugs and chemicals, Chicago; son of Charles and Sarah (Henderson) Stevenson of County Tyrone, Ireland Mother, Marianne Scott (Dill) Stevenson, daughter of James Reid and Marianne Scott (Sproul) Dill of County Tipperary, Ireland Yale relatives include three nephews: Robert Stevenson, 3d, '25, George S. Stevenson, '28, and Malcolm W. Stevenson, '28.

Chicago Latin School and University School, Chicago. University Football and Track teams Senior year; manager Apollo Glee Club Junior year and Yale Glee, Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year; vice-president Yale University Dramatic Association Junior year, president Senior year; Sophomore German Committee, floor manager Junior Promenade Committee; cup man, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Scroll and Key

Traveled around the world 1906-07; employed in Chicago 1907-45; bond salesman White, Weld & Company, bankers, 1910-12 and Moffat & White, bankers; joint manager with his brother Robert of Chicago office of Kissel, Kinnicutt & Company, bond dealers, 1912-17; associate John Burnham & Company, investment securities, 1919-20; an organizer and vice-president Stevenson Brothers & Perry [I. Newton, ex-'08 S], Inc, 1920-23 and of its successor Stevenson, Perry, Stacy & Company 1923-28;

partner Alfred L. Baker & Company, brokers, 1928–45; enlisted August 27, 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Sheridan, commissioned Captain, Infantry, November 27, 1917; assigned to 332d Machine Gun Battalion, 86th Division, Camp Grant, commanding officer Company D, 333d Machine Gun Battalion; overseas September 9, 1918–March 11, 1919; assistant adjutant, Headquarters Company, 4th Division, Army of Occupation; discharged March 18, 1919, member Presbyterian church

Married November 17, 1909, in Chicago, Phoebe, daughter of James

Herron and Fannie (Reed) Eckels. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and two brothers, Richard D. Stevenson, ex-'14, and Charles Stevenson of Miami, Fla. Another brother, Robert Stevenson, '00, died in 1938.

Benjamin Franklin Crenshaw, B.A. 1907.

Born July 12, 1882, in Helena, Iowa Died December 8, 1944, in Tama, Iowa.

Father, Josephus Avery Crenshaw, engaged in real-estate and insurance business in Tama; son of Benjamin Franklin and Harriett (Bond) Crenshaw of Tama Mother, Carrie Edna (Fife) Crenshaw, daughter of Don and Ann Jane (Toland) Fife of Tama.

Tama High School. B A Leander Clark College (now Coe College) 1906, M A. 1909. Entered Yale College Senior year, second dispute ap-

pointment, member Alpha Sigma Phi.

Teacher of history and science Marshalltown (Iowa) High School 1907–11 and Wichita (Kans.) High School 1911–14, taught history and political science Washington High School, Milwaukee, Wis., 1914–18, associated with Milwaukee School of Engineering 1918–22 (successively professor, principal Institute of Electrotechnics, director extension division, and director of educational relations); general agent Alexander Hamilton Institute, Toledo, Racine, Wis, and Chicago 1922–26, division manager Standard Extension University, Chicago, 1926–32, general agent Guaranty Life Insurance Company, Cedar Rapids and Sioux City, Iowa, 1932–36, manager Iowa, Illinois, and Wisconsin distributing office Dictograph Products Company, acoustical equipment, with headquarters in Cedar Rapids, and owner and manager Acousticon Institute, Cedar Rapids, 1936–42; owner Crenshaw Specialty Company, Cedar Rapids, 1942–44, member Wisconsin Teachers Association, American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Masonic order, and Tama Presbyterian Church

Married June 10, 1909, in Marion, Iowa, Anna Johanna, daughter of

August Henry and Bertha (Lange) Nehring No children

Death due to a heart ailment caused by kidney infection Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Tama. Survived by wife and mother

Henry Albert Foster, B.A. 1907.

Born January 14, 1874, in Maxwell, Tenn. Died August 7, 1944, in Maryville, Mo.

Father, Thomas Foster, Jr, a farmer in Maxwell; son of Thomas and Cynthia (Hawes) Foster of Maxwell Mother, Hattie Elizabeth (Alspaugh) Foster, daughter of Henry Penalton Smith and Elizabeth (West) Alspaugh of Garrard County, Ky.

Terrill College, Decherd, Tenn Shared third Benjamin F. Barge Mathematical Prize Freshman year; honors in English composition Sophomore year, first dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment

Senior year, member Pi Gamma Mu.

Tutor in Chicago, and Waco, Texas, 1907–08; manager McAlester (Okla) Construction Company 1908–10; teacher of history and mathematics The Terrill School, Dallas, 1910–12; assistant in history University High School of the University of Chicago 1912–13 and Lewis Institute, Chicago, 1913–14, head history department Northwest Missouri State Teachers College, Maryville, 1914–44 (chairman department of social science 1914–39, chairman of faculty and acting president 1926–27); attended University of Chicago 1912–14 (M.A. 1912) and Leland Stanford University 1928–29 (Ph D. 1929); author: "From Old Mesopotamia to the New British Mandate in Iraq" (1929) and The Making of Modern Iraq (1935), overseas with Y. M.C.A. 1918–19 (engaged in educational work at Orley Field, near Paris, and on history faculty A.E.F. University, Beaune, France); member Missouri State Teachers Association, American Association of University Professors, National Council for Social Studies, American Historical Association, and Baptist church, Maxwell.

Married September 8, 1908, in Asheville, N.C., Laura Clayton, daughter of James William Terrill (William Jewell Coll. ex-'60; M.A. Hon. Univ. Missouri 1872) and Elizabeth Martha (Bradley) Terrill, sister of Menter

B. Terrill, '03, and half sister of Joe C. Terrill, '11 S No children.

Death due to heart and respiratory failure. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Maryville Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs. Leonard H. Ruch of Huntsville, Ala, and Mrs. Jess Mason of Birmingham, Ala., and a brother, Walter Lee Foster (B A Univ. Chicago 1917) of Tulsa, Okla.

Lewis Edmund Sisson, B.A. 1907.

Born July 16, 1884, in New York City. Died August 28, 1944, in Greenwich, Conn.

Father, Henry Hoblitzell Sisson, DDS, a dentist in New York City; son of Lewis Edmund and Martha (Hoblitzell) Sisson of Marietta, Ohio.

Mother, Eleanor (McCulla) Sisson; daughter of Charles and Eliza Jane (Cavan) McCulla of Jersey City, N.J.

Morris High School, New York City. University Track Team Sophomore and Junior years (placed third in high jump Yale-Harvard dual meet

1906); member Zeta Psi.

Attended New York Law School 1907-09; admitted to New York bar 1909 and Connecticut bar 1927; lawyer in New York City and Connecticut since 1909; with Ellison, MacIntyre & Davis 1907-09 and 1910-12, associated with Robert R Howard, '98 S, 1909-10; member Tulin [Abraham, '03], Dunham [Lawrence B., '04 S.] & Sisson 1914-16 and Sisson & Beale 1916-20; had also been associated with Momand & Company, Inc., construction financing and permanent mortgage loans; secretary Legal Advisory Board, Borough of the Bronx, 1917-19, commissioner of Workmen's Compensation for Fairfield County, Conn, 1943-44; on Greenwich Board of Education 1934-39; prosecutor Town of Greenwich 1937-39, judge of town court 1939-43; First Lieutenant New York State Guard, author On the Five-Fifteen (1933), Motes and Beams (1934), Chaff and Wheat (1936), and Way Stations (1940); member New York Athletic Club Track Team 1907-09 and Sons of the American Revolution.

Married May 8, 1915, in Brooklyn, Helene Amelia Behrens (Smith Coll. ex-'15), daughter of Carl and Louise (Meier) Behrens. Children Lewis Edmund, Jr. (died October 29, 1918), Bruce Carleton (B.A. Hamilton Coll. 1940; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1942), and Richard Pendleton (Pratt

Inst. 1940-42).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Old Greenwich Cemetery. Survived by wife and two sons.

Donald McLean Somers, B.A. 1907.

Born June 3, 1884, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died December 16, 1944, in Richmond Hill, N.Y.

Father, Daniel McLean Somers of Brooklyn; member Somers Bros., tin plate and decorated tinware; park commissioner; a director Brooklyn Public Library. Mother, Hannah (Aldrich) Somers

Polytechnic Preparatory School and Boys' High School, Brooklyn. Third Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; University Wrestling Team Junior and Senior years (winner intercollege light heavyweight championship 1905 and interclass heavyweight championship Junior year); vice-president Yale Union Junior year; member Yale Debating Association.

Attended New York Law School 1907-09 (LL B. 1909); admitted to the bar 1909, lawyer in New York City 1909 until retirement 1933 (junior member Black, Varian, Bigelow & Somers 1909-16); a director and treas-

urer Pneumatic Cushion Manufacturing Company, Airian Products Corporation, and Air Cushion Company, all of New Jersey; member Masonic order and Central Congregational Church, Brooklyn.

Married November 15, 1916, in Brooklyn, Teri, daughter of Aureus and Rosalie (Sommers) Dehler Children: Teri, the wife of Roland A Bosée,

and Donald McLean, Jr., ex-'43.

Death due to acute myocarditis. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, children, and a granddaughter.

John Adolf Vietor, B.A. 1907.

Born April 1, 1884, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died October 31, 1944, in New York City.

Father, George Frederick Vietor, partner Frederick Vietor & Achelis, textile factors, New York City, son of Frederick and Anna (Hutterot) Vietor of Bremen, Germany, and New York City. Mother, Annie Marie (Achelis) Vietor, daughter of Thomas and Julie (Hutterot) Achelis of Brooklyn Yale relatives include. Thomas Achelis, '08, Johnfritz Achelis, '13, and George T. Achelis, '19 (cousins); and Alexander O Vietor, '36 (nephew).

Cutler School, New York City, and private tutor. Manager Freshman Glee Club, Class hockey team Sophomore and Junior years; chairman

triennial committee, member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Elihu.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1907–11 (MD 1911), interne New York Hospital 1911–13, physician and surgeon in New York City 1913 until retirement 1940; surgical consultant Oyster Bay, NY, 1940–44; instructor in surgery College of Physicians and Surgeons 1914–21, assistant professor of clinical surgery Cornell University Medical College 1932–40, assistant attending surgeon New York Hospital 1913–16 and associate attending surgeon 1916–40, fellow American College of Surgeons, member Squadron A, New York National Guard, New York Academy of Medicine, Medical Society of the State of New York, and American Medical Association; attended Episcopal church.

Married (1) June 28, 1913, in Le Roy, NY., Eleanore Emily, daughter of Orator Francis and Cora (Talmadge) Woodward. Children: John Adolf, Jr, ex-'37, and Eleanore Talmadge, the wife of Edward N. Townsend, Jr, ex-'36. Dr and Mrs Vietor were divorced in 1936. Married (2) March 14, 1936, in New York City, Ruth, daughter of Farley Justin and Alice Carey (Burpee) Withington

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, a sister, Julie Marie Vietor Davis, the wife of John Lionberger Davis (B A. Princeton 1900) of St. Louis, and a brother, George F. Vietor, ex-'04. Another brother, Carl L Vietor, '00 S, died in 1935.

Benjamin Webster, B.A. 1907.

Born November 17, 1884, in Waterbury, Conn Died December 2, 1944, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Daniel Frederick Webster (B.A. Dartmouth Coll. 1874), a lawyer in Waterbury; mayor of Waterbury 1892–93, represented fifth senatorial district in Connecticut General Assembly 1895–96, son of Frederick Buel and Cornelia Clarissa (Barbour) Webster of Litchfield and Harwinton, Conn. Mother, Elizabeth Rogers (Fox) Webster, daughter of John Bradford and Hannah H. (Hall) Fox of Plymouth, Conn

Waterbury High School. Honors in studies of Freshman year, second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year

Secretary to George L. Lilley, representative from Connecticut in 60th United States Congress, 1907–08; vice-principal and teacher of science Nyack (NY.) High School 1908-09, teacher of science The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa., 1909–10 and Cascadilla School, Ithaca, NY., 1910–11; studied technology Cornell University summer 1910 and University of Michigan summer 1911; graduate student in engineering George Washington University 1912–13; attended Georgetown University School of Law 1913-14 (M.P.L. 1914); editorial assistant US Bureau of Mines, Washington, 1911-13, assistant examiner U.S. Patent Office 1913-19, manager in New York City for Fetherstonhaugh & Company, international patent attorneys, 1919–20; patent counsel Grape-Ola Company, beverages, New York City, 1920, president Sterling Watch Company, Inc., New York City, 1921-26, Radio Electric Clock Company 1927-28, and Sterling Stop-Watch Company, Inc, 1927-31; president and patent attorney Inventions Exploitation Corporation, New York City, 1930-39; associated with Pine Grove Cemetery Association, Waterbury, 1939; patent lawyer in Brooklyn 1940-42, precision inspector Crucible Steel Company of America, New York City, 1942; associate inspector New York Ordnance District, US War Department, 1942-44, member Yale Engineering Association, American Chemical Society, Society of Mayflower Descendants, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Waterbury.

Married January 28, 1921, in New York City, Jane Stevenson, daughter of Edward and Ida Virginia (Stevenson) Hammond No children. Mr. and Mrs. Webster were divorced

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Thomaston, Conn. Survived by a brother, Bradford Webster, '03

Everett Lee Baker, B.A. 1908.

Born April 25, 1886, in Union Hill, N.Y. Died August 28, 1944, in Webster, N.Y.

Father, Charles J. Baker, a farmer in Webster; son of Karl and Maria (Wiedmann) Baker of Union Hill. Mother, Emma Spilman (Martin) Baker, daughter of Andrew and Elizabeth (Spilman) Martin of Webster Yale relatives include. Henry A Baker, '95, and George P. Baker, '99 (uncles), Clarence W. Hockenberger, '07 S. (cousin); and Mark B. Baker, '45 D (nephew).

Webster High School. Oration appointment and honors in studies of

Junior year, oration appointment Senior year.

Employed in Webster 1908-44, yard man A. N. Martin & Brother, lumber, 1908-18, contractor and independent dealer in building materials 1918–44, president Webster High School Board of Education 1917–20 and New York Conference Brotherhood 1939-41 and 1944; member Rochester (NY) Chamber of Commerce and Northeastern Retail Lumber Dealers Association; trustee Evangelical Church, Webster.

Married November 16, 1914, in Webster, Ida Anna, daughter of John and Anna (Huber) Miller Children Robert Miller Baker, A.U.S.;

Marion Louise; James Henry Baker, A A F; and John Everett.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Webster Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, four sisters, Mrs Frank Hilfiker, Miss Viola Baker, and Mrs Louis Weisenreder, all of Webster, and Miss Nina Baker of Port Chester, NY, and three brothers, Edwin R. Baker of Bergen, NY, Barton Baker (LLB Cornell Univ 1922) of Rochester, and Orin M Baker, '13 S

Robert Bruner Umberger, B.A. 1908.

Born June 12, 1886, in Newark, Del. Died May 13, 1945, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Rev. James Buchanan Umberger, D.D. (B.A. Ursinus Coll. 1879; grad. Auburn Theological Seminary 1882), a Presbyterian minister in Pennsylvania and New York, son of John P. and Catherine (Schaeffer) Umberger of Lebanon, Pa Mother, Ella Gertrude (Bruner) Umberger; daughter of Charles Gregor, Jr, and Mary (Barclay) Gregor of Norristown, Pa., adopted daughter of Frederick W. Bruner.

Blair Academy, Blairstown, N.J Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Yale Gymnastic Team Freshman year; physical director United Workers Boys Club, New Haven, Senior year; member Delta

Kappa Epsilon.

Director physical education Yankton College 1908–09; associated with W. C. Pickering Company, financial advertising agency, Denver, 1909–10; in charge savings department Iowa National Bank, Des Moines, 1910–16; secretary and manager Des Moines Morris Plan Bank 1916–17; secretary and credit manager Chicago Morris Plan Bank (later Personal Loan & Savings Bank and Industrial National Bank of Chicago) 1917–18, secretary and general manager 1918–20, vice-president and manager 1920–39, and executive vice-president 1939–45; vice-president Morris Plan Bankers Association 1920–21 and secretary-treasurer 1922–28 (chairman committee on uniform advertising 1924; member board of governors 1927); author of several articles on the Morris Plan, became editor Morris Plan Banker in 1921; a director Chicago Better Business Bureau and First Federal Savings & Loan Association of Chicago; superintendent Des Moines Boys Club 1912–14; member American Bankers Association and Presbyterian church, Chicago.

Married (1) January 15, 1910, in Denver, Cherrie, daughter of Robert Tecumseh and Fanita Menlo (Watkins) Royal Daughter Betty Letitia, the wife of Ormond Bunch Ruthven Mr and Mrs Umberger were divorced in 1918. Married (2) May 29, 1924, in Chicago, Mrs Elizabeth Wood Akers. Mr. and Mrs Umberger were divorced in 1940.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Montgomery Cemetery, Norristown. Survived by daughter, two grandsons, and a brother, James Buchanan Umberger of Scranton, Pa.

Charles Law Watkins, B.A. 1908.

Born February 11, 1886, in Peckville, Pa Died March 2, 1945, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Thomas Hamer Watkins, president Pennsylvania Coal & Coke Company, Scranton and New York City; son of Israel Watkins of Pittston, Pa. Mother, Elizabeth Cornelia (Law) Watkins, daughter of Charles Law Yale relatives include Frank E Law, '06 S (cousin); and Charles Seymour, Jr, '35 (nephew).

Private tutor and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; leader Freshman Banjo and Mandolin Club; Apollo Banjo Club Sophomore year, on Dwight Hall executive committee Sophomore year, an editor Yale Record and chairman Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Class historian; Senior Promenade Committee; member Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta.

Timekeeper and paymaster Stone Canon Pacific Railroad Company, San Francisco, 1908-09; with his classmate, James M Townsend, organized

Watkins Coal Company, Cambria County, Pa, and New York City, 1910 and president 1910–21; first vice-president Pennsylvania Coal & Coke Corporation, Cresson, 1921-29; organizer Phillips Gallery Art School, Washington, 1929 and director 1929–45; associate director of educational activities and annual lecturer on the background and theory of modern art Phillips Memorial Gallery 1929-45, adjunct professor of social art School of Public Affairs and Graduate School in the Social Sciences, American University, 1943-45, lecturer and consultant in fine arts Hood College 1937-45; Trowbridge Memorial lecturer Yale University 1932-33; regional adviser Works Progress Administration art projects in Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia, organizer of the exhibit "The Language of Design," Contemporary Arts Building, New York World's Fair, 1940, with American Field Service (Section 8) in France July, 1916-January, 1917; attached to 16th Division, French Army, and served in sectors east of Verdun, at Pont-à-Mousson, and on the Somme; returned to the United States February, 1917, re-enlisted American Field Service September 14, 1917, on arrival in France volunteered for French Artillery; attended École d'Artillerie at Fontainebleau and made Aspirant February, 1918; attached to 36th French Division and took part in action at Méry on the Oise and in the Chemin des Dames sector, awarded Croix de Guerre November, 1918; received special citation for bravery under fire; discharged February 4, 1919; member Society of Washington Artists (awarded the bronze medal for portraits 1937).

Married (1) February 22, 1919, in Paris, Marie Mathilde, daughter of Auguste and Lucie Justine Bader. Children: Thomas Hamer, 2d, '42; Gladys Marie (B A Smith Coll 1943); Ann (B.A. Radcliffe Coll. 1943); and Elizabeth Law (B A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1944). Mr. and Mrs Watkins were divorced in 1941. Married (2) June 23, 1942, in New York City, Mary Parrish, daughter of Joseph Haversham and Anna (Conyngham)

Bradley Son Law Bradley.

Death due to chronic glomerulonephritis. Buried in Greenwood Union Cemetery, Rye, NY Survived by wife, children, father, and a sister, Gladys W. Seymour, the wife of Charles Seymour, '08, President of Yale University.

Raymond Marcy Burnham, B.A. 1909.

Born May 22, 1887, in Hartford, Conn. Died December 8, 1944, in Sturbridge, Mass.

Father, Ellery Danforth Burnham, member Marcy Brothers, shoe manufacturers, Hartford Mother, Rinda (Marcy) Burnham; daughter of Merrick and Rinda (Moore) Marcy of Union, Conn. Yale relatives include a cousin, George M Baker, 'oo.

Hartford Public High School. College Choir Junior and Senior years; member Zeta Psi

Manager E. M. Phillips & Son, general insurance and real estate, Southbridge, Mass, 1909–13 and owner 1913–44; trustee Southbridge Savings Bank 1917–44 (member board of investments 1928–44, vice-president 1940–44); chairman Sturbridge Finance Committee, on Board of Water Commissioners; chairman Southbridge Board of Selectmen, trustee Southbridge Y.M C.A. 1925–44 (treasurer of the board 1927–44), on Thirty-year Class reunion committee; member Masonic order and South Congregational Church, Hartford

Married October 28, 1911, in Hartford, Marjorie Ludington, daughter of Charles Edward and Alice (Huntington) Newton Children Jane Newton, the wife of Jerrold Walter Curry (B.A. Univ. Michigan 1931),

and John Newton (Babson Inst. 1939–40)

Death due to uremia. Buried in Oak Ridge Cemetery, Southbridge Survived by wife, children, a granddaughter, and a sister, Miss Louise Burnham of Southbridge.

Charles Hollister Davis, B.A. 1909.

Born November 5, 1886, in Manchester, Conn. Died May 22, 1945, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Loren Davis, a machinist with Cheney Brothers, silk manufacturers, Manchester. Mother, Fannie Eva (Hollister) Davis

South Manchester High School First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; University Track Team Sophomore and Junior years, member Beta Theta Pi Studied geology Yale Graduate School 1909–10

Teacher and vice-principal Manzanita Hall, Palo Alto, Calif., and studied geology Leland Stanford University 1911–12 (M A 1912), assisted Professor James Perrin Smith in a study of the paleontology of the region south of Mt. Shasta 1912; associated with American Brass Company, Waterbury, Conn., 1912–45 (successively metallographist, head of chemical and metallurgical laboratory, and assistant technical manager), member American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers and Masonic order; clerk and deacon Congregational church, Cheshire, Conn

Married October 1, 1913, in Salisbury, Conn, Miriam Warren Goddard (Simmons Coll ex-'09), daughter of John Calvin Goddard, '73 (page 6), and Harriet Warren (Allen) Goddard and sister of Charles Allen Goddard, '10 Children: Rose Goddard (B A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1936, M S S Smith Coll 1938), the wife of J. Rutledge Clark, '32 S.; Donald Hollister, '37 S.; and Ruth Alden (Maryland Coll for Women ex-'47), the wife of Gordon Paul Tapley (M E. Swarthmore Coll. 1939)

Death due to uremia. Ashes interred in Salisbury. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren.

Ralph Emerson Myers, B.A. 1909.

Born January 28, 1888, in Buskirk Bridge, N.Y. Died March 14, 1945, in Oklahoma City, Okla.

Father, Adam Young Myers (MD Union Univ. [N.Y.] 1882), a physician in Buskirk Bridge; son of John Adam and Emily (Young) Myers of Schoharie County, N.Y. Mother, Mary Evelyn (Defandorf) Myers, daughter of Levi M. and Lucinda (Sexton) Defandorf of Hyndsville, NY

Hoosick Falls (NY.) High School; attended Wesleyan University 1905–07 (member Alpha Sigma Phi) Entered Yale College Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; member Sigma X1 and Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale Graduate School 1909–10 (M.A. 1910).

Chief chemist Battle Creek (Mich.) Sanitarium 1910–11; teaching fellow and graduate student in physiology at Harvard 1911–12; instructor in physiological chemistry and experimental pharmacology Albany Medical College 1912-13 and lecturer in pharmacology 1913-14; attended Cornell University Medical College 1914–18 (M.D. 1918); interne Memorial Hospital, New York City, 1917–18; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, July 8, 1918, detailed for instruction in chemistry and bacteriology Rockefeller Institute, New York City, August-September, 1918, assigned to laboratory Base Hospital, Camp Lee, October-November, 1918, transferred to laboratory US General Hospital No. 24, Pittsburgh, November 27, 1918, discharged July 15, 1919; professor of pharmacology University of Maryland School of Medicine 1919-20; professor of chemistry and pharmacology George Washington University School of Medicine 1920–22; radiologist and director of laboratories St. Anthony Hospital, Oklahoma City, 1922-29; physician in Oklahoma City, specializing in X-ray and radium therapy, 1929-45; diploma American Board of Radiology 1934; secretary section on radiology Southern Medical Association 1937–39, chairman 1939–40, fellow American Medical Association, American College of Radiology, and American Radium Society; member Radiological Society of North America, American Chemical Society, American Society of Clinical Pathologists, and American Association for the Study of Neoplastic Diseases.

Married June 20, 1919, in Cincinnati, Lucy Agnes Reinecke (Univ. Cincinnati ex-'17), daughter of William and Alwine (Marckworth) Reinecke No children.

Death due to cerebro-spinal meningitis. Survived by wife and a brother, Victor C. Myers (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1905, Ph.D. Yale 1909).

Frederick Augustus Hotchkiss, B.A. 1910.

Born May 10, 1888, in Millerton, N.Y. Died January 2, 1945, in Sharon, Conn.

Father, Frank Augustus Hotchkiss, a banker in Millerton; son of Frederick Abijah and Caroline (Parsons) Hotchkiss of Sharon Mother, Frances Huntington (Gillette) Hotchkiss; daughter of Edward Franklin and Elizabeth Marvin (Reed) Gillette of Sharon. Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward G. Hotchkiss, Jr., '39.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. College Choir and Yale University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; chairman Class Supper Committee; member Whiffenpoofs, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Chief clerk to purchasing agent Charlotte Harbor & Northern Railway Company, Bocagrande, Fla., 1910-11; manager Nizina (Alaska) Mines Company 1912-18 and 1919-22; associated with Chevrolet Agency, Yonkers, N.Y., 1923-24 and McNab Rudder Company, Bridgeport, Conn., 1925; secretary and treasurer Boyham Operating Corporation, manufacturers of coin-vending machines, Tuckahoe, NY, 1926-29, salesman Pease & Elliman, real estate, New York City, 1929-36; teller Millerton National Bank 1937-41; associated with Community Service, Inc., building supplies, hardware, coal, fuel oil, and paints, Lakeville, 1941-44; member Millerton Board of Education, on executive committee Class of 1910 from 1930 to 1935; enlisted as private U.S. Marine Corps, March 19, 1918; with 19th Company, Parris Island, assigned to Marine Detachment, U.S. Naval Heado arters, London, June 20, 1918-March 28, 1919; with 201st Casual Company, Quantico, April 17-June 21, 1919, discharged June 21, 1919; member American Legion, Masonic order, and Millerton Presbyterian Church.

Unmarried.

Death due to a lung infection Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Sharon Survived by two sisters, Mrs. Dorothy H Dornbusch of Millerton and Mrs. Hamlin Foster Andrus of Yonkers, and four brothers, Asahel Augustus Hotchkiss of Lakeville, Reed Huntington Hotchkiss of Fowlerville, Mich, Andrew Dwight Hotchkiss of Detroit, and Edward G Hotchkiss, '11. Another brother, Benjamin B Hotchkiss, ex-'15, died in 1931.

Frank Williams Jones, B.A. 1910.

Born April 9, 1888, in New York City Died October 17, 1944, in New Hartford, Conn.

Father, Frank Williams Jones, managing director in London for United Telephone Company of the River Plate, Ltd, Buenos Aires; son of Henry

and Aurelia (Williams) Jones of New Hartford. Mother, Jeannie (Humphrey) Jones, daughter of James Morgan and Adeline (Bowen) Humphrey of Buffalo. Yale relatives include a cousin, Charles C. Jones, '09.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club.

Attended Harvard Law School 1910–11 and Yale School of Law 1911–13 (LL B 1913), admitted to the bar 1913; lawyer in New Hartford 1913–44 and also engaged in farming and in the hardware and garage business, justice of the peace 1915–24, grand juror 1921, selectman 1939–41, and on zoning board 1941–44, served in Medical Corps during World War I, overseas November, 1918–July, 1919, member American Legion and Masonic order

Married October 17, 1914, in Brooklyn, Evelyn Frances Thompson (B A Smith Coll. 1914), daughter of Henry Francis and Annie Truslow (Ruland) Thompson, and sister of Ruland Thompson, 20, and Elmer G Thompson, 29 Children. Doris Elaine (Smith Coll. ex-'40), the wife of Henry Aranow, Jr (B A Harvard 1935; M D. Columbia Univ 1938, Med Sc D 1944), and Frank Williams, 3d (B.S United States Military Academy 1943)

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Ashes interred at "Woodlands," his estate in New Hartford Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Moira Vail Jones, the wife of Edward Condé Jones (Leland Stanford Junior Univ. ex-'96) of Pasadena, Calif.

William Preston White, B.A. 1910.

Born October 1, 1887, in St. Paul, Minn. Died January 11, 1945, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, William Gardner White (LL.B. Harvard 1875), a lawyer in St Paul, son of William and Amanda (Preston) White (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-1849) of South Hadley, Mass Mother, Carolyn Elizabeth (Hall) White, daughter of Ebenezer and Carolyn (Dart) Hall of Chicopee, Mass. Yale relatives include a nephew, W. Gardner White, '42.

Mechanic Arts High School, St Paul, St Paul Academy, and Phillips-Andover Class baseball team Freshman year; assistant manager Yale Football Association Junior year, president and manager Senior year; cup man, member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Salesman St Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company 1910–12; with White, Weld & Company, investments, New York City and Cleveland, 1912–13, associated with his brother in White, Grubbs & Company, investments, St Paul, 1913–14; city salesman for Northwestern Fuel Company, coal merchants, Duluth, Minn, 1914–17; associated with A B.

Leach & Company, investment securities, Duluth and Minneapolis, 1919-22; manager Minneapolis office Blair & Company of New York City 1922-27; with Farnum [Henry W, '94 S.] & Winter [Wallace C, '93 S.], brokers, Minneapolis, 1928-31, manager securities department Minneapolis Gas Light Company 1931-37; with A. O. Slaughter & Company, brokers, 1937-38, solicitor Harris, Upham & Company, Minneapolis, 1938-39, manager Minneapolis office Mankato Brewing Company 1939-44, secretary-treasurer Yale Alumni Association of the Northwest 1921-25, enlisted in National Army August 27, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Snelling; commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry, November 25, 1917; assigned to 337th Infantry, 85th Division, Camp Custer, overseas June, 1918-April, 1919; transferred to Company H, 47th Infantry, 4th Division, stationed in Germany with Army of Occupation, discharged April 15, 1919; member American Legion (commander Gopher Post 1942) and Cathedral Church of St. Mark (Episcopal), Minneapolis

Married August 25, 1920, in Duluth, Elizabeth Stevens, daughter of Rollin Albert and Clarissa (Stevens) Horr Children William Preston, Jr. (Univ. Minnesota 1940-42), and Mary Elizabeth, the wife of John

Hughes Griffith (B B.A. Univ Minnesota 1942)

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in Roselawn Cemetery, St. Paul. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Payson Gilbert (died April 7, 1945), and a brother, Edwin White, '06.

Wayland Wells Williams, B.A. 1910.

Born August 16, 1888, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 6, 1945, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Frederick Wells Williams, '79 Mother, Frances Hapgood (Wayland) Williams. Yale relatives include: Aaron Arms (B A. 1813) (great-grandfather); and Francis Wayland (M A Hon 1881) (great-uncle).

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, and Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn Honors in studies of Freshman and Junior years, honors in English composition Junior year, philosophical oration appointment Senior year; vice-president Cercle Français Senior year, on Class Book committee, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, The Pundits, Psi Upsilon, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa

Studied history and German at University of Munich 1910–11; reporter for New York Evening Post 1911–13; engaged in literary work in New Haven 1913–28; author: The Whirligig of Time (1916), Goshen Street (1920), Family (1923), I, the King (1924), and The Seafarers and Other Poems (1924), editor. Castle in Spain, by Walter Brooks Drayton Henderson (1942); contributed to Atlantic Monthly, Century Magazine, The

Bookman, and Saturday Review of Literature; studied art in New York City under Irene Weir (BFA. 1906) 1929-30 and attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1930-35; exhibited his work in New Haven, Lime Rock, Hartford, and New London, Conn, and Stockbridge, Mass.; assistant State director of art projects for Works Progress Administration 1934-35 and State director 1935-41; civilian aeronautical mechanical engineer, Aviation Section, Signal Corps, Washington, August-October, 1917, enlisted as private, Air Service, Washington, October 5, 1917; attended Royal Air Force School of Military Aeronautics, Toronto, Canada, October-November, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant November 23, 1917; stationed Ground Schools Section, Air Service, Washington, November, 1917-July, 1918; overseas July-November, 1918; discharged December 14, 1918; director New Haven Colony Historical Society and Elizabethan Club, on advisory board Yale Dramatic Association 1941 and organizing committee Friends of Music at Yale 1941; member Municipal Art Commission of New Haven (secretary 1938-45), Connecticut Academy of Fine Arts, New Haven Paint and Clay Club, Graduate Club Association, and St John's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by mother, a sister, Elizabeth Williams Garstin (B.F. A. 1925), the wife of Dalton Valdemar Garstin, '17, and a niece, Cynthia Garstin.

Ruthven Adriance Wodell, B.A. 1910.

Born January 2, 1888, in Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Died January 27, 1945, in Millburn, N.J.

Father, Silas Wodell, a lawyer in New York City; son of Silas Wodell (BA 1849) and Anna (Hall) Wodell of Poughkeepsie. Mother, Marion Ruthven (Adriance) Wodell; daughter of John Peter and Mary Jane Ruthven (Platt) Adriance of Poughkeepsie. Yale relatives include a cousin, John P Adriance, '13 S

Browning School, New York City, and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Second dispute appointment Junior year, Freshman Crew; University Four-Oar Crew Sophomore year; University Crew Junior and Senior years (captain Senior year), member University Gun Club, University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Attended Harvard Law School 1910–13 (LL B. 1913); admitted to the bar 1913; lawyer in New York City 1913–34; associated with Hawkins, Delafield & Longfellow 1913–14, Baldwin, Fisher & Potter 1914–17, and Reynolds, Richards & McCutcheon 1917–22; practiced independently 1922 until retirement in 1934 because of ill-health; as landscape archi-

tects, he and Mrs. Wodell planned many gardens in various states, particularly in Pennsylvania, New York, New Jersey, and Connecticut; enlisted as yeoman (1st class), U.S Naval Reserve, July 12, 1918, legal adviser Naval Intelligence Office, Washington, July-December, 1918; promoted chief yeoman September 1, 1918; placed on inactive duty December 5, 1918; member Colonial Order of the Acorn, Society of the Sons of the Revolution, and Hill School Chapel, Pottstown.

Married June 11, 1914, in Summit, NJ, Helen Cecil, daughter of Parker Webster and Nellie Augusta (Hayes) Page. Children. Lois Page, the wife of Parker Vesie Lawrence, 2d (Haverford Coll. ex-'32), and Lieut. (jg) Webster Page Wodell, USN.R., ex-'44.

Death due to cardiac insufficiency. Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Chatham, N.J. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and a sister, Miss Katharine Wodell of Millbrook, N.Y.

John Glenny Howard, B.A. 1912.

Born December 9, 1888, in Buffalo, NY. Died April 28, 1945, in Cambridge, Mass.

Father, Clarence Orville Howard (grad. U S Military Academy 1868), associated with Clawson & Wilson, dry goods, Buffalo. Mother, Lucretia Stanley (Barnes) Howard.

St. Luke's School, Wayne, Pa, and Phillips-Andover. Second dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; honors in studies of the Junior year; University Soccer Team Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Employed in banking, investment, or bond business, Boston, 1912–17 and 1918–45; salesman Bond & Goodwin 1912–17; bond salesman Estabrook & Company 1918–22; assistant manager First National Corporation, 1922–24; member Eaton & Howard, Boston and San Francisco, 1924–45 (vice-president 1932–45); on executive committee Yale Club of Boston 1932–33 and nominating committee 1937–38 (chairman 1938–39); a director New England Hospital for Women and Children, Boston, special representative Office of Naval Intelligence, Washington, 1917–18; member St. Mary's Church (Episcopal), Barnstable, Mass

Married May 8, 1915, in Boston, Ruth, daughter of George Minot Garland (B.A. Harvard 1871, M.D. 1874) and Charlotte Smith (Donald) Garland. Son: John Glenny, Jr.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Barnstable Survived by wife, son, a sister, Miss Lucia S. Howard of Boston, and a brother, Rear Admiral Herbert Seymour Howard, U.S.N. (U.S. Naval Academy 1900–04; Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1906–09; U.S. Naval War Coll. 1927–28), of Washington.

Joseph Leo McEvitt, B.A. 1912.

Born March 19, 1889, in South Manchester, Conn. Died August 16, 1944, in Akron, Ohio.

Father, Joseph John McEvitt, a weaver with Cheney Brothers, silk mills, Manchester, Conn.; son of Felix and Mary (McConville) McEvitt of County Armagh, Ireland Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Murphy) McEvitt; daughter of John Denis and Ann (Sullivan) Murphy of Parishville, N.Y.

South Manchester High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1912–14 (M.D. 1914, member Phi Rho Sigma and Skull and

Sceptre).

Interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1914-16; resident surgeon Manhattan Maternity Hospital 1916-17, physician in Akron, specializing in obstetrics, 1919-44; attending obstetrician and chief of obstetrical clinic City Hospital 1919-30; assistant surgeon, chief of obstetrical division, and chief of staff St Thomas Hospital 1944; attending surgeon Peoples' and Children's hospitals, certificate in surgery University of Pennsylvania 1928, M.Sc. (Med) 1930; assistant in surgical clinic, Masaryk University, Brno, Czechoslovakia, for several months during 1932, 1933, 1936, and 1937; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, November 15, 1917; overseas February 9-November 25, 1918; service at U.S. Base Hospital No. 1 (Bellevue Unit), Evacuation hospitals No. 106 and No 111, and French Evacuation Hospital No. 4; discharged June 9, 1919; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Summit County (Ohio) 1935-37, president 1937-41; member Medical Society of the State of New York, Ohio State and American Medical associations, and Church of the Annunciation (Catholic), Akron.

Married November 21, 1917, in Akron, Olive Hedenberg (Wheaton Coll ex-'12), daughter of John Edgar and Helen (Thompson) Hedenberg Son Joseph Lawrence, '44 (degree awarded October 25, 1943).

Death due to coronary heart disease Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs Alice McEvitt Jennings of Hartford, Conn, and two brothers, Felix Jeremiah McEvitt (B.S. Trinity Coll [Conn.] 1916) of Manchester, and John McEvitt of Miami.

Charles Whitney Page, Jr., B.A. 1912.

Born January 27, 1890, in Danvers, Mass. Died September 14, 1944, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Charles Whitney Page (Dartmouth Coll. Medical School 1867-68, M D Harvard 1870), superintendent Danvers State Hospital; former

president New England Society of Psychiatry; son of Josiah and Lucinda (Whitney) Page of Westminster, Mass Mother, Caroline Lyman (Collins) Page; daughter of Erastus and Mary Sarah (Atwood) Collins of Hartford. Yale relatives include: John M Atwood (BA 1814)(great-grandfather); Charles Atwood (B.A. 1821)(great-great-uncle), Atwood Collins, '73, and Daniel R. Howe, '74 (uncles); and Edmund G. Howe, '06 (cousin).

Salem (Mass) High School and Hartford Public High School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; member Zeta Psi

Successively clerk, assistant examiner, and examiner Phoenix Fire Insurance Company, Hartford, 1912-17; special agent for western New England for Connecticut Fire Insurance Company, Hartford, 1917 and 1919-29; broker in Hartford 1929-42; sales manager Thomson, Fenn & Company (later Stevenson, Gregory & Company) 1929-30 and partner 1930-38; with Eddy Brothers & Company 1938-39; manager Hartford branch Goodbody & Company 1939-42; in purchasing department Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Division of United Aircraft Corporation 1942; because of ill-health unoccupied 1943 until March 1, 1944; in safe deposit department Hartford National Bank & Trust Company 1944; enlisted Troop B, Connecticut Cavalry, June 5, 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, August-November, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, November 27, 1917, with 304th Field Artillery, 77th Division, Camp Upton, and overseas April 24, 1918-April 29, 1919, saw action in Baccarat sector; on detached service, Balloon Section, Air Service, July 2-November 23, 1918; discharged May 10, 1919; diploma Insurance Institute of America 1916, vice-president fire branch, Insurance Institute of Hartford, 1916–17; secretary-treasurer Connecticut Investment Bankers Association 1931-32, president 1933-34; active member New England Insurance Exchange 1919-29, honorary member 1929-44; trustee Kingswood School, West Hartford, 1939-41; president Connecticut Field Club (Special Agents Association of Connecticut) 1925-27, treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Hartford 1931-42; member 304th Field Artillery Post (New York) and Military Order of Foreign Wars; deacon Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Married November 1, 1919, in New York City, Isabelle Alexander Murtland (B A. Barnard Coll. 1918), daughter of Samuel Murtland (M D. Columbia Univ. 1883) and Anna (Alexander) Murtland. Children Samuel Murtland (B.A. Wesleyan 1944 [degree awarded October, 1943]), Ruth Whitney (B A. Vassar Coll. 1943); Anne Alexander (died January 2, 1926); Charles Whitney, 3d (Class of 1949); and Lyman Alexander.

Death due to lymphatic leukemia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, one daughter, three sons, a brother, Atwood Collins Page (Massachusetts Inst. Technology ex-'10) of Hartford, and a half brother, Parkhurst Page of Shrewsbury, Mass.

Carlton Mortimer Reynolds, B.A. 1912.

Born November 18, 1891, in Danbury, Conn. Died June 11, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Mortimer Percy Reynolds, founder M P. Reynolds Company, house furnishings, Danbury; son of Gilbert M. and Mary Gooding (Cady) Reynolds of Ridgebury, Conn Mother, Nellie (Keeler) Reynolds; daughter of John Platt and Eliza Ann (Mead) Keeler of Ridgebury. Yale relatives include a nephew, Harold C. Reynolds, Jr., '35 S.

Danbury High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years;

member Beta Theta P1.

Employed in New York City 1912–45, member Far East training class Standard Oil Company 1912; in traffic department Munson Steamship Lines, Inc., 1912–31; traffic agent and personnel manager Seatrain Lines, Inc., carrying freight between New York and Havana, 1932–42; cargo clearance manager New York office War Shipping Administration 1942–45, a director M P. Reynolds Company 1927–42 (vice-president 1938–42), commissioned Second Lieutenant, Transportation Corps, March 1, 1918; overseas March 14, 1918–July 13, 1919, served with Tonnage Division in France at Services of Supply Headquarters, Tours, and General Headquarters, Chaumont, with Army Transport Service at La Pallice; discharged July 13, 1919, member First Congregational Church, Danbury.

Married March 3, 1918, in Danbury, Frances Reeves, daughter of Alfred Barrett and Edith (Taylor) Collings Sons: Richard Collings, Robert

Keeler (Class of 1945W S.), and Philip Reeves (Class of 1948).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Ridgebury Survived by wife, sons, a grandson, and a brother, Ralph Keeler Reynolds (M.E. Cornell Univ. 1917) of Springfield, Mass. Another brother, Harold C. Reynolds, '09, died in 1943

Edwin Augustus Strout, B.A. 1912.

Born June 30, 1890, in Seattle, Wash. Died March 8, 1945, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Edwin Augustus Strout, president E. A. Strout & Company, insurance, Seattle; son of Bennett and Abbie (Woodruff) Strout of Dover, N H Mother, Cora (Taylor) Strout, daughter of Brigadier General Frank Taylor, U S A, and Laura Virginia (Beardsly) Taylor of Washington.

St. Luke's School, Wayne, Pa First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; on Class track squad, Class baseball team, and College foot-

ball team; president Freshman Baseball Association Senior year; University Football Team Senior year; secretary Senior Council; on executive committee Berkeley Association Senior year; Triennial Committee, member Psi Upsilon and Skull and Bones

With E. A. Strout & Company 1912, traveled to New Zealand, Australia, Java, and the Orient 1913-14, associated with Port Blakely (Wash) Mill Company 1914; with Port of Seattle Commission 1914–15; loading superintendent for Harry Fargo Ostrander, operator and charterer of steamers to the Orient and Central America, 1915–16; associated with G. Batchelor Hall Company, distributors of Northwest products, Seattle, 1919-20; secretary-treasurer Smith & Strout, Inc., investments, Seattle, 1920-32, partner Smith, Strout & Eddy, Inc., 1926-28; secretary Smith Cannery Machines Company 1935-45, president E A Strout, investment service, and northwestern distributor for George Putnam Fund, investments, Boston, 1939-45; enlisted in National Army April 6, 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, Presidio of San Francisco; commissioned First Lieutenant August 15, 1917, assigned to 361st Infantry, 91st Division, Camp Lewis; attended Bayonet School, Camp Doniphan, and later aide to General Lucien Grant Berry, Fort Sill; promoted Captain March, 1918; assigned to 35th Division and sent overseas with an advance detachment of the Division May 15, 1918, attended Second Corps School at Montigny-sur-Aube, operations officer 60th Field Artillery Brigade, 35th Division, relieving French in Vosges, transferred as forward observation officer, First Army Corps, in St-Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne operations; discharged April 6, 1919; commissioned Captain, Army of the United States, February 26, 1942; assigned to operations group, War Plans Division, General Staff, Washington, March-July, 1942, promoted Major July, 1942, and Lieutenant Colonel January, 1943, served in New Caledonia; assistant chief of staff with General Patch throughout campaign on Guadalcanal and then served as aide to General Patch at Fort Lewis, on Oregon maneuvers, and at Camp Young; awarded Silver Star in April, 1943, discharged September 26, 1944; president Seattle Yale Club 1924 and Seattle Rotary Club 1939-40; trustee Washington Mutual Savings Bank, Seattle, 1924–27, on Council of Boy Scouts of America, Seattle, and Red Cross Advisory Committee, a director Washington English-Speaking Union, member Seattle Stock Exchange, National Association of Securities Dealers, King County Insurance Agents Association, and St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), Seattle

Married June 29, 1921, in New Orleans, Amy Frances, daughter of John Joseph and Amelia (Haughery) Driscoll. Children Edwin Augustus, 3d (died July 12, 1927), Mary Helen, Amy Frances, and Cora Taylor.

Died suddenly Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Seattle. Survived by wife and three daughters.

Alexander Lambert Barbour, B.A. 1913.

Born September 7, 1891, in Denver, Colo. Died March 21, 1945, in Littleton, N.H.

Father, William R. Barbour, '80. Mother, Edith (Lambert) Barbour. Yale relatives include: Edward W Lambert (BA. 1854) and William M. Barbour (M.A. Hon. 1877) (grandfathers), Samuel W. Lambert, '80, Alexander Lambert, '84, Frederic M. Barbour, '85, Elliot C Lambert, '86, James R. Barbour, '90, Francis E. Barbour, '92 S, and Adrian V. S. Lambert, '93 (uncles), Edward L Barbour, ex-'15 (brother); Dickinson W. Richards, Jr., '17, Samuel W. Lambert, Jr., '19, and Adrian Lambert, '30 (cousins).

Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn, and Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Track Team; Class Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years; Class Book Committee; Triennial Committee; Dwight Hall executive committee and Bethany Mission Sunday School Senior year; member Yale

University Dramatic Association and Psi Upsilon.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1913-15 (MBA. 1915); associated with Cuba Company, sugar merchants, and Cuba Railroad Company, New York City, 1915-17; treasurer Nevins-Church Press, manufacturers of folding boxes and colored labels, Bloomfield, N.J., 1919-20; associated with G. Amsinck & Company, Inc., importers and exporters, New York City, 1920-23 and Standard Stoker Company, Inc, manufacturers of Standard locomotive stoker, Wilmington, Del, and New York City, 1923–26; salesman White Motor Company, New York City, 1926-27; superintendent of housewares floor R. H. Macy & Company, New York City, 1928-37, partner Mar-No Lawn Company, lawn furniture and Yankee notions, Littleton, 1937-45; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, May 11-August 15, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant August 15, 1917; assigned to Company D, 308th Infantry, Camp Upton, overseas April 6-August 20, 1918; promoted First Lieutenant September 13, 1918, stationed with Company A, 21st Infantry, Camp Kearny; discharged December 4, 1918; town salvage chairman for Office of Civilian Defense 1941-44; on sexennial reunion committee of the Class; secretary Class of 1913 from 1923 to 1926.

Married October 26, 1917, in New York City, Charlotte Alice, daughter of Charles B Berger, '88 S., and Gertrude (Hill) Berger. Daughter: Edith

Alice (B A Bennington Coll 1940).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Peabody, Mass. Survived by wife, daughter, and mother.

Clarence Havelock Bolton, B.A. 1913.

Born August 31, 1891, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 5, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, James Robert Bolton, a newspaper man and publisher in New Haven; son of George Simonson and Elizabeth (Walker) Bolton of Halifax, Nova Scotia. Mother, Frances (Sheldon) Bolton, daughter of Joseph Sheldon (B.A. 1851) and Abigail Burrill (Barker) Sheldon of Onondaga County, N.Y. Yale relatives include an uncle, Edward M. Tillinghast, '88.

Bolton School, New Haven, and private tutors. Honors of the third rank in studies of Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Chi Rho. Attended Yale School of Law 1913–15 (LL.B. 1915).

Admitted to the bar 1915; associated with White Brothers, real-estate lawyers, 1915–27; second assistant corporation counsel of City of New Haven, in charge of collection of back taxes, 1925–31; engaged in private practice and management of family real estate in New Haven 1931–35; associated with Day, Berry & Howard, Hartford, Conn., 1933–34; special attorney Lands Division, U.S. Department of Justice, New Haven, 1935–40; legal adviser for resettlement projects of U.S. Department of Agriculture in New England, New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania 1940–41; associate attorney real-estate branch U.S. Corps of Engineers, First Service Command Headquarters, Boston, purchasing secret defense project sites along New England coast 1941–43 and attorney in charge of claims, North Atlantic Division Headquarters, New York City, 1943–44; on Board of Aldermen New Haven 1923–25; member Governor's Foot Guard 1922–30, State Bar Association of Connecticut, Sons of the American Revolution, and Church of the Messiah (Universalist), New Haven

Married September 24, 1921, in New Haven, Kathryn Marie, daughter of Michael James and Ellen (Kelley) Hanrahan Sons: Robert Havelock, '45W E., Joseph Raymond, and James Michael

Death due to hemoptysis from carcinoma of the lungs Buried in family cemetery, Howlett Hill, Camillus, N.Y. Survived by wife, sons, two sisters, Frances Bolton (B.A. Smith Coll. 1925, M.A. 1926, Ph D Yale 1934) and Dorothea Bolton (B.A. Smith Coll. 1930), both of New Haven, and a brother Joseph S G. Bolton (B.A. 1916, Ph D. 1924)

Russell Schenck Cooney, B.A. 1914.

Born August 2, 1891, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died February 17, 1945, in Plandome, NY.

Father, John Joseph Cooney, president Cooney, Eckstein & Company, Inc, lumber, New York City, son of Joseph and Ann (Carroll) Cooney of Troy, N.Y Mother, Laura (Sampson) Cooney; daughter of James and Caroline (Trowbridge) Sampson of Waldoboro, Maine. Yale relatives include John R. Cooney, '35, Robert B Cooney, '39, Stuart C. Hemingway, Jr, '39, and Richard B Hemingway, Class of 1949 (nephews).

Boys' High School, Brooklyn, and Phillips-Exeter. Freshman Football and Track teams; University Football Team three years and University Track Team Senior year, Senior Promenade Committee; member Delta

Kappa Epsilon and Elihu

Employed in New York City 1914–45; bond salesman Abbott [Gordon W, '07], Hoppin & Company, investment securities, 1914–1918 and Abbott, Johnson [J Ford, '10] & Company 1918; engaged in real-estate development 1919–20; floor broker on New York Stock Exchange 1920–45, partner Hoppin Brothers & Company 1934–45; secretary and treasurer Cooney, Eckstein & Company, Inc, 1935–41; enlisted United States Army August, 1918, assigned to 3d Company, Infantry, Camp Upton; served in Judge Advocate General's department, discharged November 30, 1918; trustee Village of Plandome 1926–33.

Married November 11, 1916, in Brooklyn, Mae Evelyn, daughter of Louis and Phillipa Louise (Krippendorf) Bossert Children: James Sampson, '39 E (Lieut., AUS.); Barbara Schenck (B.A. Smith Coll. 1938), the wife of Guy Murchie, Jr; David Carroll, ex-'43 S (T/Sgt., AUS.); and Daniel Russell (Pvt, A.US)

Death due to acute myocardial failure Buried in Waldoboro, Maine. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, a sister, Madelene C. Hemingway, the wife of Stuart C Hemingway, '05 S, and a brother, Carroll T. Cooney, '10

Stuart Phelps Dodge, B.A. 1914.

Born February 19, 1891, in San Remo, Italy. Died November 30, 1944, in Colorado Springs, Colo.

Father, Walter Phelps Dodge, ex-'91, of London, England, New York City, and Simsbury, Conn; author and international lawyer; son of Rev. D. Stuart Dodge, D D (B A 1857), and Ellen Ada (Phelps) Dodge of Beirut, Syria Mother, Ida Lena Nelson (Cooke) Dodge; daughter of Alfred Godolphin and Helena (Nelson) Cooke of Manchester, England. Yale relatives include David S. Dodge (M D. 1826) (great-great-uncle);

Charles C. Dodge (B A 1860), George E. Dodge, '70, Arthur M Dodge, '74, and William E Dodge (M A. Hon. 1901) (great-uncles), Francis P. Dodge, '94, Guy P Dodge, ex-'96, and Clarence P. Dodge, '99 (uncles), and Percival Dodge, '14, and C Phelps Dodge, '29 (cousins).

Westminster School, Simsbury Second colloquy appointment Senior year; University Wrestling Team Junior and Senior years, member Yale

University Dramatic Association, Alpha Delta Phi, and Elihu.

Attended Columbia University School of Journalism 1915-16 (B Lit 1916); associated with Colorado Springs Gazette (later Gazette and Telegraph) 1914 until retirement 1936 because of ill-health (reporter and assistant to the editor 1914–15, special editor 1916–19, night editor 1919– 20, city and Sunday editor 1920-23, and sports editor and special writer 1923-36); publicity and advertising manager Broadmoor Hotel, Colorado Springs, at various times between 1927 and 1933; president North End Land Company, Colorado Springs, 1933-44; trustee Fountain Valley School of Colorado 1939-44; chairman Pikes Peak chapter American Red Cross 1935; publicity director Community Chest 1940; on advisory board Day Nursery, Colorado Springs; vice-president Colorado Yale Association 1937-38, president 1938-39, and on Yale Library Committee 1940; enlisted Battery C, 1st Separate Battalion, Field Artillery, Colorado National Guard, June, 1916, stationed on Mexican border 1916-17; sent to Officers Training Camp, Fort Riley, May 15, 1917; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917; assigned to Headquarters Company, 340th Field Artillery, 89th Division, Camp Funston; overseas June 16, 1918-May 24, 1919; took part in St-Mihiel Offensive; with Army of Occupation in Schonecken, Germany; discharged June 17, 1919, member Grace Church (Episcopal), Colorado Springs

Married December 1, 1920, in Denver, Norma Marion Wason (Univ. Colorado ex-'17), daughter of Henry and Frances (Rogers) Wason Children: Stuart Phelps, Jr. (Class of 1944), Peter Phelps, and Anne Phelps.

Death due to sprue malnutrition Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, Colorado Springs. Survived by wife, children, mother (Mrs. Herbert P. Robinson), and two sisters, Ellen Ada D. Purnell, the wife of Rear Admiral William Reynolds Purnell, U.S.N (grad U.S. Naval Academy 1908), of Washington, and Mrs. Rosemary Dodge Gregorieff of West Hartford, Conn.

John Archer Gee, B.A. 1916.

Born October 25, 1894, in Fall River, Mass. Died August 4, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Frederic Archer Gee, a real-estate developer in Fall River; son of Hollis F. and Caroline Augusta (Archer) Gee of Fall River and Wren-

tham, Mass, and Providence, R.I. Mother, Margaret (Hawkins) Gee; daughter of Edwin Montgomery and Margaret (Hapgood) Hawkins of Fall River

St. George's School, Newport, R I., and Phillips-Exeter. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Class tennis team.

Associated with William Openhym & Sons, silk importers and manufacturers, New York City, 1916-17; enlisted as seaman (1st class), U.S. Naval Reserve, May 23, 1917; overseas August, 1917-August, 1918; on convoy duty aboard U.S.S. Guinevere August, 1917-January, 1918, and aboard minesweeper U.S.S. Hinton February-August, 1918; commissioned Ensign September, 1918, studied at U.S. Naval Academy October, 1918-January, 1919, stationed on U.S.S New Mexico February, 1919, until discharge June, 1919; attended Yale Graduate School 1919-26 (M A. 1921: Ph D 1926, honorable mention John Addison Porter Prize 1926); instructor in English Yale University 1920-26, assistant professor 1926-37, and associate professor 1937-44; professor of prose composition Albertus Magnus College 1928–44; authority on books about life at sea, particularly those of Conrad and H. M. Tomlinson; author: Life and Works of Thomas Lupset (1928); editor and translator, with Paul J. Sturm, '33, Letters of Joseph Conrad to Marguerite Poradowska (1940); wrote a series of articles on English translations of Erasmus' works, fellow Saybrook College (Yale University) 1933-44; graduate member Elihu, Elizabethan Club, and Psi Upsilon, member Modern Language and Modern Humanities Research associations, and Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Fall River.

Married January 31, 1919, in Washington, Elizabeth Pennock, daughter of Charles George Smith, Jr, and Julia Eliza (Mercer) Smith and sister of L Mercer Smith, '29 No children.

Death due to uremia Ashes interred in Christmas Cove, South Bristol, Maine. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Gretchen Gee of Fall River, and a brother, Richard Hawkins Gee (BS Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1920) of Fall River.

Thomas Leverett Gingold, B.A. 1916.

Born November 25, 1896, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 6, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Max Gingold, engaged in real-estate business in New Haven; son of Jacob and Anna Gingold of Gorodets, Russia. Mother, Sarah Rebecca (Chapnik) Gingold; daughter of Isaac and Lena Chapnik of Gorodets.

New Haven High School. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1916–19 (MD. 1919); interne Englewood (NJ) Hospital and Jewish Maternity Hospital, New York City, 1919–21; physician in New Haven 1921–44; assistant attending obstetrician Grace Hospital 1926–44; director parochial school of Orthodox Rabbinical Seminary, New Haven, on Board of Aldermen 1926–30 and Board of Surgeons, Police Department, 1928–32; enlisted as private, United States Army, January 24, 1918, stationed at Fort Jay until discharge February 20, 1919; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, November 7, 1928, Captain June 1, 1933, and Major January 18, 1941; discharged July, 1941, for physical disability; member New Haven Medical Association, Masonic order, and Congregational Shevas Achim, New Haven

Married February 9, 1926, in New York City, Sara, daughter of Yale and Rebecca (Olderman) Rubin. No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Columbus Lodge Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, mother, two sisters, Mrs. William Goldys of New Haven and Lena G. Kramer, the wife of Samuel Kramer, '14 S.

George Griswold Haven, B.A. 1916.

Born March 21, 1893, in New York City. Died September 14, 1944, in Surbiton, Surrey, England.

Father, George G. Haven, '87. Mother, Elizabeth Shaw (Ingersoll) Haven. Yale relatives include: Rev. Jonathan Ingersoll (B A. 1736) and Ralph Isaacs (B.A. 1761) (great-great-great-grandfathers); Jared Ingersoll (B.A. 1742) and Isaac Isaacs (B A. 1750) (great-great

Pomfret (Conn.) School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; manager Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; member University Club and Psi Upsilon.

With American Ambulance Field Service in France February-November, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, U.S. Army,

November 2, 1917, at Paris; assigned to 17th Field Artillery, 2d Division; saw action at Château-Thierry, Soissons, and St-Mihiel; promoted First Lieutenant September 1, 1918; returned to United States September 5, 1918, discharged March 4, 1919; associated with Eugen Boissevain & Company, Inc, importers and exporters, New York City and in the Far East, 1919–21, with Jacquelin & de Coppet, brokers, New York City, 1921–25; since 1925 had traveled widely and resided in France, Italy, North Africa, and England

Married (1) October 21, 1925, in New York City, Elizabeth McCalla, daughter of Harry and Eugenia (Chapin) George. Daughter Genia Griswold Mr and Mrs Haven were divorced in 1935. Married (2) January 7, 1936, in London, England, Betty Margaret, daughter of John

Rendell Hatherley and Mabel Florence (Ward) Barrett.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Ashes at Putney Vale Crematorium, London, and are eventually to be scattered over the ocean. Survived by wife, daughter, and two sisters, Mrs Gilbert E. Jones of Morristown, N J, and Alice H. Waters.

Willison Kerr Vance, Jr., B.A. 1916.

Born March 19, 1895, in Monongahela, Pa. Died October 29, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Willison Kerr Vance (LL.B. Univ. Michigan 1895), a lawyer in Monongahela; son of Joseph B and Rachael (Devore) Vance of Monongahela. Mother, Harriet Longwell (Sampson) Vance; daughter of Adam Coon and Letitia T. (Manown) Sampson of Monongahela.

Monongahela High School and Kiskiminetas Springs School, Saltsburg, Pa. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment

Senior year, member Alpha Sigma Phi.

Attended student's course given by Otis Elevator Company, Yonkers, N.Y, 1916, associated with Carnegie Steel Company, Clairton, Pa., 1917; enrolled University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1918–20; admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1921; associated with Sherriff, Gray, Lindsay & Weldon, lawyers, Pittsburgh, 1921–24; general agent for Ohio, Kentucky, and Michigan for Compagnie Générale Transatlantique (French Line) 1924–32, assistant district manager American Express Company, Miami, 1933–36 and manager Detroit office 1936–41, with British Admiralty Delegation, expediting shipment of war materials, Washington, 1942, and New York City 1942–44; member First Presbyterian Church, Monongahela.

Unmarried.

Death due to thrombosis following an operation Buried in Monongahela Cemetery. Survived by parents and a brother, Adam S Vance, ex-'20

Dwight Ludden Armstrong, B.A. 1917.

Born June 4, 1894, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died September 10, 1944, in Lancaster, Pa.

Father, Charles Dickey Armstrong, founder and president Armstrong Cork Company, cork products and floor coverings, Lancaster, son of Thomas Morton and Martha Jane (Porter) Armstrong of Pittsburgh Mother, Gertrude Virginia (Ludden) Armstrong; daughter of Levi and Sarah W. (Dudley) Ludden of Wilkinsburg, Pa. Yale relatives include a nephew, John L Armstrong, '40

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Baseball Team; University Baseball Team Junior year; University Golf Team Junior and Senior years, member Delta

Kappa Epsilon and Elihu.

Enlisted as coxswain, U.S. Naval Reserve, Newport (RI) Naval Training Station, May 1, 1917; promoted gunner's mate (1st class) December, 1917; commissioned Ensign December 26, 1917; attended reserve officers' course at U.S Naval Academy, January-June, 1918; commissioned Ensign (T), U.S. Navy, June 9, 1918; duty officer U.S Naval Academy June-September, 1918; junior watch and division officer USS George Washington September, 1918-February, 1919; discharged February 12, 1919; associated with Armstrong Cork Company 1919-44 (apprentice at Pittsburgh plant 1919-20; assistant general sales manager linoleum division, Lancaster plant, 1920-29; in charge organization of branch offices in San Francisco and Seattle 1922–23; general sales manager floor division 1929-37; general manager glass and closure division 1937-39, vicepresident of the company 1937-44); an organizer and first president Lancaster Welfare Association 1925–26; trustee Lancaster Y W C A 1935–44 and a director; a director St. Joseph's Hospital, Lancaster Free Public Library, and Lancaster Chamber of Commerce (vice-president 1926 and on board of governors); amateur golf champion of Pennsylvania, on twenty-five year Class reunion committee; member Masonic order, trustee First Presbyterian Church of Lancaster and member Board of Pensions of Presbyterian Church of the United States of America.

Married January 14, 1922, in Lancaster, Marion Gilmore, daughter of William Nevin Appel, LL D. (B.A Franklin and Marshall Coll. 1880), and Marion (Baer) Appel and sister of George F Baer Appel, '24 Children: Andrew Jay, Charlotte Appel, and Mary Martha.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Lancaster. Survived by wife, children, mother (died February 26, 1945), a sister,

Mary Martha Armstrong McClary (B.A. Smith Coll. 1920), the wife of Andrew Bishop McClary (B.A. Dartmouth Coll. 1916) of Windsor, Va., and a brother, C Dudley Armstrong, '10.

Louis Alphonse Julianelle, B.A. 1917.

Born March 12, 1895, in New Haven, Conn. Died August 12, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Antonio Louis Julianelle, a contractor in New Haven; son of Louis and Antoinette (Altieri) Julianelle of Castelmorrone, Italy. Mother, Maria (DeFonso) Julianelle; daughter of John and Marie-Carmen (Vacchia) DeFonso of New Haven. Yale relatives include: Lester J. DeFonso, '21 S. (cousin); and J. Richard Julianelle (School of the Fine Arts 1938–41) (nephew).

New Haven High School. Graduate student in bacteriology and

hygiene Sheffield Scientific School 1917-19 (M.S. 1919).

Analytical chemist and bacteriologist Connecticut State Board of Health 1918 and bacteriologist Bureau of Sanitary Engineering 1919–20; studied at University of Pennsylvania 1920-22 (Ph D. 1922; instructor in bacteriology, member Sigma X1); first assistant bacteriologist Philadelphia General Hospital 1920–24; assistant in research Hospital of the Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research 1924-27 and bacteriologist 1927-30; associate professor of applied bacteriology and immunology Washington University School of Medicine 1930–42 (chairman trachoma commission 1932-42); director division on infectious diseases Public Health Research Institute, New York City, 1942-44; author: Studies in Hemolytic Staphylococci (1922) and The Etiology of Trachoma (1938); associate bacteriologist St Louis Children's Hospital, member Influenza Commission of Board for Investigation of Epidemic Diseases in United States Army; member American Association for the Advancement of Science, Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, American Association of Immunologists, American Association of Pathologists and Bacteriologists, Association for Research in Ophthalmology, Inc., Society of American Bacteriologists, Harvey Society, and Episcopal church, Scarsdale, N.Y.

Married August 3, 1921, in Ocean City, N.J, Isabel Buchwalter, daughter of Joseph Tomkinson and Emily (Surgisson) Tomkinson (M.D. Woman's Medical Coll. Pennsylvania 1886) Daughters: Emily Surgis-

son (BA Univ. Pennsylvania 1945) and Marie Tomkinson.

Death due to primary malignant bone tumor of the rib. Survived by wife, daughters, father, a sister, Miss Anna Elizabeth Julianelle of New Haven, and two brothers, Lester J. A. Julianelle (B.F.A. 1917) and William R. Julianelle (B.F.A. 1931).

[Benjamin deForest] Buell Hammett, B.A. 1918.

Born December 15, 1895, in St. Louis, Mo. Died January 4, 1945, in Santa Barbara, Calif.

Father, Benjamin Forrest Hammett (B A. Christian Brothers Coll [Mo] 1889); associated with B. F. Hammett & Son, St. Louis, son of Benjamin Franklin and Mary Spence (Penney) Hammett of El Paso, Texas Mother, Rosalind (Buel) Hammett, daughter of James William Buel (Univ. Illinois ex-'72) and Eliza (Branner) Buel of St. Louis.

Quincy (Ill.) and El Paso High schools, and Thacher School, Ojai, Calif. First dispute appointment Junior year; Freshman Tennis Team; assistant manager University Tennis Team Junior year and manager Senior year; chairman Yale Courant Junior year and Student Council Senior year; captain R O.T C at Yale, member Dwight Hall Committee, Psi Upsilon, Elizabethan Club, and Elihu.

Instructor R O.T.C at Yale June-September, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 13, 1918, promoted First Lieutenant October 23, adjutant 8th Regiment, Camp Jackson, September until discharge December 14, 1918; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, and later Major; attended Harvard Law School 1919–21 (LL.B. 1921); studied international law University of Oxford 1921–22; admitted to the bar 1922; associated with McCutcheon, Olney, Mannon & Greene, lawyers, San Francisco, 1922–26; because of ill-health was in the Pottenger Sanitarium, Monrovia, Calif, 1926–30; a founder Santa Barbara Museum of Art and first president 1938–44, was active in establishing Santa Barbara Airport; head Santa Barbara Home Guard 1940–42, member Santa Barbara County Probation Committee, Santa Barbara Council Boy Scouts of America, and Santa Barbara Socialization Institute.

Married December 27, 1930, in Santa Barbara, Harriet Cowles (B A. Vassar Coll. 1922), daughter of William H. Cowles, '87, and Harriet Bowen (Cheney) Cowles, and sister of William H. Cowles, Jr., '24, and Cheney Cowles, '30 Sons: Benjamin Cowles and Lawrence Thayer.

Because of ill-health took his own life. Buried in Santa Barbara Cemetery Survived by wife (Mrs. John D. Graham), sons, and mother (Mrs. E. L. Thayer).

Robert Fletcher Holden, B.A. 1918.

Born December 23, 1895, in Brookline, Mass. Died November 17, 1944, in Ardmore, Pa.

Father, Frederick Gurnsey Holden, manager Boston branch and later San Francisco branch of Vermont Marble Company; son of Charles Carroll and Leonora Eliza (Gurnsey) Holden of Shrewsbury, Vt Mother, Arabella Gertrude (Proctor) Holden; daughter of Redfield Proctor, LL.D. (B.A Dartmouth Coll. 1851; LL B. Albany Law School 1859), and Emily (Dutton) Proctor of Proctor, Vt. Yale relatives include a cousin, Mortimer R. Proctor, '12.

Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn. Second dispute appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Baseball Team, University Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years; Junior Promenade Committee, member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key, enlisted as seaman (1st class), U.S. Navy, May 6, 1917; commissioned Ensign October 4, 1917; aboard U.S.S. Michigan with Atlantic Fleet and Convoy Forces November 1, 1917, until discharge December 3, 1918, returned to college and awarded degree in 1919 with enrollment in Class of 1918

Associated with Armour Leather Company, Newberry, Pa., and Boston 1919-21 and Alexander Brothers, manufacturers of leather belting and specialties, Philadelphia, 1921-29 (vice-president 1922-29); with Smith, Graham & Rockwell, brokers, Philadelphia, 1929-31; vice-president Janney & Company, Philadelphia, 1931-36; general partner Yarnall & Company, underwriters and brokers, Philadelphia, 1936-41; assistant vicepresident Pennsylvania Company for Insurances on Lives and Granting Annuities, Philadelphia, 1942–44; vice-president Salt Dome Oil Company, Houston, Texas, 1934-44, and Charles L. Ireson Company, leather belting, Philadelphia; treasurer Charlotte Leather Company 1922-28; president Four Hundred Madison Avenue Corporation, New York City; trustee Temple University 1942–44; member board of managers Children's Hospital, Philadelphia, 1930-44 (vice-president of the board 1939-41, president 1942-44), organizer new Philadelphia Yale Club 1930, on council of Philadelphia Historical Society; member Military Order of the World War and Church of the Redeemer, Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Married October 20, 1917, in Watertown, Conn, Madeleine, daughter of Buel Havens and Maude (Willard) Heminway Children. Cynthia, the wife of Dickerson McIlvain, and Lieut Robert Fletcher Holden, Jr, ex-'43, USNR

Death due to uremia Buried in churchyard of Church of the Redeemer. Survived by wife, children, one grandchild, and a sister, Mrs John Leonard Proctor of Washington.

Eugene Augustus Krauss, B.A. 1918.

Born July 16, 1896, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died July 6, 1944, in Chagrin Falls, Ohio.

Father, Augustus Leberecht Krauss, member Lake Shore Saw Mill & Lumber Company, Cleveland; son of Christian August and Christiane

Frederica Krauss of Cleveland. Mother, Louise (Abel) Krauss; daughter of George Michael and Mary (Becker) Abel of East Cleveland.

East High School, Cleveland. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Cross Country and Track teams; University Cross Country Team Sophomore and Junior years; University Track Team Junior year; College Choir Junior year; Apollo Glee Club Junior and Senior years; University Glee Club Senior year.

Enlisted as private Chemical Warfare Service, Medical Research Division, June 5, 1918; promoted corporal September 15; stationed with Yale Unit in New Haven; discharged December 19, 1918; studied chemistry and biology Yale Graduate School 1919; assistant manager sash and door department Lake Shore Saw Mill & Lumber Company 1919–24; manager Morgan Sash & Door Company 1924–26; real-estate broker in Cleveland 1926–33; visitor Cuyahoga County Relief 1933; assistant payroll supervisor Civil Works Administration, Cleveland, 1933–34 and engaged in payroll administration and management work Federal Emergency Relief Administration 1934–35; assistant manager Cleveland Metropolitan Housing Authority, 1940–42 and rent and tax analyst 1943–44; with Federal Public Housing Authority in Muskegon, Mich, and Washington, DC, 1942–43; president American Business Men's Club, Cleveland; member American Legion and Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Cleveland.

Married October 19, 1927, in Cleveland, Ernestine, daughter of Frederick Augustus and Amalia Marie (Kramer) Zwettler Children Eugene Augustus, Jr., and Alan Justin.

Lost his life while attempting to rescue a drowning boy Posthumously awarded bronze medal by Carnegie Hero Fund Commission Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife, sons, father, and two sisters, Carrie Louise Krauss (BA. Western Reserve Univ 1905, MA 1906) of Cleveland, and Gertrude Frederica Krauss Bottger (BA Western Reserve Univ. 1909), the wife of George Adalbert Bottger of Shaker Heights, Ohio.

Frank Miller Gould, B.A. 1920.

Born February 6, 1899, in New York City. Died January 13, 1945, in Oyster Bay, NY.

Father, Edwin Gould (Columbia Univ. ex-'88), chairman of the board St. Louis Southwestern Railway Company, founder Edwin Gould Foundation for Children, New York City, son of Jay and Helen Day (Miller) Gould of New York City. Mother, Sarah Cantine (Shrady) Gould; daughter of George Frederic Shrady (MD Columbia Univ 1858, MA. Hon. Yale 1869) and Hester Ellen (Cantine) Shrady of Saugerties, NY

Charlton and Browning schools, New York City. First dispute appointment Junior year; member University Club, University Gun Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and R O T.C. at Yale; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 6, 1918; stationed at Camp Jackson and Camp Zachary Taylor, discharged December 4, 1918; returned to Yale 1919–20.

Secretary St. Louis Southwestern Railway Company 1920–24 and vice-president 1924–44; commissioned Captain, Army Air Forces, March 21, 1942; administrative inspector Spence Field, Moultrie, Ga., and Cochran Field, Macon, Ga.; discharged in July, 1944, because of ill-health; chairman board of trustees Edwin Gould Foundation for Children 1933–45; member St Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married (1) November 16, 1924, in Dallas, Texas, Florence Amelia, daughter of William and Elisabeth (Upthegrove) Bacon. Children: Marianne Alice, the wife of Lieut. John Wright McDonough, U.S.N.R. (Georgia School of Technology ex-'41), and Edwin Jay. Mr. and Mrs. Gould were divorced in 1944 Married (2) June 7, 1944, in Macon, Helen Roosen Curran, daughter of H. Dudley and Clarita Corleete (Orizondo) Roosen.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, children, and mother

John McCauley Kiskadden, B.A. 1921.

Born September 3, 1898, in Tiffin, Ohio. Died January 6, 1945, in Tiffin, Ohio.

Father, Alexander Campbell Kiskadden (B L. Univ. Michigan 1888), a lawyer in Tiffin; judge probate court of Seneca County, Ohio, 1894–97; son of William and Mary (Campbell) Kiskadden of Salt Lake City and Denver. Mother, Annie (McCauley) Kiskadden (B.A. Ohio Wesleyan Univ. 1892), daughter of John and Josephine (Lockwood) McCauley of Tiffin.

École des Roches, Verneuil-sur-Avre, France, The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, and Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Freshman Football and Track teams; Freshman Glee Club, on editorial staff Yale Record Senior year; member University Club, Yale University Dramatic Association, Whiffenpoofs, and Alpha Delta Phi; member N.R.O.T.C. at Yale October, 1917–August, 1918, enlisted as chief quartermaster, U.S. Naval Reserve (aviation), August 7, 1918; attended ground school at Seattle Naval Air Station October 3, until discharge December 7, 1918; returned to Yale 1919–21.

Bond salesman Union Trust Company, Cleveland, 1922; attended Harvard Law School 1922–25 (LL.B 1925); admitted to the bar 1925; associated with Marshall, Melhorn, Marlar & Martin, lawyers, Toledo, 1925–30

and Longley & Middleton, Detroit, 1930-34; attorney and examiner securities division, Federal Trade Commission, Washington, 1934-38; counsel Douglas Aircraft Company, Inc., Santa Monica, Calif, 1943-44; regional chairman for Detroit and Ohio, tenth reunion committee of the Class of 1921, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Tiffin.

Married May 9, 1943, in Las Vegas, Frances, daughter of Bernard

and Adell (McVeda) Payton. No children.

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Tiffin Survived by wife and mother.

Kenneth Osborne Miller, B.A. 1921.

Born August 29, 1894, in New Haven, Conn Died December 14, 1944, in Kalakekua, TH.

Father, Edward Ransom Miller, storekeeper Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven; son of Ozro and Ellen (Laughton) Miller of Shelburne Falls, Mass. Mother, Harriet Adelle (Barnes) Miller; daughter of Hiram Abiud and Harriet Elizabeth (Talmadge) Barnes of New Haven

New Haven High School and Booth Preparatory School, New Haven. Apollo Glee Club Junior year; University Glee Club and College Choir Senior year; enlisted as private Ordnance Department, U.S. Army, September 3, 1918; stationed at Fort Slocum, N.Y., and in Washington, D.C.; discharged December 31, 1918.

Attended Berkeley Divinity School 1921–24 (B.D 1924), ordained deacon in Episcopal church June 9, 1924, and priest April, 1925, curate Christ Church Cathedral, Hartford, Conn., 1924–26, rector St. John the Baptist Church and in charge St. Luke's Mission, San Juan, Puerto Rico, 1926–31; rector Christ Church, Pompton Lakes, NJ, 1931–35 and Christ Church, Canaan, Conn., 1935–37; vicar Christ Church, Kealakekua, 1937–44; delegate Protestant Episcopal Church Conference, Washington, 1928; assistant petroleum and food administrator, Kona districts, Hawaii, 1941–42; USO. director Kealakekua 1941–44; author: Anniversary Booklet (1929) and Fun to Learn (1936), invented Miller plan of church school records.

Married February 1, 1926, in West Haven, Conn, Gertrude Genevieve Ann, daughter of Walter Henry and Charlotte Jane (Laslett) Warmingham Daughter: Charlotte Ann Warmingham (Mount Holyoke Coll Class of 1949).

Death due to cardiac decompensation. Buried in Christ Church Cemetery, Kealakekua. Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Miss Lois Miller of New Haven, and three brothers, Louis Austin Miller of West Haven,

Stuart Barnes Miller of Davenport, Iowa, and Malcolm G. Miller (B.F.A. 1929).

Edwin Mims, Jr., B.A. 1921.

Born June 15, 1900, in Durham, N.C. Died January 1, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Edwin Mims, LL.D (B.A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1892, M.A. 1893; Ph D Cornell Univ 1900), author; professor of English Vanderbilt University and head department of English 1912–42; son of Andrew Jackson and Cornelia Langsley (Williamson) Mims of Richmond, Ark. Mother, Clara (Puryear) Mims (Wellesley Coll. ex-'99); daughter of Thomas Henry and Ella (Atkins) Puryear of Paducah, Ky. Yale relatives include: Stewart L Mims, '04 (uncle); Elizabeth Webb Mims (Yale Graduate School 1938–39) and Stewart L. Mims, Jr, ex-'40 (cousins).

McTyeire School, McKenzie, Tenn; attended Vanderbilt University 1916–17 Preliminary honors in history, second Thacher Memorial Prize, Henry James TenEyck Prize, and scholar of the second rank Junior year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Class basketball team three years, second tennis team Junior year; manager Yale University Debating Association Senior year (took part in Yale-Harvard-Cambridge debate); Class historian, member Elizabethan Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Phi Beta Kappa (secretary Senior year), and ROT.C.; trained at Field Artillery Replacement Depot, Camp Jackson, S.C., summer 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant September 13, 1918; stationed at Camp Zachary Taylor until discharge December 4, 1918.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1921–22 (M.A. 1922); Rhodes scholar Oriel College, University of Oxford, 1923–26; associated with Yale University Press in New Haven 1922–23 and New York City 1926–28; an assistant editor *The Pageant of America* 1928–30 and coauthor of Vol. XIV, *The American Stage* (1929); assistant editor in charge American history and government for *Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences* 1930–34; attended Harvard Graduate School of Arts and Sciences 1934–37 and 1938–39 (Ph D. 1939; instructor in government and tutor in division of history, government, and economics 1934–39); professor of history and social sciences Sarah Lawrence College 1940–45; author: *The Majority of the People* (1941), member Delta Sigma Rho and West End Methodist Church, Nashville, Tenn

Married (1) June 5, 1927, in New York City, Margaret Valiant Brahan Mr and Mrs Mims were divorced in 1932. Married (2) in 1933, Helen Sullivan Daughter: Amy Mr. and Mrs. Mims were divorced in 1943. Married (3) November 6, 1943, in New Haven, Barbara Burbank (B A.

Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1942), daughter of Daniel Erskine and Helen Waterman (Besse) Burbank.

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in Ferncliff Mausoleum, Hartsdale, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, two sisters, Catherine Mims (B.A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1924, M.A. 1929) of Staunton, Va., and Ella Puryear Mims (B.A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1934, M.A. 1939) of Nashville, and a brother, Thomas Puryear Mims, A.U.S. (B.A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1926, M.A. 1928), of Nashville.

Delos [Allen] Chappell, B.A. 1922.

Born August 30, 1895, in Trinidad, Colo. Died May 13, 1945, in Bishop, Calif.

Father, Delos Allen Chappell (Univ. Michigan 1867–68), president Nevada-California Electric Corporation of Denver, Colo; son of Allen Darwin and Mary (Delano) Chappell of Rochester, NY., and Kalamazoo, Mich. Mother, May Chase (Hastings) Chappell; daughter of Alonzo and Grace (Weed) Hastings of Trinidad.

Thacher School, Ojai, Calif. Attended Princeton University 1913–15 and Leland Stanford University 1915–16 (member Sigma Alpha Epsilon). Enlisted in France as private, Section Sanitaire, 71st American Field Service, August 29, 1917; in action on the Somme, at Verdun, Woevre, Champagne, and St-Mihiel, and in the Argonne; transferred to 5th Balloon Company August, 1918; discharged March 4, 1919. Attended Yale College 1919–20 (scholar of the first rank; high oration appointment; awarded B.A. 1922) and Yale School of Law 1920–21

Studied at Columbia University School of Law 1921–22; mine operator in Arizona about 1924–28; president Delos Chappell, Inc., theatrical producers, New York City, 1932, 1933–34, and 1935–38; produced Camille (1932), Come of Age (1934), Cross-Ruff (1935), Daughters of Atreus (1936) and Father Malachy's Miracle (1937); art broker in New York City 1932–40; in engineering department Interstate Telegraph Company, Bishop, 1943–45.

Married (1) August 18, 1920, in Denver, Edna, daughter of Harry C. and May (Davison) James. Children: Joan, the wife of John Hopkins Lamont (Harvard 1940–43, M.D. 1946), and Pierre (Class of 1948). Mr. and Mrs. Chappell were divorced in 1939. Married (2) November 28, 1942, in Weston, Conn., Janet Kirby Post, daughter of Rollin and Estelle (Carter) Kirby.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Grand View Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Jean C. Cranmer, wife of George Ernest Cranmer (Litt.B. Princeton 1907) of Denver.

¢

Francis Hannaford Mitchell, B.A. 1922.

Born January 26, 1897, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died March 5, 1945, in Fairfield, Ohio.

Father, Richard Hannaford Mitchell (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. ex-'69), associated with Robert Mitchell Furniture Company, manufacturers of interior woodwork and office furniture and fixtures, Cincinnati; son of Robert and Harriet (Hannaford) Mitchell of Cincinnati. Mother, Mary Seymour (Lincoln) Mitchell; daughter of Timothy Danielson and Mary (Clark) Lincoln of Cincinnati. Yale relatives include: Robert Mitchell, '96 S, and T Lincoln Bouscaren, '06 (cousins); Ledyard Mitchell, Jr., '35, Edward C. Mitchell, '37, Mark L. Mitchell, Jr., '38, and Sherman Mitchell, '38 (nephews).

High School department St. Xavier's College, Cincinnati, and Newman School, Hackensack, N.J. Freshman Crew, University Glee Club Senior year; member Whiffenpoofs, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key; enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve April 1, 1917; received training at Newport, R.I., Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and Bay Shore, N.Y; commissioned Ensign in February, 1918; stationed at Key West and Pensacola, Fla; released to inactive duty in February, 1919.

Engaged in real-estate business with his brothers under firm name Frederick A. Schmidt Company, Cincinnati, 1922–35; distributor of carbonated beverages, Cincinnati, 1935–41; called to active duty and commissioned Lieutenant Commander, U.S. Naval Reserve, September 15, 1941, at Naval Air Station, Corpus Christi, Texas, September 1941–December, 1942; officer in charge Navy Flight Preparatory School, Louisiana State Normal College, Natchitoches, December, 1942–December, 1943, and DePauw University December, 1943–August, 1944; in office of General Representative, Bureau of Aeronautics, Wright Field, August, 1944–March, 1945, secretary Cincinnati Yale Club 1923–24; member Quiet Birdmen of America and St Xavier's Church (Roman Catholic), Cincinnati.

Married November 10, 1923, in Cincinnati, Jean, daughter of Joseph Spencer Graydon (B A Harvard 1898, LL B. 1902) and Marjorie (Maxwell) Graydon. Daughters Marjorie, Jean, Barbara, and Anne.

Death due to coronary sclerosis Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife, daughters, four sisters, Angela M Kennedy, the widow of Leonard Kennedy, '09, of Rye, N.Y., Miss Charlotte Mitchell of Albany, N Y, Mrs. Fenton Lawson of Cincinnati, and Mrs Harry Angier of Seven Oaks, Kent, England, and four brothers, P. Lincoln Mitchell, '01, W Ledyard Mitchell, '04, Mark L Mitchell, '08, and John L. Mitchell, '14.

William Neely Mallory, B.A. 1924.

Born November 20, 1901, in Memphis, Tenn. Died February 19, 1945, in Italy.

Father, Barton Lee Mallory, president Memphis Terminal Corporation, W. B. Mallory & Sons Company, and South Memphis Land Company; son of William Barton and Martha (Harris) Mallory of Memphis. Mother, Frances Blocker (Neely) Mallory; daughter of James Columbus and Frances (Blocker) Neely of Memphis. Yale relatives include a cousin, Daniel B. Grant, '16.

Memphis University School and Pomfret (Conn) School Freshman Baseball, Football, and Hockey teams (captain football team); University Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years; University Football Team three years (captain Senior year); on board of control Yale University Athletic Association Senior year; member Walter Camp's All-American Football Team 1923; Sophomore German Committee, Junior Promenade and Class Day committees; Sophomore and Junior discipline committees; Student Council, member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Skull and Bones.

Football coach at Yale fall 1924; associated with Forest Products Chemical Company, Memphis, 1925–27; secretary-treasurer Memphis Compress & Storage Company 1928–33, vice-president and general manager 1933–38, and president 1938–45; president South Memphis Land Company 1938–42, vice-president W. B. Mallory & Sons Company 1938–39 and president 1939–45; president Memphis Cotton Carnival Association 1934 and king of the carnival 1936; chosen outstanding junior citizen of Memphis by Chamber of Commerce 1934; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Memphis 1926–27, president 1928–29; Memphis chairman Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926, a director and on executive committee Southwestern College 1937–45 (advisory football coach 1928, treasurer 1938–45); member First Presbyterian Church, Memphis.

Married April 26, 1927, in Memphis, Noreen Cathey (Smith Coll ex-'25), daughter of Thomas Milton and Alma (Edmiston) Cathey Son William Neely, Jr Mr. and Mrs Mallory were divorced in 1940.

Commissioned Captain, US Army Air Forces, May 4, 1942; attended Officers Training School, Miami Beach, May 11–July 31, 1942, and Army Air Forces Combat Intelligence School, Harrisburg, Pa, August–September 15, 1942; stationed at Keesler Field September 16–October, 1942, sent overseas with 91st Squadron, 27th Bomb Group, December, 1942, served as target intelligence officer in North African, Tunisian, Pantellerian, Sicilian, and Italian campaigns; promoted Major December 1, 1943, awarded Legion of Merit December 1, 1944, for his part in conception and execution of a plan to cut German supply line in Italy July, 1944.

Major Mallory was killed in an airplane crash in Italy Survived by son, mother, a sister, Frances M. Morgan, the wife of William A. Morgan, Jr, ex-'24, and a brother, Barton Lee Mallory, Jr., '28.

Gerald Joseph Maloney, B.A. 1924.

Born January 27, 1901, in Lenox, Iowa. Died December 23, 1944, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Thomas Francis Maloney, a dry goods merchant in Iowa and Nebraska; son of Thomas Francis and Mary (Slattery) Maloney of Ireland Mother, Elizabeth (Madden) Maloney; daughter of William and Margaret (Collins) Madden of Canada.

Creighton University High School, Omaha, Nebr; attended Creighton University 1919–21. Entered Yale College in Sophomore year; member Beta Theta Pi.

In New York office W. R. Grace & Company, importers and exporters, 1924–27 and senior clerk New Orleans branch 1927–30; office manager Hales-Maloney Corporation, Los Angeles, 1931–38; in display advertising department San Francisco Examiner 1936–40; account executive Central States Broadcasting System, Omaha, 1940–42; commissioned First Lieutenant, US Army Air Forces, September 27, 1942; administrative officer War Shipping Administration and Office of War Information, San Francisco, 1943–44; member Star of the Sea Church (Roman Catholic), San Francisco.

Married June 12, 1943, in San Francisco, Mary Katherine Morrissey (B A. Univ. Southern California 1936), daughter of William Lawrence and Genevieve (Lavery) Morrissey. Daughter: Mary Geraldine (born May 4, 1945).

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Holy Cross Cemetery, San Mateo, Calif. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and a sister, Mrs. Patrick Carmody Heafey of San Francisco.

John Coffinberry Morley, B.A. 1925.

Born March 6, 1904, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died January 18, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, John E Morley, '94 (LL B Harvard 1897), partner Morley, Stickle, Keeley and Murphy, lawyers, Cleveland; son of George Walter and Letitia Salome (Johnson) Morley of Saginaw, Mich Mother, Nadine Morgan (Coffinberry) Morley; daughter of Henry Darling and Harriet Duane (Morgan) Coffinberry of Cleveland. Yale relatives include three

cousins, G. Morley Boyd, ex-'21, William B. Boyd, '30, and Walter M.

Boyd, '33.

University School, Cleveland. Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year; captain Freshman Boxing Team Junior year; assistant manager University Boxing Team Junior year, manager Senior year, member R.O.T C. at Yale, University Club, and Zeta Psi.

Attended Harvard Law School 1925–28 (LL B. 1928), admitted to the bar 1929; associated with Baker, Hostetler, Sidlo & Patterson, lawyers, Cleveland, 1929–38; partner Baker, Hostetler & Patterson 1938–45; member Cleveland Bar Association and Citizens League of Cleveland.

Married October 18, 1930, in Watkins Glen, NY., Gretchen Durland (B.A. Smith Coll. 1930), daughter of Harry Courtney and Kittiebell

(Chapman) Durland. Son: David Durland.

Commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery Reserve, June, 1925; resigned commission to enlist as private Troop A, 107th Cavalry, Ohio National Guard; promoted Second Lieutenant and later to First Lieutenant; called to active duty February 7, 1941; assigned to 192d Tank Battalion and trained at Fort Knox; commissioned Captain June, 1941, and Major April 3, 1942; his unit, the 192d Tank Battalion, was sent to the Philippine Islands in October, 1941; took part in defense of Corregidor and Bataan; awarded Distinguished Service Cross and Silver Star with two Oak Leaf Clusters for distinguished service beyond the call of duty and for gallantry in action.

Major Morley was taken prisoner at the fall of Bataan and from April, 1942, to December, 1944, was interned at Japanese prison camps successively at Davao, Mindanao, Cabanatuan, and Manila Heddied on a Japanese ship transporting American war prisoners to Japan Of more than 1,000 prisoners only about 100 survived the trip and reached Japan Survived by wife, son, parents, three sisters, Nadine Morley Clark (Vassar Coll. ex-28), the wife of John S Clark, 21, Esther Morley Schloss (B A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1936), the wife of Philip Miller Schloss (B A Harvard 1936) of Cleveland, and Harriet Morley Wendell (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll 1935), the wife of Howard Wendell of Pleasant Valley, N.Y, and a brother, Henry Coffinberry Morley of Saginaw

Charles Lamborn Peet, B.A. 1926.

Born June 18, 1903, in St. Paul, Minn. Died January 25, 1945, at Boynton Beach, Fla.

Father, William F. Peet, '85. Mother, Gertrude (Lamborn) Peet Yale relatives include a great-grandfather, Stephen Peet (BA 1823)

Shattuck Military Academy, Faribault, Minn, Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn., St. Paul (Minn.) Academy, and St. George's School,

Newport, R I. Class boxing team Freshman year; University Boxing Team Sophomore and Junior years; on Freshman Commons Committee; University Glee Club Senior year; member Berkeley Association, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

In medical finance department St Paul branch Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York 1926–32; vice-president and sales manager Pioneer Maple Products, manufacturers of syrup, St. Paul, 1932–35; associated with Halvorsen Research Laboratories 1936–38; traveled in Europe 1939–40; farmer in Lantana, Fla, 1941–42; inspector Consolidated Vultee Aircraft Corporation, San Diego, Calif, 1943; heavy duty equipment inspector Metcalf Hamilton Kansas City Bridge Company, Fort Nelson, British Columbia, September, 1943–February, 1944; partner Landry-Peet Sawmill, Bay Tree, Alberta, 1944–45; trustee Institute of Arts and Sciences, St. Paul; member Church of St. John the Evangelist (Episcopal), St. Paul

Married (1) December 30, 1929, in New York City, Georgiana, daughter of George T. Slade, '93, and Charlotte Elizabeth (Hill) Slade and sister of George Norman Slade, '24 S Children. Charlotte, Charles Lamborn, Jr, and Gertrude. Mr and Mrs Peet were divorced in 1937. Married (2) July 23, 1938, in Lake Forest, Ill, Narcissa, daughter of Robert Julius and Katherine B. (Sterritt) Thorne. Children: Victoria and Stephen.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St Paul Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Dorothy Peet Burns, the wife of Robert Archibald Burns (B.S. Univ. Michigan 1909) of St. Paul and Mrs Gladys Peet Carpenter of St Paul, a half sister, Miss Caroline Peet of St. Paul, and a brother, Emerson William Peet of Los Angeles.

Robert Sanderson, B.A. 1926.

Born January 20, 1904, in Littleton, Mass. Died February 20, 1945, in Washington, D.C.

Father, George A. Sanderson, '85 Mother, Annie Sarah (Bennett) Sanderson. Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward P. Sanderson (Class of 1946)

Groton (Mass.) School Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and of the third rank Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Class crew Sophomore and Junior years; member Playcraftsmen (chairman Senior year), Yale University Dramatic Association, and Zeta Psi

Instructor in mathematics and English, Thacher School, Ojai, Calif, 1926–27, attended Harvard Graduate School of Education 1927–28 and Harvard Medical School 1928–32 (M D. 1932); interne Beverly (Mass) Hospital 1932–33 and Boston City Hospital 1933–34; physician in Boston

and Dedham, Mass., 1934–39; assistant medical director John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company, Boston, 1939–42, commissioned Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve, September 24, 1942, assigned to Bureau of Medicine and Surgery, Washington, 1942–45; member Massachusetts Medical Society, New England Heart Association, Massachusetts Horticultural Society, and Aesculapian Society

Married December 24, 1930, in Milton, Mass, Elizabeth Sweetser, daughter of Kenneth and Elizabeth (Sweetser) Moller. Children Jane, Kenneth, Colin, and Robert

Died suddenly. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Charlotte S. Lovejoy, the wife of Julian Lovejoy (B.S Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1922), and two brothers, Bennett Sanderson, '16, and George A. Sanderson, Jr, '28.

George Alexander Whitaker, B.A. 1926.

Born August 28, 1903, in Hartford, Conn. Died February 11, 1945, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, George Lewis Whitaker, president Lincoln Mortgage & Finance Company; member Whitaker & Sons, Inc. (formerly Whitaker & Bacon), trucking and warehousing, Hartford, son of Charles Eastman and Harriet Melissa (Holdbridge) Whitaker of Norwich, Conn Mother, Susan Louise (Eberle) Whitaker; daughter of Jacob and Helene (Meyer) Eberle of Hartford.

Hartford Public High School

Group sales representative Hartford office of Connecticut General Life Insurance Company 1926–27; assistant manager Whitaker & Bacon 1927–33 and manager of its successor, Whitaker & Sons, Inc., 1933–45, member Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), Hartford.

Married October 2, 1926, in Hartford, Geneva Laura, daughter of Francis Joseph and Frances Elizabeth (Forbes) Drago Children: George Alexander, Jr., and June.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, children, parents, and a brother, Walter Eberle Whitaker (B S. Trinity Coll. [Conn] 1928) of Wethersfield, Conn

William Welles Robbins, Ph.B. 1927.

Born June 18, 1902, in Norwich, Kans Died February 11, 1945, in New York City.

Father, William Webster Robbins, president Norwich (Kans) State Bank; son of Richard and Chloe (Robbins) Robbins of Wethersfield,

Conn Mother, Grace Hazel (Doorley) Robbins; daughter of William F. Doorley of Kingfisher, Okla. Yale relatives include: Edward D. Robbins, '74 (uncle); Edward D. Robbins, '33, and Harriet R. Gallup, ex-'36 L. (cousins).

Phillips-Exeter and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn. University Budget Committee three years, member University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

With G H Walker & Company, investments and banking, St. Louis, Mo, 1927–28 and Texas Oil Company at Shreveport, La, 1928; attended Yale School of Law 1928–29 and University of Michigan Law School (LL B 1937), associated with New York Trust Company, New York City, and with Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company in Chicago 1931–32 and New York City 1932; instructor in English Tome School for Boys, Port Deposit, Md, 1932–33; admitted to District of Columbia bar 1935; on Robbins Ranch, Belvidere, Kans., 1935–37, in office of Robert H. Jackson, assistant attorney general of the United States, Washington; in legal division Reconstruction Finance Corporation, Washington, and Disaster Loan Corporation, in legal department General Electric Company, Schenectady, 1942–43; with Lend Lease Administration (Middle East division, Cairo, Egypt) March–November, 1943; member Congregational church, Wethersfield, Conn.

Married January 31, 1939, in Washington, Florence Leslie Coyle. No children Mr. and Mrs Robbins were divorced

Death due to heart trouble brought on by overwork for Lend Lease and living conditions in the Middle East. Buried in Harper, Kans. Survived by mother, a sister, Mrs Florence R Koger of Joplin, Mo, and three brothers, Richard W Robbins, '13, Edward Chester Robbins of Belvidere, Kans, and Martin H Robbins, '23.

Talcott Wainwright, B.A. 1927.

Born February 12, 1904, in Scranton, Pa. Died April 19, 1945, in the Philippine Islands.

Father, Jonathan Mayhew Wainwright (B A. Trinity Coll. [Conn.] 1896, M D Columbia Univ. 1899), chief surgeon Delaware, Lackawanna & Western Railroad, president American Society for the Control of Cancer, son of William Augustus Muhlenberg and Helena Barker (Talcott) Wainwright of Hartford, Conn. Mother, Jessie Bell (Hart) Wainwright (B A Vassar Coll 1896); daughter of William Eldon and Isabella Wasson (Deuel) Hart of Englewood, N J. Yale relatives include Samuel Talcott (B A 1733) (great-great-great-great-grandfather), Philip S. Wainwright, '08 S (uncle)

Technical High School, Scranton, and Phillips-Exeter. Freshman Swim-

ming Squad; University Boxing Squad three years; member Beta Theta P1.

Employed for a short time after graduation by F. W. Woolworth Company, Harrisburg, Pa.; attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1929-33 (M.D. 1933); interne Moses Taylor Hospital, Scranton, 1933-34 and Nanticoke (Pa.) State Hospital 1934-35; pathologist and surgeon in Scranton 1935-40, pathologist Goodwin Memorial Hospital, Oil City, Pa., 1940–41; entered service September 1, 1941, with rank of Captain, Medical Corps, Army of the United States, initial assignment as chief of laboratory service Tilton General Hospital, Fort Dix; overseas duty March 1, 1942; transferred March, 1942, to 10th Evacuation Hospital, Brisbane, Australia, promoted Major in May, 1943; in command of 22d Portable Hospital; assigned to Technical Intelligence, received Legion of Merit from General MacArthur for exceptionally meritorious conduct in performance of services in pushing forward Allied air bases in New Guinea, at that time was medical officer for construction and reconnaissance party establishing air transport fields in advance of Allied positions in the Buna area for support of operations in Papuan campaign, member St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Scranton.

Married (1) April 29, 1932, at Crystal Lake, Pa, Rachel Alice Niles (B A. Wellesley Coll 1926), daughter of John Southworth Niles (M.D. Jefferson Medical Coll. 1895) and Bertine (Hunsicker) Niles No children Dr and Mrs. Wainwright were divorced in 1936 Married (2) July 4, 1937, in Tunkhannock, Pa., Arvilla, daughter of Cullen Bryant and Elsie (Hadsell) Randall. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in US Army Cemetery, Manila. Survived by wife, mother, a sister, Ruth Wyllys Wainwright Wallace (B.A. Vassar Coll 1931), the wife of William McLean Wallace (B.A. Univ. Pennsylvania 1934, M.D. 1938) of Scranton, and a brother, Grosvenor Wainwright, ex-'30.

Walter Thomas Lee, B.A. 1928.

Born October 6, 1901, in Meriden, Conn. Died March 12, 1945, in Snoqualmie, Wash.

Father, Daniel Patrick Lee; foreman Æolian Company, Meriden Mother, Ellen M. (Kearney) Lee.

Meriden High School and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Variously employed in several cities 1928–42; accountant in New York City brokerage firms Chas. D Barney & Company and Putnam & Company, Inc; inducted into Army of the United States August 20, 1942, at Finance Replacement Training Center, Fort Benjamin Harrison, August-December; Army Finance School, Fort Custer, January until dis-

charge August 4, 1943; employed at Boeing Aircraft Corporation, Sno-qualmie, 1943-45.

Unmarried.

Death due to exposure. Buried in Sacred Heart Cemetery, Meriden. Survived by mother, two sisters, Mrs. Joseph H. Stevens and Miss Margaret K. Lee, and three brothers, Robert J. Lee, Daniel G. Lee, and John F. Lee, all of Meriden.

Richard Minor Holter, Ph.B. 1929.

Born November 20, 1904, in Helena, Mont. Died July 17, 1944, in Brigham City, Utah.

Father, Norman Bernard Holter (ME Columbia Univ. 1891), president A M Holter Hardware Company, Helena; son of Anton Martin and Mary Pauline (Loberg) Holter of Helena. Mother, Florence (Jefferis) Holter, daughter of Charles Minor and Sarah (Bell) Jefferis of Helena. Yale relatives include: Edwin O. Holter, '94, Aubrey M. Holter, '05, and Percy W Holter, '07 (uncles); Edwin O. Holter, Jr., '30 (cousin).

Helena High School and Phillips-Exeter. Freshman 150-pound Crew; University 150-pound Crew Sophomore and Junior years; member Beta Theta Pi

Worked in father's store 1929–30; instructor in economics Intermountain Union College, Helena, 1930–33; associated intermittently with the Texas Company, petroleum products, Los Angeles, 1933–42 (in production department and land and lend lease division 1936–39); member St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Helena.

Married June 21, 1939, in Las Vegas, Nev., Willie Belle, daughter of Michael Hampton and Colista (Jones) Williamson No children.

Enlisted as private, Army of the United States, June 22, 1942; assigned to Camp MacArthur July 6–9, 1942, and Camp Crowder July 12–31, 1942; attended Radio and Television School, Athens, Ga., August 2–October 20, 1942, promoted to technician (5th grade) November 5, 1942; at Madison Barracks, New York, November 11, 1942–March 18, 1943, and A P. Hill Military Reservation, Fredericksburg, Va., March 29–May 24, 1943; overseas August 10, 1943–July 2, 1944; member Field Artillery Observation Battalion and later transferred to Headquarters Staff, in active combat in southern Italy until hospitalized in Naples April, 1944, transferred to Stark General Hospital, Charleston, S.C., and later to Bushnell Army Hospital, Brigham City, commended by order of his General February 16, 1944, for heroic achievement in action near Padiglione, Italy.

Death due to Hodgkin's disease Buried in Forestvale Cemetery, Helena. Posthumously awarded Bronze Star. Survived by wife, father, a sister, Mrs. Marian Holter Barbour of Helena, and a brother, Norman Jefferis Holter

(B.A. Univ. California at Los Angeles 1937, M.A. 1940; M.S. Univ. Southern California 1938) of Silver Spring, Md.

Hiram Edwin Wooster, B.A. 1930.

Born June 14, 1911, in Walden, NY. Died February 17, 1945, on Corregidor, Philippine Islands

Father, Floyd Rider Wooster (B A. Columbia Univ. 1902), a retired manufacturer; formerly treasurer Garrison, Sweet & Company and vice-president Wooster Manufacturing Company, Walden; son of Hiram Butler and Rhua Amelia (Rider) Wooster of Walden. Mother, Edith (Snyder) Wooster (B A. Syracuse Univ 1904); daughter of John Watson and Frances Adeline (Wolf) Snyder of Walden, N Y

Walden High School Scholar of the second rank Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Class water polo team Junior year; Freshman Debating Club.

Attended Harvard Law School 1930–33 (LL.B. 1933; on board *Harvard Law Review* 1932–33); admitted to New York bar 1933 and District of Columbia bar 1935; associated with Root, Clark, Buckner & Ballantine, lawyers, New York City, 1933–34 and with Donovan, Leisure, Newton & Lumbard in Washington 1935–38 and New York City 1938–41

Unmarried. Member First Dutch Reformed Church, Walden.

Entered Army of the United States as private (1st class) February 26, 1941; assigned to Company E, 34th Infantry, February, 1941–January, 1942; paratrooper Company C, Officer Candidate Battalion, Fort Benning, January–June, 1942, and Fort Bragg June–October, 1942; overseas as member 503d Regiment; based in Australia December, 1942–April, 1943, in action at Lae, New Guinea, and other parts of Netherlands East Indies, Philippine campaign winters of 1944 and 1945, wounded on Noemfoor Island in July, 1944.

Private Wooster lost his life in the Battle of Corregidor Buried in Mariveles Military Cemetery, Luzon. Survived by parents, a sister, Ensign Sylvia Wooster, U.S.N.R. (B.A. Mount Holyoke Coll 1940), of Washington, and a brother, John Bigelow Wooster (B A Amherst Coll. 1934, Columbia Univ. 1934–35) of Tarrytown, N.Y.

Gerard Guyot Cameron, B.A. 1931.

Born February 26, 1909, in Princeton, N J. Died March 24, 1945, in Germany.

Father, Arnold Guyot Cameron (BA Princeton 1886, M.A 1888, Ph.D. 1891) of Princeton; professor of French and German languages and

their literatures Miami [Ohio] University 1888-91; assistant professor of French Yale University 1891-97; professor of French at Princeton 1897-1905; author and contributor to financial and economic publications; son of Rev Henry Clay Cameron, Ph D., D.D. (B.A. Princeton 1847), and Mina (Chollet) Cameron of Princeton. Mother, Anne Wood (Finley) Cameron (BA Western Coll. [Ohio] 1887); daughter of Rev. Caleb Woodward Finley (BA. Jefferson Coll. 1850; BD. Western Theological Seminary 1855) and Mary (Cowling) Finley of London, Ohio.

Phillips-Andover Scholar of the second rank first term Freshman year, and third rank Junior year; Freshman Crew Squad; Class crew squad three years, on board Yale Banner and Pot Pourri three years (illustration editor Sophomore year, managing editor Junior year, and chairman Senior

year)

In municipal bond department First National Old Colony Corporation (later First Boston Corporation), investment banking, New York City, 1931-41; assistant comptroller J. H. Williams & Company, Buffalo, NY, 1941-42, attended Graduate School of Business Administration, New York University, 1933; member Troop K, Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1934–37, Association of Ex-Members of Squadron A, and First Presbyterian Church, Princeton.

Unmarried

Enlisted as private in Army of the United States May 8, 1942; chosen for Officer Candidate School at Fort Bragg and sent to Fort Sill August 19, 1942, for six weeks; assigned to 311th Coast Artillery Barrage Balloon Battalion at Camp Tyson September, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Coast Artillery Corps, September 21, 1942; sent to Camp Hawthorne in January, 1943, Fort Custer in October, 1943, and assigned to Transportation Corps, Indiantown Gap, Pa., and Port of Embarkation, Staten Island, NY., December, 1943, until about July, 1944; promoted First Lieutenant, Coast Artillery Corps, January, 1944; sent to Camp Ritchie for training in Counter Intelligence Corps August 19, 1944; went overseas January 20, 1945, had volunteered to go with 17th Airborne Division, 218th CIC. Detachment, on Rhine crossing.

Lieutenant Cameron was killed by enemy small-arms fire after his glider had been hit by anti-aircraft fire while landing. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. Posthumously awarded Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents, two sisters, Constance G. C. Ludington (BA Bryn Mawr Coll 1922), the wife of C. Townsend Ludington, '19, and Yvonne Guyot Cameron (BA. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1932, MA Middlebury Coll 1941) of Princeton, and three brothers, Lieut Col A Guyot Cameron, Jr ('24), FA, AUS, Major Nicholas Guyot Cameron ('26), USAAF, and Lieut. D. Pierre G. Cameron

('28, MA. Middlebury Coll 1939), U.SNR.

Harrison Pratt Morgan, B.A. 1931.

Born October 12, 1908, in Topeka, Kans. Died August 9, 1944, in the Pacific area.

Father, Joseph Elias Morgan, '94, retired; son of Harrison Sherwood and Eva (Pratt) Morgan of Essex, Conn Mother, Ina Ilette Crist Morgan; daughter of William Crane and Josephine (Taylor) Ilette of Fort Madison, Iowa.

Topeka High School; attended Washburn College 1926–27 (member Gamma Alpha). Entered Yale with the Class; scholar of the third rank Sophomore year; Freshman Track Team and Lacrosse Squad; University Lacrosse Squad Sophomore and Junior years; University Glee Club and Chapel Choir Junior and Senior years; contributed to Yale Daily News

Instructor in English American University of Beirut, Syria, 1931-34, in reference department Yale University Library 1934-36 and Library of Congress, Washington, D.C., 1936-38, senior assistant in Linonia and Brothers Library, Yale University, 1938-41.

Unmarried.

Enlisted as seaman (2d class), US Naval Reserve, December, 1941; assigned to Atlantic Fleet in navigation division on cruiser *Philadelphia*, made convoy trips to Scotland, Iceland, and the Caribbean; took part in North African invasion and was at Casablanca; transferred to Submarine Chaser Training Center, Miami, May, 1943; assigned to subchaser with Pacific Fleet as Quartermaster (2d class) and did patrol work until July, 1944.

Quartermaster Morgan was given a First Class rating and assigned to the destroyer Fox, which he joined ten days before he was lost at sea Reports indicate that he was injured and washed overboard in high seas. Survived by parents and a brother, Gale Crist Morgan (grad. U.S. Naval Academy 1921) of Washington.

DeWitt Dilworth Irwin, Jr., B.A. 1933.

Born December 8, 1909, in East Liverpool, Ohio. Died May 17, 1945, in Schewerin, Germany

Father, DeWitt Dilworth Irwin, president Potter's Supply Company, East Liverpool; son of John M and Mary Rebecca (Patterson) Irwin of Salineville, Ohio. Mother, Nellie Alice (Welsh) Irwin; daughter of Theutus J. and Mary Melissa (Sligh) Welsh of East Liverpool

East Liverpool High School and Mercersburg (Pa) Academy. Class basketball squad Freshman year; Class football squad Sophomore year,

Class basketball team and University 150-pound Football Squad and Team Junior year; member Alpha Sigma Phi

Attended Western Reserve University School of Law 1933-36 (LL.B. 1936; member Delta Theta Phi); admitted to the bar 1936; lawyer in East Liverpool 1936-42; member First Methodist Church, East Liverpool.

Married (1) in February, 1935, in Mercer, Pa., Marian Adelaide, daughter of Nettie (Robenstein) Root Son: DeWitt Dilworth, 3d. Mrs. Irwin died June 26, 1937. Married (2) June 11, 1942, in Steubenville, Ohio, Mary Ann, daughter of Michael E and Mary Ann Osborne. Son: Roger Michael

Enlisted in 317th Infantry, 80th Division, Army of the United States, July 17, 1942; received basic training at Camp Forrest, Tenn.; commissioned First Lieutenant, Military Division, Judge Advocate General's Department, January 14, 1943; took refresher course at University of Michigan February, 1943; with 7th Corps, 26th Division, Second Army, and 8th Division, First Army; went overseas December 6, 1943, and stationed in Ireland, England, France, Luxembourg, and Germany; commissioned Captain Judge Advocate General's Department June 6, 1944; took refresher course at British Civil Affairs Staff School in England; promoted to Staff Judge of 8th Division in April, 1945, and awarded Bronze Star Medal

Captain Irwin was a non-combatant casualty. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. Survived by wife, sons, parents, two sisters, Esther Irwin Hocking (B A Cedar Crest Coll. 1929) and Ann Irwin Hoffman (B A Pennsylvania Coll. for Women 1934), the wife of Clair Philip Hoffman (LL.B Cincinnati Law School 1936), and two brothers, William Welsh Irwin and Philip Patterson Irwin (Massachusetts Inst Technology 1936–38; B.Cer.Eng Ohio State Coll 1941), all of East Liverpool

William Hildreth Gillespie, B.A. 1934.

Born September 9, 1912, in New York City. Died June 7, 1945, in Vittel, France.

Father, David H M Gillespie, '98 (M.D. Columbia Univ. 1902), Terminal Surgeon in charge Emergency Hospital Grand Central Terminal, New York City; consulting surgeon Ruptured and Crippled Hospital, New York City; son of William Hildreth and Mary Emma Moffat (Low) Gillespie of Newburgh, N Y. Mother, Lilian (Brechemin) Gillespie; daughter of Col Louis Brechemin and Susan (Buckley) Brechemin of Philadelphia.

Kent (Conn) School Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and of the third rank Junior year, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Football and Baseball squads; Class baseball team Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years; University 150-pound Football Team Junior year; Freshman Glee Club; University Glee Club Junior year; on Chapel Committee Sophomore and Junior years (secretary Junior year), chairman Undergraduate Board of Deacons Church of Christ in Yale University Senior year; member Berkeley Association, Dwight Hall, Pierson College, Psi Upsilon, Aurelian Honor Society, and Scroll and Key

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1934-38 (MD. 1938); interne Presbyterian Hospital, New York City, 1938-40, assistant resident physician 1940-41, and instructor in medicine 1941-42; assistant in medicine Columbia University 1940-44, member All

Angels' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married December 28, 1935, in Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y, Caroline, daughter of Joseph Wood and Mildred (Hopkins) Rutter. Children: David Wood and Anne Hildreth.

Entered active service as Captain, Medical Corps, Army of the United States, February 15, 1942, assigned to 2d General Hospital (Presbyterian Hospital Unit) at Fort George G. Meade; went overseas July 25, 1942, and served in the Belgian Congo, and at Casablanca and Oran, Morocco, for about two years; transferred to France September 1, 1944, assigned at various times to 23d Station Hospital, 237th General Hospital, and 23d General Hospital; promoted Major in September, 1943

Death due to acute infectious hepatitis with jaundice. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Épinal, France. Survived by wife, children, father, and a sister, Suzanne Brechemin Gillespie Graves (Smith Coll ex-'31), the wife of Comdr. Garrett Van Antwerp Graves (U.S. Coast Guard Academy 1926-29; M A. Harvard 1938) of Alexandria, Va.

Thomas Bardon Quayle, B.A. 1934.

Born September 7, 1912, in Cleveland, Ohio Died April 21, 1945, near Dessau, Germany.

Father, George Harland Quayle (Harvard 1896-98), retired; formerly president George H. Quayle Company, real-estate investments, Cleveland; son of George Lewin and Winnifred (Daly) Quayle of Cleveland. Mother, Belle (Bardon) Quayle; daughter of Thomas and Jennie (Grant) Bardon of Ashland, Wis. Yale relatives include an uncle, Thomas Bardon, '12.

University School, Cleveland, and Institut Carnal, Rolle, Switzerland. Scholar of the third rank Junior year; Freshman Fencing and Soccer teams; University Soccer Squad Sophomore and Junior years; University

Soccer Team Senior year; Yale Glee Club Squad Junior year; member

Pierson College and Alpha Delta Phi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1934–35; in research department *Reader's Digest*, Cleveland, 1936–37; studied modern design and architecture at Cranbrook Academy, Bloomfield Hills, Mich, and art at Académie Julian, Paris, 1937–38; attended Princeton School of Architecture 1939–40

Unmarried Member Fairmount Presbyterian Church, Cleveland.

Inducted as private, Army of the United States, March 5, 1941, and assigned to Troop D, 107th Mechanized Cavalry, Camp Forrest and Camp Ord, promoted private (1st class), fourth class specialist (radio operator), May 1, 1941, third class specialist March, 1942, and technician (4th grade) June. 1942, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, July-October. 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, October 19, 1942, promoted First Lieutenant January 29, 1943; assigned to Infantry Replacement Training Camp, Camp Wolters, October, 1942–February, 1943, transferred to Headquarters, 387th Infantry, 97th Division, Camp Swift, February, 1943; went overseas April, 1944; in Manchester, England, May–July, and France, assigned to Third Armored Division at Stollberg, Germany, September, 1944, serving as junior aide to Major General Maurice Rose, and after the death of General Rose as a platoon leader in 36th Armored Infantry Regiment.

Lieutenant Quayle lost his life while leading his platoon in Kochstedt, south of Dessau. Buried in U.S. Army Cemetery No. 1, near Eisenach. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and the Silver Star for gallantry in action against the enemy in Germany on April 1, 1945. Survived by parents and a brother, George Lewin Quayle (grad. Rollins Colling 2) of New York Cott.

Coll 1938) of New York City.

Frederick George Dyas, Jr., B.A. 1935.

Born September 23, 1912, in Chicago, Ill. Died March 10, 1945, on Leyte Island, Pacific area.

Father, Frederick George Dyas (MD Northwestern Univ. 1904), a surgeon in Chicago, professor emeritus of surgery University of Illinois College of Medicine; son of George Keating and Ann Elizabeth (Green) Dyas of Chicago. Mother, Mabel (Freer) Dyas (Wells Coll. ex-'07); daughter of Lemuel Hinton and Clara Raymond (Fowler) Freer of Colorado

Hinsdale Township (Ill) High School, Mercersburg (Pa.) Academy, and Cheshire (Conn.) Academy. Scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years; treasurer El Centro Español de Yale Junior and Senior years and Deutscher Verein Senior year.

Taught at Cheshire Academy 1935-36 and 1937-38, assistant in instruction in Spanish Yale University 1936-37 and 1939-42; graduate student in linguistics Yale University 1937-41 and attended Yale School of Law 1940-42; president New England League of Teachers of Spanish 1939-40; member Grace Church (Episcopal), Hinsdale.

Unmarried.

Enlisted as private, Army of the United States, March 17, 1942, promoted to Top Sergeant; drafted for Office of Strategic Services, Washington, December, 1942; promoted Corporal September 29, 1942, and Sergeant July 9, 1943; on request for combat duty, transferred as private to Fort Riley October, 1943; went overseas in March, 1944, promoted Corporal November, 1944; trained in New Guinea for Reconnaissance Scout Troop until January, 1945; transferred to Philippines with invasion army, 6th Cavalry Reconnaissance Troop, January, 1945; awarded Bronze Star for rescuing a comrade under heavy fire

Corporal Dyas was killed when the plane in which he was being transported from Luzon to a base hospital on Leyte Island, crashed into a mountain. Buried in the military cemetery on Leyte Survived by mother and two sisters, Elizabeth Dyas Markman, the wife of Robert P Markman, ex-'34, and Jane Dyas Thayer Ostrum (Smith Coll. 1929–30; Rockford Coll. 1930-32), the wife of Karl Colton Ostrum (Univ Illinois 1920-21),

all of Hinsdale.

[Charles] Pardee Marshall, B.A. 1935.

Born September 30, 1913, in New York City. Died April 19, 1945, in Germany

Father, Col. Robert Palmer Marshall (B.A Columbia Univ. 1908), F.A., U.S.A., serving with American Military Government in Italy as Regional Commissioner of the Piedmont area; son of Melville Tilden and Katherine (Palmer) Marshall of Cleveland and New York City. Mother, Marie Anna (Pardee) Marshall; daughter of Rev. Charles L Pardee, D D. (B A. 1884), and Emily Marie (Charpentier) Pardee. Yale relatives include. Charles H. Pardee (ex-'54)(great-grandfather), René M Pardee, '10 (uncle).

Collegiate and Browning schools, New York City, and St Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Junior years and of the first rank Sophomore year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Swimming Squad; Sophomore Crew, 150-pound crew squad Freshman and Senior years; University Pistol Team Junior year; Freshman Debating Team; member Davenport College (crew captain Junior year), Yale Political Union, Cannon and Castle, Phi Beta Kappa, and RO.TC. at Yale (commissioned First Lieutenant, Reserve Corps, Army of the United States, October 15, 1938).

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1935–38 (LL.B. 1938); admitted to the bar 1939; clerk Larkin, Rathbone & Perry (later Rathbone, Perry, Kelley & Drye), lawyers, New York City, 1939–41; member Association of Ex-Members of Squadron A and All Angels' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married November 6, 1943, in Fort Leavenworth, Kans, Virginia Moremen Lindsay (Univ. Kentucky ex-'44), daughter of Jess S. and

Virginia Paul (Moremen) Lindsay.

Called to active duty January 27, 1941; served as executive officer Battery F, 186th Field Artillery; Battery Commander, Madison Barracks, NY, January–June, 1941, and Fort Ethan Allen, June, 1941–February, 1943; graduated from Graduate School of Fire, Fort Sill, December, 1941, and Command and General Staff School, Fort Leavenworth, April, 1943; promoted Captain August 26, 1941, and Major February 16, 1943; assigned to 71st Field Artillery Brigade, 13th Corps, 186th Field Artillery Group, Camp A P. Hill, April–June, 1943; sent overseas February, 1944; promoted Lieutenant Colonel, 20th Corps, Field Artillery, March 8, 1944; awarded Bronze Star for operations in France during August–October, 1944.

Lieutenant Colonel Marshall died of wounds received while on a reconnaissance mission in Germany. Buried at Breuma, Germany (to be transferred to US Cemetery No. 1, Margraten, Holland). Survived by

wife, parents, and maternal grandfather.

Albert Sidney Burleson Negley, B.A. 1935.

Born February 10, 1913, in San Antonio, Texas.

Died January 23, 1945, on a Japanese prison ship north of Formosa.

Father, Richard V W. Negley, '09 S, president Negley & Company, manufacturers of paint products, San Antonio; son of William Negley (Cornell Univ ex-'75) and Susan Maria (Jones) Negley of San Antonio. Mother, Laura (Burleson) Negley (B A Univ Texas 1911); daughter of Albert Sidney Burleson (LL B. Univ. Texas 1884) and Adele (Steiner) Burleson of Austin, Texas Yale relatives include an uncle, W. Walter Negley, '17 S

Phillips-Exeter Scholar of the third rank Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Tennis Team; University Tennis Squad Junior and Senior years; on Interfraternity Council Junior year; member Beta Theta Pi and Branford College (captain squash team Junior year).

Attended University of Texas School of Law 1935-38 (LL.B. 1938); admitted to the bar 1938; associated with Brooks, Napier, Brown & Matthews, lawyers, San Antonio, 1938-40; junior office manager A. Soriano y Cia, Manila, 1940-41; member Texas Bar Association.

Unmarried.

Enlisted in Army of the United States in Manila December 8 or 9, 1941; immediately sent to the front in northern Luzon and engaged in holding actions against the Japanese invasion of the island; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, in February, 1942; fought through the Bataan campaign until the surrender; survived the Death March from Bataan and interned in Japanese Military Prison Camp No. 1 at Cabanatuan (sixty miles north of Manila); moved to Manila in October, 1944, to be evacuated from the Philippines and shipped from Manila in December, 1944, survived the bombing and sinking of the transport vessel by United States air action on December 14–15, 1944; transferred to another ship where his death occurred on or about January 23, 1945, somewhere north of Formosa

Survived by parents, a brother, William Negley (B A Univ. Texas 1935) of San Antonio, and maternal grandmother. Another brother, Richard Van Wyck Negley, Jr. (B.S. United States Military Academy 1939), was killed in air action over the Java Sea February 8, 1942.

John Ward Gott, B.A. 1936.

Born August 18, 1914, in Goshen, NY Died May 11, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, Percy V. D. Gott, '02 (LL.B. New York Law School 1904), member Gott & Hadaway, Goshen, son of Joseph W Gott, '73 (LL B. Columbia Univ 1875), and Jane Sears (Sayer) Gott of Goshen Mother, Theodora (Vanamee) Gott (B A. Vassar Coll. 1903); daughter of William and Lida (Ostrom) Vanamee of Newburgh, N.Y.

Kent (Conn) School Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year; Freshman Soccer Squad; Wright Tennis Team Sophomore year; Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; University Glee Club Junior and Senior years, University Budget Committee Sophomore year; Berkeley Association three years; member Yale Political Union and Calhoun College (tennis team Junior year). Attended Yale School of Law 1937–40 (LL.B. 1940).

Admitted to the bar 1941; associated with father's law firm 1936-37 and 1940-42.

Unmarried. Member St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City. Enlisted as apprentice seaman, U.S. Naval Reserve, January 24, 1942, attended Midshipmen's School, New York City, May-August; commissioned Ensign August 3; studied general communications at Postgraduate School, U.S. Naval Academy, August, 1942-January, 1943, commissioned Lieutenant (J.g.) July 1, 1943, and Lieutenant October 1, 1944;

served as ship's secretary on aircraft carrier U.S.S. Bunker Hill, February,

1943-May, 1945

Lieutenant Gott lost his life in an enemy bombing attack while his ship was operating in a forward area near Japan Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and Asiatic-Pacific Area Campaign Medal Survived by parents, a sister, Theodora G. O'Hare (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1929), the wife of Herbert O'Hare (B A George Washington Univ. 1931; LL.B. Harvard 1934) of Mercer Island, Wash, and a brother, Peter V. D Gott, '30 S

Douglas Clinton Northrop, B.A. 1936.

Born July 2, 1913, in Glenbrook, Conn.

Missing in action April 27, 1945, in the northern Marianas Islands.

Presumptive date of death April 28, 1945.

Father, Louis Leroy Northrop, associated with United States Post Office, Stamford, Conn; son of George Washington and Mary (Lockwood) Northrop of Stamford Mother, Jennie Anna (Nowak) Northrop; daughter of John and Thekla (Lucas) Nowak of Norwalk, Conn.

Stamford High School and King School, Stamford. Scholar of the second rank Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Track Team, Freshman Football and Basketball squads; University 150-pound Football Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years (co-captain Senior year), member Saybrook College (basketball team Junior and Senior years).

Delivery manager Western Union Telegraph Company, Stamford, 1936–37, teacher and athletic coach Somerset Hills Preparatory School, Far Hills, N.J., 1938–39; member St. John's Church (Episcopal), Stamford

Unmarried

Enlisted as aviation cadet, US Army Air Corps, August 14, 1939; primary training Parks Air College, basic and advanced training at Randolph and Kelly fields; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Corps Reserve, May 14, 1940; assigned to 49th Bombardment Squadron, Langley Field, May, 1940–August, 1941; stationed with 41st Reconnaissance Squadron in Newfoundland August, 1941–November, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant November 1, 1941, and Captain March 1, 1942; stationed in England with anti-submarine patrol November, 1942–March, 1943, promoted Major January 7, 1943; transferred to Africa March, 1943, and returned to the United States June, 1943; assigned to 877th Bomber Squadron, Smoky Hill Army Air Field, in May, 1944; awarded Air Medal; went overseas in September, 1944; commanding officer 877th Bomber Squadron, 499th Bomb Group, Saipan, about September, 1944,

until April, 1945; promoted Lieutenant Colonel November 6, 1944; pilot of the first B-29 Superfortress to drop a bomb on Tokyo November, 1944

Lieutenant Colonel Northrop was on a mission to Kyushu, Japan, April 27, 1945, when his plane developed engine trouble and caught fire The crew bailed out and all were picked up except Colonel Northrop who was not found The presumptive date of death was fixed as April 28, 1945. Survived by parents and a brother, Arthur Leroy Northrop of Stamford.

William Henry Chickering, B.A. 1937.

Born May 8, 1916, in Piedmont, Calif.

Died January 6, 1945, in Lingayen Gulf, Philippine Islands.

Father, Allen Lawrence Chickering (B A. Univ California 1898, LL.B. 1901; Harvard Law School 1898–1900), member Chickering & Gregory, lawyers, San Francisco; member board of directors and executive committee Southern Pacific Company, Pacific Gas & Electric Company, and Pacific Telephone & Telegraph Company; vice-president San Diego Gas & Electric Company; chairman board of trustees Rancho Santa Ana Botanic Garden; trustee Hastings College of the Law, University of California; son of William Henry Chickering (B A. Amherst Coll. 1871) and Caroline Amelia (Clapp) Chickering (Vassar Coll. ex-'72). Mother, Alma Henson (Sherman) Chickering (Univ California ex-'03); daughter of Walter N. Sherman (M.D. Medical Coll. Indiana 1875) and Mary Jane (Henson) Sherman of Merced, Calif.

Thacher School, Ojai, Calif., and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Freshman Glee Club; on editorial board Yale Record three years (chairman Senior year); columnist Yale Daily News Junior year, member The Pundits, Branford College, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Traveled in the Orient and located in Honolulu 1937, copywriter Bowman, Holst, Macfarlane, Matson, Ltd, advertising agency, Honolulu, 1937–39; engaged as free-lance writer and resided in Honolulu 1939–41; author: Within the Sound of These Waves (1941)

Married May 12, 1938, in Honolulu, Audrey, daughter of William Jay and Audrey (Hammond) Madden. Sons: Sherman Bay and William Henry, 3d (born January 15, 1945)

War correspondent for Life and Time magazines 1942-45, covered New Guinea and Australia September, 1942-May, 1943, accompanied Navy task force in invasion of Gilbert Islands and with the Marines in the invasion of Treasury Island and Bougainville, and at capture of Kwajalein, September, 1943-February, 1944, editor Army and Navy department Time Magazine February-September, 1944; returned to the Pacific

area September, 1944, to cover General MacArthur's return to the Philip-

pines.

Mr. Chickering had completed the Leyte campaign and was killed on the bridge of a battleship by enemy air action in the invasion of Luzon. Survived by wife, sons, parents, a sister, Mary C. Erdman (Vassar Coll. ex-'27), the wife of Harold Randolph Erdman (B.A. Princeton 1927) of Honolulu, and two brothers, Allen Lawrence Chickering, Jr. (B A. Univ. California 1929, LL.B 1933, Harvard Law School 1929–30), of San Francisco, and Sherman Chickering, U S.N.R. (B.A. Univ. California 1933; LL.B. Harvard 1936).

Ernest Dwight Clark, Jr., B.A. 1937.

Born May 19, 1916, in Woodstock, Va. Died November 2, 1944, in Germany.

Father, Ernest D. Clark, '07 S., '08 F., a forester and dairy farmer in East Cornwall, Conn, son of Andrew Miles and Mary Lydia (Brown) Clark of East Cornwall. Mother, Bertha Marion (Branch) Clark (grad. Willimantic [Conn.] State Teachers Coll. 1906); daughter of Walter Hamlet and Ella Maria (Gould) Branch of Danielson, Conn. Yale relatives include George Clark (BA. 1726)(great-gre

Litchfield (Conn.) High School Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year and of the second rank Junior year; oration appointment and honors in government Senior year, member ROTC. at Yale (cadet sergeant; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, Officers Reserve Corps, June, 1937); member Yale Political Union and Davenport College.

Attended Yale School of Law 1937-40 (LL.B. 1940).

Admitted to the bar 1940; associated with Robinson [Lucius F, '85, Lucius F, Jr, '18, and Barclay, '19], Robinson & Cole [Francis W. '04], lawyers, Hartford, 1940–41; member First Methodist Church, New Haven.

Married September 16, 1939, in New Haven, Hazel Marie, daughter of Harold Stewart and Abigail Louise (Reynolds) Cain. Daughters: Mari-

anne Louise and Lynne Patricia

Called to active duty and commissioned First Lieutenant April 25, 1941; promoted Captain November 21, 1942; served with 26th and 178th Field Artillery battalions until assigned to 47th Field Artillery Battalion, Fort Bragg, as regimental personnel officer and assistant adjutant June 1, 1941–February 11, 1942; assigned to Fort Sill February-August, 1942; on California desert maneuvers September-November, 1942; stationed at Camp Cooke November, 1942–March, 1943; on maneuvers in Tennes-

see March-June, 1943; at Pine Camp June-November, 1943, and Indiantown Gap November, 1943-February, 1944; acted as trial judge advocate for several months; sent overseas February, 1944, and stationed in England for a time; with Lieutenant General Hodges' First Army in France and Germany.

Captain Clark was killed in action in Germany. Buried in Henri Chapelle Cemetery No. 1, Belgium Survived by wife, daughters, parents, and three sisters, Lieut. Helen Melissa Clark, A N C. (grad. Danbury [Conn] State Normal School 1932 and Union Memorial Hospital, Baltimore, 1942), of East Cornwall, Elizabeth Clark Turner (B S Bridgewater Coll. 1941), the wife of Ralph Turner of Orange, Mass, and Sarah Barbara Clark Griffin (grad Kings' Daughters' Hospital, Portsmouth, Va., 1944), the wife of John Griffin of Suffolk, Va.

James Quincy Doyle, B.A. 1937.

Born January 30, 1914, in Springfield, Mass. Died July 31, 1944, in the Pacific area

Father, James Quincy Doyle, vice-president and general manager Springfield Breweries Company, Inc.; son of James and Margaret (Hanlon) Doyle of Chicopee, Mass Mother, Helen Margaret (Burke) Doyle; daughter of James Joseph and Margaret Emly (Kirk) Burke of Holyoke, Mass. Yale relatives include two cousins, James C. Burke, '34 S., and Robert J. Burke, '36.

Classical High School, Springfield, and Roxbury School, Cheshire, Conn.; attended Union College 1933-35 (member Alpha Delta Phi) Entered Yale College Junior year, member Timothy Dwight College (on crew and football and basketball teams Junior year; captain football team Senior year).

Inspector J. Stevens Arms Company, branch of Savage Arms Corporation, Chicopee Falls, March-September, 1938, commercial representative Western Union Telegraph Company, Boston, 1938–41; member St Michael's Cathedral (Roman Catholic), Springfield.

Married February 6, 1943, in Honolulu, Elise Cooke (Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1941–43), daughter of J Platt Cooke, ex-'20, and Alice (Hastings) Cooke and granddaughter of Joseph P. Cooke, '94. Son' James Quincy, Jr

Enlisted, U.S. Naval Reserve, June 1, 1941, attended Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University; commissioned Ensign September 12, 1941; attended Fighter Director Control School, Naval Air Station, San Diego, October, 1941–January, 1942; fighter director officer aboard heavy cruiser U.S.S. *Pensacola* January–December, 1942, promoted Lieutenant (1.g.) October 1, 1942, and Lieutenant October 1, 1943; instructor Fighter

Director and Combat Information Center School, Pearl Harbor, Decem-

ber, 1942-July, 1944

Lieutenant Doyle lost his life in an airplane crash while on a mission to a new base in the Southwest Pacific Survived by wife (Mrs. Frederick W. Pratt, Jr.), son, mother, a sister, Margaret Helen Kirk Doyle Eliel (B.A Russell Sage Coll. 1934), the wife of Arthur Gerald Eliel (B.S. Armour Inst Technology 1914) of Cambridge, Mass, and three brothers, Frank Michael Doyle (American International Coll. 1938–42), Arthur M Doyle (Syracuse Univ. 1938–39; Yale School of the Fine Arts 1940–42), and Walter B. Doyle (Class of 1945).

Logan Munroe, B.A. 1937.

Born January 26, 1915, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 16, 1945, in Norfolk, Va.

Father, Charles Andrews Munroe (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1896; LL.B. Northwestern Univ. 1899), retired public utilities executive; trustee Middlebury College, son of Merrick Adams and Henrietta Persis (Mason) Munroe of Middlebury, Vt. Mother, Rhea (Logan) Munroe; daughter of Frank Granger Logan, LL.D, and Josephine (Hancock) Logan of Chicago. Yale relatives include three uncles: Stuart Logan, '08 S., Howard H. Logan, '10 S., and Spencer H. Logan, ex-'18 S.

Evans School, Tucson, Arız, and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn. Vanderbilt football, squash, and baseball teams Sophomore year; member Branford College (football and squash teams Junior and Senior

years, captain football team Senior year) and Beta Theta Pi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1937–38; associated with National Oil Products Company, Harrison, N.J., 1939–40 and Pease & Elliman, Inc., real estate, New York City, 1940–41.

Married September 16, 1939, in Locust Valley, N.Y, Jean Stirling, daughter of Henry C Martin, '02 S, and Elfrieda (Weber) Martin.

Children Cynthia Logan and Charles Andrews, 2d.

Entered active service as Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, February 27, 1942; attended Naval Mine Warfare School, Yorktown, Va, March-May and October-November, 1942, officer in charge U S S. Roller, a minesweeper, based at Cape May, N J, May 29-October 15, 1942, promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) March 1, 1943, and Lieutenant April 1, 1944; in Stockton, Calif., fitting out minesweeper YMS 384 December 15, 1942-May 1, 1943, and was its commander in the Pacific May 1, 1943-September 18, 1944; returned from the Pacific in October, 1944, and sent to Minecraft Training Center, Little Creek, Va, until January 1, 1945; assigned as executive officer on minesweeper U S S. Invade (AM 254) January-June, 1945.

Lieutenant Munroe died of injuries received in an accident while board-

ing his ship. Buried in Middlebury Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, father, and two sisters, Rhea M. Elliman, the wife of Lawrence Bogert Elliman, Jr. (B A. Princeton 1931), of Pawling, NY, and Josephine M. Lloyd, the wife of Herbert Lloyd (Harvard ex-'30) of New York City.

John Silas Sheffield Peirson, B.A. 1937.

Born September 2, 1913, in Newark, N.Y. Died December 25, 1944, in Belgium.

Father, Silas Raynor Peirson (Union Coll [NY] ex-'86), vice-president First National Bank, Newark; son of Silas Spencer and Armeda (VanWagenen) Peirson of Newark. Mother, Grace Rogers (Sheffield) Peirson (Ph B. Syracuse Univ. 1900); daughter of John and Keziah Amelia (Rogers) Sheffield of Sodus Point, NY. Yale relatives include an uncle, Merle Lewis Sheffer, '05.

Washington High School, Newark, and Mercersburg (Pa) Academy. Freshman Basketball Team and Vanderbilt Basketball Team Sophomore year; member Timothy Dwight College (basketball and tennis teams Junior and Senior years; captain basketball team Senior year, Senior aide) and Alpha Chi Rho.

Staff writer Fortune 1937–38 and American and Tide magazines 1939; director of public relations Mercersburg Academy 1939–42, member St Mark's Church (Episcopal), Newark

Married September 2, 1942, in Pittsburgh, Mary Elizabeth Frost (B S. Univ. Pittsburgh 1935), daughter of Ellis Mills Frost (M D Univ Pennsylvania 1907) and Alice Real (Bell) Frost Son Richard Frost

Inducted into Army of the United States as volunteer officer candidate October 2, 1942; received basic and non-commissioned officer training at Camp Robinson October, 1942–January, 1943, entered Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, January 9, 1943, and commissioned Second Lieutenant April 14, 1943; assigned as public relations officer, Intelligence Staff, 3d Battalion, 290th Regiment, 75th Infantry Division, Fort Leonard Wood, April 26, 1943–February, 1944; on maneuvers in Louisiana February–April, 1944, and later stationed at Camp Breckinridge (served successively as platoon leader, Company L, 3d Battalion; staff intelligence officer, staff plans and operations officer; and company commander of Company L); promoted First Lieutenant May 19, 1944; sent overseas in October, 1944; stationed in England, France, and Belgium

Lieutenant Peirson was killed in action while leading his platoon on the north side of the Belgian Bulge. Buried in Henri Chapelle Cemetery, Belgium. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, son, mother, and a half sister, Margaret Peirson Roenke,

the wife of Richard Peirson Roenke (Cornell Univ. 1940-42) of Geneva, N.Y.

Gerald Robert Steinberg, B.A. 1937.

Born August 1, 1916, in Stamford, Conn. Died November 12, 1944, in France.

Father, Michael Steinberg, president Musante, Berman & Steinberg Company, Inc, wholesale fruit and produce, Bridgeport, Conn.; son of Jacob and Ida (Cohen) Steinberg of Springfield, Mass. Mother, Rae Harriet (Osmansky) Steinberg; daughter of Solomon and Jeanette (Glassner) Osmansky of Stamford.

Norwalk (Conn.) High School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and of the first rank Sophomore and Junior years; high oration appointment Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; honors, with exceptional distinction, in history at Commencement; Freshman Fencing Team; University Fencing Team Junior and Senior years (winner intercollegiate fencing championship medal 1935); member Jonathan Edwards College (captain fencing team Sophomore year, football team three years) and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Harvard Law School 1937-40 (LL B. 1940); associate Mellitz & Weingarten, lawyers, Bridgeport, 1940-41 and Keogh [John, '97 L] & Candee [Nehemiah, '93], South Norwalk, 1941-42; member Beth Israel Society, South Norwalk.

Married September 17, 1940, in New Haven, Conn, Edith Hoffman (B A Smith Coll. 1940), daughter of Israel J Hoffman, '11 L., and Minnie (Bronfin) Hoffman Son Gerald Robert (born February 20, 1945).

Enlisted as private, Army of the United States, November 13, 1942; received basic training at Camp Croft, promoted corporal March 27, 1943; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, March–July, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, July 16, 1943; assigned to Camp Wheeler August 1, 1943, Camp Rucker May, 1944, and Fort George G. Meade June, 1944, went overseas in August, 1944; stationed in England August–September, 1944; sent to France September 7, 1944; promoted First Lieutenant November 2, 1944; served with 90th Division, Third Army; commanded a rifle platoon in France

Lieutenant Steinberg was killed in action in France. Buried in an American cemetery in eastern France Survived by wife, son, parents, two sisters, Mrs Samuel Regenstreif of South Norwalk and Miriam Steinberg (BA. Connecticut Coll for Women 1946), and two brothers, Clifford Steinberg, '42, and Harold Steinberg (Class of 1948).

Lieutenant Steinberg's family and friends made a gift to the University to establish in his memory the Gerald Robert Steinberg Scholarship Fund

Howard Barry Comen, B.A. 1938.

Born June 14, 1917, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 25, 1945, near Rhens, Germany.

Father, Harry Comen, president Old England Brewing Company, Derby, Conn.; son of Nathan and Eva (Shapiro) Comen of Worcester, Mass. Mother, Susan (Yudkin) Comen; daughter of Harris and Freida (Malament) Yudkin of Ansonia, Conn.

New Haven High School and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Member Pierson College.

Employed in New Haven 1938-43 (successively broker Continental Insurance and Continental Casualty companies and associated with Sidney Silverberg Insurance Company 1938-42; with High Standard Manufacturing Company 1942-43); member Flotilla No 713, Coast Guard Auxiliary, and Temple Mishkan Israel, New Haven

Married August 11, 1940, in Elkton, Md., Helen Claire, daughter of Daniel F. Levy, '15 S., '19 M., and Minnie (Still) Levy. Daughter Carole Suzanne.

Entered Army of the United States as private at Fort Devens, August 9, 1943; received training at Fort Bragg August 11–December 17, 1943, trained with pack artillery unit No 8, Camp Gruber, December, 1943–February, 1944, and Camp Carson March 1–August 15, 1944; with motorized Field Artillery at Camp Chaffee; stationed at Fort George G Meade October, 1944, until sent overseas in November, 1944; joined 87th Division, Third Army, in France, December, 1944

Private Comen was killed when his assault boat was hit by enemy fire while crossing the Rhine River. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, and a brother, Seymour Milton Comen (Univ. Vermont 1941–43), all of New Haven.

Anthony Cherry Joseph Davidonis, B.A. 1938.

Born April 22, 1915, in Ansonia, Conn Died April 21, 1945, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Joseph Vincent Davidonis, a foreman Ansonia Manufacturing Company, brass, screw, and machine products; son of Anthony and Agnes (Deltuwa) Davidonis of Ansonia. Mother, Magdalen Helene (Cherry)

Davidonis; daughter of Anthony Nicholas and Evelyn (Yoksa) Cherry of Lithuania. Yale relatives include an uncle, George P. Davidonis (cert. School of Music 1923).

Charles H. Pine Manual Training High School, Ansonia, and Ansonia High School. Scholar of the first rank Freshman year and of the second rank Sophomore and Junior years; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; honorable mention Andrew D. White Prize Freshman and Junior years; winner New York Yale Club charm Freshman year, member Berkeley College; elected to Phi Beta Kappa in Junior year Graduate student in history Yale University 1938–42 (M.A. 1942).

Instructor in history Princeton University 1942-45; author of several published articles; member St. Anthony's Church (Roman Catholic),

Ansonia

Married September 2, 1939, in Newtown, Conn, Eleanor Lattin, daughter of John Stephen and Florence Nelson (Lattin) Keating.

Death due to rheumatic heart disease. Buried in Mount St. Peter's Cemetery, Derby, Conn. Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Mrs. William Hart Shepherd of Ansonia, and paternal grandmother.

Trumbull Frazer, B.A. 1938.

Born March 23, 1915, in Asheville, N.C. Died February 7, 1945, in Germany.

Father, [Harvey] Thompson Frazer (B S. Princeton 1897, M.S. 1904; M.D. Columbia Univ 1901), a physician in Asheville; son of David Ruddach and Rose (Thompson) Frazer of Newark, N J. Mother, Julia Wright (Trumbull) Frazer; daughter of Perry and Mary Catherine (Peck) Trumbull of Chicago.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Member Dwight Hall and Trumbull College.

Attended Cornell University Medical College 1938–42 (M.D. 1942); interne Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, 1942; resident ophthalmologist Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary, Boston, 1943. Unmarried.

Commissioned First Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, July 30, 1943; promoted Captain in May, 1944; stationed at Carlisle Barracks, Pa, July 30–September 9, 1943, and at Station Hospital, Biggs Field, Texas, September, 1943–March, 1944, and May-October, 1944; attended School of Aviation Medicine, Randolph Field, March-April, 1944; transferred to Infantry and sent to Camp McCoy in October, 1944; arrived in England December 2; served with 2d Battalion, Medical Section, 417th Infantry.

Captain Frazer was killed when his battalion made an assault crossing

of the Sauer River near Echternach, Luxembourg, to attack the Siegfried Line. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Hamm, Luxembourg Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by mother

[Edward] McGuire Gordon, B.A. 1938.

Born May 5, 1916, in Savannah, Ga. Died August 18, 1944, in the Pacific area

Father, G. Arthur Gordon, '92 S Mother, Margaret Cameron (McGuire) Gordon. Yale relatives include: George A. Gordon (B A. 1849)(great-uncle); William W. Gordon (B A. 1854)(grandfather); William W. Gordon, '86 S. (uncle).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Scholar of the second rank Sophomore year and of the third rank Junior year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; winner Spring Tennis Tournament Freshman year; on editorial board Class Book; member Elizabethan Club, Timothy Dwight College (hockey and tennis teams three years; captain tennis team Sophomore year; Senior aide; captain in budget drive Senior year), Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and NROT.C (commissioned Ensign June, 1938).

Graduated from School of Commerce, Accounts, and Finance, New York University, 1939; in credit department Central Hanover Bank and Trust Company, New York City, 1938–40; during 1938–40 devoted much time to work for St. George's Church at Rainsford House, of which he was the first head; investment analyst and account manager Minis & Company, Savannah, 1940; secretary Savannah Yale Club 1941–42; Alumni Fund Agent 1938–42; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Savannah. Unmarried.

Called to active service August 14, 1940; recruiting officer Naval Recruiting Office, Savannah; executive officer, inshore patrol section base, Naval Reserve Armory, South Jacksonville, Fla, March-October, 1941; served aboard USS *Emerald*, promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) January 6, 1942, Lieutenant June 15, 1942, and Lieutenant Commander March 15, 1944; operations officer Mayport (Fla) Naval Base January-May, 1942, gunnery officer aboard USS. *Markasite* May-October, 1942; executive officer U.S.S. *Hilo* October, 1942-November, 1943 (took part in Papuan and New Guinea campaigns), and US.S. *Wachapreague* March-August, 1944.

Death due to acute myocarditis. Survived by mother, two sisters, Mary G. Platt, the wife of Richard Shackleford Platt (Univ. Michigan ex-'26) of St. James, N.Y., and Margaret Eleanor Gordon, W.A.C. (B A. Sweet Briar Coll. 1944), and a brother, Major G. Arthur Gordon ('34), A.U S.

Peter Stetson Greene, B.A. 1938.

Born September 28, 1915, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died April 3, 1945, in Brisbane, Australia.

Father, Clifford Greene, 'or. Mother, Elaine (Lee) Greene.

Deane School for Boys, Santa Barbara, Calif., and Santa Barbara School. Freshman Fencing Squad, member Berkeley College and Chi Psi.

Associated with Otis, McAllister Company, importers and exporters, San Francisco, 1938–40; entered V–12 program of the U.S. Navy November, 1940, and received medical discharge January, 1941; in sales department Cincinnati Ball Crank Company 1941–42; member Episcopal church, Santa Barbara.

Married April 10, 1942, in Cincinnati, Carolyn, daughter of Jesse R. Clark, Jr, '06 S, and Mary Isabella (Davidson) Clark and sister of Jesse R. Clark, 3d (Class of 1946) No children.

Inducted into Army of the United States January 15, 1942; assigned to Company B, 9th Battalion, Armed Forces Replacement Training Center, Fort Knox, January, 1942–July, 1943; promoted Sergeant October, 1942; member Army Specialized Training Program, Ohio State University, July, 1943–March, 1944, stationed at Camp Crowder March–May, 1944, Vint Hill Farms, Warrentown, Va, May–July, and Arlington Hall, Alexandria, Va, July–October 1944; went overseas in November, 1944, as member Signal Intelligence Service.

Buried in U.S. Armed Forces Cemetery near Ipswich, Australia. Survived by wife and a brother, Capt. Clifford Greene, Jr ('41), U.S.M.C.R.

Pearson Sands Jones, B.A. 1938.

Born September 17, 1915, in Wheeling, W.Va. Died September 19, 1944, in the South Pacific area.

Father, James Sumner Jones (grad. U.S Military Academy 1903), president and general manager Stone & Thomas, department store, Wheeling, son of Henry F. and Anna Persus (Stone) Jones of Wheeling. Mother, Marguerite Westinghouse (Sands) Jones; daughter of Col. George Henry Sands (grad. U.S. Military Academy 1880) and Eddie (Pearson) Sands of Sewickley, Pa.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Freshman Boxing Team; Freshman Soccer and Track squads; University Boxing Squad Sophomore year; University Boxing Team Senior year; member Pierson College (football team Junior year) and Chi Psi.

Buyer and assistant merchandise manager Stone & Thomas 1938-40 and secretary and merchandise manager 1940-42; owner and director

Peoples Store, Inc., Charleston, W Va; director Community Fund of Wheeling, retail chairman U.SO, on West Virginia State Racing Commission 1940-42; member St Matthew's Church (Episcopal), Wheeling.

Married November 24, 1938, in Wheeling, Kathleen Ann, daughter of Louis Aloysius and May (Gillooly) Stauver. Son. Robert Courtney Davis.

Enlisted as private (1st class), US Marine Corps, and assigned to 13th Candidates Class, Quantico, September 19-December 2, 1942, 16th Reserve Officers Class December 2, 1942-February 10, 1943, and Artillery Class February 10-May 5, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant December 2, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant September 30, 1943, executive officer Battery C, First Company, 14th Marines, Fleet Marine Force, Camp Lejeune, May 5-August 6, 1943, and Camp Pendleton August 6, 1943-January, 1944; went overseas January 12, 1944, took part in invasions of the Marianas and Marshall islands; received Presidential Unit Citation, was recommended for the Silver Star, Letter of Commendation, and Legion of Merit for service in campaigns of Saipan and Tinian

Lieutenant Jones was killed when he lost his footing and fell into a canyon while conducting a class in scouting and patrol. Buried in Maui, T.H. Survived by wife, son, mother, a brother, Lieut Col. Wilbur Stone Jones (B.S United States Military Academy 1931), and maternal grandmother.

Forrest Lee Kenner, B.A. 1938.

Born October 11, 1916, in Akron, Ohio Died May 7, 1945, over Luzon, Philippine Islands

Father, Ernest Rodham Kenner (M.E. Georgia Inst. Technology 1907), sales executive Shell Oil Company, Inc., St. Louis, Mo; son of William H. and Lucretia (Tibbs) Kenner of Atlanta, Ga. Mother, Ethel Lillian (Williver) Kenner; daughter of William C. and Selma (Wale) Williver of Milwaukee, Wis.

Western Reserve Academy, Hudson, Ohio. Scholar of the first rank Freshman year and of the second rank Sophomore and Junior years, philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year, awarded Donald Annis Prize Junior year, departmental honors in economics Senior year, Freshman Swimming Team; University Swimming Squad Sophomore and Junior years; University Swimming Team Senior year; member Saybrook College (swimming team Sophomore and Junior years) and Phi Beta Kappa

Merchandising trainee Shell Oil Company, Inc, St. Louis, 1938-40 Unmarried

Inducted as private 166th Infantry Regiment, United States Army, February 8, 1941; basic training at Camp Shelby, Miss; promoted Corporal, anti-tank company, June 8, 1941; attended Officer Candidate

School, Fort Benning, December, 1941–February, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant February 27, 1942, instructor Infantry School, Fort Benning, February–November, 1942, promoted First Lieutenant July 16, 1942, assigned as instructor Infantry Officer Candidate School, Camp Columbia, Brisbane, Australia, November, 1942–March, 1944; promoted Captain June 8, 1943; after repeated requests for combat duty, transferred to Headquarters Infantry Corps, New Guinea, March 15, 1944; served on staff of Assistant Chief of Staff, G-2, Infantry Corps; participated in landings on New Guinea at Hollandia and Biak, and on Leyte and Luzon, Philippine Islands; awarded Bronze Star Medal; promoted Major October 1, 1944; served as assistant Corps G-2 on staff of Major General Innis P. Swift, Headquarters Corps, during Philippines Liberation Campaign.

On May 7, 1945, Major Kenner failed to return from a reconnaissance flight from Lingayen Airfield on Luzon, over Japanese-held territory in the vicinity of Baguio He was declared killed in action as of that date on March 13, 1946, upon discovery of evidence of death. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by mother, a sister, Elizabeth Kenner (B.A. Wesleyan Coll. 1942) of Cleveland, and two brothers, Rodham W. Kenner, '37, and Hamilton W. Kenner, '41.

Robert William Small, B.A. 1938.

Born July 27, 1916, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died August 11, 1944, in Richmond, Va.

Father, Raymond B. Small, '08, vice-president Quadrex Corporation, manufacturers of vacuum cleaners, New York City; son of Samuel Houston and Emma Marie (Fischer) Small of Cincinnati. Mother, Teresa Bartlett (Evans) Small (B A. Ohio Wesleyan Univ. 1910); daughter of Thomas Bartlett and Julia (Jaynes) Evans of Cincinnati.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; departmental honors in economics Senior year; Freshman Baseball Squad, University Cross Country Team Senior year; member Yale Political Union and Davenport College (baseball and bowling teams Junior year) Attended Yale School of Law 1938-41 (LL B. 1941).

Admitted to the bar 1941, associated with Breed, Abbott & Morgan, lawyers, New York City, 1941–42; took an engineer and airplane maintenance course, School of Aviation, Roosevelt Field, 1942–43; member North Avenue Presbyterian Church, New Rochelle, NY.

Married June 28, 1941, in Brooklyn, Shirley Ruth, daughter of Merrill Newton Foote (Cornell Univ. 1908–12; M.D. Columbia Univ. 1916) and Ruth Harriet (Sackman) Foote Daughter: Sheila Merrill.

Inducted into Army of the United States July 6, 1943, and stationed at

Camp Upton; received basic training at Miami Beach; assigned to Seymour Johnson Field as aviation cadet November 7, 1943; and later as a student to Army Air Forces Technical Training Command at Yale, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, June 22, 1944; squadron engineer Foster Field, Matagorda Peninsula, Texas, and Richmond Army Air Base.

Lieutenant Small was instantly killed when he was accidentally struck by a plane that was landing on the field Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Bellport, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, two sisters, Maribel Small (B A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1941) and Edith Elinor Small Farnum (B.A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1943), the wife of Francis Hamilton Farnum (Univ. Maine ex-'43), both of New Rochelle, a brother, Raymond Evans Small, '35, and paternal grandparents.

Howard Voorheis Stephens, Jr., B.A. 1938.

Born May 22, 1916, in St Louis, Mo Died December 17, 1944, near Bullingen, Belgium.

Father, Howard V. Stephens, '09 S., president Johnson-Stephens & Shinkle Shoe Manufacturing Company, St. Louis; former vice-president St. Louis Board of Police Commissioners and of the St. Louis Browns; son of Charles Henry Stephens (grad. Cincinnati Law School 1864) and Alice Mayhew (Bard) Stephens of Cincinnati. Mother, Eloise (McLeod) Stephens; daughter of Nelson Wesley and Alice Gertrude (Albon) McLeod of St. Louis. Yale relatives include an uncle, Bard Stephens, ex-'03 S.

St. Louis Country Day School. Freshman Football Squad; University Tennis Team three years; University Basketball Squad Sophomore year, captain Harvard-Yale Tennis Team, winner of Prentiss Cup in match with Oxford-Cambridge Team 1938; member Jonathan Edwards College (basketball team Junior and Senior years; football team Senior year), Yale Political Union, and Chi Psi.

Associated with Central Shoe Machinery Company, Boston, 1938–39, assistant to general superintendent in charge of personnel for St. Louis, Rolla, Mo., and Vandalia, Ill., factories of Johnson-Stephens & Shinkle Shoe Manufacturing Company 1939–41; member Second Presbyterian Church, St. Louis. Unmarried.

Enlisted as private in Army of the United States for service in Hawaii August 11, 1941; assigned to Military Police Company, 24th Division, Schofield Barracks, T.H., September 3-October 11, 1941; transferred to Military Intelligence Department, and special agent in charge at Kauai, T.H., May, 1942-January, 1943, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, March-June, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artil-

lery, June, 1943, temporarily stationed at Baltimore, Md, and Fort Bragg July-September, 1943; assigned to 356th Field Artillery Battalion, 94th Infantry Division, September 11, 1943, and took part in maneuvers in Tennessee September-November, 1943; stationed at Camp McCain until June, 1944, Camp Van Dorn, June-July, and Camp Maxey; transferred to 75th Division and later to Counter Intelligence Corps Detachment, 99th Division; sent overseas September, 1944; stationed in England, France, and Belgium, promoted First Lieutenant, probably on the field, in December, 1944, and awarded Bronze Star on the field for helping to slow the enemy drive in Belgium by holding a strategic position until reinforcements arrived.

Lieutenant Stephens was reported missing in action December 17, 1944. Later it was confirmed that he was killed on that day. Buried in Henri Chapelle Cemetery, Belgium. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Eloise Stephens of St. Louis, and two brothers, Lieut McLeod Stephens, A U.S. ('40), and Lieut Charles H. Stephens, 3d, A.A F. ('43).

Wirt Randall Cates, B.A. 1939.

Born January 20, 1916, in Baltimore, Md. Died April 29, 1945, on Negros Island, Philippine Islands.

Father, John M Cates, '06 L, chairman loan committee Federal Land Bank of Baltimore; representative War Shipping Administration, Durban, South Africa, and Bombay, India; graduate director of athletics Yale University 1927–32; son of Willard and Elizabeth (Martin) Cates of St. George, Maine Mother, Mary Arden (Randall) Cates; daughter of J. Wirt Randall, ex-'65 S., and Hannah Parker (Parrott) Randall of Annapolis, Md. Yale relatives include: Richard D A. Parrott, '74 S. (great-uncle); John R Lowndes, ex-'27 S., Roger Williams, Jr., '31 S, R. Arden Lowndes, '31 S, Upshur Lowndes, ex-'36, and Christopher Lowndes, '38 (cousins).

Phillips-Andover Freshman Track and Boxing teams; University Track Squad Sophomore year; University 150-pound Football Team Junior and Senior years, manager Freshman Glee Club; University Glee Club Junior and Senior years, an associate member University Dramatic Association; member Delta Kappa Epsilon, Elihu, and Berkeley College (on swimming team, captain track team)

In training course of American Tobacco Company, Inc, stationed in New York City, Baltimore, and Durham, N.C., 1939-41; member St. David's Church (Episcopal), Baltimore.

Married in March, 1943, in Cairns, Australia, Uldine Mulholland. Son: Wirt Randall, Jr.

Enlisted in Army of the United States February 27, 1941; assigned to

22d Infantry, 4th Division, 2d Battalion Headquarters Detachment, Fort Benning, March-October, 1941; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, October, 1941–January, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, January 23, 1942; transferred to Camp Croft; volunteered for parachute troops March 10, 1942; assigned to 503d Parachute Regiment, Fort Benning, becoming a qualified jumper April 20, 1942; transferred to Fort Bragg and sent overseas October, 1942, as member Headquarters Company, 503d Parachute Infantry, and later with Company B; promoted First Lieutenant in February, 1943; based in Australia, made combat jumps at Lae, Markham Valley, New Guinea, Noemfoor Island (wounded in leg by a Japanese grenade and awarded the Order of the Purple Heart), Hollandia, Leyte, Mindoro (with first wave of assault troops to land there), and Corregidor; became a company commander in Philippine Islands; left for Negros Island April 21, 1945.

Lieutenant Cates was killed in action while leading his company in an advance on entrenched enemy positions. Buried on Negros Island. Survived by wife, son, parents, and two brothers, John M. Cates, Jr, '36, and Willard Cates, '36.

John Alden Farley, B.A. 1939.

Born April 14, 1917, in Rochester, N.Y. Died October 29, 1944, near Birgden, Germany

Father, J. Allen Farley, '99, treasurer E P. Reed Shoe Company, Rochester; trustee Union Trust Company and Lincoln Alliance Bank; son of Joseph and Katharine (Allen) Farley of Rochester Mother, Rachel Flora (Wheeler) Farley; daughter of Nelson Platt and Rachel Anna (Smith) Wheeler. Yale relatives include two uncles, Alexander R. Wheeler, '11, and W. Reginald Wheeler, '11.

Allendale Country Day School, Rochester, and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Oration appointment Junior year; member Saybrook College (football team Junior and Senior years) and Chi Psi

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1939–41; in aircraft division Ford Motor Company, Dearborn, Mich, 1941–43; member Brick Presbyterian Church, Rochester.

Married February 28, 1942, in Grosse Pointe, Mich, Marjorie Ann, daughter of Harry Akin and Florence (McDonald) Kaufmann Daughter: Stephanie McDonald.

Entered active service October, 1943; received infantry training at Camp Blanding November 25, 1943-April 9, 1944, went overseas June 13, 1944; assigned to Headquarters Company, 1st Battalion, 115th Infantry Regiment, 29th Division.

Private Farley was killed by anti-personnel mine field explosions. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, two sisters, Mary Isabel Farley McCoy, the wife of William Bayard McCoy (BA Princeton 1932) of Rochester, and Rachel Farley Jones, the wife of Marshall H Jones, '32, and a brother, Joseph Farley, '37.

Richard Lewis Morris, Jr., B.A. 1939.

Born August 22, 1917, in New York City. Died October 16, 1944, near Kunming, China.

Father, Richard Lewis Morris (Columbia Univ. ex-'96), partner Hayden, Stone & Company, investment bankers, New York City; son of Stuyvesant Fish Morris (B.A. Columbia Univ 1859) and Ellen (James) Morris of New York City Mother, Carolyn Whitney (Fellowes) Morris; daughter of Cornelius and Caroline (Whitney) Fellowes of New York City.

St Mark's School, Southboro, Mass Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year and of the second rank Junior year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; an editor Yale Daily News three years and columnist Senior year; in charge Senior year history for Class Book; member Davenport College, Yale Political Union, Zeta Psi, Elizabethan Club, and Scroll and Key

Associated with American Film Center, Inc., producers of documentary motion pictures, New York City, 1939–41; won first place in portrait group at Amateur Photograph Show at New York Yale Club and second place in architecture group May, 1941; member St. James' Church (Episcopal), New York City. Unmarried.

Entered service as private, Signal Corps, July, 1941; scenario writer and film editor Training Film Production Laboratory, Fort Monmouth, August-December, 1941, stationed at Aberdeen Proving Ground for a few months early in 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Monmouth, summer 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Signal Corps, August 13, 1942, and First Lieutenant spring 1944; stationed at Training Film Production Laboratory, Wright Field, August, 1942-February, 1943; transferred to 164th Signal Photo Company, Camp Crowder, March, 1943, and placed in charge newsreel assignment unit for combat zone; in charge Signal Corps photographic unit attached to 89th Light Division, Camp Carson, for a short period in 1943; went overseas in December, 1943.

Lieutenant Morris was killed in action. Buried near Kunming. Sur-

vived by parents and a sister, Mrs. Malcolm Graham Field of Sloatsburg, N.Y.

Sanford Benham Perkins, Jr., B.A. 1939.

Born October 10, 1917, in Hartford, Conn. Died December 14, 1944, in the Pacific area.

Father, Sanford B. Perkins, '10 S., secretary compensation and liability department Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, assistant in mechanical engineering Yale University 1911–14 and in mechanical technology 1912–13; son of Alfred Harvey and Minnie Louise (Johnson) Perkins of Torrington, Conn Mother, Ellen Holton (Sherman) Perkins (B.A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1912); daughter of Clifton Lucien and Edith (Holton) Sherman of Hartford.

William Hall High School, West Hartford, and Mount Hermon (Mass.) School Freshman Football Squad, 150-pound University Crew Squad and Vanderbilt Football and Baseball teams Sophomore year; member Timothy Dwight College (crew Junior and Senior years; football team Senior year) and Alpha Sigma Phi.

Statistical and actuarial clerk National Bureau of Casualty & Surety Underwriters, New York City, 1939–41; member West Hartford Congregational Church.

Married February 20, 1942, in Fernandina, Fla., Freda, daughter of

Samuel Nathan and Margaret Elizabeth (Scott) Finney.

Enlisted as seaman (2d class), U.S. Naval Reserve V-5 program, Floyd Bennett Field, April 28, 1941; appointed aviation cadet August 7, 1941; received training at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Fla., August, 1941–February, 1942; commissioned Ensign A-V(N) February 20, 1942, and assigned to duty as flying instructor at Jacksonville until August, 1942; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) March 1, 1943, and Lieutenant April 1, 1944, flying instructor Los Alamitos, Calif., August, 1942–February, 1943; staff instructor at instructors school, Naval Training Station, New Orleans, February, 1943–January, 1944; with VB-81 Dive Bombing Squadron January–February; received training in dive bombers Wildwood, N J, February–May and at Cape Cod, Mass., May–August; went overseas with his squadron August, 1944; in Hawaii was changed from dive bombers to Hellcats, and trained until about October 26 when his carrier went into action

Lieutenant Perkins lost his life as the result of a plane crash at sea Survived by wife, parents (father died September 16, 1945), a sister, Mrs. Joseph Lawrence Shields of Hartford, and maternal grandparents.

Laurence Rector Harper, B.A. 1940.

Born December 13, 1918, in New York City. Died November 21, 1944, over Germany.

Father, Henry Howard Harper of Berlin, Mass.; retired author and publisher; son of Benjamin J. and Eliza (Rector) Harper of Bennington, Vt Mother, Marguerite Rogers (Young) Harper; daughter of James Carlton and Etta (Rogers) Young of Minneapolis, Minn.

St. Mark's School, Southboro, Mass Class debating team Freshman year; Yale Political Union Sophomore year; drama critic and producer of radio programs Yale Daily News Senior year; member Jonathan

Edwards College

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1940-41; withdrew December, 1941, to enter active service in Army Air Forces. Unmarried.

Enlisted Company L, 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, December 20, 1940; promoted private (1st class) April, 1941; primary student Army Air Forces December 29, 1941; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant; assigned to Fort Meyers as an instructor and at Kellogg Field, Mich.; test pilot on medium bomber Hunter Field, Ga; sent overseas to England January, 1944; with 391st Bomber Group, 584th Squadron; flight commander B-26 Marauder Group; took part in invasion of France and participated in about forty-five missions; promoted Captain in 1944.

Captain Harper was killed in a bombing mission over Germany November 21, 1944 Posthumously awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross for extraordinary achievement on aerial flight June 13, 1944, the Air Medal with one Silver and three Bronze Oak Leaf Clusters for meritorious achievement in 1944, the Order of the Purple Heart, and Presidential

Citation Survived by father.

James Lester Israel, B.A. 1940.

Born April 24, 1918, in New York City. Died June 20, 1945, on Palawan Island, in the Pacific.

Father, Adolph Cremieux Israel, founder and president A. C. Israel Commodity Company, Inc, importers of coffee, cocoa, spice, and crude rubber, New York City, son of Joseph and Susan (Levy) Israel of Clinton, La Mother, Babette (Bloch) Israel, daughter of Solomon and Ida (Loeb) Bloch of Lake Charles, La

Phillips-Andover. Freshman Swimming Squad; University Swimming

Squad Sophomore year; Vanderbilt swimming team Sophomore year; member Davenport College (swimming team and crew Junior and Senior years).

Assistant secretary A. C. Israel Commodity Company, Inc., 1940–42; member New York Cocoa Exchange, Inc.; obtained commercial pilot's license December, 1941. Unmarried

Enlisted in U.S. Naval Reserve April 1, 1942, and called to active duty as aviation cadet May 29, 1942; assigned to Preflight School, Chapel Hill, N.C; stationed at Naval Reserve Air Base, Anacostia, DC, August 27-November 26, 1942, and Naval Air Station, Pensacola, November 26, 1942-March 1, 1943; commissioned Ensign U.S. Naval Reserve and designated Naval Aviator March 1, 1943; transferred immediately to Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, and to Naval Air Station, San Diego, June 13, 1943, where assigned to Fleet Air Wing 14, Patrol Squadron 72; assigned to Catalina flying boat (PBY-5) which operated in campaigns of Ellice, Gilbert, and Marshall islands; received special commendation from Major General Willis H. Hale, USA, and endorsed by Admiral Nimitz, U.S.N., for rescue under fire of a pilot of 7th Air Force, downed within four and one-half miles of a Japanese occupied island; promoted Lieutenant (j.g) April 1, 1944; returned to United States August, 1944, for training in use of Privateers, land-based patrol bombers; returned to Pacific area May, 1945, as Privateer commander with Fleet Air Wing 2, Patrol Bombing Squadron 111.

Lieutenant Israel was killed when his plane failed to become airborne and crashed during a take-off in darkness on an operational mission Buried in American Armed Forces Cemetery, Puerto Princessa, Palawan Island. Survived by mother and a brother, Adrian C. Israel, '36 S.

Randolph Mulford Jordan, B.A. 1940.

Born October 7, 1918, in Columbus, Ga. Died December 24, 1944, in Luxembourg

Father, Ralph Curtis Jordan (Massachusetts Inst Technology ex-'03), president Jordan Mills, Inc, textiles, and the Jordan Company, real estate, Columbus; son of George Gunby and Lizzie (Curtis) Jordan of Columbus. Mother, Louise Mott (Mulford) Jordan, daughter of Randolph Mott and Emma (Hill) Mulford. Yale relatives include three cousins, Robert H. Wylie, '27, Lucilla W. Potter (School of Music ex-'29), and Amos K. Wylie, '31.

Columbus High School and Kent (Conn) School. Freshman Football and Baseball squads; University Golf Team Senior year; on Yale Community Council; associate member Yale University Dramatic Association, member Pierson College (golf, basketball, and baseball teams Sophomore

and Junior years), Delta Kappa Epsilon, and The Cloister and Book and Snake. Member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Columbus.

Married January 12, 1942, in Atlanta, Sarah Rawson, daughter of Marion Smith, LLD (BA. Univ Georgia 1903), and Sarah (Rawson) Smith.

Inducted into Army of the United States as private February 21, 1941; assigned to 2d Armored Division, Armored Force Training Center, Fort Knox, February 24—April 14, and Fort Benning April 14—October 7; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Knox, October, 1941—January, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant January 8, 1942; with 6th Armored Division, Camp Cooke, January, 1942—July, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant June 2, 1942, Captain December 29, 1942, and Major July 19, 1943, graduated Command and General Staff School, Fort Leavenworth, April, 1943; assigned to Headquarters Eighteenth Corps, Fort Du Pont, July, 1943—May, 1944; aide-de-camp to General William H. Morris January, 1942—July, 1944; G-3 air officer, 10th Armored Division, Camp Gordon, May—September, 1944, and overseas; served at Metz and Bastogne; awarded Bronze Star.

Major Jordan was killed when the observation plane from which he was overlooking enemy positions crashed Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery No. 1, near Foy, Belgium. Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Louise Virginia Jordan Jennings, the wife of Lieut. Melchior C. Jennings ('40), U.S.N.R., and two brothers, Lieut Ralph Curtis Jordan, Jr., A.U.S. (Univ. Virginia ex-'38; cert. Philadelphia Textile Inst. 1937), and G. Gunby Jordan, 2d, '37.

Robert Forsyth McMullen, B.A. 1940.

Born November 8, 1918, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Missing in action July 8, 1943, in the Mediterranean area. Presumptive date of death July 9, 1944.

Father, Thomas McMullen, sales and advertising manager Arbuckle Coffee Company, New York City; son of Andrew and Catherine (Watson) McMullen of Kingston, N.Y Mother, Jane Little (Emerson) McMullen (B A. Smith Coll. 1901); daughter of William Brown and Jane Ann (Little) Emerson of Millburn, N J

Polytechnic Preparatory Country Day School, Brooklyn Scholar of second rank Freshman and Junior years and third rank Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; on board Yale Record Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years (art editor Senior year; won John Morrison Memorial cup for outstanding art in Record Junior year); member Pierson College (swimming team Sophomore and Junior years);

held one-man show of paintings, sculpture, and etchings in Davenport College January, 1940; won first prize for oil painting at Yale Art Club exhibition in Art Gallery November, 1939.

Artist with Young & Rubicam, advertising firm, New York City, 1940–41; member Memorial Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn Unmarried.

Enlisted in Army Air Corps December 26, 1941, and sent to Maxwell Field, Ala., for training and later stationed at Douglas, Ga; commissioned Second Lieutenant and received wings at Army Air Force Advanced Flying School, Victorville, Calif, August 15, 1942, and assigned to duty as a bombardier; with Squadron 460 at Alamogordo, N Mex, December, 1942; at Topeka Army Air Base January–March, 1943, sent overseas in March, 1943; commissioned First Lieutenant about July 1, 1943; served as bombardier on B-24 (Liberator), flying from a North African base; participated in twenty missions

Lieutenant McMullen was shot down over the Mediterranean while returning from a raid on Catania, Italy Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and Air Medal with two Oak Leaf Clusters Survived by mother, a sister, Janet Emerson McMullen Rugen (B A Smith Coll. 1933), the wife of Carl Edward Rugen (B A. Dartmouth Coll 1933), and a brother, William Emerson McMullen (B A. Dartmouth Coll 1935), all of Brooklyn.

Leonard Frederick Paine, B.A. 1940.

Born June 16, 1917, in Woodmere, N.Y. Died July 17, 1944, in the South Pacific area

Father, Edward S. Paine, '04 Mother, Florence Margaret (Bragg) Paine (B.A. Smith Coll. 1905) Yale relatives include Levi L Paine (B A. 1856) (grandfather), Frederick H. Paine, '88 (uncle); Langdon W Clark, ex-'17 S, and Frederick T. Paine, '22 (cousins).

Phillips-Andover. Oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Political Union, Beta Theta Pi, and Trumbull College.

Attended Yale School of Law 1940-41, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hewlett, N.Y. Unmarried.

Entered U.S. Navy in 1941; attended Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University (graduated as Ensign); assigned to 10th Naval District, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July, 1942; attended Submarine Chaser Training Center, Miami; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) and Lieutenant; at time of his death was commanding officer of his ship, the SC-737

Lieutenant Paine died as a result of fever. Buried in military cemetery, Finschafen, New Guinea. Survived by two brothers, Edward B Paine, '31, and Lieut. Wingate H. Paine, '36.

[John] Gayle Aiken, 3d, B.A. 1941.

Born June 3, 1919, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 29, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, John Gayle Aiken, Jr. (B A. Tulane Univ. 1907), of New Orleans, owner Gayle Aiken, Jr, shipping; son of John Gayle Aiken (M.D. Tulane Univ. 1891) and Ada Rebecca (Holcombe) Aiken of New Orleans. Mother, Charlotte Sherwood (Rankin) Aiken (B.A. Smith Coll. 1911), daughter of Albert William Rankin (B A. Univ. Minnesota 1880) and Jean Rich (Sherwood) Rankin (B.A. Ripon Coll. 1875; M.A. Univ. Minnesota 1904) of Minneapolis. Direct descendant of Nathaniel Chipman (B A. 1777).

Northwood School, Lake Placid, N.Y.; attended Harvard University 1936–37 (on board Harvard Crimson) Scholar of the first rank Freshman year, third rank Sophomore year, and second rank Junior year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; awarded New York Yale Club Prize and charm for work in Freshman year; on board Yale Daily News three years; Freshman Ski Team; University Ski Team three years (manager Junior year, captain Senior year); 150-pound University Crew Squad Sophomore year; Apollo Glee Club Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years, member All-University Christian Conference Committee and undergraduate deacon Senior year; member Trumbull College (crew Junior and Senior years, head librarian Senior year), Yale Political Union, Yale Outing Club, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa

Research and National Resources Planning Board, Washington, summer 1941; member Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), New Orleans. Unmarried

Commissioned Ensign, U S Coast Guard Reserve, September 15, 1941, after passing examinations in navigation and seamanship; entered active duty September 22, 1941, assigned to cutter U S.S. Mohawk in anti-sub-marine and rescue work off Cape May, N.J.; instructor in navigation Reserve Training School, U S. Coast Guard Academy, New London, Conn., February, 1942-November, 1943, promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) October 1, 1942, and Lieutenant May 26, 1943, on duty in South Pacific from December, 1943, executive officer on U S S Serpens, ammunition carrier AK 97; certified for spot promotion to command of the ship

Lieutenant Aiken lost his life when his ship was sunk by an enemy submarine off Guadalcanal This was the Coast Guard's greatest disaster, only two surviving of about 200 Survived by parents and three brothers, Lieut Hugh H. Aiken ('39 S), US.N.R., William S. Aiken, RT 3/c, USN, '44 S, and Pvt David W. Aiken, ex-'45 (M.D. Louisiana State Univ 1946), AUS.

Charles Parker Armstrong, B.A. 1941.

Born April 21, 1918, in Cambridge, Mass. Died April 10, 1945, in Maywood, Nebr.

Father, Russell Benjamin Armstrong of Winchester, Mass; New England sales manager for Menasha (Wis.) Products Company, manufacturers of waxed paper and cartons; son of Robert Mitchel and Blanche (Parker) Armstrong of Winchester. Mother, Blanche Rachael (Parker) Armstrong; daughter of Charles Edward and Ida M. (Abbe) Parker of Hartford, Conn Yale relatives include: Grenville M Parker, '18 S (uncle); and Robert A. Pratt, '29 (cousin).

Winchester High School. Senior Class Council; Senior Promenade Committee; member Branford College and Alpha Sigma Phi Class

Alumni Fund Agent for Branford College 1941–44

Salesman Goodrich Tire & Rubber Company, Quincy, Mass, 1941-42; administrative assistant Massachusetts State Rationing Board, Boston,

1942, member Methodist church. Unmarried.

Inducted into Army of the United States in September, 1942; assigned to 40th Technical School Squadron, Army Air Forces Technical Training Command, Boca Raton Field; attended Officer Candidate School, Miami Beach, July–November, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant November, 1943, promoted First Lieutenant, March, 1944, and Captain April 10, 1945; stationed at Army Air Base, Salt Lake City, Utah, and Lincoln (Nebr.) Army Air Field, later assigned to 357th Bomber Squadron and stationed at McCook Field.

Captain Armstrong died as the result of injuries received in a bomber crash. Builed in Wildwood Cemetery, Winchester. Survived by parents, two sisters, Jane Armstrong (Connecticut Coll for Women ex-'45) and Rachael Armstrong (Bradford Junior Coll. ex-'44), both of Winchester, and a brother, Lieut. Russell Benjamin Armstrong, Jr, AUS (Bates Coll. ex-'41).

John Joseph Dore, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born May 11, 1919, in Brooklyn, NY.
Missing in action August 1, 1943, over Rumania.
Presumptive date of death August 2, 1944.

Father, John Joseph Dore, member New York Curb Exchange; son of John Joseph and Mary Ann (Connell) Dore of New York City Mother, Rena Hall (Sipp) Dore; daughter of Christian and Estelle (Franks) Sipp of Brooklyn.

Garden City (N Y.) High School and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn. Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; University Baseball Squad Junior and Senior years; member Silliman College, Fence Club, and Book and Snake.

Member St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), Garden City. Unmar-

ried

Enlisted as aviation cadet July 2, 1941; trained at Spartan Field, Tulsa, Okla, and Goodfellow and Brooks fields, Texas; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant February 20, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant February 11, 1943, assigned to 345th Bomber Squadron, 98th Bomb Group, 9th Bomber Command of the 9th Air Force, stationed in the Middle East, January, 1943; as pilot of a B-24 Liberator took part in missions over North Africa, Sicily, and Italy; awarded Distinguished Flying Cross, Silver Star, and Air Medal with four bronze and one silver Oak Leaf Clusters.

Lieutenant Dore did not return to his base after the raid on the Ploesti oil refineries in Rumania August 1, 1943. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as August 2, 1944) Survived by parents and a brother, Lieut. William Francis Dore, A.U.S.

Nixon Lee, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born January 27, 1919, in New York City.

Missing in action February 26, 1944, off Bougainville, Solomon Islands.

Presumptive date of death February 27, 1945.

Father, Nixon Lee (grad. Pratt Institute 1902), president Lee Finish Corporation, New York City; son of William and Anne (Dunbar) Lee of Brooklyn Mother, Ethel Louise (Covert) Lee; daughter of Charles Edward and Marietta (Stearns) Covert of Brooklyn.

Phillips-Andover and Cheshire (Conn) Academy. Freshman Track Team, University Track Team three years; member Davenport College and Chi Psi.

Junior engineer tool and gauge engineering department Remington Arms Company, Inc., Bridgeport, Conn., and Denver, Colo., 1941–42; member Church in the Gardens (Congregational), Forest Hills, N.Y. Unmarried

Enlisted as apprentice seaman, U.S. Naval Reserve, September 5, 1942; commissioned Ensign October 22, 1942; received indoctrination training at Cornell University November, 1942–March, 1943, and instruction in motor torpedo boat operations at Melville, R.I., March–June, 1943; stationed in New Orleans June–August, 1943, and Miami August 1–28,

1943; sent overseas August 28, 1943; commanding officer of PT boat 251, Squadron 20; took part in action at Espiritu Santo, New Hebrides, and Bougainville, Solomon Islands.

Ensign Lee was reported missing in action on February 26, 1944, after an explosion caused by enemy fire had destroyed his boat off Bougain-ville. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as February 27, 1945) Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and Bronze Star for heroic achievement as commanding officer in the operation off Bougainville Survived by parents and a sister, Janet Lee Bickford Beyer, the wife of George Beyer, Jr. (B.A. Dartmouth Coll. 1936), of Forest Hills Gardens, NY.

William Howard Schubart, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born May 31, 1918, in New York City. Died December 3, 1944, off Leyte, Philippine Islands.

Father, William Howard Schubart, partner Lazard Frères & Company, investment bankers, New York City; son of Louis Henry and Selma (Stieglitz) Schubart of New York City. Mother, Dorothy (Obermeyer) Schubart; daughter of Ernest and Henrietta (Harris) Obermeyer of New York City.

Horace Mann School for Boys, New York City, and Phillips-Exeter. Vanderbilt Crew Freshman year; columnist Yale Daily News Sophomore year; on editorial board Yale Record Junior and Senior years; author Waterbury Tales, produced by Yale University Dramatic Association 1941; member Jonathan Edwards College (football team and crew Junior and Senior years) and Elizabethan Club.

Married February 3, 1944, in New York City, Cynthia Haven, daughter of Edward Clarence Dean, '00 S, and Hilaire (Sooysmith) Dean. Son: William Howard, 3d (born March 25, 1945).

Enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve (V-7) July 23, 1940; attended Midshipmen's School aboard U.S.S. *Prairie State*, New York City, June 12, 1941, until commissioned Ensign September 12, 1941; assigned to temporary duty at Naval Operating Base, Newport, R.I., September-October, 1941; assistant engineer and later chief engineer aboard the destroyer U.S.S. *McDougal* October, 1941-October, 1943; promoted Lieutenant (1g) October 1, 1942, and Lieutenant October 1, 1943, assigned on temporary duty successively to Supervisor of Ships, Navy Yard, New York City, Philadelphia Navy Yard, and Supervisor of Ships, Kearny, N.J., January-March, 1944; appointed chief engineer officer of the destroyer U.S.S. *Cooper* when she was commissioned March 27, 1944, received American Defense Service Medal, American Area Campaign Medal, and Asiatic-Pacific Area Campaign Medal

Lieutenant Schubart was reported missing in action December 3, 1944. Since that time it has been concluded that he went down with his ship which sank thirty-six seconds after being hit by a mine or torpedo off Leyte Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife, son, parents, a sister, Lieut. (1.g.) Diana Schubart, U.S.N.R, and paternal grandmother.

William Anderson Aycrigg, 2d, B.A. 1942.

Born August 22, 1919, in Stamford, Conn. Missing in action January 25, 1944, in the Pacific area. Presumptive date of death January 26, 1945.

Father, Edward Wilcox Ayerigg (B A. Cornell Univ. 1916), investment counselor, Darien, Conn., son of William Anderson Ayerigg (CE. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1884) and Jessie Kelsey (Wilcox) Aycrigg. Mother, Janet Ellen (Hall) Ayerigg; daughter of Richard Smith and Florence (Ware) Hall of Omaha, Nebr. Yale relatives include: Richard Smith (BA 1797)(great-great-grandfather); Richard W. Hall, '11, and

Jasper Landon Hall, '24 (uncles).

Darien High School and Kent (Conn.) School. Freshman Soccer Squad; member board Yale Daily News four years and sports editor Senior year; on Budget Drive Committee Freshman year; member Timothy Dwight College (captain baseball team Junior year), Naval R.O.T.C., and Berkeley Association; Class agent for non-college residents Yale University Alumni Fund Association January, 1942-October, 1943; member Zeta Psi, Aurelian Honor Society, Skull and Bones, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), Stamford.

Married June 17, 1943, in Grosse Pointe Farms, Mich., Mary Caroline, daughter of Lawrence Delong Buhl (Univ. Michigan 1907-08, M.A.

Hon. 1941) and Cora Sales (Peck) Buhl.

Commissioned Ensign, U.S Naval Reserve, at graduation June, 1942, but resigned commission to enter US Naval Air Corps as cadet July 6, 1942, preflight training Chapel Hill, N.C., July 8-October, 1942; stationed at U.S. Naval Reserve Air Base, Grosse Ile, Mich, October, 1942-February, 1943, and U.S Naval Air Station, Pensacola, Fla, February-May, 1943; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, Naval (Marine) Air Corps, May 25, 1943, trained at Santa Barbara, Calif, July-October, 1943; went overseas in October, 1943; commissioned First Lieutenant, USMCR, November 30, 1943

Lieutenant Ayerigg was flying a Corsair in a squadron of twenty-three planes that had been ordered on a flight from Tarawa to Nanumea January 25, 1944 The flight, the first of this squadron in that particular vicinity, was undertaken in spite of extremely bad weather—indicating typhoon conditions. After about eight hours — much of the time flying blind because of poor visibility and a breakdown of their communication system with land bases — the squadron ran out of gas and was forced to land in the sea. Lieutenant Ayerigg was one of five pilots missing as a result of this flight; those who were rescued were picked up after being on their rafts fifty-five hours or longer. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as January 26, 1945.) Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Jane Ware Ayerigg Emery, the wife of Charles F. Emery, Jr, '42, a brother, Richard Hall Ayerigg (Williams Coll. 1940–43, Harvard 1945–46, Harvard Law School 1946–) of Darien, and paternal grandmother.

Peter Bennitt, B.A. 1942.

Born February 9, 1920, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died August 14, 1944, in France.

Father, Chandler Bennitt, '15, '17 L., author and psychological consultant in New York City; son of Francis Marion Bennitt (M.D. New York Homeopathic Medical Coll 1883) and Elizabeth Chandler (Allton) Bennitt of Springfield, Mass. Mother, Katharine (Osborn) Bennitt; daughter of Norris G. Osborn (B.A. 1880, M.A. Hon. 1886) and Kate Louise (Gardner) Osborn of New Haven. Yale relatives include Innis G. Osborn, ex-'04 L, Minott A. Osborn, '07, and Gardner Osborn, '15 (uncles), Norris E. Osborn, '40 (cousin).

St Luke's School, New Canaan, Conn., and Stamford (Conn) High School. Oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew; University Crew Squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Silliman College. Unmarried.

Enlisted as private, Army of the United States, June 23, 1942; in cryptographic security work Army Air Forces, Bolling Field, July-December, 1942; promoted corporal August, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, December, 1942–March, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, March 9, 1943, promoted First Lieutenant October, 1943, served as General Wood's aide; assigned to Company I, 371st Infantry, 92d Division, at Fort McClellan until about June, 1943, and then at Fort Huachuca; detached and sent to England as a replacement officer about April, 1944; assigned to 20th Battalion Combat Engineers; participated in the invasion of France June, 1944; further assigned to 38th Infantry, 2d Division, at own request.

Lieutenant Bennitt was killed in action in France. Survived by parents

and a sister, Nancy Bennitt (B.A. Connecticut Coll. for Women 1944) of New York City.

Robert Lind Brush, B.A. 1942.

Born July 11, 1919, in Larchmont, N.Y. Died May 26, 1945, over Japan.

Father, Jerome William Brush, president Heiss-Brush & Company, handkerchiefs, New York City; son of Isaac and Laura Frances (Fry) Brush of New York City. Mother, Anabel Marie (Lind) Brush; daughter of John Edmund and Mary Jane (Comba) Lind of New York City.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Freshman Crew Squad; member Yale University Dramatic Association Sophomore and Junior years, business manager Senior year; member Silliman College (touch football team Junior year) and Beta Theta Pi. Member St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Montclair, N J.

Married January 4, 1944, at Army Air Base, Pratt, Kans., Helen Manlove (BA Univ. Texas 1943), daughter of Edwin and Mary Helen (Patterson) Manlove.

Entered service as aviation cadet at Yale April 15, 1942; reported for active duty August 15, 1942, at San Antonio Aviation Cadet Center; preflight training at Victory Field, Vernon, Texas, September-December, 1942, basic training Ellington Field, Texas, February-May, 1943; bombardier training Midland, Texas, May-July, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant and given rating of bombardier July 13, 1943; navigation training San Marcos, Texas, July-November, 1943 (given rating of aerial navigator), group training at Pratt, Kans., November, 1943-March, 1944, sent overseas March, 1944, with pioneer B-29 Squadron, 20th Bomber Command, 20th Air Force, which flew the first land-based bombing mission over Japan in June, 1944, and first day raid over Japan in August, 1944, navigator on B-29 (Superfortress) bomber, with 20th and 21st Bomber Commands in action over Bangkok, Singapore, Formosa, and Japan, and numerous flights over the Himalayan Hump; member 40th Bomber Group, 44th Bombardment Squadron; commissioned First Lieutenant November 18, 1944, awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross for meritorious achievement April 13, 1944-January 18, 1945, Air Medal with four Oak Leaf Clusters, two Presidential Unit citations, and Asiatic-Pacific Theatre Ribbon with five Bronze Stars.

Lieutenant Brush was killed on a bombing mission over Tokyo. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, parents, a brother, Jerome William Brush, Jr. (Williams Coll. ex-'39), of New York City, and paternal and maternal grandmothers.

René Auguste Chouteau, B.A. 1942.

Born July 7, 1921, in St. Louis, Mo. Died September 5, 1944, in Pensacola, Fla.

Father, Henri Chouteau, a real-estate dealer; direct descendant of Auguste Chouteau who, with Laclede, founded St. Louis in 1764 Mother, Jane (Bagnell) Chouteau; daughter of Robert Bagnell

Roosevelt High School, St. Louis. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; high oration appointment and Alpheus Henry Snow Prize for Scholarship and Character Senior year; Freshman Swimming Team, University Swimming Team three years; champion in the following events Sophomore year-440 yard free style (Eastern Intercollegiate Swimming League); Junior year—440 yard free style and 300 yard individual medley (EISL.) and 1,500 meter (National Collegiate Athletic Association); Senior year—220 and 440 yard free style and 300 yard individual medley, setting new Yale and intercollegiate medley records (E I.S.L), 1,500 meter free style (a new Yale record) and 440 yard free style (N.C.A A.); placed second. Sophomore year—440 yard and 1,500 meter free style (N.C.A.A.), Junior year—440 yard free style; Senior year -1,500 meter, 440 yard free style (a new Yale record), and 300 yard individual medley (National Indoor Amateur Athletic Union of the United States); placed third: Sophomore year—220 yard free style (EISL.) and one mile (A A.U Outdoor); Junior year-220 yard free style (E I.S L.); Senior year—220 yard free style (N C A.A. and A A U. Indoor); received honorable mention 1941 All-American swimming team by American committee of National Collegiate Athletic Association; winner NCAA. award as outstanding college swimmer in the country 1942 and voted outstanding swimmer of the year by American College Swimming Coaches Association; winner ten-mile swim marathon on Mississippi River from La Grange to Quincy, Ill., for three successive years 1938-40; received "outstanding athlete" trophy for Ozark district of Amateur Athletic Union of the United States 1941, Senior Promenade Committee, member Jonathan Edwards College (crew three years), Yale Political Union, Beta Theta Pi, Phi Beta Kappa (treasurer Senior year), Aurelian Honor Society, and Skull and Bones.

Member Episcopal church Unmarried

Joined Fourth Yale Naval Flying Unit; began training as aviation cadet, University of North Carolina, in July, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, June 11, 1943, promoted First Lieutenant July 24, 1944; stationed at Grosse Pointe, Mich, and later received blimp training at Lakehurst, N.J., instructor in instrument flying Naval Aviation Training Center, Pensacola.

Lieutenant Chouteau was killed when struck by the propeller of a taxiing plane. Buried in Barrancas National Cemetery, Florida Sur-

vived by parents, two sisters, Jeanne Chouteau and Marie C. Yokum, the wife of Lieut. Thomas Yokum, U.S N.R, and a brother, Pierre Chouteau (Washington Univ. 1945–), all of St. Louis.

Henry Victor Crawford, 3d, Class of 1942.

Born December 11, 1919, in Montclair, N.J. Died July 26, 1944, near St. Lô, Normandy.

Father, H. Victor Crawford, '15, partner law firm of Crawford & Parsons, New York City; vice-president and general counsel Hartol Products Corporation and Electric Ferries, Inc.; son of Samuel Henry and Helen (Denniston) Crawford. Mother, Ruth (Andrus) Crawford; daughter of C. Walton Andrus.

Montclair (NJ) Academy and Kent (Conn.) School. Entered Yale September, 1938; member Freshman 150-pound Crew Squad and 150-pound Junior University Crew 1941; member Branford College (captain crew 1940), Beta Theta Pi, and St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Montclair.

Married June 5, 1942, in Montclair, Diana Hardick, daughter of Wilson Irving and Helen (Morrison) Adams.

Completed three years of college; withdrew to enter service at Fort Dix October 3, 1941; at Field Artillery Training Center, Fort Bragg, October 10, 1941–March 3, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Field Artillery School, Fort Sill, March 3–June 2, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant June 2, 1942, assigned to 80th Infantry Division at Camp Forrest July 1, 1942; transferred to 197th Field Artillery Battalion of 30th Infantry Division in December, 1943; sent overseas about February 15, 1944, arriving in Normandy about June 16, 1944; served as forward observer and liaison officer during campaign in Normandy.

Lieutenant Crawford was killed in action in the break-through battle near St. Lô Buried in United States Cemetery at La Cambe, near Isigny, Normandy Posthumously awarded Silver Star for gallantry in action during June and July, 1944 Survived by wife (now the wife of Richard M Hosley, '43), parents, a sister, Kathleen Crawford Gillespie, the wife of George E Gillespie, Jr, '40, paternal grandparents, and maternal grandfather.

George Eddison Haines, B.A. 1942.

Born April 12, 1920, in Ardsley-on-Hudson, N.Y. Missing in action April 20, 1944, in Mediterranean area. Presumptive date of death April 21, 1945.

Father, Franklin Mifflin Haines (Columbia Univ. ex-'10) of Ardsleyon-Hudson, son of Franklin and Frances Carlene (Way) Haines of New York City. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Eddison) Haines, daughter of Charles and Mary Elizabeth (Barton) Eddison of Irvington, N.Y.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Captain Class soccer team Freshman year; University Soccer Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years (captain Senior year); Class baseball squad Freshman year, on Yale Community Council four years (vice-president Senior year) and All-University Christian Conference Committee Junior year, member Davenport College, Kappa Delta Epsilon, and Yale Naval R O.T C Member St. Barnabas Church (Episcopal), Irvington.

Married June 7, 1941, in Greenwich, Conn., Audrey Perot Oakley (Sarah Lawrence Coll. ex-'42), daughter of Ralph Lawrence and Sarah

Lee (Perot) Oakley. Son: George Eddison, Jr.

Entered service as Ensign D-V(G), U.S. Naval Reserve, May 1, 1942; called to active duty June 22, 1942; commissioned Lieutenant (1 g) May 1, 1943; Torpedo Officer, Commissary Officer, and Assistant Gunnery Officer on destroyer U.S.S. Lansdale July, 1943–April, 1944 (promoted

to Gunnery Officer December, 1943).

_ {

Lieutenant Haines lost his life when his ship was attacked and sunk off the coast of Algeria. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as April 21, 1945.) Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and the Silver Star Medal for conspicuous gallantry on April 20, 1944, when he personally lessened the effectiveness of hostile plane attacks by coordinating action of the guns and directing accurate vigorous fire against enemy aircraft. After the ship was sunk, Lieutenant Haines assisted the men struggling in the water and contributed to the probable saving of several lives Survived by wife, son, parents, a brother, Franklin M. Haines, Jr, '39, and paternal and maternal grandparents.

William Brinckerhoff Jackson, B.A. 1942.

Born March 21, 1920, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 7, 1944, in China.

Father, John Day Jackson, '90, editor and publisher New Haven Register, awarded medal of merit by New Haven Advertising Club for distinguished service to the city 1938; son of Joseph C Jackson (B.A. 1857) and Catherine (Day) Jackson of New York City. Mother, Rose Marie (Herrick) Jackson; daughter of John Wheeler and Annie Elizabeth (Taylor) Herrick of Elgin, Ill. Yale relatives include: Oliver Wolcott (B.A. 1747) (great-great-great-grandfather); Alexander Wolcott (B.A. 1731)(great-great-great-great-uncle); Frederick Wolcott (B.A. 1786)(great-great-grandfather); Oliver Wolcott (B.A. 1778)(great-great-great-uncle); Schuyler B. Jackson, '71, and F. Wolcott Jackson, M.A. Hon. 1892 (great-gre

uncles); Joseph C Jackson, Jr., '87 S. (uncle); Percy Hamilton Goodsell,

Jr, '34, and Schuyler Watts, '34 (cousins).

Kent (Conn) School. Oration appointment Senior year, Freshman Track Team; University Track Squad Sophomore year and Team Junior year; University 150-pound Football Squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Pierson College (nonresident Senior year), Fence Club, Elihu, and Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married July 26, 1941, in East Hampton, N.Y., Mary Esther Krech (Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1940–41), daughter of Shepard Krech, '13, and Mary Stevens (Chapin) Krech, and sister of Shepard Krech, Jr, '41, and M Chapin Krech, '42 Daughters: Mary Stevens and Barbara Seymour.

Enlisted as a private, Army Air Forces, July 3, 1942; reported for active duty at Fort Devens January 15, 1943; aviation cadet Nashville, Tenn; received further training at Keesler Field, Armament School (Buckley Field), Lowry Field, and Salina, Kans.; went overseas in April, 1944; central fire-control gunner on a B-29 Superfortress, 792d Squadron, 468th Bomb Group, 20th Air Force, China-Burma-India Theatre; participated in several bombing missions.

Staff Sergeant Jackson lost his life returning from a raid over Mukden, Manchuria Survived by wife, daughters, parents, three sisters, Rose J. Sheppard (Vassar Coll. ex-'38), the wife of John W Sheppard, '32, Katharine Jackson (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1939) of New Haven, and Harriet J Ely (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1939), the wife of John I Ely, '35, four brothers, Richard S. Jackson, '34, John H. Jackson, '34, Henry W. Jackson, ex-'36, and Lionel S. Jackson, ex-'37, and maternal grandmother

James Stewart McDermott, B.A. 1942.

Born February 15, 1921, in Topeka, Kans. Died March 2, 1945, on Iwo Jima.

Father, George Thomas McDermott (Ph B. Univ. Chicago 1908, J.D. 1910), judge 10th Judicial Circuit, U S. Circuit Court, Topeka, son of James and Tirzah (Henderson) McDermott of Winfield, Kans. Mother, Katharine (Stewart) McDermott (Washburn Coll. ex-'17); daughter of James Harvey and Kate (Martin) Stewart of Wichita, Kans

Topeka High School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Junior years; high oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Swimming Squad; member Timothy Dwight College (football team Sophomore year; Senior aide) and Phi Beta Kappa Member Grace Cathedral (Episcopal), Topeka Unmarried

Enlisted in U.S. Marine Corps Reserve March 5, 1942; enrolled in Candidates Class, Quantico, May-July, and Reserve Officers Class July 18-Sep-

tember 26, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Marine Corps Reserve, July 18, 1942, and Second Lieutenant, Marine Corps, September 26, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant April 12, 1943, and Captain August, 1944; at Training Center, Fleet Marine Force, Marine Barracks, New River, NC, taking field artillery course November 19—December 8, 1942, stationed at Quantico as artillery, motor transport, and matériel instructor unfil February, 1944 (rewrote a number of instruction pamphlets and wrote several instruction books for classroom use); stationed at Camp Pendleton February, 1944, until sent overseas in September, 1944, commanding officer of a battery, 13th Regiment, 5th Marine Division, stationed at a Pacific island base; took part in invasion of Iwo Jima in February, 1945.

Captain McDermott was fatally wounded while on reconnaissance on Iwo Jima. Buried in 5th Marine Division Cemetery on that island Posthumously awarded the Navy Cross Survived by mother, maternal grandmother, and two sisters, Jane McDermott Hergenreter (B A Stanford Univ. 1937), the wife of Capt. William Hergenreter, A U.S (B A Washburn Coll. 1940), and Mary Katharine McDermott Shideler (B A Swarthmore Coll. 1938), the wife of Rev. Emerson Wayne Shideler (B A Univ Pittsburgh 1937; B D. Chicago Theological Seminary 1940) of Russell,

Kans.

}

Harold Shepardson Marsh, B.A. 1942.

Born November 17, 1920, in Evanston, Ill Died February 19, 1945, near Trier, Germany.

Father, Allen Fletcher Marsh, '10 S, '11 F., president Marsh & Truman Lumber Company, Chicago, son of Charles Allen and Lida (Shepardson) Marsh of Chicago. Mother, Margaret Dean (Trowbridge) Marsh, daughter of Frank D. Trowbridge, '84, and Carolyn Haven (Hubbell) Trowbridge. Yale relatives include: Horatio M Reynolds, '80 (great-uncle); Lawrence N. Murray, '17 (uncle)

North Shore Country Day School, Winnetka, Ill Honorable mention Andrew D. White Prize and oration appointment Senior year; feature sportswriter and associate editor Yale Daily News Senior year, member Berkeley College and Yale Political Union, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery Reserve, at Commencement May 30, 1942.

Entered active duty June 18, 1942; assigned to Battery C, 32d Battalion, 8th Training Regiment, Field Artillery Replacement Center, Fort Sill, assigned to Battery Officers Class 66, Field Artillery School, Fort Sill, July 28, 1942, and graduated October 20, assigned to Battery C, 124th Field Artillery Battalion, 33d Division, Fort Lewis, October 20, 1942, moved with the division to Desert Training Center April 1, 1943, entered Euro-

pean Theatre of Operations September 7, 1944, participating in Battle of Germany, later assigned to 314th Field Artillery Battalion, 80th Division, as forward observer and motor officer; received battlefield promotion to First Lieutenant February 6, 1945; on February 16 was cited and awarded Bronze Star for heroic service during actual combat in Luxembourg, December, 1944.

Lieutenant Marsh was killed while attempting to find an alternate route into Koblenz around the Moselle Valley which obstructed the advance of the Third Army Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Hamm, Luxembourg. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Mary Trowbridge Marsh, and a

brother, Charles Allen Marsh, both of Winnetka.

Carter Palmer, B.A. 1942.

Born June 6, 1920, in Providence, R.I. Died March 21, 1945, in Germany.

Father, Edward Carter Palmer (Brown Univ. ex. 66), partner Richardson & Clark, investments, Providence; son of Charles Russell and Ella (Manwell) Palmer of Providence Mother, Louise Kingsley (Robinson) Palmer; daughter of Louis Elmer and Louise Seymore (Stokes) Robinson of Providence

Moses Brown School, Providence. Member Yale University Dramatic Association (on advisory board Senior year), Dwight Hall, Yale Political Union, Silliman College, and Alpha Sigma Phi.

Attended Brown and Sharpe Manufacturing Company apprentice school, Providence. Unmarried

Inducted into Army of the United States September 17, 1942; attended Army Air Forces Ground School, Craig Field, Selma, Ala., September-October, 1942, and attached to 92d Single Engine Flying Training Squadron October 1, 1942-October 1, 1943; promoted corporal January, 1943, and assigned as crew chief on an advanced training plane; attended University of Alabama and Georgetown University under Army Specialized Training Program; transferred to Office of Strategic Services, Washington, October 18, 1943, and to the Infantry October 6, 1944; trained at Camp Pickett October-December, 1944; sent overseas as a replacement about February 1, 1945, and assigned to 26th Infantry.

Corporal Palmer was instantly killed when hit by shrapnel from an enemy shell. Buried in an American cemetery near Henri Chapelle, Belgium Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and Bronze Star for heroic achievement in connection with military operations against the enemy in the vicinity of Wullscheid, Germany, March 17, 1945. Survived by parents and a sister, Natalie P. Frost, the wife of Lieut. John

Windsor Frost, A U.S. (Univ. Virginia ex-'44).

Sam Phillips, Jr., B.A. 1942.

Born February 8, 1921, in Birmingham, Ala. Died January 10, 1945, near Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, Sam Phillips, executive president Burger Phillips, department store, Birmingham, son of Sam and Lena (Burger) Phillips of Birmingham. Mother, Teresa (Aronsohn) Phillips; daughter of Samuel J and Lena (Solowitz) Aronsohn of Paterson, N.J.

Ramsay Technical High School, Birmingham. Captain Freshman Golf Team; University Golf Team Junior year; member Saybrook College.

Associated with Burger Phillips 1941-42, member First Church of Christ Scientist, Birmingham.

Married November 7, 1943, at Cimarron Field, Oklahoma City, Patricia Ann Grimes, daughter of Margaret Grimes Aronsohn. Daughter: Kathleen.

Enlisted as cadet, Army Air Forces, April 4, 1942, called to active duty August 5, 1942; stationed at Cimarron Field, Oklahoma City, transferred to Field Artillery April 1, 1943, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, July 10, 1943; assigned as liaison pilot, 13th Airborne Division, 677th Glider Field Artillery Battalion, Camp Mackall, May, 1944–January, 1945; promoted First Lieutenant December 5, 1944.

Lieutenant Phillips was killed when the transport plane in which he was returning to his base crashed near Cincinnati. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, and a sister, Miss Lynn Helen Phillips of Birmingham

William Barton Simmons, Jr., B.A. 1942.

Born May 15, 1920, in Jamaica, NY. Died March 28, 1945, in Mainz, Germany.

Father, William Barton Simmons, manager bituminous coal sales George E. Warren Corporation, New York City; son of Clarence Barton and Annie Louise (Gibson) Simmons of Great Barrington, Mass. Mother, Marie (Maxwell) Simmons; daughter of Samuel Ralph and Ella Octavia (Kendrick) Maxwell of Tazewell, Va Yale relatives include a cousin, G. McCall Maxwell, '39.

Manhasset (N.Y.) High School and Gunnery School, Washington, Conn. President Yale Photography Club Sophomore and Junior years, member and business manager Yale Collegians four years, member Yale Band and Yale Symphony Orchestra four years (drillmaster of the Band and business manager of the Orchestra Senior year); member Pierson

College (baseball team Sophomore year; football team Senior year; on glee club), member Christ Church (Episcopal), Manhasset.

Married May 26, 1943, in Riverside, Calif, Dorothy Louise Davis (B.A. East Carolina Teachers Coll. 1941), daughter of Aaron Heide and Medola Elcort (Shepard) Davis Daughter Billie Louise (born June 18, 1945).

Inducted into Army of the United States April 9, 1942; a musician in Special Service Fort Dix, May-June, Fort Du Pont, June-July, and Fort Miles, July-December; transferred to Coast Artillery; attended Officer Candidate School, Camp Davis, December, 1942-March, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant March 4, 1943, promoted First Lieutenant February 16, 1945; assigned to 797th Coast Artillery Battalion (anti-aircraft) as artillery officer S-3 and platoon leader; stationed at Camp Haan April, 1943-March, 1944, and June-October, 1944; on maneuvers at Camp Ervin summer 1943; at Camp Cook March-June, 1944; transferred to Infantry, and received training at Fort Benning October-December and Camp Croft December, 1944-February, 1945; sent overseas from Fort George G. Meade February, 1945, arriving in France March 6; assigned to Company E, 317th Infantry, 80th Division, Third Army.

Lieutenant Simmons was instantly killed by small-arms fire while leading his men in an attack on enemy positions. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery No. 1, Stromberg, Germany. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, and a brother, Robert Kendrick Simmons, A.U.S.

Robert Emmett Stevenson, B.A. 1942.

Born March 21, 1921, in Woodcliff, N.J. Died July 7, 1944, on Saipan, in the Marianas Islands.

Father, John Dodd Stevenson (B.A. New York Univ. 1915), treasurer Fashion Park Manufacturing Company, Rochester, N.Y.; son of John Thomas and Rosanna T (Lillis) Stevenson. Mother, Augusta Dolores (Ehser) Stevenson; daughter of August Frederick and Magdalene (Stocker) Ehser

Allendale School, Rochester, and Phillips-Exeter. Freshman Boxing Team, winner boxing tournament 1939; member Branford College (football team three years) and Chi Psi.

Member St. John's Church (Roman Catholic), Rochester. Unmarried. Enlisted as private (1st class), 7th Candidates Class, U.S. Marine Corps, May 11, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant July 18, 1942; attended Tenth Reserve Officers School July-September, 1942; assigned to Company C, 3d Tank Battalion, 23d Marines, Camp Lejeune, September, 1942–March, 1943 (platoon leader); executive officer Company A, 4th Tank Battalion, May-July, 1943, and of Company A at Camp Lejeune and Camp Pendleton July-November, 1943; company commander Company

C, 4th Tank Battalion, 4th Marine Division, November-December, 1943; appointed company commander of Company A December 9, 1943, went overseas in January, 1944; awarded Silver Star and citation for extraordinary heroism and gallant conduct in the Battle of the Marshall Islands; took part in invasion of Saipan; received spot promotion to Captain in the field and Presidential Unit Citation; had been recommended for Navy Cross.

Captain Stevenson was killed when his jeep struck an aerial bomb which had been converted into a land mine Buried on Saipan Survived by parents, a sister, Nancy Patricia Stevenson Snook (B A Wellesley Coll. 1941), the wife of John Kelley Snook (B A. Univ. Illinois 1932) of Honeoye Falls, N.Y., and paternal and maternal grandmothers.

James Neale Thorne, Class of 1942.

Born October 11, 1919, in Rye, N.Y. Died September 10, 1944, over Holland.

Father, Samuel Thorne, '96 (LL B. Harvard 1899), retired senior partner Delafield, Thorne, Burleigh & Marsh, New York City, son of Samuel and Phoebe Smith (Van Schoonhoven) Thorne. Mother, Ethel Mary (Cheney) Thorne; daughter of Arthur and Emeline (Lewis) Cheney. Yale relatives include: Edwin Thorne, '82 S., and William V. S. Thorne, '85 S. (uncles); T. Pearsall Thorne, '82 S., Chester Thorne, '84 S, Victor C. Thorne, '94 S., S. Brinckerhoff Thorne, '96, Landon K. Thorne, '10 S, and Francis B. Thorne, '14 S. (cousins).

Brooks School, North Andover, Mass. Entered Yale in September, 1938; Freshman Crew; Junior University and University Football squads, member Freshman, Apollo and University Glee clubs, Yale Political Union, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Davenport College (squash and hockey teams Sophomore and Junior years and crew Junior year).

Withdrew from college in September, 1941; entered Army Air Corps as cadet September 24, 1941; honorably discharged November 27, 1941, joined Royal Air Force and began training April 27, 1942, becoming Sergeant Pilot in October, 1942, assigned to a Canadian squadron and then to RAF., 64th Squadron, in England; appointed Flight Sergeant and later Pilot Officer; credited with destroying five enemy aircraft

Pilot Officer Thorne was killed when his plane was shot down over Arnheim, Holland. Awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross. Buried in British section, Moscowa Cemetery, Arnheim Survived by father, a sister, Emeline Lewis Thorne Brawley (B.A. Vassar Coll 1936), the wife of Robert V. Brawley of Alexandria, Va, and four brothers, Samuel Thorne, Jr., '28, Lewis Thorne, '31, Ward Cheney Thorne, '31, and Arthur Thorne.

Another brother, Peter Brinckerhoff Thorne (Class of 1940) died in 1939. In recognition of distinguished services, Pilot Officer Thorne was appointed by King George VI to the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire on September 22, 1944.

Benjamin Rush Toland, B.A. 1942.

Born July 28, 1920, in Concord, N.H. Died February 21, 1945, on Iwo Jima.

Father, Edward Dale Toland (Litt.B. Princeton 1908), head department of history St. Paul's School, Concord; member New Hampshire House of Representatives 1924–25; son of Edward Dale and Charlotte (Rush) Toland of Philadelphia Mother, Esther Roberts (Howell) Toland; daughter of Warner Roberts and Annabel (Fry) Howell of Philadelphia. Yale relatives include: Lyttleton B. P. Gould, '17 (uncle), Lyttleton B. P. Gould, Jr., '43, and Harry C. G. Toland, '44 (cousins).

St. Paul's School Scholar of the first rank Freshman year and second rank Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year; awarded New York Yale Club charm for work in Freshman year; Freshman Football and Tennis squads, co-captain Freshman Hockey Team; University Hockey Squad Sophomore year; University Hockey Team Junior and Senior years; on Dwight Hall executive committee three years, Berkeley Association executive committee Junior and Senior years, and Undergraduate Board of Deacons Senior year; member Pierson College (football team Sophomore and Junior years; touch football team Junior and Senior years; tennis team Senior year), Yale Political Union, Fence Club, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa (secretary Senior year).

Research assistant, industrial section, National Resources Planning Board, Washington, July-September, 1942; member St. Paul's School

Chapel (Episcopal), Concord. Unmarried.

Enlisted in US Marine Corps Reserve March, 1942; called to active service October 5, 1942; received boot training at Quantico, October–December, commissioned Second Lieutenant December 16, 1942; completed officer's training February 24, 1943; assigned as machine gun platoon leader, Company D, 1st Battalion, 23d Regiment, and trained at New River, NC, and Camp Lejeune, where he was appointed aide-de-camp to Brigadier General J. C. Underhill, assistant division commander 4th Marine Division, Camp Pendleton, August, 1943–January, 1944; promoted First Lieutenant November, 1943, and transferred at own request to combat duty; went overseas January, 1944; took part in invasion of Kwajalein Atoll in the Marshall Islands January, 1944; rifle platoon leader Company F, 2d Battalion, 24th Marines, 4th Marine Division, February–July; wounded in action on Saipan.

Lieutenant Toland was instantly killed by a mortar burst during the invasion of Iwo Jima, just after having taken the ridge assigned to his platoon. Survived by parents, a sister, Annabel T. Herter (Vassar Coll. 1940–41; Radcliffe Coll 1941–42), the wife of Lieut. Frederic Pratt Herter, U.S.M.C. (B.A. Harvard 1941, M.D. 1944), and a brother, Edward D Toland, Jr., '40 (Major, A.U.S.).

Kent Arnold, B.A. 1943.

Born September 14, 1920, in San Francisco, Calif.
Died March 2, 1945, on Iwo Jima.

Father, G. Stanleigh Arnold, '03. Mother, Elizabeth Sherman (Kent) Arnold. Yale relatives include Roger Sherman (M A Hon 1768) (great-great-grandfather); Roger Sherman (B A. 1787) (great-great-grandfather); Stephen Thacher (B.A 1795), Oliver Sherman (B.A. 1795), Seth P. Staples (B.A. 1797), Job Staples (B A 1808), and Sophos Staples (B A 1809) (great-great-uncles); Thomas A Thacher (B.A. 1835) and Albert E Kent (B.A. 1853) (great-grandfathers); Frederick R. Sherman (B.A. 1836), George Sherman (B.A. 1839), and George Thacher (B.A. 1840) (great-great-uncles); William Kent, '87 (grandfather); James K. Thacher, '68, Thomas Thacher, '71, Edward S. Thacher, '72, Alfred B Thacher, '74, John S Thacher, '77, Sherman D. Thacher, '83, and William L. Thacher, '87 (great-uncles), Harold S. Arnold, '00, Albert E Kent, '13, Thomas T. Kent, '15, William Kent, Jr., '17, Sherman Kent, '26, and Roger Kent, '28 (uncles); and Justine A. Linforth, ex-'39 Art, and C Ingersoll Arnold, '41 F. (cousins).

Tamalpais School, San Rafael, Calif, and Thacher School, Ojai, Calif Intramural football, basketball, and tennis teams Freshman year, member Delta Kappa Epsilon, The Cloister and Book and Snake, and Berkeley College (assistant athletic secretary Junior year, secretary Senior year; football team Sophomore year; basketball, baseball, and swimming teams three years; captain basketball and baseball teams Senior year), awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Unmarried. Member St John's Church (Episcopal), Ross, Calif.

In V-7 program of U.S. Naval Reserve while at Yale; called to active duty as private (1st class), U.S. Marine Corps, January 29, 1943, attended Candidates Class, Marine Barracks, Quantico; commissioned Second Lieutenant May 19, 1943; was graduated from Marine Parachute Training School and received wings October 11, 1943, overseas October 29, 1943—January 15, 1944, taking part in the Bougainville campaign as a paratrooper; returned to United States and assigned as plans and training officer, Headquarters Company, 3d Battalion, 26th Marines, 5th Division,

stationed at Camp Pendleton; returned overseas in May, 1944; promoted First Lieutenant January, 1945.

Lieutenant Arnold was instantly killed while leading his men to the front lines on Iwo Jima. Buried on Iwo Jima. Survived by mother, two sisters, Elizabeth Sherman Arnold (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1937) and Evelyn A. Bossange, the wife of Edouard Raymond Bossange, Jr. (B.S. Massachusetts Inst Technology 1938), three brothers, Ensign George Stanleigh Arnold, Jr., USNR. (BA. Leland Stanford Univ. 1941), Peter Arnold, USNR, and Anthony Arnold of Kentfield, Calif., and maternal grandmother.

Bailey Badgley, B.A. 1943.

Born March 9, 1921, in Los Angeles, Calif. Died October 4, 1944, off Nantucket, Mass.

Father, Frank Briggs Badgley (B.A. Univ. California 1912), associated with Dean Witter & Company, member New York Stock Exchange, Los Angeles; son of Jeremiah Briggs and Martha (Evans) Badgley of Los Angeles Mother, Clara Cecilia (Bailey) Badgley (Smith Coll. ex-'08); daughter of Samuel Bailey, Jr., and Virginia M. (Hanzsche) Bailey of Cincinnati.

Catalina Island School for Boys, Avalon, Calif. University Swimming Squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Yale Political Union and Davenport College (swimming team three years); awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Unmarried.

Entered V-7 program of US Naval Reserve, January 18, 1942; entered active duty as aviation cadet March 8, 1943, received primary flight training Cornell University March 8–June 15, 1943, preflight training, Chapel Hill, NC, June 15–September 15, 1943, basic training, Olantha, Kans., September 20, 1943–February 1, 1944, advanced flight training, Pensacola, Fla, February 1–April, 1944, operational flight training, Miami, April 18–June 29, 1944, and with Carrier Qualification Training Unit, Glenview, Ill, July 7–11, 1944, commissioned Ensign and received wings April 1, 1944; attached to Atlantic Fleet Naval Air Station, Norfolk, July 11–August 6, and to Carrier Aircraft Service Unit 22 September 15–October 4, 1944; member Aviation Torpedo Squadron 10, based off Martha's Vineyard September 15–October 4, 1944

Ensign Badgley was killed when his torpedo bomber collided in mid-air with another plane while engaged in squadron maneuvers. Survived by

parents.

Henry Warder Carey, B.A. 1943.

Born February 11, 1922, in New York City. Died November 22, 1944, in France.

Father, Henry Reginald Carey (B.A Harvard 1913) of Philadelphia, author in fields of eugenics and foreign affairs; son of Arthur Astor and Agnes Laura Mary (Whiteside) Carey of Cambridge, Mass Mother, Margaret Howell (Bacon) Carey (B.A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1918), daughter of William Warder and Elizabeth (Howell) Bacon of Philadelphia.

Germantown Friends School, William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia, and Milton (Mass.) Academy. Freshman Football Team and Wrestling and Track squads; University Football Squad Sophomore year, Yale Community Council Sophomore year; on Undergraduate Board of Deacons Church of Christ in Yale University Senior year; member Yale Political Union, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Book and Snake, and Pierson College (wrestling team Sophomore year, crew Junior year, captain football team Senior year); awarded B A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943

Unmarried. Member St John's Church (Episcopal), Portsmouth, N H. Inducted as private, Army of the United States, February 10, 1943, member Company H, 86th Infantry (Mountain Troops), Camp Hale, February 26-August 1, 1943; rank raised to private (1st class), with Army Specialized Training Star Unit, Colorado State College, August 2-23, 1943; studied under Army Specialized Training Program at Washington University August 23, 1943-March 21, 1944, assigned to Company A, 114th Infantry, on maneuvers in Shreveport, La, March 23-April 7, 1944, with his regiment joined 44th Division at Camp Phillips April 8, 1944; went overseas in September, 1944; in action with Seventh Army in France October-November, 1944.

Pfc. Carey died of wounds received in action on November 15 He and his platoon sergeant had been sent to silence an enemy machine gun on a railway embankment between Embermenil and Leintrey Buried in US Cemetery, Épinal, France Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by mother, the wife of C. Padgett Hodson (Class of 1947 March; died August 27, 1945), a sister, Miss Alida Livingston Carey of Portsmouth, and two brothers, John Carey, ex-'45W, and William Bacon Carey.

William Timothy Dargan, B.A. 1943.

Born February 28, 1921, in Darlington, S.C. Missing in action February 25, 1944, in the South Pacific Presumptive date of death February 27, 1945.

Father, Woods Dargan (B.A Univ South Carolina 1909; LL B Georgetown Univ. 1915), a lawyer in Darlington, president Pee Dee

Discount Corporation, Darlington; founder, editor, and publisher *The Chronicle*, son of William Franklin and Susan Aramintha (Woods) Dargan of Darlington Mother, Margaret DuBose (Green) Dargan (B A. Univ. South Carolina 1915, M A 1916); daughter of Halcott Pride and Emma Charlotte (Boylston) Green of Saluda, N.C.

Bronxville (N Y.) High School and Phillips-Andover. Freshman Crew Squad; University Crew Squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Saybrook College, awarded B A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of

1943.

Unmarried. Member Christ Church (Episcopal), Bronxville.

Member V-7 program, U.S. Naval Reserve, while at Yale; attended Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University, January 1–April 23, 1943; commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, April 23, 1943; attended Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron Training Center, Melville, R.I., May 1–July 10, 1943, assigned to Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron 26, based in Florida and Panama, sent to South Pacific area December, 1943.

Ensign Dargan was reported missing as of February 25, 1944. The circumstances of his death are unknown (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as February 27, 1945) Survived by mother (the wife of Col. Frederick L. Devereux, USA.) and maternal grandparents.

Douglas Richard Divine, B.A. 1943.

Born December 26, 1921, in New York City. Died February 11, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, Lieut. Comdr. Walter Eber Divine, M.C, U.S N.R. (B.S. Colgate Univ 1914; M D Cornell Univ. 1918), a physician in Brooklyn; son of Rev Frank Henry Divine, D D (B A. Colgate Univ. 1891, M A. 1894; grad Hamilton Theological Seminary 1894), and Mary Ann (Douglas) Divine of Brooklyn. Mother, Emily Elizabeth (Mable) Divine; daughter of Frederick James and Anna Belle (Dunn) Mable of Binghamton, N Y.

Erasmus Hall High School, Brooklyn. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; William W DeForest Prize in Spanish Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; vice-president Centro Español de Yale Junior year and president Senior year; member Yale Political Union, Phi Beta Kappa, and Jonathan Edwards College; awarded B.A. (honors with exceptional distinction) December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Member Sons of the American Revolution and Old First Reformed Church, Brooklyn Unmarried

Member US Army Enlisted Reserve Corps while at Yale; called to active duty January 2, 1943; entered Army Intelligence Japanese School,

University of Michigan, January, 1943 and graduated in January, 1944; promoted technician (5th grade) August, 1943; attended Officer Candidate School, Camp Savage, January 20-August 15, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Intelligence, August 15, 1944; sent overseas September 20, 1944; stationed at Tenth Army Headquarters, Hawaii

Lieutenant Divine was killed in action in the Pacific area Buried in Schofield Post Cemetery, Oahu, Hawaii. Survived by parents, a brother,

Robert Alexander Divine of Brooklyn, and maternal grandmother.

Harry Llewellyn Evans, Jr., B.A. 1943.

Born July 10, 1920, in San Francisco, Calif. Died May 18, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Harry Llewellyn Evans (Harvard ex-'10) of San Rafael, Calif; president Pacific Marine Insurance Agency, Inc, San Francisco; son of Evan Cyfeiliog and Anne Ralston (Harney) Evans of San Rafael. Mother, Margaret (Minton) Evans; daughter of Rev. Henry Collin Minton, D.D, LL.D. (B A. Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1879, M A. 1882; grad. Western Theological Seminary 1882), and Clare Louise (Smith) Minton of Trenton, N.J., and San Rafael.

Tamalpais School, San Rafael, and Lawrenceville (N.J.) School. Captain Freshman Crew; University Crew three years; member Berkeley College (crew Junior year), Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and Key, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), San Rafael; awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Married May 22, 1943, in Piedmont, Calif., Henrietta Doan Tinning (Univ. California 1941–42), daughter of Archibald Bruce Tinning (B.S Univ. California 1912; Harvard Law School 1913–14) and Henrietta (Erwin) Tinning. Daughter: Margaret Tinning.

In U.S. Marine Corps Reserve when at Yale; entered active duty as private (1st class) December 27, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Quantico, December, 1942–March, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant March 10, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant July 1, 1944; ordered to Reserve Officers Class, Quantico, March–May, 1943; taught officer candidates at Jacksonville, N.C., May, 1943–August, 1944; assigned to 29th Marine Regiment, 6th Division, and subsequently to H Company, 3d Battalion; went overseas August, 1944; stationed in Solomon Islands until March 15, 1945, when the division left for Okinawa; served as rifle platoon leader.

Lieutenant Evans died of wounds received in enemy action on Okinawa Buried in 6th Marine Division Cemetery, Okinawa Survived by wife, daughter, parents, two sisters, the Misses Margaret and Gertrude Evans of San Rafael, and two brothers, David Evans and Minton Bradford Evans, U.S.N.R (B.A. Univ California 1944), of San Rafael.

Jonathan Hyde Hately, Class of 1943.

Born December 9, 1920, in Riverside, Calif. Died August 6, 1944, in France.

Father, Arthur Hately of Los Angeles; an actor who appeared under stage name of Jonathan Hale. Mother, Hester (Hyde) Hately.

Santa Barbara (Calif) School Entered Yale in September, 1939; mem-

ber Berkeley College, Fence Club, and Yale Political Union.

Withdrew from college December 17, 1941; served with American Field Service in North Africa 1942-43; joined New Zealand Army in 1943, serving with 18th Armored Regiment; transferred to U.S. Army, 2d Armored Division, April, 1944; went to France with invading forces; promoted Sergeant in 66th Armored Regiment June, 1944.

Sergeant Hatley was killed in action near Vire, France. Buried in Normandy American Cemetery La Chene-Guerin near Villedieu. Survived by father, mother (Mrs. Allen Griffin), and two brothers, Arthur Hately, Jr., U S.M.C, and Peter Hately, U.S.N., both of Pebble Beach, Calif.

Vincent McClelland, B.A. 1943.

Born December 11, 1920, in Greenwich, Conn. Died December 18, 1944, in the Pacific area.

Father, James Farley McClelland (E.M. Columbia Univ. 1900; M.A. Hon Yale 1910) of Greenwich; lecturer in mining engineering Yale University 1908-09, assistant professor 1909-14, and professor 1914-19; trustee Sheffield Scientific School 1916–18; vice-president Phelps Dodge Corporation, New York City; son of James Farley and Mary (Vincent) McClelland of Poughkeepsie, N.Y Mother, Jane Adams (Kearny) McClelland; daughter of Capt George Hammeken Kearny, U.S.N., and Isabel (Smedburg) Kearny. Yale relatives include a cousin, Osborne A. Day, Jr., '43.

Greenwich Country Day School and Groton (Mass) School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years; high oration appointment Senior year; second DeForest Senior Mathematical Prize; Freshman Football Squad; Junior University Football Team Sophomore and Junior years; Inter-Fraternity Council Junior year; member Yale Community Council, Triennial Committee, Elizabethan Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon (president Senior year), Aurelian Honor Society, Phi Beta Kappa, Scroll and Key, and Berkeley College; associate member Sigma Xi; awarded BA (honors with exceptional distinction) December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943 Unmarried. Member Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich.

Member V-7 program of U S. Naval Reserve while at Yale; attended Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University, January 2-April, 1943 (graduated second in the class); commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, April 23, 1943; promoted Lieutenant (1g) July, 1944; at Radar School, San Diego, May-June, 1943; communications officer at Pearl Harbor July-August; assistant gunnery officer on destroyer U.S. S. Spence—a member of Destroyer Squadron 23—from August 3, 1943, to July, 1944, and gunnery officer September-December, 1944; while serving aboard the Spence participated in various engagements in the Pacific area, including support of the landing on Treasury Island and the bombardment of Kavieng, Buka, Shortlands, Bougainville, and Rota islands; the Presidential Unit Citation was awarded to Destroyer Squadron 23 for extraordinary heroism in action against enemy Japanese forces during Solomon Islands campaign November 1, 1943-February 23, 1944

Lieutenant McClelland lost his life when his ship sank in a typhoon. Survived by parents, a sister, Jean Kearny McClelland Barrett (B A. Smith Coll. 1937), the wife of Julian S. Barrett, '34 S, and two brothers, James F. McClelland, Jr., '40, and Capt. George K. McClelland, '42,

U.S.M.C.R.

John Helm Maclean, B.A. 1943.

Born July 31, 1921, in Haverford, Pa. Died July 21, 1944, in France.

Father, Malcolm Roderick Maclean (B.S. in M.E. Georgia School of Technology 1906; special student Sheffield Scientific School, Yale University, 1906–07), formerly sales manager Penn Seaboard Steel Corporation, Haverford, and engaged in farming in Savannah, Ga; son of Malcolm and Mary McIntosh (Mills) Maclean of Loch Maddy, North Uist, Scotland. Mother, Emily Mariott (Helm) Maclean; daughter of John and Lucy (Washington) Helm of Louisville, Ky.

Asheville (N.C.) School for Boys and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; honorable mention Patterson Prize in American Politics and high oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Community Council, Undergraduate War Council, and Undergraduate Board of Deacons Senior year; on editorial board Yale Daily News three years (author Passing Glances and Current Comment, assignment editor Senior year); member Yale Political Union, Davenport College (touch football team three years), R O T.C. at Yale (battalion commander Senior year), Elizabethan Club (board of governors Senior year), Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa; awarded B A. (with honors) December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943 Member Christ Church (Episcopal), Savannah. Unmarried

Attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, January-April, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, April 8, 1943, and assigned to Armored Force Replacement Pool, Fort Knox; liaison officer, Headquarters 400th Field Artillery Battalion, Fort Knox; went overseas in April, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant April 5, 1944.

Lieutenant Maclean was killed in the invasion of Normandy. Buried in American Cemetery, Blosville, France. Survived by mother, a brother,

Malcolm R. Maclean, '41, U S.N.R., and maternal grandmother.

William Wallace Marshall, B.A. 1943.

Born September 29, 1921, in Plainfield, N.J. Died December 17, 1944, in Luxembourg.

Father, Henry Place Marshall (B.A. Harvard 1904, B.S. 1906), president Brown, Crosby & Company, Inc, insurance, New York City; son of William Wallace and Josephine (Holcombe) Marshall of Brooklyn. Mother, Dorothy Louise (Burke) Marshall; daughter of Charles Clinton and Elizabeth Spencer (Cass) Burke of Plainfield. Yale relatives include: Stanley W. Burke, '17 (uncle); and William M. Bowden, '32, Charles C. Burke, Jr., '37, C. DeWitt Smith, '38 S., Stanley W. Burke, Jr., ex-'40, and Russell E. Burke, 2d, '43 (cousins).

Phillips-Exeter Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew Squad and 150-pound Freshman Crew; manager University Crew Senior year; member Undergraduate Athletic Association, R O T.C at Yale (battalion officer Senior year), Saybrook College, and Fence Club; awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Unmarried. Member Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield. Attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, January-April, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, April 8, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant October 1, 1944; with 106th Infantry Division, Fort Jackson, detached and sent overseas November, 1943; assigned to Battery B, 108th Field Artillery Battalion, 28th Division; injured one knee in training and hospitalized three months; transferred to Battery A, 109th Field Artillery Battalion, 28th Division, about June 1, 1944; in training in England until July when the division went to France; participated in break-through at St Lô, assigned to 109th Battalion staff August-November; executive officer Battery A, 109th Field Artillery, November-December; engaged in action throughout retreat of the enemy through France to Belgium, and at Aachen and Hoertgen Forest.

Lieutenant Marshall lost his life when the enemy offensive drove through the section in northern Luxembourg where his division had been sent for a rest Buried in American Military Cemetery, Foy, Belgium. Survived by parents, two sisters, Jane Montgomery Marshall (B A. Smith Coll. 1946) and Grace Cass Marshall (Smith Coll. 1948), a brother, Burke Marshall, '44, and paternal grandmother.

Albert Cobb Martin, B.A. 1943.

Born December 23, 1920, in Brussels, Belgium Died December 21, 1944, in Belgium.

Father, Mac Martin (B.A Univ Minnesota 1903), president Minneapolis branch Erwin, Wasey & Company, national advertising agency, son of James M. and Frances Margaret (Bell) Martin of Minneapolis. Mother, Helen (Cobb) Martin; daughter of Albert Clifford and Annie Storer (Littlefield) Cobb of Minneapolis. Yale relatives include a cousin, John C Cobb, 3d, '41.

Blake School for Boys, Minneapolis. Oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Football, Baseball, and Hockey teams (captain baseball team); University Baseball Squad Sophomore year; University Football Squad Sophomore and Junior years, University Hockey Team Junior year; member Yale Political Union, RO.T.C at Yale (battery commander Senior year), Pierson College, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and Key, and Torch Honor Society; awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943.

Unmarried. Member Hennepen Avenue Methodist Church, Minneapolis.

Attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, January-April, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, April 8, 1943, assigned to Field Artillery Headquarters, 106th Division, and stationed at Fort Jackson as assistant operations officer in May, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant January 14, 1944; on detached service during August, 1944, to attend Orientation Officers School, Washington and Lee University (graduated August 30, 1944); commander Battery C, 590th Battalion, for about two months, reassigned to Headquarters and sent to France about November 10, 1944.

Lieutenant Martin was killed by enemy rifle fire when the Headquarters Battery was attacked on the road in Belgium Buried in Henri Chapelle, Belgium. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star. Survived by parents and maternal grandmother.

Ward Miller, B.A. 1943.

Born November 11, 1921, in New York City Died November 5, 1944, in the Asiatic area.

Father, John Miller (B A. Cornell Univ. 1912, M D. 1915), ear, nose and throat specialist in Greenwich, Conn; son of Robert Wilson and Ida

(Cleland) Miller of Cohocton, N.Y. Mother, Katharine (Degnan) Miller (B.A Trinity Coll. 1910; M.A Brown Univ. 1911; M.D. Cornell 1915);

daughter of Francis and Mary (Roark) Degnan of Rye, N.Y.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Member Class golf team Freshman year and University Golf Team Sophomore and Junior years; member Jonathan Edwards College (golf, hockey, and squash teams Sophomore and Junior years) and Beta Theta Pi, awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of Class of 1943. Member Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich Unmarried

Entered service as private January 10, 1943; after a short period at Camp Devens was assigned to Army Air Forces Technical Training Command, Basic Training Center No 9, Miami Beach, Fla.; sent to Armorers' School, Buckley Field, Denver, March 30, 1943, and assigned to 768th Technical School Squadron (specialist), promoted private (1st class) February, 1943, sent to Lowry Field, Denver, about June, 1943; assigned to 468th Squadron Bombing Group, 20th Air Force, Smoky Hills, Salina, Kans; promoted Corporal about August, 1943; sent overseas in April, 1944; assigned central fire control gunner on a B-29, stationed in Kharagpur, India, with engagements in the China-Burma-India Theatre of action; participated in first B-29 raid over Japan; promoted to Staff Sergeant about May, 1944, awarded Air Medal with one Oak Leaf Cluster.

Sergeant Miller was killed when his plane developed engine trouble and crashed while on a bombing raid to Singapore. Survived by parents, a sister, Dorothy Miller Davol (Sarah Lawrence Coll 1938), the wife of Rector T Davol, '37 (MD. Columbia 1941), and paternal grandmother.

William Cutler Thompson, Jr., B.A. 1943.

Born August 2, 1921, in Wibaux, Mont. Died May 25, 1945, in Erfurt, Germany.

Father, Lieut Comdr William Cutler Thompson, USN.R. (B.S. Pennsylvania State Coll. 1919; LL B. Temple Univ. 1927), in Judge Advocate General's Division, U.S. Navy; formerly professor of law Temple University, son of E. Franklin Thompson (LL B. 1887) and Florence (Poulson) Thompson of Chicago Mother, Grace (Winter) Thompson (B.A. Pennsylvania State Coll. 1920), daughter of William Phillips Winter (Ph.D. Johns Hopkins Univ. 1905) and Elizabeth (James) Winter of State College, Pa. Yale relatives include an uncle, Frederic S. Thompson, ex-'16 S.

Cheltenham High School, Philadelphia. Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year; scholar of the second rank Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year, member Jonathan Edwards College, Yale Political Union, and Phi Beta Kappa; awarded B.A. December 19,

1942, as of the Class of 1943. Graduate student in linguistics at Yale 1943-44 (M A. 1944). Member Trinity Memorial Church (Episcopal), Ambler, Pa. Unmarried.

Entered service as private, Infantry, May, 1944; stationed at Fort Devens and later at Camp Croft until October, 1944; transferred to Headquarters, Company Z, Corps of Engineers, serving in Belgium and Germany chiefly as interpreter; prior to his death was in Germany, near Erfurt, arranging for billets for occupying forces; advanced to private (1st class) early in 1945.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Erfurt Posthumously awarded Bronze Star Medal. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Carol Lee Thompson of Lake Bluff, Ill, a brother, Robert Travis Thompson of Lake Bluff, and paternal grandmother.

Frank Godfrey Aschmann, Class of 1944.

Born September 26, 1922, in New York City. Died December 25, 1944, in the English Channel.

Father, Charles George Aschmann (École de Commerce, Neuchâtel, Switzerland, 1897), engaged in rayon sales promotion with McCampbell & Company, New York City. Mother, Rosalie (David) Aschmann.

Friends' Seminary, New York City, Croton (NY) High School, and Peekskill (N.Y.) Military Academy. Entered Yale in September, 1940, member Saybrook College (on swimming team Sophomore and Junior years, captain Junior year) and Christian Science church Unmarried

Withdrew from college January 7, 1943; entered Army of the United States as private, Cavalry, January 27, 1943; stationed at Fort Riley January–June, 1943, and with Army Specialized Training Unit, Colorado School of Mines, June, 1943–March, 1944; transferred to Camp Rucker April 1, 1944; sent overseas about November 14, 1944; arrived in England about December 1; promoted private (1st class) about November 15, 1944

Pfc. Aschmann lost his life when the troopship Leopoldville on which he was being transported, was sunk in the English Channel. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents and a brother, T/S Charles G Aschmann, Jr., '41.

William Thayer Brown, Jr., B.A. 1944.

Born October 6, 1921, in New York City Died November 9, 1944, in Bari, Italy.

Father, William T. Brown, '16 S, of West Suffield, Conn; vice-president A. G. Spalding & Bros, Inc., Chicopee, Mass; son of William Thayer

and Mary Lorette (Spalding) Brown of New Jersey Mother, Annie Frances (Tener) Brown (Smith Coll. ex-'21); daughter of George Evans and Annie Frances (Fallbush) Tener of Sewickley, Pa. Yale relatives include. Horace Brown, '00 S, Alexander C. Tener, '12, and Kinley J. Tener, '16 (uncles), and George E. Tener, '40 (cousin).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, and St. George's School, Newport, R I. Assistant manager University Football Team Junior year and manager Senior year; member Yale Key and Undergraduate Athletic Association, Fence Club, Scroll and Key, Silliman College (on master's council), and Berkeley College; awarded B.A. October 25, 1943, as of the

Class of 1944.

Associated with Pan-American Airways, Miami, June-October, 1943, and Colt's Patent Firearms Company, Hartford, Conn., October, 1943-April, 1944; with Office of Strategic Services April-November, 1944 (stationed in Washington April-August, and in Bari from August to November), member Christ Church (Episcopal), Short Hills, N.J.

Unmarried.

Death occurred in American Military Hospital, Bari, after a short illness. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Bari. Survived by father, mother (Mrs. Malcolm Muir), three brothers, Alexander Tener Brown, U.S M C. (Class of 1947 Nov.), Horace Spalding Brown, 2d, U S.N., and Jeremy Brown (Harvard Class of 1948), and maternal grandmother.

Charles Briggs Congdon, Class of 1944.

Born March 13, 1922, in Cape Town, South Africa.

Died February 18, 1945, in England.

Father, Johns H Congdon, '07 S, a director Standard-Vacuum Oil Company, New York City; son of Johns Hopkins and Caroline (Buffum) Congdon of Providence, R.I. Mother, Cecilia (Briggs) Congdon. Yale relatives include. G. Maurice Congdon, '09 (uncle); and Gilbert M. Congdon, Jr, '33, William G Congdon, '34, Johns H. Congdon, 2d, '38, and Robert G Congdon, ex-'42 (cousins)

Lawrence Country Day School, Hewlett, NY, and St George's School, Newport, RI Entered Yale in September, 1940; Freshman Baseball and Soccer teams, member Silliman College, Fence Club, Book and Snake,

and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hewlett. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college January 7, 1942, enlisted in Army Air Corps January 23, 1942; trained at Maxwell Field January 25-June 2, 1942; with Air Corps Training Detachment, Decatur, Ala, and at Advanced Flying School, Blythville, Ark, June 3-November 9, 1942; at Craig Field Novem-

ber 10-December 12, 1942 (graduated as pilot and commissioned Second Lieutenant December 13, 1942); promoted First Lieutenant September 18, 1943; served with Ferrying Squadron, Air Service Command, September, 1943-February 18, 1945; based in western England, northern Ireland, and Scotland, and did much flying over France, Italy, and Africa; during last few months before his death had done special weather reporting.

Lieutenant Congdon was killed when his plane crashed during a routine weather flight. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Cambridge, England. Survived by parents and a brother, James Buffum Congdon, '46

March.

Eugene Pierre Cyprien Constantin, 3d, B.A. 1944.

Born June 19, 1922, in Tulsa, Okla. Died April 16, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Eugene Pierre Cyprien Constantin, Jr. (B.A. Jefferson Coll. 1914), an independent oil producer, rancher, and producer of beef cattle, registered cattle, sheep, and goats; president Paluxy Asphalt Company, refiners and marketers of petroleum products, Dallas, Texas; son of Eugene Pierre Cyprien and Melodia (Bourg) Constantin of Tulsa. Mother, Ruth Marie (Fitzpatrick) Constantin; daughter of Robert Gregory and Lulu (Withers) Fitzpatrick of Wichita Falls, Texas.

Highland Park High School, Dallas, and Phillips-Andover. Entered college in October, 1940; Freshman Football Team and Junior University Football Team Sophomore and Junior years; Junior University Wrestling Team; member Jonathan Edwards College (Alumni fund agent; in Gilbert and Sullivan productions two years), Yale Key, Elizabethan Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and Key, and Aurelian Honor Society; awarded B.A. March 25, 1944. Member Holy Trinity Church (Roman Catholic), Dallas. Unmarried.

Member Marine Detachment Navy V-12 program at Yale July 1-October, 1943; received boot training at Parris Island October-December, 1943; member Candidates Detachment, Camp Lejeune, January-March, 1944; attended Officer Candidate School, Quantico, March-August; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, August 28, 1944, assigned to Company C, 1st Battalion, 4th Marine Regiment, 6th Marine Division; in 26th Replacement Draft, Camp Pendleton, September-December; sent overseas in December, 1944.

Lieutenant Constantin was instantly killed by enemy fire when his company spearheaded the attack on Mt Yaetake (renamed Constantin Hill), breaking all organized enemy resistance on Motobu Peninsula. Survived by parents, paternal grandmother, and maternal grandfather

Sandwith Drinker, Class of 1944.

Born October 7, 1922, in Jenkintown, Pa. Died March 14, 1945, on Iwo Jima.

Father, James Blathwaite Drinker (B.A Haverford Coll. 1903), business counselor Philadelphia Veterans Information and Advisory Center. Mother, Mary Frances (Fisher) Drinker.

Kent (Conn) School. Entered Yale September, 1940, member Pierson College, Yale Political Union, Fence Club, and Huntingdon Valley (Pa.)

Episcopal Chapel Unmarried

Enlisted in US Marine Corps Reserve March 11, 1942; withdrew from college January 30, 1943, called to active duty March 1, 1943, as private; boot training at Parris Island March 1–May 1, 1943, and drill instructor May–June, attended Officer Candidate School, Quantico, June–November, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, August 25, 1943, began Raider Battalion training at Camp Pendleton in November, 1943, attended West Coast Chemical Warfare School, Camp Beale, until February 12, 1944; assigned to 27th Marines, Camp Pendleton, February–June, 1944, and then to Company A, 5th Motor Transport Battalion, 5th Marine Division; trained in Hawaii July, 1944, until sent to Iwo Jima January 1, 1945, promoted First Lieutenant February 28, 1945

Lieutenant Drinker died of wounds received in action on Iwo Jima. Buried in 5th Marine Division Cemetery, Iwo Jima. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star Medal Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Mary Elwyn Drinker, and two brothers, Henry Middleton Drinker and James

Drinker

Snowden Haywood, B.A. 1944.

Born June 14, 1922, in Scarsdale, NY. Died December 26, 1944, in Luxembourg.

Father, Alfred Williams Haywood (B A. Univ. North Carolina 1904; M A Columbia Univ 1907), member Hall, Cunningham & Haywood, lawyers, New York City, son of Alfred Williams and Louise Moore (Holt) Haywood of Haw River, N C. Mother, Adèle (Snowden) Haywood, daughter of William Henry and Septima (Logan) Snowden of Macon, Ga

Woodberry Forest (Va) School and Southern Arizona School for Boys, Tucson Oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Rifle Team; member R O T C. at Yale (cadet captain, cited for efficiency and leadership by Department of Military Science and Tactics Senior year), Saybrook College (soccer team), and Chi Psi; awarded B.A. October 25, 1943, as of the

Class of 1944. Member Church of St James the Less (Episcopal), Scarsdale. Unmarried.

Enlisted in Army Enlisted Reserve Corps May 25, 1942; reported to Fort Devens as private, Army of the United States, June 14, 1943; attended Field Artillery Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, August-December, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, December 2, 1943; assigned to Field Artillery Replacement Training Center, Fort Bragg, December, 1943–January, 1944, and to 26th Infantry Division in January, 1944; attended Field Artillery Motor Maintenance School, Fort Sill, about February–May, 1944, assigned to Headquarters Battery, 263d Field Artillery Battalion, 26th Infantry Division, Fort Jackson, about May, 1944; went overseas October, 1944, going directly to France, during service in France acted principally as artillery observer

Lieutenant Haywood was reported missing in action December 26, 1944, during the advance near Grosbous, Luxembourg. Later reports gave the information that he lost his life on that date when the cub plane from which he was observing and correcting artillery fire was cut in half by an enemy plane Lieutenant Haywood managed to bail out but was killed by machine gun fire before reaching the ground. Buried in Luxembourg. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents, a sister, Adèle Haywood Graham (Smith Coll ex-'41), the wife of John Ellis Graham, Jr., '40 S., of Scarsdale, and paternal grandmother. His brother, Ensign Alfred W. Haywood, Jr., '43, U S N.R., died in action April 29, 1944 (page 399).

Charles Alfred Higgins, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born July 16, 1922, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 24, 1945, in Germany

Father, Charles Alfred Higgins, president Hercules Powder Company, Wilmington, Del.; director Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. Mother, Marion Glenn (Dunham) Higgins (B.A. Vassar Coll 1912)

Lawrenceville (N J.) School Entered Yale September 25, 1940; member Davenport College, Yale Political Union, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Wilmington. Unmarried

Withdrew from college September 28, 1942; enlisted in Signal Corps as private November 10, 1942; promoted Technical Corporal December, 1942; stationed at Fort Monmouth until September, 1943, when commissioned Second Lieutenant; attended Signal Corps Photography School November, 1943–March, 1944; assigned to 195th Signal Photography Company, Fort Benning, as instructor, transferred to 167th Signal Photography Company, Camp Crowder, June–July, 1944, and to 16th Headquarters Special Troops, Second Army, Camp Chaffee, July, 1944; at Fort

Monmouth August-December, 1944, when sent to England; went to France in February, 1945, and attached to 3264th Signal Service Photo

Company.

Lieutenant Higgins was killed in action while photographing an airborne operation over the Rhine River. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents.

Richard Carlisle Long, 2d, Class of 1944.

Born February 20, 1921, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died January 10, 1945, in Eltopia, Wash.

Father, Richard Carlisle Long (B.A Univ. Pennsylvania 1907); member Dipple and Long, lawyers, Pittsburgh. Mother, Jane (Murphy) Long. University School, Pittsburgh, Lenox (Mass.) School, and Franklin and Marshall Academy. Entered Yale September, 1940; member Silliman College, Beta Theta Pi, and Calvary Church (Episcopal), Pittsburgh. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college July 17, 1942; enlisted in U.S. Naval Reserve, Class V-5, July 30, 1942; aviation cadet, U.S Naval Reserve, August 10, 1942, trained at Chapel Hill, N.C, Squantum and Mansfield, Mass., Glenview, Ill, and Corpus Christi, Texas; appointed Ensign A-V(N), U.S. Naval Reserve, March 29, 1944, and Naval Aviator (heavier-than-air); at Naval Auxiliary Air Station, Cecil Field, April 4–June 8, and July 7–November 16, 1944; with Carrier Qualification Training Unit, Glenview, June 10–16, 1944; detached to Fleet Air, West Coast, Naval Air Station, San Diego, November 16–December 15, 1944; further ordered to Fleet Air, Naval Air Station, Seattle, for duty involving flying in a fighting squadron December 15, 1944.

Ensign Long lost his life when the plane he was testing crashed. Buried

in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by mother.

John Derek MacGuire, B.A. 1944.

Born November 5, 1922, in New York City. Died August 21, 1944, on Tinian Island in the Marianas.

Father, Constantine Joseph MacGuire, Jr (B.A. 1907; M.D. Columbia Univ 1911), director first surgical division, Bellevue Hospital, New York City; associate professor of clinical surgery Columbia University; son of Constantine Joseph MacGuire, LL D. (M D. Royal Coll. Surgeons,

Dublin, 1869), and Mary (Lynch) MacGuire of New York City Mother, Alice Marie (Cordier) MacGuire; daughter of Auguste Julien and Alice Marie (Grosjean) Cordier of Brooklyn and Woodhaven, NY Yale relatives include George S Mittendorf, '99, Arthur J. McKenna, ex-'07, Oliver C Hoyt, '13, and Auguste J. Cordier, '13 (uncles); W. Frederick Mittendorf, '32, Arthur J. McKenna, Jr., '36 S, Constantine Mittendorf, '37, and Robert L. McKenna, '44 (cousins)

Allen-Stevenson School for Boys, New York City, and Phillips-Exeter Scholar of the second rank Sophomore year; high oration appointment and Townsend Premium Senior year; Freshman Swimming and Lacrosse squads; member Yale Political Union, Berkeley College (squash team Sophomore year; on master's advisory council Senior year), Berzelius, and Phi Beta Kappa; awarded B.A October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944. Member St Vincent Ferrer Church (Roman Catholic), New York City Unmarried.

Enlisted in U.S. Marine Corps Reserve April, 1942; called to active service July 14, 1943; received boot training at Parris Island July 15-August 8, 1943; attended Officer Candidate School, Quantico, August 10-November 3, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, November 3, 1943; received advanced training at Quantico November 3, 1943-January 12, 1944, and chemical warfare training at Edgewood (Md.) Arsenal January 23-February 26, 1944; sent to Pacific area with Headquarters Company, First Battalion, 8th Regiment, 2d Marine Division, March 9, 1944; took part in initial beachhead landing on Saipan.

Lieutenant MacGuire was killed by an enemy sniper in the battle for Tinian. Buried in Marine Cemetery on Tinian. Survived by parents, a sister, Alice Marie MacGuire (Smith Coll. Class of 1949), and a brother, Constantine Jerrold MacGuire.

Thomas Lees Marshall, Class of 1944.

Born May 3, 1922, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 9, 1944, near Fondaccio, Italy.

Father, James Waller Marshall, '07 S, partner Bacon [William T, '06], Whipple [Jay N, ex-'19] & Company, investment banking, Chicago, son of Fielding Lewis Marshall (B.A. Columbia Univ 1880, LL B 1882) and Susanna Lees (Waller) Marshall of New York City Mother, Mary Louise (Smith) Marshall. Yale relatives include an uncle, Fielding L Marshall, ex-'27 S.

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Entered Yale September, 1940; Freshman Golf Team; assistant manager University Basketball Team Sophomore year and manager from April, 1942; on board Yale Key; on

business board Yale Record two years; member Trumbull College and Alpha Sigma Phi.

Unmarried

Withdrew from college September 29, 1942, to volunteer as ambulance driver American Field Service, sailed for North Africa November, 1942, and served with British Ninth Army in Beirut, Aleppo, Zahlé, and Baalbek until August, 1943, transferred to Italy, working near the front lines with units of British Eighth and American Fifth armies at Salerno and Cassino October, 1943–July, 1944

Volunteer Marshall was killed instantly when a mortar bomb exploded directly over his head on the roof of a small shelter at Regimental Aid Post. Buried in Military Cemetery, Montecchio, Italy. Survived by parents and a brother, James W. Marshall, Jr., A.U.S.

Lucien Memminger, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born May 18, 1922, in Leghorn, Italy. Died August 24, 1944, at Fort Knox, Ky.

Father, Lucien Memminger (Univ. of the South 1896–1900), retired member U.S. Foreign Service; vice and deputy consul general Boma, Africa, Naples, Beirut, Smyrna, and Paris; consul at Rouen, Madras, Leghorn, Italy, and Bordeaux, France, consul general Belfast, Ireland, Copenhagen, Denmark, and Pretoria, South Africa; son of Rev. Robert Withers Memminger and Susan (Mazyck) Memminger. Mother, Mabel Elizabeth (Dibell) Memminger (B.A. Western Coll. for Women 1910; M.A. Univ. Illinois 1913 and Stanford Univ. 1914).

Episcopal High School, Alexandria, Va. Entered Yale September, 1940; member athletic committee, Yale Community Council, Freshman year; president Yale Community Council Senior year; Yale University Glee Club three years, member Jonathan Edwards College (football, basketball, and boxing teams; captain touch football team summer 1942), Yale Political Union, Undergraduate Board of Deacons, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Book and Snake, and Episcopal church. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college in February, 1943; entered Army of the United States as private at Fort Devens February, 1943; received basic training at Fort Knox; attached to 17th Battalion, A. R. Tank Corps; later volunteered to serve in 28th Airborne Tank Battalion; promoted Corporal June, 1944; transferred to reconnaissance unit of Airborne Armored Force.

Corporal Memminger was killed when a package of nitrostarch, being used in demolition practice, exploded. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Asheville, SC Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Elizabeth Anne Memminger, and a brother, Charles Gustavus Memminger, all of Asheville.

Quentin Meyer, B.A. 1944.

Born November 10, 1920, in Washington, D.C. Died May 11, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Cord Meyer, '17 S., associated with Cord Meyer Company, real estate, New York City; son of Cord and Cornelia Maria (Covert) Meyer of Maspeth, N.Y Mother, Katherine Blair (Thaw) Meyer, daughter of Alexander Blair and Florence (Dow) Thaw of New York City and Washington. Yale relatives include J. Edward Meyer, '02 S, George C Meyer, '05 S., and Robert B. Meyer, '14 S. (uncles), Charles G Meyer, Jr, '33, J. Edward Meyer, Jr., '34, George C. Meyer, Jr, '35 S., Ward A Meyer, ex-'36 E., John Vann. Meyer, '36 S., and Robert B. Meyer, Jr, ex-'43 (cousins).

St Paul's School, Concord, N H., and Milton (Mass.) Academy Freshman Football and Hockey teams; University Rugby Team three years; University Hockey Team two years (captain Senior year), University Football Squad Sophomore year; University Football Team Junior year; on Student Advisory Committee Department of Personnel Study Junior and Senior years; in R O T.C. at Yale two years, member Fence Club, Scroll and Key, Torch Honor Society, and Davenport College; awarded B.A. October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944.

Unmarried. Member St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Enlisted as private, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, March, 1942; left college July 29, 1943; received basic training at Parris Island July, until about September 1, 1943, and Field Artillery School, Quantico, September 1, 1943—February, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, November 3, 1943, promoted First Lieutenant April, 1945, naval gunfire and liaison officer, Fourth Joint Assault Signal Company Training Center, Camp Pendleton, April—June, 1944, went overseas in June, 1944; as signalman 1st Marine Division served at Peleliu Island in the Palau Islands, and was awarded Silver Star for gallantry there September, 1944.

Lieutenant Meyer was killed by an enemy grenade when he pushed ahead to help a wounded man. Buried in cemetery of the 1st Marine Division on Okinawa. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents and three brothers, Lieut Cord Meyer, Jr, '43, Cpl. Thomas Drake Meyer, and Pfc. William Blair Meyer, all of the U.S Marine Corps.

Robert Stone Stoddart, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born June 26, 1922, in Yonkers, NY Died September 17, 1944, in Holland.

Father, Robert S Stoddart, '17, vice-president New York Underwriters Insurance Company, New York City; son of John H. and Louise Mariette (Stone) Stoddart. Mother, Julia (Ten Eyck) Stoddart; daughter of John Connover and Laura (Breckinridge) Ten Eyck. Yale relatives include: John C. Stoddart, '12 (uncle); and Hendrix Ten Eyck, '44 E. (cousin).

Hoosac School, Hoosick, N.Y. Entered Yale September, 1940; Freshman Swimming Team and University Swimming Team Sophomore year; member Jonathan Edwards College (on crew).

Unmarried.

Enlisted as private, Army Air Forces, April, 1942; withdrew from college in July, 1942, began training as aviation cadet August, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant at Lubbock, Texas, April, 1943; stationed at Army Air Fields at Alliance, Nebr, and Maxton, N.C., before going overseas December 25, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant April 1, 1944; stationed in England and assigned to 9th Troop Carrier Command, 9th Air Force, took part in invasion of Normandy; transferred to Italy in July, 1944, and took part in invasion of southern France; returned to England about September 1, 1944; awarded Air Medal for his part in the invasion of Europe and the Oak Leaf Cluster for his part in the invasion of southern France.

Lieutenant Stoddart was killed when his plane was hit by enemy fire and crashed in flames over Holland Buried near Eindhoven, Holland. Posthumously awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross. Survived by father and two brothers, Breckinridge T. E. Stoddart, '39, and John H Stoddart (Hamilton Coll. ex-'42)

Robert Frank Trask, B.A. 1944.

Born July 11, 1924, in Portland, Maine. Died April 16, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, Ervin Elverton Trask (B A. Bates Coll. 1920; Yale Graduate School 1937–40), superintendent Old Saybrook (Conn) High School; superintendent of schools Plainville, Conn, since 1941; son of Frank and Minnie (Stewart) Trask of Clinton, Maine. Mother, Gladys Lillian (Logan) Trask (B A Bates Coll. 1920); daughter of Robert Alexander and Helen (Nice) Logan of South Portland, Maine.

Old Saybrook High School Member Calhoun College (bowling and tennis teams Junior year; basketball team Senior year); awarded B.A. October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944 Member First Congregational Church, Old Saybrook Unmarried

Left college June 9, 1943, to enter U.S. Navy; trained at Sound School, Key West, Fla; soundman (3d class) September 25, 1943; promoted soundman (2d class) about March 1, 1945; assigned to U.S.S. Bryant, DD 665, late in 1943, saw action in invasions of Saipan, Tinian, Palau, Ulithi, Leyte, Luzon, Iwo Jima, and Okinawa.

Soundman Trask was instantly killed when his ship was bombed by enemy aircraft. Buried in National Cemetery, Zamami Island, Kerama Retto, Nansei Shoto Survived by parents, two sisters, the Misses Ruth Helen and Thelma Joyce Trask, and a brother, George Ervin Trask, all of Plainville, and maternal grandparents.

George Barnett Trible, Jr., B.A. 1944.

Born January 26, 1922, in Washington, D.C. Died October 3, 1944, off Halmahera, Dutch East Indies.

Father, George Barnett Trible (M.D. Washington Univ. [St. Louis] 1906), ear, eye, nose, and throat specialist, Washington; son of Samuel and Mattie Ellen (Barnett) Trible of Piasa, Ill Mother, Nina Alma (Knecht) Trible (grad. Shurtleff Coll School of Music 1902), daughter of Theodore and Gertrude Marie (Hoppe) Knecht of Alton, Ill.

St. Albans School, Washington University Soccer Team three years, member Berkeley College; enlisted in US Naval Reserve November, 1942; called to active duty July 1, 1943, and assigned to V-12 program as apprentice seaman at Yale until October, 1943; awarded B A October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944.

Unmarried. Member St. Alban's Church (Episcopal), Washington.

On duty Boston Navy Yard October-December, 1943; attended Naval Supply Corps School, Wellesley, Mass, December 12, 1943-April 19, 1944 (graduated and commissioned Ensign April 19, 1944); assigned to duty at Norfolk Navy Yard in May, 1944, and stationed there until sent to sea as supply officer aboard U.S.S. Shelton in June, 1944.

Ensign Trible lost his life when his ship was sunk by enemy action

Survived by father and mother.

Augustus Van Cortlandt, 3d, B.A. 1944.

Born September 7, 1922, in New York City. Died April 22, 1945, in Germany

Father, Augustus Van Cortlandt, Jr. (B A. Harvard 1915), of Mt. Kisco, N.Y, and Brandon, Vt.; engaged in farming and management of family real estate; son of Augustus and Ethel (Wilson) Van Cortlandt of New York City. Mother, Katherine (Gibson) Van Cortlandt; daughter of Robert Williams and Caroline (Hammond) Gibson of New York City

Kent (Conn) School. Freshman Crew; Junior University Crew Sophomore year; enlisted in RO.T.C. at Yale May, 1942; member The Colony and Berzelius, Fence Club, and Branford College (crew and football team

Junior year); awarded B.A. October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944.

Member St. Mark's Church (Episcopal), Mt. Kisco. Unmarried.

Left college June, 1943, and entered active duty at Camp Devens June 14, 1943, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, August-November, 1943; received further training at Fort Bragg November, 1943–January, 1944, and Camp Gordon February-April, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, in December, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant January, 1945; went overseas August, 1944; assigned to Headquarters Battery, 420th Armored Field Artillery Battalion, 10th Division, Third Army (10th Division was transferred to Seventh Army in April, 1945); had acted as advance observer in a heavy tank; trapped and wounded in first crossing of Moselle River; received the Order of the Purple Heart, and the Silver Star Medal for gallantry in action during the period November 18–22, 1944, and the Bronze Star for heroic achievement in defense of Bastogne December 24, 1944.

Lieutenant Van Cortlandt died of wounds received in action. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Bensheim, Germany. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and Oak Leaf Cluster to the Silver Star. Survived by father, mother (Mrs. Eugene Ecker Morton), and three sisters, Katherine V. C. Wilberding, the wife of Joseph C. Wilberding, Jr., '34, Carolyn V. C. Litchfield, the wife of Edward Sands Litchfield (B.S. Harvard 1934, M.B.A. 1937) of Mt. Kisco, and Miss Eve de Vries Van

Cortlandt of New York City.

Gilman Dorr Blake, Jr., Class of 1945.

Born February 22, 1923, in New York City. Died January 20, 1945, in England.

Father, Gilman Dorr Blake (B A Univ. Wisconsin 1918; LL B. Harvard 1921), vice-president Central Hanover Bank and Trust Company, New York City Mother, Antoinette Lewis (Johnson) Blake.

St Bernard's Preparatory School, New York City, and St Paul's School, Concord, NH Entered Yale September, 1941; Freshman Football and Hockey teams; member Freshman Promenade Committee; Junior University Football Team; University Hockey Team, member Silliman and Calhoun colleges, Yale Key, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Church of the Heavenly Rest (Episcopal), New York City.

Married May 27, 1944, in New York City, Wynanda, daughter of Duncan and Wynanda Koechlin (Boardman) Bulkley. Son: Gilman Dorr,

3d (born July 14, 1945)

Enlisted in Army Air Forces in fall of 1942 while at Yale; withdrew from college in February, 1943; called to active duty March 18, 1943;

ordered to Niagara University for training April 20, 1943; became aviation cadet August 11, 1943; received preflight training at Maxwell Field, primary training at Chester Field (November, 1943), subsequent basic training at Malden Army Air Field, and advanced training at Freeman Field, graduated as pilot and commissioned Second Lieutenant May 22, 1944; at B-24 co-pilot school, Laredo Army Air Field, June 4–July 16, 1944, assigned to Bomber Crew, Lincoln, Nebr., August, 1944; underwent final training at Gowen Army Air Field, Boise, Idaho, September–November, 1944; at staging area, Topeka Army Air Base, November 22–December 3, went overseas December 9, 1944, and attached to 406th Bomber Squadron, 8th Air Force.

Lieutenant Blake was killed when his parachute failed to open completely after he was forced to bail out Buried in American Military Cemetery, Cambridge, England. Survived by wife, son, parents, and a brother, Richard Randolph Blake, Class of 1947 March.

Jacques Edmond Bloch, Class of 1945.

Born October 5, 1923, in Paris, France. Died January 27, 1945, near Strasbourg, Alsace.

Father, Léon Bloch, associated with H S Cramer & Company, Inc, New York City. Mother, Ida (Lehman) Bloch

Lycée Janson-de-Sailly, Paris, and the Taft School for Boys, Water-town, Conn.; attended Trinity College 1941-42. Entered Yale in August, 1942; member Timothy Dwight College.

Unmarried.

Withdrew from college December 16, 1942, to enlist in Free French Army; trained in England March 8, 1943-September, 1944, and part of the time was connected with the French underground movement; sent to France for further training; volunteered for infantry regiment in Alsace

Corporal Bloch died when hit by shell fragments while on patrol near Strasbourg Buried in Obernai, Alsace, France Posthumously decorated with the French War Cross by General Leclerc. Survived by parents and a sister, Miss Lise Bloch, all of New York City.

Edwin Thaddeus Danowski, Class of 1945.

Born April 20, 1923, in Derby, Conn. Died February 17, 1945, in the Mediterranean area.

Father, Antony Marcel Danowski, a textile weaver in Derby Mother, Therese (Kosciuh) Danowski.

Derby High School Entered Yale in September, 1941. Member Berkeley College (senior aide honoris causa 1945); joined aviation cadet training program in February, 1942, member St. Michael's Church (Catholic), Derby. Unmarried

Withdrew from college February 19, 1943, to join Army Air Corps; sent to Syracuse University, transferred to Harlingen Field, Texas, for gunnery training; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant (navigator), US Army Air Corps, at San Marcos, Texas, April 22, 1944 (received special mention for achievement in four methods of aerial navigation—celestial, dead reckoning, pilotage, and radio); sent to Italy in June, 1944, with 826th Bomber Squadron, 484th Bomber Group; promoted First Lieutenant in December, 1944.

Lieutenant Danowski was instantly killed when his badly damaged plane crashed in an emergency landing; it was his forty-eighth combat mission Buried in a military cemetery in Southern Italy. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart, Distinguished Flying Cross, and Air Medal with three Oak Leaf Clusters Survived by parents, three sisters, Mrs Mildred Danowski Blake of Newtown, Conn., Miss Jane Danowski of New York City, and Miss Pelagia Danowski of Shelton, Conn, and two brothers, Thaddeus S. Danowski, '36, '40 M, and Rudolph Joseph Danowski (Class of 1949).

James Rodgers Dicken, B.A. 1945.

Born April 7, 1922, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 15, 1944, off the Atlantic coast.

Father, Clinton Orr Dicken (B S Univ. Chicago 1913), chairman executive board E. J. Brach & Sons, Chicago; son of William Sanford and Alice (Robinson) Dicken of Syracuse, Nebr., and Hood River, Ore. Mother, Emily Fern (Rodgers) Dicken (B.A. Oregon State Coll. 1910); daughter of Henry Robert and Matilda B Rodgers of Portland, Ore.

Phillips-Andover. Freshman Track Team; member The Pundits, Zeta Psi, and Wolf's Head, awarded B A June 22, 1944, as of the Class of 1945.

Unmarried Attended Union Church, Hinsdale, Ill.

Member N.R O T.C. in V-12 Unit at Yale (squad leader, 2d platoon, 1st company), commissioned Ensign February 26, 1944; stationed in Norfolk, Va, until May, 1944; assigned as assistant navigator and second division officer aboard the destroyer U S.S Warrington July 9, 1944.

Ensign Dicken died on a life raft after his ship sank during a hurricane off the Atlantic coast Survived by father, stepmother, and two stepsisters, Jean Rodgers Drysdale (Beloit Coll. 1929–30; BA. Univ. Wisconsin

1933), the wife of Harold F. Drysdale (Marquette Univ. 1931-32) of Milwaukee, Wis., and Emily Rodgers Davis (Beloit Coll 1933-34; Univ Chicago 1934-37), the wife of David Edward Davis (B.A. Swarthmore Coll. 1935; M.A. Harvard 1936, Ph D. 1939) of San Antonio, Texas.

John Andrew Eckert, 3d, B.A. 1945.

Born March 11, 1923, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died May 3, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, John Andrew Eckert, Jr, formerly an insurance broker with Lundgren and Mause, New York City, son of John Andrew and Jeanette (Dickson) Eckert. Mother, Frances Josephine (Smith) Eckert, daughter of William Homer and Amelia (Van Gosig) Smith.

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School. Oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew Squad; member Berkeley College, Zeta Psi, and Berzelius; awarded B A. (with honors) June 22, 1944, as of the Class of 1945.

Unmarried.

Member Marine Detachment in V-12 Unit at Yale; entered active duty in U.S Marine Corps spring of 1944; stationed at Camp Lejeune; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, September, 1944; stationed at Camp Pendleton; sent to Pacific area December 14, 1944; attached to Company A, 1st Battalion, First Marine Division, in the Russell Islands December, 1944–April 1, 1945, sent to Okinawa April 1, 1945.

Lieutenant Eckert was killed in action on Okinawa Survived by mother (Mrs. John P. Houck), stepfather, and two stepbrothers, Ensign Jay Houck, U.S N R., and Courtney Houck, both of Harrison, N.Y.

Rolland Mooney Edmonds, Jr., Class of 1945.

Born January 3, 1924, in Columbus, Ohio. Died April 29, 1945, in England.

Father, Rolland M. Edmonds, '07, partner in law firm of Edmonds & Harter, Columbus; son of Eugene Peter and Lena (Mooney) Edmonds. Mother, Margaret Manning (Black) Edmonds (Radcliffe Coll ex-'14); daughter of George Bernard and Frances (McMahon) Black Yale relatives include: Robert R. Lockwood, '07 (uncle); and Edward H Lockwood, '42 (cousin).

Columbus Academy. Entered Yale in September, 1941; Freshman Foot-

ball Squad; member Branford College, Zeta Psi, and St. Alban's Church

(Episcopal), Columbus. Unmarried

Withdrew from college January 29, 1943; entered Army Air Corps, Fort Hayes, Columbus, February 22, 1943; assigned to Topographic School of the Engineer Corps, University of Kentucky, May-August, 1943, promoted corporal and transferred to Peterson Field; later at Will Rogers Field, and then on maneuvers in Tennessee; promoted Sergeant in June, 1944, transferred to De Ridder Army Air Base, later to Greensboro, NC, and then back to Will Rogers Field; volunteered for Infantry November, 1944; stationed at Camp Gordon; went overseas February, 1945, attached to 63d Division, Seventh Army.

Sergeant Edmonds died as the result of wounds received in action near Rohrbach, Germany. Buried in U.S Military Cemetery near Cambridge, England Survived by parents and a brother, John K. Edmonds, '35.

Richard Stuart Fleming, Class of 1945.

Born December 11, 1923, in East Orange, N.J. Died April 13, 1945, near Offensen, Germany.

Father, Edwin Eager Fleming of New Haven, Conn.; an engineer with High Standard Manufacturing Corporation, New Haven Mother, Florence (Ingersoll) Fleming (Colby Coll. ex-'13).

Elyton School, Birmingham, Ala., and New Haven High School. Entered Yale in September, 1941, held Sterling Memorial Scholarship Freshman year, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college September 1, 1942; inducted into Army of the United States at Fort Knox September 11, 1942; received basic training and attended Armored Forces Officer Candidate School, Fort Knox, September, 1942–September, 1943, commissioned Second Lieutenant September 11, 1943, and stationed at Camp Polk November 18–December 23, 1943, transferred to Camp Shelby in December, 1943; with 8th Armored Group December 23, 1943–April 18, 1944; stationed at Fort Jackson April 18–October 21, when sent to Fort George G Meade; sent overseas attached to 771st Tank Battalion, 84th Infantry Division, Ninth Army, serving in France, Holland, Belgium, and Germany; awarded Bronze Star for heroic service in connection with operations against the enemy in Germany on February 25 and 27, 1945.

Lieutenant Fleming died in action while on an infantry patrol reconnaissance mission Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star for gallantry in action on April 13, 1945, and the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents, a sister, Mrs. Eleanor Fleming Clifford of Piedmont, Calif., and a brother, Capt. Robert Ingersoll Fleming, A.U.S., of New Haven.

Edward McCrady Gaillard, Jr., B.A. 1945.

Born October 20, 1923, in Great Barrington, Mass. Died May 25, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Edward M Gaillard, '19, president The Union & New Haven Trust Company, New Haven, Conn; director New Haven Chamber of Commerce, New Haven Taxpayers Research Council, Inc, New Haven chapter American Red Cross, and Gaylord Farm Association, member Advisory Committee on Banking of the State of Connecticut; son of Samuel Gourdin Gaillard (C.E. Union Coll. [N.Y.] 1881) and Esther Lynch Bowman (McCrady) Gaillard of South Carolina Mother, Virginia (Ticknor) Gaillard; daughter of Benjamin Durant and Constance (Parker) Ticknor of Great Barrington. Yale relatives include: Edward McCrady (B A 1820) (great-great-grandfather); and Samuel G Gaillard, Jr., '16 (uncle).

Pomfret (Conn.) School. Assistant manager University Football Team Senior year; in Yale University Glee Club; member Delta Kappa Epsilon, Wolf's Head, and Timothy Dwight College (Alumni fund agent 1944–45); member Marine Detachment Navy V-12 Unit at Yale July, 1943–February, 1944, and was transferred to Davenport College during that period; awarded B.A. June 22, 1944, as of the Class of 1945. Member St.

Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven. Unmarried.

Left college February 26, 1944; received boot training at Parris Island February 27-May 4, 1944, and further training at Camp Lejeune May 5-July 7; attended Officer Candidate School, Camp Lejeune, July 7-September 30, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserves, September 30, 1944; assigned to 33d Replacement Draft, Camp Pendleton, and went overseas in January, 1945; received further training at Guadalcanal where he was attached to 4th Marine Regiment, 6th Division; took part in landing operations on Okinawa April 1, in command of a replacement company, and later in command of a battalion of replacements with the 4th Regiment, 6th Division; early in May 1945, assigned to duty as commanding officer of Headquarters Company, 2d Battalion, 4th Regiment; about May 20, in accordance with his wishes, was assigned to a rifle company (Company E, 2d Battalion, 4th Regiment) and took part in the battle for Naha, Okinawa, led his platoon in the successful capture of Hill 58, adjoining Sugar Loaf Hill, north of Naha; awarded Asiatic-Pacific Campaign Medal.

Lieutenant Gaillard was instantly killed by an enemy sniper or machine gun. Buried in 6th Marine Division Cemetery, northwest of Yontan Airport, Okinawa Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Virginia Ticknor Gaillard of Hamden, Conn., a brother, Pfc Benjamin Ticknor Gaillard, US Marine Corps Reserve, and maternal grandmother.

William Rinn Macdonald, B.A. 1945.

Born July 7, 1923, 1n Buffalo, NY. Died November 17, 1944, in Key West, Fla.

Father, Ernest Somerled Macdonald of Forest Hills, N.Y.; vice-president Bank of Manhattan Company, in charge of borough of Queens; son of Joseph Bennett and Catherine Macdonald of Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, Canada. Mother, Elizabeth Naomi (Rinn) Macdonald; daughter of Dr. William Rinn and Mary (Hoyle) Rinn of Port Allegany, Pa.

Phillips-Andover. An editor Yale News Digest Junior and Senior years; on V-12 staff of the Yale News Digest Senior year; associate member Yale University Dramatic Association; member Davenport College, Fence Club, The Pundits, and Wolf's Head; awarded B.A. June 22, 1944, as of

the Class of 1945

Unmarried. Member Our Lady Queen of Martyrs Church (Roman Catholic), Forest Hills.

Member NRO.TC in V-12 Unit at Yale July, 1943–February, 1944; commissioned Ensign February 26, 1944; attended School of Naval Mine Warfare, Yorktown, Va, March–June, 1944; assigned to U.S. S. Y.M. S. 84 operating in the Caribbean.

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound. Survived by father, mother (died March 9, 1945), and a sister, Miss Mary Catherine Macdonald of Forest Hills

John Alexander MacMullen, Class of 1945.

Born August 15, 1924, in New York City. Died December 16, 1944, near Arcadia, Fla.

Father, Charles William MacMullen (E.E. Columbia Univ. 1897), president Clark, MacMullen & Riley, Inc., consulting engineers, New York City. Mother, Margaret (Richmond) MacMullen (Bryn Mawr Coll. 1910–12, Radcliffe Coll. 1915 and 1917).

Buckley School for Boys, New York City, and Phillips-Exeter. Entered Yale in September, 1941; member Pierson College and Presbyterian church. Unmarried.

Enrolled as cadet, U.S. Army Air Forces, in October, 1942; withdrew from college February 1, 1943; entered active duty February 24, 1943; graduated from Elementary Flying School, Carlstrom Field, December 3, 1943; advanced training at Maxwell Field, where he received wings and was commissioned Second Lieutenant April 25, 1944; further training at St. Petersburg, Arcadia, and Lakeland, Fla.; with 506th Fighter Group,

457th Fighter Squadron, Lakeland Army Air Field, until December 16,

1944.

Lieutenant MacMullen was killed when his plane crashed while on high-altitude squadron maneuvers, reportedly owing to oxygen failure Buried in Stonington, Conn Survived by parents, a brother, Ramsay Mac-Mullen of New York City, and maternal grandmother.

Donald Macfarlane MacSporran, Class of 1945.

Born April 13, 1922, in Birmingham, Ala. Died October 4, 1944, in Casper, Wyo.

Father, Rev. John Alexander MacSporran, DD (BA Queens Univ 1899), of Clifton Springs, NY., a Presbyterian minister; chaplain Clifton Springs Sanatorium and Clinic. Mother, Elizabeth (Macfarlane) MacSporran.

Orange (N.J.) High School and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Entered Yale in September, 1941; Freshman Cross Country Track Team; member Calhoun College and Hillside Presbyterian Church, East

Orange, N.J. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college July 2, 1942, to enter U.S. Naval Air Corps; began training as naval aviation cadet at Chapel Hill, N C, August, 1942, at Olathe, Kans, November, 1942–January, 1943, honorably discharged January 17, 1943; inducted into Army of the United States March 11, 1943, and assigned to Army Air Forces; trained at Fort Niagara, Miami Beach, Knoxville, Tenn., Santa Ana, Calif, and Deming, N Mex, March, 1943–July 1944; commissioned Lieutenant (bombardier) July 23, 1944, at Deming.

Lieutenant MacSporran was killed when his plane failed to gain altitude on a take-off and crashed. Buried in Clifton Springs Cemetery Survived by parents, a sister, Mrs. Catherine MacSporran Rust of Montclair, N J, and two brothers, John S MacSporran, '40, and Lieut James A MacSporran, A.U.S. (B A. Princeton 1935; killed in action December 24,

1944).

Lloyd Winston Pullen, Class of 1945.

Born February 22, 1923, in Kansas City, Mo. Died November 19, 1944, on the Western Front

Father, Lloyd Winston Pullen (B.A. Univ. Wisconsin 1905, LL B. 1907), a banker and lawyer with Farm and Home Savings and Loan Association, Kansas City. Mother, Mary (Hunter) Pullen.

West High School, Madison, Wis. Entered Yale in September, 1941; member Freshman Track Team and Saybrook College.

Unmarried.

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943; enlisted in U.S. Army February 28, 1943, stationed at Fort Devens until March 6, 1943; transferred to Fort Knox as cadre and instructor May-September, 1943; entered Army Specialized Training Program and sent to Camp Chaffee; transferred to Air Corps October 31, 1943, and sent to Gulfport Air Field, Biloxi; transferred to Moore Field, Mission, Texas, February 1, 1944, and ordered to University of Cincinnati as air cadet; assigned to Camp Livingston with rifle replacement corps May-September, 1944, sent to Fort George G. Meade and went overseas in September, 1944; arrived in Germany November 8, 1944, awarded the Order of the Purple Heart.

Private Pullen was killed in action on the Western Front. Survived by mother and a sister, Harriet Winston Pullen (B.A. Univ. Wisconsin 1939,

M A. 1940).

Donald Ferdinand Ritter, Class of 1945.

Born February 2, 1924, in Springfield, Mass. Died March 10, 1945, in Antipolo, Manila, Philippine Islands.

Father, Ferdinand Ritter (Ph.B. 1911, M E. 1913), chief engineer Staso Milling Company, Poultney, Vt; son of William and Emma (Rühl) Ritter Mother, Dorothy Francis (Maynard) Ritter; daughter of Charles Albert and Elizabeth (Farnsworth) Maynard.

Poultney High School. Entered Yale in September, 1941; member University Band and Saybrook College.

Unmarried

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943, to enter service; basic training at Fort Knox February–June, 1943; transferred to Army Specialized Training Program at Ohio State University in June, 1943, and at Bard College July, 1943–February, 1944, where he majored in French; transferred to Intelligence School at Camp Ritchie February, 1944, and given course in Intelligence and Japanese military terms; flown to Australia in August, 1944, and then to New Guinea where he was attached to General MacArthur's headquarters as staff sergeant; gave up rating and volunteered for active duty in 12th Regiment, 1st Cavalry Division

Private Ritter was killed in action at Antipolo, Manila. Buried in National Cemetery No 1, Manila. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents, a sister, Jane Cary Ritter Boyce (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1944), the wife of Lieut. Thomas Ewings Boyce, U.S.N.R.,

of Poultney, and maternal grandfather

Richard Rollins, Jr., Class of 1945.

Born November 2, 1922, in Paris, France. Died June 7, 1945, in Panama City, Fla.

Father, Richard Rollins, '17 S., head of public relations Atlantic Refining Company, Philadelphia, son of Albert George and Caroline (Ricker) Rollins of Portland, Maine. Mother, Edith Iredelle (Wilson) Rollins. Yale relatives include an uncle, Joseph R. Rollins, ex-'19 S.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Entered Yale in September, 1941, member Calhoun College.

Unmarried.

Withdrew from college February 11, 1943; entered U.S. Army Air Forces February 24, 1943; received primary training at Lakeland, Fla, basic flying training at Bainbridge, Ga, and advanced training at Marianna, Fla.; received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant March 12, 1944; instructor at Marianna Army Air Field March, 1944, until about October, 1944; member Fighter Pilot Squadron, Tyndall Field, from about October, 1944, until June 7, 1945.

Lieutenant Rollins died from injuries received when his plane crashed while landing at Tyndall Field. Survived by parents and a sister, Miss Caroline Ricker Rollins of Bryn Mawr, Pa

George Bruen Whitehouse, Class of 1945.

Born February 22, 1923, in Paris, France. Died December 14, 1944, in the Pacific area.

Father, Sheldon Whitehouse, '05, retired member diplomatic service; ambassador to Great Britain 1908; secretary American Legation, Caracas, Venezuela, 1909–11; second secretary American Embassy Paris 1911–14, secretary American Legation Athens 1914–16, and American Embassy Petrograd 1916–17; counselor American Legation Stockholm 1918, American Embassy Paris 1921–28, and Madrid 1928–29; Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary to Guatemala 1929–33 and to Colombia 1933–34, son of William Fitzhugh and Frances (Sheldon) Whitehouse. Mother, Mary Crocker (Alexander) Whitehouse; daughter of Charles Beatty and Harriet (Crocker) Alexander. Yale relatives include two uncles, William F. Whitehouse, '99, and Norman O Whitehouse, ex-'09

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Entered Yale in April, 1942, member NROT.C. at Yale, Timothy Dwight College, the Fence Club, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Newport, RI Unmarried

Withdrew from college February 2, 1943, to enter Naval Air Force, received flight training at Chapel Hill, N.C., Peru, Ind., and Pensacola, Fla;

received pilot's wings and commissioned Ensign May 12, 1944; at advanced Fighter Training School, Melbourne, Fla, May-September, 1944,

when sent overseas; attached to U.S.S. Cowpens as fighter pilot.

Ensign Whitehouse was killed when his plane was shot down on a combat mission over Legaspi, Philippine Islands. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Sylvia Mary Whitehouse, and a brother, Lieut. Charles S. Whitehouse, USMCR. (Class of 1947), all of New York City and Newport.

Thomas Chapman Aldrich, Class of 1945W.

Born October 14, 1923, in Colorado Springs, Colo. Died December 15, 1944, on Leyte, Philippine Islands.

Father, C Morgan Aldrich, '16, retired broker; formerly manager Hartford (Conn) branch Goodbody & Company; son of Charles Spiegle and Annie E (Morgan) Aldrich. Mother, Priscilla (Chapman) Aldrich.

Kingswood School, West Hartford, and St. Paul's School, Concord, NH Entered Yale in July, 1942, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford Unmarried.

Withdrew from college September 26, 1942; enlisted in Army of the United States November 25, 1942; stationed with Ground Forces, Army Air Forces, Kearns, Utah; ordered to Lawson General Hospital as laboratory technician and later transferred to Army Specialized Training Program engineering course, Wayne University; transferred to Infantry when school closed six months later; stationed at Camp Medford and other camps in California; went overseas in July, 1944, and went in on first wave at Leyte October 24, 1944; promoted private (1st class).

Pfc Aldrich was instantly killed by enemy machine gun fire. Survived

by parents and a brother, C. Morgan Aldrich, Jr., ex-'43.

Townsend Doyle, Class of 1945W.

Born August 24, 1923, in Brookline, Mass. Died September 16, 1944, off Martha's Vineyard, Mass.

Father, Lieut Comdr Jesse Irwin Doyle, U.S N.R (Massachusetts Inst Technology ex-'20), formerly associated with Hayden, Stone Company, Boston Mother, Elizabeth (Boyd) Doyle.

Middlesex School, Concord, Mass. Entered Yale in July, 1942; member Pierson College and St. Mary's Church (Episcopal), Newton Lower Falls, Mass. Unmarried.

Enlisted US Naval Reserve, Class V-1, December 15, 1942; withdrew from college February, 1943; entered U.S. Naval Reserve as naval aviation cadet March 10, 1943, preground school flight instruction Cornell University March 10–May 8, 1943; on duty at Naval Aviation Cadet Procurement Board, New York City, May 8–June, 1943; preflight ground school, Chapel Hill, N C, June–August 24, 1943; primary flight training Naval Air Station, Olathe, Kans, September–November 12, 1943; intermediate flight training, Naval Air Station, Pensacola, Fla, December 2, 1943–April 25, 1944; appointed Ensign A-V(N), U S. Naval Reserve, April 25, 1944 (rank from April 1), and Naval Aviator (heavier-than-air), trained as Torpedo Bomber Pilot at Naval Air Station, Miami, May–July 1, 1944; Carrier Qualification Training Unit, Glenview, Ill, July 16–20, 1944, and ordered to Air Force, Atlantic Fleet, Norfolk, Va.; detached from Air Force, Atlantic Fleet, August 13, 1944, and ordered to Carrier Aircraft Service Unit, Naval Air Station, Quonset Point, R I; further assigned to Night Torpedo Squadron, VT(N) 43, for operational training

Ensign Doyle was killed during combat glide-bombing practice off Martha's Vineyard. Survived by parents, a brother, Pvt Alexander Everett Doyle, U.S.M C. (killed on Okinawa June 18, 1945), and maternal grand-

mother.

Robert Leslie Hott, Class of 1945W (October).

Born March 8, 1925, in Bartlesville, Okla. Died January 23, 1945, in France.

Father, Willis Monroe Hott (B E. Univ. Oklahoma 1916) of Kenmore, N.Y.; superintendent of gas measurement Republic Light, Heat & Power Company, Buffalo, N.Y. Mother, Gertrude (Neville) Hott (Boston Univ. 1916–17; Kansas City School of Religious Pedagogy 1918–20).

Kenmore High School. Entered Yale November 12, 1942, Freshman Basketball Team; member Jonathan Edwards College and Delaware

Avenue Baptist Church, Buffalo. Unmarried

Withdrew from college July 17, 1943, entered Army of the United States July 19, 1943, at Camp Upton; received basic training in anti-aircraft at Fort Eustis August 1–December 31, 1943; assigned to Army Specialized Training Program at College of the City of New York January 1, 1944, and later at Bard College; upon discontinuance of the program transferred to Camp Shelby for Infantry basic training March 1–October 19, 1944; assigned to 290th Battalion, Combat Engineers, April 15, 1944; promoted Corporal October 1, 1944; went overseas in October, 1944, attended Army school for non-commissioned men in England; landed in France January 3, 1945.

Corporal Hott was killed in action in France Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Epinal, France. Survived by parents and a brother, David Law-

rence Hott (Colgate Univ. 1944-45; Yale 1947 Nov E.).

A bridge built by the 290th Engineers at Kunzelsau, Germany, has been named the Robert Hott Memorial Bridge.

John Boyd Mason, Class of 1945W (October).

Born November 19, 1924, in Toledo, Ohio. Died December 10, 1944, in France.

Father, Samuel Worcester Mason (George Washington Univ. ex-'16; LL B Baldwin-Wallace Coll 1918), vice-president The Ottawa Hills Company, Toledo Mother, Ophelia Adelia (Smith) Mason

Ottawa Hills High School, Toledo. Entered Yale in October, 1942; member Pierson College and Pilgrim Congregational Church, Toledo.

Unmarried.

Withdrew from college and entered Army of the United States as private June 30, 1943, basic training, Engineers, Fort Belvoir, July 14-November 25, 1943; assigned to Army Specialized Training Program at State University of Iowa February-April, 1944; upon discontinuance of program transferred to Camp Phillips May-August, 1944, and assigned to Infantry; promoted private (1st class) August, 1944; sent overseas with 324th Infantry, 44th Division, in September, 1944.

Pfc Mason was killed while serving as a scout when his unit was assigned the mission of securing a railroad crossing south of Meirhauf, France. Survived by parents and three sisters, Mrs. Crary Davis, Jr, of Westport, Conn, Anita Elizabeth Mason (B A. DePauw Univ. 1942) of Toledo, and Carol Mason Bricher (B.A. DePauw Univ. 1944), the wife of Ralph B. Bricher of St Charles, Ill.

Thomas McClure Owen, Jr., Class of 1945W (October).

Born May 6, 1924, in New Brunswick, N J. Died February 23, 1945, in Rural Retreat, Va.

Father, Thomas McClure Owen, president Harmon Oil Company, Inc., New Haven, Conn. Mother, Mildred (McBurney) Owen (grad. New Jersey State Teachers Coll 1918).

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Entered Yale in October, 1942; Freshman Football Team, member Branford College and Church of St. James the Apostle (Episcopal), New Haven. Unmarried.

Member V-12 Navy Unit at Yale July, 1943-July 1, 1944; detached from the Unit and transferred to U S Naval Reserve Midshipmen's School at Northwestern University July 1, 1944 (commissioned Ensign, U.S.N.R., November 22, 1944); stationed at Miami Beach, Fla.

Ensign Owen was killed in an airplane crash while enroute from Florida to his new assignment aboard USS. PCE 872, out of San Diego, Calif. Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven. Survived by parents and a sister, Miss Nancy McClure Owen of New Haven.

David Landon Weirick, Class of 1945W (October).

Born March 22, 1924, in Janesville, Wis. Died February 17, 1945, in Germany.

Father, Maurice Landon Weirick, credit manager and personnel director Parker Pen Company, Janesville; president Rock County Abstract Company, Janesville Mother, Ruth Ina (Granger) Weirick.

Janesville High School. Entered Yale October 22, 1942, and withdrew January 30, 1943.

Unmarried.

Entered Army as private, Fort Sheridan, March 19, 1943; stationed at Fort Jackson March 25–September 28, 1943; promoted private (1st class) about April 25, 1943; stationed at Greensboro, N.C., September 28, 1943–January 28, 1944, and Lockbourne Army Air Base January 28–February 23, 1944; assigned to University of Pittsburgh for air cadet training February 23–April 19, 1944; transferred to Camp Pickett April 19, 1944, and remained there until sent overseas attached to Company A, 309th Infantry, 78th Division, in October, 1944; stationed in England, France, and Belgium October–December, 1944; promoted Sergeant at the front January 1, 1945.

Sergeant Weirick was killed in action in Germany Buried in Henri Chapelle Cemetery, Belgium. Survived by parents and a sister, Mrs. Jerry S. Hughes of Chicago.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

Horace Andrews, Ph.B. 1871.

Born March 19, 1852, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 21, 1945, in Coconut Grove, Fla.

Father, Horace Andrews (B.A 1841) Mother, Julia Russel (Johnson) Andrews Yale relatives include Ethan A. Andrews (B.A 1810) (grandfather), and Levi Andrews, ex-1833, and Charles S Andrews (LL.B. 1851) (uncles)

Hopkins Grammar School and Stiles French School, New Haven. Civil engineering course Graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1871–72

(CE. 1872)

Associated with U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey 1872–78; with New York State Trigonometrical Survey 1878–84; engineering inspector New York State Board of Health 1884–86 (designed and superintended sewer construction in Binghamton, Bath-on-Hudson, and Plattsburg); city engineer of Albany 1886–1900; independently engaged as a civil engineer in Albany 1900 until retirement about 1919; resided in Albany and Coconut Grove 1919–45; contributed numerous articles to engineering journals; president Board of Plumbing Examiners for Albany; member American Society of Civil Engineers (on board of directors 1908–10), Albany Board of Health, Board of State Examiners for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors, American Society of Municipal Engineers, Deutschen Geometerverein, and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Albany.

Married (1) October 13, 1881, in Hamden, Conn, Adeleine Louise, daughter of Samuel Robinson and Charlotte Root (Forbes) Downer. Children Theodore, '03; Bertha Agnes, the wife of James Edward Maloney (MD Albany Medical Coll 1907); and Alan (died January 6, 1893) Mrs Andrews died December 8, 1893. Married (2) June 15, 1910, in Hull, England, Frances Eleanor, daughter of William Walter and Mary Hannah (Parnaby) Green. Children: Dorothy (BA. Sweet Briar Coll 1934) and Hilary (Mrs Andrews Pyeatt) Mrs. Andrews died September 6, 1927

Death due to old age and cardiac paralysis Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by three daughters, one son, eleven grandchildren, seven great-grandchildren, and a brother, Ethan A. Andrews, '81 S.

Mr Andrews was the last surviving member of his Class.

George Loomis Brownell, Ph.B. 1875.

Born July 13, 1854, in East Haddam, Conn Died December 18, 1944, in Worcester, Mass

Father, Charles E. Brownell (B A. 1850) Mother, Abigail Foote (Loomis) Brownell

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Civil engineering course; premium for excellence in physics Freshman year, consolidated Freshman Crew; Class crew Junior and Senior years, bow oar University Crew Junior and Senior years; Class treasurer Junior year; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Teacher in grammar school Moodus, Conn, 1875–77; associated with Brownell & Company, cotton manufacturing, Moodus, 1877–80; invented a twisting machine and numerous later improvements, sold in many parts of the world, founder and sole owner G L. Brownell, builders of Brownell twisting and cable-laying machines, Worcester, 1881 until January, 1930, when business was incorporated as G L. Brownell, Inc., and president of the latter firm 1930–44; member Worcester Chamber of Commerce, Worcester Economic Club, Worcester Civic Music Association, Associated Industries of Massachusetts (charter member 1918), New England Council, Five Cents Savings Bank Corporation, and Central Congregational Church, Worcester (on building committee, clerk, and chairman of assessors).

Married September 8, 1881, in East Haddam, Elizabeth Marsh Everett Reed, daughter of Joel Sumner Everett (B A. Amherst Coll. 1840, M A 1843; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1844) and Seraphina (Haynes) Everett. Sons: Leroy (died October 21, 1901) and Carl Reed, '10 S Mrs. Brownell died January 24, 1929

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Ashes interred in Hope Cemetery, Worcester. Survived by son, a grandson, George L. Brownell, 2d, '40 E., and a great-granddaughter.

Judson Amos Doolittle, Ph.B. 1877.

Born January 17, 1853, in Cheshire, Conn Died March 26, 1945, in Mount Vernon, NY

Father, Alexander Doolittle, a farmer and manufacturer in Cheshire, assessor and first selectman of Cheshire, son of Amos and Eliza (Beach) Doolittle of Cheshire. Mother, Mary Ann (Andrews) Doolittle, daughter of Silas and Ruth (Yale) Andrews of Wallingford, Conn Yale relatives include: Jotham I. Doolittle (B.A 1795) (great-great-uncle); and Edgar B Doolittle, SpecS. 1878–79 (brother).

Cheshire Academy and private tutor. Civil engineering course, Attended Yale Graduate School 1877-78.

First engineer employed by Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City, 1878, and associated with its development until 1945 (head engineer for many years); a director Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County 1922–25; member Yale Engineering Association and National Society of Professional Engineers; a charter member First Presbyterian Church of Mount Vernon 1887, and trustee and elder at various times

Married April 27, 1886, in Cheshire, Nellie Ford, daughter of Alfred Strong and Sarah Owen (Ford) Baldwin. Children. Margaret (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1911, M A 1912; M A Yale 1925; died October 24, 1932), Frank Baldwin, '13 S.; and Ruth Yale (B A Mount Holyoke Coll. 1921, M A. Columbia Univ. 1923), the wife of Harvey McLeod Kelley (B A. Brown Univ 1907, M A 1908). Mrs Doolittle died December 4, 1933.

Death due to myocardial degeneration and cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Cheshire. Survived by one daughter, son, a grand-daughter, a great-grandson, and a sister, Emma Cornelia Doolittle of Cheshire.

Edwin McNeill Rogers, Ph.B. 1880.

Born February 13, 1859, in Corning, N.Y. Died July 23, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Andrews Newton Rogers, a railroad and mining engineer in Central City, Colo; son of Noah and Lucy (Bidwell) Rogers of Canaan, Pa Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Seymour) Rogers; daughter of James and Anne Elizabeth (Howell) Seymour of Stillwater, NY.

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Mechanical engineering course; honorable mention for excellence in mathematics Senior year; member Alpha Chi, and Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Assistant to his father and succeeded him as manager of several mining enterprises in Gilpin County, Colo., 1880–91; vice-president and general manager Deep Mining & Draining Company, Franklin Mining Company, Aspen, Colo., and general manager Amethyst Mine, Creede, Colo., and Aspen Mine 1891–99; consulting engineer and general manager Guggenheim Exploration Company, New York City, 1899–1903, and associated with Guggenheim mining interests for many years; consulting engineer and officer of mining corporations in the United States and South America 1903–44; owner and president Golden Star Mining Company, New York City, 1911–44, resided in New York City 1899–1944; member Colorado Scientific Society, American Institute of Mining Engineers, Mining and Metallurgical Society of America, Institution of Mining and Metallurgy (London), Masonic order, and Engineers Club, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver. Survived by two brothers, Fred Newton Rogers (Cornell Univ ex-'90) of Denver and Andrews Buell Rogers (Golden School of Mines 1892–94) of Los Angeles.

Frederick William LaForge, Ph.B. 1882.

Born July 27, 1863, in Waterbury, Conn. Died June 15, 1945, in New London, Conn.

Father, Frederick Henry LaForge, a mechanical engineer in Waterbury, State boiler inspector; son of Frederick Hunt and Mary (Thomas) LaForge of West Haven, Conn Mother, Margaret (Laird) LaForge, daughter of Claudius and Jane Laird of Scotland.

Waterbury High School. Civil engineering course; first prize in English composition and shared first prize for excellence in German Freshman year; first prize in German Senior year, member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Instructor in mathematics and science Waterbury English and Classical School 1882–83; civil engineer, Office of City Engineer, Waterbury, 1883–86; civil engineer and surveyor in Waterbury 1886–99, assistant engineer in charge of local works for coast defenses, U S Engineers Office, War Department, Fort H. G. Wright, New London, 1899–1930, and engineer Army Base, Boston, 1930 until retirement 1933; commissioned Major, Engineer Officers Reserve Corps, March 1, 1917, in charge of constructing fortifications at eastern entrance of Long Island Sound 1917–18; promoted Lieutenant Colonel, Engineer Officers Reserve Corps, 1922; resided in New London 1933–45; member Ocean Beach Park Commission, New London, 1939–44, Connecticut and American societies of Civil Engineers, Masonic order, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), Waterbury.

Married January 21, 1891, in Waterbury, Eleanor Ruth, daughter of William Augustus and Juliet (Farrel) Knowles Daughters: Virginia Hazard, the wife of Col. Edward Oliver Halbert (B.S St John's Coll [Md.] 1904); and Mildred Knowles, the widow of Claudius Milton Seaman.

Death due to miliary tuberculosis. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, and four great-grandchildren.

Walter Allen Sadd, Ph.B. 1884.

Born March 29, 1863, in South Windsor, Conn. Died July 3, 1944, in Chattanooga, Tenn.

Father, Henry Welles Sadd, a farmer in South Windsor; son of William and Maronet (Allen) Sadd of Wapping, Conn. Mother, Abigail (Avery)

Sadd; daughter of Samuel Thomas and Amelia (Bunce) Avery of East Windsor.

Hartford (Conn) Public High School. Civil engineering course; secretary and treasurer of the Class and Class historian Senior year; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Civil engineer on maintenance of way and construction in Wyoming and Utah for Union Pacific Railroad Company 1884-89; secretary and assistant cashier Chattanooga Savings Bank (later Chattanooga Savings Bank and Trust Company) 1889-1902, president 1903 until bank was absorbed by First National Bank 1926, and chairman of the board of the latter institution 1926 until retirement 1933; chairman of the board Signal Mountain Portland Cement Company, Chattanooga, 1921-41 and vice-president Columbia Iron Works 1914–33; organizer Dubose Memorial Church Training School, Monteagle, Tenn., 1913, president board of trustees 1913-44; trustee Baylor School, Chattanooga, 1902-04 and The Bright School 1924-44, alderman City of Chattanooga 1902; on Hamilton County Highway Commission; DCL. University of the South 1923; president Chattanooga Yale Club 1915-44 and Associated Southern Yale Clubs 1916-21 (vice-president Chattanooga district 1915-16; on executive committee 1921), Alumni fund agent for the Class; founder Tennessee Bankers Association, secretary 1901, president 1903; executive council American Bankers Association 1915–18 and president Savings Bank division 1920-21, member Chattanooga Manufacturers Association, Chattanooga Clearing House Association, and Masonic order; vestryman St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Chattanooga.

Married October 1, 1889, in Ansonia, Conn., Carolyn Ellen, daughter of Theodore Philo and Sophronia (Bartholomew) Terry. Daughter. Margaret Terry, the wife of John West Red. Mrs. Sadd died January 8,

1938

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Chattanooga. Survived by daughter and three grandchildren, one of whom is John W. Red, Jr, '43 S

Royal Watson Pinney, Ph.B. 1885.

Born December 25, 1863, in Derby, Conn. Died January 31, 1945, in Derby, Conn.

Father, Charles Hitchcock Pinney (M.D. Columbia Univ. 1853), a physician in Derby; son of Ebenezer and Mary Ann (Lee) Pinney of South Windsor, Conn. Mother, Maria (Watson) Pinney; daughter of Royal Isaac and Sally (Seymour) Watson of New Hartford, Conn.

Birmingham (Conn) High School and private tutor. Biology course; member Yale Bicycle Club and Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1885–88 (M.D. 1888); studied medicine in Hanover, Germany, and Vienna, Austria, 1888–89; house surgeon Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1889–93; physician and surgeon in Derby 1893 until retirement 1912; visiting physician Griffin Hospital, Derby; since retirement had resided in Derby and New Haven, Conn.

Unmarried

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Ansonia. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Herbert Spencer Bullard, Ph.B. 1887.

Born May 19, 1865, in Hartford, Conn. Died June 28, 1945, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Rev. Charles H Bullard (B.A 1847; Yale Divinity School 1848-51). Mother, Susan Augusta (Spencer) Bullard

Hartford Public High School. Mechanical engineering course, third prize for excellence in English composition Freshman year; Freshman Football Team; second glee club Junior year and University Glee Club Senior year; member The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with Bullard Machine Company, Bridgeport, Conn; attended Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL B. 1895; business manager and an editor Yale Law Journal; member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1895; lawyer in Hartford 1895 until retirement in 1924 because of ill-health; on Hartford Common Council 1901–05; recorder City Court of Hartford 1905–25; member Hartford School Board 1898–1904 and superintendent of schools 1898–1901; president Choral Club of Hartford 1911–14, 1916–17 and Yale Alumni Association of Hartford; member Connecticut Historical Club, Archaeological Club of America, and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Married February 14, 1906, in Northampton, Mass, Elizabeth Williston (BA. Smith Coll. 1893), daughter of Asahel Lyman and Sarah (Stoddard) Williston No children Mrs. Bullard died November 24, 1939.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Fountain Hill Cemetery, Deep River, Conn Survived by a sister, Mrs. Alice Bullard Skeele of Monrovia, Calif.

William Henry Coburn, Ph.B. 1887.

Born January 12, 1866, in Indianapolis, Ind. Died July 3, 1944, in Coconut Grove, Fla

Father, Henry Coburn, founder and owner Michigan Lumber Company and president Henry Coburn Storage & Warehouse Company,

Indianapolis; son of Henry Peter Coburn (B.A Harvard 1812) and Sarah (Malott) Coburn of Indianapolis Mother, Mary Ann (Jones) Coburn; daughter of William Henry and Eliza (Simcox) Jones of Washington, DC, and Indianapolis Yale relatives include two brothers, Augustus Coburn, '89, and Henry P Coburn, '95 S.

Rose Polytechnic Institute, Terre Haute, Ind. Joined the Class in Junior year; civil engineering course; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

In lumber and coal business in Indianapolis until about 1910; with Texas Shipbuilding Company, Bath, Maine, 1918; president Coburn Realty Company, Indianapolis, 1932–41; retired from active business 1935; member Second Presbyterian Church, Indianapolis.

Married October 20, 1896, in Indianapolis, Helen Seifert, daughter of Daniel Peart and Anna Barbara (Seifert) Erwin Children: Daniel Erwin, '21 S; Anna Barbara (Mrs. Coburn Forbes); and Helen Erwin, the wife

of George Auerbach. Mrs. Coburn died August 24, 1938.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Ashes interred in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis Survived by children, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs Frank F. Powell of Indianapolis and Mrs. Edward Carey Smith (died December 1, 1944).

Frank Clark Woodruff, Ph.B. 1888.

Born October 27, 1866, in Orange, Conn. Died September 7, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Stiles Denison Woodruff, a farmer and seed merchant in Orange; Civil War veteran; represented Orange in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1879; son of Jeremiah and Charlotte (Nettleton) Woodruff of Orange Mother, Elizabeth Maria (Clark) Woodruff (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'57), daughter of Bryan and Rebecca Maria (Treat) Clark of Orange. Yale relatives include J Sheldon Alling, ex-'16 S., Stiles W Woodruff, ex-'18 S, and Watson S. Woodruff, Jr., '23 S (nephews); and Catherine W Blakeslee (School of Music 1921–22)(niece).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Select course.

Associated with S D. Woodruff & Sons, Orange, 1888–1944 (member of the firm 1892–1944, president 1906–44), president Orange Water Company 1910–38, Race Brook Realty Company 1914–16, Bodder-Igoe Brokerage Company, New York City, 1915–18, Cromwell Water Company 1930–44, and Woodruff Realty Company, New York City, 1930–44; vice-president Hull Grippen & Company, hardware, New York City, 1915–18 and Standard Cold Storage Company, New York City, 1915–20; staff officer (with rank of Lieutenant) to Major Luzerne Ludington, Second Company, Governor's Horse Guards, 1896–1902; senator in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1911 (president pro tempore);

on Fifty-year Class reunion committee; member Masonic order and

Orange Congregational Church.

Married (1) February 14, 1889, in Orange, Julia, daughter of Jonathan Sheldon and Harriet (Barnes) Alling. Children: Alling (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1911; died April 17, 1932); Elizabeth Clark (died March 28, 1893); Ruth Harriet, the wife of Edward Everette Snyder, Mary Frances (died July 6, 1897); and Harriet Barnes (Yale School of Music 1921–22), the wife of Maurice Rogers (B.S. Princeton 1920, M.A 1921) Mrs Woodruff died May 23, 1930. Married (2) June 20, 1935, in New Haven, Loretta Jane, daughter of Felix Emmett and Margaret (Cannon) Darcy.

Death due to prostatic hypertrophy. Buried in Orange Cemetery Survived by wife, two daughters, ten grandchildren, one of whom is Alling Woodruff, '36, three great-grandchildren, a sister Mary Rebecca Woodruff (Oberlin Coll. ex-'01) of New Haven, and a brother, Robert J. Wood-

ruff, '96, '99 L.

Robert Taylor Wheeler, Ph.B. 1889.

Born November 15, 1868, in Tamworth, Ont., Canada. Died June 5, 1945, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, William Roderick Wheeler, manufacturer of dumb waiters and elevators, Jersey City, N J; son of Alonzo and Catherine Wheeler of Tamworth. Mother, Agnes (Taylor) Wheeler.

Jersey City High School. Biology course; Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Senior year; an editor Yale Record Junior and Senior years,

member The Colony and Berzelius.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1889–92 (M.D. 1892); on resident staff Metropolitan Hospital, Welfare Island, N.Y., 1892; physician in Brooklyn 1893 until retirement 1944; medical inspector Department of Health, New York City, 1893–1900, consulting physician Carson C. Peck Memorial Hospital, Brooklyn; senior physician Bethany Deaconess Hospital, Brooklyn, member Brooklyn Society of Internal Medicine, Medical Society of the County of Kings, Medical Society of the State of New York, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and New York Avenue Methodist Church, Brooklyn

Married June 20, 1897, in Brooklyn, Mary Evelyn, daughter of Christian Frederic and Louise Christiana (Tonjes) Miller. Son. Stanley Frederic (Long Island Univ. ex-'21; Colby Coll ex-'32) Mrs Wheeler

died October 27, 1943.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by son, one grandson, two half sisters, Mrs Robert N Cherry of Chatham, N J, and Mrs J. Roy Bergen of Maplewood, N J, and a half brother, William Roderick Wheeler, 2d, of Maplewood.

James Moorhead Murdoch, Ph.B. 1890.

Born March 31, 1869, in Oswego, N.Y. Died October 9, 1944, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, James Bissett Murdoch (M.D. Columbia Univ. 1854), a physician and surgeon in Pittsburgh; son of Rev. David Murdoch, D.D. (Univ. Glasgow), and Elizabeth (Bissett) Murdoch of Elmira, N.Y. Mother, Jennie Adelane (Moorhead) Murdoch, daughter of James K. and Jane (Logan) Moorhead of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include two cousins, Samuel W. B. Moorhead, '91, and Rodman W. Moorhead, '02.

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh. Biology course; on Yale Record board and Class Picture Committee Senior year; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Attended University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine 1890–92 (M.D. 1892, member Nu Sigma Nu); interne Western Pennsylvania Hospital, Pittsburgh, 1892–93; assistant physician Dixmont (Pa.) Hospital for the Insane 1892–96, instructor in histology and pathology University of Pittsburgh 1892–97, superintendent Polk (Pa.) State School 1896–1926; physician and superintendent Minnesota School for Feeble Minded and Colony for Epileptics, Faribault, 1927 until retirement 1937; contributed articles on mental deficiency to various medical journals; president American Association on Mental Deficiency 1903 and secretary 1917–21; fellow American Psychiatric Association and American Medical Association; emeritus member Central Neuropsychiatric Association; member County Medical Association, Pennsylvania Neuropsychiatric Association, Medical Society of the State of Pennsylvania, Association for Research in Nervous and Mental Diseases, American Association for the Study of Epilepsy, Masonic order, and Third Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh

Married October 27, 1900, in Harrisville, Pa., Minnie McCoy, daughter of Robert Leach and Lucy Emmaline (McCoy) Barnes. Son: James Moorhead, Jr. (Carnegie Inst Technology 1923-25).

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Allegheny County, Pa Survived by wife, son, two granddaughters, two sisters, Florence M Henninger (B A and Mus B Elmira Coll 1896), the wife of Charles Henry Henninger (M D Univ Pittsburgh 1900) of Pittsburgh, and Katherine Murdoch Cooper-Ellis (B.S. Columbia Univ. 1912, M A 1913, Ph D. 1919) of New York City, and a brother, William M. Murdoch, '98 S.

Albert Francke, Ph.B. 1891.

Born June 27, 1870, in London, England. Died March 14, 1945, in Lawrence, N.Y.

Father, Jonas Robert Francke, founder Francke Hijos, sugar commission merchants, Havana, Cuba; consul general for Sweden and Norway

at Havana 1880–86; son of Johan and Anna Christina (Basta Bogren) Francke. Mother, Fabiana Rosalie (Hernandez) Francke; daughter of Martin and Maria (d'Abrambarri) Hernandez Yale relatives include. Edward J. Francke, '76 S., Joaquin J. Francke, '77 S., Richard T Francke, '86, Pedro F Francke, ex-'87 S, and Leopold J. Francke, '89 (brothers); and Laurance B Rand, '31, Christopher T E. Rand, '34, Payson McL Merrill, Jr. ex-'35, William B. Rand, Jr., '36, and John A. Rand, '36 (nephews).

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School. Chemistry course; Freshman Football Team; vice-president Freshman Class; on executive committee Yale University Athletic Association Junior year; member St. Anthony and Delta

Psi.

Broker in New York City 1891–1945; associated with his brother Leopold under firm name L. J & Albert Francke 1894–1902, member Francke, Thompson & Robb 1902–10, Francke & Kidder 1910–12, Simpson, Pearce & Company (later R. H. Simpson & Company) 1912–17, Harris, Winthrop & Company (later Harris, Upham & Company) 1917–31, Jacquelin & DeCoppet 1931–41, and Carlisle & Jacquelin 1941–45, governor New York Stock Exchange 1910–13; vestryman St. John's Church (Episcopal), Far Rockaway, N.Y., 1913–43, junior warden 1936–43.

Married October 18, 1898, in Lawrence, Marian Doane, daughter of George Curtis and Eugenia Isabel (Blanchard) Rand, and sister of Laurance B. Rand, '02, Curtis G Rand, ex-'09, Erving H Rand, '11, and

Gordon L. Rand, '12. Son: Albert, Jr., '24.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Trinity Churchyard, Hewlett, N.Y. Survived by wife, son, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Rosalie Francke of New York City.

Frederick William Jones, Ph.B. 1891.

Born October 3, 1869, in New York City. Died January 13, 1945, in Venice, Fla.

Father, Frederick Wılliam Jones of New York Cıty; son of Wıllıam Francıs and Anna (Maxwell) Jones of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Mother, Eliza Gardner (Lottimer) Jones; daughter of Wıllıam and Edey Lottimer of New York City.

Forest Road School (Walthamstow, Essex, England), Dresden Polytechnic Institute, and University of Gottingen Mechanical engineering course; substitute Freshman Crew; Class crew Junior and Senior years; on board of governors University Club Senior year; member St. Anthony and Deta Psi

Mechanical and hydraulic engineer associated with Henry R Worthington and later with International Steam Pump Company and Worthington Pump and Machinery Company, Brooklyn, NY, 1891–1906, in real-estate business in New York City 1906–34 and Far Hills, NJ, 1934–

45, specializing in New Jersey properties (associated with Shelton E. Martin, '05 S, Cross & Brown Company, and Kenneth Ives & Company); member Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1897–99; with Remount Division in France 1917–18 and discharged in 1919 with rank of Major; founder member Essex Fox Hounds; member St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Gladstone, N J

Married April 30, 1901, in Brooklyn, Florence Gertrude, daughter of James Schoonmaker and Gertrude (Bennett) Suydam. Children Frederick William, 3d (died December 27, 1929), and James Suydam (Yale

School of the Fine Arts 1932–34).

Death due to a bronchial infection. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, one son, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Edith Powis Jones of Morristown, N.J.

Charles Edmund Beeson, Ph.B. 1892.

Born February 28, 1869, in Janestown, Wis. Died December 7, 1944, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, John K. Beeson (Ph B. 1867) Mother, Ellen Tallman (Huston) Beeson. Yale relatives include an uncle, William Beeson (B.A. 1843).

Phillips-Andover. Select course; University Banjo Club Junior and Senior years; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

In charge of his father's general store Uniontown, Pa, 1892 until sale of the business 1896, associated in Pittsburgh with Consolidated Steel & Wire Company (later absorbed by American Steel & Wire Company of Illinois) 1896–98; an organizer in 1898 of Pittsburgh Horse Shoe Company (later Pittsburgh Steel Hoop Company and Pittsburgh Steel Company), secretary 1898–1920, vice-president 1920 until retirement 1942, and a director 1920–44; president Pittsburgh Gage & Supply Company 1928–32; vice-president Alicia Supply Company 1919–28, president 1928–37; vice-president National Steel Fabric Company 1929–37 (treasurer 1930–37), Indiana County Deposit Bank, and Monessen Coal and Coke Company; trustee Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh, 1918–40 and Dollar Savings Bank 1920–36, on board of managers Homewood Cemetery 1937–44 (vice-president 1940–44); member American Wire and Steel Institute, Pittsburgh Chamber of Commerce, and Masonic order; vestryman Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Pittsburgh, 1929–44.

Married April 10, 1902, in Indiana, Pa., Helen, daughter of Harry White (Princeton ex-1854, M A Hon. 1867) and Annalena (Sutton) White Children Marion Ellen (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1925–26; Carnegie Inst Art ex-'27), the wife of Alexander Verner Wasson (B.A. Colgate Univ 1919 [1918]); John Kennedy, '29 S.; and Annalena White, the wife of Alexander Hays, 3d. Mrs. Beeson died July 16, 1926.

Death due to cardiac failure. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by children, four grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Kathrin Kennedy Beeson of New York City.

Montague Elias Perkins, Ph.B. 1892.

Born September 17, 1868, in Bristol, Conn. Died June 19, 1945, in Bristol, Conn

Father, Elias Abraham Perkins, a farmer in Bristol; son of Elias W. and Nancy (Botsford) Perkins of Bristol Mother, Elva Matilda (Blake) Perkins; daughter of Stephen Russell and Emily (Barker) Blake of Plymouth, Conn.

Bristol High School. Mechanical engineering course; Senior appointment.

With General Electric Company, Schenectady, N.Y., about 1892–93; worked on his father's farm 1893–97; letter carrier in Bristol 1897–1903; associated with Worcester (Mass.) Consolidated Street Railway Company 1903–07; with F. T. Ley Construction Company of Springfield, Mass, about 1907–09; master mechanic Sessions Clock Company, Forestville, Conn, 1909–17; with Champion Fibre Company, Canton, N.C., and engaged in electric wiring work in Charlotte, N.C., about 1917; worked on a project at Muscle Shoals, Ala., 1917–18; engaged in electric wiring work in Asheville, N.C., 1918–21; in power and forge plants of The New Departure Manufacturing Division, General Motors Corporation, Bristol, 1922 until retirement 1935; a graduate of the National Radio Institute of Washington in 1929, he spent much time designing radios and electrical appliances; member National Association of Stationary Engineers, Masonic order, and Bristol Baptist Church.

Married May 8, 1896, in Bristol, Lizzie Julia, daughter of William Orlando and Annie Margaret (Dewey) Goodsell Children Millicent, the wife of George Winthrop Hull; Brenda (Converse Coll. ex-'23), the wife of Horace Edward Blount (cert. Pratt Inst. 1925), and Janet.

Death due to surgical shock Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by wife, daughters, six grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

Orland Rossini Blair, Ph.B. 1893.

Born January 12, 1871, in New Britain, Conn. Died October 21, 1944, in Scranton, Pa.

Father, Charles Albert Blair, cashier Corbin Cabinet Lock Company, New Britain; son of Augustus George and Olive (Hitchcock) Blair of New Britain. Mother, Ellen Eliza (Woodford) Blair; daughter of Orson and Cornelia (Woodruff) Woodford of Avon, Conn.

New Britain High School Biology course. Attended Yale School of

Medicine 1893-96 (M.D. 1896; member Skull and Sceptre).

Interne Springfield (Mass) Hospital 1896-97 and house physician 1906-07; physician and surgeon in Springfield 1897-1923, on staff Hospital for Contagious Diseases, Springfield, 1905-21 and Northampton (Mass) State Hospital 1921–23; assistant physician Hillside Home and Hospital for Mental Diseases, Clarks Summit, Pa, 1923-24 and resident physician 1924-44, appointed assistant surgeon (with rank of Lieutenant j.g) Massachusetts Naval Militia July, 1901; promoted passed assistant surgeon (with rank of Lieutenant) June 5, 1905; enrolled as passed assistant surgeon National Naval Volunteers December 18, 1916; called into federal service April 6, 1917; medical officer, Receiving Ship, Boston, April-August, 1917; aboard USS. America August-September, 1917; assigned to Dispensary, Boston Navy Yard, and General Court Martial September, 1917-March, 1918; Lieutenant, Medical Corps, U.S. Naval Reserve, July 1, 1918, and promoted Lieutenant Commander September 28, 1918, senior medical officer Patrol Boats, Boston district, and aboard USS. Lenape and USS Santa Teresa, released from active service September 18, 1919, certificate American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology 1936; member Springfield Medical Association, Springfield Academy of Medicine, Lackawanna County Medical Society, Massachusetts Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of Pennsylvania, New England Society of Psychiatry, American Medical Association, American Psychiatric Association, Medical Library Association, Knights of Malta, Masonic order, and First Presbyterian Church, Clarks Summit.

Married June 19, 1923, in Torrington, Conn., Emma Forrest, daughter of George Franklyn and Jane (Gaunt) Farnham Daughter: Barbara Farnham (B S. Skidmore Coll 1946), the wife of Forrest Cary Eggleston (B A Princeton 1942, M D. Cornell Univ. 1945). Mrs. Blair died October 18, 1924

Death due to intestinal hemorrhage. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Torrington Survived by daughter, a half sister, Miss Nina Louise Blair of Newington, Conn, and two half brothers, John Dick Blair of Elizabeth, NJ, and Charles Pierce Blair of Flushing, N.Y.

William Bradford Allen, Ph.B. 1894.

Born June 26, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died August 5, 1944, in Asheville, N.C.

Father, William Henry Allen, a retired official of the New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company. Mother, Harriet Emily (Trow-

bridge) Allen; daughter of Henry and Mary Webster (Southgate) Trowbridge of New Haven.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. Select course

Associated with Hartford Rubber Works, manufacturers of rubber tires and wheels, 1895–1905; engaged in newspaper and magazine writing and in real-estate and insurance business in Farmington, Conn., 1912 until retirement 1918; in 1903 explored little-known islands of the West Indies in a small sailing vessel; from 1922 to 1927 traveled in out-of-the-way parts of Europe, North Africa, and the Orient, securing material for his magazine writing; resided in Charleston, SC, 1927–39 and Brevard, N.C., 1941–44; field director American Red Cross at Ellis Island and later at William Wirt Winchester Hospital, New Haven, 1918–21, member forty-second year Class reunion committee and St James Church (Episcopal), Farmington.

Married (1) April 14, 1896, in New York City, Edith Crane, daughter of William Henry and Edith (Crane) Lefferts Daughter: Edith Lefferts, the wife of Kenneth Crane Faile (B.A Columbia Univ 1902). Mrs. Allen died February 2, 1918. Married (2) June 16, 1927, in Asheville, N C, Ione, daughter of George Summerville and Nellie Jane (Haines) McKee

Death due to pneumonia Ashes interred in Riverview Cemetery, Farmington. Survived by wife, daughter, two granddaughters, and a brother, Henry Trowbridge Allen.

Willard Bayliss, Ph.B. 1894.

Born January 9, 1873, in Massillon, Ohio. Died January 5, 1945, in Hibbing, Minn.

Father, Edwin Bayliss, manufacturer of farm machinery in Massillon and a lumber dealer in Bessemer, Mich; son of James and Eliza Jane (Fox) Bayliss of Massillon. Mother, Cordelia Emeline (Zerbe) Bayliss; daughter of Jonathan and Christiana (Gorgas) Zerbe of Massillon.

Cleveland (Ohio) High School and manual training schools. Chemistry

Graduate student Case School of Applied Science 1894–95 (member Zeta Psi); chemist Lake Superior Consolidated Mines, Iron Mountain, Mich., 1895 and Penokee & Gogebic Development Company, Bessemer, 1895–98; attended Michigan College of Mining and Technology February–May, 1898; associated with Oliver Mining Company in Michigan and Minnesota 1898 until retirement 1938 (engineer Ironwood, Mich., 1898–1904; superintendent Myers Mine, Chisholm, Minn, 1904–05; in charge Myers, Glen, Clark, Pillsbury, and Leonard properties 1905–14, assistant general superintendent of mines at Eveleth, Minn, 1914–18; superintendent Chisholm District 1918–38); engaged in chemical research on

iron ores in South America for H. A Brassert & Company, metallurgical engineers, New York City, London, England, and Lima, Peru, 1940–42; trustee Ironwood Carnegie Library 1902–04, on water, light, power, and building commission, Chisholm, 1911–13, member Engineers Club of Northern Minnesota, Lake Superior Mining Institute, Masonic order, and

St. James' Church (Episcopal), Hibbing.

Married October 18, 1902, in Kaukauna, Wis, Celeste Chamberlain (Univ Wisconsin ex-'02), daughter of John Hopkins and Mary Annette (Loope) Chamberlain Children Willard Zerbe (died October 8, 1939); Dudley Chamberlain (BS Univ Minnesota 1929, MA. 1933); Mary (BS. Univ Minnesota 1930), the wife of Martin John Forsmark (BS. Michigan Coll. Mining and Technology 1939); Celeste (BS. Univ. Minnesota 1930), the wife of Reyno Koski (B.S. St. Cloud Teachers Coll. 1940), Edwin (died January 29, 1911); and Franklin Gorgas (B.A. Univ. Minnesota 1941) Mrs. Bayliss died February 16, 1935.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Chisholm Cemetery. Survived by two daughters, two sons, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Lilian Bayliss Green of Washington, Conn, and a brother, Edwin Ruthven Bay-

liss of Ferndale, Mich.

Henry Brewer, Ph.B. 1894.

Born May 7, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 21, 1945, in Ishpeming, Mich.

Father, William H. Brewer (Ph.B. 1852). Mother, Georgianna (Robinson) Brewer.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Mechanical engineering course; honorable mention for excellence in mechanical drawing Freshman year; on triennial committee; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Associated with Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, 1894 until retirement in 1930 (machinist apprentice 1894–97; introduced new models of high-power smokeless powder rifles in China 1897; in charge cartridge shop 1898–1915; vice-president 1915–30 and secretary 1919–30); vice-president Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1915–20; treasurer Class of 1894 S. from 1933 to 1944; resided in Ishpeming from 1933; member American Society of Mechanical Engineers and Yale Engineering Association (on executive committee 1924–27 and membership and University affairs committees 1931–32).

Married April 9, 1912, in Ironwood, Mich., Hazel Gwynne, daughter of Richard and Julia (Davis) Mason No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs. Nora B. Griswold of Belmont, Mass, and two brothers, Arthur Brewer, '97 S., and Carl Brewer, '05.

Charles Barto Brown, Ph.B. 1894.

Born September 22, 1873, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 2, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Charles Edgar Brown, lumber dealer and box manufacturer in New Haven; son of James S and Hannah Smith (Barto) Brown of Jamaica, N.Y. Mother, Henrietta Taylor (Hitchcock) Brown, daughter of William and Fanny (Gregory) Hitchcock of East Norwalk, Conn

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Civil engineering course; Senior appointment; prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year Registered in Yale Graduate School and as graduate student in Sheffield

Scientific School 1894-95 (CE. 1896; charter member Sigma X1)

Engaged in resurvey of Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford, Conn, 1894, engineer Allen, Farrington & Company, Syracuse, NY., 1895; in office of Albert B. Hill, '69 S., New Haven, 1896; member Chenango Engineering Company, Binghamton, N.Y, 1896–98, second assistant clerk Insurance Commission, State of Connecticut, Hartford, 1898–1901 and assistant actuary 1901-03; associated with New Haven Gas Light Company 1904-06, instructor in civil engineering University of Maine 1906-07, assistant professor of railroad engineering 1908–16, and professor of civil engineering and assistant to dean of the College of Technology 1916-19; salesman Frederick M. Ward Company, real estate, New Haven, 1919–28; state appraiser for United States Bond & Mortgage Corporation of Connecticut, Inc., 1928-29 and for Connecticut Mortgage and Title Guaranty Company 1929-31; associated with Connecticut Savings Bank, New Haven, 1931-44 (assistant secretary 1938-44); president Yale Club of Bangor (Maine) 1914–16; member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Society for Testing Materials, American Society of Civil Engineers, Phi Kappa Phi, Tau Beta Pi, and Church of Christ in Yale University.

Married October 21, 1896, in New Haven, Maude, daughter of Frank Loper Douglas and Matilda (Millard) Manwaring Daughter: Madeleine

(B A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1923; M.A Wellesley Coll. 1931).

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Lillian Emma Brown Jones, the widow of Wylie Brantley Jones, ex-'83, of Springfield, Ohio.

Hughes Dayton, Ph.B. 1894.

Born May 13, 1873, in Philadelphia, Pa Died December 3, 1944, in Tarrytown, NY.

Father, William Berrian Dayton (B A. Trinity Coll. [Conn] 1856), a lawyer in New Milford, Conn.; son of Aaron Ogden and Mary B (Tuft) Dayton of New Milford. Mother, Cornelia Hamilton (Hughes) Dayton;

daughter of Enos Brooks Miles and Louisa Walter (Bishop) Hughes of New Haven, Conn.

St John's School, Ossining, N.Y. Biology course; honorable mention for excellence in all studies of the Freshman year; awarded prizes for excellence in German and chemistry Freshman year; honorable mention William R Belknap Prize Senior year; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1894–98 (MD 1898); studied in Europe about six months; physician in New York City 1899-1921 and in Irvington, N.Y., 1921-44; house physician New York Hospital 1899-1900, associate attending physician, and chief of medical clinic of outpatient department; on staff Sloane Maternity Hospital, physician to outpatients Bellevue Hospital; on medical advisory board and attending physician New York Hospital House of Relief (temporary naval hospital) 1917-18; attending physician Grasslands Hospital, Valhalla, NY, 1929-44 and Tarrytown Hospital 1935-44; consulting physician United Hospital, Port Chester, N.Y., 1931-44; alumni fellow in pathology College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1902-03 and clinical assistant in medicine Vanderbilt Clinic; instructor in physical diagnosis Cornell University Medical College 1907–10; author *Practice of Medicine* in Medical Epitome Series (1905); contributed articles on ophthalmology and materia medica to The New International Encyclopaedia (1914); member Medical Society of Westchester County, Medical Society of the State of New York, New York Academy of Medicine, American Medical Association, and St. Barnabas' Church (Episcopal), Irvington-on-Hudson, NY.

Married February 10, 1915, in Gwynedd, Pa., Amy Edna, daughter of Rev Martin Albert and Catherine (Metz) Albert. Children. William Berrian, A U S (Williams Coll. ex-'38), and Herman Albert.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife and sons.

Arthur Tryon Kemp, Ph.B. 1894.

Born June 22, 1871, in New York City. Died January 25, 1945, in New York City.

Father, George Kemp, member Lanman & Kemp (now Lanman & Kemp-Barclay & Company, Inc.), wholesale drugs, New York City; son of Thomas and Margaret (Travers) Kemp of County Cavan, Ireland. Mother, Juliet Augusta (Tryon) Kemp; daughter of Francis and Sarah (Hobby) Tryon of New York City.

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School. Chemistry course; member University Club

President George Kemp Real Estate Company, New York City, 1903-45, lived in Paris for many years, returning to the United States in 1940; helped organize American Volunteer Motor Ambulance Corps (the first

in France) in London September, 1914, in France under British Red Cross as member of British Expeditionary Forces October 19, 1914, until service disbanded October 19, 1917, attached to 21st Infantry Division, Eleventh French Army Corps, saw service in Somme, Champagne, Verdun, and Aisne engagements, on central committee American Army and Navy Y M.C A. of France 1915–17; appointed administrator and director internal service American Red Cross 1917–18, awarded Croix de Guerre and Mons Star (British); chevalier Legion d'Honneur, president American Hospital of Paris 1935–38; member Yale Engineering Association and St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married (1) April 27, 1897, in New York City, Isabelle, daughter of Frederick and Mary Isabelle (Gebhard) Neilson Daughter Isabelle Mr and Mrs. Kemp were divorced in 1903 Married (2) April 3, 1907, in Hitchin, Hertfordshire, England, Sybil, daughter of John L and Emma

(Thacker) Kaye. No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Trinity Church Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Miss Marion Morgan Kemp of New York City.

William Ross Black, Ph B. 1895.

Born October 19, 1873, in Erie, Pa. Died July 8, 1944, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, William Thomas Black, associated with Black Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of Tribune bicycles, Erie, son of John and Rachel (Patterson) Black of Lancaster County, Pa Mother, Jean Johnston (Inglis) Black; daughter of George S and Keziah (Martin) Inglis of Lancaster County. Yale relatives include three nephews, Matthew Griswold, '18, William B Griswold, '19 S, and Roger W. Griswold, 2d, '21 S

Lawrenceville (N J.) School and Black Hall (Conn) School. Select course; University Banjo Club three years; Class historian, member The Colony and Berzelius.

Secretary and treasurer Black Manufacturing Company 1895–98, president Taper Sleeve Pulley Company, Erie, 1899–1909, engaged in sale of oysters, crabs, and terrapin, Oxford, Md, 1910–15, employed in Philadelphia 1916 until retirement 1940 because of ill-health (with Eveland Electric Riveter Company, receiver for The Flexible Compound Company, Inc, waterproof liquid, 1916–24; associated with Janney & Company, stock brokers, 1926–27 and Francis Du Pont 1927–33; engaged in the development of Texas oil properties 1934–40), member Park Presbyterian Church, Erie.

Married November 17, 1899, in Jersey City, N.J., Nelly, daughter of Truls and Pernilla (Hakensson) Andersson No children.

Death due to carcinomatosis Buried in Erie Cemetery Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Jessie Gardiner Black Griswold of Erie.

Robert Carmichael Burchard, Ph.B. 1895.

Born July 8, 1874, in Montville, Conn. Died March 7, 1945, in Montville, Conn.

Father, William Metcalf Burchard (M.D Georgetown Univ. 1866), a physician in Montville, Civil War veteran; son of Rev. William Metcalf Burchard and Mary (Whitman) Burchard of Montville. Mother, Elizabeth (Robertson) Burchard, daughter of Carmichael and Mary (Clark) Robertson of Montville.

Norwich (Conn) Free Academy Electrical engineering course; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

In paper box manufacturing business in Montville 1895–1919 and 1921–45 (secretary Robertson Paper Box Company and president C M. Robertson Company); associated with Massasoit Manufacturing Company, cotton goods, Fall River, Mass, and Royal Manufacturing Company, Rahway, N J, 1919–21; represented Montville in Connecticut General Assembly sessions of 1905 and 1907; chairman board of tax assessors, Montville, 1939–42; member Connecticut National Guard 1901–04 and Masonic order.

Married October 19, 1936, in Warrenton, Va, Beatrice Palmer Smith, daughter of Willis Webber and Harriet Emily (Parmentier) Palmer. No children.

Death due to mitral insufficiency Buried in Comstock Cemetery, Uncasville, Conn. Survived by wife

Joseph Frederick [Edward] Jackson, Ph.B. 1895.

Born July 4, 1871, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 8, 1945, in Hamden, Conn.

Father, George Jackson, employed in traffic department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company Mother, Elizabeth (Gallagher) Jackson. Yale relatives include a cousin, Thomas E. Rochfort, '79. Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course.

Structural draftsman Union Bridge Company, Athens, Pa, 1895; consulting engineer in New Haven and assistant engineer on construction of sewers, bridges, and pavements for City of New Haven 1896–1909; associated with A W. Sperry Company, Inc., consulting engineers, New Haven, on construction of Shore Line Electric Railway and various engineering works for Bridgeport, West Haven, and Hamden, 1909–13; engineer member Connecticut State Board of Health, in charge of investigations of stream pollutions, 1913–15; director Bureau of Sanitary Engineering, State Department of Health, and chief engineer Industrial

Wastes Board 1915-25; in private consulting practice for provision of sewerage and sewage disposal plants for Ansonia, Derby, Shelton, and Milford 1925-33; engineer Public Works Administration 1933-35, resident engineer inspector and chief engineer Public Works Administration for Connecticut and Rhode Island 1935-39; in private practice 1939-45; consulting engineer City of Bridgeport 1909–13; engineer Town of Hamden 1920–21; Connecticut chairman National Committee for Trade Recovery; on engineering advisory committee Connecticut State War Council during World War II; on New Haven City Plan Commission; author "The Efficiency of the New Haven Sewerage System" (1905), "An Article on the Cost of Sewer Work" (1909), "Report on Stream Pollution in Connecticut" (1914), "Some Aspects of Stream Pollution" (1917), "Report of the Industrial Wastes Board of Connecticut" (1918-21), "Article on the New Haven Harbor" (1919), "Real Needs of Rural Communities" (1921), "Detection and Prevention of Typhoid" (1921), "Pollution of Streams - Affecting Industrial Use" (1922), "Normalcy in Chemical Treatment of Sewage" (1925), and "Characteristics of American Sludges", president Hamden Historical Society 1938-42, vice-president Young Men's Institute 1924-43, president 1943-45, and chairman library committee, vice-president Whitneyville Improvement Association, secretary St Francis Orphan Asylum, and St Bernard and St Lawrence Cemetery Association 1927-45; fellow American Public Health Association, an organizer technical division American Society of Civil Engineers and on executive committee of sanitary engineering division 1923, member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers (secretary and treasurer 1902–18, second vice-president 1919, first vice-president 1920, president 1921, honorary member 1922-45) and New England Water Works Association; trustee Church of Our Lady of Mount Carmel (Roman Catholic), Mount Carmel, Conn.

Married February 3, 1897, in New Haven, Agnes Lillian, daughter of John R. and Mary (O'Halleran) Spencer. Daughter Mary Therese, the wife of Edward Walter Cowan (D M D Tufts Coll. 1924)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughter, and a granddaughter.

Norman Leeds, Ph.B. 1895.

Born November 15, 1871, in New York City Died October 24, 1944, in Colorado Springs, Colo

Father, Charles H. Leeds (B.A 1854). Mother, Sarah Perley (Lambert) Leeds Yale relatives include: Alfred Lambert (B A. 1843) and Edward W. Lambert (B A 1854) (uncles), Samuel W Lambert, '80, Alexander Lambert, '84, Elliot C. Lambert, '86, and Adrian V. S Lambert, '93

(cousins), and Muriel R Leeds (School of the Fine Arts 1927-28) (daughter-in-law)

King School, Stamford, Conn. Electrical engineering course, member University Club

Engineer Western Electric Company, New York City, 1895–1902; associated with National Cash Register Company, Dayton, Ohio, 1902–03 and C W. Hunt Company, Staten Island, N Y, 1903–04, engineer and later superintendent Bridgeport (Conn.) Malleable Iron Company 1904–08, treasurer and general manager Automatic Machine Company, designers and builders, Bridgeport, 1908 until retirement 1926; treasurer McNab Indicator Company, Bridgeport, and Automatic Chain Welding Company 1910–26, an organizer Bridgeport Community Chest 1921 and executive director 1921–23, on executive committee Bridgeport Manufacturers Association, secretary Class of 1895 S. from 1895 to 1899 and editor *Triennial Record*, on Forty-five year Class reunion committee; resided in Colorado Springs 1943–44; member Institute of Electrical Engineers, Connecticut Civil Service Reform Association, and United Congregational Church, Bridgeport.

Married September 14, 1899, in Cleveland, Frances Kellogg, daughter of Samuel Augustus and Julia Elizabeth (Clark) Fuller. Children: Elizabeth Fuller, the wife of George M. Barker, '21; Norman, Jr, '23 S; Arthur Fuller, ex-'29; and Richard Lambert, ex-'37.

Death due to bronchial asthma Ashes interred in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. John Shaw George of Pittsburgh, and three brothers, Alfred Leeds, '87, Edward L Leeds, '88 S, and Arthur R Leeds, '00 S.

Norman Edward Ditman, Ph.B. 1896.

Born May 28, 1877, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died December 15, 1944, in Palm Beach, Fla.

Father, Andrew Jackson Ditman of Englewood, N.J.; wholesale and retail dealer in drugs and surgical appliances, Civil War veteran; son of Henry and Elizabeth (Tustin) Ditman of Philadelphia. Mother, Mary Moffatt (Stewart) Ditman; daughter of James and Mary (Moffatt) Stewart of Philadelphia.

Englewood School for Boys Biology course; Senior honors; Freshman Football Squad, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1896–1900 (M D 1900) and Columbia University Graduate School (M A. 1900, Ph D. 1908); studied at universities of Marburg and Berlin 1903–04, interne in pathology St Luke's Hospital, New York City, 1900–02, resident in pathology 1902–03, and assistant attending physician 1908–25;

physician in New York City 1900–36; instructor in pathology Columbia University 1904–12; pathologist Sloane Maternity Hospital 1902–09; clinical pathologist Roosevelt Hospital 1908-25; visiting physician Ritz-Carlton, Pierre, and Gladstone hotels, New York City, for many years; personal physician of Charles Evans Hughes [LL D. 1915] on presidential campaign trip 1916; resided in Palm Beach 1936-44 and because of wartime conditions practiced medicine there and was director Emergency Station Civilian Defense Hospital; author. Education and Preventive Medicine (1911), Home Hygiene and Prevention of Disease (1912), and numerous articles in scientific and medical journals; winner Gibbs Prize in a national contest for research on Bright's disease 1907, credited as first physician in this country to develop and introduce use of bacterial vaccines; served at Savannah (Ga) Military Hospital in Spanish-American War; medical director Red Cross Convalescent Hospital, Cuttyhunk, Mass., and member Committee of Labor and Health and Volunteer Medical Service of Council of National Defense during World War I, trustee American Museum of Safety and director of its department of industrial hygiene 1912-28, appointed by President Nicholas Murray Butler of Columbia University chairman of a committee to prepare plans for a school of sanitary science and public health 1907, which led eventually to organization of De Lamar Institute of Public Health in College of Physicians and Surgeons 1921, Alumni Fund agent Class of 1896 S from 1920 to 1926, fellow New York Academy of Medicine 1906–44; member Medical Society of the County of New York, Medical Society of the State of New York, Florida Medical Association, American Medical Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, International Congress of Hygiene and Demography, American Association for Labor Legislation, Quiz Medical Society, Sigma Xi, and First Presbyterian Church, Englewood

Married February 22, 1919, in Lowell, Mass., Grace Edith, daughter of Alexander Goodlet and Frances Farquharson Ross Cumnock No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Lowell Cemetery Survived by wife, a sister, Marion Stewart Ditman Clark (B.A. Smith Coll. 1911), the wife of Frederick Baylis Clark (E.E. Columbia Univ. 1903), and a brother, Albert Joseph Ditman, both of Englewood.

William Francis Roelofson Griffith, Ph.B. 1897.

Born August 12, 1876, in Newark, N J. Died May 18, 1945, in Washington, D C.

Father, Walter Scott Griffith, cashier and director Columbia Bank, New York City; son of John Morris and Catalina (Wendell) Griffith of Albany, N.Y. Mother, Hattie Pomeroy (Roelofson) Griffith, daughter of Christian and Caroline (Wilson) Roelofson of Burlington, Vt Morristown (N.J.) Academy and private tutor. Civil engineering course, member University Club

In office of Commissioner of Accounts, New York City, 1897–98; engineer Guayaquil and Quito Railroad Company, Ecuador, 1899-1903 and New York Central Railroad Company 1903-04; assistant engineer Isthmian Canal Commission, Panama Canal Zone, 1904-06 (awarded Theodore Roosevelt medal No 45); consulting engineer, New York City, 1906–08, with U.S. Army Engineer Corps, compiling data on inland waterways from Boston to Florida, 1908–12 and construction superintendent Norfolk (Va) Army Base 1917-21; consulting engineer New York City and Norfolk, and president Norfolk Dock and Belt Line Commission 1912-17; appraisal engineer Engineering and Valuation Division, Income Tax Unit, Bureau of Internal Revenue, Washington, 1921–45; at request of Chief of Engineers, U.S. Army, organized a company of engineers for service on the Mexican border in 1916 and served as captain of the company; consulting engineer New Jersey Ship Canal Commission; designer of Harbor Terminal, Norfolk, member Society of the Cincinnati, Sons of the American Revolution, Society of Military Engineers, and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Morristown

Married April 26, 1905, in Dongan Hills, LI, N.Y., Aline Herbert, daughter of Harry and Rebecca Amanda (Herbert) McNair. Sons: Arthur Walker (BS Virginia Military Inst. 1927; M.S. Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1929); William Francis Roelofson, Jr. (Virginia Military Inst. 1928; BS Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1930, M.S. 1931); and Walter Scott (died August 8, 1922).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Norfolk Survived by wife, two sons, and four grandchildren.

Thomas Gould Otis, Ph.B. 1897.

Born November 1, 1874, in Norwalk, Ohio. Died April 11, 1945, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Thomas Gould Otis, a capitalist in Chicago; son of Asahel Jackson and Mary Ann (Allen) Otis of North Kingston, R I Mother, Caroline (Arnold) Otis; daughter of George and Charlotte (Gardiner) Arnold of Rhode Island

Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn

Manager Chicago office Imperial Insurance Company, Ltd, of England, 1897–1902; partner Lyman, Otis & Company, insurance, Chicago, 1902–03; in real-estate business in California 1903–07, with Southern Pacific Railroad Company 1907–12 (representative in Mexico in development work, and purchasing agent); purchasing agent Standard Portland Cement and Santa Cruz Portland Cement companies, San Francisco,

1912–18; associated with Pacific Mill & Mine Supply Company, San Francisco, 1918–21; in import and export business, Oakland, Calif, and Kobe, Japan, 1921–22; general representative Bonestell & Company, wholesale paper, San Francisco, 1922–25; associated with Kohler Company of Wisconsin, plumbing ware and light fixtures, 1925–29 (in promotion department San Francisco office 1925–26 and 1928–29, Los Angeles branch manager 1926–28); with Bowes Brothers & Company, investment securities, Los Angeles, 1929–31 and E Z McCormack & Company, mortgage loans, 1931 until retirement 1937; resided at his ranch in Van Nuys and Reseda, Calif.

Married (1) September 21, 1898, in Chicago, Ada Pierce, daughter of Joseph E. Tilt Mr. and Mrs Otis were divorced in 1907. Married (2) April 12, 1914, in San Francisco, Anna McCarl. Mr and Mrs. Otis were divorced in 1915. Married (3) June 3, 1916, Gladys Elmore Mr and Mrs. Otis were divorced. Married (4) Margaret Miller Mrs Otis died December 6, 1939. Married (5) August 10, 1940, in Las Vegas, Nev, Lou Perry Jefferies Horigan, daughter of William Bennett Jefferies (M D Washington Univ. 1876) and Sallie Walker (Hudson) Jefferies.

Died suddenly. Ashes interred in Pierce Brothers Mausoleum, Hollywood. Survived by wife and three stepdaughters.

Louis Eugene Voorheis, Ph.B. 1897.

Born March 16, 1874, in Portsmouth, Ohio Died July 17, 1944, in Gatlinburg, Tenn.

Father, Albert Barnes Voorheis, wholesale clothing manufacturer in Cincinnati; vice-president Union Savings Bank & Trust Company and Lincoln National Bank; son of Andrew Dunlap and Harriet M (Jackson) Voorheis of Ovid, N.Y. Mother, Emma Elizabeth (Miller) Voorheis Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Wylie McL Ayers, '97.

Phillips-Exeter. Entered Yale College with Class of 1897, transferred to Sheffield Scientific School Freshman year; mechanical engineering course; Freshman Glee Club; second glee club Junior year, University Glee Club Senior year; member University Club

Engaged in business in Cincinnati 1897 until retirement 1923, associated with American Tool Works Company 1897–1903 (held various positions up to vice-president and general manager and was responsible for the development of the firm into a well organized and profitable business), vice-president Standard Carbonic Company 1903–23 and Oakley Machine Tool Company 1915–18; resided on his estate, Twin Creek Orchard, Gatlinburg, summers and in Florida winters; among his hobbies was woodworking, making replicas of fine museum pieces and early American furniture; member First Presbyterian Church, Cincinnati.

Married January 11, 1934, in Gatlinburg, Ethel May, daughter of Jacob S and Carrie (Feucth) Keinath. No children.

Death due to apoplexy. Ashes interred at Twin Creek Orchard, Gatlinburg Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Nellie V. Davis of Rye, N Y.

Mr. Voorheis made a bequest to the University to establish the Louis E. Voorheis Scholarship Fund.

Harold [Eugene] Carpenter, Ph.B. 1898.

Born March 31, 1876, in Willimantic, Conn. Died December 25, 1944, in Newtown, Conn.

Father, Charles Edwin Carpenter, a merchant in Willimantic; mayor of Willimantic, son of Noah Avery and Abbey (Carpenter) Carpenter of Attleboro, Mass. Mother, Susan Emily (Prosser) Carpenter; daughter of Oliver and Louise (Colvin) Prosser of West Warwick, R.I. Yale relatives include a brother, Henry A Carpenter, '91 S.

Willimantic High School. Mechanical engineering course.

Draftsman Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, builders of gas holders, gas works, and steel plants, Pittsburgh, 1898–1900, chief draftsman and assistant gas engineer in charge design of gas holders and gas works 1900-04, associated with Consolidated Gas Company of New York (now Consolidated Edison Company of New York) 1904 until retirement 1937 (chief draftsman 1904-07; construction superintendent of its subsidiary, Astoria Light, Heat & Power Company, 1907-10; resident engineer supervising construction of Astoria Tunnel under Hell Gate 1910-17, engineer maintenance and construction division 1917-37); contributed to engineering journals; active worker for Boy Scouts of America (committeeman Troop 702, New York City, 1924–25 and Troop 2, Port Chester, NY, 1925-29, member executive committee Siwanoy Council, Port Chester, 1926-37, vice-president 1927-28, and president 1934-37; vicechairman in charge administration Port Chester district 1928–31 and chairman 1931-34, awarded Silver Beaver by National Council 1937); president Port Chester Community Chest 1937-38, an organizer Port Chester University Club and vice-president 1936-37; member National Boy Scout Honor Society, Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Illuminating Engineering Society, American Gas Association, Society of Gas Engineers of New York City, and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Port Chester.

Married November 15, 1904, in Baltimore, Md, Araminta Fendall, daughter of Charles Herman and Araminta (Fendall) Dickey. Children: Charles Harold, '31 S, and Bruce Dickey (died April 14, 1930).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Greenwood Union Cemetery, Rye N.Y. Survived by wife, one son, and a granddaughter.

George Sheldon Chauncey, Ph.B. 1898.

Born June 5, 1876, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 12, 1945, in Orange, N.J.

Father, George Washington Chauncey (Columbia Univ School of Mines 1865–66), president Mechanics Bank, Brooklyn; son of Daniel and Mary (Marshall) Chauncey of Brooklyn. Mother, Adelaide (Sheldon) Chauncey; daughter of Henry and Adelaide Sheldon of Brooklyn. Yale relatives include: Alexander Sheldon (B.A. 1787) (great-grandfather); and Charles Chauncey Pool, ex-'35 (nephew).

Brooklyn Latin School. Select course; Freshman Baseball and Football teams; substitute University Baseball and Football teams Junior year; vice-president Yale Golf Club Senior year; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Associated with Hollister, Barnes & Company, brokers, New York City, 1898 until retirement 1930; resided winters at Lake Wales, Fla; member St. Andrew's Church (Episcopal), South Orange.

Married January 9, 1907, in Philadelphia, Marion Willis, daughter of Jacob Esher and Ella (Willis) Heyl Son George Heyl (died December 27, 1927).

Death due to mediastinal tumor. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife and a brother, A. Wallace Chauncey, '13 S

Howard Chapin Ives, Ph.B. 1898.

Born March 20, 1878, in Cheshire, Conn. Died October 6, 1944, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Howard Chapin Ives, manufacturer of matches and hardware, Cheshire; senator from sixth district in Connecticut General Assembly 1872; son of Othniel and Mary Atlanta (Howard) Ives of Meriden, Conn Mother, Julia Elizabeth (Dunham) Ives; daughter of Cornelius Gideon and Jerusha (Kelsey) Dunham of Kensington, Conn.

Cheshire Academy. Civil engineering course; Senior honors Studied in Yale Graduate School 1898–99 (C.E. 1900).

Civil engineer Baltimore & Ohio, Pennsylvania, and New York Central Railroad companies 1899–1900; instructor in civil engineering Worcester Polytechnic Institute 1900–03, assistant professor of railroad engineering 1906–12 and professor 1912–25; assistant professor of civil engineering University of Pennsylvania 1903–06; engaged as civil and consulting engineer in California 1925–44; with engineering department, City of Los Angeles, 1925–28; author The Adjustments of the Engineer's Transit and Level (1906), Highway Curves (1929), Seven Place Natural Trigo-

nometrical Functions (1929), and Natural Trigonometric Functions (1931); coauthor: Stereotomy (1902), Problems in Surveying, Railroad Surveying and Geodesy (1906), Surveying Manual (1914), Field Engineering (1915, 19th edition 1925), Map Drafting and Lettering (1931), and Mathematical Table (1924, 1934); associate member American Society of Civil Engineers; member Boston Society of Civil Engineers, New England Water Works Association, American Railway Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Society for the Promotion of Engineering Education, American Association of Engineers, National Institute of Social Sciences, Sigma Xi (corresponding secretary Worcester chapter 1908–10), and Masonic order; attended Episcopal church.

Married June 30, 1908, in Hartford, Conn., Mary Belle, daughter of Edward Samuel and Emma Jane (McMillen) Young. A daughter died at birth.

Death due to hypertrophy of prostate Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Cheshire Survived by wife and a brother, Harvey Ives.

Burnet Rathbone Ruggles, Ph.B. 1898.

Born May 14, 1876, in New York City. Died May 29, 1945, in Norwalk, Conn.

Father, James Francis Ruggles (B A. Columbia Univ 1847; Harvard Law School 1847–48), a lawyer in New York City; son of Samuel B. Ruggles, LL D (B A. 1814), and Mary Rosalie (Rathbone) Ruggles of New York City Mother, Grace (Baldwin) Ruggles; daughter of Harvey Baldwin Yale relatives include Philo Ruggles (M A. Hon. 1800) (great-grandfather)

St Mark's School, Southboro, Mass. Select course; Senior Dance Committee, member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Engaged in business in New York City 1898 until retirement 1941; associated with Flint & Company, merchants, 1898, assistant secretary and assistant treasurer American Industrial Company, investments, 1899–1902; member Dewing & Ruggles, brokers, 1902–06, Ruggles & Gray 1907–11, and Fahnestock & Company 1911–30, independent specialist New York Stock Exchange 1930–41; member Association of Ex-members of Squadron A and St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Noroton, Conn

Married October 17, 1916, in Richmond, Va., Natalie Elise Smith Goodwin, daughter of Isaac Tower and Philomena (De Goulard) Smith. Adopted stepson, John Rathbone Ruggles, ex-'25 S Mrs Ruggles died May 13, 1941.

Death due to intestinal obstruction Buried in Trinity Church Cemetery, New York City. Survived by son.

Charles Lindsley Sherwood, Ph.B. 1898.

Born March 14, 1877, in Omaha, Nebr. Died November 24, 1944, in Beatrice, Nebr.

Father, Edwin Hyde Sherwood, engaged in farming and later in business in Omaha, son of Capt Edwin Sherwood and Mary Augusta (Hyde) Sherwood of Southport, Conn Mother, Emma (Rumsey) Sherwood; daughter of Thomas Osborn and Matilda (Earle) Rumsey of New York City.

Attended high schools in Lincoln, Nebr, and Bridgeport, Conn. Mechanical engineering course, honorable mention for excellence in German

Junior year; Senior honors; chairman Class Book historians

Enlisted as private Light Battery A, First Regiment Artillery, Connecticut Volunteers, May 4, 1898, and appointed corporal same day, stationed at Camp Haven, Niantic, Conn, mustered out October 25, 1898; associated with Union Pacific Railroad Company in Omaha, Council Bluffs, Iowa, North Platte, Nebr, Sydney, N Dak., Junction City, Kans, and Beatrice 1898–1915; paying teller and cashier Beatrice National Bank 1915 until retirement 1933; president Beatrice Library 1918–27 and Beatrice Y.M.C.A; member Masonic order; vestryman Christ Church (Episcopal), Beatrice.

Married (1) January 11, 1911, in Beatrice, Rosanna, daughter of Augustus W. and Charlotte Bradt. Daughter: Rosanna (B.A. Univ California 1933; Univ. Geneva 1933–34), the wife of James Henry Freeman (B.A. Univ. California 1932, LL.B. 1935). Mrs Sherwood died February 19, 1912. Married (2) March 30, 1914, in New York City, Katharine Rachel Kilpatrick (B.A. Vassar Coll 1909), daughter of Robert Jackson and Marian Douglas (Jones) Kilpatrick. Children Marian Rumsey (B.A. Univ. Nebraska 1936), the wife of Herbert Towle Weston, Jr. (B.A. Univ. Nebraska 1936); Katharine Lindsley (B A Scripps Coll. 1939); Robert Kilpatrick, '43 S, and Lynn. Mrs. Sherwood died March 30, 1934.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Beatrice. Survived by children, four grandchildren, and two sisters, Mary Lambertson Sherwood Roe (Vassar Coll 1890–91), the wife of Joseph W. Roe (Ph B. 1895, M E 1907), and Antoinette Sherwood Wells, the wife of Jonathan Godfrey Wells (M D Columbia Univ. 1900) of New York City.

Malcolm Moyer Eckhardt, Ph.B. 1900.

Born May 2, 1878, in Hartford, Conn Died September 13, 1944, in Shelton, Conn

Father, Jacob Huntsberger Eckhardt, proprietor of J H Eckhardt Art Company, Hartford. Mother, Salome (Albright) Eckhardt.

Hartford Public High School Civil engineering course.

In office of the city engineer, Hartford, 1900–02, associated with Derby (Conn) Gas & Electric Company 1902 until retirement 1942 (engineer in street department 1902–08, superintendent electric department 1908–25, treasurer 1925–26, secretary 1925–33, assistant general manager 1930–33, general manager 1933–42, vice-president 1933–34, and president 1934–42); president Derby Board of Trade 1924; past president and director Housatonic Council Boy Scouts of America, Derby; member Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), Shelton.

Married June 30, 1904, in Hartford, Elizabeth Nancy, daughter of Nicholas and Bettie (Metcalf) McLean Children. Marie McLean (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1929; M.A. Univ. Wisconsin 1930), the wife of G. Howard Conklin, '27 S, and Thomas Malcolm McLean, ex-'39 E., A U.S.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Shelton Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

Francis Julian Kennett, Ph.B. 1900.

Born July 15, 1878, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 6, 1945, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Francis Julian Kennett, member Kennett, Harris & Company, brokers, Chicago; son of Luther Martin and Agnes A. (Kennett) Kennett of St Louis Mother, Ella Frances (Durand) Kennett; daughter of John Milton and Almira Wood (Stoddard) Durand of Milwaukee, Wis Yale relatives include two nephews, Kennett L. Rawson, '33, and Luther M. Kennett, Jr, ex-'34.

St Paul's School, Concord, NH. Mechanical engineering course.

After graduation traveled widely in Europe until 1902; in Board of Trade office of Harris, Gates & Company, Chicago, 1902–06; associated with Hewitt Manufacturing Company, Chicago, for a short time; manager San Pedro (Calif) Hardware Company 1907; with Harris, Winthrop & Company, brokers, Chicago, 1908–10; manager Reinforced Concrete Pipe Company, Los Angeles, 1910–15 and Hotel Metropole, Chicago, 1916–20, cashier Citizens Savings Bank, Pasadena, 1920 until retirement in 1926 because of ill-health; member All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Pasadena

Married August 14, 1915, in Pasadena, Muriel Evelyn Stewart, daughter of Frederick George and Ethel Theodore (Good) Peto. Children: Edith Durand and Francis Julian, Jr. Mr and Mrs Kennett were divorced in 1921.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Inglewood Park Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by children, mother, two sisters, Edith Kennett Rawson, widow of Frederick H. Rawson, '95, of Chicago, and Mrs. George Burnham of Los Angeles, and a brother, Luther Martin Kennett of Coronado, Calif.

George Nelson Edmondson, Ph.B. 1901.

Born August 22, 1879, in New Haven, Conn. Died August 11, 1944, in Branford, Conn.

Father, George Edmondson, member A & G Edmondson, plumbers in New Haven; son of George and Martha (Hirst) Edmondson of Bradford, England Mother, Sarah Ellen (Bouns) Edmondson; daughter of William E. Bouns of Bradford

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Civil engineering course; honorable mention in chemistry Freshman year, honors for excellence in all studies of the Junior year; two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year; member Sigma Xi.

Associated with New York Central Railroad Company 1901–44 (successively chainman, rodman, and transitman New York City 1901–02; assistant supervisor of track, Poughkeepsie and Hudson, 1902; transitman New York City 1902–03; second assistant supervisor of track at Peekskill 1903–04, first assistant 1904–05, and acting supervisor 1905, assistant engineer New York City 1905–07 and Utica 1910–11; supervisor of track West Albany 1907–10; division engineer Rochester 1911–18, Jersey Shore 1918–20, and Albany 1920–27; engineer of track New York City 1927–42 and of maintenance of way 1942–43; on leave of absence 1943–44); member American Railway Association (published many reports in its *Proceedings*), Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Memorial Methodist Church, White Plains, N.Y.

Married October 15, 1904, in New York City, Clara Stebbins, daughter of Dayton Ives and Ida Elizabeth (Wheeler) Andrews Children Ruth (Russell Sage Coll ex-'26, B.A. New York State Teachers Coll 1926), the wife of George Edward Spargo (B.S Rhode Island State Coll 1926), Roger Andrews (died September 4, 1909); George Dayton (Syracuse Univ. ex-'34), Robert William (Pratt Inst 1934); Marjorie Jean, the wife of Robert Edward Palmer (Manhattan Coll 1940); and Barbara Estelle, the wife of Neil Joseph Murphy

Death due to left hemiplegia. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Southington, Conn. Survived by wife, daughters, two sons, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Alfred William Smith of Branford and Mrs. Edward Olmsted of Guilford, Conn

Herbert Brinkerhoff North, Ph.B. 1901.

Born February 16, 1879, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 4, 1944, in Guilford, Conn.

Father, John Curtis North, president North's Insurance Agency, Inc., New Haven; son of John Goodrich and Elizabeth (Dickinson) North of New Haven. Mother, Jessie Glenn (Brinkerhoff) North; daughter of Richard and Susannah Harriet (Passman) Brinkerhoff of Brooklyn. Yale relatives include two nephews, Richard A North, '20 S, and David A. North, ex-'25 S.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Mechanical engineering course; honorable mention in mechanical drawing Freshman year; on Triennial and Bicentennial committees; member Book and Bond and Phi Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, 1901-03 and 1904-06, in fire-insurance business 1903-04; graduate student in mechanical engineering, Yale University, 1906-08 (ME. 1908; member Sigma X1), instructor in descriptive geometry and drawing Yale University 1906-08 and drawing 1908-11, assistant professor of drawing and descriptive geometry 1911-14; superintendent Sentinel Manufacturing Company, automatic gas appliances, New Haven, 1914-16; assistant chief engineer Hale & Kilburn Manufacturing Company, furniture, Philadelphia, 1916–18, treasurer and director F E. Fowler Company, wholesale household goods, New Haven, 1918-26, treasurer and secretary 1926-36, treasurer North's Insurance Agency, Inc, 1925-34; in real-estate department Donald G. North Insurance Company 1937 until retirement 1939, corporal Company D, 2d Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, 1918-20, author Supplement of Problems to Be Used With Tracy's Mechanical Drawing (1909), coauthor Descriptive Geometry (1914); resided in Guilford 1940-44; secretary Class of 1901 S. from 1901 to 1916 and edited triennial, sexennial, and decennial Class books; member Society for Promotion of Engineering Education, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Dwight Place Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married July 10, 1901, in New Haven, Leila Frost, daughter of Charles Goldsmith and Nettie (Fowler) Kimberly. Daughters: Jeannette, the wife

of Chester G. Curtiss, 20, and Lois (BF.A. 1930).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Alderbrook Cemetery, Guilford Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, one of whom is John N Curtiss, '44 S, a sister, Jessie Dickinson North Read, the wife of Harry H Read, '01 S, and a brother, Major Donald Goodrich North, USA, of North Haven, Conn Another brother, John R. North, '95 S, died in 1920.

Roger Wolcott Griswold, Ph.B. 1902.

Born August 12, 1879, in Erie, Pa. Died December 15, 1944, in Erie, Pa.

Father, Matthew Griswold, founder and president Griswold Manufacturing Company, iron and aluminum products, Erie; represented Old Lyme in Connecticut General Assembly 1862 and 1865 and U.S Con-

gress 1891–97; son of Matthew and Phebe Hubbard (Ely) Griswold of Lyme, Conn. Mother, Anna Brooks (Schenck) Griswold, daughter of Rev. William Edward Schenck and Jane Whittemore (Torrey) Schenck of Philadelphia. Yale relatives include: John Griswold (B A. 1721) (great-great-great-grandfather); Matthew Griswold (LL D. 1779) (great-grandfather); Roger Griswold (B.A. 1780) (great-grandfather), Matthew Griswold (B A. 1780) (great-great-uncle); Charles Griswold (B A. 1808), Jared Griswold (B A. 1817), and Roger W. Griswold (B A. 1818) (great-uncles), and Matthew Griswold, '18, William B. Griswold, '19 S, Roger W. Griswold, 2d, '21 S, Lee M. Griswold, '22, William E. S. Griswold, Jr., '34, John S. Griswold, '37, Dwight Griswold, '40, and Tracy Griswold, '41 (nephews).

Black Hall (Conn) School Mechanical engineering course; Freshman Football Team; Class Book historian, member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Griswold Manufacturing Company 1902–44 (vice-president 1910–12, secretary and treasurer 1912–19, treasurer 1920–26, and president 1927–44); on board of corporators Hamot Hospital 1919–44 (president 1929 and 1930–31, on finance and nominating committees) and Erie Cemetery 1932–44 (trustee 1933–44), member Erie School Board 1925–31 (president 1930–31) and Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Erie.

Married September 12, 1914, in Lenox, Mass, Mary Mildred, daughter of George Evans Turnure (B A. Harvard 1889) and Elizabeth Gardner (Lanier) Turnure Children Roger Wolcott, Jr, George Turnure, '42 S, U.S.N.R., Charles Lanier, ex-'43, U.S.N.R., and Oliver Wolcott, A U.S.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Erie Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, and two brothers, William E. S. Griswold, '99, and Ely Griswold, '04 S. Another brother, Dwight T. Griswold, '08, died in 1908 Two half brothers, Matthew Griswold, '88 S, and Marvin E. Griswold, '90, died in 1929 and 1927 respectively.

Robert Dun Patterson, Ph.B. 1904.

Born January 21, 1881, in Dayton, Ohio. Died February 23, 1945, in Miami Beach, Fla.

Father, Stephen Johnston Patterson, member S J. Patterson Company, coal dealers, Dayton; son of Jefferson and Julia (Johnston) Patterson of Dayton. Mother, Lucy Angus (Dun) Patterson; daughter of Robert G and Anne (Franklin) Dun of Columbus, Ohio. Yale relatives include Roger S. Woodhull, '96 S (brother-in-law); Joseph G. Crane, '07, and Jefferson P. Crane, ex-'09 (cousins); and Stephen P. Moorhead, '40, and James M Woodhull, '42 S (nephews)

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Mining engineering course;

Class football team; Class secretary Junior year; Class Supper and Class Fund committees Senior year, member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Patterson coal interests 1904–45; employed at Pocahontas coal fields, Lowe, Va., 1904–09 (mine superintendent 1905–09); general superintendent Weyanoke Coal & Coke Company, Giatto, W.Va., and White Star Mining and Gulf Coal companies 1909–15; president S. J. Patterson Company and Weyanoke Coal & Coke Company 1915–45; production manager Pocahontas and Tug River coal fields under U.S. Fuel Administration in World War I; president Rubicon Realty Company, Dayton, 1923–45 and the Tom Corwin Farms, Inc., apple orchards, 1927–38; secretary Class of 1904 S. from 1904 to 1910; member Dayton committee Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; chairman endowment fund committee Dayton Art Institute 1932–36; member Masonic order and Christ Church (Episcopal), Dayton

Married February 1, 1906, in Dayton, Henrietta Churchill, daughter of Houston Lowe (Ph B. 1869) and Caroline (Harries) Lowe and sister of John G Lowe, '07 Daughter. Caroline Lowe, the wife of Lieut. Col. James S Bush, A C, '22.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Dayton Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Julia P. Moorhead, the widow of Turner D. Moorhead, ex-'10, of Pittsburgh.

John Crossan Dilworth, Ph.B. 1905.

Born November 15, 1884, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died August 23, 1944, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, Lawrence Dilworth, president Dilworth, Porter & Company, Ltd, manufacturers of railroad spikes and tie plates, Pittsburgh; son of Joseph and Louise (Richardson) Dilworth of Pittsburgh Mother, Virginia Snyder (Crossan) Dilworth; daughter of John McDonald and Mary (Little) Crossan of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include Joseph R. Dilworth, ex-'83 (uncle), Dewees W. Dilworth, ex-'11 L, and Richardson Dilworth, '21 (cousins); and Lawrence D Forsyth, '28, and William P. Witherow, Jr, ex-'38 S (nephews).

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH. Mechanical engineering course; Freshman Hockey Team, University Hockey Team Junior and Senior years, member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Assistant mill manager Dilworth, Porter & Company, Ltd, 1905–28 (vice-president and general manager 1913–28); plant manager Witherow Steel Corporation 1928–31; general manager Dilworth-Porter division of

Republic Steel Corporation 1931–34; sales manager railroad materials and commercial forgings division, Carnegie-Illinois Steel Corporation, 1934–44, president Pittsburgh Parking Garages, Inc, 1925–44, trustee Dollar Savings Bank, Pittsburgh, 1921–44; secretary Western Pennsylvania School for the Blind 1912–44, second vice-president Yale Club of Pittsburgh and later vice-president, member Yale Engineering Association, Association of American Railroads, and Calvary Church (Episcopal), Pittsburgh

Married October 23, 1912, in Sparkill, NY, Helen Thaw, daughter of William Reed and Mary (Thaw) Thompson. Children Mary Thaw (BA Vassar Coll. 1936), the wife of Richard Langley Barnes (BA Harvard

1933, LL B. 1936), and Lawrence, ex-'40 E

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, a sister, Dorothy D. Witherow, the wife of William P. Witherow, '08 S, and a brother, Joseph Dilworth, '07 S.

Frank Edward Wilhelm, Ph.B. 1905.

Born September 25, 1883, in Rockford, Ill. Died August 29, 1944, near Lake Forest, Ill.

Father, Charles Marcus Wilhelm, member Orchard & Wilhelm, whole-sale and retail house furnishings, Omaha, Nebr, son of George and Samantha Amanda (Towne) Wilhelm of Geneseo, N.Y Mother, Eugenie (Stocking) Wilhelm; daughter of Sabura Stebbins and Charlotte Elizabeth (Higgins) Stocking of Lawton and Niles, Mich.

Omaha High School and Phillips-Andover Select course, Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Junior year, University Glee Club Junior

and Senior years; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Assistant manager wholesale carpet department Orchard & Wilhelm 1905–11; associated with The Cudahy Packing Company, Chicago, 1911–44 (clerk South Omaha office 1911–12, in general office Chicago 1912–16, department manager 1916–25, general manager Los Angeles branch 1925–28, a vice-president 1923–27, president 1927–44, and a director 1919–44).

Married June 3, 1911, in Omaha, Eugenia Elizabeth, daughter of Edward Aloysius and Elizabeth (Murphy) Cudahy Children Frank Edward, Jr (died December 24, 1936), Jean Elizabeth, the wife of C

Daggett Harvey, '28; and David Cudahy, '42.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in St Mary's Cemetery, Lake Forest. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, two grandchildren, father, and a sister, Mrs. Samuel Cooper of Omaha.

Carl William Eckle, Ph.B. 1906.

Born June 28, 1886, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 10, 1945, in Stratford, Conn.

Father, George Martin Eckle, president F. E. Spencer Company, paints and wallpapers, New Haven; son of George Martin and Elizabeth (Fletcher) Eckle of New Haven. Mother, Wilhelmina (Hugendubel) Eckle; daughter of Carl Hugendubel of Stuttgart, Germany.

New Haven High School. Electrical engineering course, first-division

stand Freshman year.

Associated with Southern New England Telephone Company 1906-07 and 1909–18 (draftsman in engineering department 1906–07 and 1909– 11; district engineer of western district, Waterbury, Conn, 1911-15; in Hartford office 1915-18); engineer Providence (R.I.) Telephone Company 1907-08, engineer Factory Insurance Association, fire underwriters, Hartford, Conn, 1918-45; member Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Stratford

Married (1) January 6, 1907, in New York City, Grace Evelyn, daughter of Theodore Albert and Agnes Caldwell (Robertson) Spreyer. Children Grace Elizabeth, the wife of Lieut. William H. Curtis, U.S.N.R. (B S. Tufts Coll. 1930; M S. Univ. Connecticut 1944); Lieut. Carl Robertson Eckle, U S.N., and Helen Theodora, the wife of Paul Goodell, Jr. Mrs. Eckle died May 6, 1924 Married (2) July 11, 1931, in Stratford, Susan Isabel Reid Curtis, daughter of Thomas Davidson and Susan (Johnson) Reid.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Union Cemetery, Stratford Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, two stepsons, Lieut. William H. Curtis, U.S.N.R., and Leeman R. Curtis, A.U.S., a sister, Mrs Harold Wells of Upper Darby, Pa, two brothers, George August Eckle of New Haven and John N. Eckle, '10 S., and a stepbrother, Frederick Hugendubel of West Haven, Conn.

Thomas William Willis, Ph.B. 1906.

Born September 19, 1884, in Ansonia, Conn. Died May 13, 1945, in Stratford, Conn.

Father, Joseph William Willis, proprietor of greenhouses in Ansonia; son of William and Ellen (Curtis) Willis of Waterbury and Ansonia, Conn Mother, Sarah (Redshaw) Willis; daughter of Thomas M. and Penninah (Goodall) Redshaw of Ansonia.

New Haven (Conn) High School Mechanical engineering course.

Associated with Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, and draftsman in engineering department American Brass Company 1906,

engaged in supervisory work J. E. Palmer Company, Middletown, Conn, 1906 until about 1908; in engineering and mill construction work with S. M. Green, Inc., engineers, Springfield, Mass., 1908–10, draftsman New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, New Haven, 1910–11, assistant plant engineer Lake Torpedo Boat Company, Bridgeport, Conn, 1911–18; agent Travelers Insurance Company, Bridgeport, 1919–45, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Stratford

Married September 16, 1908, in Ridgefield, Conn, Zelta Wenona, daughter of Lyman Henry and Jennie (Rummel) Whitlock Children Marjorie Wenona (died November 15, 1919), Virginia Whitlock, the wife of Thomas Bishop; and Joseph Donald.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Ansonia Survived by wife, one daughter, son, and six grandchildren

Henry Gibbs Ellis, Ph.B. 1907.

Born September 25, 1885, in Torrington, Conn. Died December 1, 1944, in Torrington, Conn.

Father, John Francis Ellis, consulting engineer in Torrington and Waterbury, Conn.; associated with American Brass Company, son of John and Rebecca Wing (Taber) Ellis of Acushnet, Mass Mother, Carrie Edmonia (Colton) Ellis; daughter of Charles and Julia (Butts) Colton of Akron, Ohio.

Torrington High School and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course; member Book and Bond.

Associated with American Brass Company, Torrington, 1907-08, draftsman Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, and later assistant to manager of their Allegheny works, 1908-11; assistant master mechanic Ansonia (Conn.) Brass and Copper branch of American Brass Company 1911-15; with Torrington Manufacturing Company, designers and builders of special machinery, 1915-44 (secretary and superintendent 1915-20 and president 1920-44); warden Borough of Torrington 1918-22 (member committee which drafted City Charter adopted 1923), deputy judge Torrington City Court 1939–44; on Torrington Board of Education 1922-39; chairman Republican Town Committee 1924-31; member from thirtieth district Republican State Central Committee 1926-30; on State Board of Voting Machine Commissioners 1929–31; vice-president Torrington Chamber of Commerce, 1925; an incorporator and vice-president Torrington Historical Society 1944; chairman Twenty-five year Class reunion committee and on Thirty-year reunion committee, member National Association of Manufacturers (chairman subcommittee on wage and salary administration 1944), State Association of Manufacturers, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Torrington.

Married November 20, 1918, in New York City, Margaret Cloyes, daughter of Charles Cloyes and Margaret (Collins) Haight. Children: Sally Haight, the wife of Kingsley William French (B.S. Trinity Coll. [Conn.] 1937), and John Francis Ellis, A U.S. (Williams Coll. ex-'45).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Torrington Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and two sisters, Edmonia E Thursfield (diploma Columbia Univ 1911), the wife of Robert B. Thursfield of Waterbury and Mrs. Burton H. Morrison of Torrington.

Wallace Seymour Brinsmade, Ph.B. 1908.

Born January 10, 1886, in Shelton, Conn. Died August 11, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Daniel S Brinsmade, '70 S Mother, Jennette S. (Pardee) Brinsmade Yale relatives include two cousins, C. Alice Brewster (School of Music 1900–01) and James B. Brinsmade, '06.

Traveled in Europe 1908–09; associated with Secor Typewriter Company, Derby, Conn., 1909–10, Gotschell Manufacturing Company, Toledo, Ohio, 1910–12, and The Texas Company, petroleum products, 1912–19 (sales manager Philadelphia motor oil campaign 1914–15 and New Haven County manager 1915–19); engaged in investment business, New Haven, 1919–42 (associated with Investors Syndicate 1927–28 and 1938–42), with Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, 1942–44; member Congregational church.

Married October 3, 1909, in East Orange, N.J., Carolyn Gertrude, daughter of Maurice and Elizabeth (Schmidt) Mendles. Children: Jennette Elizabeth (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1930–33), the wife of George Lorant Lam (B.A. Bowdoin Coll. 1931; M.A. Cornell 1933, Ph.D. 1938); and Daniel Seymour (B.E. 1937, D.Eng. 1942).

Death due to acute cardiac failure. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Shelton Survived by wife, children, one grandson, two sisters, Mrs Carolyn Brinsmade Singler and Mrs John Dewig, both of Los Angeles, and a brother, Daniel E. Brinsmade, '96 S.

John Mayhew Baldwin, Ph.B. 1909.

Born October 21, 1888, in New London, Conn. Died November 19, 1944, in Houston, Texas.

Father, John Crane Baldwin, a pharmacist in New London Mother, Miriam Elizabeth (Pease) Baldwin; daughter of Emily (Higgins) Pease of Massachusetts.

Torrington (Conn.) High School. Civil engineering course; honors for excellence in all studies of the Junior year, general two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year; shared prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year.

In engineering department The Texas Company, petroleum products, Houston, 1909–14, and with its subsidiary The Texas Pipe Line Company 1915–19 at Houston and later in northern Texas; associated with William A. Wilson Company, real estate and building, Houston, 1914; assistant chief engineer and later chief engineer Louisiana Oil Refining Corporation, Shreveport, La, 1920–26; with Humble Oil Company and The Texas Company until retirement because of ill-health, member Woodland Presbyterian Church, Houston.

Married September 2, 1914, in Dallas, Adah Lois, daughter of Thomas and Mary Elizabeth (Arnett) Kenan. Children. John William (Trinity Univ 1934–35) and Lois Elizabeth (Rice Inst 1939–40), the wife of Orville Winn Rote, Jr. (Agricultural and Mechanical Coll. of Texas ex-'46)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Forest Park Cemetery, Houston. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

William Blake Earnshaw, Ph.B. 1909.

Born January 7, 1887, in St. Louis, Mo. Died May 22, 1945, in Dayton, Ohio.

Father, William Blake Earnshaw, president Dayton Malleable Iron Company; son of Chaplain William Earnshaw and Margaret Earnshaw of Dayton. Mother, Sarah (Stockstill) Earnshaw; daughter of James and Josephine (Pease) Stockstill of Dayton. Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward T. Gardner, Jr., '35 S.

Steele High School, Dayton, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Mechanical engineering course; Freshman Football Team; Cap and Gown Committee; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Employed in Dayton 1909 until retirement 1942, engaged in sales and engineering research Dayton Malleable Iron Company 1909–16, engineer Dayton Metal Products Company 1916–18, research engineer General Motors Research Division of General Motors Corporation 1918–29 and Chrysler Corporation 1929–33, and consultant research engineer Duriron Company 1933–34; consulting engineer 1934–42, member Society of Automotive Engineers, Dayton Engineers Club, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Dayton

Married March 21, 1914, in Dayton, Catherine Van Auken, daughter of Howard and Florence Woodruff (Myers) Friend Children. Edith Louise, the wife of James Hemenway Gates, and Lillian Jane, the wife of J Frederic Gagel, '34 S

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Dayton. Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Edward Tytus Gardner of Dayton, and a brother, James Douglas Earnshaw (Williams Coll. ex-'21) of Dayton.

Charles Edwin Lockhart, Ph.B. 1909.

Born September 6, 1883, in Greenwich, Conn. Died December 25, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John Lockhart, associated with Abendroth Foundry, Port Chester, N.Y.; son of John and Jane (Funston) Lockhart of Greenwich. Mother, Nellie (Howard) Lockhart; daughter of Patrick and Susannah (Lunny) Howard of Greenwich.

Greenwich High School Select course; member Book and Bond.

Special agent for Connecticut, U.S. Department of Commerce and Labor, 1909–10, taught mathematics and science Branford (Conn.) High School 1911-12; associated with New Haven public school system 1912-44 (instructor in elementary science New Haven High School 1912-17 and Commercial High School 1920-34; principal Lovell School 1934-36, Prince Street School 1936-41, and Woodward School 1941-44); enlisted as private, 10th Militia Field Artillery, Connecticut National Guard, November 15, 1915; first sergeant Headquarters Company of Yale Batteries at Tobyhanna 1916; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Machine Gun Company, 2d Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, and called into federal service April 10, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant, Infantry, and assigned to Company E, 102d Regiment, 51st Brigade, 26th Division; graduated from General Service Schools, Fort Leavenworth, June 13, 1917; overseas September 22, 1917-June, 1918, wounded at Seicheprey in April, 1918, attended First Corps School, Gondrecourt, France; promoted Captain August 30, 1918, instructor Camp Pike June-December, 1918; awarded the Silver Star and Croix de Guerre with Gold Star 1918; cited by division and brigade commanders; recommended for Distinguished Service Cross; discharged December 16, 1918; commissioned Captain, Officers Reserve Corps, 417th Infantry, January 13, 1919, promoted Major August 2, 1923, and Lieutenant Colonel February 11, 1926; enlisted as private, Governor's Foot Guard, March 3, 1919 (commissioned Captain), adjutant 1926–30, and major commandant 1930–38; retired with rank of Colonel of Infantry January 5, 1938; awarded twenty-five year service medal in 1944; commander Company B, 169th Infantry, Connecticut National Guard, 1921–22 and of United States Centennial Legion 1933-34; Lieutenant Colonel commanding 6th Battalion, 8th Infantry,

Connecticut State Guard, 1941–44; honorary member Kentish Guard, United Train of Artillery, First Light Infantry Veterans of Rhode Island and Police Veterans Association of Philadelphia; appointed to the Veterans' Home Commission of the State of Connecticut 1937 (treasurer 1939, on executive and farm committees 1939–41); secretary Class of 1909 S. from 1920 to 1924 and vice-president 1934–39; member Veterans of Foreign Wars (commander Harold L. Hemingway Post 1935–36; department commander and chairman National Defense Committee 1938–39), American Legion (commander Post 47 during 1920 and 1921, member executive committee 1921–24), New Haven Teachers League (first vice-president 1933–34), Connecticut Elementary Principals Association, Connecticut State Teachers Association, Masonic order, and Church of the Epiphany (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married April 13, 1910, in Plantsville, Conn., Grace Mary, daughter of Emery Watrous and Louise (Erbe) Doolittle. Son Thomas Howard (grad. Parks Air Coll. 1931).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Stanwich Cemetery, Greenwich Survived by wife, son, one grandchild, two sisters, Mrs. Fred Holly of Greenwich and Susan L Terrill, the wife of Arthur P. Terrill, '08 S, and three brothers, Howard William Lockhart of St. Joseph, Mo., John William Lockhart of Greenwich, and Joseph A. Lockhart, '11 L.

Haines Rennyson Merritt, Ph.B. 1909.

Born February 11, 1887, in East Aurora, N.Y. Died September 29, 1944, in Buffalo, NY

Father, Charles Wesley Merritt (B.A. Hamilton Coll. 1866, M A 1872, LL.B. 1875), a lawyer in East Aurora; principal East Aurora Academy; son of Wilson and Jane (Wesley) Merritt of King Ferry, N.Y. Mother, Anna Mary (Riley) Merritt, daughter of Aaron and Margaret Riley of East Aurora. Yale relatives include a brother, Aaron R. Merritt, '05.

East Aurora High School; attended University of Michigan 1905--06. Forestry course; Freshman Tennis and Soccer teams; degree awarded in 1910 with enrollment in Class of 1909 S.

Associated with Townsend & Fleming, landscape gardeners, Buffalo and Cleveland, 1910–11; owner Green Top Farm, East Aurora, 1910–44 and associated with various firms in East Aurora (secretary and treasurer Griggs & Ball Company, coal, feed, fertilizer, and mason's materials, 1917–24 and vice-president 1924–44; partner East Aurora Gravel & Excavating Company 1925–27; secretary Cefali-Hall Construction Company 1931–33); member East Aurora Board of Trade, Masonic order, and First Presbyterian Church, East Aurora.

Married November 16, 1910, in Orchard Park, N.Y., Adaline Grace, daughter of George and Emma (Austin) Neher. Children Haines Rennyson, Jr., '39, and Jane.

Death due to pulmonary infarction. Ashes interred in East Aurora.

Survived by wife, children, and a granddaughter.

Earle Hay Reynolds, Ph.B. 1909.

Born May 13, 1887, in Hastings, Nebr. Died November 3, 1944, in Santa Monica, Calif.

Father, George McClelland Reynolds, chairman of the board Continental Illinois Bank and Trust Company, Chicago; president American Bankers Association 1909; chairman National Credit Corporation 1933; son of Elijah Jackson and Eliza (Anderson) Reynolds of Panora, Iowa. Mother, Elizabeth (Hay) Reynolds; daughter of George R. M. and Elizabeth A. (Turner) Hay of Panora

Lawrenceville (N J.) School Select course; Freshman Track Team;

University Track Squad, member York Hall and Chi Phi.

An organizer Peoples Trust and Savings Bank, assistant cashier 1910–13, cashier 1913–15, president 1915–32; became president Chicago Clearing House and National Air Transport, Inc, in 1928; affiliated with Watrola Southwest Sales Corporation, San Pedro, Calif.; commissioned Captain, Engineers, Officers Reserve Corps, October 6, 1917; served in Engineers Corps October 6, 1917–April, 1918, and in Transportation Corps April, 1918–February 9, 1919, promoted Major, Transportation Corps, November 8, 1918, overseas October 9, 1918–February 7, 1919; awarded French certificate, Order of University Palms, Grade of Officier d'Académie, discharged February 11, 1919; on executive committee United States Polo Association, director Yale Scholarship Trust and Yale Club of Chicago; member Yale Engineering Association

Married January 20, 1915, in St. Louis, Mary, daughter of Charles White Scudder. No children. Mrs. Reynolds died November 14, 1939.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif Survived by no immediate relatives.

Berthold Francis Hastings, Ph.B. 1910.

Born October 20, 1888, in Brooklyn, NY. Died August 11, 1944, in Upper Darby, Pa.

Father, Joel Wallace Hastings, associated with Howland Dry Goods Company, Bridgeport, Conn.; son of Frank Wallace and Mary (Daly) Hastings of Nyack, NY Mother, Esther (Lowenthal) Hastings; daughter of Jacob and Amalia (Baer) Lowenthal of Elberfeld, Germany

Bridgeport High School. Mining engineering course; general twoyear honors for excellence in all studies Senior year Attended Yale Graduate School 1910–12 (M E 1912).

Instructor in civil engineering University of Pennsylvania 1913–14, taught mathematics Bridgeport High School 1914–16, assistant to Professor Kirkham, Iowa State College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts, about 1917; designer and estimator Porcupine Steel Company, Bridgeport, 1917–19; designing structural engineer with H. G. Balcom, consulting engineer, New York City, 1919–21 and 1924, with Warren & Wetmore, engineers, Pittsburgh, 1921–23; assistant professor of construction, Department of Architecture, Carnegie Institute of Technology, 1922–24, associate professor 1924–28; Pittsburgh representative Janssen & Cocken, engineers, New York City, 1927–28; with U.S. Reclamation Service; district engineer American Institute of Steel Construction, Inc., New York City, 1928–44; member American Society of Civil Engineers (vice-president Philadelphia section 1934–36, president 1936–37) and St. Faith's Church (Episcopal), Brookline, Pa.

Married September 15, 1913, in Bridgeport, Loretta Mary, daughter of Patrick and Mary Buckley. Children Edith Virginia, Joan Margaret (died July 19, 1939), and Frank Wallace Mrs Hastings died May 10, 1940

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Nyack Survived by one daughter, son, father, three sisters, Mrs Clarence Kleckner of Bridgeport, Mrs. Mae H Charters of Nyack, and Mrs Howard A Dibble of West Hartford, Conn, and a brother, Frank Wallace Hastings (B.S. Univ. Connecticut 1915) of San Diego, Calif

John Lautz, Ph.B. 1910.

Born March 3, 1888, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died September 16, 1944, in New York City

Father, Martin Frederick Lautz, a manufacturer in Buffalo, son of William and Frances Elizabeth (Hiemenz) Lautz of Buffalo Mother, Elizabeth Marie (Bank) Lautz; daughter of Rev John Bank and Elizabeth Pauline Catharine (Grell) Bank of Buffalo

Fosdick-Masten Park High School, Buffalo, attended Colgate University 1906–08. Entered Yale Junior year, forestry course.

Engaged in farming in Flemington, NJ, 1910–11, salesman Fulper Pottery Company, Flemington, 1911–12; clerk Cuban department, and later in outward freight department, Munson Steamship Lines, New York City, 1912–18, enlisted as private, Tank Corps, U.S. Army, March 29, 1918; with Company A, 326th Battalion, at Camp Colt; commissioned

Second Lieutenant August 26, 1918; in charge of recruiting for Tank Corps in western and central New York; discharged December 13, 1918; assistant freight superintendent Army Base, Bush Terminal, Brooklyn, 1919, in charge steamship department Ichabod T. Williams Lumber Company (later Ichabod T Williams & Sons), dealers in mahogany, New York City, 1918–29; salesman Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company 1929–30; assistant manager receiving department R. H. Macy & Company, New York City, 1930–39; inventory checker and later principal inventory surveyor, Procurement Division, U.S Maritime Commission and War Shipping Administration, New York City, 1939–44; member Delta Epsilon and Episcopal church.

Married July 14, 1910, in Syracuse, N.Y, Laura Lyon Tobin (Syracuse Univ ex-'11), daughter of William Nicholas and Teresa Frances (Lyon) Tobin Children: Laura (died in infancy), John Peter (B S. New York

Univ. 1938), and William, '40 S.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Gate of Heaven Cemetery, Hawthorne, N.Y Survived by wife, sons, and a brother, Martin William Lautz (Princeton ex-'08; Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1907-08) of Bethlehem, Pa.

Charles Kindness Moore, Ph.B. 1911.

Born October 22, 1888, in Lockport, Ill Died May 3, 1945, in Glendale, Calif.

Father, Birney J Moore, associated with Cable Piano Company, Chicago, son of Orrin and Harriet (Hayes) Moore of Southwick, Mass. Mother, Julia Katherine (de Clercq) Moore (B A Vassar Coll. 1869).

Evanston (Ill) High School and Phillips-Andover Select course; Freshman Baseball Team, College baseball team and winner University tennis championship Junior year; member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma

Kappa

Rancher in Elsinore, Calif, 1913–14; furniture salesman in Los Angeles 1914; in credit department White House, a department store in San Francisco, 1915–16, engaged in insurance business in Los Angeles 1916–17 and 1919–45 (agent St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company 1919–23, and American Central Insurance Company, Royal Exchange Assurance Company, Ltd, and Lloyd's 1923–25; surveyor and special hazard inspector Board of Fire Underwriters of the Pacific 1925–45); enlisted as private 23d Machine Gun Company, National Army, August 28, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Camp Hancock, September–December, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, and discharged December 10, 1918.

Married (1) July 21, 1914, in Hollywood, Florence Muriel, daughter

of Thomas Travis Greaves. Son: Charles Thomas Married (2) August 16, 1921, in Kingman, Ariz., Etta Campbell Requa Mrs Moore is deceased. Married (3) July 17, 1938, in Los Angeles, Myrna Helen Briggs McGrew, daughter of Henry and Mattie (Shepler) Briggs

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale. Survived by wife, son, and a stepson, Homer L McGrew

Gustave Adolph Reiman, Ph.B. 1911.

Born December 27, 1890, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 3, 1944, in Rockford, Ill.

Father, Conrad Frederick Reiman, a toolmaker in Ansonia, Conn; son of Conrad and Mary (Perrie) Reiman of East Prussia, Germany Mother, Anna (Popp) Reiman; daughter of Gustave and Katharine Popp of Munich, Germany.

Seymour (Conn) High School. Mechanical engineering course, member Alpha Sigma Phi.

With Seymour Manufacturing Company 1911–12, employed in Sheboygan, Wis., 1912–40; engaged in special industrial work and advertising for Kohler Company 1912–16; assistant superintendent of production Crocker Chair Company 1916–18, assistant sales manager 1918–20, and sales manager and treasurer 1920–31; factory manager Northern Furniture Company 1931–40, personnel manager and assistant factory manager National Lock Company, Rockford, 1940–44; member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Sheboygan (trustee, and president of the board 1938).

Married (1) November 9, 1916, in Sheboygan, Marian Sarah, daughter of Charles Frank and Anne (Crocker) Brigham. Children Katherine Anne (B S Univ. Wisconsin 1941), the wife of Jay Riley Best (B S Univ Wisconsin 1941); Elouise (Univ Wisconsin ex-'45), the wife of Robert DeWitt Remington; and Marian Sarah (B.A Beloit Coll 1946). Mrs. Reiman died December 23, 1923 Married (2) October 15, 1928, in Chicago, Agnes, daughter of Torris and Helena (Kjelson) Torrison

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Wildwood Cemetery, Sheboygan. Survived by wife, daughters, and two grandchildren

Richard Wrenshall, Ph.B. 1911.

Born May 30, 1889, in Edgeworth, Pa. Died September 2, 1944, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Richard Cowan Wrenshall; son of John Fletcher and Mary Anne (Cowan) Wrenshall of Philadelphia Mother, Myra Clark (McCleery) Wrenshall, daughter of Samuel and Sarah Margretta (Sheets) McCleery of Pittsburgh

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Metallurgy course; honors for excellence in all studies of the Freshman year; two-year honors in metallurgy Junior year and three-year honors Senior year; member Book and Bond.

Chemist National Tube Company, McKeesport, Pa., 1911–12, attended Yale Graduate School 1912-15 (Ph D. 1915; member Sigma X1; laboratory assistant in chemistry 1912-14) and Yale School of Medicine 1925-26 (member Nu Sigma Nu); instructor in chemistry Yale University 1915-16, chief chemist Sterling Varnish Company, Pittsburgh, 1916 and vice-president 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg; enlisted as private, Ordnance Department, September 25, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant December 18, 1917; assigned to tank and tractor division, Washington, promoted Captain November 1, 1918; commissioned Major, Ordnance Reserve, and discharged April 15, 1919; associate professor of chemistry University of Hawaii 1919 until retirement 1932 and on research staff 1932-33; president and consulting chemist Automotive & Chemical Associates, Ltd., 1933-44; with Arthur L. Dean (Ph D. 1902), developed chaulmoogric acid in combination with an inorganic acid group for treatment of leprosy; author. "Synthesis of a-amino-δphenyl-valerianic acid" and articles on chaulmoogra oil derivatives; chemist Territorial Board of Health 1921-31; consulting chemist U.S. Public Health Service 1923-31; member American Legion, Masonic order, Yale Alumni Association of Hawaii, and Presbyterian church, Honolulu.

Married (1) January 28, 1919, in Alexandria, Va., Erla, daughter of John Ellsworth and Ada Kempfer. Daughter: Virginia Jeanne, the wife of Forrest Risk Jackson. Mr. and Mrs Wrenshall were divorced. Married (2) July 16, 1934, in Honolulu, Ruth Park.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Ashes to be interred in Sewickley (Pa.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, and two grandsons.

George Galt Bourne, Ph.B. 1912.

Born February 19, 1888, in New York City. Died May 1, 1945, in Miami Beach, Fla.

Father, Frederick Gilbert Bourne of Oakdale, N.Y.; president Singer Sewing Machine Company, commodore New York Yacht Club 1902-05. Mother, Emma (Keeler) Bourne.

Pomfret (Conn) School and Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn. Select course; vice-president Freshman Baseball Association Junior year; cap-

tain '11 S. Class hockey team Junior year; cup man; member University Club.

Treasurer Clough-Bourne Corporation, building and construction, New York City, and vice-president; special partner Talcott, Potter & Company, brokers, New York City, 1932 until retirement about 1933; since retirement had resided in Florida; member St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married (1) January 1, 1913, Helen Cole, daughter of Charles E. Whitney. Daughter: Helen Whitney (Mrs. Whitney Bourne) Mr and Mrs. Bourne were divorced in 1924. Married (2) October 1, 1926, in New York City, Nancy Atterbury, daughter of Eliphalet Nott Potter, Jr., and Josephine (Atterbury) Potter. Mr and Mrs Bourne were divorced in 1934.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Brooklyn, NY. Survived by daughter, four sisters, Mrs. Robert G. Elbert of Aiken, SC, Mrs Ralph B. Strassburger and Mrs. Alexander D. Thayer, both of Gwynedd Valley, Pa., and Florence B. Deans, the wife of Robert B Deans, '18, and two brothers, Arthur K. Bourne of Gwynedd Valley, and Alfred S Bourne, ex-'06 S.

Abel George Cugell, Ph.B. 1912.

Born April 2, 1893, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 29, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, William Cugell, member Dorman & Cugell, hardware and paints, New Haven; son of George Louis and Anna (Lieberman) Cugell of Russia. Mother, Fania (Dinerstein) Cugell, daughter of Simon and Ethel (Rohmer) Dinerstein of Russia. Yale relatives include: Louis F Adelman, '06 L., Samuel B. Rosenbaum, '07 S., and Harris Rosenbaum, '08 S. (cousins); and Edward P. Rosenbaum, '37, and David Rosenbaum (Class of 1947) (nephews).

New Haven High School. Sanitary engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies of the Junior year.

Associated with Irvin & Witherow, construction engineers, Pittsburgh, 1913–14; taught mathematics Rosenbaum Tutoring School, New Haven, 1914–17 and 1919–44 and The Milford School 1919–32; agent for New York Life Insurance Company, New York City and New Haven, 1919–32; private Infantry, U.S. Army, stationed at Fort Devens, November 23, 1917–June, 1918; attended Officer Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August, 1918; stationed with 58th Field Artillery at Camp Jackson until discharged December 23, 1918; on Class executive and Thirty-year reunion committees; director National School of Adult Education, New York City, 1943–44; member Yale Alumni Association of New Haven

Married September 19, 1917, in New Haven, Rose, daughter of Samuel and Anna Mary (Jelin) Weiss. Son David Wolf, Class of 1945 S.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, son, three sisters, Miss Ethel Cugell of New York City, Anna, the wife of Harris Rosenbaum, '08 S., and Bess, the wife of Samuel A. Persky, ex-'08 L., and a brother, Simeon Cugell, ex-'07 Spec.L.

David Edwin Kydd, Ph.B. 1912.

Born November 1, 1890, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 27, 1944, in New Castle, N.H.

Father, David Kydd, a florist in New Haven; son of David and Elizabeth (Salmond) Kydd of New Haven. Mother, Matilda (Wright) Kydd; daughter of William and Eliza (Parks) Wright of Londonderry, Ireland.

New Haven High School. Forestry course.

Associated with Standard Oil Company of New York as territorial manager in Shasi, Shanghai, Ching-kiang, and Chungking, China, 1912–28; with Shell Eastern Petroleum Products, Inc., New York City, 1928–34; associated with a curio shop in Marshfield, Mass., 1934–36; sales and merchandise manager Little Tree Farms, Framingham, Mass., 1936–38; marine engineer Portsmouth (N.H.) Navy Yard 1938–44; vice-president American Red Cross Association, Chengtu, China, 1918; member American Asiatic Association, American Association of China, Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married (1) in China, Ann Eagleston. Children: David Edwin, 3d, and Patricia Ann. Mr. and Mrs. Kydd were divorced. Married (2) February 5, 1925, in Boston, Mass., Ann, daughter of Arthur Wellman Tredick.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, New Castle. Survived by wife, children, father, a sister, Mrs. Elizabeth K. Marquardt of West Haven, Conn., and a brother, George Wright Kydd of Washington, D.C.

John Joseph Tucker, Ph.B. 1912.

Born November 4, 1886, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 27, 1945, in Providence, RI.

Father, John Tucker, owner Tucker's Livery & Express, New Haven; son of John and Margaret (Shinnick) Tucker of Cork, Ireland. Mother, Mary Della (Kinney) Tucker; daughter of Patrick and Bridget (White) Kinney of Galway, Ireland.

New Haven High School. Civil engineering course.

In engineering department New York, New Haven & Hartford Rail-

road Company 1912; associated with J. W. Bishop Company, construction engineers, Worcester, Mass., 1912–17 (superintendent of construction 1914–17); inducted into National Army October 4, 1917, assigned to Topographic Division, Intelligence Section, Company A, 29th Regiment, Corps of Engineers; overseas October, 1917–December, 1918, promoted lance corporal December, 1917, and sergeant March, 1918, took examinations for Reserve Officers Engineer Corps and commissioned Second Lieutenant June 24, 1918; assistant to Engineer Officer in charge of construction Advance Section, Service of Supply; discharged January 13, 1919; member Mahoney & Tucker, construction engineers, Providence, 1919–28; president and treasurer Tucker Construction Company, Inc., 1928–36; president Pneumatic Concrete Corporation 1936–44, member Providence Engineering Society, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Legion, and St. Pius Church (Roman Catholic), Providence.

Married October 6, 1924, in Amsterdam, NY, Anna Rose, daughter of Robert Francis and Margaret Therese Owens. No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in St. Ann's Cemetery, Cranston, R.I. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Margaret Anne Tucker of New Haven, and a brother, Walter Dominick Tucker, of New Haven.

Frederick Hansson, Ph.B. 1913.

Born October 14, 1892, in New York City. Died December 13, 1944, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Frederick Hansson, a cigar maker with F. D. Grave & Son, New Haven, Conn; son of Hans Hansson of Sweden Mother, Anna Maria (Lindblum) Hansson; daughter of Carl Lindblum of Sweden.

New Haven High School. Select course.

Manager Sampling Works, Idaho Springs and Georgetown, Colo., 1913–15; mine chemist, and assayer Yak Tunnel, Leadville, Colo, 1915–17; commercial chemist International Smelting Company, Toole, Utah, 1918–21; assistant chemist Hawaiian Sugar Planters Association Experiment Station, Honolulu, 1921–37 and assistant sugar technologist 1937–44; member Honolulu Business Men's Training Corps, Masonic order, and Swedish Lutheran Church, Leadville

Married (1) June 11, 1916, in Leadville, Blanche Bertie, daughter of Otto and Emma Magdalene (Puttkamer) Swanson Daughter: Josephine Blanche. Mrs. Hansson died March 9, 1937 Married (2) April 12, 1939, in Honolulu, Florence Kaiulani, daughter of William Everett and Florence Amy (Roe) Devereux.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Nuuanu Cemetery, Honolulu. Survived by wife, daughter, and a brother, Benjamin Hansson of Torrington, Conn.

Kenneth Fletcher Lees, Ph.B. 1913.

Born June 30, 1892, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 18, 1945, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, John Horsfall Lees, superintendent Griffin Button Company, Shelton, Conn; son of John and Mary Ann (Cooper) Lees of New Haven. Mother, Mary Isabel (Fletcher) Lees; daughter of John and Eliza (Mawn) Fletcher of New Haven.

Ferry School, Shelton; attended Worcester Polytechnic Institute 1909– 11 Entered Sheffield Scientific School Junior year, mechanical engineering course; member Sigma Xi.

Associated with Greist Manufacturing Company, mechanical specialties, New Haven, 1913–22 (foreman 1913–14, chief engineer 1914–15; organized and managed sub-plant at Xenia, Ohio, to complete a Russian fuse contract, 1916; assistant manager and later contract sales manager and manufacturing engineer 1917–22); founder and owner K. F. Lees Company, manufacturers of mechanical and electrical devices, New Haven, 1922–27 and New York City 1927–45; vice-president and treasurer Olympic Industrial Corporation, developers of new products, New York City, 1933–36, member American Society of Mechanical Engineers and St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Noroton, Conn.

Married June 12, 1923, in New York City, Gwendoline, daughter of Robert and Fanny (Poole) Roberts. No children

Death due to cardiac decompensation Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife

Dennis Bernard Martin, Ph.B. 1913.

Born May 28, 1890, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 3, 1945, in New York City.

Father, Dennis Bernard Martin, salesman Glaenzer & Company, brushes, New York City, and Paris, France, son of Dennis Bernard and Agnes (Lafferty) Martin of Pawtucket, R.I. Mother, Jane (Welply) Martin; daughter of Daniel and Katherine (O'Flaherty) Welply of New Haven.

New Haven High School. Select course

Salesman Warner-Miller Company, wholesale building materials, New Haven, 1913–15; special agent Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, New Haven, and Gardner and Springfield, Mass, 1915–30; associated with Ellis-Milley, Inc, investment securities, New Rochelle, N.Y, 1930–33 (successively district manager Stamford, Conn, manager New Rochelle office, and vice-president and promotion manager); independent broker in New York City 1933–35 and Boston 1935–37; associated with Swan

Certificates Corporation, New York City, 1937–38, salesman Richardson & Campbell, brokers, New York City, 1938–40 and Babson Reports, Inc, statisticians, New York City, 1940–42, estimation engineer and salesman home insulation division, Johns Manville Company, Hollis, NY, 1942–45; appointed Chief Petty Officer, U.S. Naval Reserve Flying Corps, July 29, 1918; stationed with Naval Aviation Detachment, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, October 8–December 5, 1918, member Church of the Incarnation (Roman Catholic), Bellaire, N.Y.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by mother and two sisters, the Misses Alice Mercedes and Frances Gertrude Martin, both of Bellaire.

Michael Gavin Carter, Ph.B. 1914.

Born October 9, 1890, in Memphis, Tenn. Died November 5, 1944, in Memphis, Tenn.

Father, Matthew Edward Carter, president M E Carter & Company, wholesale produce, Memphis; son of Thomas William and Ellen (Dunn) Carter of Memphis. Mother, Mary (Gavin) Carter, daughter of Michael and Mary (Turner) Gavin of Memphis. Yale relatives include Michael Gavin, '95 (uncle); and Matthew C Stovall (Class of 1947 March) (nephew).

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School. Electrical engineering course; Sheff Student Council and Undergraduate Discipline Committee Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee; a Class book historian, treasurer Yale branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Associated with Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1914–15 and Norton, Lilly & Company, steamship brokers and agents, New York City, 1915–17; engaged in raising cotton in Lake View, Miss, 1920–31; because of ill-health had not been actively engaged in business since about 1931; enlisted as sergeant, Air Service, April 28, 1917, received flying training in Memphis, and Ashburn and Rantoul, Ill; commissioned First Lieutenant (pilot), Air Service, October 6, 1917, overseas November 14, 1917–March 9, 1919; stationed at Winchester, England, and Tours, Orly, St-Nazaire, and St-Maixent, France, discharged March 28, 1919; member Roman Catholic church

Married January 31, 1925, in Memphis, Alice Bremer, daughter of John Frayser and Alice Anna (Bruce) Holst. No children

Death due to hypertensive heart disease. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Memphis. Survived by wife and two sisters, Miss Anne Carter of Memphis, and Eleanor C. Stovall, the wife of William H Stovall, '16 S, of Stovall, Miss.

Sidney Wilfred Edmonds, Ph.B. 1914.

Born January 14, 1892, in Boston, Mass. Died July 24, 1944, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, Samuel Charles Edmonds, lithographic artist, Forbes Manufacturing Company, Boston; son of John Thomas and Elizabeth (Darby) Edmonds of London, England. Mother, Leota Augusta (Coxe) Edmonds; daughter of Capt Frederick James Coxe and Sarah Anne (Whitney) Coxe of New York City

High School of Commerce, Boston; attended Massachusetts State College 1910–11 Entered Sheffield Scientific School with the Class. Select course

Associated with United States Rubber Company 1914-17, 1919-21, and 1929-34 (in general European office, London, 1916-17; engineer, New Haven, Conn, 1919-20; general foreman of the subsidiary National India Rubber Company, Bristol, RI, 1920-21; in Naugatuck, Conn, 1929-34), superintendent College Point (N.Y.) plant Beacon Falls Rubber Shoe Company 1921-24; attended New York Law School 1924-27 (LL.B. 1927), in law office Kellogg, Street & Adikes, Jamaica, NY, 1927-29 and legal department Fisk Rubber Corporation, Chicopee Falls, Mass, 1934–39; unoccupied 1940–42; priorities specialist War Production Board, Springfield, Mass, 1942-44; enlisted in U.S. Army, Chaumont, France, October 18, 1917; contract clerk, Motor Transport Corps; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, June 15, 1918, promoted First Lieutenant October 13, 1918, and Captain February 13, 1919, office director, Motor Transfer Service, Tours, France, cited for meritorious service April 19, 1919, discharged July 30, 1919; member Massachusetts and New York State Bar associations.

Married May 21, 1923, in Whitman, Mass, Madeleine Charlotte Thompson (B A. Smith Coll 1913), daughter of James Albert Thompson and Grace Alton (Perry) Thompson No children.

Death due to acute peritonitis Buried in Colebrook Cemetery, Whitman. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Lillian Edmonds of Roslindale, Mass, and two brothers, Reginald Whitney Edmonds (BS Massachusetts Inst Technology 1922) of Pachuca, Mexico, and Louis Edmonds of Oklahoma City, Okla.

Charles James Kittredge, Ph.B. 1915.

Born March 15, 1893, in Dalton, Mass. Died December 13, 1944, in Dalton, Mass.

Father, Henry Plunkett Kittredge, associated with Z. & W. M. Crane, Inc, paper manufacturers, Dalton; son of Charles James and Frances

(Birchard) Kittredge of Hinsdale, Conn Mother, Lucinda Brewer (Crane) Kittredge; daughter of Zenas Marshall and Caroline Elizabeth (Laflin) Crane. Yale relatives include. Z. Marshall Crane, '00, Charles K Crane, '03 S., Winthrop M. Crane, Jr, '04, Frederick G. Crane, '19, and Bruce Crane, '31 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Honors for excellence in all studies Freshman year; two-year honors in mechanical engineering Junior year and three-year honors Senior year; Freshman Crew Squad, on Sheff Student Council and Class book historian Senior year, member student branch American Society of Mechanical Engineers and Sigma Xi

Employed by Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, Conn, 1915–17; in charge cost accounting Crane & Company, Inc, writing paper manufacturers, Dalton, 1919–44 (assistant treasurer 1940–44), enlisted as private, U.S. Army, May 15, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg; commissioned First Lieutenant, Engineers, August 15, 1917, promoted Captain November 1, 1918, received further training at American University, Washington, and Belvoir, Va; assigned to 301st Engineers, overseas June, 1918–June, 1919; with Army of Occupation in Germany; discharged July 1, 1919, trustee Dalton Public Library 1936–44; treasurer Berkshire Museum, Dalton, 1937–44; chairman Berkshire County chapter American Red Cross 1939–44, water commissioner Town of Dalton 1942–44; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Berkshire County 1921–22, president 1922–23, and member executive committee; member Massachusetts Forestry Advisory Committee and Dalton Congregational Church (treasurer 1934–44)

Married June 12, 1920, in Pittsfield, Mass, Elizabeth Colt, daughter of Frank Wood and Florence Gilbert (Colt) Dutton Sons. Charles James, Jr., '43, US.NR., Gilbert Dutton (Class of 1947 Nov. E.), USNR., John, and Frank Dutton.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Main Street Cemetery, Dalton. Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Mrs. Julia Kittredge Gregory of Amherst, Mass.

Gustav Hermann Lentz, Ph.B. 1915.

Born December 3, 1894, in Catonsville, Md Died January 3, 1945, in Upper Darby Township, Pa

Father, Friedrich Lentz, a banker and broker; member Middendorf, Williams & Company, Baltimore, Md; son of Andreas and Anna (Ficus) Lentz of Frankfurt-am-Main, Germany. Mother, Paula (Gieske) Lentz, daughter of Gustav and Auguste (Driver) Gieske of Catonsville.

Catonsville High School and Baltimore Polytechnic Institute Forestry

course; honors for excellence in all studies of the Freshman year. Attended

Yale School of Forestry 1915-17 (MF. 1917).

Engaged in mapping and estimating in Oregon for U.S Forest Service summer 1916 and estimating and surveying for J. L. Roper Lumber Company, New Bern, NC, summer 1917, enlisted as sergeant (1st class) Company F, 10th Engineers, Fort Slocum, August 4, 1917; transferred to American University, Washington, overseas September 10, 1917-February 8, 1919; discharged March 8, 1919; forester Arden Estates, Harrıman, NY., 1919-20, professor of forestry New York State Ranger School, 1920-23, professor of forest extension and director of summer camp New York State College of Forestry, Syracuse University, 1923-30; associated with U.S. Forest Service 1930-33 and 1936-45 (silviculturist on soil erosion study Southern Forest Experiment Station, New Orleans, 1930-33, senior forester in charge private forest management, Atlanta, 1936-39, assistant regional forester in charge division of state and private forestry and war activities for Region 7, Washington and Philadelphia, 1939-45); chief of watershed protection section Tennessee Valley Authority 1933-36; contributed articles to Journal of Forestry, American Forests, and Forestry News Digest, Forest Service representative on US Department of Agriculture War Board 1942; forestry adviser New York State Land Use Planning Board 1942; senior member Society of American Foresters (vice-chairman Gulf States section 1932-33, chairman 1933-34; member executive committee Allegheny section 1943-44, vicechairman 1944-45); member Cumberland Mountain Forestry Association, Association of Southern Agricultural Workers, and Salem Lutheran Evangelical Church, Catonsville

Married September 1, 1917, in Baltimore, Margaret Suzanne, daughter of Joseph Henry and Maude Andrus (Ostrander) Kummer. Daughters: Margaret Ostrander, the wife of Joseph Samuel Slicer; Mary Augusta; and Elizabeth Suzanne

Death due to rheumatic heart disease. Buried in Lorraine Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, daughters, and a grandson.

Samuel Wright Atkins, Ph.B. 1917.

Born August 21, 1894, in Kaslo, British Columbia. Died April 20, 1945, in New York City.

Father, George Joseph Atkins, a mining engineer in Marietta, Pa.; son of Samuel James and Mary (Gleort) Atkins of Youngstown, Ohio. Mother, Jessie (Wright) Atkins, daughter of Spencer Justin and Sarah Matilda Clark (Lang) Wright of Lancaster, Ohio

Marietta High School and Phillips-Exeter. Mining engineering course; honors in German Freshman year; Freshman Crew; Junior University

Crew two years; University Crew Senior year; Class deacon and chairman deputations committee Sheff Christian Association Junior year, on interfraternity council two years, cup man; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi and Torch Honor Society.

Private Battery A, 10th Field Artillery, Connecticut National Guard, July 31, 1916; entered Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, June 7, 1917, with 302d Field Artillery, Camp Devens, August, 1917-January, 1918, and March-August, 1918; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917; attended School of Fire, Fort Sill, January-March, 1918; overseas August 1, 1918-May 4, 1919; in action St.-Hilaire offensive November 7-11, 1918; discharged May 8, 1919; in trust department New York Trust Company 1919-20, independently engaged in mine examination and management in Mexico 1920–22 and 1926–28, assistant general manager Matthiesson & Hegeler Zinc Company, manufacturers of zinc products, La Salle, Ill, 1922-26; partner Anderson & Fox [Lawrence W., Jr., '17 S.] (later A. O Slaughter, Anderson & Fox), brokers, New York City and San Francisco, 1928–31; president S A. Crawford Liquidating Corporation, New York City, 1931-34, vice-president Martin-Parry Corporation, manufacturers of steel products, York, Pa., 1934-42 and Aetna Sales Corporation, shipbuilding steel manufacturers, New York City, 1942-44; on Sexennial Reunion Committee of the Class, member Yale Engineering Association and All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Bayside, N.Y.

Married January 11, 1922, in Mexico City, Mexico, Consuelo, daughter of Howard Harper and Hermione G Carnes Children. Samuel George and Howard Wright.

Death due to injuries received when hit by a taxicab Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife and sons.

William Baker, Ph.B. 1917.

Born December 22, 1896, in Toledo, Ohio. Died March 3, 1945, in Huntington, NY.

Father, Arthur Ernest Baker (Swarthmore Coll. ex-'79), partner Baker Brothers, Inc., machine tool builders and founders, Toledo; son of William and Frances (Latimer) Baker of Toledo Mother, Daisy Beatrice (Lorenz) Baker; daughter of George E and Martha Jane (Phillips) Lorenz of Toledo. Yale relatives include Ernest M Baker, '03 S, Harold D. Baker, '06 S., Herbert H. Baker, '10, Donald F. Manning, '18, and Rufus B. Manning, ex-'18 (cousins).

Toledo High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Mechanical engineering course; honors in mathematics Junior year; coxswain

Freshman Crew; on publicity committee Sheff Christian Association Senior year, member Yale Naval Training Unit and St. Elmo and Delta Phi

Entered service as machinist's mate (2d class), U.S. Naval Reserve, April 28, 1917, on U.S. Alcalda (SP 630), New London, Conn., April, 1917–March 1, 1918, transferred to Aviation Section May, 1918; attended Ground School, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, May–June, 1918; flying instructor, Naval Training Station, Key West, Fla; commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve Flying Corps, August 1, 1918; released to inactive duty January 14, 1919, associated with Baker Brothers, Inc., 1919–40 (treasurer 1919–26, vice-president 1926–33, president 1934–39); recalled to active duty as Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve, March 15, 1940; stationed in office of Inspector of Naval Matériel, Cleveland, 1940–43; promoted Lieutenant Commander September 15, 1941; in charge local procurement for repairs and alterations, Brooklyn Navy Yard, 1943–45; secretary Northwestern Ohio Yale Alumni Association 1923–24, secretary-treasurer 1925–26, and secretary 1926–27; member First Congregational Church, Toledo.

Married (1) September 17, 1919, in Toledo, Jeannette, daughter of Albert Gallatin and Belle (Granger) Wright. Children: Martha Jane (B.A. Smith Coll. 1943), the wife of Charles L. Willoughby, '43 S., and William, Jr Mr and Mrs Baker were divorced in 1934. Married (2) in February, 1939, in Toledo, Barbara, daughter of Donald E and Dorothy (McKisson) Hiett Children: Boake Hiett and Arthur Ernest, 2d.

Death due to fracture of vertebra from an accidental fall. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo. Survived by wife, children, mother, two sisters, Martha Baker Hayes, the wife of Commodore Webb Cook Hayes, 2d (grad. U.S. Naval Academy 1911) of Fremont, Ohio, and Frances Baker Williams, the wife of Lloyd Thomas Williams (Ph.B. Ohio State Univ 1896, LL B. 1900) of Toledo, and two brothers, Arthur L. Baker, '21 S., and Lieut. Comdr. Gerald V. C. Baker, '28 S.

Tracy Leeds Clarke, Ph.B. 1917.

Born April 2, 1894, in Milford, Conn. Died September 8, 1944, in Larchmont, N.Y.

Father, William Sherman Clarke, postmaster of Milford; son of Elias and Catherine Mary (Clark) Clarke of Milford. Mother, Frances Adelaide (Leeds) Clarke, daughter of John Harris and Frances A. (Hine) Leeds of New Haven, Conn

Mılford Hıgh School. Electrical engineering course; Class baseball team; member Alpha Chi Rho.

Enlisted in Signal Reserve Corps June 6, 1917; called to active duty

1

October 5, 1917; with Company C, 301st Field Signal Battalion, attended Officers Training Camp, Camp Devens, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, June 1, 1918, promoted First Lieutenant November 7, 1918, stationed at Camp Meade, Camp Zachary Taylor, and at Infantry Replacement Camp, Camp Lee; discharged December 15, 1918; sales engineer W. R. Grace Company, importers and exporters, Calcutta, India, 1919–22; with Ingersoll-Rand Company, manufacturers of machinery, New York City, 1923–44 (sales engineer New York City 1923–29, 1932–44, manager Tulsa, Okla., branch 1929–32); member New York Yale Club, Downtown Athletic Club (New York City), Larchmont Shore Club, University Club of Larchmont, and Church of Christ (Congregational), Milford.

Married January 26, 1922, in Louisville, Ky., Mary Jeannette, daughter of Frank John and Genevieve Irene (Hearne) Biehl Children. Mary Arden, the wife of Gerald Schuyler Page (B.A. Cornell Univ. 1941) and Biehl Patrick (Class of 1947 March)

Death due to hemiplegia. Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Russell William Clarke (Union Coll. ex-'24) of Milford.

Michael Louis Chain, Ph.B. 1918.

Born August 20, 1895, in Kovno, Russia. Died May 1, 1945, in Shelton, Conn.

Father, Max Chain, a clothing merchant in New Haven, Conn.; son of Philip Chain of Kovno. Mother, Sarah (Obus) Chain; daughter of Lewis E. and Libbie (Kamschall) Obus of Kovno Yale relatives include three cousins. Bennett E. Glazer, '10 S, Michael H. Glazer, '13, and Edward Glazer, '20 S

New Haven High School. Chemistry course.

Junior gas chemist, Chemical Warfare Service, American University, May-August, 1918; inducted as private, U.S. Army, August 24, 1918, assigned to Nitrate Division, Ordnance Department, Arlington, Va, until discharged February 1, 1919; associated with Morgan & Wright, dealers in automobile tires, New York City, 1920, in chemical laboratory General Motors Corporation, Detroit, 1920–22, a chemist Baldwin Locomotive Works, Philadelphia, 1922–26, salesman in New York branch of Brewer & Company, Inc, pharmaceutical chemists of Worcester, Mass., 1927–33, engaged in pharmaceutical sales work 1933–37, with engineering division, State of Connecticut Highway Department, 1937–41 and U.S. Ordnance Division (Winchester Repeating Arms Company), New Haven, 1941 until January 27, 1945; member Congregation Sheves Achem, New Haven.

Unmarried.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Sheves Achem Cemetery, East Haven, Conn. Survived by mother and a brother, Benjamin Edward Chain of New Haven. Another brother, Dr. William H. Chain, '18, died in 1943.

David Edward Gagel, Ph.B. 1919.

Born March 11, 1897, in West Haven, Conn. Died August 19, 1944, in Ogontz, Maine.

Father, Edward Gagel, chief engineer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company; son of Christian and Anna Louise (Aulinger) Gagel of New York City Mother, Jennie Field (Smith) Gagel; daughter of David J and Adeline (Ketcham) Smith of Dunmore, Pa.

Cheshire (Conn.) Academy and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course, member student branch American Society of Mechanical Engineers, enlisted as chief machinist's mate, U.S. Naval Reserve Force, March 15, 1918; stationed at district salvage station, New London, Conn, until discharged January 11, 1919; returned to college and awarded degree in 1921.

Associated with C. W. Blakeslee & Sons, Inc., New Haven, 1920–22; because of ill-health had been unoccupied for many years and resided much of the time in Arizona; member Yale Engineering Association and West Haven Congregational Church

Married (1) September 11, 1926, in New Haven, Nettie Caroline, daughter of Marcus and Harriet (Wilson) Holmes. Son: Edward, 2d. Mrs Gagel died August 31, 1943. Married (2) June 17, 1944, in Brookline, Mass, Dorothy Johnson Adams, daughter of Melvin Maynard Johnson, LL.D, L.H.D. (B A. and Ph.B. Tufts Coll. 1892; LL.B. Boston Univ. 1895), and Ina Delphene (Freeman) Johnson.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Anna Smith Gagel (cert. Yale School of Music 1913).

Donald Warren McCrosky, Ph.B. 1919.

Born March 24, 1898, in Buenos Aires, Argentina. Died November 13, 1944, in Lansdowne, Pa.

Father, James Warren McCrosky (B S. Univ. Nebraska 1891; P.A.E. Johns Hopkins Univ 1894), manager foreign trade department Bankers Trust Company, New York City; son of Charles and Elizabeth (Warren) McCrosky of Tecumseh, Nebr Mother, Josephine (Tremain) McCrosky (B A Univ Nebraska 1893, M A. 1894); daughter of Lucien and Sarah (Flagg) Tremain of Lincoln, Nebr.

Tonbridge (England) School and Barnard School, New York City. Mechanical engineering course; an editor *The Yale Graphic* Senior year, member S A.T.C. at Yale. Studied mechanical engineering Yale Graduate School 1919–20.

Engineer with General Electric Company 1920–40 (in Bridgeport, Conn., 1920–24, Schenectady, N.Y., 1924–28 and six months in 1939, and Philadelphia 1928–39 and 1939–40); did advertising work with Geare-Marston, Inc., Philadelphia, 1941; advertising manager I-T-E Circuit Breaker Company, Philadelphia, 1942–44; member National Industrial Advertisers Association.

Unmarried.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in West Laurel Hill Cemetery, Bala-Cynwyd, Pa. Survived by mother and a brother, Theodore T. McCrosky, '23 S.

Frederick Howard Jackson, Ph.B. 1920.

Born March 8, 1900, in Ansonia, Conn. Died September 24, 1944, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, John Howard Jackson, a machinist and foreman Ansonia branch American Brass Company; son of Joseph and Susannah (Auld) Jackson of Ansonia. Mother, Mary Ann (Tonkin) Jackson, daughter of Christopher and Elizabeth (James) Tonkin of Ansonia.

Ansonia High School. Mechanical engineering course, member S A T.C. at Yale October 1, 1918, until discharge December 14, 1918.

In linoleum department Armstrong Cork Company, floor coverings, Lancaster, Pa., 1920–22; cost clerk Farrel Foundry & Machine Company, Ansonia, 1922–25; in sales department Aluminum Company of America, Cleveland, 1925–44 (sales engineer 1927–44), member Masonic order and Congregational church.

Married April 28, 1923, in Ansonia, Marjorie Elizabeth Neuberth (Connecticut Coll. for Women ex-'23), daughter of Franklin George and Emma (Kaiser) Neuberth. Son Frederick Howard, Jr.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife and son.

Edward Jesup Taylor, B.S. 1923.

Born November 19, 1902, in New York City. Died May 1, 1945, off Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Howard Canning Taylor, '88 S. (M.D. Columbia Univ. 1891), clinical professor of gynecology Columbia University since 1913; attend-

ing gynecologist Roosevelt Hospital, New York City; son of Arthur Canning and Mary Ellen (Wakeman) Taylor of Greens Farms, Conn. Mother, Alice Cornforth (Gibbs) Taylor, daughter of Henry James and Ann Eliza (Burton) Gibbs of Quebec, Canada Yale relatives include a cousin, Arthur S Taylor, ex-'23 S.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Administrative engineering course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year; general one-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year; Freshman Track Team; Class hockey and baseball teams Senior year, Class book committee; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Studied metallurgy Columbia University School of Mines 1923–24; engineer M. W Kellogg Company, engineers and contractors, New York City, 1924–38, president Londonderry Company, Inc., furniture, South Londonderry, Vt, 1938–43.

Married September 11, 1926, in New Canaan, Conn., Wynne Byard (Barnard Coll. ex-'26), daughter of Dever Smith Byard (M.D. New York Univ 1895) and Ella (Nabersberg) Byard. Children: Wynne and Edward Jesup, Jr.

Commissioned Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve, December 9, 1942; aided in construction of equipment for combating mines at Pleasure Bay Demagnetization Station, Boston, December, 1942–October, 1943, and at Noumea, New Caledonia; based at Noumea March–September, 1944; assigned to active sea duty on staff of Admiral of Mine Fleet October, 1944.

Lieutenant Taylor was killed in enemy action. Buried on Okinawa. Survived by wife (now the wife of Boylston Green, '41 Ph.D), children, parents, and two brothers, Howard C. Taylor, Jr., '20 S. (MD. Columbia Univ. 1924), and Burton W. Taylor, '28 S.

David Kennedy Corey, B.S. 1925.

Born July 18, 1899, in Homestead, Pa. Died June 13, 1945, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Alfred Adams Corey, Jr, president Vanadium Corporation of America, New York City; son of Alfred Adams and Adaline (Fritz) Corey of North Braddock, Pa. Mother, Amelia Stella (Rose) Corey (Wilson Coll 1895–97); daughter of Charles and Anna A. (Nugent) Rose of Braddock. Yale relatives include a cousin, Alan L. Corey, '11.

Tome School for Boys, Port Deposit, Md Mechanical engineering and administrative engineering courses, member The Colony and Berzelius; member Naval Training Unit, Carnegie Institute of Technology, during World War I.

With Bethlehem Steel Company, Bethlehem, Pa., 1925-29 and Bridge-

ville plant of Vanadium Corporation of America 1929–30; general manager Southern Mineral Products Corporation of Vanadium Corporation, Piney River, Va, 1930–35; office manager Baltimore division General Refractories Company 1940–45; attended Methodist Episcopal church, Homestead, and St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Lynchburg, Va

Married May 23, 1942, in Richmond, Va., Nellie Steele Summers (B A Lynchburg Coll. 1926), daughter of Cephus Glenn and Sarah (Van Pelt)

Summers. Children: Nancy Stuart and David Kennedy, Jr.

Death due to uremia. Buried in West Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by wife, children, parents, and a sister, Adaline C. Westerfield, the wife of Asher Letson Westerfield (Wharton School of Finance and Commerce, Univ. Pennsylvania 1915–16) of Haverford, Pa.

Shelby Hammond Curlee, Jr., B.S. 1926.

Born January 28, 1903, in Corinth, Miss. Died September 26, 1944, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, Shelby Hammond Curlee, founder Curlee Clothing Company, manufacturers of men's clothing, St Louis, and chairman of the board, son of William Peyton and Mary Elizabeth (Boone) Curlee of Corinth Mother, Luella (Duncan) Curlee; daughter of Thomas Dudley and Juliet (Elgin) Duncan of Corinth.

Smith and Jackson academies, St Louis, and Phillips-Andover. General science course; Freshman Track Squad; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1926–28 (M.B A. 1928); associated with Curlee Clothing Company 1928–29 and 1931–44 (vice-president 1931–36, president 1936–44); vice-president Mayfield (Ky) Woolen Mills 1929–31; enlisted as Lieutenant A-V(S), U.S. Naval Reserve, and entered training at Quonset Point, R I, June 17, 1942; attended Air Combat Intelligence School, Quonset Point, August 20–October 14, 1942; on active service at Naval Air Station, Norfolk, Va. October 27, 1942–November, 1943, as Air Combat Intelligence Officer of Fleet Air Wing; transferred to Boca Chica Naval Air Station, Florida, November, 1943; released from active duty May 20, 1944.

Married July 24, 1929, in San Francisco, Elise May Durbrow (B.A. Connecticut Coll. for Women 1926; M.A. George Washington Univ 1929), daughter of Chandler W. Durbrow, '02 L, and Lizzie May (Ware) Durbrow and sister of Elbridge Durbrow, '26 Sons' Shelby Hammond, 4th, William Peyton, and Chandler Durbrow.

Death due to asphyxiation by accidental drowning. Buried in Corinth Cemetery. Survived by wife and sons.

John Vandal Frankenthal, B.S. 1926.

Born April 23, 1903, in Chicago, Ill. Died December 1, 1944, in Van Nuys, Calif.

Father, Lester Emanuel Frankenthal (M D. Northwestern Univ. 1889), attending gynecologist and obstetrician Michael Reese Hospital, Chicago, and clinical professor of gynecology Northwestern University; son of Emanuel and Kate (Friedman) Frankenthal of Chicago. Mother, Anna Eleanor (Nourse) Frankenthal, daughter of Charles and Elizabeth Jane (Ham) Nourse of Whitby, Ontario, Canada.

Tome School for Boys, Port Deposit, Md., and Milford (Conn.) School

Industrial engineering course.

Assistant purchasing engineer and later purchasing agent Lundoff-Bicknell Company, building contractors, Chicago, 1926–35; president Building Construction Company, general contractors, Chicago, 1935–44; secretary and treasurer B. J. Many Company 1941–44; commissioned Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve, August, 1942; stationed at Camp Bradford, Camp Elliott, and at Port Hueneme, Calif; commanding officer Company C, 25th Construction Battalion; went overseas February 14, 1943; stationed in New Zealand, New Caledonia, Guadalcanal, Bougain-ville, and Guam.

Unmarried. Member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Chicago.

Lieutenant Frankenthal lost his life in an airplane crash while on leave from duty in the Southwest Pacific. Ashes interred in Phelps, Wis. Survived by parents and a brother, Lester E. Frankenthal, Jr., '20 S.

James Lindsay Luke, B.S. 1926.

Born March 30, 1905, in New York City. Died May 20, 1945, in Bethesda, Md.

Father, David Lincoln Luke (B S. Univ. Pennsylvania 1886), a founder and president West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company, New York City; son of William and Rose (Lindsay) Luke of Wilmington, Del. Mother, Bessie Carol (Anderson) Luke; daughter of William F. and Mary Ella (Menefee) Anderson of Virginia Yale relatives include: Victor S. Luke, ex-'22 S., and Adam K Luke, Jr., '30 (cousins); and David L. Luke, 3d (Class of 1947 Nov) (nephew)

Hackley School, Tarrytown, NY., and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn General science course; Freshman Crew and Swimming Team; University Swimming Team three years; Senior Promenade Committee; member The Cloister and Book and Snake and Aurelian Honor Society.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1926-

28 (M.B.A. 1928); employed in Cleveland 1928–42; a statistician with Mitchell, Herrick & Company, brokers, 1928–29; associated with Midland Bank 1929–31; assistant vice-president Cleveland Trust Company 1932–35; treasurer and assistant secretary Cleveland-Cliffs Iron Company, iron ore, coal, and lake shipping, 1936–41 and treasurer 1941–42; commissioned First Lieutenant, U.S. Army Air Forces, April 15, 1942; in office of Matériel Command, Washington, 1942; attached to Office of Assistant Chief of Staff for Air, Intelligence, Washington, 1942–45; promoted Captain September, 1942, Major in spring of 1944, and Lieutenant Colonel in April, 1945; on board of governors Yale Alumni Association of Cleveland 1940–43; member Episcopal church

Married October 25, 1930, in Cleveland, Parthenia, daughter of Edmund Stevenson Burke. Sons: James Lindsay, Jr., and Alexander Mc-

Naughton. Mr. and Mrs. Luke were divorced in 1944.

Death due to asphyxia when his house was swept by flames Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, North Tarrytown Survived by sons, three sisters, Jean Anderson Luke (B.A Barnard Coll. 1937; M.D. Columbia Univ. 1940) and Mrs. Harold Alfred Langhen, both of New York City, and Dorothy L. Hilliard, the wife of Charles Craig Hilliard (B.A. Princeton 1915) of Washington, and two brothers, David L. Luke, Jr., '22 S, and William Luke, 2d, '24 S. Another brother, Alexander McNaughton Luke, ex-'28 S., died in 1934.

Allen Thurman Sinks, B.S. 1929.

Born June 21, 1907, in Columbus, Ohio. Died August 3, 1944, in Salem, Mass.

Father, Frederick N. Sinks, '94 S. Mother, Katherine DeFord (Thurman) Sinks.

Asheville (N.C.) School and Columbus (Ohio) Academy. Electrical engineering course; awarded Edward O. Lanphier Memorial Prize Senior year; Freshman Football Squad; member student branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Sigma Xi, and Tau Beta Pi (assistant treasurer Senior year).

Associated with General Electric Company 1929-44 (took student test course and advanced engineering course, Schenectady, NY., 1929-30; designing engineer, transformer division, West Lynn [Mass.] Works 1930-44); held many patents and was the author of numerous technical articles; coauthor: "New Current Transformer for Bus Differential Protection"; engaged in work on war products of a restricted nature during World War II; his development of aircraft instruments was of great value to the Armed Forces; member West Lynn Engineering Association

Married May 1, 1930, in Newburyport, Mass, Anna Chase Batchelder (B S Simmons Coll. 1928), daughter of Edgar James and Abigail March (Toppan) Batchelder Sons: Lucius Frederick, Preston, and Allen Thurman.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Columbus. Survived by wife, sons, and mother.

John Joseph Sullivan, B.S. 1930.

Born December 15, 1900, in Erie, Pa. Died April 27, 1945, in Erie, Pa.

Father, Patrick John Sullivan, traffic manager Burke Electric Company, Erie; son of Cornelius and Hannorah Sullivan of Erie. Mother, Mary Josephine (Grant) Sullivan, daughter of John and Ann (Ryan) Grant of Erie.

Central High School, Erie. General science course; Freshman Football and Track squads, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Associated with Hammermill Paper Company, Erie, 1930–45 (laboratory clerk 1930–31, auditing clerk 1931–33, in finishing room office 1933–34, superintendent storage and shipping department 1934, and manager planning department 1934–45); member St. Peter's Cathedral (Roman Catholic), Erie

Married July 14, 1934, in Erie, Dorothy Matilda, daughter of Joseph Peter and Amelia Katherine (Birkenmeyer) Jerge. Son: Patrick Rory.

Death due to bilateral hydronephrosis Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Erie. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Miss Mary Grace Sullivan of Erie, and two brothers, George Patrick Sullivan of New York City and Leo G. Sullivan, '16 S.

Joseph Marshall Shinnen, B.S. 1932.

Born January 23, 1910, in Atlantic City, N.J. Died March 29, 1945, in East Stroudsburg, Pa.

Father, Harry Leeds Shinnen, owner and manager Onawa Lodge, Mountainhome, Pa, son of Joseph J and Margaret C. (Davis) Shinnen of Atlantic City. Mother, Emma (Irwin) Shinnen, daughter of John Agnew and Margaret (Fawkes) Irwin of Cochranville, Pa.

Atlantic City High School and Blair Academy, Blairstown, N J. Electrical engineering course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; Freshman Football Squad, Freshman Track Team; University Track Team three years, Class football squad Sophomore and Junior years; member student branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers and The Colony and Berzelius.

An engineer with Standard Oil Company of New Jersey, Bayonne, 1932–36 and 1938–41 (successively in training work and foreman power plant, and supervisor training department); associated with Lummis Construction Company and aided in installation and operation of oil refinery in Hannover, Germany, spring 1937, lessor and manager Crestwood Hotel, Cresco, Pa, 1936 and 1937, manager Onawa Lodge, Mountainhome, Pa, 1941–43; commissioned Lieutenant (j.g.), U S Naval Reserve, April 26, 1943; assistant to Fourth Naval District Civilian Personnel Officer, Philadelphia, July 12, 1943–March, 1945, promoted Lieutenant November 1, 1944.

Married June 7, 1941, in Philadelphia, Madeleine Lucille, daughter of L. Sterling and Anna Maria (Tibbitt) Phipps. Daughter: Christina Joanne.

Death due to acute appendicitis and peritonitis Buried in Atlantic City Cemetery, Pleasantville, N.J. Survived by wife, daughter, father, and a brother, Capt. Harry Irwin Shinnen, A.U S. (B S. Cornell Univ. 1934), of Washington.

James Robert Griswold, B.S. 1935.

Born January 19, 1913, in Chattanooga, Tenn. Died March 19, 1945, in the Pacific area.

Father, Dillard Houston Griswold, president American Trust & Banking Company, Chattanooga; son of James Robert and Elmina (Lusk) Griswold of Tracy City, Tenn Mother, Hassie Anna (Gibbs) Griswold; daughter of Samuel Gibbs.

Baylor School, Chattanooga, and Phillips-Andover Applied economic science course; member Branford College and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Married March 21, 1941, in Nashville, Tenn., Kathrine Sarles, daughter of Roy Sarles Durstine (BA Princeton 1908) and Harriet Grosvenor (Hutchins) Durstine. Son: James Robert, Jr.

Assistant trust officer American Trust & Banking Company 1935–42; commissioned Lieutenant (1 g), U.S. Naval Reserve, February 25, 1942; received training at Quonset Point, R.I., February–April, 1942; executive officer of a cadet battalion, Corpus Christi, Texas, April–December, 1942; promoted Lieutenant in September, 1942; attended Naval Radar Training School, Pearl Harbor, December, 1942–April, 1943; on temporary duty at Port Hueneme, Calif., April–May, 1943; at Naval Radar Training School, St. Simon's Island, Ga, May–November, 1943, assigned to U.S S Franklin November 22, 1943, and to sea duty when the ship was commissioned January 31, 1944; fighter director from January, 1945, until his death.

Lieutenant Griswold was killed when his ship was bombed while attacking Japan in support of the Okinawa operations. Survived by wife (now the wife of Edward J. Magee, '37), son, father, a sister, Kathryne Gibbs Griswold Rickman, the wife of James Pickney Rickman (Georgia School Technology 1919-21) of Chattanooga, a brother, Dillard Houston Griswold, Jr (Wharton School of Finance and Commerce, Univ. Pennsylvania, 1928–32), of Washington, and paternal grandmother

Marvin Cooke, B.S. 1937.

Born September 2, 1915, in Auburn, N.Y. Died July 27, 1944, in France.

Father, Harte Cooke (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. ex-'91), consulting engineer diesel division, American Locomotive Company, Auburn; son of Augustus Palmer and Ida (Crosby) Cooke of Whitehall, N.Y. Mother, Clara Dwight (Sprague) Cooke (B A. Smith Coll. 1901; Pd.B. New York State Coll for Teachers 1902), daughter of William Mosher Sprague (MD Homeopathic Medical Coll Pennsylvania 1868) and Clara Amelia (Dwight) Sprague of Poplar Ridge, NY

Auburn High School. Biological science course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year, coxswain Freshman Crew Squad; cadet sergeant, Company A, ROTC at Yale, Senior year, member Saybrook College.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1937-41 (MD. 1941).

Interne in pediatrics Strong Memorial Hospital, Rochester, NY., 1941-42; member American Medical Association and Second Presbyterian Church, Auburn.

Unmarried

Commissioned Second Lieutenant, Engineer Officers Reserve Corps, June, 1937, and First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, Army of the United States, July 28, 1942; trained for a short time at Camp Grant and then assigned to 3d Armored Division; on desert maneuvers in California September-October, 1942; attached to Company B, 45th Armored Medical Battalion, September 7, 1942-September 5, 1943, promoted Captain March 20, 1943, overseas from September, 1943, transferred to Medical Detachment, 83d Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, 45th Division, about March or April, 1944.

Captain Cooke died of wounds received in the invasion of France. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star Survived by stepmother, two sisters, Catherine Cooke (B A Smith Coll. 1931) and Lieut. (1 g.) Barbara Cooke, USNR (BA Smith Coll 1937), both of Auburn, a half sister, Marjorie Cooke Pace (B S. Cornell Univ. 1943), the wife of William Theodore Pace (B A. Harvard 1940; Ph.D. Yale 1943) of Beacon, N.Y.,

and a brother, Warren Cooke, '30 S.

David Bates Thayer, B.S. 1937.

Born July 23, 1913, in Braintree, Mass. Died April 20, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Harry Clifton Thayer, treasurer Hollingsworth & Whitney Company, paper manufacturers, Boston; son of David Hunt Bates and Ella Augusta (Huff) Thayer of Braintree. Mother, Lena Pond (Russell) Thayer; daughter of Alvin Dudley and Lizzie Henrietta (Crockett) Russell of Maynard, Mass.

Thayer Academy, South Braintree, Mass, and Phillips-Exeter Applied economic science course; entered with Class of 1936 S, joined 1937 S in Sophomore year, Freshman Water Polo Team; Wright football, baseball, and swimming teams Sophomore year; Junior Promenade Committee; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Administrative assistant Hollingsworth & Whitney Company 1937-43; member South Congregational Church, Braintree.

Married May 20, 1939, in Boston, Barbara, daughter of Rollin Bradshaw

and Marion (Stephens) Fisher.

Volunteered for national service October, 1942; accepted May 20, 1943, as private, US Marine Corps Reserve, at Parris Island June 5-July 30, 1943; promoted private (1st class) July 30, 1943, at Cherry Point, NC, August 13-28, 1943, and New River, NC, August 28, 1943-March 17, 1944; promoted sergeant December 14, 1943, and staff sergeant March 16, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant March 17, 1944, attended Aviation Ground Officers School, Quantico, Va, March 17-July 5, 1944, commissioned Captain July 5, 1944; at Marine Corps Air Station, Kinston, N.C, August 1-November 17, 1944, and Eagle Mountain Lake, Texas, November 23, 1944-February 3, 1945, went overseas February 3, 1945, as matériel officer for Second Marine Aircraft Wing

Captain Thayer was killed in action on Okinawa Buried in First Marine Division Cemetery, Okinawa Survived by wife, parents, and two brothers, H. Russell Thayer (BA Harvard 1929; LLB Yale 1942), and Harlow D. Thayer, '31 S

Charles Edward Doty, Jr., B.S. 1938.

Born November 13, 1915, in Lakewood, Ohio. Died February 23, 1945, in Épinal, France.

Father, Charles Edward Doty, president The Chas. E Doty Company, building management and real estate, Cleveland; son of Ordello Luce and Eliza Broder (Timmins) Doty of Lakewood Mother, Naomi Margaret (Zurfleh) Doty; daughter of Frank Jacob and Elise (Back) Zurfleh of Cleveland.

Lakewood High School and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Industrial administration course; Freshman Swimming and Baseball squads, University 150-pound Football Squad Senior year, nonresident member Calhoun College (baseball team Sophomore and Junior years, football team Sophomore year), member St Elmo Society.

Agent for Massachusetts Life Insurance Company of Springfield in Cleveland 1938-41, member Lakewood Methodist Episcopal Church.

Married February 20, 1941, in Lakewood, Jean Malling (B A. Univ. Mississippi 1938), daughter of Arthur and Hazel Brainard (Mower)

Malling Sons: Charles Edward, 3d, and David Mansfield.

Joined First Cleveland Cavalry, Ohio National Guard, February 20, 1939, inducted into federal service as Second Lieutenant March 5, 1941, assigned to Service Troop, 107th Cavalry, Camp Forrest; attended Officers Training School, Fort Riley, June-August, 1941; on maneuvers in Tennessee, Louisiana, and Carolina 1941, attended Motor Maintenance School, Fort Wayne, November-December, 1941; assigned to Fort Ord with 107th Cavalry in December, 1941, promoted First Lieutenant February 1, 1942, and Captain November 2, 1943; attended Morale School, Fort George G Meade, August-September, 1942; commanding officer 301st Cavalry Reconnaissance Troop, Fort Ord, May 25-July, 1943; sent to the Pacific area in July, 1943, participated in occupation of Kiska Island; returned to the United States in December, 1943, assigned to 32d Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (mechanized) as assistant operations officer, Camp Maxey, January 7, 1944, sent overseas to European theater of war in August, 1944, served with 28th Reconnaissance Troop, 28th Infantry Division, attached to French Army.

Captain Doty died at General Hospital No. 238, Épinal, as a result of wounds received on February 7, 1945, while performing reconnaissance duty near Colmar, France. Buried in 238th General Hospital Cemetery, Épinal Survived by wife, sons, parents, a sister, Naomi Elizabeth Doty Stead (B S. Baldwin-Wallace Coll. 1932), the wife of George Karl Stead (Baldwin-Wallace Coll. ex-'33) of Lakewood, and paternal grandmother.

Frederic Austin Borsodi, B.S. 1939.

Born November 4, 1916, in Houston, Texas. Died January 28, 1945, in England.

Father, Victor Howard Borsodi, member Bowles & Borsodi, oil operators, Houston, president Borsodi Oil Company, Houston, son of William and Bertha (Wang) Borsodi of Vienna, Austria Mother, Louise Lindsley (Snodgrass) Borsodi Yale relatives include a cousin, Edward M. Borsodi, '34.

Kinkaid School, Houston, and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Industrial administration course; Freshman Swimming Squad and Freshman Golf Team; University Golf Team three years (on Yale team which played in England 1937), Freshman Glee Club, University Glee Club Senior year; winner New England Intercollegiate Air Meet, New Haven, Conn., May, 1939; nonresident member Timothy Dwight College, associate member Yale University Dramatic Association, member St. Anthony Hall and Delta Psi and Christ Church (Episcopal), Houston

Married June 8, 1940, in Hartford, Conn, Marcia Chase (Smith Coll ex-'42), daughter of Porter B Chase, '19, and Marion (Tuttle) Chase, sister of George L. Chase, ex-'44, and granddaughter of Joseph P. Tuttle,

'89. Daughters. Lindsley Chase and Barbara Chase.

Air cadet, Naval Air Station, Pensacola, Fla., September 1, 1939–May 15, 1940, Naval aviator (Ensign) on U.S S Nevada at Pearl Harbor July–October, 1940; transferred to Army Air Forces April 12, 1941; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Corps Reserve, and received wings June 19, 1941; on inactive duty as experimental test pilot Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Corporation, East Hartford, Conn, March 19, 1941, until called to active duty August, 1942; commissioned First Lieutenant November 12, 1942, Captain April 10, 1943, and Major October 1, 1943; went overseas September, 1942; served as a fighter pilot in the African, Sicilian, and Italian campaigns October, 1942–November, 1943; awarded Distinguished Flying Cross and the Air Medal with fifteen Oak Leaf Clusters for his work in the North African campaign; returned to the United States in a captured German bomber; chief of fighter branch test flying for Air Technical Service Command, Wright Field, January, 1944, until sent overseas again in December, 1944.

Major Borsodi was kılled in an aırplane crash. Survived by wife, daughters, a brother, Victor Howard Borsodi, Jr., U.S.M.C. (Wesleyan Univ. ex-'39), and a half sister, Miss Martha Beaty Borsodi of Minneapolis,

Minn.

Sadron Clyde Lampert, Jr., B.S. 1939.

Born August 9, 1918, in Powellton, W. Va. Died September 14, 1944, in Italy.

Father, Sadron Clyde Lampert, executive vice-president Farmers, Inc, Norfolk, Va., son of Henry Pierce and Rhoda Annie (Repass) Lampert of West Graham, Va Mother, Elizabeth Mildred (Bell) Lampert; daughter of Thomas Albert and Ophelia Blount (Key) Bell of Bedford, Va

Maury High School, Norfolk Applied economics course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; general one-year honors for excellence in all studies Sophomore year and two-year honors Junior year; University 150-pound Football Squad Junior year and Team Senior year; member Saybrook College (touch football and baseball teams) and Phi Beta Kappa.

Associated with Johnson & Higgins, insurance brokers, New York City, 1939–43 (successively clerk marine department, marine insurance rater, and assistant manager cargo section); member First Methodist Episcopal

Church South, Norfolk.

Married August 17, 1940, in Norfolk, Edith Byrd, daughter of Barry McAlpine and Fannie Bernard (Morrison) Herbert. Son: Sadron

Clyde, 3d

Inducted as private, Army of the United States, October 8, 1943; at Fort Dix October-November; basic training Fort McClellan November, 1943-March, 1944, with a replacement group at Fort George G. Meade until sent overseas in April, 1944; in North Africa for a short time and placed in Company A, 133d Infantry, 34th Division, Fifth Army; promoted private (1st class) in August, 1944.

Pfc Lampert was killed in action. Buried in a military cemetery in northern Italy. Survived by wife, son, parents, two brothers, Kenneth Bell Lampert (Virginia Polytechnic Inst. 1941–42), A.U.S., and Ralph

Godwin Lampert of Norfolk, and maternal grandmother.

Edward Howard Beavers, Jr., B.S. 1941.

Born November 22, 1918, in Scranton, Pa. Died November 27, 1944, in Germany.

Father, Edward Howard Beavers, treasurer International Correspondence School, Scranton; vice-president Russell Motor Car Company; son of James L and Rosa (Fairchild) Beavers. Mother, Alice Doris (Ohoro) Beavers, daughter of Richard M and Elizabeth (Reese) Ohoro.

Keystone Academy, Factoryville, Pa, and Mercersburg (Pa.) Academy. Applied economics course; passed Civilian Pilot Training Course (given in cooperation with Civil Aeronautics Authority) fall term of Senior year, nonresident member Calhoun College (touch football team Junior year); member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta (secretary Senior year)

Employed by Lockheed Aircraft Corporation, Burbank, Calif, August-December, 1941, member Elm Park Church (Methodist), Scranton Unmarried

Entered Army Air Forces December 18, 1941; received aviation cadet training at Goodfellow Field; transferred to Brooks Field June 1, 1942, received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, October 9, 1942; remained at Brooks Field until January, 1943,

when assigned to 301st Bombing Squadron, Hunter Field; promoted First Lieutenant March 26, 1943; transferred to 405th Bomb Group (dive), 624th Bomb Squadron, Drew Field, as flight leader about March, 1943; went overseas in April or May, 1944; assigned to P-51 Mustang Group of 8th Air Force; on first flight over France destroyed a Focke-Wolfe 190; later assigned to 503d Fighter Squadron, 339th Fighter Group; promoted Captain about September, 1944; accomplished more than 130 missions and destroyed five enemy aircraft; awarded the Air Medal with two Oak Leaf Clusters.

Captain Beavers died in action in Germany Posthumously awarded the Air Medal with one Silver Oak Leaf Cluster and the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents and paternal grandmother.

Charles Clarence Davis, Jr., B.S. 1942.

Born July 12, 1920, in Essex, Conn.

Missing in action June 25, 1944, near Caen, France.

Presumptive date of death June 26, 1945.

Father, Charles C. Davis (M.D. 1907) Mother, Catherine Dorothy (Born) Davis.

Pratt High School, Essex, and Mt. Hermon (Mass) School Biological science course; member Freshman Hockey Squad and Silliman College (hockey team Junior and Senior years; baseball team Senior year) Member St. John's Church (Episcopal), Essex. Unmarried.

Entered Army Air Forces January 15, 1943; aviation cadet Squadron 66, Santa Ana Army Air Base, January–June, 1943; primary training Pilot School 43K, Kings City, Calif, June–December, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant December 5, 1943; received advanced training at Douglas Field, Ariz., December, 1943–January, 1944, Salt Lake City, Utah, January–February, 1944, and Kearney Air Fields in Nebraska and Alexandria, La., February–April, 1944, sent overseas to England in April, 1944; co-pilot of a B-17 (Flying Fortress), he had completed eighteen missions.

Lieutenant Davis was reported missing as of June 25, 1944, when his plane was hit by enemy anti-aircraft fire while on a bombing mission to Montbartier, France. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as June 26, 1945) Posthumously awarded the Air Medal with Oak Leaf Cluster and the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by mother, and three sisters, Dorothy Davis Tennant (B A. Smith Coll 1930), the wife of Dr Robert Tennant, Jr, '26 S, of West Hartford, Conn, Mrs Thomas Wind, Jr, of Essex, and Elizabeth Davis Pierson (Connecticut Coll for Women ex-'36), the wife of Elmer Lewis Pierson of Essex

Warren Arthur Hindenlang, B.S. 1942.

Born October 21, 1920, in Foxboro, Mass. Died August 5, 1944, on Chichi Jima, Bonin Islands.

Father, Arthur Hindenlang, foreman Foxboro Instrument Company; son of Leopold and Babetha (Foester) Hindenlang. Mother, Florence Elizabeth (Spaans) Hindenlang; daughter of Simon and Cornelia (Van Houdt) Spaans of Boston, Mass

Foxboro High School and Wilbraham (Mass) Academy. Industrial administration course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year; on Freshman Hockey Squad and Basketball and Baseball teams; 150-pound Football Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; University Basketball Team and Junior University Baseball Team Junior and Senior years; member Jonathan Edwards College (hockey team Junior and Senior years), Tau Beta Pi, and Chi Phi.

Industrial engineer Procter & Gamble Manufacturing Company, Quincy, Mass, 1942; member Universalist Church, Foxboro. Unmarried.

Entered Naval Air Corps, US Naval Reserve, as aviation cadet November 12, 1942, preflight training at Chapel Hill, N.C., November, 1942–February, 1943; primary flight training at Peru, Ind, February–May, 1943, at Pensacola, Fla, June 1–September 3, 1943; commissioned Ensign September 3, 1943, operational training at Hollywood, Fla, September–October, 1943, reported at San Diego Naval Base November 17, 1943; stationed at Oak Harbor, Wash, until January 6, 1944; assigned to Fleet Air Wing Two and sent overseas February 1, 1944, as navigator and later copilot of a B-24 (Liberator), in Squadron VB-109 (Miller's Raiders), to the Gilbert Islands, Kwajelein, Eniwetok, and Saipan

Ensign Hindenlang's plane crashed at Futami Ko, Chichi Jima, August 4, 1944 He survived the crash and after questioning by Japanese authorities was delivered to Japanese Army headquarters. On August 5 he was executed by the Japanese in the Kominato area on Chichi Jima and his ashes were interred at the scene of the execution, later the ashes were exhumed by U.S. Occupational Forces and reburied in the Fourth Marine Division Cemetery on Iwo Jima Posthumously awarded the Air Medal, Presidential Citation for Squadron VB-109, and the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by mother

Walter Edwin Newcomb, Jr., Class of 1942.

Born October 1, 1920, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died August 11, 1944, in Prestwick, Scotland.

Father, Walter Edwin Newcomb, D D S, an orthodontist in Cleveland. Mother, Louise (Ruggles) Newcomb.

University School, Cleveland. Entered Yale in September, 1938; biologi-

cal science course; on championship Freshman Soccer Team; member Yale Community Council Freshman, Sophomore, and Senior years; a biographical editor Class Book, nonresident member Calhoun College (basketball team Senior year); member St Elmo Society and Presbyterian church.

Married February 26, 1943, in Monroe, La, Anita, daughter of Lloyd Robert Crawford.

Entered Army Air Forces April 15, 1942, as private; began active duty in July, 1942; received aviation cadet training at Selman Field August, 1942–July 3, 1943, commissioned Second Lieutenant July 3, 1943, stationed in Miami July–September, 1943; transferred to Houlton, Maine, and sent overseas in October, 1943, based in England October, 1943–August, 1944, promoted First Lieutenant in March, 1944

Lieutenant Newcomb was killed when his plane crashed in an unsuccessful take off. Survived by wife, father, a sister, Mrs. Harvey B Hobson

of Cleveland, and a brother, Morse R. Newcomb, '29

Harold Adelman, B.S. 1943.

Born March 9, 1923, in New Haven, Conn. Died January 5, 1945, in Bury St Edmunds, England.

Father, Louis Adelman, ex-'23 S, owner and manager Bakers Equipment Company, New Haven, son of Israel and Jennie (Semblar) Adelman of New Haven Mother, Fannie (Isenstadt) Adelman, daughter of Harry and Rebecca Isenstadt of Russia

New Haven High School. Applied economics course, Junior University Basketball Squad Junior year; member Trumbull College (basketball, football, and tennis teams Junior and Senior years), awarded B S Decem-

ber 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943 Unmarried

Enrolled in Army Air Corps Enlisted Reserve in Junior year at Yale, called to active duty as private, Army Air Forces, February 24, 1943, received basic training at Atlantic City; appointed air cadet July 27, 1943, and attended Army Air Forces Cadet Training School at Bucknell University Junior College August–November, 1943; received advanced training at Nashville, Tenn, Maxwell Field, Clark Field, and Greenville (Miss.) Army Air Field, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant at George Field, Lawrenceville, Ill, April 15, 1944, attended Army Air Forces Pilot School, Chanute Field, for training in four-engine planes; stationed at Lincoln (Nebr.) Air Field, Army Air Base, Pueblo, Colo, and at Topeka, Kans.; sent to England as pilot of a B-24 Liberator in December, 1944

Lieutenant Adelman was killed in a mid-air plane collision while on a routine flight. Survived by parents and a sister, Miss Naomi Adelman

of New Haven.

George Plummer McNear, 3d, B.S. 1943.

Born February 14, 1921, in New York City.

Died January 28, 1945, on Los Negros Island, in the Admiralties.

Father, George Plummer McNear, Jr (ME Cornell Univ. 1913), president Toledo, Peoria, and Western Railroad, Peoria; son of George Plummer and Ida Belle (Denman) McNear of Petaluma, Calif. Mother, Elizabeth (Mackenzie) McNear, daughter of Clinton and Cornelia Graham (Schantz) Mackenzie of West Hills, N.Y.

Deerfield (Mass.) Academy. Industrial administration course; on board Yale Daily News Freshman year and head photographer three years; Freshman Swimming Team; University Swimming Squad Senior year; member Jonathan Edwards College (swimming team Sophomore and Junior years) and Yale Political Union; awarded B.S. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943; attended Second Presbyterian Church, Peoria.

Unmarried.

Ensign AV(P), U.S. Naval Reserve; entered active duty at Fort Schuyler March 1, 1943; volunteered for U.S. Navy Bomb Disposal School, Washington; graduated July, 1943, and remained on staff until December, 1943, appointed officer-in-charge Airborne Bomb and Fuse Instruction Unit No 7; went overseas in December, 1943; assigned to Commander Aircraft, Seventh Fleet; served in Pacific from Australia to the Philippines, promoted Lieutenant (1.g.) April 1, 1944.

Lieutenant McNear was killed in an airplane crash while on a test flight with new installations. Buried in Cemetery No. 2 Finschafen, New Guinea. Posthumously awarded the Bronze Star Medal. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Elizabeth McNear, three brothers, Clinton McNear, James Graham McNear, and John McNear, all of Peoria, Ill., and paternal grandparents.

George André Whelan, B.S. 1943.

Born November 5, 1921, in Chappaqua, N.Y. Died August 9, 1944, in France.

Father, George Kleinert Guinzburg, vice-president I. B. Kleinert Rubber Company, New York City, son of Victor and Etta (Kleinert) Guinzburg of Chappaqua. Mother, Rose Mary Whelan; daughter of Charles James and Rose Alice (Creegan) Whelan of New York City.

Riverdale Country School, New York City, and Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn Industrial administration course; Freshman Swimming Squad, University 150-pound Football Team Sophomore and Junior

years; Freshman Glee Club; member R.O T.C at Yale (battalion officer), Saybrook College (swimming team Junior and Senior years, football team Senior year), and Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta, awarded B.S. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943

Married December 30, 1942, in Hempstead, NY, Jeanne, daughter

of Howard Francis and Marion Hazel (Jones) Ashley.

Attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, January 9–April 7, 1943, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, April 7, 1943; stationed at Fort Jackson April 21-October 5, 1943; replacement officer Fort George G. Meade until sent overseas November 16, 1943; with 229th Field Artillery Battalion, 28th Division, in England November, 1943, until sent to France as reconnaissance officer.

Lieutenant Whelan was killed by a shell fragment while on a forward observation mission for his battalion. Buried in France. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star and Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife, mother, father, and two brothers, Robert George Whelan and Donald Victor Whelan (B.Arch. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1943 [1944]), both of New York City.

Robert Thomas Wilson, Jr., B.S. 1943.

Born August 9, 1920, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died November 19, 1944, in Germany.

Father, Robert Thomas Wilson (BS Univ Pennsylvania 1917), president La Gloria Corporation, Corpus Christi, Texas; son of Thomas Erwin and Rosalind (Unkefer) Wilson of Pittsburgh. Mother, Suzanne Beaumont (Colton) Wilson; daughter of Sabin Woolworth Colton, Jr, and Jessie (Sellers) Colton of Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Sewickley (Pa.) Academy and Phillips-Andover Chemistry course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year, Freshman Rifle Team; member Silliman College; awarded B.S. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943 Unmarried.

Enlisted in U.S. Army Reserve Corps Senior year at Yale; called to active duty U.S. Army as private, Fort Sam Houston, February 14, 1943; received basic infantry training at Camp Robinson March-August, 1943, promoted private (1st class) in August, 1943; assigned to Army Specialized Training Program, Oklahoma Agricultural and Mechanical College, August, 1943-March 16, 1944, and on duty with Company C, 393d Infantry, Camp Maxey, March 16-September, 1944 (won expert rifleman's badge and expert infantryman's medal), joined 99th Division, First Army, and went overseas in October, 1944, serving in France and Belgium.

Pfc. Wilson was killed in action while serving with a combat patrol

attempting to destroy a German machine gun nest. Survived by parents and a brother, Richard Fairfield Wilson of Corpus Christi.

Charles Young Mead, Class of 1944.

Born October 20, 1922, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died November 7, 1944, in Bartlow, England.

Father, D Irving Mead, '97, president South Brooklyn Savings Bank; son of George W. Mead (BA 1851) and Sarah Frances (Studwell) Mead Mother, Elizabeth (Young) Mead, daughter of Charles Titus and Jane (Willits) Young Yale relatives include two cousins, Theodore S. Smith, '23, and Earl Smith, '25

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Entered Yale September, 1940; industrial administration course; member Pierson College (hockey and soccer teams) and Presbyterian church. Unmarried.

Entered Army Air Corps Reserve while at Yale; withdrew from college February 12, 1943; entered active duty in Army Air Forces; at Geneva College April–June, 1943; received preflight training at Maxwell Field July 5–August 31, 1943, and primary training at Lafayette, La, September 2–October 27, 1943, Walnut Ridge, Ark., November 9, 1943–January 7, 1944, and Spence Field, Moultrie, Ga, January 17–March, 1944 (received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant March 12, 1944), advanced training at Dale Mabry Field, Tallahassee, Fla, May 1–June 1, 1944, and Hillsborough Field, Tampa, Fla., June–August, 1944, went overseas in August, 1944; assigned to 4th Fighter Group, 336th Squadron, 8th Air Force, flew twenty missions over Europe as pilot of a P-51 Mustang.

Lieutenant Mead was killed when his plane crashed during a test flight Buried in American Army Cemetery, Cambridge, England Survived by parents, two sisters, Miss Jane Willits Mead and Miss Elizabeth Mead, and a brother, Lieut. (j g) David I Mead, Jr., USNR., all of Waccabuc and Scarsdale, NY.

Robert Megget Steel Walker, B.S. 1944.

Born April 22, 1922, in Providence, RI. Died May 27, 1945, on Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Edward Field Walker, secretary-treasurer Rhode Island Textile Association; executive director American Lace Manufacturers Association, Inc; son of Edward Field Walker (MD Columbia Univ. 1876) and Katherine Boies (Bigelow) Walker of Providence. Mother, Alice

Josephine (Danielson) Walker (BA Wellesley Coll 1904), daughter of Rev. Joseph Danielson (BA. Williams Coll. 1861, diploma Union Theological Seminary 1865) and Fanny (Weld) Danielson of Danielson, Conn.

Classical High School, Providence. Industrial administration and engineering course; member Trumbull College (baseball team two years) and Central Congregational Church, Providence, awarded B S October 25,

1943, as of the Class of 1944 Unmarried

Joined Field Artillery, Enlisted Reserve Corps, Army of the United States, May 25, 1942; activated from this status at Fort Devens June, 1943, transferred to Company B, 704th MP. Battalion, North Reading, Mass, July 1, 1943; promoted to corporal August 1, 1943, sent to Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, December 2, 1943; transferred to Field Artillery Replacement Training Center, Fort Bragg, December 15, 1943, and graduated January 20, 1944; ordered to Survey Officers School at Fort Sill February 10, 1944, attached to 427th Armored Field Artillery Battalion, Camp Bowie, and sent overseas in February, 1945; transferred to 49th Field Artillery Battalion, 7th Division, Tenth Army, at Leyte; participated in initial invasion of Okinawa on April 1, 1945, as forward observer Battery A, 49th Field Artillery Battalion; promoted First Lieutenant just before his death

Lieutenant Walker was killed in action on Okinawa Buried in Seventh Division Cemetery near Kadena, Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands Survived by parents and three sisters, Avis Walker Bateman, the wife of John Danvers Bateman (B A. Queen's Univ 1936, Ph D Yale 1939) of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, Canada, and Katherine Frances Walker (Rhode Island School of Design 1939) and Nancy Elizabeth Walker

(Katharine Gibbs School 1944), both of Providence.

Hugh Torbert Brooks, Class of 1945.

Born June 19, 1923, in Rochester, NY. Died January 2, 1945, near St Vith, Belgium

Father, George Sprague Brooks (Univ. Poitiers [France] 1919), of Groton, NY.; an author Mother, Helen (Clark) Brooks (B.A Vassar Coll. 1913; Ph.D. Univ. Illinois 1916).

Groton High School. Entered Yale September 27, 1941 Unmarried Withdrew from college February 2, 1942; enlisted in Army of the United States February 5, 1942; at recruit school Camp Polk February-April, 1942; assigned to Headquarters Troop, 87th Reconnaissance Squadron, and activated with 7th Armored Division, attended Armored Force Radio School, Fort Knox, June 1-August 15, 1942, received further training with 7th Armored Division at Camp Coxcomb, Camp Polk, and

Fort Benning; promoted technician (5th grade) about September 1, 1942; went overseas about May 25, 1944, transferred to D troop when in France, fought at St. Lô, Chârtres, and Verdun, and in Holland in November, 1944.

Technician Brooks was killed in action. While serving as a machine gunner in the rear guard, he was cut off during the withdrawal of his unit from St. Vith. Buried behind the German lines Survived by parents, a sister, Helen Dwight Brooks (Bryn Mawr Coll. 1946), and a brother, Pvt David McNair Brooks, A U S., all of Groton.

William Huston Sanders, Class of 1945.

Born December 9, 1923, in Cambridge, Mass. Died December 5, 1944, in Germany.

Father, Thomas Henry Sanders (B Com. Univ. Birmingham [England] 1905, M Com. 1914; Ph D Harvard 1921), professor of accounting Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration. Mother, Anna Gertrude (Schulz) Sanders.

Browne and Nichols School, Cambridge. Entered Yale September 28, 1941, industrial administration course; member Calhoun College, Dwight Hall Cabinet, Yale R.O T.C, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Cambridge. Unmarried.

Entered Army of the United States as private, Fort Devens, June 12, 1943; assigned to Battery D, 3d Battalion, 1st Regiment, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, Fort Bragg, June-October, 1943, and then returned to college.

Withdrew from college January 15, 1944; attended Field Artillery Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, January-June, 1944; commissioned Second Lieutenant June 3, 1944, stationed at Camp Howze June-September, 1944; went overseas as Field Artillery Replacement Officer September, 1944, serving subsequently in England, France, Belgium, and Germany, attached to Battery A, 929th Field Artillery Battalion, 104th Division.

Lieutenant Sanders was killed in action at Lucherberg, Germany. Buried in Henri Chapelle Cemetery No 1, Henri Chapelle, Belgium. Posthumously awarded Order of the Purple Heart and unit citation with distinguished unit badge Survived by parents, two sisters, Catherine Anna Sanders (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1936) of Cambridge, Mass, and Mary Elizabeth Sanders (B A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1938; M.A. Cornell Univ 1940) of Northampton, Mass, and two brothers, Lieut. Thomas Charles Sanders, A U S (B A. Harvard 1941, M.B A 1943), and Sergeant T/4 John Robert Sanders, A U.S. (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'44).

William John Cameron, Jr., Class of 1945W.

Born January 29, 1924, in Maplewood, N J. Died August 9, 1944, near Daytona Beach, Fla.

Father, William John Cameron (B A Univ. Toronto 1911), executive vice-president Home Life Insurance Company, New York City Mother, Mary Lee (Smith) Cameron (B A. New Jersey State Teachers Coll. [Newark] 1913).

Pingry School, Elizabeth, N J. Entered Yale in July, 1942; industrial administration and engineering course, member First Presbyterian

Church, Orange, N J Unmarried

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943; entered active service as cadet, Naval Air Corps, March, 1943; preliminary flight training, Cornell University, March-May, 1943; preflight training, Chapel Hill, N.C., June-September, 1943; primary flight training Peru, Ind., October-December, 1943; intermediate flight training Pensacola, Fla., January-May, 1944, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, May 26, 1944; transferred to Daytona Beach Naval Air Station for advance squadron drill as fighter pilot May 26-August 9, 1944, flight leader for his squadron which was destined for active duty in the Pacific area.

Lieutenant Cameron died when his plane crashed during a combat training flight near Daytona Beach. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Westfield, N J. Survived by parents, a sister, Mary Agnes Cameron Marshall (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1938), the wife of Arthur Van Cott Marshall of Maplewood, and maternal grandmother.

Charles St.Clair Elder, Jr., Class of 1945W.

Born February 15, 1924, in Mineola, N.Y. Died January 5, 1945, in Bury St. Edmunds, England.

Father, Charles St Clair Elder of Garden City, NY, a marine underwriter with Chubb & Son, New York City, and vice-president Federal Insurance Company. Mother, Etel (Horvath) Elder.

Garden City High School and Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn Entered Yale in July, 1942; member Cathedral of the Incarnation (Episco-

pal), Garden City Unmarried

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943, to enter Army Air Forces, received cadet training with College Training Detachment, Bucknell University Junior College, and successively at Nashville, Tenn, Maxwell Field, Ala., Lodwick Field, Lakeland, Fla, Courtland (Ala) Army Base, and Freeman Field, Seymour, Ind, where he received bomber pilot's

wings and was commissioned Second Lieutenant June 27, 1944; stationed successively at Lincoln (Nebr.) Air Field, Army Air Base, Pueblo, Colo, and at Topeka, Kans; went overseas attached to 849th Bombard-

ment Squadron, 490th Bomb Group, in December, 1944.

Lieutenant Elder was killed in a mid-air collision during a practice formation mission over Bury St Edmunds Buried in U S Military Cemetery near Cambridge, England Survived by parents, a sister, Margaret Elder Neuhaus, the wife of Joseph Rice Neuhaus, '40, a brother, John William Elder (Class of 1949 March), and paternal grandmother.

Albert Crawford Herring, Jr., Class of 1945W.

Born December 5, 1923, in New York City. Died December 22, 1944, in Belgium.

Father, Albert Crawford Herring (B A. Columbia Univ. 1914, M D. 1917), attending physician St. Luke's Hospital, New York City. Mother, Teresa Mercedes (Robles) Herring

Groton (Mass.) School. Entered Yale in August, 1942; biology course;

member Timothy Dwight College Unmarried.

Withdrew from college April 30, 1943; entered Army of the United States as private in May, 1943; stationed at Camp Upton May–July, 1943; received basic training Army Air Forces, Greensboro, N.C., July–December 20, 1943; transferred to Army Intelligence School, Camp Ritchie, about December 20, 1943 (promoted staff sergeant June 20, 1944); went overseas June 28, 1944, attached to 17th Airborne Division; sent to a camp in France and during the battle for Bastogne was transferred to 101st Airborne Division; at time of his death was serving in headquarters company in military intelligence section.

Sergeant Herring was killed at Bastogne in the Battle of the Bulge. Buried in Grand Failly No 1 Cemetery, Belgium. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Teresa Robles Herring of New York City, and maternal grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. J. F. Robles of Barranquilla, Colombia.

John Sears Parsons, Class of 1945W.

Born August 30, 1923, in Binghamton, N.Y. Died December 30, 1944, in Luxembourg.

Father, Edgar Burnside Parsons (B A Williams Coll 1915), treasurer Crowley's Milk Company, Inc, Binghamton. Mother, Margaret (Judd) Parsons

West Junior and Central High schools, Binghamton, and The Hotch-

kiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Entered Yale in July, 1942; biology course; member Calhoun College (in glee club) and First Congregational Church, Binghamton Unmarried.

Withdrew from college May 15, 1943; inducted into Army of the United States at Fort Devens June 14, 1943; transferred to Fort Benning and received basic training there August–November, 1943, entered Army Specialized Training Program at Northeastern University in November, 1943; transferred to Infantry March 15, 1944, and joined Company G, 101st Infantry, 26th Division, while on maneuvers at Camp Forrest, stationed at Fort Jackson until about August 15, 1944, sent to point of embarkation, Camp Shanks, August 15, 1944, and went overseas on August 27; landed at Cherbourg, France, September 7; saw action in Arracourt, France, Northern France, the Rhineland, and Ardennes

Private Parsons was killed in action during an advance on Nothum, Luxembourg. Buried in U.S. Military Cemetery, Hamm, Luxembourg Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents and a brother, Edgar Burnside Parsons, Jr.

SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

John Frederick Lynch, Class of 1944.

Born November 12, 1921, in Wilkinsburg, Pa. Died September 15, 1944, over Greece.

Father, Edward Dennis Lynch (B A Baltimore Polytechnic Inst. 1910), manager New Haven branch, transportation division, Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Knapp) Lynch

West Haven (Conn) High School. Entered Yale September, 1939; with Class of 1943, Yale College, 1940–41; joined Class of 1944 E. in September, 1941, mechanical engineering course, nonresident member Timothy Dwight College (on football team); member student branch American Society of Mechanical Engineers and Our Lady of Victory Church (Roman Catholic), West Haven. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college February 26, 1943, to enter service; trained at Maxwell Field, attended School of Aeronautics at Lafayette, La.; successively at Craig Field, Gunter Field, Dover, Del., and Richmond, Va.; commissioned Second Lieutenant and received pilot's wings; sent overseas and stationed in southern Italy, fighter pilot in a P-51 Mustang combat plane

Lieutenant Lynch was killed when his plane crashed while on a strafing mission over Athens Survived by parents, four sisters, the Misses Sarah Lee, Mary Elizabeth, Ann Estelle, and Kathleen Lynch, and three brothers, Lieut (jg) Edward D Lynch, Jr., '40 E, Dennis Cookson Lynch, and Robert Burnham Lynch, all of West Haven

Francis Joseph O'Toole, B.E. 1944.

Born June 1, 1921, in Darien, Conn. Died December 23, 1944, in the European area.

Father, Thomas Edward O'Toole, superintendent of an estate in Noroton, Conn; son of Michael O'Toole of Long Island, NY. Mother, Mary Agnes (Roddy) O'Toole, daughter of Michael and Catherine (Towey) Roddy of Ireland

Darien High School Mechanical engineering course; member R.O.T.C. at Yale (on pistol team Sophomore year; won Connecticut Reserve Officers Association medal for high average with pistol 1941–42 and second-

place medal National Rifle Association Class B pistol match February, 1942); member Davenport College (on bowling team) and Cannon and Castle; awarded B.E. October 25, 1943, as of the Class of 1944. Member St. John's Church (Roman Catholic), Noroton Unmarried.

Entered active duty as private, Fort Devens, June 15, 1943; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Sill, September-December, 1943, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, December 2, 1943; stationed at Fort Bragg December 15, 1943-June, 1944; assigned to 589th Field Artillery Battalion, 106th Infantry Division, Camp Atterbury, June-October, 1944, and on maneuvers in Louisiana; overseas November, 1944

Lieutenant O'Toole was killed when the barracks where he was being held a prisoner by the Germans was bombed. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart February 23, 1945. Survived by parents, two sisters, Miss Catherine Marie O'Toole and Mrs George Herbert Byrnes, both of Noroton Heights, and four brothers, Thomas Edward O'Toole, Jr., A U.S., John Michael O'Toole of Noroton Heights, James O'Toole, A.U.S., and Vincent Robert O'Toole, A U.S.

Alfred Ronald Neumunz, Class of 1945.

Born September 8, 1923, in Leeds, England. Died November 26, 1944, in England.

Father, Martin Neumunz (M.E. École Polytechnique Fédérale [Zurich] 1905), consulting engineer, New York City. Mother, Annie (Mellanby) Neumunz.

Fort Lee (N.J.) High School and Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J. Entered Yale September, 1941; mechanical engineering course; member Saybrook College and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Grantwood, N.J. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943, to enter Army Air Forces as private; stationed at Keesler Field March 27–April, 1943, and Eau Claire, Wis., April 29–July 10, 1943; received bombardier training at Santa Ana, Calif., July 16–October, 1943, gunner and bombardier training at Las Vegas, Nev., October 28–December 12, 1943, and navigator training at Hondo, Texas, December 24, 1943–April 24, 1944, commissioned Second Lieutenant at Hondo April 24, 1944; further navigator training in B-24 Liberator bombers at Casper, Wyo.; went overseas in July, 1944, and stationed in England and Ireland

Lieutenant Neumunz and the entire crew were killed when their plane failed to attain altitude in a take off and crashed. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Cambridge, England. Posthumously awarded Air Medal and the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by parents and a brother, G. Martin Neumunz, '38 E.

Frederick Wilkes Ribie, Class of 1945.

Born July 27, 1922, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 28, 1944, in Italy.

Father, Joseph Radames Ribie, export manager R. Wallace & Sons, Wallingford, Conn Mother, Evelyn (Wilkes) Ribie.

The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn. Entered Yale in September, 1941, engineering science course; member Saybrook College and The

Choate School Chapel Unmarried.

Withdrew from college February 1, 1943, enlisted in U.S. Army Air Forces February 22, 1943; received training at Atlantic City, State Teachers College, Oswego, N.Y., Nashville, Tenn, Maxwell Field, Ala., Avon Park, Fla, Cochran Field, Macon, Ga., Columbus, Miss, and Greensboro, N.C., commissioned Second Lieutenant April 15, 1944; pilot of a P-38; went overseas and arrived in Italy about June 1, 1944.

Lieutenant Ribie was killed on his first combat mission in Italy. Buried

in U.S. Military Cemetery, Bari, Italy. Survived by parents.

John Milton Miller, Jr., Class of 1945W.

Born September 7, 1924, in Akron, Ohio. Died November 25, 1944, over Germany.

Father, John Milton Miller (Univ Notre Dame 1917), plant manager fire plant, United States Rubber Company, Los Angeles. Mother, Ruth (Vogel) Miller (St Mary's Coll 1914)

Attended high schools in Akron, Los Angeles, and Taunton, Mass, and Moses Brown School, Providence, RI Entered Yale July 15, 1942; engineering science course, Freshman Swimming Team; member Timothy Dwight College and St Sebastian's Church (Roman Catholic), Providence Unmarried.

Withdrew from college April, 1943, entered Army Air Forces Enlisted Reserve Corps as private; assigned to Nashville Army Air Center as air cadet April 9–July 1, 1943; preflight training Maxwell Field July 1–September 1, 1943, primary training Harrell Field September 1–November 1, 1943; basic training Malden Field November 1, 1943–January 13, 1944; advanced training Stuttgart Army Air Field January 16–March 11, 1944; received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant March 11, 1944, and assigned to training in four-engine planes at Hendricks Field March 12–May 27, 1944, transferred to MacDill Field May 27–September 10, 1944, went overseas September 13, 1944, attached to 493d Bomb Group, 861st Bomber Squadron, 8th Air Force; held the Presidential Unit Citation and the Air Medal

Lieutenant Miller lost his life over Merseburg, Germany, while on his fifteenth bombing mission in a B-17 (Flying Fortress). Survived by parents, a sister, Mary Jewett Miller (B.A. Univ. California at Los Angeles 1945), a brother, William Ross Miller, and maternal grandmother, all of Los Angeles.

James Baume Stryker, Class of 1945W.

Born October 30, 1924, in Omaha, Nebr. Died December 5, 1944, in Germany.

Father, Hird Stryker (Ph B. Univ. Chicago 1914; J D. Harvard 1916), formerly partner Crofoot, Fraser, Connolly & Stryker, Omaha Mother, Ruth Estey (Baume) Stryker (B A. Wells Coll. 1917).

Central High School, Omaha. Entered Yale July 15, 1942; engineering science course; awarded New York Yale Club charm for scholarship Freshman year; member Freshman Debating Team, Jonathan Edwards College, and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Omaha Unmarried

Member Army Enlisted Reserve Corps at Yale, withdrew from college May 15, 1943; entered active duty as private, Infantry, June 14, 1943; sent to Fort McClellan for basic training June 28, 1943, and went overseas December, 1943, received further training in England with Company K, 116th Infantry, 29th Division; participated in action in Normandy on D-Day; promoted private (1st class) in June, 1944; wounded in action July 12, 1944; rejoined his division after hospitalization in England for a month; held Combat Infantryman's Badge.

Pfc. Stryker was killed in action at Hasenfeld Gut, Germany. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart with Oak Leaf Cluster. Survived by mother, a sister, Barbara Stryker (Univ Nebraska 1945–), a brother, Capt. Hird Stryker, Jr., AUS (BS Northwestern Univ 1940; Univ Michigan Law School 1940–42), and paternal grandmother, all of Omaha.

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN TRANSPORTATION

Howard Shepley Langford, M.S. 1930.

Born September 22, 1908, in Embro, Ont, Canada. Died March 30, 1945, in London, Ont, Canada.

Father, Rev. Frederick William Langford (B A. Univ Toronto 1905; M R E. Boston Univ. 1918), dean Emmanuel College, University of Toronto; son of Ephraim and Jane (Lannin) Langford of Ontario

١

Mother, Ida Bell (Dadson) Langford; daughter of John and Amelia

(Mellow) Dadson of Ontario.

Collegiate Institute, Toronto; B.A. University of Toronto 1929; graduate student in economics, sociology, and government Yale University 1929–30 (M S in Transportation 1930); clerk St. Louis Southwestern Railway Company 1930–34 (on leave of absence because of illness 1933–34); chief joint facility accountant Canadian Pacific Railway Company, Montreal, 1937–45 (on leave of absence from June, 1944); member First United Church, Town of Mount Royal, Montreal.

Married September 30, 1939, in Montreal, Margaret Hamilton, daughter of Hector and Catherine Smellie (Hamilton) MacRae. No children.

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Montreal Memorial Park. Survived by wife, parents, and a brother, Rev. Norman Frederick Langford (B.A. Univ. Toronto 1935, M.A. 1936; B.D. Emmanuel Coll. 1944) of Levack, Canada.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

MASTERS OF ARTS

Albert Sidney Reid, M.A. 1900.

Born October 3, 1864, in Boise City, Idaho. Died September 22, 1944, in Des Moines, Iowa.

Father, Samuel B. Reid, a farmer in North Carolina; also engaged in gold mining in the West. Mother, Mary Emma (Denny) Reid; daughter of Timothy D. Denny.

Attended rural schools in Routt County, Colorado, Iowa State Teachers College, Cedar Falls, and Capitol City Commercial College, Des Moines; B.A. Drake University 1896, M.A. 1897; graduate student in history and literature Yale University 1897–99 (M.A. 1900); principal Pocahontas (Iowa) High School 1901–03 and of several other schools; instructor in history Baptist College, Des Moines, 1909–12; U.S. Marshal, Des Moines, 1912–13; State Inspector of Foods for Iowa 1913–14; in 1914 became assistant examiner in office of State Superintendent of Public Instruction in Iowa but because of ill-health was forced to give up indoor work

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Knoxville, Iowa. Survived by a brother, Samuel Alexander Reid of Des Moines.

Raymond McFarland, M.A. 1902.

Born April 15, 1872, in Lamoine, Maine. Died September 6, 1944, in East Aurora, N.Y.

Father, Daniel Young McFarland, a farmer in Lamoine, son of John Dean and Emma J (Young) McFarland of Lamoine Mother, Hannah Bragdon (Brooks) McFarland; daughter of George F. and Eliza (Whittaker) Brooks of Lamoine.

Bucksport (Maine) Seminary; B A Amherst College 1897 (member Phi Kappa Psi); teacher in Maine high schools 1897–99 and at Bucksport Seminary 1899–1901; graduate student in history Yale University 1901–02 (M.A. 1902); teacher of history State Normal School, Castleton, Vt., 1902–03; principal Leicester (Mass) Academy 1903–08 and Ithaca (N.Y.) High School 1908–09; professor of secondary education Middlebury College 1909–20 and director of its summer sessions about 1910–14; principal Vermont Academy 1920–23; head purchasing department Art

Work Shop, Buffalo, N.Y, 1923-31; principal Aurora School of Personality 1931-33; assistant in English and public speaking Buffalo State Teachers College March-August, 1933; head English department East Aurora High School 1933-42; member summer session faculty University of Virginia 1915; executive secretary for Vermont, Interchurch World Movement of North America, 1919-20; collaborator Carnegie Institution of Washington 1904-07; organizer and leader scientific expedition into interior of Labrador 1910; author A History of New England Fisheries (1911), Skipper John of the Nimbus (1918), Sons of the Sea (1921), The Sea Panther (1928), and The Masts of Gloucester (1937); editor: Notable Short Stories (1937) and Sea Adventure (1938); major Vermont Militia 1917; admitted to Students Army Training Camp, Plattsburg, August 10, 1918, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, September 16, 1918; appointed Personnel Adjutant, S A T.C, Middlebury College; discharged December 16, 1918, president New England Association of College Teachers of Education; member American Academy of Political and Social Science, Authors Club (New York and London), Vermont Historical Society, American Legion, Masonic order, and East Aurora Baptist Church.

Married June 29, 1904, in Rutland, Vt, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Fordyce DeWitt and Adella V. (Goodenough) Bacon Children Hannah Elizabeth (Eastman School of Music 1926–27; Buffalo State Teachers Coll 1927–29), the wife of Ronald Dayton Silliman; Raymond Bacon (Syracuse Univ. 1929–31); Eleanor Grace, the wife of Joseph Anthony Barone, Florence Adella, the wife of Joseph Frederick Bragg; Helen Caroline (B A Milton Coll. 1944), the wife of George Thorngate; and Donald Joyce.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Pinehill Cemetery, Lamoine Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Adelia M Frye of Worcester, Mass., and two brothers, Helon Brooks MacFarland (BS Worcester Polytechnic Inst. 1894; M.ME Cornell Univ. 1903) of Woodstock, Va, and Melvin F. McFarland of Lamoine.

Antonio Marinoni, M.A. 1904.

Born May 30, 1879, in Pozzolengo, Italy. Died August 6, 1944, in New Brunswick, NJ.

Father, Luigi Marinoni, a building contractor in Italy, Turkey, and Brazil. Mother, Paola (Cerini) Marinoni.

BA Liceo of Desenzano, in Italy, 1900, student Faculty of Philosophy and Letters, University of Padua, 1900–03; graduate student in Latin Yale University 1903–04 (MA 1904); lecturer in Romance languages and literature Columbia University 1904–05, acting professor of Romance languages University of Arkansas 1905–06 and professor and head of the

department 1906–44; author: An Italian Reader (1909, 1911, 1923), An Elementary Grammar of the Italian Language (1911, 1912, 1920), España (1926), Come ho "fatto" l'America (1932), and Vita Italiana (1935); coauthor: L'Italia (1922), Veinticinco Episodios Bíblicos (1922), Simple Italian Lessons (1927), France (1927), An Elementary French Grammar (1929), Andiamo in Italia (1929) and Italy Yesterday and Today (1931), editor: Selections from G Carducci (1913); contributed to American and Italian periodicals; Y.M.C.A. educational director for Italy 1918–19, honorary member L'Academia Fisico-Chimica, Palermo, Cavaliere Ufficiale della Corona d'Italia 1920; member Modern Language Association of America, Phi Beta Kappa, and Roman Catholic church

Maria (Marzocchi) Zagnoni. Children Maria Stella (Univ. Arkansas ex-'33), the wife of Lloyd Alonzo Melton (B S. Univ. Arkansas 1936);

and Paul Albert (Univ. Arkansas 1935–39).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Bentonville (Ark.) Mausoleum. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

Robert Louis Ervin, M.A. 1907.

Born April 11, 1868, near Jackson, Ohio Died April 13, 1945, in Wellston, Ohio.

Father, James Madison Erwin, a farmer in Ohio, and employed in lumber yards; son of Robert Louis and Rachel (Thompson) Erwin who lived near Jackson. Mother, Elizabeth (Stout) Erwin; daughter of George Henry and Abigail (Glass) Stout of Baltimore, Md.

Wellston High School and Morgan Academy, Jackson, B A Ohio Northern University 1903; M A. Defiance College 1906, graduate student in history and economics Yale University 1906–07 (M A 1907) and engaged in study and research Defiance College 1907–08; supervising principal Wells Grade School, Wellston, 1892–94 and Central High School, Wellston, 1894–1904; principal Defiance (Ohio) High School 1904–06; superintendent Steubenville (Ohio) public schools 1908 until retirement 1933; Sc.D Defiance College 1910; member National Education Association and Hamline Methodist Church, Steubenville, and First Methodist Church, Wellston.

Married November 1, 1894, in Wellston, Mary Ellen, daughter of George MacDonald and Sara (Davies) Stewart Daughters: Orne Louise (B.A. Ohio Wesleyan Coll 1918), the wife of Donald Sterrett Wood; Mary Roberta (B.A. Ohio Univ. 1937), the wife of Nelson Allen Crites (B.A. Ohio Univ. 1937, M A 1939); and Karlene Elizabeth, the wife of Col Clayton DuBosque, '11 S Mrs Ervin died August 27, 1941.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Ridgewood Cemetery, Wellston. Survived by daughters and four grandchildren.

Charles Augustus Smith, M.A. 1909.

Born May 1, 1873, in Aledo, Ill. Died January 10, 1945, in Oklahoma City, Okla.

Father, Randolph Dawson Smith, a farmer; served in Company I, 45th Illinois Infantry, during Civil War. Mother, Sarah Jane (Lawhead) Smith; daughter of Samuel Lawhead of De Kalb County, Ind.

Taught in a country school in Kansas 1891–92; principal grammar school at River View, Kans, 1892–96; graduate Central Normal College, Great Bend, Kans, 1898; principal grammar school in Raymond, Kans., 1898–99 and high school Dodge City, Kans., 1899–1902; B.A. University of Kansas 1908; graduate student in history Yale University 1908–11 (MA 1909); member faculty University of Wisconsin 1911 until retirement 1943 (instructor in history 1911–12 and assistant professor 1912–20; acting secretary of the faculty 1920–21, secretary 1921–43); member State Historical Society of Wisconsin and First Baptist Church, Madison, Wis

Married December 23, 1902, in Coats, Kans., Nellie May, daughter of Gabriel Johnson and Mary Amanda (Moore) Gibbons. Adopted son: Charles McHenry (Milton Coll. 1937–40).

Death due to cardiac failure. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Madison. Survived by wife, son, and three brothers, Rev. Orlen L. Smith of Springfield, Mo, Chauncey J Smith of Linwood, Kans., and Delbert O. Smith (MD. Univ Kansas 1913) of Tulsa, Okla.

Joseph Leslie Sherrick, M.A. 1910.

Born April 23, 1888, in Little York, Ill. Died July 28, 1944, in Monmouth, Ill.

Father, Chauncey Sherrick (M.D. Missouri Medical Coll. 1881), a physician in Little York and Monmouth; son of Joseph Beidler R. and Elizabeth (Brugh) Sherrick of Decatur, Ill Mother, Ida (Dunlap) Sherrick, daughter of Robert and Rebecca Ann (Lee) Dunlap of Craigsville, Va.

B A. Monmouth College 1908, graduate student in biology Yale University 1909–10 (M A 1910) and Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1910–14 (M D. 1914), interne Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, 1914–15, physician and surgeon in Monmouth 1915–44; trustee Monmouth College 1921–44 and resident physician for women 1928–44; physician Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company and Minneapolis & St. Louis Railway Company, Monmouth, 1918–44; associate medical director Illinois Bankers Life Assurance Company 1937–44; on

staff and secretary Monmouth Hospital 1920–44; part-time civilian physician Naval Preflight School, Monmouth, and on medical advisory board No. 16, World War II; secretary Monmouth Medical Club, member Warren County Medical Society, Illinois State Medical Society (secretary section on medicine 1927 and chairman 1928), American College of Physicians, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and First United Church (Presbyterian), Monmouth.

Married August 30, 1916, in Traer, Iowa, Agnes, daughter of John and Agnes (McNairn) Young. Sons: Joseph Chauncey (B A. Monmouth Coll. 1937; M.D. Harvard 1941) and John McNairn (B S Monmouth Coll. 1943).

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Monmouth Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, mother, and a brother, John Chauncey Sherrick (B.A. Monmouth Coll. 1913; B S. in A.E. Univ. Illinois 1917) of Chicago.

Forest Emberson Calland, M.A. 1922.

Born October 13, 1868, near Summerfield, Ohio. Died January 13, 1945, in Beloit, Wis.

Father, William Calland, a farmer in Noble County, Ohio; son of Robert and Elizabeth (Melrose) Calland of Dumfries, Scotland, and Summerfield. Mother, Maria Jane (Horton) Calland; daughter of Richard and Mary Jane (Capell) Horton of Summerfield.

Drury Academy, Springfield, Mo; B.A. Drury College 1893, M.A 1897 (instructor in Latin 1893–95); graduate student in classical languages Yale University 1895–97 (M.A. 1922); instructor in ancient history and Latin Beloit Academy 1897–1900; associate professor of Latin Beloit College 1900–03, professor 1903–39, and professor emeritus 1939–45; manager campus bookstore for many years; Litt D. Drury College 1922; a corporator Beloit Savings Bank 1917–45 and trustee 1923–42; graduate member Beloit chapter Phi Beta Kappa; member American Geographical Society, American Philological Society, Classical Association of the Middle West and South, and First Congregational Church, Beloit

Married June 22, 1898, in Springfield, Mo, Ethel Margaret Marvin (B.S. Drury Coll. 1896), daughter of Joel Allen and Marie Genevieve (Taylor) Marvin. Children: Margaret Taylor (Beloit Coll ex-'24), Lucretia Marvin (B A. Beloit Coll. 1932), the wife of Raymond Arthur Lundberg (Ph B. Carroll Coll. 1930); and Richard Horton (B A. Beloit Coll. 1934).

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Beloit. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Georgiana Calland Barrett of Cleveland, and a brother, Henry Ellwood Calland (Drury Coll. 1894–96) of Indianapolis.

Wilson Greer, M.A. 1928.

Born February 6, 1894, in Toronto, Ont., Canada. Died June 27, 1945, in Wethersfield, Conn.

Father, James Alexander Greer, associated with Seth Thomas Clock Company, Thomaston, Conn; son of James and Margaret Greer of Euphrasia Township, Canada Mother, Lavinia Jane (Wilson) Greer; daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth (Little) Wilson of Ridgefield, Conn.

Mt Hermon (Mass) School; B A Wesleyan University 1917; entered service August 5, 1918, and assigned to Field Artillery; stationed at Camp Zachary Taylor until discharged November 18, 1918; county club leader for Middlesex County (Conn.) Farm Bureau 1919; State supervising agent Connecticut State Board of Education 1920–26; graduate student in education Yale University 1927–28 (M.A. 1928); superintendent of schools Groton, Conn , 1926–28 and Wethersfield 1928–45; author "A Secondary School Program for Groton, Connecticut" (1928); president Wethersfield Business Men's and Civic Association 1935, Hartford County Teachers Association 1930, and Connecticut School Superintendents Association 1943–44, member National Education Association, American Legion, Masonic order, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Wethersfield.

Married May 11, 1918, in Westerly, R I, Carolyn, daughter of William Henry and Sarah (McLean) Travis. Son: Robert Travis.

Death due to septicemia Buried in Riverbend Cemetery, Westerly Survived by wife, son, mother; a sister, Mrs. William Warren Cooper Ball of Windsor, Conn, and two brothers, Charles Lester Greer of Trenton, N J, and George Cecil Greer of Farmington, Conn.

Perry Hammond Jacob, M.A. 1929.

Born March 30, 1907, in Washington, D.C. Died April 25, 1945, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Samuel Jacob (Washington and Jefferson Coll. ex-'86; LL.B. National Univ. Law School 1891, LL M. 1892), field naturalization examiner Bureau of Immigration and Naturalization, US Department of Labor, Washington, son of John Gabriel Jacob (Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1847) and Isabella Perry (Tarr) Jacob of Wellsburg, W Va. Mother, Sarah Beall (Brown) Jacob; daughter of John Wilson and Bethanne Carter (Hammond) Brown of Ohio County, W.Va. Yale relatives include a cousin, James Paull, Jr, '28 L.

Business High School and McKinley Technical High School, Washington; B.S. University of Pennsylvania 1927, graduate student in eco-

1

nomics, sociology, and government Yale University 1927-29 (MA 1929); attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1928–29; statistical clerk in administrative offices Missouri Pacific Railroad, New York City, 1929-30; transportation apprentice Eastern district Erie Railroad 1930-33; railroad security analyst Brooklyn Trust Company 1933-36; assistant to railroad bond analyst National City Bank of New York 1936-41; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry Reserve, June, 1928, transferred to Quartermaster Corps in May, 1930, ordered to two inactive training conferences (two weeks each) 1932 and 1938, promoted First Lieutenant in August, 1938; ordered to active duty March 24, 1941; head of planning and marketing group, Office of Quartermaster General, Construction Division, Procurement and Expediting Section, until December, 1941; in supply division, Office of Chief of Engineers, December, 1941-February, 1942, promoted Captain, February 1, 1942, transferred to Transportation Division, Office of Quartermaster General, and to Traffic Control Division, Office of Chief of Transportation, Washington, as chief of Expediting Section, Traffic Control Division, until October, 1943; attached to 7th and 8th Traffic Regulation Groups, Fort Lawton, October, 1943-January, 1944, went overseas March 6, 1944; transferred to 6th Replacement Depot and stationed in New Caledonia, the New Hebrides, Guadalcanal, and Leyte; taken ill on Leyte and flown to San Francisco; member Takoma Park (Md) Presbyterian Church.

Married August 27, 1932, in Alfred, NY., Lillian, daughter of Rev Thomas Dearlove Holmes (BA. Univ Rochester 1890; grad. Rochester Theological Seminary 1893) and Lois (Maxon) Holmes Children: Sara Lois and Randall Holmes

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Wellsburg Survived by wife, children, father, stepmother, and a brother, John Brown Jacob (B S Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1926) of Washington.

Martha Dykeman Manross, M.A. 1930.

Born January 18, 1891, in Bristol, Conn. Died October 12, 1944, in Milford, Conn.

Father, Edward Arthur Manross, a clockmaker with E Ingraham Company, Bristol, son of Charles Hayden and Charlotte (Norton) Manross of Forestville, Conn Mother, Laura Marie (Platt) Manross, daughter of Edward and Martha (Dykeman) Platt of Waterbury, Conn Yale relatives include: Newton S. Manross (B A 1850) (great-uncle); and R. Newton Manross, '08 S (cousin).

Bristol High School; B A Vassar College 1915; teacher in Wethersfield, Conn., 1915–18; taught history Millbrook (N Y) High School 1918–21, Hand High School, Madison, Conn., 1921–24, and Milford High School 1924–44 (head of history department 1931–44); graduate student in edu-

cation Yale University 1924-30 (M.A. 1930); member First Congregational Church, Milford.

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by two sisters, Lottie May Manross (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1909; M.A. Columbia 1920) of Washington, D.C., and Miss Susan Platt Manross of Bristol.

John Holme Ballantine, Jr., M.A. 1940.

Born August 12, 1915, in San Francisco, Calif. Died November 19, 1944, in the Pacific area.

Father, John Holme Ballantine (Cornell Univ. ex-'15), president Neptune Meter Company, New York City; son of John Herbert Ballantine (B S. Cornell Univ. 1889) and Lois (Wilgus) Ballantine of Newark, N J Mother, Helen Ridgely (Morgan) Ballantine; daughter of Lancaster Morgan (Ph B. Columbia Univ. 1888) and Letitia (Goodwin) Morgan of New York City. Yale relatives include a great-uncle, John Hill Morgan, '93.

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn; B A. Williams College 1937 (member Sigma Phi); graduate student in education Yale University 1937-40 (M A 1940); instructor in mathematics Gilman Country School, Baltimore, Md, 1939-41; member St. John's Church (Episcopal), Far Rockaway, N Y.

Unmarried.

Enlisted U.S Naval Reserve in March, 1941; called to active duty as seaman (2d class) July 25, 1941; stationed at Floyd Bennett Field July–December, 1941; accepted as aviation cadet December 10, 1941; trained at U.S. Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Fla., December, 1941–April, 1942, and Miami April–June (awarded Cutler Wings as outstanding naval officer of his class); commissioned Ensign (Naval Aviator) June 20, 1942; promoted Lieutenant (j g) May 1, 1943, and Lieutenant July, 1944; pilot of a torpedo bomber, operating from a carrier in the Atlantic September, 1942–November, 1943; assigned to special shore duty and stationed in New York City and Groton Point, Conn., November, 1943–June, 1944; pilot of torpedo bomber, Torpedo Squadron 29, in the Pacific area from June, 1944; awarded Distinguished Flying Cross January, 1943, and the Order of the Purple Heart.

Lieutenant Ballantine was killed while participating in a bombing attack on New Lipa airfield, Luzon, Philippine Islands. Posthumously awarded the Gold Star in lieu of second Distinguished Flying Cross, for action against the enemy October 24–26, 1944, in the Second Battle of the Philippine Sea Survived by parents, a sister, Helen Ballantine Smith, the wife of Wentworth Smith (B A. Williams Coll. 1938; Yale Graduate School 1938–39), paternal grandfather, and maternal grandparents.

MASTER OF SCIENCE

John Henry Gardner, Jr., M.S. 1924.

Born October 10, 1893, in Meadowdale, N.Y. Died October 11, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Father, John Henry Gardner, a farmer in Meadowdale; son of Henry J Underhill and Eve Elizabeth Gardner of Albany, NY Mother, Fanny Brooks (Ostrander) Gardner; daughter of John and Katherine (Vanden-

bergh) Ostrander of Slingerlands, N.Y.

Albany Academy; B.E. Union College [N.Y] 1913 (member Chi Psi), M.E.E. 1915; associated with General Electric Company, Schenectady, N.Y., 1913-17; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, Officers Reserve Corps, August 15, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant (temporary) October 26, 1917; went overseas with 18th Field Artillery February 26, 1918; saw action in the Aisne-Marne defensive and Champagne-Marne, St.-Mihiel, and Meuse-Argonne offensives; with Army of Occupation in Germany August, 1919-June, 1921; commissioned First Lieutenant, Regular Army, February 3, 1919, and in Signal Corps August 20, 1919, promoted Captain July 1, 1920, Major August 1, 1935, Lieutenant Colonel August 18, 1940, Colonel December 24, 1941, and Brigadier General April 26, 1943; stationed at Camp Alfred Vail 1921-23, 1924-25; transferred to Signal Corps March 26, 1923, attended Signal School Company Officers Course, Fort Monmouth, 1923; graduate student in electrical engineering Yale University 1923-24 (MS. 1924); at Headquarters, 5th Corps Area, Fort Hayes, 1925-26; in office of Chief Signal Officer, Washington, 1927-30, 1934-38 and at Signal Corps Laboratories, Fort Monmouth, 1931–34; attended Command and General Staff School, Fort Leavenworth, 1938-39 (graduated 1939); director Signal Corps Aircraft Radio Laboratory, Wright Field, Dayton, Ohio, 1939-42, Signal Corps Aircraft Signal Service 1942-43, and commandant 1943; assistant chief Procurement and Distribution Service, Army Signal Corps, Washington, 1943-44; awarded Legion of Merit July 20, 1942, for developing and translating into commercial production radically new equipment for aircraft communication and navigational control; member American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Masonic order, and Altamont (NY) Reformed Church.

Married October 15, 1921, in New York City, Mercedée Latham, daughter of George Latham and Fanny (Rab) Crum Children Frances Patricia (B.A. Vassar Coll 1944), the wife of Capt. Carl Douglas Haneline (B S Georgia School of Technology 1942); and John Underhill

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in The National Cemetery,

Arlington. Survived by wife, children, and mother.

DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

Wilbert Webster White, Ph.D. 1891.

Born January 16, 1863, in Ashland, Ohio. Died August 21, 1944, in New York City.

Father, John May White, a farmer near Wooster, Ohio; son of James and Isabella (May) White of Washington County, Pa. Mother, Martha Ann (Campbell) White; daughter of George and Eliza (Laughery) Campbell of Ashland County, Ohio

Attended Preparatory Department, College of Wooster; B.A. College of Wooster 1881, M A. 1884 (honorary member Phi Beta Kappa); graduate Xenia Theological Seminary 1885; ordained in United Presbyterian ministry 1885; minister Presbyterian church, Peotone, Ill, 1885-86; assistant in office of Professor William Rainey Harper and registered in Yale Graduate School 1886–89 (Ph D 1891); professor of Hebrew and Old Testament Literature, Xenia Theological Seminary, 1891-94; teacher Moody Bible Institute 1894-96; engaged in Bible work in India under International Committee, Y.M.C.A., 1896-98 and in special Bible teaching in England 1898–1900; founder Bible Teachers Training School (later Biblical Seminary in New York) 1900, president 1900-40, and honorary president 1940-44, founder Columbiona-on-Lake George, Silver Bay, NY., 1925 and president 1925-44; DD. Muskingum College 1896 and New York University 1913; author: The Natural Method of Memorizing and Memory Training (1888), "The Historical Situation in Isaiah I-XXXIX" (1891), Inductive Studies in the Minor Prophets (1894), Thirty Studies in Jeremiah (1895), Thirty Studies in the Gospel by John (1896), Availing Prayer (1900), Old Testament Records, Poems and Addresses (1900), Studies in Old Testament Characters (1900), Thirty Studies in the Gospel by Matthew (1903), The Resurrection Body (1923), and How to Study (1930); editor Biblical Review 1916–18 and associate editor 1925-32, member Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, National Society of Bible Instructors, Ohio Society of New York, and United Presbyterian Church of North America, Argyle, N.Y.

Married March 31, 1885, in St. Clairsville, Ohio, Ella Jane, daughter of John and Marianne (Wallace) Henderson. Children. Helen Henderson (Coll Wooster ex-'09); Wilbert Wallace (B.A. Coll. Wooster 1912; died October 18, 1918), Robert Campbell (died May 13, 1900); and Donald Murray (Princeton ex-'25). Mrs White died May 17, 1943.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Mt Hebron Cemetery, Upper Montclair, N J. Survived by daughter, one son, five grandchildren, three sisters, Leila Ada White Mott (B.A. Coll. Wooster 1886), the wife of

John R. Mott, LL.D. (Ph.B Cornell Univ. 1888; M.A. Hon. Yale 1899), of Canada, and Orlando, Fla., Elizabeth Belle White Compton (B A. Coll Wooster 1886; Mrs. Charles Randolph Compton) of Wooster, Ohio, and Anna May White Stewart (B.A. Coll Wooster 1890), the widow of William Ramsay Stewart, ex-'24 D, of Orlando and Wooster, and a brother, J. Campbell White, LL.D. (B.A. Coll. Wooster 1890, M A. 1893), of Mansfield, Ohio.

Anna Hunt Billings, Ph.D. 1898.

Born September 16, 1861, in Hatfield, Mass. Died August 5, 1944, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Frederick Dickinson Billings, a farmer in Hatfield; son of Charles Morris and Charlotte (White) Billings of Hatfield Mother, Frances Amelia (Hunt) Billings; daughter of Joseph and Anna Dickinson (Morton) Hunt of Oswego, N.Y.

Smith Academy, Hatfield; B L. Smith College 1891; graduate student in English literature Yale University 1895–98 (Ph D. 1898); taught English literature in California 1892–95 and 1898 until retirement 1909 (University of Southern California 1892–94, Riverside High School 1894–95, Redlands High School 1898–99, Long Beach 1902–03, and San Diego State College 1904–09); author: A Guide to the Middle English Metrical Romances (1901), engaged in research and travel in Europe and the United States 1909–35, resided in Redlands 1935–44; member Phi Beta Kappa and First Congregational Church, Hatfield

Death due to a general breakdown Ashes interred in Hillside Cemetery, Redlands. Survived by two sisters, Florence Frances Billings (B A. Stanford Univ. 1902; Univ. Berlin 1909–12; M A. Columbia Univ. 1927) and Miss Charlotte White Billings, both of Redlands.

George Tucker Sellew, Ph.D. 1898.

Born October 26, 1866, in Gowanda, NY. Died December 27, 1944, in Claremont, Calif.

Father, Ashbel Roberts Sellew, employed in an iron foundry in Dunkirk, N.Y. Mother, Jane (Tucker) Sellew

A. M. Chesbrough Seminary, North Chili, NY.; B A. University of Rochester 1889 (member Theta Chi), M A 1892; graduate student in mathematics Cornell University 1893–94 and Yale University 1896–98 (Ph.D. 1898); attended University of London 1921–22; instructor in

mathematics Gale College 1889–90, Ohio Military Institute 1890–92, Pennsylvania State College 1892–93 and 1894–96, and Yale University 1898–99; professor of mathematics Knox College 1899–1934 and professor emeritus 1934–44; member American Mathematical Society (chairman Illinois section 1922–23), American Statistical Society, and Presbyterian church, Galesburg, Ill, and Community Church, Claremont.

Married July 8, 1895, in Grand Rapids, Mich., Isabella, daughter of Joseph Nevin and Ella Stroube (Tewksbury) Murray. Son: David

Murray (B S. Bowdoin Coll. 1927).

Death due to heart disease. Ashes interred in Pomona (Calif.) Mauso-leum. Survived by wife, son, one granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs. Sara Sellew Pool of Catonsville, Md.

Albert Whitehouse Buck, Ph.D. 1926.

Born May 14, 1887, in Orland, Maine. Died September 12, 1944, in Orland, Maine.

Father, Albert Reddington Buck, a merchant in Orland; son of John Albert and Charlotte Maria (Buck) Buck of Orland. Mother, Mary Louisa (Saunders) Buck, daughter of Dudley Parker and Caroline Betsy (Whitehouse) Saunders of Orland. Yale relatives include an uncle, Harry H Buck, ex-'72 S.

East Maine Conference Seminary, Bucksport; B.A. Bates College 1912 (member Phi Beta Kappa); graduate student Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1912-13; industrial health inspector Massachusetts State Board of Labor and Industries 1913–15 and January–September, 1916; associated with American Red Cross 1915–19 (inspector Sanitary Commission to Serbia 1915-January, 1916; assistant director and director of the relief unit to southern Serbia, with headquarters in Salonica, Greece, September, 1916-September, 1918 [assimilated rank of Major]; on staff Balkan commission, with headquarters in Rome, Italy, and later director of unit to Albania with headquarters at Tirana, Albania, January-July, 1919); attached to Bureau of Codes, United States Embassy, Paris, 1918-1919; chief of division of publicity and education Commission for the Prevention of Tuberculosis in France, Rockefeller Foundation, Paris, 1920–23, graduate student in public health Yale University 1923–26 (Ph D. 1926); assistant director Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, June, 1924-February, 1926; superintendent New Haven (Conn.) Hospital 1926-37 (with professorial rank in Yale University); director Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, Torrington, Conn., 1937-44; author: A Study of Hospital Services and Costs in the United States (1928); second vicepresident and director Connecticut Hospital Association 1930-35, president 1935-36, president New England Hospital Assembly 1934-35; third

vice-president American Hospital Association 1936; trustee Hospital Service Plan, Inc., 1937, member New Haven Council of Social Agencies, awarded Médaille d'Honneur du Comité National de Defense Contre la Tuberculose (1937) and decorated by Serbian and Greek governments, member American College of Hospital Administrators, Gamma Nu, and Congregational Church, Orland.

Married (1) April 3, 1929, in New Haven, Janet Camp Hobson, daughter of Walter Camp, '80, and Alice Graham (Sumner) Camp and sister of Walter Camp, Jr, '13. No children. Mr and Mrs Buck were divorced Married (2) May 14, 1939, in Newton, Kans, Ann Elizabeth Suderman (B.A. Univ. Kansas 1923, M.A. 1929; assistant in research in medicine Yale University 1932–34), daughter of Herman Ediger and Mary (Krehbiel) Suderman. Daughter: Charlotte Krehbiel

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Orland. Survived by wife, daughter, and two sisters, Mrs Gertrude Buck Kennedy of Bucksport and Miss Abbie May Buck of Orland.

Warren Arthur Hanson, Ph.D. 1936.

Born June 4, 1887, in Lowell, Mass. Died April 19, 1945, in New London, Conn.

Father, Ivory Mansell Hanson, chief engineer Talbot Mills, Billerica, Mass.; son of Samuel and Susan (Libby) Hanson of Biddeford, Maine. Mother, Annie Blanche (Clark) Hanson; daughter of William H. and Matilda (Hilyard) Clark of Eastport, Maine.

Howe High School, Billerica, attended Harvard 1905–09 (B S 1909), instructor in chemistry, physics, and Spanish St Matthew's Military School, Burlingame, Calif., and attended Leland Stanford University 1909–10; principal Avon (Mass) High and Grammar schools 1910–11, teacher of mathematics and principal Nathan Hale Grammar School, New London, 1911–18, superintendent of schools, New London, 1918–45 (because of ill-health had been on leave of absence since December, 1944); registered in Yale Graduate School 1931–36 (Ph D 1936); author. "School Plant Operation Costs" (1936); president New England Association of School Superintendents 1934; vice-president and director Y M C A. and U.S O, New London; member Connecticut Association of Public Schools, Associated Charities, New London, and Masonic order, trustee First Baptist Church, New London.

Married October 28, 1911, in Billerica, Agnes, daughter of Daniel N and Nettie F. (Miles) Duren Son Gene Warren.

Death due to asphyxia Buried in North Burial Ground, Billerica. Survived by wife, son, and mother.

Irene Estelle Kuslovitz, Ph.D. 1944.

Born March 19, 1922, in Trenton, N.J. Died January 31, 1945, in Miami, Fla.

Father, Samuel Kuslovitz, a grocer in Trenton; son of Abraham and Rebecca Kuslovitz of Trenton. Mother, Sylvia (Kaufman) Kuslovitz;

daughter of Peter and Anna Kaufman of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Western High School, Baltimore, Md.; B S. University of Maryland 1942; graduate student in bacteriology Yale University 1942–44 (Ph.D. 1944, member Sigma X1), engaged in research at Brady Institute, Johns Hopkins University, 1944–45; author: "The Destruction of α-Staphylotoxin by a Bacterial Enzyme."

Death due to congestive heart disease. Buried in Brith Sholem Cemetery, Trenton. Survived by mother, a sister, Beatrice Kuslovitz (M A. Johns Hopkins Univ. 1939) of Miami, a brother, Harold Kuslovitz (Johns Hopkins Univ. 1930–32, 1943–44) of Chicago, and maternal grandmother.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Wilton Elias Dickerman, M.D. 1893.

Born August 10, 1864, in Hamden, Conn. Died February 18, 1945, in Hamden, Conn

Father, Elias Dickerman of Hamden; son of Eli and Sophia (Bassett) Dickerman of Hamden. Mother, Eunice (Gilbert) Dickerman; daughter of Gibbs and Amelia (Eaton) Gilbert.

Greenwich Academy, East Greenwich, R.I.; B.A. Amherst College 1890; attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1890–91 and Yale School of Medicine 1891–93 (M.D. 1893; member Nu Sigma Nu); interne Hartford Hospital 1893–95; physician in Hartford, associate medical director Aetna Life Insurance Company, and assistant visiting physician Hartford Hospital 1895 until retirement 1933; resided in Hamden from about 1940; member Hartford Medical Society, Connecticut State Medical Society, and American Medical Association

Unmarried.

Death due to myocardial weakness. Ashes interred in Whitneyville Cemetery, Hamden. Survived by a brother, Asa Dickerman (died March 3, 1945).

Wyeth Elliott Ray, M.D. 1898.

Born December 16, 1877, in Lisbon, Conn. Died October 25, 1944, in Pawling, N.Y.

Father, Joseph Albert Ray, a contractor and builder in Norwich, Conn.; son of Albert Avery and Mary (Giddings) Ray of Norwichtown, Conn. Mother, Emma Elizabeth (Lyon) Ray.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn. Entered Yale College with Class of 1895 and transferred to Yale School of Medicine in that year (M.D. 1898; Class secretary Senior year).

Acting assistant sanitary superintendent City of New York 1900; physician in charge Riverside Hospital, North Brother's Island, NY., 1900-02, diagnostician New York City Department of Health 1902-03; associate medical director Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, 1903-10 and diagnostician Hartford City Health Department 1902-06; physician in New York City 1910 until retirement 1928; medical director Germania Life Insurance Company 1910-14; resided in Pawling 1928-44, assistant surgeon, Naval Battalion, Connecticut National Guard; member Hartford City and Hartford County Medical societies, American Medical Association, and Medical Directors and Medical Examiners associations.

Married (1) January 24, 1902, in New York City, Clara, daughter of John De Witt. Sons: Albert De Witt (New York State School of Agriculture 1923), Wyeth Carleton (Amherst Coll. ex-'31), and Donald Elliott (Amherst Coll. ex-'34). Mrs. Ray died in January, 1910. Married (2) December 3, 1910, in Hartford, Anna Jane, daughter of James Taylor and Mary Jane (Ballantyne) Magee Sons: Carl Putnam (B A. Dartmouth Coll. 1937) and Chester Whitney (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'42).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Pawling Cemetery. Survived by wife, sons, four grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Grace R. Mac-

Calmon of New Haven.

David Aloysius Flynn, M.D. 1905.

Born October 23, 1879, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died June 25, 1945, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Patrick Flynn of Bridgeport; supervisor Bridgeport Brass Company; son of Patrick John and Elizabeth (Healey) Flynn of Ireland. Mother, Joanna (Leahy) Flynn; daughter of Thomas and Joanna (Ross) Leahy of Ireland

Bridgeport High School; attended Yale School of Medicine 1902-05 (M.D. 1905); interne St. Francis Hospital, Hartford, Conn., 1905-07; physician in Bridgeport 1908 and in New Haven 1908-45; supervising physician Springside Home, New Haven, 1933-45; member New Haven Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, and St. Rose's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven.

Married July 1, 1918, in New Haven, Elizabeth Veronica, daughter of Joseph and Winifred (Smith) Hanley Children. Elizabeth Helen (B.A. Albertus Magnus Coll. 1941), Helen Gertrude (B.A. Albertus Magnus Coll 1944), and Marie Frances (Albertus Magnus Coll ex-'45). Mrs. Flynn died May 11, 1938.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by daughters, three sisters, Mrs. Robert Dabb, Mrs Daniel Murphy, and Mrs. John Hackett, all of Bridgeport, and a brother, Thomas F. Flynn of Bridgeport.

Carl Emil Meyer, M.D. 1906.

Born June 26, 1875, in Holyoke, Mass. Died November 25, 1944, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Moritz Carl Meyer, a weaver in Holyoke; son of Carl F. and Bertha M Meyer of Thompsonville, Conn Mother, Anna Pauline (Meyer) Meyer; daughter of Carl Paul Meyer.

Phillips-Andover. Studied at Boston City Hospital 1899–1901; attended Yale School of Medicine 1902–06 (MD 1906); interne Springfield (Mass.) Hospital 1906–07; physician in Chicopee, Mass, 1907–27; owned and operated a fruit farm in Amherst 1926–29; on staff Northampton State Hospital about 1929–31; assistant in biology Amherst College 1932–44; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, October 22, 1918, stationed at Camp Greenleaf and Camp Crane, discharged December 14, 1918; member Massachusetts Medical Society, American Medical Association, and Unitarian Church, Chicopee.

Married June 10, 1906, in Chicopee, Anna Marie, daughter of William and Henrietta (Rühl) Ludwig. Daughter: Beatrice (BS Massachusetts State Coll. 1931), the wife of William Ernest Batchelder. Mrs. Meyer died

July 19, 1943.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Ashes interred in Moodus, Conn Survived by daughter, four grandchildren, a sister, Miss Lillian Meyer of Springfield, and four brothers, Arthur Carl Meyer of Hamden, Conn, Albert Gustave Meyer and Leslie Meyer, both of Chicopee, and Herbert Meyer of West Springfield, Mass.

Mayo Russell Purple, M.D. 1937.

Born April 27, 1912, in East Hampton, Conn. Died January 19, 1945, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Norman William Purple (B.S. Univ. Connecticut 1908), manager Gong Bell Manufacturing Company, East Hampton; son of Mayo Smith and Gettine Louise (Arnold) Purple of East Hampton. Mother, Annie Katherine (O'Connell) Purple; daughter of Jeremiah Keating and Katherine Ann (Shea) O'Connell of Moodus, Conn

Middletown (Conn.) High School; B.A. Dartmouth College 1933 (member Alpha Chi Sigma and Alpha Tau Omega); attended Yale School of Medicine 1933–37 (M D. 1937); interne University Hospitals of Cleveland, Ohio, 1937–39; assistant resident physician New Haven Hospital and New Haven Dispensary 1939–40 and resident physician 1940–42; assistant in medicine Yale School of Medicine 1939–40 and instructor 1940–42; commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, Army of the United States, August 27, 1942, assigned to Army Air Forces and stationed at Wellston Airport, Ga; received medical discharge August 5, 1944; member St. Patrick's Church (Roman Catholic), East Hampton. Unmarried.

Trapped in a hotel fire Dr. Purple died of suffocation and extensive burns. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, East Hampton. Survived by parents.

William Melvin Kober, M.D. 1938.

Born March 16, 1912, in Little Rock, Ark. Died August 29, 1944, in France.

Father, Albert Kober, a salesman for Colonial Baking Company, Little Rock; son of Chris John and Katherine (Dieteile) Kober of Germany. Mother, Bertha (Weigelt) Kober; daughter of Rhinhardt and Caroline (Beiman) Weigelt of Breslau, Germany.

B A. Columbia University 1934; attended Yale School of Medicine 1934–38 (M.D. 1938); interne in obstetrics and gynecology Lenox Hill Hospital, New York City, 1938–40; physician in Little Rock 1940–41;

member Evangelical Lutheran Church, Little Rock.

Married January 6, 1936, in New York City, Ethel May, daughter of Michael Francis and Ethel May (Mulvey) Sullivan and sister of Edward M. Sullivan, '36 M. Children: Michael William, Karen Ashley, and John Edward.

Commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, Army of the United States, August 1, 1941; assigned as squadron surgeon, 4th Cavalry, Medical Detachment, Fort Meade, September 1, 1941–December, 1943; detached duty at Medical Field Service School, Tenth Refresher Course, Carlisle, Pa, January 1–March 1, 1942; promoted Captain May 25, 1942; attended course in tropical medicine, Army Medical School, Washington, March-April, 1943; on maneuvers with 4th Cavalry in Louisiana and at desert training center, California; transferred to Camp Maxey, Texas; sent overseas December, 1943; commanding officer of medical detachment, 24th Cavalry, in England December, 1943–June, 1944, and squadron surgeon in France June–August.

Captain Kober was killed when his ambulance received a direct hit from enemy fire Buried in an American cemetery in France. Survived by wife, children, father (died May 5, 1945), mother, two sisters, the Misses Katherine Anne and Alvina Freda Kober of Little Rock, and five brothers, Otto Emil Kober of Pawtucket, RI, Rudolph Edwin Kober,

and John, Chris, and Clemens Kober of Little Rock.

Maurice Norman Manning, M.D. 1942.

Born July 17, 1914, in Auburn, Wash. Died May 18, 1945, off Okinawa, Ryukyu Islands.

Father, Maurice Norman Manning, a merchant with United Growers, Inc., Beaverton, Ore; son of Levi Ben and Mary (Dee) Manning of Portland, Ore. Mother, Louise Constance (Jahens) Manning; daughter of Herman William and Rachel Mary Jahens of Portland.

Beaverton High School; attended California Institute of Technology 1932-34, University of Oregon 1934-38 (BA. 1938; member Sigma Alpha Epsilon), and Yale School of Medicine 1938-42 (M.D. 1942, member Nu Sigma Nu); interne San Diego County General Hospital July 1, 1942–June 30, 1943.

Married June 17, 1939, in New Haven, Conn., Charmion Johnston (technician, Department of Anatomy, Yale School of Medicine, 1936-42),

daughter of Oney Oren and Mildred (Taylor) Johnston.

Commissioned Lieutenant (1 g.), Medical Corps, U.S. Naval Reserve, August 13, 1942; on active duty at Naval Medical School, National Naval Medical Center, Bethesda, Md, July-December, 1943; assigned as medical officer to destroyer U.S.S. Longshaw December, 1943; promoted Lieutenant July 10, 1944.

Lieutenant Manning was instantly killed by shrapnel when his ship went aground south of Naha and was bombarded by Japanese shore batteries. Buried in military cemetery on Okinawa. Posthumously awarded

the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife and mother

DIVINITY SCHOOL

Henry Martyn Herrick, B.D. 1887.

Born June 16, 1861, in Rockford, Ill. Died February 24, 1945, in Rockford, Ill.

Father, Ephraim Leonard Herrick, a farmer in Rockford; son of Russell and Maria (Tyler) Herrick of Rutland and Essex, Vt. Mother, Susan Bruce (Coffren) Herrick; daughter of Daniel and Polly (Currier) Coffren of Acworth, N H

Rockford High School; attended Beloit College 1879-81, Amherst College 1882-84 (B.A. 1884, MA. 1887; member Phi Beta Kappa), Yale Divinity School 1884-87 (BD. 1887; Commencement speaker), and University of Chicago Graduate Divinity School 1898–1900 (Ph.D. 1900); ordained in Second Congregational Church, Winona, Minn., December 28, 1887, and minister there 1887-89; minister in Morris, Minn., 1889-93, Charles City, Iowa, 1893-95, and Carpentersville, Ill, 1896-1900; principal Port Byron (Ill.) Academy and Dundee (Ill.) High School 1901-09; professor of Biblical literature and sociology Kingfisher College 1909-10; private instructor in Hebrew, Greek, Latin, and modern languages, Stockton, Ill., 1910-17; associate professor of modern languages Rockford College 1917-22, Spanish and Italian 1922-24, and German and Italian 1924-31; professor of modern languages Beloit College 1931-34 and visiting lecturer 1934-35; director the Language Studio and export aide in foreign correspondence Rockford Chamber of Commerce 1934-44; certificate College of the Pyrenees, University of Barcelona, Spain, 1923; author: The Kingdom of God in the Writings of the Fathers (1903); translated writings of Zoroaster and Tolstoy and Saga of Eric the Red; lectured widely; secretary Y M C.A at Camp Grant 1917; member Second Congregational Church, Rockford.

Married May 8, 1888, in Freeport, Ill., Alma Simmons Crouse (Rockford Coll. ex-'87), daughter of Dr. Davis F. Crouse. Son: Winfred Crouse (B A. Beloit Coll. 1922, M.A. 1927; Univ. Illinois 1927-29; died January 24, 1929). Mrs. Herrick died March 31, 1914.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Ashes interred in Stockton Cemetery Survived by a sister, Laura Herrick Bates (B A. Oberlin Coll 1885) of Sheboygan, Wis.

John Winslow Norris, B.D. 1894.

Born August 26, 1862, in Albany, Vt. Died August 24, 1944, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, Myron Kimball Norris, a farmer in Albany, son of Jonathan and Lucinda (Cross) Norris of Albany. Mother, Augusta Smith (George) Norris; daughter of Lemuel and Nancy (Smith) George of Walden, Vt.

B.A. University of Vermont 1891; attended Yale Divinity School 1891–94 (B.D. 1894); ordained in North Street Congregational Church, Middletown, N.Y., July 19, 1894, and minister there 1894–98; minister Church-ville, N.Y, 1898–99 and Elburn, Ill, 1899–1901; lecturer and evangelist in Elburn 1901–02; minister Barre, Mass., 1902–03, Worcester 1903–04, Wilkes-Barre, Pa., 1905–07, Marietta, Ohio, 1907–11, Sylvania 1911–15, Prescott, Mass, 1915–17, Westhampton 1917–23, and East Burke, Vt, 1923 until retirement 1926, resided in Westhampton 1926–44; member Alpha Tau Omega and Congregational Church, Westhampton.

Married (1) November 29, 1894, in Oxford, Conn., Sarah, daughter of Orlando Newton and Idella Jane (Andrews) Osborn Daughter Sarah Augusta (Ph.B Univ. Vermont 1917), the wife of Alfred Benjamin Gunter Edmonds (B A. Univ. Richmond 1911). Mrs Norris died December 22, 1895. Married (2) August 11, 1898, in Syracuse, N Y., Alice, daughter of Rev. Lemuel Jones and Elizabeth (Jones) Jones. Children Charles Myron (Amherst Coll ex-20) and John Winslow, Jr (died January 30,

1914). Mrs. Norris died January 28, 1912.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Center Cemetery, Westhampton Survived by daughter, one son, and eight grandchildren.

Harry Woodruff Johnson, B.D. 1895.

Born March 31, 1868, in Washington, D.C. Died January 10, 1945, in Willsboro, N.Y.

Father, Jerome Fletcher Johnson, in wholesale grocery business and with Equitable Life Assurance Society, Washington, son of James Gibson and Susan (Bowen) Johnson of Royal Oak, Mich Mother, Eliza Janet (Woodruff) Johnson, daughter of Jerome B and Malinda (Whiting) Woodruff of Litchfield, Conn

George Washington University Preparatory School, Washington; B.A. Williams College 1891; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1891–92 and Yale Divinity School 1893–96 (B.D. 1895), engaged in preaching summer 1892–93; ordained in Congregational church, Washington, May 24, 1896; minister New Ulm, Minn, 1896–1900, New Richland 1900–03, Pilgrim Congregational Church, Duluth, 1903–08, Arlington, Wash,

1908–14, Bethel Congregational Church, Nanticoke, Pa., 1914–15, First Congregational Church, Harford, 1915–19, Pilgrim Memorial Congregational Church, Jamestown, N.Y., 1919–23, First Congregational Church, Elizabethtown 1923–30, Memorial Congregational Church, Seneca Falls, 1930–39, and United Congregational Church, Willsboro, 1939–45; secre-

tary Class of 1895 D from 1904 to 1945.

Married (1) September 29, 1897, in Washington, Blanche Ellen, daughter of George William and Ellen (Badger) Seaver. Children: Genevieve Seaver (Cornell Univ. 1924–25), the wife of Howard Hamilton Calkins; and Ruth Alden (B S. Northwestern Univ 1931), the wife of Comdr. Carl Erling Hoard (U S Naval Academy 1913; M.S Columbia 1922). Mrs. Johnson died August 26, 1929. Married (2) November 8, 1933, in Auburn, N Y, Mary Blanche, daughter of Luther Tucker and Josephine (Bean) Sparhawk.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife and daughters.

Joseph Benjamin Kettle, B.D. 1895.

Born May 12, 1866, in Elton, N.Y. Died September 17, 1944, in Holley, N.Y.

Father, Rev. Joseph Kettle, a Baptist minister in Canada and western New York State; son of John and Martha (Headgold) Kettle of South Witham, England. Mother, Laura Lucinda (Hoyt) Kettle; daughter of

Isaac and Lassonia (Favor) Hoyt of Danbury, N.H.

Jamestown (N.Y) High School; BA. Colorado College 1892; attended Pacific Theological Seminary 1892-93 and Yale Divinity School 1893-95 (BD. 1895); ordained in Congregational church, Greenfield Hill, Conn, April 16, 1895, and minister there 1895-1900; minister Rapid City, S Dak, 1900-03, Amboy, Ill., 1903-05, First Congregational Church, St Joseph, Mo, 1905-10, Pilgrim Congregational Church, Leominster, Mass, 1910–18, Central Congregational Church, Middleboro, Mass, 1918–21, South Congregational Church, Rochester, N.Y., 1921– 26, South Congregational Church, Utica, 1926-30, and First Congregational Church, Spencerport, 1930 until retirement 1936, supply minister at various churches in western New York 1936-37 and at South Congregational Church, Rochester, 1938-39 and Parma (N.Y.) Christian Church and Murray (N.Y.) Baptist Church 1943-44; chairman evangelistic committee New York State Congregational Society; member Western New York Ministerial Association of Congregational and Christian Churches, Ontario District Ministers Association, and South Congregational Church, Rochester

Married (1) June 3, 1895, in Grand Junction, Colo, Grace Gertrude, daughter of Lester H. and Rosetta (Jackson) Gilbert. Children: Joseph

Gilbert (B.B.A. Boston Univ. 1921), Lester Woolsey, Arthur Burton (B.B.A. Boston Univ. 1928), and Ruth Viola (died in infancy) Mrs Kettle died January 1, 1919 Married (2) December 1, 1919, in Gloucester, Mass., Annie Louise, daughter of John Hugh and Louisa (Blake) Mac-Millan.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Mount Albion Cemetery, Albion, N.Y. Survived by wife, sons, five grandchildren, one great-grandchild, a sister, Mrs George Wentworth of Murray, and two brothers, John Willmot Kettle of Batavia, NY, and James Garfield Kettle (B.A. Hobart Coll. 1904) of Geneva, N.Y.

Charles Snow Thayer, B.D. 1895.

Born August 4, 1865, in Westfield, Mass. Died July 8, 1944, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Lucius Fowler Thayer of Westfield; a civil engineer; son of Lucius Fowler and Lydia (Ellsworth) Thayer of Westfield Mother, Martha Ann (Harrison) Thayer; daughter of Hiram and Martha (Lee) Harrison of Westfield.

Westfield High School; B.A. Amherst College 1886; bank clerk in Minneapolis 1886–92; attended Yale Divinity School 1892–95 (B.D. 1895; Commencement speaker) and University of Gottingen 1895–1901 (Ph.D. 1901); assistant minister Union Congregational Church, Providence, R.I., 1900–02 and ordained there June, 1902; associated with Hartford Seminary Foundation 1902–44 (librarian Case Memorial Library 1902–36, librarian emeritus 1936–44; associate professor of bibliology 1902–07, professor 1907–36; assistant treasurer board of trustees); author Ueber das Verhaltniss der Psalmen zu Jeremia (1901) and numerous articles published in Bible dictionaries; coöperated in compiling and editing Periodical Articles on Religion 1890–99 and its Author Index (1907); assisted in editing and translating Introduction to the New Testament by Theodor Zahn (1909); member Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, Archeological Institute of America, and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford

Married December 28, 1904, in Springfield, Mass, Mary Appleton Shute (B.A. Smith Coll. 1887; Yale Graduate School 1893–95; Univ. Göttingen 1896–98; American School of Classical Studies, Athens, 1902–03), daughter of Nathaniel Appleton and Ellen Sophia (Holbrook) Shute. No children. Mrs. Thayer died June 14, 1940

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Pine Hill Cemetery, West-field. Survived by a sister, Mary Sprague Thayer (B A Smith Coll 1889) of Westfield.

The Rev. Mr. Thayer made a bequest to the University to establish the Charles Snow Thayer Scholarship Fund.

William Wood Wallace, B.D. 1896.

Born February 15, 1868, in Middletown, N.Y. Died June 21, 1945, in New Milford, Conn.

Father, John Augustus Wallace, a merchant in Middletown; son of William W and Mary Ann (Thompson) Wallace of Bullville, N.Y. Mother, Abbie Mabel (Wood) Wallace; daughter of Solomon Carpenter

and Susan (McCoy) Wood of La Crosse, Wis.

Prepared in Middletown; BA Hamilton College 1890; registered in Yale Divinity School 1893-97, 1908-09 (BD 1896) and Yale Graduate School 1898-99 (M A. 1899); ordained in Congregational church, Bridgewater, Conn, June 11, 1896, and minister there 1896-97, instructor in English Jaffna College, Ceylon, 1889–1903; missionary in Madura, South India, under American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1897 until retirement 1936 (teacher American High School 1897-1904, principal 1897-99, manager and principal 1899-1904; president American College 1905-08 and 1923-27; treasurer Madura Mission 1914-17 and 1928-36), treasurer American Madura Mission 1914-17 and 1928-36; introduced interschool athletic contests among the schools and colleges in Madura district; examiner in English University of Madras 1903-07 and fellow 1916-17; member Southern provinces Mounted Rifles, a British group of planters, business men, etc., for home defense; spent several vacations searching for the small remnant of a pre-historic people and found a family of four living in a cave and subsisting on roots and berries; resided in Bridgewater since 1936, treasurer Congregational church, Bridge-

Married June 9, 1897, in Bridgewater, Genevieve Thekla, daughter of Horace Nehemiah Sanford and Dora McCall (Kasson) Sanford (grad. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1860) Children Genevieve Janaky (B.A Oberlin Coll. 1925), the wife of John Robert Marshall; Abbe Janet (B A. Wellesley Coll. 1925), the wife of John Litchfield Stewart, Donald Sanford, '20 S.; and William Sanford, '26

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Center Cemetery, Bridgewater Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Lena Wallace Bordwell and Mrs. Mary Wallace Knight of Middletown

and a brother, Blake L. Wallace of Scranton, Pa.

Quincy Blakely, B.D. 1898.

Born April 12, 1872, in Campton, N.H. Died June 13, 1945, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Rev Quincy Blakely (B A. Univ. Vermont 1854; grad. Union Theological Seminary 1857), minister Campton Congregational Church;

William Wood Wallace, B.D. 1896.

Born February 15, 1868, in Middletown, N.Y. Died June 21, 1945, in New Milford, Conn.

Father, John Augustus Wallace, a merchant in Middletown; son of William W. and Mary Ann (Thompson) Wallace of Bullville, N.Y. Mother, Abbie Mabel (Wood) Wallace; daughter of Solomon Carpenter

and Susan (McCoy) Wood of La Crosse, Wis.

Prepared in Middletown; B.A. Hamilton College 1890, registered in Yale Divinity School 1893-97, 1908-09 (BD. 1896) and Yale Graduate School 1898-99 (MA 1899); ordained in Congregational church, Bridgewater, Conn, June 11, 1896, and minister there 1896-97; instructor in English Jaffna College, Ceylon, 1889–1903, missionary in Madura, South India, under American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1897 until retirement 1936 (teacher American High School 1897-1904, principal 1897-99, manager and principal 1899-1904; president American College 1905-08 and 1923-27, treasurer Madura Mission 1914-17 and 1928-36), treasurer American Madura Mission 1914-17 and 1928-36; introduced interschool athletic contests among the schools and colleges in Madura district; examiner in English University of Madras 1903-07 and fellow 1916-17; member Southern provinces Mounted Rifles, a British group of planters, business men, etc., for home defense; spent several vacations searching for the small remnant of a pre-historic people and found a family of four living in a cave and subsisting on roots and berries; resided in Bridgewater since 1936, treasurer Congregational church, Bridge-

Married June 9, 1897, in Bridgewater, Genevieve Thekla, daughter of Horace Nehemiah Sanford and Dora McCall (Kasson) Sanford (grad. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1860) Children Genevieve Janaky (B.A. Oberlin Coll 1925), the wife of John Robert Marshall; Abbe Janet (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1925), the wife of John Litchfield Stewart; Donald Sanford, '20 S.; and William Sanford, '26 Garald Sanford (Univ Pennsylvania 20 224).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Center Cemetery, Bridgewater Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Lena Wallace Bordwell and Mrs Mary Wallace Knight of Middletown and a brother, Blake L Wallace of Scranton, Pa.

Church, Iviacison, Wis, 1910–12, Oak Laik Church, Liavelse City, Mich., 1913–14, New Richmond and Star Prairie, Wis., 1914–17, Royal Oak, Mich, 1917–20, Wakonda, S Dak, 1920–24, Milbank 1924–25, and Mapleton, Minn, 1926–29; resided in Trenton 1929–34; minister Pine River, Wis, 1934–37, Fox Lake, Wis., 1937–38, and Hancock, Wis, 1939 until retirement 1942, resided in Lompoc 1943–45; member Community Church, Cheverly, Md.

son of David and Esther (Edgerton) Blakely of Pawlet, Vt. Mother, urton Gertrude (Sykes) Blakely (grad. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1853), daughter Mrs. of Israel Newton and Diana (Gilbert) Sykes of Dorset, Vt

B.A Dartmouth College 1894 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Mac-Phi Beta Kappa); attended Yale Divinity School 1895–98 (BD 1898); ordained in Congregational church, South Glastonbury, Conn, November tery, 4, 1898, and minister there 1898–1905; minister First Church of Christ, and-Farmington, Conn, 1905–37; pastor emeritus 1937–45, since retirement ohn resided in West Hartford, Conn, and spent winters in California and Florida; president Connecticut Congregational Club 1913 and Connecticut Alumni Association of Yale Divinity School 1921–22; secretary Class of 1898 D from 1898 to 1945; member Farmington Board of Education 1909–38 (chairman 1917–37).

Married October 10, 1900, in Northampton, Mass, Mary Twitchell (Vassar Coll. ex-'95), daughter of Rev. Justin Edwards Twitchell, D.D. (B A. Amherst Coll. 1858), and Almena R (Bentley) Twitchell. Twin sons: Quincy, Jr., and Edward Twitchell, both died in infancy.

Death due to acute appendicitis. Ashes interred in Bridge Street Cemetery, Northampton. Survived by wife and a sister, Bertha Eliza Blakely (B.L. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1893, B A. 1898) of South Hadley, Mass.

Arthur Elieda Fraser, B.D. 1898.

Born December 23, 1871, in Portage, Wis. Died January 27, 1945, in Lompoc, Calif.

Father, Eugene Fraser of Sioux City, Iowa; a passenger conductor with the Chicago, Milwaukee & St Paul Railroad Company; son of Angelina (Miller) Fraser of Wisconsin. Mother, Mary Etta (Smith) Fraser.

Beloit Academy; B.A. Beloit College 1894; attended Yale Divinity School 1895–99 (B D 1898), University of Chicago Divinity School 1909–10, Chicago Theological Seminary summer 1924, and Union Theological Seminary 1930–31; ordained Lake Mills (Wis) Congregational Church October 13, 1899, and minister there 1899–1900; minister Colorado City, Colo, 1901–02, Coalcreek 1902–03, Kansas City 1904, Colorado Springs 1906 and 1908, Arkansas City, Kans., 1907, Plymouth Church, Madison, Wis., 1910–12, Oak Park Church, Traverse City, Mich, 1913–14, New Richmond and Star Prairie, Wis, 1914–17, Royal Oak, Mich, 1917–20, Wakonda, S Dak, 1920–24, Milbank 1924–25, and Mapleton, Minn., 1926–29; resided in Trenton 1929–34; minister Pine River, Wis., 1934–37, Fox Lake, Wis, 1937–38, and Hancock, Wis, 1939 until retirement 1942; resided in Lompoc 1943–45; member Community Church, Cheverly, Md.

of 'r, :)

n).

-

Married (1) November 8, 1898, in Madison, Wis, Dora Lyman, daughter of George Henry and Dora Lyman (Wright) Wells. Daughter: Marjorie Wells (Univ. Wisconsin 1920–21), the wife of Oscar B. Westmont (Beloit Coll 1916–18; B.S Univ. Wisconsin 1921). Mrs. Fraser died in October, 1906 Married (2) June 17, 1913, in Red Granite, Wis, Bird Blanche, daughter of Rev. Philo Hitchcock and Ida (Slater) Hitchcock. Daughter Constance (BA. Univ. Wisconsin 1939), the wife of Ernest Henry Krause (Ph D. Univ Wisconsin 1938) Mrs. Fraser died December 6, 1942

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Pine River Cemetery. Survived by daughters and four grandchildren.

Raymond Gilmore Clapp, B.D. 1903.

Born May 9, 1879, in Chelsea, Mass. Died June 21, 1945, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Austin Phelps Clapp, paymaster Walworth Manufacturing Company, Boston; son of John Codman and Lucy (Blake) Clapp of Roxbury, Mass. Mother, Mary Annie (Remick) Clapp; daughter of Warren Johnson and Sarah (Barker) Remick of Lovell, Maine, and Chelsea, Mass

B.A Boston University 1900 (member Phi Beta Kappa); registered Yale Divinity School 1901-10 (BD. summa cum laude 1903) and Yale Graduate School 1903-10 (M.A. 1904); studied at universities of Gottingen and Berlin 1904-05; instructor in New Testament Greek, Yale University, 1906-07 and Biblical literature 1907-10; director of religious work Yale Divinity School 1903-04 and 1906-10; ordained in Congregational church, Boston, June 13, 1908, minister Stafford Springs (Conn.) Congregational Church 1910-13 and First Trinitarian Church, Lowell. Mass, 1913-18; chaplain in charge Y.M C.A. hut, Naval Training Station, Bumkin Island, Boston Harbor, February, 1918-January, 1919; director of Bible study Y M C.A. headquarters, Paris, January-July, 1919; minister Walnut Hills Congregational Church, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1920-24; principal Schauffler Missionary Training School, Cleveland, 1924-28 and president of its successor Schauffler College of Religious and Social Work 1928–1941; minister Kingston (NH) Congregational Church 1941 until retirement 1944; D.D. American International College 1931; president Tolland County (Conn) Sunday School Association 1910-13; director Connecticut Sunday School Association and secretary committee on religious education State Conference of Congregational Churches 1911-13.

Married July 1, 1909, in Hartford, Conn, Janet Newland Harris (B.A. Syracuse Univ. 1901; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1907), daughter of Charles

Luke and Frances Jane (McCreddy) Harris. Children: Robert Allan (B.A. Oberlin Coll. 1932; M.A. Harvard 1933) and Dorothy Stuart (B.A. Oberlin 1935), the wife of Dennison Bancroft (B.A. Amherst Coll

1933; Ph D. Harvard 1939).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Mt. Auburn Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and two sisters, Lillian Blanche Clapp Barber (Simmons Coll. ex-'07), the wife of Waldo Austin Barber (Massachusetts Inst Technology 1905) of Boston and Mrs. Fred E. Webber of Philadelphia.

Robert H. Davis, B.D. 1911.

Born May 9, 1872, in Uxbridge, Ont., Canada Died January 9, 1945, in Putnam, Conn.

Father, Adam G. Davis, a pioneer farmer in the townships of Uxbridge and Scott, Ontario; son of William and Eliza (Dunsheath) Davis of Belfast, Ireland, and Uxbridge. Mother, Isabella (McClellan) Davis, daughter of William and Isabella (McWhirter) McClellan of Scotland, and the

Township of Scott, Ontario.

Uxbridge High School; school teacher in Brockville and Roseville, Ontario, 1891-94; attended Toronto Normal School 1897, Albert College 1900-01, University of Toronto 1901-02, University of Manitoba 1904-06 (B.A. 1906), Wesley College 1906-07 (B.D. 1908), Yale Divinity School 1910-11 (B.D. 1911), University of Chicago 1911-12, and Yale Graduate School 1910–11, 1913–15, and 1917–18 (M A 1914); public school teacher in Assiniboia, Saskatchewan, 1903-06 and school teacher and missionary worker in Star, Alberta; ordained in Methodist Episcopal Church of Canada at Medicine Hat, Alberta, 1908; minister Methodist church, Kitscoty, Alberta, 1908–10; vice-principal Columbian College, New Westminster, B.C., 1912-13; minister Congregational church, Bethlehem, Conn., 1913-15, Woodbury Congregational Church 1915-17, and Woodbridge (Conn.) Congregational Church 1917-18; acting professor philosophy Washburn College 1918–19; minister Colebrook (Conn.) Congregational Church 1919-23, Pilgrim Church, Canaan, 1923-25, and Abington Congregational Church 1935 until retirement 1944

Married November 27, 1917, in Bethlehem, Ruth Elizabeth, daughter of John and Isabella Caroline (Hunt) Hollenback. Children: Isobel May (Indiana Univ. ex-'42), Ruth Bailey (BS Columbia 1943), Robert H, Jr. (Indiana Univ 1940–43), and Jeannette (Tusculum Coll 1943–44)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Center Cemetery, Bethlehem Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs John Ashenhurst of Goodwood, Ontario, and two brothers, Edwin W Davis of Bobcaygeon, Ontario, and Samuel Davis of Markham, Ontario.

William George Clark-Duff, B.D. 1915.

Born February 4, 1889, in Penrith, New South Wales, Australia.

Died June 25, 1945, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Parents, Alexander and Mary (Smith) Clark-Duff of Penrith.

Attended St Andrew's College, New South Wales, 1910–12 and Yale Divinity School 1912–15 (BD 1915); ordained in Presbyterian church, New Haven, Conn, 1914, minister First Presbyterian Church, Amagansett, NY., 1915–18 and Duryea Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn, 1919–45; moderator Brooklyn-Nassau Presbytery; Red Cross worker with U.S. Navy at League Island, Philadelphia, in World War I.

Married (1) July 19, 1916, in McGrawville, N.Y., Alice Cary, daughter of Dewitt Clinton and Delia (Alexander) Geer. Son: Robert Humpstone. Mrs. Clark-Duff died November 14, 1943. Married (2) February 22, 1945, in Ossining, NY, Marion Armstrong Wallace (BA. Syracuse Univ. 1922), daughter of Rev. Thomas Robert Wallace and Mary-Large Carabalas (American) W. II.

Louisa Cronhelm (Armstrong) Wallace.

Death due to glioma. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs Albert S. McKern of Edinburgh, Scotland, and a brother, Rev. Victor Clark-Duff of Roseville, New South Wales.

Beal Elliott, B.D. 1915.

Born September 15, 1878, in Tappahannock, Va. Died September 28, 1944, in Baltimore, Md.

Parents, John and Kate Elliott.

Wayland Academy of Virginia Union University, Richmond, Va.; B A Virginia Union University 1908; teacher in Richmond County and Newport News, Va, 1908–12; attended Yale Divinity School 1912–15 (B D. 1915), ordained in Sharon Baptist Church, Baltimore, February, 1916, and minister there 1919–44; a probation officer Baltimore Supreme Court 1916–44

Married May 18, 1904, in Richmond, Va., Margaret D. Reese, daughter of E J Reese No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Arbutus Memorial Park Cemetery, Baltimore County. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Bessie Buckner and two brothers, James Elliott and Mason Buckner.

John Paul Schutz, B.D. 1926.

Born September 12, 1900, in Pandora, Ohio. Died June 26, 1945, in Pandora, Ohio

Father, Albert Schutz, a farmer in Pandora, and associated with Pandora Hardware Company; son of Jacob and Anna (Graber) Schutz

of Switzerland. Mother, Sarah (Bixler) Schutz; daughter of Jacob and Barbara (Welty) Bixler of Pandora.

Pandora High School; B.A. Otterbein College 1923; attended Yale Divinity School 1923–26 (B.D. 1926); educational director Y.M.C.A. of the Oranges, Orange, N.J., 1926–39 and associate general secretary 1943 until retirement because of ill-health in 1945; executive secretary Northern Branch, Y.M.C.A., Detroit, Mich., 1939–43; president Orange-West Orange Kiwanis Club 1936; secretary Executives Club of the Oranges and Bloomfield; member East Orange Civilian Defense Committee and Masonic order; elder Hillside Presbyterian Church, Orange, 1934–39 and Highland Park Presbyterian Church, Detroit, 1940–43.

Married August 20, 1924, in Elkins, W.Va, Frances Virginia Wolfe (Otterbein Coll ex-'24), daughter of Charles Abraham and Virginia Summerville (Cropp) Wolfe. Children Barbara Anne and John Howard.

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Buried in Pleasant Ridge Cemetery, Pandora Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Reuben Schumacher and Miss Elizabeth Schutz, both of Pandora, and three brothers, Walter Schutz (B A. Otterbein Coll. 1921) of Freetown, Sierra Leone, West Africa, and Edward Schutz and Albert Schutz (Manchester Coll. 1920–21), both of Pandora.

William Durley Pardee, B.D. 1928.

Born June 14, 1898, in Waterbury, Conn. Died August 19, 1944, in Orange, Conn.

Father, Joseph Merritt Pardee, a farmer in Orange; district superintendent Southern New England Telephone Company; son of Merritt and Amanda Estler Francis Pardee of Orange. Mother, Dora (Durley) Pardee, daughter of William and Dorlesca (Taylor) Durley of Washington, Conn

West Haven (Conn) High School; BA Dartmouth College 1925, attended Yale Divinity School 1926–28 (BD. 1928); educational secretary Connecticut Temperance Foundation 1928–38, superintendent Anti-Saloon League of New Jersey 1939–44; organizer and manager Orange Symphony Orchestra; member Masonic order and Church of Christ (Congregational), Milford, Conn.

Married September 1, 1928, in West Haven, Catherine Eames (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'26), daughter of Edward Bray and Anna (Rapp) Eames and sister of Edward H Eames, '25 S. Sons William Durley, Jr, Joseph Merritt, and Scott Edward.

Death due to a brain tumor. Buried in Orange Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, and mother.

Thomas Lyncle Massie, B.D. 1934.

Born October 26, 1903, in Brad, Texas. Died December 17, 1944, in New Britain, Conn.

Father, Robert Massie, a farmer in Texas; son of James Albert and Lucilla (Cofer) Massie of Kentucky and Texas Mother, Jane (Jeffries) Massie, daughter of Louis Howell and Elizabeth (Chenoweth) Jeffries of Arkansas and Oklahoma.

Mineral Wells (Texas) High School; B.A. Texas Christian University 1928; attended Yale Divinity School 1930–32 and 1933–34 (B.D. 1934); ordained in Central Christian Church, Mineral Wells, August 1, 1926; minister First Christian Church, Mercedes, Texas, summer 1928 and 1929–30, First Christian Church, Lamesa, 1934–35, First Christian Church, Artesia, N. Mex., 1935–37, and State Street Christian Church, El Centro, Calif., 1937–40; director of religious education First Christian Church, Fort Worth, Texas, 1940–41; minister Garland, Texas, 1942–43 and Lyme (Conn.) Congregational Church 1943–44.

Married September 14, 1935, in New Haven, Conn., Lucille Farnsworth, daughter of Arthur Farnsworth and Elsie Louise (Schubert)

Ryder No children.

Death due to myelogenous leukemia Buried in West Cemetery, Plain-ville, Conn Survived by wife, five sisters, Mrs. John A. Littlepage of Haskell, Texas, Mrs Floyd Houston Lancaster of Rayse City, Texas, Mrs Walter F. Nollner of Abilene, Texas, Mrs. Cyril W. Presley of Conroe, Texas, and Mrs. Lee O. Throckmorton of Lamarque, Texas, and four brothers, Joe Wood Massie of Haskell, Claude Howell Massie of Abilene, Clarence Albert Massie of Hemet, Calif., and L. Z. Massie of Bakersfield, Calif.

SCHOOL OF LAW

BACHELORS OF LAWS

Henry Stuart Stearns, LL.B. 1884.

Born August 12, 1858, in Marlboro, Mass. Died March 7, 1945, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Henry P. Stearns (B A. 1853) Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Storrier) Stearns.

B.A. Williams College 1881 (member Sigma Phi), attended Yale School of Law 1882–84 (LL B. 1884; member Kent Club); admitted to Massachusetts and Connecticut bars; opened an office in Duluth, Minn, and looked after his father's investments in Superior 1884–92; lawyer in Salem, Mass., 1896–1901 and Hartford, Conn, 1901 until retirement 1914; resided in Cambridge and Newton, Mass., 1926–45; member Center Church (Congregational), Hartford.

Married May 7, 1889, in Beverly, Mass, Mary, daughter of Henry King Olmsted (B A Trinity Coll [Conn] 1846, M A. 1849, M.D Columbia Univ. 1851) and Anna Maria (Olmsted) Olmsted Sons. Henry Putnam, 2d, '22, and Stuart Olmsted.

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, sons, and three grandchildren

James Henry Taylor, LL.B. 1885.

Born April 14, 1856, in Bergen Point, NJ. Died December 11, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Father, George Taylor.

Attended Yale School of Law 1883–85 (LL.B 1885); had been engaged in various enterprises 1885–1939; associated with Anacostia Copper Company, Baltimore, Md.; with his brother managed a poultry farm in Fredericksburg, Va; inspector Oxweld Acetylene Company, Newark, N J., and teacher in a parish school; worked in Senate folding room, United States Senate, Washington, 1924–39; had been in ill-health since 1939 Unmarried.

Death due to general arteriosclerosis. Buried in churchyard of Salem Church, Fredericksburg, Va. Survived by a sister.

Benjamin B. Beekman, LL.B. 1888.

Born August 3, 1863, in Jacksonville, Ore. Died February 23, 1945, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Cornelius C. Beekman, a pony express rider; Jacksonville agent Wells Fargo Express Company 1863–1905; banker in Jacksonville; a regent University of Oregon, mayor of Jacksonville; son of Benjamin B. and Lydia (Compton) Beekman of New York City. Mother, Julia Elizabeth (Hoffman) Beekman; daughter of William Hoffman of Jacksonville.

Jacksonville High School; B.A. University of Oregon 1884, M.A. 1887, instructor in mathematics and languages 1884–86 and lecturer on agency 1907–15, attended Yale School of Law 1886–88 (LL.B. 1888; charter member Corbey Court); admitted to Connecticut bar 1888 and Oregon bar 1889, lawyer in Portland 1889 until retirement 1916; member Watson, Beekman & Watson (later Watson & Beekman) 1893–1916; after retirement devoted his time to management of personal affairs; member Company K, 1st Regiment, Oregon National Guard, 1889–92; director Oregon Historical Society; charter member and president Portland University Club; member Oregon Society Sons of the American Revolution and Masonic order.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Survived by a sister, Miss Carrie C. Beekman of Portland.

Carlos Hotchkiss Storrs, LL.B. 1889.

Born July 4, 1864, in Seymour, Conn. Died October 8, 1944, in Ansonia, Conn.

Father, Charles Washburn Storrs, a merchant in Seymour; son of John Roger and Sarah G (Clark) Storrs of Barnstable, Mass., and Mansfield and Woodbridge, Conn Mother, Mary Lucinda (Davis) Storrs; daughter of Lewis and Lucinda (Perkins) Davis of Oxford, Conn Yale relatives include a great-great-grandfather, Benjamin Woodbridge (B.A. 1740).

Birmingham High School, Derby, Conn; B.A. Wesleyan University 1887, M A 1890; attended Yale School of Law 1887–89 (LL B 1889); admitted to the bar 1889, lawyer in Ansonia 1889 until retirement 1934; member Board of Aldermen 1904–14; chairman Board of Apportionment and Taxation 1913–34; assistant prosecuting attorney City Court of Ansonia 1906–26, prosecuting attorney 1926–29, and judge 1929–30, represented Ansonia in session of Connecticut General Assembly

1913–14 (House chairman committee on labor) and 1921–22 (member committee on judiciary), appointed by President Wilson as government appeal agent for Ansonia April, 1917; delegate Republican State Convention 1928; member State Bar Association of Connecticut and Christ Church (Episcopal), Ansonia (junior warden 1925).

Married July 1, 1896, in Seymour, Mettie Sophia, daughter of Henry

Arthur and Sophia Julia (Carter) Rider No children.

Death due to chronic bronchitis. Buried in Trinity Cemetery, Seymour. Survived by wife.

Elmer Ellsworth Thomas, LL.B. 1889.

Born July 2, 1864, in Greasy Ridge, Ohio. Died November 7, 1944, in Omaha, Nebr.

Father, John Notley Thomas, auditor Lawrence County, Ohio, 1868–77 and deputy auditor 1890–1902; son of Benjamin and Martha (Casey) Thomas. Mother, Hannah (Hull) Thomas; daughter of William and Hannah (Norris) Hull.

Kansas Normal School, Fort Scott; B.A. National Normal University 1887; attended Yale School of Law 1888–89 (LL.B. 1889), admitted to the bar 1889; lawyer in Omaha 1889–1944 (member Thomas & Thomas 1933–37); deputy attorney for Douglas County 1899–1902; member Nebraska State Bar Committee 1904, special attorney Interstate Commerce Commission, investigating railroads and their relations with coal and oil companies, 1906; attorney Anti-Saloon League of Nebraska, prohibition director for Nebraska 1924–29 and legal advisor to prohibition administrator, United States Department of Justice, Kansas City, Mo., 1929–33; United States Commissioner for Omaha 1943–44; instructor University of Omaha Law School 1897–98, professor of elementary law 1936–38, dean of the faculty and professor of elementary law, agency and business associations, domestic relations, common law pleading, code pleading, and constitutional law 1938–43, elder Dundee Presbyterian Church, Omaha (superintendent Sunday School 1899–1903)

Married June 14, 1893, in Council Bluffs, Iowa, Mary Irwin, daughter of Samuel Martin and Lucinda (Carter) Williamson Children. Lyman Heuston, ex-'16 S; Philip Hull, '20; Mary Louise (B A. Univ Nebraska 1924; B S. Columbia 1927), the wife of Thomas Lawson (B A Columbia 1928); Elmer Ellsworth, 2d (B A. Univ. Nebraska 1928; LL.B Univ Michigan 1930); and John Martin, '37 M Mrs. Thomas died February 19, 1928.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Omaha Survived by children, nine grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Fred Arnot Ross of Ironton, Ohio.

William Koontz Meyers, LL.B. 1891.

Born September 27, 1867, in Bedford, Pa. Died November 11, 1944, in Harrisburg, Pa.

Father, Benjamin Franklin Meyers (Jefferson Coll. 1851–53), lawyer, publisher, and author in Bedford and Harrisburg; president Pennsylvania Editorial Association 1875–76, member Pennsylvania legislature 1864 and US House of Representatives 1871–75; postmaster Harrisburg 1887–92; son of Michael D. and Sarah (Schaff) Meyers of Somerset County, Pa Mother, Susan C. (Koontz) Meyers; daughter of Jacob Koontz of Somerset, Pa

Harrisburg High School; reporter Harrisburg *Patriot*; studied law in office of Mumma and Shoop, Harrisburg; admitted to Dauphin County Bar 1890; attended Yale School of Law 1890–91 (LL.B 1891); lawyer in Harrisburg 1891–1944; editor and publisher Harrisburg *Star-Independent* 1912–17, member Masonic order; life vestryman Cathedral Church of St. Stephen (Episcopal), Harrisburg, and treasurer Sunday School.

Married November 14, 1893, in Harrisburg, Mary, daughter of George William and Mary (Bowman) Hunter Children: Mary Elizabeth, the wife of James Bertron Redus (Univ. Virginia 1910–14); William Koontz, Jr (B A Univ Pennsylvania 1923); and Winifred Mumma. Mrs. Meyers died January 10, 1922.

Death due to hemorrhage from gastrointestinal tract. Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery. Survived by children and two grandchildren.

William James Neary, LL.B. 1892.

Born June 12, 1868, in Naugatuck, Conn. Died July 2, 1944, in Middlebury, Conn.

Father, Thomas Neary, a merchant in Naugatuck Mother, Elizabeth (Buggy) Neary

Holy Cross Preparatory School; B A College of the Holy Cross 1890; attended Yale School of Law 1890–92 (LL B. 1892); admitted to the bar 1892; lawyer in Naugatuck 1892–1944; executive vice-president Risdon Manufacturing Company 1939–44; a founder Naugatuck Chamber of Commerce (vice-president 1921–28); on executive committee Naugatuck chapter American Red Cross (chairman 1927); a corporator and former trustee Naugatuck Savings Bank; member Board of Education, Naugatuck, 1898–99, 1902–03, senator in Connecticut General Assembly 1897–99; chairman local draft board in World War I; member St. Francis Church (Catholic), Naugatuck.

Married October 30, 1894, in Naugatuck, Marie Vyvian Jane, daugh-

ter of Daniel Bernard and Mary (O'Connell) Ryan. Children: Vyvian (BA. Trinity Coll [D.C.] 1918); William James, Jr. (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'22; Catholic Univ. America 1919–21), Daniel Ryan (BS Catholic Univ. America 1924), Thomas Richard (BS Georgetown Univ. 1929, LL B. Boston Univ. 1933); and Mary (Trinity Coll. [DC], ex-'31), the wife of Thomas Morrissey (B.S. Univ. Pennsylvania 1929)

Death due to chronic interstitial nephritis Buried in St Francis Cemetery, Naugatuck. Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren

Richard Patrick Freeman, LL.B. 1894.

Born April 24, 1869, in New London, Conn Died July 8, 1944, in Newington, Conn

Father, Richard Patrick Freeman, proprietor Metropolitan Hotel, New London; son of Richard and Mary (Meehan) Freeman of St. John, New Brunswick. Mother, Mary Belle (Magenis) Freeman; daughter of Joseph Seymour and Roselle (Thomas) Magenis of Pierpont, N Y. Yale relatives include a nephew, Richard Freeman Prentis, '31

Bulkeley High School, New London, and Noble's School, Boston; B.A cum laude Harvard 1891; attended Yale School of Law 1891–94 (LL B 1894); admitted to the bar 1894, lawyer in New London 1894 until retirement 1915; selectman Town of New London 1891, prosecuting attorney New London City Court 1898–1901, represented Second Connecticut Congressional District, United States Congress, 1915–33; sergeant major, 3d Regiment, Connecticut Volunteer Infantry, during Spanish-American War; Major and Judge Advocate, Connecticut National Guard, 1901–08; member Masonic order; attended First Church of Christ (Congregational), New London.

Married November 24, 1915, in Scarsdale, NY., Fredricca Baile Hunt, daughter of John and Fredricca Baile. No children. Mrs. Freeman died September 16, 1940.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London Survived by a sister, Mrs. Mabel F Prentis and a brother, Joseph Magenis Freeman, both of New London.

Arthur Hubbard Wood, LL.B. 1894.

Born October 23, 1870, in Pittsfield, Mass. Died January 6, 1945, in Pittsfield, Mass.

Father, Edgar Mantleburt Wood (B.A. Union Coll [NY.] 1858) of Pittsfield; United States Commissioner, Federal District Court, for district of Massachusetts; son of Simeon and Reliance Elvira (Brown) Wood of

Cheshire, Mass. Mother, Mary Cyrinthia (Hubbard) Wood; daughter of William and Mary (Warner) Hubbard of Amherst and Pittsfield, Mass.

Pittsfield High School and Rockland Military Academy, Nyack, NY.; attended Yale School of Law 1892–94 (LL.B. 1894; secretary Kent Club); admitted to the bar 1894, lawyer in Pittsfield 1894–1945; United States Commissioner, Federal District Court, for district of Massachusetts 1906–30; on Common Council, Pittsfield, 1907–09 (president 1909) and Board of Aldermen 1909–10; member First Congregational Church, Pittsfield

Married June 10, 1899, in Pittsfield, Mary, daughter of George Nelson and Mary (Hayden) Macy Children Edgar Macy (B.A. Williams Coll. 1930) and Alice Louise, the wife of Edward Maurice Bernard. Mrs. Wood died May 30, 1922.

Death due to a valvular lesson. Bursed in Pittsfield Cemetery. Survived by children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mary Anna Wood (M.D. Tufts Coll. 1898) of Pittsfield.

William Bartholomew Brown, LL.B. 1895.

Born November 17, 1867, in Piper City, Ill. Died December 11, 1944, in Santa Monica, Calif.

Father, James Brown (grad Chicago Coll. of Law 1872), a lawyer in Chicago, county superintendent of public instruction Ford County, Ill.; Major 70th Ohio Veteran Volunteer Infantry during Civil War; son of William and Mary (Fitzgerald) Brown of Ash Ridge, Ohio. Mother, Rachel (Fenton) Brown; daughter of William and Mary (Kendall) Fenton of Adams County, Ohio.

Preparatory department Washburn College; attended Washburn College 1892–93 and Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL.B. cum laude 1895); admitted to the bar in Kansas 1894 and California 1918; lawyer in Des Moines 1895–1918 and Los Angeles 1918 until retirement 1943; member Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, California State Bar Association, and Masonic order; attended First Congregational Church, Los Angeles.

Married October 15, 1902, in Des Moines, Susan Higgins, daughter of John Dennis and Elizabeth Bellis (Kuhl) Van Liew. Children: Susan Van Liew (Mills Coll 1921–22; Univ Arizona 1922–25; B.A. Univ California 1926); William Bartholomew, Jr. (Pomona Coll. 1921–22; Univ Arizona 1922–25, B.A. Stanford Univ. 1925, M.A. Univ. Southern California 1934), Elizabeth Kuhl (Univ. California 1924–26); Rachel Fenton (B.A. Univ. Washington 1931), the wife of Mark Allison Matthews (B.A. Univ. Washington 1931; M.B.A. Harvard 1933); and a son (died at birth) Mrs. Brown died March 21, 1942.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif. Survived by daughters, one son, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Miss Lucy Jane Brown of Los Angeles and Mrs. Elmer E. Schock of Okmulgee, Okla.

Herve Merriam Cheney, LL.B. 1895.

Born October 13, 1874, in Toledo, Ohio. Died November 9, 1944, in Toledo, Ohio.

Father, Frank J. Cheney, a manufacturer in Toledo. Mother, Flora (Merriam) Cheney.

Toledo High School; attended Ohio State University 1892–93 and Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL.B. 1895); associated with Cheney Medicine Company, Toledo, 1895–1944 (manager 1897–1944), member Inverness Club.

Married April 4, 1942, in Ottawa Hills, Ohio, Lillian, daughter of Gustav and Bertha (Dickman) Heller.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo. Survived by wife.

Samuel Kell McCall, LL.B. 1897.

Born April 9, 1876, in York, Pa. Died February 23, 1945, in Takoma Park, Md.

Father, Hugh Whiteford McCall, a lawyer in York; Captain Company A, 21st Pennsylvania Cavalry, during Civil War; son of James Logue and Sarah Dean (Whiteford) McCall Mother, Rachel Elizabeth (Kell) McCall; daughter of Samuel and Margaret (Mears) Kell of Chambersburg and York, Pa. Yale relatives include a brother, James St.C McCall, '93 L.

York High School; attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL B. 1897, member Pi Delta Alpha); admitted to the bar 1897, lawyer in York 1897–1945; solicitor York School District 1924, 1925, 1926 and for the City of York for a number of years, served in Puerto Rico with Warburton Battery of Philadelphia during Spanish-American War, member First Presbyterian Church, York

Married November 24, 1909, in York, Pauline Virginia, daughter of Edwin and Anna (Iaeger) Myers. Children Anna, the wife of Frederick A. Rudisill and Hugh Whiteford (Cornell Univ. 1936-37).

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Prospect Hill Cemetery, York. Survived by wife and children.

Rufus Melvin Overlander, LL.B. 1897.

Born August 27, 1872, in Leona, Kans. Died January 21, 1945, in Northridge, Calif.

Father, Rufus Baugher Overlander, a farmer and stockman in Leona; son of John and Sarah Ann (Hayes) Overlander of Knox County, Ill. Mother, Sinia (Mathewson) Overlander, daughter of Thomas and Eliza-

beth (DeVault) Mathewson of Highland, Kans.

Hiawatha (Kans.) Academy; attended Grinnell College a short time in 1897, attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL B. 1897), Yale College 1897–98 (B A 1898; first colloquy appointment), and Yale Graduate School 1898–99, admitted to New York bar 1898; lawyer in New Haven 1899–1904 and New York City 1898–99 and 1904 until retirement because of ill-health in 1937; bank appraiser for State of New York 1907–08; member Legal Advisory Board, New York City, and Selective Service Board in World War I; author of several articles published in legal journals; member Masonic order and Our Lady of the Valley Church (Catholic), Canoga Park, Calif.

Married September 6, 1899, in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Catherine Hazel, daughter of Francis and Emmeline (Dowd) Kirk. Children: Rufus Melvin, Jr (Lehigh Univ 1922–23); Evarts Webster, ex-'26 Art; and Irma Bernadette (Teachers Coll, Columbia Univ., ex-'25), the wife of James Curtis Havens (Lehigh Univ. ex-'26). Mrs. Overlander died

December 2, 1944.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Parish Cemetery, St Sébastien, Quebec Survived by children, five grandchildren, and three brothers, Dr. Charles L. Overlander, '01 S., Jesse L. Overlander, ex-'03 S., and Dr J Eliot Overlander, '05 S

Eugene Eaton Grimm, LL.B. 1899.

Born April 8, 1878, in Franklin, Pa. Died July 8, 1944, in Franklin, Pa.

Father, Daniel Grimm, an oil producer; president Exchange Bank of Franklin; son of Peter and Louise (Kalilor) Grimm of Alsace-Lorraine, Germany. Mother, Carolyn Fredrika (Weinman) Grimm; daughter of William and Louise (Zuter) Weinman of Zweibrucken, Germany.

National Preparatory Academy, Highland Falls, NY, and Cheltenham Military Academy, Ogontz, Pa, attended Yale School of Law 1896-99 (LL B 1899; member Wayland and Kent clubs); clerk in a law office in Franklin 1899-1901, admitted to the bar 1901 but never practiced law; engaged in oil production with his father in several counties in Pennsylvania, West Virginia, and Ohio, partner Jenkins & Grimm; president Solidified Glycerine Company, Franklin Quality Refining Company, and

ı

Sylvania Producing Company 1917-44; vice-president Keystone Mauso-leum Company until 1944; trustee and manager Daniel Grimm Trust Estate 1928-44; member Pennsylvania National Guard 1901 and Captain, Quartermaster Corps, assigned as aide-de-camp to 2d Brigade staff 1916; on Franklin City Council two terms, member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Franklin

Married August 14, 1918, in New York City, Ruth, daughter of Lucious James and Ida Natalie (Jones) Elliott Daughter Carolyn Natalie, the wife of John Vernon Burns (B A Ohio Wesleyan Univ 1940) Mr and Mrs Grimm were divorced in 1934

Death due to an embolism Buried in Franklin Cemetery. Survived by daughter, and four sisters, Mrs. Thomas James Blair, Mrs Emile Koos, and Mrs. Louise G. Rowland, all of Franklin, and Mrs. Edward E Jenkins of Warrenton, Va.

Edward James Conley, LL.B. 1901.

Born November 27, 1876, in Wilmington, Ill. Died November 30, 1944, in Missoula, Mont.

Father, Edward Dillon Conley, a newspaper editor in Wilmington, son of Michael J. and Margaret (Dillon) Conley of Wilmington. Mother, Mary (O'Connell) Conley; daughter of Richard and Hannah (Cushing) O'Connell of Braidwood, Ill.

Attended Northwestern University, and Yale School of Law 1900–01 (LL.B. 1901); admitted to the Illinois bar 1901; lawyer in Chicago 1901–09 and Hobson, Mont., 1909–18; in Office of Indian Affairs, U.S. Department of the Interior, Covello, Calif., 1920–21, Internal Revenue Office, Treasury Department, New York City, 1921–24, 1925–30 and Washington 1924–25, and examiner of inheritance on Indian probate hearings, Missoula, 1930–44; assistant to chief clerk Ordnance Department, Washington, August 26, 1918, until discharge January 30, 1919; member St. Anthony's Church (Roman Catholic), Missoula

Married October 4, 1923, in New York City, Isobel Elsie, daughter of Henry Walter and Mary Ann (Ball) Howell. No children.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Wilmington. Survived by wife.

Glenn Norvan Curnow, LL.B. 1905.

Born January 6, 1881, in North Bend, Pa. Died December 28, 1944, in White Plains, N.Y.

Father, William Curnow, a telegrapher in North Bend and Mount Carmel, Pa; son of Richard Curnow of Mount Carmel. Mother, Rebecca (Reed) Curnow; daughter of John B. Reed of Mount Carmel.

Phillips-Exeter; attended Yale School of Law 1902-05 (LL B. 1905); admitted to the bar 1905; lawyer in White Plains 1905-44; reader West-chester Title & Mortgage Company and Westchester Title & Trust Company (in charge reissue department), chief counsel White Plains branch Title Guarantee & Trust Company of New York City March-December, 1944, police judge White Plains 1912-15 and civil court judge 1916-20; chairman Municipal Board of Tax Review 1938-44; member council Boy Scouts of America, White Plains; trustee Memorial Methodist Church, White Plains.

Married June 21, 1911, in Mount Carmel, Emma, daughter of John Henry and Sarah Jane (Zimmerman) Wardrop. Daughter: Mary (B.A. Connecticut Coll. for Women 1934), the wife of John Henry Berger (B.S. Columbia Univ. 1937).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount Carmel Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, two grandsons, and two brothers, William Clayton Curnow of Philadelphia and Albert Reed Curnow of Mount Carmel.

Harry Fleming Hamlin, LL.B. 1906.

Born September 9, 1884, in Canton, Ill. Died March 22, 1945, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Lovell Gorham Hamlin, engaged in cattle business in Canton. Mother, Amelia (Haacke) Hamlin; daughter of Captain David Haacke and Valdina (Edwards) Haacke.

Armour Institute of Technology; attended Yale School of Law 1903-04, 1905-06 (LL B 1906; on editorial board Yale Law Journal and president Wayland Club Senior year; member Book and Gavel) and University of Michigan Law School 1904-05; LL.M De Paul University 1912; admitted to the bar 1906; lawyer in Chicago 1906–17 and 1919–45 (member Hamlin & Thompson 1912-17, partner in Hymer, Bunch & Latimer); representative in Illinois General Assembly; assistant United States Attorney General, Chicago, 1914-18, assistant corporation counsel, Chicago, 1916–17; first assistant United States District Attorney for Chicago 1919-24; judge Chicago Municipal Court 1924-30; attorney Army Air Forces in Chicago 1944-45, enlisted Illinois National Guard February, 1909, commissioned Captain 108th Engineers (later federalized as 108th US Engineers, 33d Division) June 22, 1917, called to active service July 25, 1917, and served with his regiment in Houston, Texas, and overseas May 18, 1918–May 8, 1919; in action at Somme, St.-Mihiel, Meuse-Argonne, and Troyon sector; received the Silver Star and citation for bravery March 17, 1919; commissioned Major, Judge Advocate General's Department, November 8, 1918, and retained in that rank in the Reserve Corps; released from active duty June 17, 1919; member American Legion, Veterans of Foreign Wars of the United States, Masonic order, Phi Alpha Delta, Phi Gamma Delta, and St. James' Church (Episcopal), Chicago.

Married April 24, 1923, in Chicago, Lucille Beverly, daughter of Mathew Felix Bozinch (MD Univ. Moscow 1890) and Pauline (Majeska) Bozinch. Children: Harry Fleming, Jr., and Mathlyn Lucille

Death due to an acute heart block. Buried in Ridgewood Cemetery, Des Plaines, Ill. Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Frank B. Hamlin of Punta Gorda, Fla.

Frank Patrick McEvoy, LL.B. 1907.

Born November 12, 1878, in Waterbury, Conn. Died June 24, 1945, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Finton McEvoy, an ecclesiastical outfitter in New York City Mother, Mary (Lawlor) McEvoy, daughter of John Lawlor of Waterbury.

Waterbury High School; attended St. Francis Xavier College [NY] 1895-96 and Yale School of Law 1904-07 (on board Yale Law Journal 1905-07; Class Day Committee; member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1907; lawyer in Waterbury 1907-45 (associated with Mayor Francis P. Guilfoile 1912-30); judge Superior Court of Waterbury 1930-45; reorganized and directed court's probation system 1935-45; assigned to hear all appeals from State Juvenile Court 1941-45; on Waterbury Charter Commission 1929-30 and Commission for Revision of State Statutes 1927-30; appointed by Governor Cross to legislative commission to study and recommend a state automobile financial responsibility law; government appeal agent and chairman Waterbury advisory board in World War I; helped to index and bring up to date Connecticut Practice Book 1934; vice-president Class of 1907 L; a director Albertus Magnus College; on State Bar Examining Committee 1934-42; member Mattatuck Council, Boy Scouts of America, Waterbury Bar Association (president 1928-29), and New Haven County, Connecticut State, and American Bar associations; trustee Blessed Sacrament Church (Roman Catholic), Waterbury.

Married June 29, 1909, in Waterbury, Gertrude, daughter of Michael and Katharine (Lawlor) Guilfoile. Adopted son. Vincent.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Old St Joseph's Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by wife and son

Joseph Francis Dutton, LL.B. 1910.

Born October 31, 1880, in Forestville, Conn Died June 19, 1945, in Bristol, Conn

Parents, Robert Francis and Anne Elizabeth (Stone) Dutton Bristol High School and private tutor; attended Yale School of Law 1907–10 (LL.B. 1910; Class baseball team 1907–08; associate editor Yale Shingle 1909–10, president Kent Club; member University Debating Association and Phi Alpha Delta); admitted to the bar 1910; lawyer in Bristol 1910–45; assistant clerk State Senate 1913; deputy judge Bristol city court 1913 and 1943–45 and judge 1941–43; mayor of Bristol 1916–22 and 1932–36, twice candidate for Congress from First Connecticut District, member Catholic church.

Unmarried.

Death due to uremia. Buried in New St. Joseph's Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Oscar French Noel, LL.B. 1910.

Born December 5, 1884, in Nashville, Tenn. Died February 23, 1945, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, Edwin Thomas Noel, a real-estate dealer in Nashville; owner Liberty Mills Flour Company, Nashville; son of Oscar Fitzallen and Sarah Catherine (Gardner) Noel of Nashville Mother, May (French) Noel; daughter of John Hopkins and Lucy Virginia (Smith) French of Mc-Minnville, Tenn Yale relatives include two brothers, John H. Noel, '10 L, and Edwin T Noel, ex-'10 L.

Culver (Ind.) Military Academy, Blees Military Academy, Macon, Mo., and Bowen School, Nashville; attended Vanderbilt University 1905–07 and Yale School of Law 1907–10 (LL B. 1910; captain Yale University Wrestling Association Senior year; member Book and Gavel); trustee Estate of O F. & E T. Noel, Nashville, 1910–45; president Noel Hotel Company and Noel Ice & Coal Storage, Inc., Nashville; member United States Coast Guard Reserve and Masonic order; attended First Presbyterian Church, Nashville.

Married June 5, 1913, in Nashville, Jeannette Tillotson, daughter of Joseph Hayes and Jeannette (Tillotson) Acklen. Children Oscar French, Jr (B.A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1935, M.D. 1942), Hayes Acklen (Vanderbilt Univ. 1933–37), and Catherine, the wife of Charles Mortimer Anderson (B A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1938)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Nashville. Survived by wife, children, and six grandchildren.

Ernest Francis Oakley, LL.B. 1911.

Born April 5, 1888, in Hartford, Conn. Died April 4, 1945, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, Ernest Francis Oakley, a contractor in Hartford. Mother, Ellen M. Oakley.

Hartford Public High School; attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL.B. 1911); admitted to Connecticut bar 1911, Missouri bar 1914, and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1919, lawyer in Hartford 1911–14 and St. Louis 1914–45 (partner Oakley & Frank 1923–37); assistant circuit court attorney of St. Louis 1917–20 and prosecuting attorney 1921–23; judge Eighth Judicial Circuit of Missouri 1937–45; member U.S. Board of Legal Examiners, District of Missouri, and executive council Missouri Judicial Conference 1942–45; Missouri State Athletic Commissioner 1935–37, instructor in domestic relations and criminal law City College of Law and Finance, St Louis, 1921–39, member New England Society of Missouri, Lawyers Association of St. Louis, Bar Association of St. Louis, and Missouri Bar Association.

Married (1) June 23, 1915, in St Louis, Dorrit, daughter of John P and Mary Agnes Leahy. Daughter: Therese. Mr. and Mrs Oakley were divorced in 1926. Married (2) April 2, 1929, in Waterloo, Ill, Lena Frank (LL.B. City Coll. Law and Finance [St. Louis] 1916, LL M. St Louis Univ. 1917), daughter of Frederick William and Annie (Goldberg) Frank.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Valhalla Mausoleum, St Louis. Survived by wife, daughter, two sisters, Mrs. William Smith and Miss Helen J. Oakley, both of Hartford, and a brother, John L. Oakley of Hartford.

Isadore Wolf Resnik, LL.B. 1911.

Born January 21, 1888, in Bentem, Russia. Died January 4, 1945, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, David Resnik, a theatrical agent in Kiev, Russia; son of Nathan and Eva Resnik of Kiev. Mother, Sarah (Feinstein) Resnik; daughter of Louis and Hannah Feinstein of Bentem. Yale relatives include a cousin, Jacob Resnikoff, ex-'17 S.

Booth Preparatory School, New Haven; attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL.B. 1911); admitted to the bar 1911; lawyer in New Haven 1911 until retirement 1943; an incorporator New Haven Arena Company 1927, vice-president 1927–30, and president; president Interstate Realty Company, New Haven, 1924–28 and handled large real-estate projects in various New England cities; member New Haven Chamber of Commerce, New Haven County Bar Association, Independent Order of B'nai Brith, and Congregation B'nai Jacob, New Haven.

Married October 25, 1908, in New Haven, Henrietta, daughter of Morris Joseph and Betty (Pasternak) Beck. Children Burton Beck, '34;

Howard Beck, '34; Myra Beck (grad Pratt Inst. 1938), the wife of Roy Henri Roth (Pratt Inst 1936-39); and Prentice Beck.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount Sinai Memorial Park, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, three sisters, Miss Beatrice Resnik of New York City and Mrs. William Ratner and Mrs Rose Resnik Coleman, both of New Haven, and four brothers, Harry David Resnik of New Haven, Jacob Resnik of Fitchburg, Mass., Samuel F. Resnik of Detroit, and Dr. Ernest D. Resnik, ex-'18 S.

Carroll Raymond Ward, LL.B. 1916.

Born October 8, 1888, in Buckland, Mass. Died November 8, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Charles Edwin Ward, owner and operator of a gristmill and sawmill in Buckland, trustee Massachusetts Agricultural College; represented Franklin County in Massachusetts House of Representatives 1901–06 and State Senator 1913–17; son of Jeremiah Sumner and Caroline (Hitchcock) Ward of Buckland. Mother, Harriet Angeline (Elmer) Ward; daughter of Lawson and Eunice Laura (Bronson) Elmer of Conway, Mass.

BA. Dartmouth College 1911 (member Phi Beta Kappa); fellow Princeton University 1911–12 (MA 1912); attended Yale School of Law 1913–16 and 1919–20 (LLB 1916, JD cum laude 1920) and Harvard Law School 1921–22, admitted to the bar 1922; associated with Chadbourne, Hunt [Richard C, '08 L], Jaekle & Brown, lawyers, New York City, 1921 until retirement in 1932, resided in New York City 1932–44.

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Arms Cemetery, Shelburne Falls, Mass Survived by three sisters, Grace W. Danforth, the wife of Arthur Louis Danforth (DVM. Cornell Univ 1911), and Amy Leigh Ward (grad New England Conservatory of Music 1909), both of Snyder, N.Y.,

and Mrs Dewitt Ward Danforth of Fayetteville, NY.

Stephen Francis Dunn, LL.B. 1920.

Born December 26, 1891, in Manchester, Conn. Died October 19, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Michael F Dunn, a retired real-estate dealer in Hartford, Conn, son of Michael Francis and Ellen (Brennan) Dunn of Manchester. Mother, Mary (Hayes) Dunn; daughter of Patrick and Catherine (O'Neil) Hayes of South Manchester.

South Manchester High School, B.A. Trinity College [Conn.] 1914; principal of private school for Connecticut Children's Aid Society, Hartford, 1914–15; attended Yale School of Law 1915–17 and 1919–20 (LL.B. cum laude 1920; on editorial staff Yale Law Journal second year and editor-in-chief third year; member Corbey Court); admitted to bar 1920, member Bristol & White, lawyers, New Haven, 1920-31, lawyer in Madison and New Haven 1931-44; acting counsel for Town of Madison for several years and counsel 1941-44; prosecuting officer Connecticut Humane Society 1935-44; enlisted as private Company D, 303d Machine Gun Battalion, National Army, September 13, 1917, transferred to Quartermaster Corps; promoted corporal, 5th Company, 12th Division, February 22, 1918, and sergeant, 3d Company, 12th Division, September 18, 1918; stationed with a utilities detachment at Camp Devens, discharged January 31, 1919; commander Griswold Post, American Legion, member New Haven County Bar Association and St. Margaret's Church (Roman Catholic), Madison.

Married March 31, 1932, in West Haven, Conn, Jane Fredrika, daughter of Gustaf Ludwig and Emma (Peterson) Benson No children

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven. Survived by wife, father, two sisters, Mrs. Harold O'Mara and Kathryn Dunn McDonough, the wife of Thomas Francis McDonough (Brooklyn Law School 1919–21), both of Hartford, and a brother, Walter James Dunn of West Hartford.

Thomas Kelly Egan, Jr., LL.B. 1925.

Born August 13, 1901, in Warren, Pa. Died December 25, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Thomas Kelly Egan, general manager I. J Dexter Company, Goshen, N.Y.; son of John and Mary Ann (Collins) Egan of Hespeler, Ontario, Canada. Mother, Margaret Ellen (Hourigan) Egan; daughter of George and Margaret Sarah (Millward) Hourigan of Du Bois, Pa.

New London (Conn.) Vocational School; B A. Clark University 1922; attended Yale School of Law 1922–25 (LL B. 1925); admitted to the bar 1926; lawyer in New York City 1925 until retirement in spring of 1944 because of ill-health; with Geller, Rolston & Blanc, Taylor, Blanc, Capron & Marsh, Mitchell [William D., '94 S], Taylor, Capron & Marsh, and Mitchell, Capron, Marsh, Angulo & Cooney (partner 1939–44), member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, and Roman Catholic church

Married January 12, 1929, in New York City, Catherine, daughter of Samuel E. and Rhoda (Shank) Bixler. No children.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Holy Redeemer Cemetery, South Plainfield, N J Survived by wife, four sisters, Mary E. Ward, the wife of Anton F. Ward (B A. Rutgers Univ. 1920) of Manchester, N.H., Maude E. Feaster, the wife of William George Feaster, Jr. (Fordham Univ 1924–28) of North Plainfield, N J., Margaret E. Bergen, the wife of Arthur A. Bergen (grad. New York State Coll. Forestry, Syracuse Univ. 1933) of North Branch, N J., and Mrs. Peter J. McIvers of North Plainfield, and a brother, George F. Egan of Grand Island, Nebr.

Rolfe W. Skulason, LL.B. 1925.

Born October 9, 1900, in Grand Forks, N.Dak. Died August 21, 1944, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Bardi Gudmundson Skulason (B.A. Univ. North Dakota 1895), a lawyer in Portland, son of Gudmundur and Gudridur (Gudmundsdottir) Skulason of Mountain, N.Dak Mother, Charlotte (Robinson) Skulason (Univ. North Dakota ex-'98); daughter of John J. and Mary (Westenfeldt) Robinson of Coleharbor, N Dak.

Milwaukie (Ore.) High School; went overseas with Company B, 3d Oregon Infantry, December, 1917; served in 42d Division July and August, 1918, saw action at Soissons-Rheims and St-Mihiel; discharged May 16, 1919, B.A University of Oregon 1923; attended Yale School of Law 1923–25 (LL.B. 1925; member Corbey Court); admitted to Oregon bar 1925 and Connecticut bar 1926; clerk Clark, Skulason & Clark, Portland, 1925–26; associated with George E. Beers ['89 L.], New Haven, Conn, 1926–27; with Curtis [Louis J., '89 S.], Brinckerhoff [James E., '04 L.] & Barrett, Stamford, Conn., 1927–30; practiced independently in Stamford 1930–31 and Portland 1931–35; partner with his father in Skulason & Skulason, Portland, 1935–44; enlisted as private, Army of the United States, July 31, 1942, assigned as administrative clerk, Medical Detachment Office, Station Hospital, Walla Walla (Wash.) Army Air Field, member Oregon State Bar Association and American Legion.

Married May 8, 1925, in New Haven, Elizabeth Eleanor, daughter of Henry Lewis and Caroline Henrietta (Glaessner) Stevens Daughter: Dagmar Stevens Mr and Mrs Skulason were divorced in 1943.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Lincoln Park Memorial, Portland. Survived by daughter, father, and a sister, Dagmar Skulason Eremeef (Univ. California ex-'28), the wife of Vasili Sergeievich Eremeef (B A. Univ. Hawaii 1927) of Milwaukee.

John Snyder, LL.B. 1937.

Born April 13, 1912, in Seattle, Wash. Died October 27, 1944, in Holland.

Father, Otto Snyder (Harvard 1903-05; Cornell Univ. 1906-08), president New York Power & Light Corporation; vice-president Niagara-Hudson Power Company, Albany, NY.; son of John and Margaret Ann (Kiniff) Snyder of St. Louis Mother, Margaret (Peabody) Snyder, daughter of Ellery and Harriet (Avery) Peabody of West Newton, Mass.

Albany High School; B.A. Wesleyan University 1933 (member Alpha Chi Rho); attended Yale School of Law 1933–37 (LL B 1937); associated with Murphy, Aldrich, Guy & Broderick, lawyers, Troy, N.Y., 1937–38; admitted to the bar 1938; with New York State Tax Department, Albany, 1938–40; in law department New York Power & Light Corporation 1940–43 and secretary of the corporation 1943–44; member Unitarian church.

Married April 12, 1940, in Schenectady, N.Y., Mary Elizabeth Wold (B.A. Oberlin Coll. 1936), daughter of Peter Irving Wold (BS Univ. Oregon 1901, E.E. 1903; Ph D. Cornell Univ. 1915) and Helen (Helff) Wold Daughters: Susan and Deborah A

First Lieutenant, New York State Guard, 1943–44; inducted as private in Army of the United States March 1, 1944, assigned to Company C, 58th Infantry Replacement Training Battalion, Camp Wolters; sent overseas July, 1944, and served with Troop B, 87th Mechanized Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron, 7th Armored Division, Ninth Army; promoted corporal October, 1944.

Corporal Snyder was instantly killed by enemy small-arms fire while on a volunteer scouting patrol. Buried in an Army cemetery in Holland. Posthumously awarded the Bronze Star Medal Survived by wife, daughters, parents, two brothers, Robert Peabody Snyder (B.A. Amherst Coll. 1937) of Portland, Maine, and Ellery P. Snyder, '41 S, and maternal grandfather.

Waring Roberts, LL.B. 1940.

Born March 18, 1915, in Yonkers, N.Y. Died October 27, 1944, in Hawaii.

Father, Lewis Roberts (Williams Coll. ex-'00; Harvard ex-'01; Harvard Law School 1899–1900), wholesaler for G W. Alexander Hat Company, Reading, Pa; son of Lewis and Grace (Waring) Roberts of Yonkers. Mother, Charlotte LeRoy (Glover) Roberts; daughter of Henry Sheaff and Harriet Dawson (Coleman) Glover of Fairfield, Conn

Curtis School for Boys, Brookfield, Conn., and Salisbury (Conn.) School; B.A. Williams College 1937 (member Kappa Alpha); attended Yale School of Law 1937-40 (LL.B. 1940); associated with Boardman [William B, '93], Grout, Swain & McCarthy (later Boardman, Stoddard [Sanford, '99] & McCarthy [Edward J, '28 L]), lawyers, Bridgeport, Conn, 1940-41; special assistant prosecutor Town of Fairfield 1941.

Unmarried. Member St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Fairfield.

Enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve June 18, 1941; appointed aviation cadet November 13, 1941; primary flight training Floyd Bennett Field and Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Fla.; received wings and commissioned Ensign June 19, 1942 (to rank from May 1, 1942); given further training at Lambert Field August, 1942–July, 1944, and Naval Training Station, St Simon Island, Ga,, July–September, 1944; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) May 1, 1943, and Lieutenant July 1, 1944; ordered to 14th Naval District, Naval Air Center, Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, September 18, 1944; awarded American Defense Service Medal.

Lieutenant Roberts was reported missing after his plane crashed October 27, 1944, in Hawaii His plane was later found and identified, and the Navy Department has concluded that he died on that day Survived by mother (Mrs William Van Kirk), a sister, Harriet R. Fincke, the wife of John M. Fincke, ex-'36 E., and a brother, Lewis Roberts (Lehigh Univ. ex-'35) of Fairfield.

McCormick Gerald Burrow, Jr., LL.B. 1941.

Born December 17, 1916, in Tunica, Miss. Died May 22, 1945, in Tunica, Miss.

Father, McCormick Gerald Burrow, president Planters Bank, Tunica; son of Walter and Eva (Crenshaw) Burrow of Arlington, Tenn. Mother, Lockie (Cuningham) Burrow; daughter of John and Bell (Battle) Cuningham of Arlington.

Tunica High School; B.A Southwestern at Memphis, Tenn., 1938 (member Sigma Alpha Epsilon); attended University of Mississippi School of Law 1938–39 and Yale School of Law 1939–41 (LL.B. 1941); admitted to Tennessee bar 1941 and Mississippi bar 1942; associated with Bradley, Baldwin, All and White, lawyers, Birmingham, Ala., 1941–42; on legal staff Office of Price Administration, Washington, 1942–43; lawyer in Tunica 1943–45; member Tunica Methodist Church.

Unmarried.

Death due to nephritis. Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Tunica. Survived by parents, a sister, Martha B Holmes (Belhaven Coll. ex-'36), the wife of Henry DeVotie Holmes of Tunica, and paternal grandparents.

Walter Bigelow Rosen, LL.B. 1941.

Born July 3, 1915, in New York City. Died August 18, 1944, in England.

Father, Walter Tower Rosen (B.A. Harvard 1894), senior partner Ladenburg, Thalmann & Company, investment bankers, New York City; son of Max Tower and Flora (Thalmann) Rosen of New York City. Mother, Lucie Bigelow (Dodge) Rosen; daughter of Charles S. Dodge, '85, and Flora Bigelow Dodge Guest.

Bovee School, New York City, and Morristown (NJ) School; B A cum laude Harvard 1937 (member Phi Beta Kappa and Signet Society); studied mathematical physics Harvard Graduate School 1937–38; at-

tended Yale School of Law 1938-41 (LLB. 1941).

Unmarried. Member St. Matthew's Church (Episcopal), Bedford, N.Y.,-

and St. George's Church, New York City.

Enlisted in Royal Canadian Air Force October 24, 1941; with Initial Training Wing, Toronto, March 9, 1942; promoted leading aircraftsman May, 1942; received wings and rank of Sergeant Pilot September 24, 1942; attended Air Observer School, Chatham, N.B., October-November, 1942; assigned to GRS. coastal aerial reconnaissance, Prince Edward Island, November, 1942-February, 1943; assigned to No. 2 W. S. Shepard Field, Calgary, Alberta; promoted Flight Sergeant March, 1943, Pilot Officer July 23, 1943, and Flying Officer January, 1944; went overseas in September, 1943; attached to Royal Air Force in England as pilot and captain of four-engine aircraft.

Flying Officer Rosen died of injuries received on a mission over Kiel. Buried in Regional Cemetery, Harrogate, Yorkshire, England. Survived by parents and a sister, Anne Bigelow Rosen Scholz (Barnard Coll. ex-'38), the wife of Janos Scholz (Royal Coll. Agriculture [Magyar] 1925; Royal Conservatory of Music [Budapest] 1932) of New York City, and

maternal grandparents.

MASTER OF LAWS

Walter John Ise, LL.M. 1911.

Born January 22, 1882, in Downs, Kans. Died June 29, 1945, in Denver, Colo

Father, Henry Christian Ise, a farmer in Osborne County, Kans. Mother, Rosa Christina (Haag) Ise.

Certificate Kansas State Teachers College 1904; district supervisor of schools on Negros Island, Philippine Islands, 1904–08; LL B. University of Kansas 1910 (member Phi Delta Phi); attended Yale School of Law

1910–11 (LL M. 1911); admitted to Kansas bar 1912 and Colorado bar 1931; lawyer in Coffeyville, Kans., 1912–13; land law examiner U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, D.C., 1913–18 and law clerk and later assistant to the solicitor, Department of Agriculture, 1918–21; law officer in regional office of U.S Forest Service, Denver, 1921–42 and assistant regional attorney 1942–45; member Masonic order and First Unitarian Church, Denver.

Married June 2, 1917, in Kansas City, Mo, Jeannette Spalding (B.A. Univ. Kansas 1912), daughter of George Edgar and Cora (Bowdish) Spalding. Children Marjorie (B.S. Colorado State Coll Agriculture and Mechanic Arts 1941), the wife of Arthur Peterson; George Henry (Univ.

Denver 1939-40, Univ. Kansas 1940); and Henry Ralston.

Death due to pulmonary embolism Ashes temporarily interred in Denver Survived by wife, children, one grandson, four sisters, Minnie Ise Chitty (Kansas State Coll. 1907), the wife of J. Griffith Chitty (B.S. Kansas State Coll. 1905) of Altadena, Calif., Alma Ise Lindley (Univ. Zurich 1908), the wife of Fred Lindley of San Diego, Calif., Estelle Ise Gygax (DS Kansas State Coll. 1908), the wife of Rear Admiral Felix Xerxes Gygax, USN (BS. United States Naval Academy 1906), of Boston, Mass, and Mary Ise Holmes (BA. Univ. Kansas 1912), the wife of Merle Verne Holmes (B.A. Univ. Kansas 1914) of Seattle, Wash., and three brothers, John Ise (Mus B. Univ. Kansas 1908, B.A. 1910, LL.B. 1911, MA Harvard 1912, Ph D. 1914) of Lawrence, Kans., Frank Harold Ise (BA. Univ. Kansas 1917) of Wichita, and Herman Thomas Ise of Greeley, Colo.

DOCTOR OF CIVIL LAW

Charles Henry Huberich, D.C.L. 1899.

Born February 18, 1877, in Toledo, Ohio. Died June 18, 1945, in Cambridge, Mass.

Father, Conrad Huberich, in real-estate business in San Antonio, Texas; member Ohio State legislature. Mother, Emma (von Richers) Huberich.

Private tutors; attended University of Texas 1895–98 (LL B. 1897, LL M 1898, member Chi Phi), Yale School of Law 1898–99 (DCL 1899), and universities of Berlin and Heidelberg 1899–1900 (J.U.D. magna cum laude University of Heidelberg 1905); admitted to the bar in Texas 1898, California 1908, and District of Columbia 1913, and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1913; member Middle Temple (London) 1912; instructor in political science and law University of Texas 1900–02 and adjunct professor of law 1902–05; assistant professor of law Stanford University 1905–06, associate professor 1906–

07, professor and dean of the law school 1907-12; professor of law University of Chicago summer session 1907 and exchange professor University of Wisconsin 1909–10; lawyer, specializing in international cases, 1912– 45, with offices in London, The Hague, Paris, Berlin, and New York City; in 1914–17 specialized in prize court work, representing British shipping interests in Germany and German interests in Great Britain; counsel for German shipping interests in proceedings before Arbitrator on River Shipping in Paris 1920; counsel in many important cases including The King v. Roger Casement (treason), director plantation companies operating in Tanganyika, Portuguese West Africa, and Channel Islands; legal advisor for several foreign governments, including Liberia; author-The Trans-Isthmian Canal (1904), Emergency Legislation in Germany (1914), The Law Relating to Trading with the Enemy (1915), Emergency Legislation of the French Republic (1915), The Law Relating to Trading with the Enemy, together with a Consideration of the Civil Rights and Disabilities of Alien Enemies (1918), The Development of German Prize Law (1918), and The Political and Legislative History of Liberia (2 vols. 1946); editor German Legislation for the Occupied Territories of Belgium (1914-18); associate editor American edition Commercial Laws of the World (1912); an editor International Law Notes, London (1916-19), and Journal of Foreign Law, Berlin; joint editor and translator: The Prize Code of the German Empire (1915) and English Prize Law (1915); consulting editor. American and English Encyclopaedia of Law and Practice, contributed numerous articles to American, British, and Continental legal periodicals; LL D. University of Melbourne 1907; honorary member Phi Delta Phi, Delta Phi, and Juridical Society of Bogotá; member Society of Comparative Legislation in London, Paris, and Berlin, International Law Association, American Bar Association, and Grotius Society, London.

Married (1) June 11, 1902, in Austin, Texas, Laura King, daughter of John and Laura King (Allen) Orr Daughter: May Bess (B.A. Univ Texas 1924, M.A. 1926), the wife of Alexander Dunnett Gibson (B.A. Dartmouth 1924, M.A. Columbia 1928, Univ Toulouse 1928–29, The Sorbonne 1932). Mr. and Mrs. Huberich were divorced in 1915 Married (2) July 15, 1925, in Paris, Princess Nina Mdivani, daughter of Prince Zakhari Mdivani and Elizabeth Sabalewska Mr. and Mrs Huberich were divorced in 1936.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in City Cemetery, San Antonio. Survived by daughter and two grandchildren

Mr. Huberich willed his two libraries, one in The Hague and one in London, to The Honourable Society of the Middle Temple and to the University of London, jointly The library will be housed by the University of London and made the nucleus there for an Institute of Advanced Legal Studies.

DOCTOR OF LAW

Earley Emmett Caple, J.D. 1924.

Born August 13, 1893, in Portsmouth, Va. Died November 15, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Emmett Liggins Caple, a machinist and Baptist minister in Portsmouth, and Stratford, Conn. Mother, Pinkey Gorham (Johnson) Caple.

New Haven High School; attended Yale College 1912–17 and 1919–20, Yale School of Music 1918–19, and Yale School of Law 1920–24 (J.D. 1924; member Alpha Phi Alpha); successively clerk in charge of stores for maintenance department, and assistant to equipment engineer Remington Arms Company, Inc, Bridgeport, Conn, 1916–20; admitted to Connecticut bar 1925; lawyer in New Haven 1925–44; active in city politics and justice of the peace New Haven 1930–44; president Negro Republican State Organization 1943–44; on board of directors Dixwell Community House; member National Association for the Advancement of Colored People and Emmanuel Baptist Church, New Haven.

Married April 26, 1924, in New Haven, Romietta Leonora Jackson Hatcher, daughter of Robert Henry and Henrietta Louise (Frisby) Jackson.

Death due to cerebral accident. Buried in Westville Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, two stepchildren, Natalie Roberta Hatcher (Mrs. Leslie Gordneer) and Theodore William Hatcher, Jr, and a sister, Miss Olive Caple of New Haven.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

Otto Faelten, B.F.A. 1924.

Born November 26, 1882, in Frankfurt-am-Main, Germany. Died April 23, 1945, in Greenburgh, N.Y.

Father, Carl Faelten, director New England Conservatory of Music 1891–97; cofounder Faelten Pianoforte School, Boston, Mass., 1897; son of Carl Gottlob and Friederike (Moller) Faelten of Ilmenau, Germany Mother, Adele (Schloesser) Faelten.

Studied architecture Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1899–1900 and École des Beaux Arts, Paris; awarded B F.A Yale 1924; associated with James Gamble Rogers, '89, New York City, 1915–45; assisted in designing the Columbia-Presbyterian Medical Center, New York City, Columbia University Library, and the Sterling Law Buildings, Hall of Graduate Studies, Harkness Memorial Quadrangle, and Berkeley, Timothy Dwight, Jonathan Edwards, Pierson, and Trumbull colleges at Yale, assistant professor of architecture Yale University 1922 and 1925–27, assistant professor of architectural design 1922–25, and associate professor 1927–33; professor of design University of Pennsylvania 1936–45 (on leave of absence 1944–45)

Married (1) Martha Self. Children: Elizabeth and Carl. Mr. and Mrs. Faelten were divorced in 1934. Married (2) June 8, 1934, in Elkton, Md., Elizabeth, daughter of James and Jessie Jane (MacGregor) Simpson. Son: Eion.

Death due to carcinoma Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Willibald Carl Faelten (Tufts Coll. ex-'12) of South Hanson, Mass.

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

Walter Brooke Hadley, M.F. 1904.

Born September 7, 1877, in Dayton, Ore. Died January 20, 1945, in Redlands, Calif.

Father, William Macy Hadley (B.A. Earlham Coll 1872), professor of Latin and Greek at Earlham College; son of Thomas and Lucinda (Macy) Hadley of Mooresville, Ind. Mother, Harriet (Fuson) Hadley; daughter of John B and Harriet Putoff (Kelley) Fuson of Bellefontaine, Ohio.

Pacific Academy, Newberg, Ore.; B.S Pacific College 1901; attended Linfield College 1901–02 and Yale School of Forestry 1902–04 (M.F. 1904), assistant U.S. Forest Service in California, Arizona, New Mexico, and Washington, D.C., 1904–08; orange grower in Redlands 1909–12; in charge propagating department Redlands city nurseries 1913–16; horticultural and later agricultural inspector San Bernardino County, Calif, and State quarantine guardian 1916–40; deputy agricultural commissioner and associated with Bureau of Nursery Service, California State Department of Agriculture, 1940–45; treasurer Orange Belt Mineralogical Society 1935–40; secretary Samuel B. Parish Botanical Society 1930–35, Horticultural Society 1930–40 and Hadley Association of Southern California 1938–42, member Society of Friends.

Married September 30, 1907, in McMinnville, Ore., Amba Irene, daughter of Charles Franklin and Mallissia Minerva (Kuns) Daniels Children: Mildred May (died March 22, 1913), Macy Daniels (died in infancy), Charles Franklin (BS California Inst. Technology 1937, MS. 1938; Ph.D Stanford Univ. 1944), and Harriet (B.A Univ. California at Los Angeles 1940), the wife of Eugene Johnson.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Redlands Survived by wife, one daughter, one son, a granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs C. B Newhouse of Dayton.

Avery Turner Searle, M.F. 1904.

Born July 28, 1869, in Brookfield, Mo. Died February 12, 1945, in Denver, Colo.

Father, Lumen Benson Searle, public school teacher in Illinois, Missouri, and Tennessee, son of Lumen and Susannah (Dudden) Searle. Mother, Susan (Turner) Searle, daughter of Avery and Hannah Turner of Quincy, Ill.

Prepared in Claremont, Calif; B.A. Pomona College 1896, studied law with private tutor in Oakland, Calif., 1897; admitted to California bar 1897, Texas bar 1912, and Colorado bar 1918, taught at Lodi (Calif) High School 1896-97 and in a private school in Honolulu, TH, 1901-02; attended Yale Graduate School and Yale School of Forestry 1902-04 (M.F. 1904); assistant in reforestation U.S. Forest Service, Sierra Madre Mountains, Calif., 1904-07; assistant manager Oak Knoll Tract, Pasadena, Calif. 1907-08; lawyer in Lodi 1908-10; assistant general manager Kilgore Cooperative Sugar Cane Plantations, Mercedes and Harlingen, Texas, 1910-12; assistant Hawkins and Pierce, lawyers, Brownsville, Texas, 1912–13, member Rich & Searle, lawyers, Brownsville, 1913-14; judge Willacy County (Texas) Court and superintendent of schools Willacy County 1914-17; cashier Denver Towel and Supply Company 1917-18; lawyer in Haxtun, Colo, 1918-33; judge Phillips County (Colo) Court 1933-41, retired in 1941; member Masonic order and Holyoke (Colo.) Methodist Church.

Married September 20, 1903, in Lodi, Emily Drinker, daughter of Frederick Colman (M.D. Cooper Medical Coll 1873) and Emily Whitfield (Sylvester) Colman. Children Margaret (died June 8, 1912), Dorothy (died October 10, 1910), Edward Turner Colman (Univ Denver 1927–28), and Eleanore Catherine (Univ. Colorado 1926–28), the wife of Samuel Van Meter Rhoads.

Death due to paralysis. Buried in Haxtun Cemetery. Survived by wife, one daughter, son, and four grandchildren.

Clayton Dissinger Mell, M.F. 1905.

Born November 25, 1875, in Wernersville, Pa. Died February 28, 1945, in Merida, Mexico

Parents, William Dover and Rebecca (Dissinger) Mell

B A. Millersville (Pa.) State Teachers College 1896, M E. 1898; taught school 1897–1900; attended Franklin and Marshall College 1900–02 (B A. 1902) and Yale School of Forestry 1903–05 (M F. 1905); became assistant dendrologist, U.S. Forest Service, in 1905; pharmacognosist U.S. Bureau of Chemistry, New York City, 1912–15; engaged in importation of tropical woods in New York City until 1945 (with Charles H. Pearson, J. H Monteath Company 1924–28, and under firm name C. D. Mell); consultant, Board of Economic Warfare, Washington, D C, 1942; coauthor with his classmate Samuel J Record of Timbers of Tropical America (1924); wrote section on forests in Geological Survey of St Mary's County, Md. (1907); New York editor of Lumber; secretary Philippine Mahogany Association; member Society of American Foresters and German Reformed Church.

Married July 3, 1911, in Washington, Mary Frances, daughter of Ross and Fannie Blosser.

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by wife.

Samuel James Record, M.F. 1905.

Born March 10, 1881, in Crawfordsville, Ind. Died February 3, 1945, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, James Knox Polk Record, a schoolteacher and farmer in Crawfordsville; son of William Tulley and Susan (Curry) Record of Montgomery County, Ind Mother, Mary Minerva (Hutton) Record; daughter of Samuel McKee and Miriam (Harland) Hutton of Montgomery County.

Crawfordsville High School; B.A. Wabash College 1903 (member Phi Gamma Delta and Phi Beta Kappa) and M. 1906 (instructor in botany and forestry January-June, 1906); attended Yale School of Forestry 1903-04 (M.F. 1905); with U.S. Forest Service 1904-10 (forest assistant in Arkansas, Arizona, New Mexico, and Pacific Northwest 1904-07, promoted to chief of reconnaissance, Crawfordsville, 1907; first supervisor Arkansas National Forest 1907-10), instructor in forestry Yale University 1910-11, assistant professor of forest products 1911-17, professor 1917-39, Pinchot professor of forestry and dean School of Forestry 1939-45, research associate Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago, 1928-45; delivered many lectures before the Nylta Club (New York Lumber Trade Association) in New York City and at Field Museum; on standing committee Forest Resources of the Pacific 1929-33 and Bernice P Bishop Museum Committee (Yale) 1937-43; attended first International Conference on the Systematic Study of Woods and International Botanical Congress, Cambridge, England, 1930; a juror in award of fellowships of the American-Scandinavian Foundation for Study in Sweden 1919, chiefly responsible for the development of studies in tropical woods at Yale; under his direction the Yale collection of woods has become the largest and most comprehensive in the world; made extensive trips through Central American countries collecting samples, and directed explorations in Liberia and South American countries; two genera and seven new species of trees carry his name; author: Identification of the Economic Woods of the United States (1912, revised ed. 1918), replaced by Identification of the Timbers of Temperate North America (1934), Mechanical Properties of Wood (1914), and of numerous articles published in forestry periodicals and scientific and trade journals; contributed to School of Forestry bulletin series; coauthor: Timbers of Tropical America (1924), The Evergreen Forests of Liberia (1931), The Forests and Flora of British Honduras (1936), and Timbers of the New World

(1943); founder and editor Tropical Woods, a quarterly, 1925–45; on editorial board Forestry Quarterly 1912–16; a collaborator for Revista Florestal, a Brazilian forestry publication, 1929–45; managing editor Yale Forest School News 1913–24; secretary class of 1905 F. from 1913 to 1943 (departmental vice-president Yale Association of Class Secretaries 1914–20; Alumni Fund agent 1920–25), Sc.D. Wabash College 1930; a founder and member organizing committee International Association of Wood Anatomists 1931 and secretary-treasurer 1932–38; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and Society of American Foresters; honorary member Ecuadorean Institute of Natural Sciences and Museo Comercial de Venezuela; member Sociedad de Ciencias Naturales (Colombia), American and Connecticut Forestry associations, Sigma X1 (vice-president Yale chapter 1921–23, president 1923–24), Masonic order, and Young's Chapel, near Crawfordsville.

Married April 1, 1906, in Crawfordsville, Mary Elizabeth Strauss (Washburn Coll. ex-'03), daughter of Charles Edward and Sarah (Schooley) Strauss. Children. Harold Clayton (died in infancy); Mary Elizabeth; Mason Thomas (B.A. 1932, Ph.D. 1938), and Alice Louise (B.A. Connecticut Coll. for Women 1933), the wife of Alfred Gifford Hooper (B.A. Univ Leeds 1929, M.A. 1930, Ph.D. 1932; Commonwealth Fund Fellow in English at Yale 1932–34).

Death due to myocardial infarction. Ashes interred in the Hutton Cemetery, near Crawfordsville. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, and three grandchildren.

Hiram Earl French, M.F. 1908.

Born June 24, 1883, in Humboldt, Iowa. Died August 26, 1944, in Pueblo, Colo.

Father, Hiram Abbott French, proprietor of a music store in Humboldt, son of Samuel Hela and Phebe (Lilly) French of Clymer, N Y Mother, Jane Eliza (McCollough) French; daughter of Ervin and Mary (Lyon) McCollough of Essex County, N Y.

Humboldt High School; B.S. State University of Iowa 1906; attended Yale School of Forestry 1906–07 (M.F. 1908), associated with U.S. Forest Service 1908–44; in Washington, D.C., 1908; forest assistant Green River Forestry Reserve, Pinedale, Wyo., 1908–10; forest supervisor Washakie National Forest, Dubois, Wyo., 1910–12, Nebraska National Forest, Halsey, 1912–14, Pagosa Springs (Colo) National Forest 1914–16, Durango National Forest 1916–20, Durango-San Juan National Forest 1920–25, San Isabel National Forest, Pueblo, 1925–34 and 1942–44; assigned as liaison officer U.S. Civilian Conservation Corps of the 7th corps area, with headquarters at Omaha, Nebr., 1934–42; assisted in compiling

study courses for Region No. 2, Denver, 1926; member Masonic order, Pueblo Chamber of Commerce, and First Baptist Church, Pueblo.

Married (1) November 2, 1911, in Kenosha, Wis, Janet Esther, daughter of Amos Adelbert and Eliza Jane (La Count) Hewitt. Children: Helen Elmer (died January 23, 1917) and Louis Earl. Mr. and Mrs. French were divorced in 1922 Married (2) November 25, 1925, in Memphis, Tenn., JenO, daughter of Stephen Thomas and Mary Jane (Newsom) Smith. Children Robert Edward (died July 8, 1931) and William Earl.

Death due to acute cardiac failure. Buried in Roselawn Cemetery, Pueblo. Survived by wife, two sons, and two sisters, Mrs Jennie F. Lovrien

of Spencer, Iowa, and Mrs. Nellie F. German of St. Louis, Mo.

Philip Laurance Buttrick, M.F. 1911.

Born June 25, 1886, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 5, 1945, in Dover, Del.

Father, Willis Nathan Buttrick, secretary Ford Company, wholesale and retail jewelers, New Haven, son of Capt. Minot A. Butricks and Mary Butricks of New Haven. Mother, Mary William (Cannon) Buttrick; daughter of James William and Laura (Tuttle) Cannon of New Haven Yale relatives include a cousin, LeGrand Cannon, Jr., '20 S.

New Haven High School; attended Sheffield Scientific School 1906-08 and 1909-11, and Yale School of Forestry 1910-11 (M.F. awarded 1921 with enrollment in Class of 1911); in spruce department Great Northern Paper Company, Grant Farm, Maine, and worked on production costs and utilization of wastes for Great Southern Lumber Company, Greenville, Maine, 1908-09; assistant U.S. Forest Service, Black Hills, N.Dak., 1911-12; forester Lanphere Heinrich Company 1912; field agent New Haven Anti-Mosquito Committee, Inc., 1912-13; engaged in commercial and silvicultural survey of the chestnut, North Carolina Geological and Economic Survey, 1913–16; consulting engineer Nassau (N.Y.) County Mosquito Commission 1916-17; went overseas with American Red Cross Ambulance Service July 21, 1917; appointed Second Lieutenant in charge of construction division October, 1917; mustered out June, 1918, and enlisted in French Army; attended Artillery School at Fontainebleau June-September, 1918, graduating as aspirant; attached to 244th Artillery Regiment; saw action in Champagne-Meuse-Argonne campaign; commissioned Second Lieutenant March, 1919; stationed with Army of Occupation, demobilized July, 1919, and re-entered service with American Red Cross; returned to United States November, 1919; awarded Croix de Guerre with silver star November, 1918; assistant professor of forestry Michigan State College 1920-21; traveled in Europe 1922; secretary Connecticut Forest and Park Association 1923-29; forester engaged

in study of cork oak forests in the Mediterranean region for Armstrong Cork Company, Lancaster, Pa., 1929-31; superintendent Camp 54, US Civilian Conservation Corps, Torrington, Conn, 1933-35, associated with land policy section, U.S. Department of Agriculture, on rural rehabilitation project, 1933-35; head land conservation unit Regional Resettlement Administration, New Haven, 1935-37; professor of forestry George Foster Peabody School of Forestry, University of Georgia, 1937-39, forest economist National Lumber Manufacturers Association, Washington, 1943; consultant on timber appraisal for northeastern states, American Forestry Association, Washington, 1943-45; author "Chestnut and Chestnut Blight," published in North Carolina Geological and Economic Survey (1925), Public and Semi-Public Lands of Connecticut (1930), Forest Economics and Finance (1943), and of many articles published in forestry journals; executive secretary New England Forestry Congress 1929; secretary Sleeping Giant Park Association; member Society of French Veterans of the Great War, American Forestry Association, Society of American Foresters, Xi Sigma Pi, and Congregational church.

Married August 5, 1922, in Orange, Conn., Helen Reid Goodrich (B A. Univ. Chicago 1920; Yale Graduate School 1926–27), daughter of Julius Cardinan and Elegabeth (Bard) Coodrich Na shidren

Gardiner and Elizabeth (Reid) Goodrich. No children.

Death due to acute cardiac dilatation. Buried in Paugnut Forest, Connecticut. Survived by wife.

SCHOOL OF NURSING

Gertrude Zurrer, B.N. 1927.

Born January 21, 1898, in Waedenswil, Switzerland. Died January 9, 1945, in Shelton, Conn.

Father, Jean Zurrer, manager of a textile mill and associated with Bank of Waedenswil, son of Jean and Katharina (Egolf) Zurrer of Waedenswil. Mother, Lina (Kammerer) Zurrer; daughter of Wilhelm and Elizabeth (Lutz) Kammerer of Waedenswil.

Preparatory study in Waedenswil and in child hygiene in Zurich; diploma Women's College, Menzingen, Switzerland, and studied at University of Geneva; attended Yale School of Nursing 1925–27 (B.N. 1927) and Yale Graduate School 1929–30; research fellow in home safety University of Chicago 1930–January, 1932, Rockefeller fellow Teachers College, Columbia University, 1932–33; staff nurse New Haven Hospital June–October, 1927, Visiting Nurse Association of New Haven 1927–30 and 1933–35, teaching supervisor in public health nursing Cook County (Ill) School of Nursing, Cook County Hospital, January–October, 1932; educational director Bridgeport (Conn.) Visiting Nurse Association 1935–38; supervisor Henry Street Visiting Nurse Service, New York City, 1938–41 (on leave of absence January, 1939–41 because of ill-health); unoccupied 1941–45.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Ashes to be interred in Jaffrey, N H Survived by six sisters, Miss Anna Zurrer, Mrs Ida Gut-Zurrer, Miss Maria Zurrer, Mrs. Martha Heim-Zurrer, and Miss Elizabeth Zurrer, all of Waedenswil, and Miss Lina Zurrer of Basel, Switzerland, and three brothers, Ernest Zurrer-Brunner and Hans Zurrer, both of Waedenswil, and Fritz Zurrer-Pfister of Sargans, Switzerland.

SUPPLEMENT

NOTICES OF DEATHS PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1944 NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

YALE COLLEGE

Horace Garfield Waite, B.A. 1891.

Born March 31, 1868, in Chicago, Ill Died May 10, 1943, in Nice, France

Father, Horace Fredrick Waite, member law firm of Waite & Clark, Chicago.

Fessenden School, Chicago. Freshman Glee Club; winner 440-yard dash fall athletic games Freshman year, College Choir Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; University Glee and Banjo clubs Junior year, president Gun Club Senior year, member Psi Upsilon.

Read law in Chicago and admitted to Illinois bar 1893; engaged in managing family properties and investments in Chicago and in Europe; traveled abroad and studied international law 1897; treasurer and general manager Power & Speed Controller Company, Watertown, Mass; Captain, Quartermaster Corps, United States Army, and engineer and chief purchasing officer, gasoline and oil department; overseas April 10, 1918–January, 1919; managing director Franco-American Manufacturing Association, Paris; resided in England, France, and Italy for many years

Married April 15, 1893, Helen Stokes Turner, daughter of Charles Stokes. Adopted children: Horace Stokes (deceased) and John Turner Mrs. Waite is deceased.

D[aniel] L[ewis] James, B.A. 1902.

Born September 22, 1880, in Kansas City, Mo Died March 8, 1944, in New York City.

Father, John Crawford James (B A Brown Univ. 1871), member T M James & Sons China Company, wholesale and retail merchants of china, glass, and silver, Kansas City; son of Thomas Martin and Sarah (Wood-

ward) James of Kansas City. Mother, Fannie (Shouse) James; daughter of Daniel Lewis and Fannie Shouse of Kansas City. Yale relatives include a cousin, W. Heberd James, ex-'03.

Central High School, Kansas City. Second McLaughlin Memorial Prize Freshman year; University Track Team Senior year; memorabilia editor Yale Literary Magazine and chairman Yale Courant Senior year (awarded gold medal for best short story Junior year); member University Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Chi Delta Theta. Attended Yale Graduate School 1903–06 (M A. 1907) and University of Oxford 1906–07.

Associated with T. M. James & Sons China Company 1902-44 (vice-president 1930-44); president Friends of Art, Kansas City, 1936-37, and Kansas City Archaeological Society; director Thomas H. Swope Social

Settlements; member Calvary Baptist Church, Kansas City.

Married April 11, 1908, in Kansas City, Lillie Hyatt, daughter of Chester Allen and Lillie Glass (Hyatt) Snider. Son: Daniel Lewis, '33.

Death due to a heart block. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Kansas City. Survived by wife, son, a granddaughter, and a brother, Thomas M. James, '98.

Charles Washburn Nichols, B.A. 1905.

Born June 20, 1883, in Belchertown, Mass. Died February 15, 1944, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Wilbur Fisk Nichols (B.A. Amherst Coll. 1880, M.A. 1885), supervising principal Eaton School district, New Haven, Conn.; son of Rev Henry Martyn Nichols and Nancy (Sikes) Nichols of Minneapolis. Mother, Martha Elizabeth (Washburn) Nichols; daughter of Charles Lorenzo and Elizabeth Maria (Strong) Washburn of Belchertown.

Holyoke (Mass) High School and Hillhouse High School, New Haven Honors in English composition Sophomore year; first dispute appointment and special honors in English Senior year; second dispute appointment Junior year, awarded Yale Literary Magazine triangle Senior year, member Chi Delta Theta.

Studied at Harvard Graduate School 1905–06, Yale Graduate School 1906–07 and 1916–18 (M.A. 1907, Albert Stanburrough Cook Prize in Poetry; Ph D 1918), and University of Oxford 1921–22; on faculty of University of Minnesota 1907–44 (instructor in rhetoric 1907–11 and assistant professor 1911–21; assistant professor of English 1921–37 and associate professor 1937–44); author Roland and Aude (1907), Songs in Many Moods (1911), and "Fielding's Satirical Plays of 1936 and 1937" (1918); editor Two Gentlemen of Verona in the Arden Shakespeare (1931); contributed to Modern Language Notes and Philological Quarterly, honorary member National Collegiate Players; member Minnesota and National Education associations, Modern Language Association of

America, Association of University Professors, Lambda Alpha Psi, and

Plymouth Congregational Church, Minneapolis.

Married September 1, 1909, in Minneapolis, Ruby Hope Fletcher (B A. Univ. Minnesota 1908), daughter of Charles Benjamin and Amelia (French) Fletcher. Children Elizabeth Hope (B A Univ Minnesota 1934), the wife of Clarence Newton Reierson (D D S. Univ. Minnesota 1935), and Robert Fletcher (Univ. Minnesota ex-'41).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Sunset Memorial Park, Minneapolis Survived by wife, children, two grandsons, and a sister, Elizabeth Louise Nichols Abbott (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1909), the wife of Charles Harlan Abbott (B A. Brown Univ. 1913, M A. 1914,

Ph.D. 1918) of Redlands, Calif.

Alexander Augustus Wilson, B.A. 1910.

Born September 29, 1888, in San Francisco, Calif. Died November 5, 1943, in Los Gatos, Calif.

Father, Alexander William Wilson, owner of real estate in San Francisco; son of Charles and Christine Wilson of Sweden. Mother, Rose (Drucker) Wilson; daughter of August and Rose (Ihmer) Drucker of California.

Prepared privately and at University School, San Francisco. Member

University Club, Bohemian Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Hastings College of the Law, University of California, 1910-12; admitted to the bar 1912; in office of J. C Campbell, San Francisco, 1910–14; member Heywood & Wilson, lawyers, San Francisco, 1914– 20; engaged in real-estate business in San Francisco 1920–43 (associated with his father 1920-38; manager and trustee A W. Wilson Estate 1938-43); member San Francisco Cavalry Troop; entered active service May 15, 1917; attended Officers Training School, Presidio of San Francisco, May-August, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, August 15, 1917, and Second Lieutenant, Cavalry, March, 1918, promoted First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September, 1918, assigned to 91st Division, Camp Lewis, September-December, 1917, and Camp Joseph E. Johnston, December, 1917-February, 1918; transferred to Cavalry and assigned to 306th Cavalry, Fort Clark, February 19, 1918; served with 49th Field Artillery at Camp Bowie and Camp Doniphan; discharged December 10, 1918, as Captain, Cavalry Reserve Corps; member San Francisco Chamber of Commerce

Married June 18, 1913, in San Francisco, Marianne, daughter of Francis Latimer and Elizabeth Watson (McCormick) Mathieu Sons Alexander, 3d (B.A. Univ. California 1937), and Frank Mathieu

Death due to myocarditis Ashes inurned in Cypress Lawn Columbarium, San Mateo County, Calif. Survived by wife, sons, and mother.

Robert Homer Brown, B.A. 1915.

Born February 25, 1877, in Oneonta, Ky. Died September 25, 1943, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, Robert Brown, a farmer in Twelve Mile, Ky. Mother, Helen (Henderson) Brown

Teacher in rural schools of Kentucky 1900-06; principal Haw Creek Township schools (Ill.), 1906-11; superintendent Cadiz (Ky.) High School 1911-14. Entered Yale College Senior year; oration appointment.

Instructor in Latin and mathematics Newport (Ky.) High School 1915–16; superintendent of schools Lawrenceburg, Ky., 1916–18 and Dayton, Ky, 1918–23, superintendent Morristown (Tenn.) High School 1924–26; M.A. Columbia University 1921; principal Mynders School, North Knoxville, Tenn., 1926–28; assistant professor of psychology Lincoln Memorial University summer of 1927; teacher Western Hills High School, Cincinnati, 1928–43; member Masonic order and Baptist church.

Married June 17, 1909, Martha C. Kuster (Dickinson Coll. ex-'92). No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife.

Frederick Willer Meyer, B.A. 1915.

Born August 1, 1892, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 19, 1943, on Panay, Philippine Islands.

Father, Rev Frederick William Carl Meyer, Th M. (grad. Univ. of Cincinnati 1882; Rochester German Baptist Theological Seminary 1883–88; Yale Graduate School 1888–89, 1890–91); minister German Baptist Church, New Haven, 1888–1900 and First German Baptist Church, Milwaukee, Wis, 1900–15; professor of systematic and practical theology Rochester German Baptist Theological Seminary 1915–36 and professor emeritus 1936–42, son of Carl Ludwig and Hermine Christiane (Hoffmann) Meyer of Cincinnati. Mother, Selina Barbara (Willer) Meyer; daughter of Heinrich and Selina (Huber) Willer of Cincinnati.

North Division High School, Milwaukee Dissertation appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year Attended Yale School of Medicine 1915–19 (M.D. 1919; enlisted in U.S. Medical Reserve Corps 1918).

Under auspices of American Baptist Foreign Mission Society established Emmanuel Hospital at Capiz, Panay, and served as director from 1919 until the Japanese invasion in December, 1941, when he was forced to

evacuate to the interior; from early in 1942 until December, 1943, remained hidden in Hopevale with about one hundred Filipinos and Americans, and although seriously handicapped by lack of medical supplies and personnel, carried on his work and gave medical aid to wounded Filipino guerrillas, fellow American College of Surgeons; member Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine, Philippine and Manila Medical societies, and Central Baptist Church, New Haven

Married August 20, 1919, in Racine, Wis, Ruth Violet, daughter of August and Anna (Niehbur) Schacht. Children: Frederick Willer, Jr, '42 S., Milton Walter, Class of 1947, and Richard Alan, Class of 1949.

Dr. and Mrs. Meyer were executed by the Japanese when their hideout was discovered. Buried on Panay Survived by sons, mother, two sisters, Alma Meyer Feldman, the wife of Rev. Siebe Simon Feldman (Rochester German Baptist Theological Seminary 1923) of Middletown, Ohio, and Selina Meyer (B A. Univ. Rochester 1924; Univ. Bonn 1929–30, M.A. Univ. Wisconsin 1929, Ph D. 1933) of Rochester, and two brothers, Alvin Hoffmann Meyer of Rochester, and Walter H. Meyer (B A 1919, M F. 1922, Ph.D 1929), who is Harriman Professor of Forest Management at Yale University.

Frederick Bingham Howden, Jr., B.A. 1925.

Born January 27, 1902, in Cumberland, Md. Reported to have died in December, 1942, in the Philippine Islands.

Father, Rev. Frederick Bingham Howden, D.D., ST.D. (B A. Univ. Toronto 1891, M.A. 1893; grad General Theological Seminary 1894), Episcopal missionary Bishop of New Mexico; son of William Douglas and Esther Jane (Orrell) Howden of West New Brighton, NY Mother, Angelica Constance (Faber) Howden; daughter of Gustavus William and Angelica (Barraclough) Cushman of New York City

Kent (Conn.) School. Class football team Freshman and Junior years; member Water Polo Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, on first All-American Water Polo Team Senior year; member Psi Upsilon

Attended General Theological Seminary 1925–28 (ST.B. 1928), ordained in St. Clement's Church, El Paso, Texas, January 13, 1929; rector St. Ann's Mission, El Paso, 1929, St. Andrew's Parish, Roswell, N Mex., and in charge of missions at Artesia and Glencoe, 1930–41; associate chaplain and swimming instructor New Mexico Military Institute, Roswell, 1935–41.

Married April 21, 1932, in San Antonio, Texas, Elizabeth, daughter of Alfred Francis and Martha Jane (Jennings) Fegan. Children Frederick

Bingham, 3d, Alfred Fegan, and John Fegan.

Appointed Captain National Guard Regiment, New Mexico, July

21, 1933; called to active duty September 28, 1938; assigned to 200th Coast Artillery (anti-aircraft) as Chaplain (Captain) January 6, 1941; stationed at Fort Bliss, Texas, January-September, 1941, and Fort Stotsenburg, Philippine Islands, September, 1941-May, 1942; missing in action May 7, 1942, at Bataan.

Captain Howden was detained in an enemy prison camp in the Philippines from May to December, 1942, and is presumed to have died of starvation. Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Mrs Herbert L. Horton of Des Moines, Iowa, Miss Esther Howden and Miss Margaret Howden, both of Albuquerque, N Mex., and three brothers, Douglas Faber Howden (B.A. Univ. N.Mex. 1920) of Berwick, Pa., John Faber Howden (B.A. Univ. N Mex. 1926; LL.B. Harvard 1929) of New York City, and William Howden (B.A. Univ. N.Mex. 1932) of Albuquerque.

Bernard Chase Kamerman, B.A. 1927.

Born May 4, 1906, in Hartford, Conn. Died June 20, 1943, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Abraham Kamerman, associated with Big Lion Package Store, retail liquor, Hartford, son of Bernard and Bernice Kamerman of Lemberg, Poland. Mother, Augusta (Chermak) Kamerman; daughter of Bernard and Liebe (Ahl) Chermak of Lemberg. Yale relatives include: Bernard Kamerman, '21 S, and David Kammerman, '27 (cousins); and Karl P. Josolowitz (Class of 1948)(nephew).

Hartford Public High School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Sophomore years; high oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Lacrosse Squad; Class crew squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale School of Law 1927–30 (LL.B. 1930;

member Order of the Coif; an editor Yale Law Journal).

Admitted to the Connecticut bar 1930; research assistant in law Yale University 1930–31; associated with law firm of Solomon Elsner, Hartford, 1930–34, engaged in Washington 1934–43 (attorney housing division, Public Works Administration, 1934–37, assistant solicitor Department of the Interior 1937–40 and chief counsel Division of Territories and Island Possessions 1940–43); member Hartford County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, and Temple Beth Israel, Hartford.

Married November 5, 1936, in New York City, Lisbeth Helen Shulman (B A Smith Coll 1932, M S S 1936), daughter of Max and Bella (Pinchuk) Shulman. Children: Cora Shulman and Bernard Shulman (born October 2, 1943).

Death due to glioma of the brain Buried in Beth Israel Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, children, father, and three sisters, Mabel Kamerman Josolowitz (New York Univ. 1922), the wife of Samuel Josolowitz, '20 S., Mrs. Merrill J. Finesilver of Hartford, and Sylvia Kamerman Burack (B.A. Smith Coll. 1938), the wife of Abraham S Burack of Brookline, Mass.

Robert Wilfred McKay, Ph.B. 1928.

Born July 29, 1905, in Los Angeles, Calif. Died April 16, 1942, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, William Scott McKay (Phm B. Univ. Toronto 1902), partner McKay & Monkman Drug Company, Inc, Los Angeles. Mother, Ida Lena (Monkman) McKay.

Lincoln High School, Los Angeles, and South Pasadena High School, attended Occidental College 1923–24 (member Chi Rho). Entered Yale College with the Class, scholar of the third rank Sophomore year; Freshman Lacrosse Team; University Lacrosse Squad Sophomore year; University Boxing Squad Junior and Senior years. Attended Yale School of Law for a few months in 1928 but withdrew because of defective eyesight.

In advertising and real-estate departments Security First National Bank, Los Angeles, 1929–33; became associated with Davis-Baker Company, real estate, Pasadena, in 1933; vice-president Southern California Yale Alumni Scholarship Foundation; member Presbyterian church

Married in October, 1931, Constance Lacy. Children: William Scott and Constance Jane. Mr. and Mrs McKay were divorced

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Los Angeles. Survived by children, mother, and a sister, Mrs. Robert McNeish of Pasadena.

Stephens Chamberlin, B.A. 1930.

Born July 3, 1908, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died June 14, 1942, at Camp Cabanatuan, Philippine Islands.

Father, William Bricker Chamberlin (B A. Oberlin Coll. 1896, M.A. Hon. 1926; M D. Western Reserve Univ. 1900), a surgeon in Cleveland, clinical professor of medicine and otolaryngology Western Reserve University; head department of diseases of the ear, nose, and throat University Hospitals, Cleveland; son of Henry Adams and Eva May (Bricker) Chamberlin of Shelby, Ohio. Mother, Grace Adella (Huntoon) Chamberlin (Oberlin Conservatory of Music 1894–96); daughter of George Henry and Mary (Stephens) Huntoon of Moline, Ill.

Hawken School, Cleveland, and Phillips-Exeter. Freshman Water Polo Squad; Class water polo teams Sophomore and Junior years; University Glee Club Junior year.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1930–32 (M B.A. 1932); employed in Cleveland 1932–41 (associated with National Credit Office, Inc., for a few months in 1932; in clearance department and later in credit department Central United National Bank 1932–37, in credit department M A Hanna Company, iron ore, coal, and lake shipping, 1937–41), trustee and secretary of the board Hawken School 1937–41.

Unmarried.

Member 107th Cavalry, Ohio National Guard; called to active duty as Second Lieutenant, Troop A, March 5, 1941; stationed at Camp Forrest March-April, Fort Riley in April, and Camp Funston April-August 1941; volunteered for service in the Philippine Islands; assigned as motor transport officer, 26th Cavalry, Philippine Scouts, Fort Stotsenburg, Philippine Islands, from September 1, 1941; assigned to Troop B as line officer after most of the horses and equipment were lost in the withdrawal to the Bataan Peninsula; wounded in action January 26, 1942, but returned to duty in about two weeks; awarded the Silver Star and promoted First Lieutenant in February, 1942; again wounded in action and while in the hospital was captured by the enemy and transferred to Prison Camp 1

Reported missing in action after the fall of Bataan May 7, 1942. Lieutenant Chamberlin's death in the prison camp on June 14, 1942, was confirmed by the War Department April 17, 1945. Survived by mother and a brother, William B. Chamberlin, Jr., '34.

Albert MacClellan Barnes, 3d, B.A. 1937.

Born January 29, 1916, in New York City. Died May 5, 1944, off the Florida coast.

Father, Albert MacClellan Barnes, Jr. (LLB Univ. Michigan 1906), senior partner Barnes, Richardson & Colburn, lawyers, New York City; son of Albert MacClellan and Clare (Stitt) Barnes of Pittsburgh Mother, Julia Clark (Sprague) Barnes (BA. Vassar Coll. 1908); daughter of Theodore and L Edna (Mason) Sprague of North East, Pa.

St Paul's School, Concord, NH, and Hun School, Princeton, NJ. Freshman Crew; Vanderbilt hockey and championship football teams Sophomore year, member Freshman Glee Club and University Glee Club Junior year, member Chi Psi and Pierson College (crew Junior and Senior years [captain Senior year]; football team Senior year).

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1937-38 and University of Michigan Law School 1938-40.

Married June 8, 1940, in New York City, Marie Bradford Fotterall Trench, daughter of William Foster Fotterall, Jr, and Mrs Stewart Power Trench No children. Lieutenant and Mrs. Barnes were divorced in 1943.

Enlisted in Army of the United States January 20, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Miami Beach, Fla, October 30, 1942–January 20, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, January 20, 1943; attended Air Intelligence School, Harrisburg, Pa, January 24–March 6, 1943; went overseas with 51st Fighter Squadron June 18, 1943; stationed in Galapagos Islands and Panama Canal Zone as intelligence officer; promoted First Lieutenant March 9, 1944.

Lieutenant Barnes was instantly killed when the plane in which he was traveling on a special assignment from Panama collided with another plane. Survived by parents, a sister, Carol Louise Barnes Eddy, the wife of E. Scott Eddy, '32, and a brother, William S. Barnes, '40.

His parents have dedicated a memorial to him in The National Cemetery, Arlington.

Lawrence Michael Di Filippo, B.A. 1938.

Born March 8, 1916, in Boston, Mass. Died May 14, 1942, in the Philippine Islands.

Father, Pasquale Di Filippo, associated with C & R. Construction Company, Boston; son of Pasquale and Marie Grace (Minnina) Di Filippo of Italy. Mother, Lena (Di Maina) Di Filippo, daughter of Anthony and Josephine (Molinario) Di Maina of New York.

English High School, Boston, and Phillips-Exeter On Class swimming and baseball teams and football and track squads Freshman year, member Saybrook College (baseball and swimming teams Junior and Senior years).

Employed by I. J Fox, furriers, New York City, for a time after graduation and also engaged in writing; member St Peter's Church (Roman Catholic), Dorchester, Mass Unmarried.

Enlisted in Army of the United States in September, 1940, received basic training at Fort Slocum September–November, 1940; volunteered for overseas duty; went overseas attached to 19th Air Base Squadron about December, 1940, and stationed at Nichols Field, Rizal, Philippine Islands, promoted to Corporal in August, 1941

Corporal Di Filippo died of dysentery in a Japanese prison camp Buried at Camp O'Donnell, in the Philippines. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Grace Di Filippo of Milton, Mass., and a brother, Joseph Di Filippo.

Francis Patrick Gallagher, B.A. 1938.

Born March 14, 1915, in Southport, Conn. Missing in action August 9, 1942, in the Pacific. Presumptive date of death August 10, 1943.

Father, James Joseph Gallagher, a farmer in Southport; son of Thomas and Annie (O'Rourke) Gallagher of County Leitrim, Ireland. Mother, Sarah Jane (Meehan) Gallagher; daughter of Lawrence and Julia (Gilligan) Meehan of County Leitrim. Yale relatives include a cousin, James D. Lucey, '17.

Roger Ludlowe High School, Fairfield, Conn. Co-captain Freshman Football and Basketball teams and University Football Team Sophomore and Senior years; on national college all-star football team 1938; member

Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Employed by J. P. Stevens & Company, Inc., textiles, New York City,

1938-41

Unmarried Member St. Thomas' Church (Roman Catholic), Fairfield. Attended Midshipmen's Training School on U S S *Prairie State* March-June, 1941, commissioned Ensign, U S. Naval Reserve, June 5, 1941; remained in V-7 school on the *Prairie State* as instructor until January, 1942, when transferred to heavy cruiser U S.S. *Quincy*; saw service in the Atlantic and the Pacific, promoted Lieutenant (1.g.) June 15, 1942.

Lieutenant Gallagher was reported missing in action August 9, 1942, when his ship was sunk off Savo Island. (In compliance with Section 5, of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as August 10, 1943.) Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by three sisters, Mrs. William Sebastian Luddy and Mrs Edward Michael Molloy, both of Fairfield, and Rose Gallagher Keenan, the wife of George Keenan of Bridgeport, Conn., and two brothers, James Thomas Gallagher (Fordham Univ. 1924–25; Georgetown Univ. 1925–27) of Southport, and Harry J Gallagher, '31.

Gordon Phillips Hoover, B.A. 1939.

Born November 1, 1916, in Chicago, Ill.

Died sometime between September 19 and November 6, 1943, in the northern part of the South China Sea.

Father, Edwin K Hoover, '14 S, engaged in estate management in Detroit; son of George Percy and Margaret Campbell (Phillips) Hoover of Evanston, Ill Mother, Kathleen (O'Donnell) Hoover; daughter of James and Sarah (George) O'Donnell of Jackson, Mich.

Grosse Pointe (Mich.) Country Day School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Class baseball team Freshman year, member University Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years; on board Yale Daily News Junior and Senior years; member Berkeley College (hockey team Junior and Senior years), Yale Political Union, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

In mailing and messenger department Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago, 1940 and government and municipal bond department 1940–41, head of priorities section, Acetate Division, Rayon Department, E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, Wilmington, Del, 1941–42; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Grosse Pointe.

Married June 30, 1939, in Wilmington, Nancy Aline May (Sarah Lawrence Coll. ex-'39), daughter of Benjamin Mackall and Gretta Dye

(Smith) May. Daughter: Nancy Mackall.

Entered U.S. Navy July 16, 1942, as Ensign; with Bureau of Naval Personnel, Arlington, Va., July, 1942–February, 1943; assigned to Submarine School, Portsmouth, NH, February–June, 1943; commissioned Lieutenant (jg.) June, 1943, and assigned to submarine USS Cisco

Lieutenant Hoover was reported missing following action when the U.S.S. Cisco, on patrol duty in the northern part of the South China Sea, was unreported after leaving Port Darwin, Australia, September 19, 1943. On January 16, 1946, the Secretary of the Navy advised that the status of "missing following action" had been changed to "killed following action." Lieutenant Hoover's death is assumed to have occurred between the dates of September 19 and November 6, 1943, as the latter date was when the U.S.S. Cisco was scheduled to return to Fremantle, Australia. Survived by wife (now the wife of Paul T. Rennell, '37), daughter, parents, two stepsisters, Frances Thayer Pittman Book, the wife of Edward Irving Book and Amy McMillan Pittman Whitehead, the wife of James Frazer Whitehead, Jr, both of Grosse Pointe, and two stepbrothers, Lansing Mizner Pittman of Grosse Pointe Park, and Capt. Edward King Aldworth, A.A.F., A.U.S

Harvey John Cibel, B.A. 1940.

Born December 9, 1918, in Malden, Mass.

Missing in action January 31, 1943, in Northwestern Africa area.

Presumptive date of death January 31, 1944.

Father, Abraham Bernard Cibel, treasurer Golden Bell Cleaners, Inc., Malden, Mass.; son of Joseph and Jennie (Glickman) Cibel of Russia. Mother, Esther Leah (Cooper) Cibel; daughter of Israel and Tema (Shain) Cooper of Poland.

Newton High School, Newtonville, Mass Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year, member Freshman Lacrosse Squad and Branford College.

Associated with Golden Bell Cleaners, Inc., 1940–41; member Temple

Israel, Boston. Unmarried.

Enlisted as cadet Army Air Forces, September 15, 1941; entered active service December 18, 1941; pre-flight training Maxwell Field, Montgomery, Ala; received primary training at Camden, S.C., basic training Shaw Field, Sumter, S.C., advanced flying Spence Field, Moultrie, Ga; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant August 5, 1942; stationed in East Hartford, Conn, and in Providence, R I; sent to Mitchel Field, NY., about October, 1942, member 60th Fighter Squadron.

Lieutenant Cibel left New York for North Africa November 1, 1942, and was reported missing January 31, 1943 (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as January 31, 1944) Survived by parents, two sisters, Sylvia Charlotte Cibel Gordon (B A. Smith Coll. 1932), the wife of Milton Gordon (LL.B. Boston Univ. 1930) of Newton Center, Mass, and Judith Cibel Gold (B.A. Radcliffe Coll 1934), the wife of Herbert Arthur Gold (Harvard ex-'27) of Jersey City, N J, a brother, Irving James Cibel of Newton, and maternal grandmother.

Robert Stuart Clark, B.A. 1940.

Born October 31, 1917, in St. Paul, Minn.
Missing in action February 1, 1943, south of Savo Island.
Presumptive date of death February 2, 1944

Father, Homer Pierce Clark (LL B. Univ. Minnesota 1894), chairman of the board West Publishing Company, law books, St Paul, and director Waldorf Paper Products Company; son of Charles Henry and Martha (Cowper) Clark of St Paul. Mother, Elizabeth (Dunsmoor) Clark; daughter of Frederick Alanson Dunsmoor (M.D. New York Univ. 1875) and Elizabeth (Turner) Dunsmoor of Minneapolis.

St. Paul Academy, and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn. Mem-

ber Trumbull College and Alpha Sigma Phi.

Unmarried Member House of Hope Church (Presbyterian), St. Paul. Enlisted as apprentice seaman, U.S Naval Reserve, September 17, 1940; training duty on U.S. Arkansas October 28-November 22, appointed midshipman, U.S. Naval Reserve, December 16, 1940; attended Midshipmen's Training School, Northwestern University, December 16, 1940-March 14, 1941; commissioned Ensign D-V(G) March 14, 1941; assigned to destroyer U.S.S. Dupont March 28-May 3; transferred to Office of

Naval Operations, Washington, May 8–19; assistant naval attaché, American Embassy, London, June 19–September 16, and special naval observer (serving as liaison officer to the British Admiralty) September 16, 1941–May 29, 1942; promoted Lieutenant (jg.) June 15, 1942, and Lieutenant December 1, 1942; attended Naval Gun Factory, Navy Yard, Washington, June 5–25, and Fleet Sound School, Key West, Fla, June 29–August 29, reported September 2 for duty in outfitting the destroyer U.S.S. De Haven, and on board that vessel when placed in commission.

Lieutenant Clark lost his life when his ship was sunk in an engagement with enemy planes. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, death is presumed to have occurred on February 2, 1944) Awarded American Defense Service Medal with Fleet Clasp, Asiatic-Pacific Area Campaign Medal, and Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents, three sisters, Elizabeth Turner Clark (B A. Wellesley Coll 1945), Catherine Pierce Clark, and Helen Dunsmoor Clark, and one brother, Thomas Kimball Clark, all of St. Paul.

William Jared Knapp, Jr., B.A. 1941.

Born August 24, 1919, in Rye, NY. Died November 13, 1942, in the South Pacific

Father, William Jared Knapp (B S. Massachusetts Inst Technology 1906), retired president National Carbon Company and vice-president Union Carbide & Carbon Company, New York City; son of George Owen and Isabel (Murray) Knapp. Mother, Louise (Allen) Knapp, daughter of Jonathan Harris and Anna Williamson (Handy) Allen Yale relatives include. Waldemar H. Jacob, '11, Thomas H C. Allen, ex-'11 S, and Douglass M. Allen, '13 (uncles), Douglass M Allen, Jr., '39 (cousin)

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Member Freshman Football Team, University Football Squad Junior year; University Football Team Senior year, University Rugby Team Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years; took part in Dramatic Association production *The Hairy Ape* Junior year; nominated for hockey managerial competition Sophomore year, member Timothy Dwight College, Amalfi Club, Fence Club, and Wolf's Head. Member Christ Church (Episcopal), Rye, NY

Married July 19, 1942, in Coronado, Calif., Miriam Austin (Mills Collex-'41), daughter of John Van Alst and Margaret Hartwell (Dent) Austin Adjutant first Yale Naval Flying Unit (Naval Reserve) July 1, 1941, trained at Floyd Bennett Field July-October, 1941, and Jacksonville, Fla., about October, 1941-April, 1942; transferred to US Marine Aviation Group at Miami May-June, 1942, and San Diego about July-August, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant in June, 1942; went overseas in August, 1942.

Lieutenant Knapp lost his life while on a dive-bombing mission in the Solomon Islands area Posthumously awarded Air Medal and citation for courageous conduct throughout the engagements in the Solomon Islands, the Order of the Purple Heart, and promotion to Captain, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve. Survived by wife (Mrs. Cameron Mackenzie), parents, two sisters, Anne Knapp Chapman (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1934), the wife of Frederick Garlick Chapman (Univ. Southern California 1927–30) of Sherman Oaks, Calif., and Sarah Knapp Sprole (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1944), the wife of Frank A. Sprole, '42, and two brothers, George O Knapp, 2d, '35, and Allen Knapp (Williams Coll. 1933–34) of Grand Rapids, Mich.

George Noyes McLennan, B.A. 1941.

Born January 5, 1919, in Lake Forest, Ill. Missing in action September 13, 1942, on Guadalcanal. Presumptive date of death September 14, 1943.

Father, Donald Roderick McLennan, chairman Marsh & McLennan, Inc., insurance, Chicago; son of William Lillingston and Julia (McLeod) McLennan of Duluth, Minn. Mother, Katherine Cole (Noyes) McLennan (BA Smith Coll. 1905), daughter of George Henry Noyes, LL.D. (BA Univ Wisconsin 1873, LL.B. 1874), and Agnes Allis (Haskell) Noyes of Milwaukee, Wis. Yale relatives include: Haskell Noyes, '08 (uncle), George W. Welles, Jr., ex-'26, Donald R. Welles, '27, William Dalrymple, Jr, ex-'27, Ralph C. Bagley, ex-'38, and Haskell Noyes, Jr, '45 (cousins)

Los Alamos Ranch School, Otowi, N.Mex., and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Freshman Football Squad, Freshman Baseball and Hockey teams; University Hockey Team three years; member Berkeley College (touch football and baseball teams Junior and Senior years; captain touch football team Senior year), Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Book and Snake Member First Presbyterian Church, Lake Forest.

Married May 26, 1942, in Hewlett, NY, Margaretta Fitz-Gerald, daughter of George Tybout and Margaretta Fitz-Gerald (Benson) Purves.

Enlisted as seaman (2d class), US Naval Reserve, July 18, 1941; stationed at Floyd Bennett Field July-November; appointed aviation cadet November 27, 1941, received primary and basic flight training at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Fla, and advanced training at Miami, Fla.; selected for Air Corps, US Marines, March 1, 1942, awarded wings March, 1942, and commissioned Second Lieutenant May 23, 1942; stationed in San Diego, Calif, June, 1942; joined Squadron 3, Group 2, Second Marine Air Wing, in Hawaii in July, 1942, pilot of a Grumman Wildcat plane and stationed at Henderson Field on Guadalcanal; as a

member of Marine Fighting Squadron 223, Lieutenant McLennan was credited with more than four Japanese planes; awarded the Navy Cross.

On September 13, 1942, Lieutenant McLennan's plane failed to return to the base at Guadalcanal after a fight with Japanese planes over Savo and Guadalcanal islands. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as September 14, 1943.) Survived by wife (Mrs Donald R. McLennan, Jr.), mother, father (died October 14, 1944), three sisters, Jane M Ober, the wife of Woodbury Swan Ober (B A. Princeton 1923), Margaret McLennan Morse (Smith Coll. ex-'33), the wife of John B. Morse, '34, and Katherine M Brown, the wife of Keith S. Brown, '35, and two brothers, Donald R. McLennan, Jr., '31, and William Lillingston McLennan, '45, all of Lake Forest.

Alfred Williams Haywood, Jr., B.A. 1943.

Born July 29, 1921, in Scarsdale, N.Y. Died April 29, 1944, off the coast of New Britain Island.

For family history see biography of his brother, Snowden Haywood, '44 (page 218)

Harvey School, Hawthorne, N.Y., and Woodberry Forest (Va.) School Freshman Soccer Squad; manager University Wrestling Team and president Undergraduate Medical Club Senior year; member Berkeley College and Chi Psi; awarded B.A. December 19, 1942, as of the Class of 1943. Member Church of St. James the Less (Episcopal), Scarsdale Unmarried.

Enlisted as apprentice seaman, U.S Naval Reserve (Class V-7), while at Yale; reported for active duty December 29, 1942; attended Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University (graduated and commissioned Ensign April 23, 1943); stationed at Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron Training Center, Portsmouth, R I, from about May 1 to July 1, 1943, and at New York Navy Yard, Brooklyn, about July-September, 1943, overseas from September 8, 1943; executive officer of a P T. boat in Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron 25

Ensign Haywood was reported missing in action when his boat was sunk off the coast of New Britain on April 29, 1944. The circumstances of his disappearance at sea justified the conclusion by the Navy Department that he had lost his life on that date Survived by parents, a sister, Adèle Haywood Graham (Smith Coll ex-'41), the wife of John Ellis Graham, Jr, '40 S, of Scarsdale, a brother, Lieut Snowden Haywood, A.U.S., '44 (killed in action December 26, 1944), and paternal grandmother.

Clement Gould Amory, 2d, Class of 1945.

Born May 9, 1922, in New York City, Died January 8, 1944, in Fresno, Calif.

Father, Eugene Horton Amory (B S. Pennsylvania Mılıtary Coll. 1905), vice-president United States Leather Company, New York City; associated with Consolidated Shipbuilding Corporation; son of John James and Mary (Hull) Amory. Mother, Nellie Dawson (Moore) Amory. Yale relatives include an uncle, Clement G. Amory, 'og S.

Lawrence Park West Country Day School, Bronxville, N.Y., Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn., and Milford (Conn.) School. Entered Yale September, 1941; member St. Ignatius Loyola Church (Roman

Catholic), New York City Unmarried

Withdrew from college January 28, 1943; entered Army of the United States February 26; stationed successively in Miami, Fla., Denver, Colo., Wendover Field, Utah, Gowen Field, Idaho, and Hammer Field, Calif.; trained as tail gunner on a Liberator bomber; promoted Sergeant at time of death.

Sergeant Amory's death was probably due to insufficient oxygen supply while flying at a high altitude over Fresno Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, NY. Survived by father (died May 15, 1944), mother, two sisters, Mary Alice Amory Winslow, the wife of John Colburn Winslow (B A. Princeton 1934), and Mrs. John Ben Ali Haggin, and a brother, E. Horton Amory, Jr., '37 S.

Boyd Taylor Cummings, Class of 1945.

Born August 27, 1923, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died October 26, 1942, on Guadalcanal.

Father, Colonel Gale Taylor Cummings, U.S.M.C. (Univ. California ex-'22; LL B George Washington Univ. 1928). Mother, Mary (Boyd) Cummings (Univ. California ex-'23).

Episcopal High School, Alexandria, Va. Entered Yale in September,

1941.

Unmarried

Withdrew from college December 20, 1941; enlisted in U.S. Marine Corps January 3, 1942, received recruit training at Parris Island and advanced training at New River, NC; went overseas in April, 1942; served at a South Pacific island base as private, 2d Battalion, Seventh Marines, until the Guadalcanal campaign

Private Cummings was killed in action during the battle of Matanikau. Buried in First Marine Division Cemetery, Guadalcanal. Survived by

father and a sister, Miss Carol Cummings of Alexandria.

Frederick Anson Brown, Class of 1945W.

Born September 3, 1922, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 27, 1944, over Nancy, France.

Father, Major Kilburn R. Brown, USA, ex-'20, son of Frederick A. and Mary Lois (Roby) Brown. Mother, Kathryn (Keirnan) Brown, daughter of Thomas Sebastian and Katherine (Fitzpatrick) Keirnan Yale relatives include two uncles, Edward F. Keirnan, '13 S, and Francis K. Keirnan, '15 S.

Edgemont School, Scarsdale, N.Y, Bronxville (NY) High School, and Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J. Entered Yale in July, 1942; member Immaculate Heart of Mary Church (Roman Catholic), Scarsdale.

Married October 5, 1943, in Salt Lake City, Ruth Bradshaw (BA Univ. Utah 1942), daughter of Fred J. and Mildred S. Bradshaw

Withdrew from college September 17, 1942; enlisted in Army of the United States September 18, 1942; assigned to Air Corps; volunteered as aerial gunner and sent to Fort Myers about October 15, 1942; promoted to Sergeant November 30, 1942, assigned to Salt Lake City Army Air Base for secondary course as Junior Radio Operator; promoted Staff Sergeant March, 1943, accepted for Cadet Air Corps training and sent to Santa Ana Air Corps Base April 1, 1943; classified as bombardier and went to Victorville, Calif., for advanced training July 1, 1943; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, October 2, 1943; combat air crew training at Dalhart, Texas, November 1, 1943–February 18, 1944, and Kearney, Nebr, February 20–25; went to England February 28, 1944, as bombardier in a B-17

Lieutenant Brown was killed while on a bombing mission over Nancy Survived by wife, parents, and a sister, Miss Judith Ann Brown of Scarsdale.

Francis Joseph Fitzgerald, Class of 1945W.

Born May 15, 1924, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 20, 1943, near Caserta, Italy.

Father, Francis Joseph Fitzgerald (BA New York State Coll. for Teachers 1919), physical director West Haven (Conn) schools Mother, Lillian Katherine (Rowen) Fitzgerald. Yale relatives include two uncles, Edward H. Rowen, ex-'13 S, and James S Rowen, BFA 1932.

West Haven High School. Entered Yale in July, 1942; member ROTC. Field Artillery unit; member St. Lawrence Church (Roman Catholic), West Haven Unmarried.

Entered Army Air Corps Reserve December, 1942; withdrew from

college February 25, 1943, when called to active duty; stationed at Camp Devens February 26-March 16, 1943; received basic training Keesler Field March 16-June, 1943; promoted private (1st class) June, 1943; attended Army Administration School, Huntsville, Texas, June-August, 1943; stationed at Jefferson Barracks, Mo, August-September, 1943; went overseas in September, 1943; served in North Africa attached to Quartermaster Corps of Army Air Forces, assigned to 12th Air Support Command; sent to Italy in November, 1943.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Alice Mary Fitzgerald, a brother, Frederick Lawrence Fitzgerald, all of West Haven, and maternal grandmother.

Charles Jared Ingersoll, Jr., Class of 1945W.

Born December 27, 1923, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died May 14, 1944, in Italy.

Father, Charles Jared Ingersoll (C.E. Princeton 1917), civilian chief, U.S. Army Ordnance, Philadelphia district, and a director Pennsylvania Railroad Mother, Marian (Baird) Ingersoll.

Chestnut Hill (Pa.) Academy and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Entered Yale in July, 1942.

Unmarried.

Withdrew from college September 26, 1942; enlisted in Army of the United States as private in October, 1942; assigned to 310th Engineer Battalion, Company B, 85th Division, Camp Shelby, Miss., and desert maneuver area in California for training; promoted Corporal in February, 1943, and Sergeant in September, 1943; sent overseas to North Africa in December, 1943.

Sergeant Ingersoll was killed in action near Minturno. Buried at Carano, Italy Survived by father, stepmother, three sisters, Anna Warren Ingersoll Roberts (B A Vassar Coll. 1943), the wife of Brooke Roberts (B.A. Princeton 1939; M D. Univ Pennsylvania 1944), Miss Sally Wister Ingersoll, and Miss Gainor Baird Ingersoll, and two stepsisters, Miss Ann Clement Robinson and Miss Ellen Farr Robinson.

Ralph Davis Sneath Sample, Class of 1945W.

Born May 11, 1924, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died December 13, 1943, near Pensacola, Fla.

Father, Emmet Walter Sample (Virginia Christian Coll. [now Lynchburg Coll] 1908), formerly president E. W. Sample and Company, investment counselors, Cleveland; son of Lafayette and Rachel Sample.

Mother, Emily Louise (Sneath) Sample; daughter of Ralph Davis and Nancy (Moore) Sneath. Yale relatives include an uncle, Samuel B. Sneath, 2d, '11 S.

Shaker Heights (Ohio) High School, Culver (Ind.) Military Academy, and The Loomis Institute, Windsor, Conn. Entered Yale in July, 1942, member Davenport College, Yale Naval Aviation Unit, and Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland. Unmarried.

Withdrew from college March 8, 1943, to continue with Yale unit at Cornell University March–May, 1943; basic training Chapel Hill, N.C, June 2–August 24, 1943; stationed at Bunker Hill Naval Air Station, Peru, Ind., September 1–November 27, 1943, and Pensacola November 30–December 13, 1943.

Cadet Sample was killed when his plane crashed Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Tiffin, Ohio. Survived by mother and paternal and maternal grandmothers.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

Oliver Phelps, Ph.B. 1881.

Born December 12, 1859, in Canandaigua, NY. Died April 12, 1940, in Detroit, Mich.

Father, Oliver Phelps, a lawyer in Lancaster, Pa., and Washington, D.C.; son of Oliver and Laura (Chapin) Phelps of Canandaigua Mother, Sarah Louisa (Porter) Phelps; daughter of George Bryan and Sarah (Humes) Porter of Detroit.

Canandaigua Academy. Select course; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

Associated with Michigan Car Company (subsidiary of the American Car and Foundry Company), Detroit, 1885–1900; general manager Lorain (Ohio) Foundry Company 1900–03, manager of sales M. A. Hanna Company, manufacturers of pig iron, Detroit, 1903–15; independently engaged in iron and steel sales, Detroit, 1915 until retirement 1932.

Married December 15, 1881, in Dubuque, Iowa, Sarah Porter, daughter of Louis Shissler (LLB Harvard 1855) and Rose (Porter) Shissler. Sons: Oliver, Jr., and Louis Shissler (died December 15, 1928). Mrs. Phelps died February 20, 1937.

Death due to gastric hemorrhage Ashes interred in Woodmere Cemetery, Detroit. Survived by one son.

Richard Sidney Curtiss, Ph.B. 1888.

Born November 8, 1863, in Stratford, Conn. Died June 28, 1944, in Covina, Calif.

Father, Elbert O. Curtiss, a farmer in Stratford; son of Willis and Catherine Jane (Wells) Curtiss of Stratford. Mother, Emma (Reeve) Curtiss, daughter of Francis and Catherine Reeve of Brooklyn.

Private tutor. Chemistry course; Senior appointment; Commencement

speaker.

Assistant chemist Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station, New Haven, Conn, 1888-90 and research chemist 1893; attended University of Munich 1890, University of Wurzburg 1891-92 (Ph.D. 1892), and University of Paris 1893; docent and instructor in organic chemistry University of Chicago 1894-97; professor of chemistry Hobart College 1897-1901 and Union College 1901-04; assistant professor of organic chemistry University of Illinois 1904-12 and Throop College of Technology, Pasadena, Calif, 1912-15; research chemist and director of research laboratory Mexican Petroleum Company, Los Angeles, 1916-18; acting professor of organic chemistry Leland Stanford University 1918 until retirement in 1919; since retirement resided in California and managed his ranch and real-estate interests; author: "Über die optisch isomeren Gulonsauren" (1892); an organizer Champaign and Urbana section of the National Health League and secretary 1910-11; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science (secretary St Louis section 1904); member American Chemical Society (chairman division of organic chemistry 1909; secretary University of Illinois section and vice-president; vice-president Southern California section 1913), Illinois State Academy of Science, Alpha Chi Sigma, Sigma Xi, Masonic order, and Presbyterian church

Married June 14, 1899, in Clifton Springs, NY, Jessie Eleanor, daughter of Henry Augustus and Jeanette (Harrison) Loop Children Harold Loop (BS Univ. California 1927) and Hildegarde Pauline, the wife of Ben Needham.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Oakdale Cemetery, Covina Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. John Edwin Judson of South Orange, N J., and a brother, Frank Reeve Curtiss of Glendora, Calif.

Louis Mark Bishop, Ph.B. 1894.

Born July 22, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 30, 1944, in Middletown, Conn.

Father, Rev David D. Bishop, an Episcopal minister in Thomaston, Conn; son of Mark and Louise (Robinson) Bishop of Cheshire, Conn.

Mother, Ellen Adelia (Welton) Bishop; daughter of Arad and Sally (Smith) Welton of Waterbury, Conn.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Biology course. Attended Yale

School of Medicine 1894-97.

Successively engaged as bicycle dealer, farmer, and upholstery clerk 1894–1904; clerk John E Wetherwax, druggist, New Haven, J. Parker, drugs, New Haven, J. Berger, Ansonia, Conn, and Yale Pharmacy, New Haven; registered pharmacist with John E Wetherwax, and registered pharmacist and manager Williams Drug Company, Branford, Conn, 1926 until retirement about 1932; member Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married July 22, 1905, in New Haven, Sarah Anna, daughter of Frederick and Mary (Hitt) Myers. No children. Mrs Bishop died October 1, 1939.

Death due to strangulated hernia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Ellen B. Peck of Bridgeport, Conn.

Henry Archibald North, Ph.B. 1899.

Born April 21, 1877, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 27, 1944, in Wilmette, Ill.

Father, William Stanley North, founder and president Union Special Machine Company, Chicago; son of Augustus William and Martha (Stanley) North of Cleveland, Ohio. Mother, Elizabeth (Holmes) North; daughter of Archibald Rogers and Eliza (Brindley) Holmes of Brooklyn. Yale relatives include: James S. North, '97 S. (uncle); and Francis S North, '97 S. (brother)

Chicago Manual Training School and Phillips-Andover. Chemistry course; shared prize for excellence in chemistry Freshman year; honors in chemistry Senior year; Class book committee; member Sigma Xi.

Attended University of Munich 1899–1900 and Christ College, University of Cambridge; in U.S Patent Office, Washington, 1900; associated with General Chemical Company, Chicago, 1902–07 and Barrett Manufacturing Company, Chicago, 1907–10; vice-president and general manager Union Special Machine Company, Chicago, 1910 until retirement.

Survived by wife, Mrs. Esther L. North, and a sister, Mrs. Sidney G.

Haskins of London, England.

Carl King Palmer, Ph.B. 1899.

Born October 21, 1876, in Danville, Ill.

Died November 14, 1942, in Danville, Ill.

Father, Charles J. Palmer, ex-1862 S, member C. J & C K. Palmer, investments, Danville; president Palmer National Bank; son of Levin

Townsend and Esther (Leverich) Palmer of Danville. Mother, Mary Olivia (Davis) Palmer; daughter of Oliver L. and Sara (Cunningham) Davis of Danville. Yale relatives include a nephew, James P. Johnson, '34.

Peekskill (N.Y) Military Academy and Phillips-Andover. Select course; University Athletic Team Junior and Senior years; established Yale record for two-mile run Senior year; member Yale-Harvard team competing against Oxford and Cambridge in London July 22, 1899; member University Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Clerk Washington Trust Company, New York City; engaged in investment business with his father 1900–21; vice-president Palmer-American National Bank, Danville, 1921–42; member board of directors Lake View Hospital, Danville, and First Presbyterian Church, Danville.

Married February 8, 1938, in Newport, Ind, Marta Seligman (M.D. Univ. Berlin 1935), daughter of Alexander and Selma (Gans) Seligman No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Springhill Cemetery, Danville. Survived by wife (Mrs. J. H Billings) and a sister, Mrs. James Edward Johnson of Chicago.

George Samuel Brigham, Ph.B. 1901.

Born May 27, 1880, in Ishpeming, Mich. Died April 11, 1944, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, Edmund Douglass Brigham, assistant freight traffic manager Chicago and North Western Railway Company; son of Rev. George French Brigham and Aurilla E. (Douglass) Brigham of Dunkirk, N.Y. Mother, Edith (Northmore) Brigham; daughter of John Northmore of Republic, Mich

New York Military Academy, Cornwall, N.Y. Civil engineering course; member Theta Delta Chi.

Associated with Chicago and North Western Railway Company, Brookings, S Dak, 1901–04; successively superintendent of a copper mine, Stanleytown, Va, roadmaster Chicago, Milwaukee & Puget Sound Railway Company, Miles City, Mont, engaged in coal, ice, and building materials business, Glencoe, Ill, and assistant to president Lake Shore Sand Company 1904–16, interested in iron mines 1914–16; associated with Idaho Sulphur Company, Chicago, 1916–20; field engineer Portland Cement Association, Buffalo, 1920–31; sales manager Buffalo Black Top Pavements Company and president Buffalo Crushed Stone Corporation; president The Engineering Society of Buffalo, Inc, 1926–27; on thirty-year Class reunion committee; member Yale Engineering Association, American Association of Engineering, and Church of the Good Shepherd (Episcopal), Buffalo.

Married March 15, 1905, in New Haven, Conn, Anne Christine, daughter of Christopher Prince and Anne (Johnson) Hempstead. Son: Edmund Hempstead (B S. Dartmouth Coll. 1928; died October 13, 1943).

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by wife, mother, and a brother, John N Brigham, '10 Another brother, Edmund D. Brigham, Jr., ex-'06 S, died in 1935.

Frederick Augustus Sherwood, Ph.B. 1901.

Born September 11, 1881, in Ottawa, Ill. Died September 29, 1938, in Guatemala City, Guatemala

Father, Fiederick Augustus Sherwood, a banker in Ottawa; son of Walter Cunningham and Elizabeth (Bloomer) Sherwood of New York State. Mother, Phebe (Anthony) Sherwood; daughter of John P. and Helen Maria (Everitt) Anthony of Poughkeepsie, NY.

Ottawa High School; attended Knox College 1897–98. Physics course; honors in physics Freshman year and honors for excellence in all studies Junior year; two year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year, member Sigma Xi.

After graduation engaged in business in Mexico and later in Deadwood, S.Dak, and St. Louis, Mo.; associated with Dodwell & Company of London, England, a British importing and exporting firm with offices in New York City and Buenos Aires, about 1914–21; South American representative United States Playing Card Company 1923–30, associated with *Panama American* 1930–32; with W. A. Torbert Company, agents for General Motors Corporation, Panama City, 1931, treasure hunting on Cocos Island 1931; sailed across Pacific as one of a crew of three on a 37-foot yawl, visiting Galapagos and Marquesas islands, and Tahiti, 1932–34; tourist guide for McCormick Steamship Company of San Francisco on trip to Buenos Aires 1934; engaged in advertising business in Guatemala 1934–38; author Glimpses of South America (1920) and several magazine articles on South America

Married November 11, 1903, in Philadelphia, Mary Denmead, daughter of Benson and Carrie (Walters) Mann. Children: Frederick Augustus, Jr., and Benson Mann.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Ottawa Avenue Cemetery, Ottawa. Survived by wife, sons, and a brother, Everitt A Sherwood, 'o6

Bernard Gilpin Marshall, Ph.B. 1905.

Born December 18, 1882, in Plainfield, N J Died October 7, 1943, in Louisville, Ky

Father, Henry Cooper Marshall, associated with Marshall-Wells Hardware Company, Duluth, Minn, son of Abram and Sarah Wayne (Betts)

Marshall of Philadelphia. Mother, Marie (Heyburn) Marshall; daughter of John Brinton and Sarah Taylor (Gilpin) Heyburn of Chadds Ford, Pa. Phillips-Andover Select course; Class crew Senior year, member Class Book Committee

Associated with Marshall-Wells Hardware Company 1905–11 (in warehouse and office, Duluth, 1905–10 and road salesman Spokane, Wash, branch 1910–11), buyer Belknap Hardware & Manufacturing Company, wholesale hardware, Louisville, 1911–43; corporal Kentucky State Guard World War I, chairman Yale Scholarship Trust Fund of Kentucky 1921–24, treasurer 1924–25, and representative on executive council Associated Western Yale Clubs; Kentucky chairman Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; president Yale Alumni Association of Kentucky 1926–28 and Kentucky Civitan Club 1924; member First Unitarian Church, Louisville.

Married December 27, 1911, in Spokane, Judith Gladys, daughter of David Turner and Emma (Daniels) Ham. Children: David Ham (Lafayette Coll. 1934–38) and Mary Heyburn (died December 16, 1926).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife, son, and mother.

George Stone Hardenbergh, Ph.B. 1910.

Born August 1, 1889, in St. Paul, Minn. Died April 2, 1944, in St. Paul, Minn.

Father, William Adams Hardenbergh, associated with P. R. L. Hardenbergh & Company, manufacturers and jobbers of harness, saddle hardware, and shoe findings, and R. Brownson & Company, horse collar machinery, St Paul; son of Peter Robert Livingstone and Mary Charlotte (Adams) Hardenbergh of St Paul. Mother, Ella Gordon (Stone) Hardenbergh; daughter of George and Katherine (Baldwin) Stone of Philadelphia, Pa, and Duluth, Minn. Yale relatives include a nephew, S. Mc-Millan Shepard, Jr., '34 S.

St Paul Academy Mechanical engineering course; on editorial board Yale Scientific Monthly Senior year.

Salesman P R L Hardenbergh & Company 1910–16, vice-president 1916–20, and president 1920–32, manager cereal department Commander-Larabee Milling Company, Minneapolis, Minn., 1932 until retirement in 1941 because of ill-health; president Bronson Investment Company, Stillwater, Minn, 1941–44; commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance Reserve Corps, July 18, 1917; in charge inspection of leather goods, equipment division, Office of Chief of Ordnance, Washington; sent overseas August 7, 1918; assigned to Advance Ordnance Depot No. 1 until

September 25, 1918, transferred as Division Ordnance Officer, 40th Division, promoted Captain January 8, 1918, and Major February 14, 1919; discharged March 20, 1919; liaison officer between Red Cross and Office of Civilian Defense for St Paul 1942–44; member Cathedral of St Paul

Married (1) July 15, 1916, in St. Paul, Alice Victoria, daughter of Victor and Alice (Goodrich) Robertson. Son. George Adams (B.S. California Inst Technology 1941). Mrs Hardenbergh died in February, 1920 Married (2) August 23, 1922, at White Bear Lake, Minn, Ianthe, daughter of Roscoe Hersey and Gabrielle (Swain) Bronson. Daughter. Gabrielle

Death due to a kidney complication Buried in Calvary Cemetery, St Paul. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Charlotte Hardenbergh Shepard, the wife of Samuel McM Shepard, '06 S.

John Ernest Sharpe, Ph.B. 1913.

Born March 15, 1890, in Ware, Mass Died April 18, 1943, in Long Beach, Calif

Father, Fred Sharpe, a shipping clerk with Gilbert Manufacturing Company, Ware; son of William and Charlotte (Bramley) Sharpe of England. Mother, Helen Gowdy (Kennedy) Sharpe; daughter of John and Mary Thom (MacClachie) Kennedy.

Mercersburg (Pa.) Academy. Chemistry course.

In marketing department Standard Oil Company, Hongkong, China, 1913–20; independent oil broker in Oklahoma, associated with Pure Oil Company, Tulsa, Okla., 1920–25; assistant general manager New York-Paris Non-Stop Flight Corporation; associated with Haven Villa Corporation, Winter Haven, Fla., 1925–27 and with C. Walter Randahl Syndicate; engaged in oil prospecting in Rockford, Ill, 1930–34; secretary-treasurer Sharpe & Hoefler Company, New York City, because of ill-health had been unoccupied for about five years before his death, enlisted as quartermaster (3d class), US Naval Reserve, December 15, 1917; attended Officer Training School, Pelham Bay, NY, March 13–May 1, 1918; commissioned Ensign May 1, 1918, made five round trips to France aboard USS Matsonia, promoted Lieutenant (jg) November 11, 1918; released from active duty January 19, 1919; member First Church of Christ Scientist, Beverly Hills, Calif.

Married October 17, 1936, in Tulsa, Bertha Black, daughter of Horton and Sarah E. (Thompson) Carrick. No children

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Sunnyside Memorial Park, Long Beach. Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs John William Sweetsir, Jr., of Saco, Maine, and two brothers, Percy Gordon Sharpe of Marlboro, Mass, and Donald Bramley Sharpe of North Tonawanda, N.Y

Jayme L. Villas-Bôas, Ph.B. 1917.

Born March 6, 1892, ın Baía, Brasıl. Died February 23, 1943, ın Baía, Brasil.

Father, Jayme Lopes Villas-Bôas (Faculdade de Direito da Uníversidade da Baía), a lawyer in Baía and member of Parliament; member Sá Ribeiro & Company; son of Luiz L. and Maria L. Villas-Bôas. Mother, Thereza de Sá Ribeiro Villas-Bôas; daughter of Emidio and Thereza de Sá Ribeiro.

Stonyhurst College, England, and Escola Politécnica da Baía; attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1911–13. Entered Sheffield Scientific School with Class of 1916; mechanical engineering course; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Occupied in the sugar business in Brasil since graduation (director Aliança Sugar Factory owned by the Villas-Bôas-Machado Company; later company was enlarged and became the Lavoura e Industria Reunidas which included six sugar factories; director Terra Nova factory 1921-27; president of the company 1927-43).

Married March 20, 1919, in Baía, Maria Julieta de Góes Calmon, daughter of Francisco Marques de Góes Calmon and Julieta Maia de Góes Calmon. Children Maria Julieta Villas-Bôas (Colegio Na. Sra. das Mercês); Jayme Villas-Bôas Filho (grad. Faculdade de Direito da Baía); Gilberto Calmon Villas-Bôas (Escola Politécnica da Baía 1945), Francisco C. Villas-Bôas (Faculdade de Direito da Baía 1946); Augusto C. Villas-Bôas (Escola Politécnica de São Paulo); Thereza C. Villas-Bôas (Faculdade de Filosofia da Baía 1945); Alice C Villas-Bôas; Antonio Villas-Bôas, Miguel Villas-Bôas; Maria Constança Villas-Bôas; Lucia Villas-Bôas; and Paulo Villas-Bôas.

Death due to liver disease Buried in Campo Santo Cemetery, Baía. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Thereza Villas-Bôas Machado and Lavinia Villas-Bôas Machado, both of Baía.

Victor Hugo Weil, B.S. 1923.

Born March 27, 1901, in Detroit, Mich. Died October 7, 1943, in San Bernardino, Calif.

Father, Moe Charles Weil, president Weil & Company, furniture, Detroit, son of Samuel and Pauline (Frank) Weil of Cincinnati. Mother, Hattie (Waldheim) Weil; daughter of Moses and Sarah May Waldheim of Cincinnati. Yale relatives include a cousin, Millard A. Waldheim, '24.

Central and Northern High schools, Detroit, and Northwestern Military and Naval Academy Select course; member Pi Delta Phi.

Associated with Weil & Company 1923-43 (vice-president 1928-43); enlisted in Canadian Army September, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Royal Canadian Air Force; discharged December, 1918; enlisted in Army of the United States June, 1942, received pilot training at Long Beach, Calif., until February, 1943; commissioned First Lieutenant, U.S. Army Air Forces, in February, 1943; pilot Ferry Command stationed at Romulus, Mich, March-May, 1943, and Long Beach May-October, 1943; member Temple Beth El, Detroit

Married March 24, 1931, Pauline Hart. Son John Victor. Mr. and

Mrs. Weil were divorced.

Death due to injuries received in an airplane crash Survived by son and a sister, Mrs. J. Victor Roemer of Detroit.

Louis Joseph Petrillo, B.S. 1930.

Born September 13, 1910, in New Haven, Conn. Died June 3, 1944, in the Mediterranean area.

Father, Frank Rocco Petrillo, a tailor with Arthur M Rosenberg Company, New Haven; son of Federico and Filomena Petrillo of New Haven Mother, Maria Laura (Civitillo) Petrillo; daughter of Pasquale and Eleanora (Petrillo) Civitillo of Cusano, Italy.

New Haven High School. Biological science course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year; Stone Trust Corporation scholarship for excellence in Spanish Sophomore year; general one-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior and Senior years; honorable mention William W. DeForest Prize in Spanish Senior year; awarded BS degree cum laude.

Chemist Thermo-Trol Corporation, Watertown, NY, 1930 and Federal Thermometer Corporation 1931–32, worked independently in New Haven and teacher of Spanish in evening high school 1932–33; associated with Alcohol Tax Unit, U.S Internal Revenue Service, Boston, 1934–43; member St Anthony's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Married April 17, 1939, in New Haven, Sylvia Virginia, daughter of Raffaele and Adrienne (Ciaburro) Riccitelli and sister of Pasquale P Riccitelli, ex-'34 Art Children Francis Ralph and Louis Joseph.

Inducted into Army of the United States August 23, 1943, infantryman at Camp Wheeler until sent overseas in February, 1944; assigned to Medical Detachment, 133d Infantry, saw action at Anzio beachhead

Private Petrillo was killed in action Posthumously awarded combat badge and the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Miss Mary Eleanora Petrillo and Miss Helen Carmela Petrillo, and three brothers, Frederick A Petrillo, ex-'30 Art, William F. Petrillo, and Anthony P. Petrillo (Univ. Connecticut ex-'40), all of New Haven

GRADUATE AND PROFESSIONAL SCHOOLS

George Stibitz, Ph.D. 1889.

Born March 10, 1856, in Schuylkill County, Pa. Died March 11, 1944, in Dayton, Ohio.

Father, John Stibitz, a farmer. Mother, Catherine (Herrmann) Stibitz. Palatinate College, Myerstown, Pa; BA Ursinus College 1881, M.A. 1887; attended Ursinus School of Theology 1881-83 and Yale Graduate School 1887-89 (Ph D 1889); ordained in the ministry of Reformed Church in the United States 1883; minister Shenandoah, Pa, 1883-85 and Lehighton 1885-87; professor of Latin and Hebrew Ursinus College 1889-92 and Hebrew and Old Testament literature 1892-95; minister Presbyterian church Glenolden, Pa., 1895-98 and Zion Reformed Church, York, 1898–1907, professor of Old Testament language, literature, and theology Central Theological Seminary of the Reformed Church, Dayton, 1907-26 and New Testament language, literature, and theology 1926 until retirement 1934; D.D. Ursinus College 1905; author: "The Circumstantial Clause in Hebrew" (1889), Analysis of the Books of the Bible (1892), Biblical Catechism (1905), Historico-Literary Outlines of the Old Testament (1914), The Message of Isaiah (1914), and Messianic Prophecy (1923), attended Central Reformed Church, Dayton.

Married (1) in March, 1884, in Girardsville, Pa., Alice R. Schlessman. Mrs. Stibitz died in 1901. Married (2) March 5, 1903, in Glenolden, Mildred Amelia, daughter of Robert Grafton and Theresa Maria (Bucheister) Murphy Children. George Robert (B.A. Denison Univ. 1926; M.S. Union Coll. 1927; Ph D. Cornell 1930); Mildred Theresa (B.A. Ursinus Coll. 1928; B S. Drexel Inst. 1929); Edward Earle (B A. Ursinus Coll. 1932; B D. Eden Theological Seminary 1935; M A. Univ. Wisconsin

1939); and Eleanor (B A. Heidelberg Coll. 1940).

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis Buried in Mount Zion Cemetery, Dayton. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren.

Gertrude Ann Jacobsen, Ph.D. 1929.

Born July 2, 1895, in Hillsboro, N.Dak. Died March 3, 1942, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Rev Jonas Andrew Jacobsen (Norwegian Methodist Episcopal Seminary), a minister in North Dakota; son of Andrew and Sophia (Hansen) Jacobsen of Norway Mother, Hanna Christina (Bernsten) Jacobsen; daughter of Bernt and Elise (Johansen) Bernsten of Fredrikstad, Norway.

South High School, Minneapolis; B A. University of Minnesota 1917 (member Phi Beta Kappa), M.A. 1918, and teaching fellow in history 1919–20; instructor in history College of Wooster 1920–22; Thornton Pickles Scholar, Victoria University of Manchester, England, 1922–23; on faculty Hunter College 1923 until retirement 1939 (instructor in history 1923–30, assistant professor of political science 1930–39); attended Yale Graduate School 1928–29 (Ph.D 1929), author: William Blathwayt A Late Seventeenth Century English Administrator (1932); coauthor: An Outline of Political Science (1939); member Minnesota Historical Society, National Municipal League, American Political Science Association, American Academy of Political and Social Sciences, and Norwegian Methodist Episcopal Church, Minneapolis

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Minneapolis. Survived by an adopted brother, Andrew P. Jacobsen of Milwaukee, Wis.

Francis Patrick Broderick, M.D. 1898.

Born March 26, 1875, in Jamaica Plain, Mass. Died February 26, 1943, in Boston, Mass

Father, Thomas Frederick Broderick, a contractor and builder in Boston; son of Patrick and Bridget (Morgan) Broderick of Boston. Mother, Catherine Agnes (Dolan) Broderick; daughter of Peter and Ellen (Dolan) Dolan of Jamaica Plain

Jamaica Plain public schools, Boston College High School, Boston College, 1893–95; attended Yale School of Medicine 1895–98 (M D 1898), interne Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, 1898–1900; studied in London, Paris, Dublin, and Vienna, 1900–02; physician in Jamaica Plain 1902–43; member St. Thomas Aquinas Church (Roman Catholic), Jamaica Plain.

Married June 28, 1904, in Boston, Mary Cecil, daughter of John Sylvester and Anne (O'Brien) Devine. Children Francis Patrick, Jr (B S Georgetown Univ. 1929); Elizabeth (died in October, 1918); Robert (died in infancy); Cecil Mary (died in June, 1919); Eleanor Katherine (B A. Wheaton Coll. [Mass] 1938), the wife of Alexander Daunis (B S Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1932); and Lorain Ann (B A Emmanuel Coll. 1940), the wife of John Francis Tynan (B A Harvard 1938, M B A 1940). Mrs. Broderick died August 4, 1940.

Death due to carcinomatosis. Buried in Holyhood Cemetery, Brookline, Mass. Survived by two daughters, one son, four grandchildren, a sister, Miss Kathleen Elizabeth Broderick of Jamaica Plain, and a brother, Thomas F. Broderick, '08 M.

Edwin Stutely Carr, B.D. 1885.

Born September 24, 1860, in Maquon, Ill. Died February 6, 1944, in Peoria, Ill.

Father, Marvin Samuel Carr (M.D. Castleton Medical Coll. 1845), a physician in Erie, Pa, and Peoria and Galesburg, Ill.; Captain Company A, 14th Illinois Cavalry Volunteers, 1862–64, son of Rev. Stutely Carr and Eliza B. (Marvin) Carr of Wilton, N.Y. Mother, Susan Margaret (Espy) Carr; daughter of David and Rebecca (Allen) Espy of Harris-

burg, Pa.

Galesburg High School and Knox Academy; B.A. Knox College 1882; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1882-83 and Yale Divinity School 1883-87 (B.D 1885; Commencement speaker); traveled in Germany 1887-88 and studied at University of Heidelberg 1888 and University of Berlin 1888–89; graduate divinity student Harvard University 1893-94 (MA. 1894) and graduate student in education University of Chicago 1917-18; ordained in Congregational church Humboldt, Iowa, September 9, 1885, and minister there 1885–86; minister Congregational church, Lyons, Iowa, 1889-90, Fort Dodge 1890-93, and Stillman Valley, Ill., 1894-99; minister Wheaton College Church of Christ 1899-1902, First Congregational Church, Wheaton, Ill, 1902-04, Hinsdale 1904-07, Cherokee, Iowa, 1907-09, Plymouth Congregational Church, Chillicothe, Ill, 1909–18, and Averyville Church, Peoria, 1918 until retirement 1924; Democratic candidate for U.S. Congressman, 16th District, Peoria, 1930, 1932; MA. Hon Knox College 1885, DD. 1901, member Phi Delta Theta and First Congregational Church, Peoria.

Married October 30, 1891, in Lyons, Alice Mary Lyon, daughter of John William and Alice Margaret (Brayton) Stewart. Children: Alice Marjorie (B A Knox Coll. 1913), the wife of Robert James McFall (B.A. Geneva Coll. 1912; Ph D Columbia 1916); and Richard Stewart (Knox Coll ex-'19, B.S. Northwestern Univ. 1921, M.B.A. 1922). Mrs. Carr died

March 26, 1917.

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia. Buried in Linwood Cemetery, Galesburg Survived by children, four grandchildren, and a sister, Elizabeth E Carr (Knox Coll ex-'80) of Galesburg.

Peter Roberts, B.D. 1886.

Born August 26, 1859, in Dowlars, South Wales. Died December 2, 1932, in Mount Vernon, N.Y.

Parents, John and Elizabeth (Davis) Roberts of South Wales. Prepared at Glangadog, South Wales, B.A. Brecon Memorial College 1883; attended Yale Divinity School 1883–86 (B D. 1886; Commencement speaker) and Yale Graduate School 1899–1901 (Ph D. 1901), ordained in Plymouth Congregational Church, Scranton, Pa, November 1, 1886, and minister there 1886–91, minister Olyphant, Pa, 1891–99 and Mahanoy City 1901–07, industrial secretary International Committee, Young Men's Christian Association, 1907 until retirement in 1927; resided in Mount Vernon 1927–32, engaged in welfare work in cantonments, navy yards, and arsenals during World War I; author Anthracite Coal Industry (1901), Anthracite Coal Communities (1904), The New Immigration (1912), Civics for Coming Americans (1917), English for Coming Americans (1919), The Problem of Americanization (1921), member Senatus Academicus (London) and Mount Vernon Heights Congregational Church.

Married in September, 1901, in New York City, Rachel, daughter of Thomas E. and Ann (Pritchard) Evans. Children: Anna Myfanwy (B A Wellesley Coll. 1924); Thomas Joseph (B.E. Cornell Univ. 1925); Elizabeth May (B.A. Univ. Rochester 1926), the wife of Jesse Sherwood Cooper (B A Cornell Univ. 1920); Philip Warren (Cornell Univ. 1925–27, LL.B. Columbia Univ. 1932); William Sumner (C.E. Cornell Univ. 1932), Gladys, the wife of John Michael Connor (B B A. Manhattan Coll. 1931), Peter Vernon (C E. Cornell Univ. 1936); Gertrude Charlotte (B A. Oberlin Coll. 1938), the wife of Robert Mendall Briggs; John Ruskin (C E Cornell Univ. 1940, M.D. 1944); and Rachel Evans (B.A. Duke Univ. 1946). Mrs. Roberts died April 8, 1925.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Beechwoods Cemetery, New Rochelle, N.Y. Survived by children, ten grandchildren, and a sister,

Mrs. Philip H. Warren of Scranton.

James Francis Gregory, B.D. 1901.

Born April 10, 1876, in Washington, D.C. Died February 11, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Father, James Monroe Gregory (Oberlin Coll 1867–68, B A Howard Univ. 1872, M.A. 1875), professor of Latin and dean Howard University; son of Maria Waller (Gladman) Gregory of Lynchburg, Va, and Cleveland, Ohio Mother, Fanny E. (Whiting) Gregory; daughter of Margaret (Hagan) Whiting of Virginia.

BA. Amherst College 1898; attended Yale Divinity School 1898–1901 (B.D. 1901; Downes Prize Senior year); assistant minister Central Presbyterian Church, Philadelphia, 1901–02; instructor in English and public speaking New Jersey Manual Training School 1902–07 and 1911–15; ordained in Capitol Street Presbyterian Church, Harrisburg, Pa, June 10, 1907, and minister there 1907–11; minister People's Congregational

Church, Washington, 1915-18; Y.M C.A. secretary Camp Washington and Fort Terry 1918–19, instructor in English Miner Teachers College, Washington, 1919–44; teacher of English Manassas (Va.) Institute summers 1922-27; vice-president Teachers Council of Washington District 1943-44, attended Fifteenth Street Presbyterian Church, Washington

Married June 30, 1903, in Cleveland, Ednah Julia, daughter of Frederick Merrit and Julia McKinney (Glover) Anderson. Children Amherst Julia (died in infancy); La Verne (B.A. Western Reserve Univ 1926; M A Catholic Univ of America 1941), the wife of Charles Fremont West (B.A Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1924; M.D. Howard Univ. 1928); Francis Anderson (B S. Case School of Applied Science 1928; M.S. Massachusetts Inst Technology 1932); and Monroe Glover (B.A. Western Reserve Univ. 1931, M.D. Howard Univ. 1936).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Lincoln Memorial Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife, one daughter, two sons, five grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Margaret Gregory Hawkins of Baltimore, Md, and two brothers, Eugene Monroe Gregory (B A. Harvard 1897, Harvard Law School 1897–98) of Freehold, N.J., and Thomas Montgomery

Gregory (B A. Harvard 1910) of Atlantic City, N J.

Alban Bernard Hyde, B.D. 1901.

Born June 20, 1868, in Banbury, England. Died May 16, 1944, in Lewiston, Maine.

Father, William Hyde, a carpenter in Banbury, son of William and Mary (Huntington) Hyde of Ickford, Buckingham County, England. Mother, Emma (Tipping) Hyde, daughter of Joseph and Susannah

(Brooks) Tipping of Worminghall, Oxford County, England

Nichols Latin School, Lewiston; B.A. Bates College 1899; attended Yale Divinity School 1899–1901 (BD 1901), ordained in Free Baptist Church, Chepachet, RI, November 15, 1901, and minister there 1901-04, minister Danville, N.H., 1904-06, Buffalo, NY., 1906-11, Bangor, Maine, 1911-16, Sabattus 1916-20, Peru, N.Y., 1920-24, Sixth Street Congregational Church, Auburn, Maine, 1924–39, and Minot Center Congregational Church 1925-43

Married June 26, 1901, in Auburn, Edith Belle Marrow (BA Bates Coll 1899), daughter of Samuel Harden and Emma Jane (Mower) Marrow. Children Donald Marrow, Emma Mower (died March 12, 1905), Samuel Harden (B A Bates Coll 1928), and Edith Bertha (Bates Coll. 1932–33), the wife of Guy Howard Hutchins (M D. Bowdoin 1899).

Death due to coronary embolus Buried in Herrick Cemetery, Lewiston. Survived by wife, one daughter, sons, three grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Ada Hyde Pargeter of Birmingham, England, and Mrs. Emily

Hyde Wearing of Glasgow, Scotland.

Harvey Atkinson Cox, B.D. 1921.

Born November 18, 1887, in Ayden, N.C. Died May 30, 1943, in Winnsboro, S.C.

Father, Calvin Cox, a farmer and lawyer in Greenville, N C.; son of William and Louisa (Stokes) Cox of Pitt County, N.C. Mother, Emily Evelyn (Smith) Cox; daughter of William Henry and Mary (Nelson) Smith of Pitt County.

Sevensprings (N.C.) High School, Salem Boy's School, Winston-Salem, N.C., and Christ School, Arden, N.C.; B.A. University of North Carolina 1918; attended Yale Divinity School 1918-21 (BD. 1921), ordained deacon in Protestant Episcopal church at St. John's Church, Wilmington, N.C., June 26, 1921, and priest St. James' Church May 4, 1922; rector Church of the Ascension and St. Philip's Church, Wilmington, 1921–23, St. Stephen's Church and five mission churches, Red Springs, N.C., 1923–25, and Grace Church, Newport News, Va, and St. Andrew's Mission, Hilton Village, 1925–29; vicar St. Saviour's Church and assistant ın Christ Church, Raleigh, N.C., 1929-36; rector Church of the Messiah and adjacent mission churches, Mayodan, N.C., 1936-43 and St. John's Church, Winnsboro, and St. Stephen's Church, Ridgeway, S.C., 1943, president Raleigh Ministers Association and Raleigh Clericus 1933-34, Mayodan Ministers Association 1940–42, and Rockingham (N C.) County Ministers Association 1941-42; student pastor North Carolina State College of Agriculture and Engineering 1934; member Masonic order.

Married June 27, 1921, in Wilmington, Hattie Della, daughter of Augustus P. and Etta Elmira (Misenheimer) Moose. Children Harvey Atkinson, Jr. (Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1940–41; North Carolina State Coll. Agriculture and Engineering 1942–43), Magdalene (B.A Flora Macdonald Coll. 1944), and Emily Elmira (Flora Macdonald Coll.

1943–45).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Albemarle, N.C. Survived by wife, children, four sisters, Mrs. Major William Uzzell of Durham, N.C., Mrs. Eugene L. McCormac of Tarpon Springs, Fla., Mrs. Irving J. Covert of Durham, and Mrs. Atlas T. Uzzell of Bonita Springs, Fla., a half sister, Mrs. Sallie Slubbs of Henderson, N.C., and a brother, Rev. William Edward Cox, D.D. (B.A. Univ. North Carolina 1899; B.D. Univ. of the South 1902), of Southern Pines, N.C.

John Francis Fitzpatrick, LL.B. 1885.

Born February 10, 1858, in Waterbury, Conn Died May 2, 1944, in St. Paul, Minn

Father, John Fitzpatrick, a contractor and city official in Waterbury; son of Bernard and Nellie (Flynn) Fitzpatrick of Mohill, County Leitrim,

Ireland, and Lowell, Mass. Mother, Mary (Ingoldsby) Fitzpatrick; daughter of Lachlan and Catherine (McGowan) Ingoldsby of County Leitrim.

Waterbury High School; studied in office of Judge John W. Webster, LL B. 1844, Waterbury, and assistant librarian Silas-Bronson Library; attended Yale School of Law 1884–85 (LL.B. 1885); admitted to the bar 1885; lawyer in St. Paul 1885 until retirement 1943; president Urban Investment Company 1908–44; on City Charter Commission of St. Paul 1908–10; member Minnesota Bar Association, New York Yale Club, University Club, and Immaculate Conception Church (Roman Catholic), Waterbury.

Married May 2, 1892, in Lawrenceburg, Ind., Cora, daughter of William and Lucretia (Wright) Bainbridge. Children: John Bainbridge, '17; Richard Ingoldsby (died in July, 1918); Philip Wright (B.A. Cornell Univ. 1917); and Mary Lucretia, the wife of Brig. Gen. Walter Newell Hill, U.S.M.C. (Harvard 1900–03). Mrs Fitzpatrick died February 8, 1944.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, St. Paul. Survived by daughter, two sons, eight grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Josephine F. Hamilton of New Haven, Conn., and Miss Alice

T. Fitzpatrick of Waterbury.

Charles King Holliday, LL.B. 1885.

Born February 12, 1859, in Meadville, Pa. Died May 21, 1942, in Sacramento, Calif.

Father, Cyrus Kirtz Holliday (B.A Allegheny Coll. 1852, M.A. 1855), a promoter and first president Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad Company, a founder city of Topeka, Kans., and mayor three terms; president Merchants National Bank; vice-president Kansas Historical Society 1890, son of David and Mary (Kennedy) Holliday of Carlisle, Pa. Mother, Mary Dillon (Jones) Holliday; daughter of Nathaniel and Susan E. Jones of Meadville.

Topeka High School; B.A. Washburn College 1883, M.A. 1885; attended Yale School of Law 1883-85 (LL B. 1885); admitted to the bar 1884; lawyer in Topeka until retirement in 1900; president Topeka Gas Company 1889; appointed secretary of American Legation in Venezuela by President Cleveland in 1887 but declined post; a commissioner Chicago World's Fair 1893; on State Police Commission 1895, and Topeka Common Council; president Commercial Club of Topeka; resided in Sacramento for thirty years; member Masonic order.

Married December 12, 1887, in Sacramento, Susan Jeanette, daughter of Edward Randolph and Mary Jane (Neville) Hamilton. Daughter: Elizabeth (Mrs. George Ellinwood Finnell; died August 12, 1930).

Death due to senility. Buried in Sacramento. Survived by wife and a granddaughter.

Virgil Eugene Rorer, LL.B. 1889.

Born March 18, 1867, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died June 15, 1944, in St. Petersburg, Fla.

Father, David Rorer, a farmer in Oak Lane, Philadelphia; son of David and Maria (Cressman) Rorer of Philadelphia. Mother, Mary Felton (Bickley) Rorer; daughter of Rev. George Bickley and May (Williams) Bickley of Frankford, Pa. Yale relatives include: William D. Rorer, '91

(brother), and William Y. Rorer, ex-'14 S. (nephew).

B.A. Central High School, Philadelphia, 1886, M.A. 1891; attended Yale School of Law 1887–89 (LLB 1889), admitted to Connecticut bar 1889; studied theology at Boston University and oratory at Boston School of Expression 1889–90; licensed to preach in Methodist Episcopal church 1889 and accepted in Philadelphia Conference of the church 1890, ordained traveling deacon 1892 and traveling elder 1894, minister Jenkintown and North Wales, Pa., 1890–94, St. Luke's, 19th Street, Wissahickon, Seventh Street, Grace, and Arch Street churches, Philadelphia, 1894–1920, minister Meridian Street Church, Indianapolis, 1920–30 and St. Paul's Church, Wilmington, Del., 1930–33; engaged in writing, lecturing, and preaching on special occasions 1933–41; D.D. Dickinson College 1919, resided in St. Petersburg 1942–44.

Married February 11, 1892, in Philadelphia, Nellie Minora Blakely (National School of Elocution Oratory [Philadelphia] 1884), daughter of Rev. James Blakely and Elizabeth (Ford) Blakely Children: Dwight Eugene (Univ. Pennsylvania 1914–16; LLB Dickinson Coll. 1917), Nelson Virgil (Wesleyan Univ. 1914–17); and Adele Madeline. Mrs

Rorer died December 27, 1924.

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease. Buried in Oak Lane Cemetery. Survived by children and two grandchildren

George Robert McKenna, LL.B. 1892.

Born August 18, 1865, in Stonington, Conn Died June 25, 1944, in Stonington, Conn.

Father, Patrick McKenna, a quarryman in Westerly, R.I. Mother, Mary (Ward) McKenna.

Westerly High School; attended Yale School of Law 1890-92 (LL.B. 1892; member Kent Club); admitted to the bar 1892; lawyer in Westerly

1892–1944 with residence in Stonington; represented Stonington in Connecticut House of Representatives 1893; prosecuting attorney Town of Stonington 1894–95, 1914, and 1924–29; member St. Michael's Church (Roman Catholic), Stonington.

Married November 28, 1902, in Stonington, Julia, daughter of James and Ellen (Long) Day. No children. Mrs. McKenna died May 1, 1925.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in St. Michael's Old Cemetery, Stonington Survived by a sister, Miss Margaret McKenna of Mystic, Conn.

Milton Bacharach, LL.B. 1900.

Born July 8, 1878, in Hartford, Conn. Died February 24, 1944, in Elmhurst, N.Y.

Father, William Bacharach; in wholesale millinery business, Hartford; son of Mendell Bacharach of Germany. Mother, Frances (Galinger) Bacharach, daughter of Simon and Bertha Galinger of New York.

Attended Yale School of Law 1897–1900 (LL.B. 1900); admitted to the bar 1901; lawyer in Hartford 1901 until retirement 1940; resided in Elmhurst 1940–44; member Hartford Bar Association, B'nai Breth (Hartford), and Temple Beth Israel, Hartford

Married October 31, 1909, in New York, Lola, daughter of David and Julia (Schlesinger) May. Son David Frank, '32.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Beth Israel Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Sidney Bacharach of Hartford.

Herbert Confield Lust, LL.B. 1906.

Born July 28, 1885, in New York City. Died July 22, 1936, in Lafayette, Ind.

Father, Phillip G. Lust, president Provident Sick Benefit Fund Assurance Company of Chicago. Mother, Adelina (Cohnfeldt) Lust; daughter of Albert and Henrietta (Davis) Cohnfeldt of Germany.

Northwestern Academy; attended Junior College, University of Chicago, 1902-03 and Yale School of Law 1903-06 (LL.B. 1906; second Munson Prize Senior year), admitted to the bar 1906; lawyer in Chicago 1906-36; associated with Moran, Mayer & Meyer 1908; member Haynie & Lust 1909, Haynie, McRoberts & Lust 1909-12, and Felsenthal & Beckwith [John W., '89] 1912, in 1907 assisted in reducing telephone charges in Chicago and in 1909 helped draft the first Workmen's Compensation Act of Illinois; represented shippers of the United States before Interstate Commerce Commission 1910; appointed special counsel for the City of Chicago in Stewart Avenue Bridge case 1911; assistant State's Attorney for Cook

County 1913-14; council Crowe Conference on Crime Prevention 1920-21 (drew up bill for segregation of mental defectives with criminal propensities 1921); owner H. C. Lust and Company, publishers and traffic consultation service, Chicago, and Fowler, Ind., 1913-36; owner and operator Elenor Kennels 1923-33 and Jennee Poultry Farms, Fowler, 1926-33; author: The Law of Loss and Damage Claims (1919, 1921, 1933), with annotations, and Practice and Evidence before the Interstate Commerce Commission (1933); editor: American and English Mining, Irrigation, Oil and Gas Reports (1910), The Workmen's Compensation Law of Illinois (1912), with annotations, Consolidated Digest of Decisions under Interstate Commerce Act (1925), Practice and Evidence before Interstate Commerce Commission in Railroad Rate Cases (1929), Abridged Reports and Quarterly Digest of Decisions under the Interstate Commerce Act (1931), Index of Commodities and Localities in the Decisions of the Interstate Commerce Commission (1933); attorney Chicago Draft Board during World War I; awarded government medal for work on Liberty and Victory Loan campaigns; member Chicago Law Institute, Chicago and American Bar associations, American Judicature Society, and Episcopal church.

Married (1) January 23, 1909, in Chicago, Dora, daughter of A. Coomas. Daughter: Elenor (Smith Coll. ex-'32), the wife of Robert Eising. Mr. and Mrs. Lust were divorced in 1925. Married (2) November 22, 1925, in Chicago, Jennie, daughter of Louis and Fannie (Goldberg) Friedman. Children: Herbert Cohnfeldt, Jr. (Wabash Coll. 1946), Adelina Lois (Univ. Chicago 1949), and Barbara Diane.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Temple Israel Cemetery, Lafayette. Survived by wife and children.

Charles Nelson Harmon, LL.B. 1908.

Born January 28, 1882, in Frankford, Del. Died November 13, 1941, in Pryor, Okla.

Father, John Edward Harmon, a manufacturer in Frankford; son of John Edward and Mary (Taylor) Harmon of Berlin, Md. Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Long) Harmon; daughter of Henry Waples and Sara Jane (Hickman) Long of Sussex County, Del.

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass.; attended Yale School of Law 1905-08 (LL.B. 1908; on executive committee Wayland Club 1907-08); admitted to the bar 1908; lawyer in Enid, Okla., 1908-23 (with Parker & Simons 1909-10) and Oklahoma City 1923-41 (partner Robertson & Harmon 1923); district attorney Garfield County 1911, 1912; attorney for Blue Sky Commission of Oklahoma about 1923 or 1924; resided in Ardmore, Okla., until 1935, engaged in business including president

and director Yale Associates, Inc., producers of petroleum; with Federal Land Bank, Wichita, for one year; resided in Oklahoma City 1935–41 and attorney Works Progress Administration, Oklahoma City, one year; secretary University Club of Enid 1909–10; chairman Yale Law School Alumni Association of Oklahoma and Arkansas 1921; member Grace Methodist Episcopal Church, Oklahoma City.

Married January 28, 1912, in Enid, Helen May, daughter of John Wesley Wootten and Martha Ellen Wood Purner Wootten. Children: Ann Louise, the wife of Hubert Lee Sweeney; Charles Nelson, Jr.; Martha

Ellen, the wife of Kennett Houston Wells; and David Wootten.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Oklahoma City Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a brother, John Henry Harmon of Clarksville, Del.

Harry Antony Campbell, LL.B. 1909.

Born February 22, 1886, in Kane, Pa. Died April 8, 1944, in Tulsa, Okla.

Father, John Wesley Campbell, owner Campbell Lumber Company and Campbell Oil Company, Warren, Pa.; son of George Washington and Mary D (Nutt) Campbell of Pennsylvania. Mother, Mary (Warner) Campbell.

Cheltenham Military Academy, Elkins Park, Pa.; attended Yale School of Law 1906-09 (LL.B 1909; captain baseball team Junior year; president Yale Forum Senior year; member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar, associated with Nickle Oil Company, Tulsa; valuation engineer U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, 1922-25; engaged in Tulsa 1925-44, income tax counsel Mason, Honnold, Carter & Harper, lawyers, 1925-27, counselor on taxation, 1927-44; member Campbell & Randolph (later Campbell, Randolph, Mahin & Mosteller), tax attorneys and counselors at law, 1939-43; enlisted in National Army about April 19, 1917, and reported to Madison Barracks; stationed at Camp Dix in August, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant August 15, 1917, and promoted First Lieutenant September 19, 1918; with 28th National Guard Division, Augusta, Ga, about September 7, 1917, and at Camp Sherman December 29, 1917; assigned to 322d Machine Gun Battalion, Camp Hancock, May, 1918, and to Hoboken, N.J., April 10, 1919, for duty as personnel agent and troop service; discharged in 1919; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Tulsa.

Married December 19, 1923, in Washington, Helen, daughter of James Turner and Lilly Blanche (Bitting) Farish. Children: Helen, Harry Antony, Jr., James Farish, and Robert Warner.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Tulsa.

Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Mrs. Mary Campbell Browne of Medford, Ore., Mrs. Ann Campbell Duncan of Wallkill, N.Y., and Miss Grace Campbell of Warren, and two brothers, John W. Campbell of Tulsa and Robert W. Campbell of Floral Park, N.Y.

Charles Rollin Crossett, LL.B. 1909.

Born October 17, 1883, in Portsmouth, N.H. Died February 21, 1944, in Manchester, N H.

Father, Rev. Charles Rollin Crossett, minister Bethel Advent Church, Manchester; son of Charles Rollin and Mary (Colson) Crossett of Springfield, Mass. Mother, Fanny Sarah (Hubbard) Crossett; daughter of William Henry Hubbard and Sarah Gertrude Perkins Hubbard Ashley

of Springfield.

Lowell (Mass.) High School; attended Yale School of Law 1906-09 (LL.B. 1909); principal commercial department Maine Wesleyan Seminary and College, Kents Hill, 1909-10; head commercial department Wakefield (Mass.) High School 1910-12; sub-master Dedham (Mass.) High School 1912-13; associated with Alexander Hamilton Institute of New York City, in Boston, 1913–14; teacher in South Boston High School 1914-17, Hyde Park High School, Boston, 1917, and Goffs Falls (NH) High School 1919–20; director commercial work Manchester High School 1920–26; headmaster Franklin (N.H.) Senior High School 1926–27, associated with New England Mutual Insurance Company, Manchester, 1927–28; became New Hampshire manager W. B. Foshay Company in 1929; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, August-November, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry, November 27, 1917, assigned to 304th Infantry, Camp Devens; transferred as commanding officer Company A, Training Detachment, University of Florida, and assistant professor of military science and tactics June 10, 1918, discharged August 25, 1919; entered service in World War II in June, 1942; promoted to rank of Major; retired in October, 1943; member Masonic order and First Baptist Church, Manchester.

Married Bernice Hastings, daughter of Wallace and Caroline (Covert) Rice. Children: Charles Rollins; Carolyn Rice, the wife of Joseph Albert Harris; David Lloyd (died at Pearl Harbor December 7, 1941); Mary, the wife of Paul Herbert Wakeman; Paul Hubbard; Carleton Wallace (died on Okinawa May 21, 1945); Janet Irene; Robert Alan; and Edythe Mae. Mrs. Crossett died March 5, 1931.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Manchester. Survived by four daughters, three sons, five grandchildren, and

a sister, Mrs. H. L. Whittier of Erie, Pa.

Harold Parker Gilkey, M.F. 1910.

Born July 22, 1884, in Richland, Mich. Died May 30, 1944, in Kalamazoo, Mich.

Father, Patrick Henry Gilkey; son of John Foster and Mary (Lovell) Gilkey of Richland. Mother, Adella (Parker) Gilkey; daughter of Amasa S. and Celestia F. Parker of Richland.

Phillips-Exeter; B.A. Harvard University 1909; attended Yale School of Forestry 1909–10 (M.F. 1910); forest assistant, U.S. Forest Service, Olympia, Wash., 1910–11 and Whitman National Forest, Sumpter, Ore., 1911–13; owner and manager of a dairy and stock farm in Kalamazoo 1913–44, acquired interests in nearby paper mills in 1916 and was influential in development of various types of special papers; experimented in reforestation on own land in northern Michigan and on his farm; on committee to draw up ordinances and plans for city shade trees in Kalamazoo 1919; member Masonic order and Presbyterian church, Richland.

Married February 16, 1915, in Washington, Sarah Margaret, daughter of George Lucien and Sarah Elizabeth (Warn) Gilkey. Children: Sarah Eugenie, the wife of Frederick Vander Weele; Mary Adella (B S. Northwestern Univ. 1943), the wife of Cyril Gregory McAndrews (Northwestern Univ. 1938–42); and George Lucien.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Mountain Home Cemetery, Kalamazoo. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren.

DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

REPORTED SUBSEQUENT TO JULY 1, 1944

RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

| YEAR | |
|------|---|
| 1901 | Charles William Dabney (LL.D), June 15, 1945. |
| 1902 | Endicott Peabody (M.A; LLD 1938), November 17, 1944 |
| 1907 | Joseph Marshall Flint (M.A), September 16, 1944. |
| 1908 | Max Farrand (MA), June 17, 1945. |
| 1911 | William Henry Howell (Sc D.), February 6, 1945. |
| 1911 | Charles Felton Scott (M.A.), December 17, 1944 |
| 1913 | Julius Petersen (MA), August 22, 1941 |
| 1913 | George Dudley Seymour (M.A.), January 21, 1945. |
| 1916 | Herbert Adams (M.A), May 21, 1945. |
| 1918 | William Renwick Riddell (LL D.), February 18, 1945. |
| 1932 | Carl Lotus Becker (Litt D.), April 10, 1945. |
| 1934 | Franklin Delano Roosevelt (LLD), April 12, 1945 |
| | Wendell Lewis Willkie (LLD), October 8, 1944. |

NON-GRADUATES

YALE COLLEGE

| CLASS | |
|-------|---|
| 1879 | William Henry Perrin, November 9, 1944. |
| 1881 | Albert Butler Beadle, November 5, 1944. |
| 1881 | Solon Carl Frederick Leonhaeuser, January 27, 1945. |
| 1883 | Cyrus Strong Bestor, July 20, 1944. |
| 1884 | Harry Clifford Brown, October 14, 1944. |
| 1893 | Robert Rockwell Hall, October 7, 1944. |
| 1898 | Jacob Jacobs, December 29, 1944. |
| 1898 | Beriah Edwin Mossman, Jr., May 3, 1945 |
| 1899 | Martin Thomas Kane, July 19, 1944. |
| 1904 | Jerome Markham Rice, December 13, 1944. |
| 1904 | Percy Arthur Whitmore, May 28, 1945. |
| 1905 | Cornelius Edward Daly, December 29, 1944. |
| 1905 | Crosby Chamberlain McLean, October 18, 1944 |
| 1907 | Arthur James McKenna, August 4, 1945. |
| | |

```
CLASS
        Huntington Downer, February 11, 1945.
 1909
        Buckingham Miller, January 31, 1945.
 1910
 1918
        James Wesley Ricker, January 8, 1945.
       James Paulding Farnham, February 18, 1945.
*1920
 1921
        David Hay Atwater, September 25, 1944.
        Tom Keck, November 26, 1944.
 1921
        Edward MacDonald King, March 14, 1945.
 1921
        Philip Tripp Hawes, July 20, 1944
 1922
 1922
        Crawford Johnson, October 24, 1944.
       Harry Patrick O'Connor, July 16, 1944.
 1922
       George Henry Hodgson, Jr., October 14, 1944.
 1924
        Edward Wallace Skaggs, November 1, 1944.
 1924
       Arthur George Stanford, June 24, 1945.
*1924
       Edward Christopher Moule, January 12, 1945.
 1925
*1929
       Donald Macleay Kerr, February 19, 1945.
 1930
       George Corse Carter, June 29, 1945.
       Westcott Gorton Atwood, June 6, 1945.
 1933
*1933
       Jack Judah Siegal, July 25, 1944.
       Lawrence Joseph Leaser, April 17, 1945.
*1934
*1935
       Richard Traill Chapin, April 15, 1942.
*1936
       Arthur Russell Andrews, October 25, 1944.
       Phillip Igoe Taylor, June 26, 1945.
*1936
       Stanard Tilton Wheaton, December 26, 1944
*1936
*1938
       Roderick Stephen Goodspeed Hall, February 20, 1945.
*1938
        Alfred Sweet, Jr, December 3, 1944
*1939
       Walter Easton Bell, April 16, 1945.
*1940
       Herbert William Elin, January 13, 1945.
       David Ellis Lardner, October 19, 1944.
*1940
       William Flinn, 2d, October 5, 1944.
*1941
       John DeShay McCusker, December 11, 1944.
 1941
*1941
       Reid Talmage Woodward, December 2, 1944
       Henry Victor Crawford, 3d, July 26, 1944
*1942
*1942
       James Neale Thorne, September 10, 1944 *
       Jonathan Hyde Hately, August 6, 1944.*
*1943
       DeForest VanSlyck, Jr, July 9, 1944
*1943
       Frank Godfrey Aschmann, December 25, 1944.*
*1944
*1944
       Charles Briggs Congdon, February 18, 1945 *
       George Herbert Day, Jr, February 21, 1945.
*1944
*1944
       Sandwith Drinker, March 14, 1945.*
*1944
       Charles Alfred Higgins, Jr., March 24, 1945.*
*1944
       Richard Carlisle Long, 2d, January 10, 1945.*
```

[★]Died in war service

^{*}A biographical sketch appears in this volume, see index for page reference.

```
CLASS
       Arthur Robert Lowe, March 5, 1945.†
*1944
*1944
       Thomas Lees Marshall, July 9, 1944.*
*1944
       Lucien Memminger, Jr., August 24, 1944 *
*1944
       Robert Stone Stoddart, Jr., September 17, 1944 *
*1945
       Clement Gould Amory, 2d, January 8, 1944.*
*1945
       Hiland Garfield Batcheller, Jr, on or about April 16, 1945 †
*1945
       Gilman Dorr Blake, Jr., January 20, 1945.*
*1945
       Jacques Edmond Bloch, January 27, 1945 *
*1945
       Boyd Taylor Cummings, October 26, 1942 *
       Edwin Thaddeus Danowski, February 17, 1945.*
*1945
       Rolland Mooney Edmonds, Jr, April 29, 1945
*1945
*1945
       Richard Stuart Fleming, April 13, 1945 *
*1945
       John Alexander MacMullen, December 16, 1944 *
*1945
       Donald Macfarlane MacSporran, October 4, 1944.*
       James Russell Parsons, 4th, December 28, 1943.
*1945
*1945
       Lloyd Winston Pullen, November 19, 1944.*
*1945
       Donald Ferdinand Ritter, March 10, 1945.*
*1945
       Richard Rollins, Jr, June 7, 1945.*
*1945
       Joseph Francis Sawicki, Jr., June 8, 1944
*1945
       George Bruen Whitehouse, December 14, 1944 *
          Thomas Chapman Aldrich, December 15, 1945 *
*1945W
          Frederick Anson Brown, April 27, 1944 *
*1945W
*1945W
          Townsend Doyle, September 16, 1944
          Jonathan Grant Fitch, March 24, 1945
*1945W
*1945W
          Francis Joseph Fitzgerald, December 20, 1943 *
          Robert Leslie Hott, January 23, 1945 *
*1945W
*1945W
          Charles Jared Ingersoll, Jr, May 14, 1944 *
          Bruce Kyle Kemp, April 21, 1945
*1945W
          Ralph Davis Sneath Sample, December 13, 1943 *
*1945W
          Edgar Clement Scanlon, Jr, June 29, 1944
*1945W
          Richard Satterlee Willis, March 6, 1945
*1945W
          (Oct ) John Boyd Mason, December 10, 1944 *
*1945W
          (Oct ) Thomas McClure Owen, Jr, February 23, 1945.*
*1945W
          (Oct ) John Hartshorn Thompson, January 26, 1945
*1945W
          (Oct.) David Landon Weirick, February 17, 1945 *
*1945W
*1946 Jesse Redman Clark, 3d, January 31, 1945
       James Congdell Fargo, 3d, November 23, 1944
*1946
       Clarence Claude Ziegler, Jr., February 21, 1945
*1946
        (Nov ) Lucius Erskine Whiton Jackson, December 25, 1944.
*1946
```

[★]Died in war service

^{*}A biographical sketch appears in this volume, see index for page reference †Died in war service—a biographical sketch will appear in a subsequent issue of the OBITUARY RECORD.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

| CLASS | ; ; |
|------------------|--|
| 1881 | Edward Leeds Goodsell, February 14, 1944. |
| 1882 | Walter Root Downs, July 17, 1944. |
| 1888 | Henry Pinney Sage, December 2, 1944. |
| 1891 | Alfred Victor Barnes, November 7, 1944. |
| 1891 | Eugene Duncan Funk, November 28, 1944. |
| 1896 | Ernest Albert Edwards, December 7, 1944. |
| 1897 | Clarence Hyde Cooke, August 23, 1944. |
| 1897 | Roland Victor Sawyer, July 6, 1926 |
| 1900 | Howard Melville Hanna, March 17, 1945 |
| 1900 | John Alexander Rithet, September, 1942. |
| 1901 | Nicholas Roberts, May 18, 1945. |
| 1902 | Julius French Janes, September 3, 1939 |
| 1905 | Harold Hunter Brown, April 29, 1943. |
| 1905 | Daniel Macaulay Stevenson, March 17, 1945. |
| 1906 | George Anthony Booth, February 18, 1942. |
| 1907 | John King O'Connor, March 22, 1945 |
| 1908 | John Drew Bennett, November 18, 1944. |
| 1909 | James Gerber Gorman, December 29, 1944. |
| 1910 | Robert Varney Clay, June, 1945. |
| 1910 | Fletcher Hegernan Wood, January 9, 1945. |
| 1914 | Holley Beaumont Welch, June 21, 1945. |
| 1918 | Manuel Romo Leroux, died some time ago. |
| 1919 | Francis Gilpin, Jr, April 12, 1945 |
| 1919 | Elisha Baddis Plum, March 27, 1945. |
| 1922 | Victor Stirling Luke, September 10, 1944. |
| 1923 | Walter Winchester Keith, July 30, 1944 |
| 1925 | Lewis Simon Green, December 21, 1943. |
| 1925 | George Louis Washington Hess, July 13, 1944. |
| 1925 | Charles Lowrie Semans, January 12, 1944. |
| 1928 | Samuel Dickey Gold, October 6, 1944. |
| 1929 | James Scott Glenn, June 6, 1945. |
| *1930 *1930 | Richard Gordon Robinson, February 15, 1945. |
| *1932 | Lawrence Flinn, March 18, 1945. |
| ±1933 ★1939 | Philip LaVergne Tompkins, October 31, 1944. |
| *1939 | Lindley Bronson, March 14, 1945. James Joseph Regan, December 25, 1944. |
| *1940 | Henry Bartlett Stimson, Jr., October 30, 1944. |
| *1940 *1942 | Walter Edwin Newcomb, Jr., August 11, 1944.* |
| *1944 | Charles Young Mead, November 7, 1944.* |
| ★ 1944 | Carl Prosch Murray, March 23, 1944. |
| * 744 | Out 1 100011 1/10111ay, 1/101011 23, 1944. |
| | |

[★]Died in war service

^{*}A biographical sketch appears in this volume; see index for page reference

CLASS

- *1945 Hugh Torbert Brooks, January 2, 1945.*
- *1945 Morton Butler Ryerson, December 6, 1944.
- *1945 William Huston Sanders, December 5, 1944 *
- *1945W William John Cameron, Jr, August 9, 1944.*
- *1945W Charles St Clair Elder, Jr, January 5, 1945 *
- *1945W Wendell Horace Griffith, Jr., March 14, 1945.
- *1945W Albert Crawford Herring, Jr., December 22, 1944.*
- *1945W John Sears Parsons, December 30, 1944.*

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1882 William Lincoln Kerber, March 26, 1945
- 1899 William James Griffiths, September 2, 1944.

SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

- *1935 Leonard Ward Parker, October 16, 1944
- *1943 Cedric Freeman Joslin, September 6, 1944.
- *1944 John Frederick Lynch, September 15, 1944 *
- *1945 Alfred Ronald Neumunz, November 26, 1944 *
- *1945 Frederick Wilkes Ribie, July 28, 1944.*
- *1945 Herbert Henry Shaver, Jr, October 30, 1944
- *1945W John Milton Miller, Jr., November 25, 1944.*
- *1945W James Baume Stryker, December 5, 1944.*
- *1945W William North Sturtevant, Jr., March 25, 1945.
- *1945W (Feb) Frank Eppele Shumann, Jr., May 13, 1945.
- *1946 Edward Potter Sanderson, November 17, 1944.
- *1946 Wilfley Scobey, Jr., April 11, 1945

GRADUATE SCHOOL

- 1881 Henry Lane Bruner, March 17, 1945.
- 1888 John Winthrop Loveland, July 28, 1944.
- 1898 Charlotte Williams Hazlewood, August 4, 1944.
- 1898 Charles Sterling Wyckoff, April 12, 1945
- 1899 Joseph King Van Denburgh, August 2, 1944.
- 1901 Emerson Findley, January 31, 1945
- 1905 Louis Philip Nash, November 29, 1944.
- 1907 Charles Browne White, March 30, 1945.
- 1910 Frances Clyde Small, July 12, 1944.
- 1911 John Walter Maynard, June 10, 1939.

[★]Died in war service

^{*}A biographical sketch appears in this volume, see index for page reference

CLASS

- 1913 Charles Rudolph Nesbitt, November 23, 1944.
- 1917 Leland Russell van Wert, March 26, 1945.
- ★1921 John Ross Mendenhall, January 27, 1945.
 - 1921 Miriam Roe, October 13, 1944.
 - 1923 Robert Thomas Thompson, April 1, 1945.
 - 1924 Meyer Joshua Rosenberg, November 17, 1940.
- 1929 John Joseph Hoey, August 23, 1944.
- *1930 Alvin Converse Sawtelle, Jr, August 5, 1943.
- *1939 Edward John Nagel, February 2, 1945.
 - 1941 Alfred Ambrose Amberg, February 1, 1943.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

- 1877 David Sherman Lacey, September 28, 1944.
- 1879 William Boardman Graves, November 8, 1944.
- 1880 Harmon Jarvis Kelsey, March 5, 1945
- 1883 Edwin Hamilton Bidwell, November 13, 1944.
- 1896 John Lucius Bradley, March 21, 1945
- 1896 Edmund Lewis Saunders, May 11, 1944.
- 1900 John Peter Colgan, June 7, 1943.
- 1906 Joseph Leo Dennehy, November 23, 1944.

SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

1898 John A Gauld, October 4, 1944.

PUBLIC HEALTH

1935 Thomas Francis O'Brien, November 30, 1936.

DIVINITY SCHOOL

- 1880 Arthur Lewis Seward, March 12, 1945.
- 1883 William Henry Fischer, October 10, 1931.
- 1890 Josiah Pope Dickerman, May 4, 1945
- 1895 Burris Atkins Jenkins, March 13, 1945.
- 1897 John Benjamin Eaton
- 1897 William Theophilus Ream, May 13, 1945.
- 1899 Reed Brown Cherington, December 15, 1944
- 1900 Royal Edward Penney, April 30, 1945
- 1925 Jacob Raymond Schutz, March 29, 1945
- 1931 August C Betz, July 6, 1934.

[★]Died in war service

SCHOOL OF LAW

| CLASS |
|--------------|
|--------------|

- 1882 Samuel Rodman Robinson, March 31, 1945.
- 1884 Joseph Alexander Gray, October 23, 1944.
- 1890 William Bissell Thomas, March 13, 1945
- 1895 Raoul W. D'Arche, March 15, 1945.
- 1897 John Kyran Ignatius Cody, October 8, 1944.
- 1897 Julius Deming Cowles, May 29, 1943
- 1903 Orsell Cook Price, June 1, 1945.
- 1904 John Green, February 23, 1945.
- 1905 John Linden Henning, November 1, 1943.
- 1908 Abram Fremont Blanchard, September 16, 1944.
- 1908 Fred Richmond Silliman, May 24, 1945.
- 1924 Joseph Mario Raschella, May 23, 1945.
- 1926 Benjamin Commander Russell, January 27, 1945
- 1930 Carlos Concha, December 17, 1944.
- *1931 John Bayard Snowden, 2d, September 7, 1944
- *1944 Dickinson Ernest Griffith, Jr, August 16, 1944.
- *1944 Wilfred Lee Simmons, December 23, 1944.

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1888 Jacquelin Smith Holliday, September 4, 1944
- 1896 Robert Younglove Evans, May 28, 1945.
- 1912 John William Bonney, May 7, 1945.
 - *Adrien Beck, July 21, 1944.
 - *Philip E Wood, Jr., July 5, 1944

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

- 1887 Annie Delia Bradley (Mrs Julian Frederick Denison), July 12, 1944.
- 1910 Arthur Russell Squires, February 15, 1945.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1889 Anne May Farnam (Mrs. Frank Lincoln Woodward), December 12, 1944
- 1890 Mary Pardee Lamport, December 16, 1944.
- 1891 Vouletti Whitlock (Mrs. Walter Randall), October, 1938
- 1892 Edith Helen Smith (Mrs Joseph Anthony Werle), January 7, 1945.
- 1896 Edward Curtis Hinman, May 24, 1944.

[★]Died in war service.

CLASS

- 1909 James E. Taddeo, December 22, 1944.
- 1914 Dora Josephine Bonbright (Mrs. Augustus Milton Gurney), October 18, 1944
- 1914 Malcolm McGregor, April 29, 1945.
- 1927 Sara Sherman Pryor, died summer 1942.
- 1928 Raymond Jerome LeGrand, February 10, 1945.
- *1931 Morton Corcoran Eustis, August 13, 1944.
- *1936 Alfred Etcheverry, January 13, 1945
- *1937 David Gerry Connally, Jr, January 29, 1945.
 - 1940 Walter Garfield Beckwith, April 27, 1945.

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

- 1905 Saidee Winifred Cooper (Mrs. Walter Edward Sanford), July 3, 1944.
- 1906 Louise Bertha Schurig, October 28, 1944.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1900 Walter William Cook, March 20, 1945.
- 1900 Edward Britton Manville, August 23, 1944.
- 1926 Dorothy Rowley Perkins (Mrs. Mortimer Leggett Doolittle), June 30, 1945.
- 1932 Frederick Henry May, September 11, 1944.

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

- 1907 Luke de la Motte, February 1, 1945.
- 1917 Henry Thomas Langspecht, July 23, 1944.

[★]Died in war service.

STATISTICS

DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

| | Graduates | Non-Graduates |
|--------------------------------|-----------|---------------|
| Yale College | • 277 | 94 |
| Sheffield Scientific School | III | 50 |
| School of Engineering | 2 | 12 |
| Graduate School | 20 | 20 |
| School of Medicine | 7 | 10 |
| Divinity School | 20 | 10 |
| School of Law | 42 | 22 |
| School of the Fine Arts | 3* | 14 |
| School of Music | 2† | 4 |
| School of Forestry | 7 | 2 |
| School of Nursing | 1 | |
| Recipients of Honorary Degrees | 13 | |
| | **** | |
| | 505 | 238 |

The age of the 257 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1944, and July 1, 1945, averages 54 7, and the age of the 98 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 57.1.

The oldest living graduate of Yale College is Charles McCormick Reeve (B.A. 1870) of Minnetonka Beach, Minn., born August 7, 1847

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School is William Arthur Rogers (Ph.B. 1874) of Buffalo, NY, born September 8, 1851.

^{*} Includes 2 who held certificates.

[†] Recipients of certificates

DEATHS REPORTED IN WAR SERVICE

| , | | recorded volume Non- | December July 1 | |
|-------------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|--------------------|-----|
| | Graduates | | Graduates | |
| Yale College | 94 | 64 | 158‡ | 109 |
| Sheffield Scientific School | 21 | 18 | 40§ | 36‡ |
| School of Engineering | I | 12 | 3 | 15§ |
| Graduate School | 3 | 3 | 6(1) | 9 |
| School of Medicine | 2 | | 4 (3) | |
| Divinity School | | | 2 | |
| School of Law | 3 | 5 | 7 (4) | 10 |
| School of the Fine Arts | | 3 | 5 | 7 |
| School of Music | | | | I |
| School of Forestry | | | (1) | I |
| School of Nursing | | | | |
| Recipients of Honorary Degree | S | | I | |
| | | | | _00 |
| | 124 | 105 | 227 | 188 |

[‡] Includes 2 who died prior to December 7, 1941 § Includes 1 who died prior to December 7, 1941 || Includes 3 who died prior to December 7, 1941

Note Figures in parentheses indicate professional school graduates who have also received an undergraduate degree from Yale

INDEX

Members of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from members of Yale College by italic letters as follows Divinity School, d, School of Engineering, e, School of the Fine Arts, art, School of Forestry, f, Graduate School, ma, ms, or dp, School of Law, l, ml, dcl, or jd, School of Medicine, m, School of Nursing, n, Sheffield Scientific School, s War casualties are designated by a star (*)

| CT ACC | | DACE | 1 07 466 | | DACE |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---|-------------|
| CLASS | Adams Clamana II | PAGE | | Disalaman Ambasa XX | PAGE |
| 1902 1886 | Adams, Clarence H | 93 | 1905 | Blackman, Arthur W | 102 |
| _ | Adams, Warren A | 21 | 1893 \$ | Blair, Orland R Blake, Gilman D , Jr | 25I |
| *1943 s | Adelman, Harold | 311 188 | *1945 | | 226 |
| ★ 1941 ★ 1945W | Aiken, Gayle, 3d Aldrich, Thomas C | _ | 1898 <i>d</i> ★1945 | Blakely, Quincy | 348 |
| 1894 | Allen, Samuel E S | 236 | | Bloch, Jacques E Bolton, Clarence H | 227 |
| 1894 1894 s | Allen, W Bradford | 50 252 | 1913 | Booth, Wilbur F | 133 |
| ±1945 | Amory, Clement G, 2d | 252 | 1 . ' | Borsodi, Frederic A | 14 306 |
| 1898 | Andreen, Carl E | 400 | *1939 \$ | Bourne, George G | 284 |
| 1871 s | Andrews, Horace | 73 2 40 | 1894 | Boyer, Frederick M | _ |
| 1886 | Appleton, Robert | 22 | 1906 | Brandon, John R | 51 110 |
| ★ 1941 | Armstrong, Charles P. | 189 | 18945 | Brewer, Henry | 254 |
| 1917 | Armstrong, Dwight L | 139 | 19015 | Brigham, George S | 406 |
| ★ 1943 | Arnold, Kent | 205 | 1908 \$ | Brinsmade, Wallace S | 276 |
| 1896 | Arnstein, Leo | 63 | 1898 m | Broderick, Francis P | 413 |
| ★ 1944 | Aschmann, Frank G | 215 | ★ 1945 s | Brooks, Hugh T | 315 |
| 1917 <i>s</i> | Atkıns, Samuel W | 292 | 18945 | Brown, Charles Barto | 255 |
| ★ 1942 | Aycrigg, William Ander- | -3- | ★ 1945W | Brown, Frederick A | 40I |
| -27- | son, 2d | 192 | 1915 | Brown, Robert H | 388 |
| 1893 | Babbitt, James A | 43 | 1895 l | Brown, William B | 360 |
| 1900 l | Bacharach, Milton | 420 | ★ 1944 | Brown, William Thayer, Jr | |
| ★ 1943 | Badgley, Bailey | 206 | 1875 5 | Brownell, George L | 241 |
| 1908 | Baker, Everett L | 118 | ★ 1942 | Brush, Robert L | 194 |
| *1917s | Baker, William | 2 93 | 1926 dp | Buck, Albert W | 336 |
| 1909 5 | Baldwin, John M | 276 | 1880 | Buell, Walter H | 8 |
| ★ 1940 ma | Ballantine, John H, Jr | 332 | 1887 s | Bullard, Herbert S | 245 |
| 1913 | Barbour, Alexander L | 132 | 1895 s | Burchard, Robert C | 258 |
| ★ 1937 | Barnes, Albert MacC, 3d | 392 | 1909 | Burnham, Raymond M | 120 |
| 1889 | Barnes, Clifford W | 29 | 1883 | Burpee, Charles W | 11 |
| 1900 | Barrell, Albert M | 90 | 1941 <i>l</i> | Burrow, M Gerald, Jr | 372 |
| 1894 s | Baylıss, Wıllard | 252 | 1880 | Bushnell, John E | 9 |
| 1906 | Beal, Harry | 108 | 1911 <i>f</i> | Buttrick, Philip L | 382 |
| . 1894 | Beaumont, André A | 51 | 1887 | Caldwell, Middleton A | 25 |
| *1941 s | Beavers, Edward H , Jr | 308 | 1922 ma | Calland, Forest E | 329 |
| 1888 I | Beekman, Benjamin B | 356 | * 1931 | Cameron, Gerard Guyot | 157 |
| 1892 s | Beeson, Charles E | 250 | *1945Ws | Cameron, William J, Jr | 317 |
| 1898 | Bell, Enoch F | 74 | 1909 l | Campbell, Harry A | 422 |
| 1906 | Bennett, Ralph B | 110 | 1924 <i>1d</i> | Caple, Earley Emmett | 376 |
| ★ 1942 | Bennitt, Peter | 193 | ★ 1943 | Carey, Henry W | 207 |
| 1898 <i>dp</i> | Billings, Anna H | 335 | 1898 5 | Carpenter, Harold | 264 |
| 1895 | Bingham, Julian C | 58 | 1885 d | Carr, Edwin S | 414 |
| 1894 s | Bishop, Louis M | 404 | 19145 | Carter, M Gavin | 2 89 |
| 1895 <i>s</i> | Black, William R | 257 | * 1939 | Cates, Wirt Randall | 180 |

| CLASS | : | PAGE | CLASS | 1 | PAGE |
|------------------------|-------------------------|-------------|------------------|-----------------------------|-------------|
| 1918 5 | Chain, Michael L | 295 | 1914 | Dodge, Stuart P | 134 |
| ★ 1930 | Chamberlin, Stephens | 391 | 1894 | Dominick, George F, Jr | 52 |
| 1887 | Chambers, Walter B. | 25 | 1898 | Dominick, William F | 75 |
| 1902 | Chapin, Terry J | 94 | 1877 s | Doolittle, Judson A | 241 |
| 1922 | Chappell, Delos | 147 | ★ 1941 | Dore, John J , Jr | 189 |
| 1898 s | Chauncey, George S. | 265 | ★ 1938 s | Doty, Charles E, Jr | 305 |
| 1895 l | Cheney, Herve M | 361 | * 1937 | Doyle, James Q | 169 |
| * 1937 | Chickering, William H | 167 | ★ 1945W | Doyle, Townsend | 236 |
| ★ 1942 | Chouteau, René A | 195 | ★ 1944 | Drinker, Sandwith | 218 |
| ★ 1940 | Cibel, Harvey J | 395 | 1900 | Duncan, Guilford | 90 |
| 1903 d | Clapp, Raymond G | 350 | 1920 <i>l</i> | Dunn, Stephen F | 368 |
| ★ 1937 | Clark, Ernest D, Jr | 168 | 1910 <i>l</i> | Dutton, Joseph F | 365 |
| ★ 1940 | Clark, Robert S | 396 | 1893 | Dwight, Winthrop E | 46 |
| 1915 d | Clark-Duff, William G | 352 | * 1935 | Dyas, Frederick G, Jr | 162 |
| 19175 | Clarke, Tracy L | 294 | 1909 \$ | Earnshaw, William B | 277 |
| 1887 s | Coburn, William Henry | 245 | ★ 1945 | Eckert, John A , 3d | 229 |
| 1899 | Coffin, Clarence E | 84 | 1900 s | Eckhardt, Malcolm M | 267 |
| ★ 1938 | Comen, Howard B | 173 | 1906 <i>s</i> | Eckle, Carl W | 274 |
| ★ 1944 | Congdon, Charles B | 216 | ★ 1945 | Edmonds, Rolland M, Jr | 229 |
| 1901 <i>l</i> | Conley, Edward J | 363 | 19145 | Edmonds, Sidney W | 290 |
| * 1944 | Constantin, Eugene P C, | | 1901 \$ | Edmondson, George N | 269 |
| | 3 d | 217 | 1925 l | Egan, Thomas K, Jr | 369 |
| *1937 s | Cooke, Marvin | 304 | ★ 1945W s | Elder, Charles St Clair, Jr | 317 |
| 1914 | Cooney, Russell S | 134 | 1915 d | Elliott, Beal | 352 |
| 1889 | Corbin, William H | 31 | 19075 | Ellis, Henry G | 275 |
| 1925 \$ | Corey, David K | 2 98 | 1907 ma | Ervin, Robert L | 327 |
| 1887 | Corwin, Robert N | 2 6 | 1890 | Espy, Arthur | 33 |
| 1884 | Cottle, Edmund P | 15 | * 1943 | Evans, Harry L, Jr | 209 |
| 1921 d | Cox, Harvey A | 417 | 1924 <i>art</i> | Faelten, Otto | 377 |
| * 1942 | Crawford, H Victor, 3d | 196 | 1905 | Fairbanks, Richard M | 103 |
| 1893 | Creevey, George M | 45 | * 1939 | Farley, John A | 181 |
| 1907 | Crenshaw, Benjamin F | 113 | *1945W | Fitzgerald, Francis J | 401 |
| 1909 <i>l</i> | Crossett, Charles R. | 42 3 | 1885 l | Fitzpatrick, John F. | 417 |
| 19125 | Cugell, Abel G | 285 | * 1945 | Fleming, Richard S | 2 30 |
| ★ 1945 | Cummings, Boyd T | 400 | 1905 m | Flynn, David A. | 340 |
| 1926 s | Curlee, Shelby H, Jr. | 29 9 | 1907 | Foster, Henry A | 114 |
| 1905 l | Curnow, Glenn N | 363 | 1884 | Foster, Reginald | 15 |
| ւ 1888 ւ | Curtiss, Richard S | 404 | 1884 | Fountain, Gerard | 16 |
| * 1945 | Danowski, Edwin T | 227 | 1891 \$ | Francke, Albert | 248 |
| * 1943 | Dargan, William T | 207 | ★1926 s | Frankenthal, John V | 300 |
| 1938 | Davidonis, Anthony C J | 173 | 1898 d | Fraser, Arthur E. | 349 |
| ★ 1942 <i>s</i> | Davis, Charles C, Jr | 309 | * 1938 | Frazer, Trumbull | 174 |
| 1909 | Davis, Charles H | 121 | 1894 <i>l</i> | Freeman, Richard P | 359 |
| 1911 d | Davis, Robert H | 351 | 1908 f | French, H Earl | 381 |
| 1896 | Day, Sherman | 64 | 1898 | Gage, Brownell | 76 |
| 1894 \$ | Dayton, Hughes | 255 | 1919 \$ | Gagel, David E | 296 |
| 1873 | Denslow, Herbert M | 5 | * 1945 | Gaillard, Edward M, Jr. | 231 |
| ★ 1945 | Dicken, James R | 228 | * 1938 | Gallagher, Francis P | 394 |
| _1893 m | Dickerman, Wilton E | 339 | *1924 ms | Gardner, John H, Jr | 333 |
| * 1938 | DiFilippo, Lawrence M | 393 | 1916 | Gee, John Archer | 135 |
| 1905 \$ | Dilworth, John Crossan | 272 | 1910 f | Gilkey, Harold P | 424 |
| 1896 s | Ditman, Norman E | 260 | * 1934 | Gillespie, William H | 160 |
| * 1943 | Divine, Douglas R | 208 | 1899 | Gilmore, Samuel A | 85 |

Index 437

| CLASS | | PAGE | CLASS | | PAGE |
|-------------------|--------------------------|------------|-----------------|----------------------------|-------------|
| 1899 | Gilson, John L | 85 | 1885 | Hubbard, Philip P | 20 |
| 1916 | Gingold, Thomas L | 136 | 1902 | Hubbell, James W | 96 |
| 1873 | Goddard, John Calvin | 6 | 1899 dcl | Huberich, Charles H | 374 |
| 1887 | Goodenough, Edward W | 27 | 1884 | Hughson, Frank C | 17 |
| ★ 1938 | Gordon, McGuire | 175 | 1901 | Hutchins, Will | 9 1 |
| 1894 | Goss, John H | 53 | 1901 d | Hyde, Alban B | 416 |
| ★ 1936 | Gott, John Ward | 165 | ★ 1945W | Ingersoll, C Jared, Jr | 402 |
| 1920 | Gould, Frank M | 143 | ★ 1933 | Irwin, DeWitt D, Jr | 159 |
| 1903 | Granniss, Robert A | 98 | 1911 ml | Ise, Walter J | 373 |
| ★ 1938 | Greene, Peter S | 176 | ★ 1940 | Israel, James L | 184 |
| 1891 | Greer, Paul Ecoff | 37 | 1898 s | Ives, Howard C | 265 |
| 1928 <i>ma</i> | Greer, Wilson | 330 | 1920 \$ | Jackson, Frederick H | 297 |
| 1901 d | Gregory, J Francis | 415 | 1895 s | Jackson, J Frederick | 258 |
| 1897 s | Griffith, William F R | 261 | ★ 1942 | Jackson, William B | 197 |
| 1899 l | Grimm, Eugene E | 362 | ★1929 ma | Jacob, Perry H | 330 |
| *1935 s | Griswold, James R | 303 | 1929 dp | Jacobsen, Gertrude Ann | 412 |
| 1902 \$ | Griswold, Roger Wolcott | 270 | 1902 | James, D L | 385 |
| 1899 | Groves, Morris | 86 | 1891 | Johnson, Frederick M | 38 |
| 1887 | Guernsey, George H | 28 | 1895 d | Johnson, Harry W | 345 |
| 1906 | Guynn, Edgar Hart | 111 | 1903 | Johnston, Donald K | 99 |
| 1904 f | Hadley, Walter B | 378 | 1910 | Jones, Frank W | 123 |
| * 1942 | Haines, George E | 196 | 1891 <i>s</i> | Jones, Frederick W | 249 |
| 1886 | Hamilton, Lewis B | 23 | ★ 1938 | Jones, Pearson S | 176 |
| 1899 | Hamlin, Arthur S | 87 | ★ 1940 | Jordan, R Mulford | 185 |
| 1906 1 | Hamlin, Harry F | 364 | 1917 | Julianelle, Louis A | 140 |
| 1918 | Hammett, Buell | 141 | 1927 | Kamerman, Bernard C | 390 |
| 1882 | Hanlon, John R | 10 | 1883 | Kellogg, Francis B | 12 |
| 1936 <i>dp</i> | Hanson, Warren Arthur | 337 | 18945 | Kemp, Arthur T | 256 |
| 19135 | Hansson, Frederick | 287 | ★ 1938 | Kenner, Forrest L | 177 |
| 1910\$ | Hardenbergh, George S | 408 | 1900 \$ | Kennett, Francis J | 268 |
| 1908 1 | Harmon, Charles N | 421 | 1897 | Kerr, Albert B | 69 |
| * 1940 | Harper, Laurence R | 184 | | Kettle, Joseph B | 346 |
| 1910 \$ | Hastings, Berthold F | 280 | 1895 | Kingsley, Charles | 58 |
| * 1943 | Hately, Jonathan Hyde | 210 | 1884 | Kinley, David | 18 |
| 1916 | Haven, George G | 137 | 1921 | Kıskadden, John M | 144 |
| * 1943 | Haywood, Alfred W, Jr | 399 | 1915 \$ | Kittredge, Charles J | 290 |
| ★1 944 | Haywood, Snowden | 218 | ★ 1941 | Knapp, William J, Jr, | 397 |
| 1887 d | Herrick, Henry M | 344 | 1892 | Knowles, George G | 40 |
| 1902 | Herrick, William W | 95 | ★1938 m | Kober, William M | 34 2 |
| *1945W s | Herring, Albert C, Jr | 318 | 1918 | Krauss, Eugene A | 142 |
| ★ 1944 | Higgins, Charles A, Jr | 219 | 1944 dp | Kuslovitz, Irene E | 338 |
| ★ 1942 s | Hindenlang, Warren A. | 310 | 1944 47 | Kydd, David E | 286 |
| 1885 | Hobbs, Charles B | 19 | 1894 | Kyle, Charles D | 54 |
| 1892 | Holden, Charles R | 40 | 1896 | Lackland, Edgar C | 64 |
| 1918 | Holden, Robert F | 141 | 1882 5 | LaForge, Frederick W | 243 |
| 1885 l | Holliday, Charles K | 418 | ★ 1939 s | Lampert, Sadron C, Jr | 307 |
| 1905 | Holter, Aubrey M | 104 | | (trans) Langford, Howard S | |
| ★ 1929 | Holter, Richard M | 156 | 1930 773 (| Lautz, John | 281 |
| ★ 1939 | Hoover, Gordon P | | ★ 1941 | Lee, Nixon, Jr | 190 |
| 1939 | Hotchkiss, Frederick A | 394 123 | 1928 | Lee, Walter T | |
| | Oct) Hott, Robert L | _ | 1 2 | Leeds, Norman | 155 |
| 1912 | Howard, John G | 237 127 | 19135 | Lees, Kenneth F | 259 288 |
| ★ ₁₉₂₅ | Howden, Frederick B, Jr | 389 | l | Lentz, Gustav H | |
| ~1945 | LIOWACH, L'ICACHER D, JI | 509 | 1 1917 | mine, Gustav II | 291 |

| CLASS | | PAGE | CLASS | | PAGE |
|--------------------------------|--|------------|---|------------------------------------|------------|
| 1899 | Lessig, Othniel B | 88 | *1945W e | Miller, John M, Jr | 322 |
| 1892 | Lewis, Arthur F | 41 | 1921 | Miller, Kenneth O | 145 |
| 1909 s | Lockhart, Charles E | 278 | ★ 1943 | Miller, Ward | 213 |
| ★ 1944 | Long, Richard C, 2d | 220 | 1896 | Miller, William S | 65 |
| 1898 | Lord, Franklin A | 77 | 1921 | Mims, Edwin, Jr | 146 |
| ★ 1926 s | Luke, James L | 300 | * 1922 | Mitchell, Francis H. | 148 |
| 1906 l | Lust, Herbert C | 420 | 1911 5 | Moore, Charles K. | 282 |
| *1944 e | Lynch, John F | 320 | 1893 | Moore, Franklın A. | 48 |
| 1893 | Lyon, Irving P. | 47 | 1883 | Moore, John A | 13 |
| 1905 | Lyons, Benedict E | 104 | * 1931 | Morgan, Harrison P | 159 |
| 1897 l | McCall, Samuel K | 361 | ★ 1925 | Morley, John C | 150 |
| 1895 | McCann, William G | 59 | ★ 1939 | Morris, Richard L, Jr | 182 |
| ★ 1943 | McClelland, Vincent | 210 | 1885 | Morrison, William P | 21 |
| 1890 | McConnel, William A | 34 | ★ 1937 | Munroe, Logan | 170 |
| 1890 | McCormick, Donald | 35 | 1890 s | Murdoch, James M | 248 |
| 19195 | McCrosky, Donald W | 296 | 1909 | Myers, Ralph E | 122 |
| * 1942 | McDermott, James S | 198 | 1892 l | Neary, William J | 358 |
| * 1945 | Macdonald, William R | 232 | * 1935 | Negley, Albert S B | 164 |
| 1912 | McEvitt, Joseph L | 128 | ★ 1945 e | Neumunz, Alfred R. | 321 |
| 1907 [| McEvoy, Frank P | 365 | *1942 s | Newcomb, Walter E, Jr | 310 |
| 1902 ma | McFarland, Raymond | 325 | 1905 | Nichols, Charles W | 386 |
| * 1944 | MacGuire, John Derek | 220 | 1910 l | Noel, Oscar F | 366 |
| 1928 | McKay, Robert W | 391 | 1894 d | Norris, John W | 345 |
| $\frac{1892}{}$ | McKenna, George R | 419 | 1899 s | North, Henry A | 405 |
| * 1943 | Maclean, John H | 211 | 1901 \$ | North, Herbert B | 269 |
| * 1941 | McLennan, G Noyes | 398 | * 1936 | Northrop, Douglas C. | 166 |
| * 1945 | MacMullen, John A | 232 | 1911 l 1886 | Odell C Frederick | 366 |
| *1940 | McMullen, Robert F | 186 | | Odell, C Frederick Otis, Thomas G | 24 262 |
| *1943 s | McNear, George P, 3d | 312 | 18975 | O'Toole, Francis J | |
| ★ 1945 ★ 1924 | MacSporran, Donald M Mallory, William N | 233 | ★ 1944 e 1897 l | Overlander, R Melvin | 320 362 |
| 1924 | Maloney, Gerald J | 149 150 | | Oct) Owen, Thomas M, Jr | 238 |
| ★1942 m | Manning, Maurice N | 342 | 1912 | Page, Charles W, Jr | 128 |
| 1930 ma | Manross, Martha D | 331 | ★ 1940 | Paine, Leonard F | 187 |
| 1904 ma | Marinoni, Antonio | 326 | 1899 s | Palmer, Carl K | 405 |
| ★ 1942 | Marsh, H Shepardson | 199 | ★ 1942 | Palmer, Carter | 200 |
| 1905 \$ | Marshall, Bernard G | 407 | 1905 | Palmer, Howard | 105 |
| * 1935 | Marshall, Pardee | 163 | 1928 d | Pardee, William D | 353 |
| * 1944 | Marshall, Thomas L | 221 | ★ 1945W \$ | Parsons, John S | 318 |
| * 1943 | Marshall, William W | 212 | 1904 \$ | Patterson, Robert D | 271 |
| * 1943 | Martin, Albert C | 213 | 1895 | Paynter, Rowland G | 60 |
| 1913 \$ | Martin, Dennis B | 288 | 1898 | Peck, Darius E | 78 |
| | Oct) Mason, John B | 238 | 1926 | Peet, Charles L | 151 |
| 1934 d | Massie, Thomas L | 354 | * 1937 | Peirson, John S S | 171 |
| *1944 <i>s</i> | Mead, Charles Y | 314 | _1892 <i>s</i> | Perkins, Montague E | 251 |
| 1905 # | Mell, Clayton D | 379 | * 1939 | Perkins, S. Benham, Jr. | 183 |
| * 1944 | Memminger, Lucien, Jr | 222 | *1930 s | Petrillo, Louis J | 411 |
| 1909 \$ | Merritt, Haines R | 279 | 1881 5 | Phelps, Oliver | 403 |
| 1903 | Metzger, William G | 100 | *1942 | Phillips, Sam, Jr | 201 |
| 1906 m ★1915 | Meyer, Carl Emil Meyer, Frederick W | 340 388 | 1885 s 1893 | Pinney, Royal W Pope, C L Macauley | 244 48 |
| ★ 1944 | Meyer, Quentin | 223 | ±1945 | Pullen, Lloyd W. | 48 |
| 1891 / | Meyers, William K | 358 | 1945 1937 m | Purple, Mayo R | 233 34I |
| | | ا ۵٫۰۱ | -331 *** | r, wanto a- | J4* |

Index 439

| 1893 | CLASS | | PAGE | CLASS | | PAGE |
|--|------------------|--|------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|------|
| 1898 m Ray, Wyeth E 339 1889 Snipe, Langdon T 33 1905 ma Record, Albert S 325 1907 Somers, Donald McLean 371 1909 ma Reind, Albert S 325 1907 Somers, Donald McLean 371 1911 Resnik, Isadore W 367 1884 Stezens, Henry S 355 1932 Stephens, Howard V, Jr 170 1909 Reynolds, Carlton M 300 *1938 Stephens, Howard V, Jr 170 170 1884 Stevenson, Indian M 172 1886 Ritter, Donald F 1906 Stevenson, John A 112 | | Quayle Thomas P | | _ | Courth Walter Duran | |
| 1905 f Record, Samuel J 380 1907 Sonwers, Donald McLean 171 1908 Reiman, Gustave A 283 1911 Resulk, Isadore W 1912 Reynolds, Carlton M 130 1884 Stearns, Henry S 355 1894 Rylogh M 130 1894 Steephens, Howard V , Jr 179 | | | | | | |
| 1900 ma | | _ * * * _ * * = | | 1 A | | |
| 1911 Reman, Gustave A 283 1803 Spalding, George B 49 1912 Resnik, Isadore W 367 1884 Stearns, Henry S 367 1884 Stearns, Henry S 373 Stenberg, Gerald Robert 172 Stenberg, Gerald Robert 172 1737 Stenberg, Gerald Robert 172 1738 Stenberg, Gerald Robert 172 1737 | | | _ | 1 | • | |
| 1911 | - | • | | | | |
| 1912 Reynolds, Carlton M 130 1937 Steinberg, Gerald Robert 172 173 1 | _ | | | | <u> </u> | |
| 1990 s Reynolds, Earle H 280 1898 Stephens, Howard V , Jr 179 1794 1894 Ritter, Donald F 234 1898 Stevenson, John A 112 1196 1196 Stevenson, Robert E 202 1927 Robbins, William W 153 1898 Roberts, James H 7 1886 d Roberts, Waring 371 1898 Rodgers, James O 79 1880 s Roggers, Edwin M 242 1899 Rollins, Richard, Jr. 235 1899 Roorer, Virgil E 419 1905 Stringer, Edward S 106 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 1895 Ruggles, Burnet R 266 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1884 s Sanders, Walter A 243 1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 1894 Sanders, Walter B 373 1895 Taylor, James H 355 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 1905 Thomas, Abel Cary 170 1894 Scarles, Avery T 378 1898 Sellew, George T 335 1898 Sellew, George T 335 1898 Sherwood, Charles L 267 1912 s Shringer, Robert B 1913 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 s Shinnen, Joseph M 391 Sherrick, Joseph M 392 Smith, Dorland 1890 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1898 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1898 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1898 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1897 Volores, Louis E 1896 Smith, Dorland 1897 Volores, Louis E 1898 Volores, Louis E 1899 Volores, | - | | | | | |
| **1945 e | - | | | | | |
| 1904 Raley, John M | | • | | | | |
| *1945 Ritter, Donald F 1927 Robbins, William W 1873 Roberts, James H 7 | - 1- | | _ | _ | | |
| 1927 Robburs, William W 153 1889 dp Stibitz, George 112 1886 d Roberts, Peter 414 415 | | The second secon | | \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ | · _ · | |
| 1873 Roberts, James H 7 t1986 d Roberts, Peter 414 *1944 Stoddart, Robert S, Jr 223 *1898 Roderts, James O 79 1889 d Storts, Carlos H 356 1889 d Storts, Carlos H 356 1889 d Storts, Carlos H 356 1905 Stringer, Edward S 106 106 106 Stringer, Edward S 106 106 130 Strout, Edwin A 130 *1945We Stryker, James B 323 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 41945We Stryker, James B 323 1895 Talcott, John G 60 41935 Talcott, John G 60 41935 Talcott, John G 60 | | | | F. 2 | | |
| 1886 d Roberts, Peter 414 *1944 Stoddart, Robert S, Jr 223 *1898 r Rodgers, James O 79 1898 rodgers, James O 79 1905 Stringer, Edward S 106 *1945 Rollins, Richard, Jr. 235 *1945 Rollins, Richard, Jr. 235 *1941 Rosen, Walter B 373 *1896 Rowe, Stuart H 36 *1945 Stryker, James B 323 *1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 *1923 s Talcott, John G 60 1890 Ruggles, Burnet R 266 *1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1888 s Sadd, Walter A 243 *18937 s Talcott, John G 60 *1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 *1895 d Taylor, Edward J 297 1886 s Sullvan, John J 202 1895 d Taylor, Edward J 297 1886 s Sullvan, John G 60 60 *1945 Sanders Malter E 54 *1945 Sanders Malter E 54 *1895 d Thomas, Abel Cary 107 Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard M 36 *1942 Thompson, William de *1942 Thompson, William A 70 *1942 Thompson, William A <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> | | | | | | - |
| *1940 l Roberts, Waring 1898 Rodgers, James O 79 1905 Stringer, Edward S 106 1890 Rogers, Edwin M 242 1912 Strout, Edwin A 130 1894 Rosen, Walter B 36 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1894 Sanders, Walter A 243 1894 Sanders, Walter B 36 1894 Sanders, Walter E 1894 Sawyer, James C 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 1916 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 1917 Searle, Avery T 1918 Searle, Avery T 1898 Sherwood, Charles L 1895 Sherwood, Charles L 1895 Sherwood, Charles L 1895 Sherwood, Frederick A 1894 Shulson, Rolfe W. 370 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Victor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles R 1895 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 Wainwright, Talcott 154 1 | | | - | | | |
| 1898 Rodgers, James O 79 1905 Stringer, Edward S 106 1880 s Rogers, Edwin M 242 1912 Strout, Edward S 130 *1941 l Rosen, Walter B 373 *1945We Stryker, James B 323 *1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 *1895 Talcott, John G 60 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1885 Talyor, James H 355 1895 Talcott, John G 60 *1894 Sadd, Walter A 243 *1937 s Thayer, Charles S 347 *1945 Samders, Walter E 54 1889 d Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1894 Saderson, Robert 152 1889 l Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1896 Scarborough, Lee R 54 *1889 l Thomson, William Cutler, Jr 1er, Jr 214 *1994 Searle, Avery T 378 1895 Thomson, William A 70 *1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1894 Thorne, J Neale 203 *1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1942 Toland, Benjamin R 204 | | | | | | |
| 1880 s Rogers, Edwin M 242 1912 Strout, Edwin A 130 130 1394 Rorer, Virgil E 419 1930 s Stryker, James B 323 1894 Rosen, Walter B 373 1895 Talcott, John G 60 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 1895 Talyor, Edward J 297 1895 Talyor, Edward J 297 1895 Talyor, James H 355 Talyor, James H 35 | - · | | | - | • | |
| *1945 Rollins, Richard, Jr. 235 | _ | | _ | | | |
| 1889 | | | - | · | | |
| *1941 l Rosen, Walter B 373 1895 Talcott, John G 60 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 | | | | | | |
| 1890 Rowe, Stuart H 36 *1923 s Taylor, Edward J 297 1898 s Ruggles, Burnet R 266 1885 l Taylor, James H 355 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1895 d Thayer, Charles S 347 *1894 Sander, Ralph D S. 402 1895 d Thomas, Abel Cary 107 1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 *1889 l Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1995 Sanders, Walter E 54 *1893 l *100mas, Abel Cary 107 *1994 Sawyer, James C 55 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard M 152 1895 Thomson, William Cutler, Jr 1191 1901 Tillitt, Malvern H 93 1896 Scarborough, Lee R *1942 Thomson, William de Forest 61 *1942 Thomson, William de Forest 61 *1942 Thomson, William de *1942 *1944 Thomson, William A 70 *1896 *1944 *1944 *1944 *1944 *1944 *19 | | | | | | |
| 1898 s Ruggles, Burnet R 266 1885 l Taylor, James H 355 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1895 d Thayer, Charles S 347 1884 s Sadd, Walter A 243 *1937 s Thayer, David B 305 *1945 W Sample, Ralph D S. 402 1894 F Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 *1896 Sanderson, Robert 152 Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1926 Sanderson, Robert 152 1893 Thomson, William Cutler, Jr 214 Thomson, William Cutler, Jr 214 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1901 Thomson, William derect 61 *1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1895 Thomson, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 11 1901 Thoms, Joseph L 1897 Todd, William A 70 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Shero, Joseph L 328 1894 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1898 Sherwood, Charles L< | - · | - | | | | |
| 1897 Russel, Theodore F 70 1895 d Thayer, Charles S 347 1884 s Sadd, Walter A 243 *1937 s Thayer, David B 305 *1945W Sample, Ralph D S. 402 1894 sanders, Walter E 54 1905 Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1945 s Sanders, William H 316 *1945 Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1926 Sanderson, Robert 152 1894 Sawyer, James C 55 1895 Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1926 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1895 Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1926 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1942 Thompson, William Cutler, Jr 1896 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 1897 Thomson, William de 61 *1926 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 1894 Touse, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 378 1894 Trusk, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 1894 Trusk, Robert F 225 1898 s <t< td=""><td></td><td>•</td><td></td><td></td><td>_ · •</td><td></td></t<> | | • | | | _ · • | |
| 1884 s Sadd, Walter A 243 *1937 s Thayer, David B 305 *1945W Sample, Ralph D S. 402 1905 Thomas, Abel Cary 107 *1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 *1945 s Sanderson, Robert 152 1889 l Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1894 Sawyer, James C 55 1895 Thomas, Elmer E 357 *1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 1895 Thomson, William de 66 *1941 Schutz, John P 352 1889 Thorne, J Neale 203 1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 11 1901 Thorne, J Neale 203 1894 f Searle, Avery T 378 1897 Todd, William A 70 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trusk, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1912 s Turcker, John J 286 1890 s Shetwood, Charles L 267 | | | | | | |
| *1945W Sample, Ralph D S. 402 1905 Thomas, Abel Cary 107 1894 Sanders, Walter E 54 1889 l Thomas, Elmer E 357 Thomas, Elmer E 1489 Thomas, Elmer E 149 Thomas, Elemer E 149 Thomas | | | - | | | |
| 1894 | | · | | | | |
| *1945 s Sanders, William H 316 | | | | | | _ |
| *1926 Sanderson, Robert 152 1894 Sawyer, James C 55 1895 Thomson, William de 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1901 Thillitt, Malvern H 93 1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 1894 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 1905 Sherly, Charles R 56 1908 Wander, Harry B 101 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 1898 Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | | • | _ | | | 321 |
| 1894 Sawyer, James C 55 1895 Thomson, William de Forest 61 *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1901 Tillitt, Malvern H 93 1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 1894 Toland, Benjamin R 204 1904 f Searle, Avery T 378 1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trask, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1922 s Sinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1923 s Sinks, Allen T 301 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, | | C | _ | -943 | _ · | 211 |
| 1896 Scarborough, Lee R 66 | | _ · | | 1895 | | 4 |
| *1941 Schubart, William Howard, Jr 191 1901 Tillitt, Malvern H 93 1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 | | | | | • | 6т |
| ard, Jr | | | | ★ 1942 | | |
| 1926 d Schutz, John P 352 1897 Todd, William A 70 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 *1942 Toland, Benjamin R 204 1904 f Searle, Avery T 378 1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trask, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 301 *1946 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 <t< td=""><td>*27*</td><td></td><td>101</td><td></td><td></td><td>_</td></t<> | *2 7 * | | 101 | | | _ |
| 1882 Scranton, Arthur 11 *1942 Toland, Benjamin R 204 1904 f Searle, Avery T 378 1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trask, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 <td>1926 d</td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> | 1926 d | | _ | - | | |
| 1904 f Searle, Avery T 378 1894 Tousey, Ralph 57 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trask, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 | - | | | | | _ |
| 1898 dp Sellew, George T 335 *1944 Trask, Robert F 224 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vubert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 | _ | | | - ' | | • |
| 1913 s Sharpe, John E 409 *1944 Trible, George B, Jr 225 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 30 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1898 | | | | | | |
| 1890 Shelton, Edward M 37 1912 s Tucker, John J 286 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 ★1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 ★1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 ★1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>•</td> | | | | | | • |
| 1910 ma Sherrick, Joseph L 328 1892 Turnbull, James A 42 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 ★1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 ★1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 ★1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 | · · | | | | | _ |
| 1898 s Sherwood, Charles L 267 1908 Umberger, Robert B 118 1901 s Sherwood, Frederick A 407 1892 Vail, Newton Foster 42 *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 | - | | | - | | 42 |
| ★1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 ★1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 ★1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | | | | _ | | _ |
| *1932 s Shinnen, Joseph M 302 1905 Van Campen, Benjamin 108 *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | - | | 407 | - | | 42 |
| *1942 Simmons, William B, Jr 201 1916 Vance, Willison K, Jr 138 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 *1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | * 1932 \$ | Shinnen, Joseph M | | 1905 | Van Campen, Benjamin | 108 |
| 1929 s Sinks, Allen T 301 ★1944 Van Cortlandt, Augustus, 1907 Sisson, Lewis E 114 3d 225 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 ★1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | | | 201 | 1916 | Vance, Willison K, Jr | 138 |
| 1894 Skinker, Charles R 56 1903 VanDeventer, Harry B 101 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | | Sinks, Allen T | 301 | * 1944 | Van Cortlandt, Augustus, | |
| 1925 l Skulason, Rolfe W. 370 1897 Vann, Irving Dillaye 71 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 ★1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | 1907 | Sisson, Lewis E | 114 | | 3d | 225 |
| 1891 Slade, F. Louis 39 1897 Vibert, Robert K 72 *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | 1894 | Skinker, Charles R | 56 | 1903 | VanDeventer, Harry B | 101 |
| ★1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 ★1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | 1925 <i>l</i> | Skulason, Rolfe W. | 370 | 1897 | Vann, Irving Dillaye | 71 |
| *1938 Small, Robert W. 178 1907 Vietor, John A 116 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | 1891 | Slade, F. Louis | 39 | 1897 | Vibert, Robert K | 72 |
| 1909 ma Smith, Charles A 328 1917 s Villas-Bôas, Jayme L 410 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | | Small, Robert W. | | 1907 | Vietor, John A | 116 |
| 1896 Smith, Dorland 67 1897 s Voorheis, Louis E 263 1898 Smith, E Burnham 80 *1927 Wainwright, Talcott 154 | 1909 ma | Smith, Charles A | 328 | 1917 <i>s</i> | Villas-Bôas, Jayme L | 410 |
| | 1896 | Smith, Dorland | 67 | | | 263 |
| 1889 Smith, Herbert A 32 1891 Waite, Horace G. 385 | 1898 | Smith, E Burnham | 8 o | | Wainwright, Talcott | |
| | 1889 | Smith, Herbert A | 32 | 1891 | Waite, Horace G. | 385 |

| CLASS | | PAGE | CLASS | | PAGE |
|-----------------|------------------------|------|---------------|-------------------------|------|
| *1944 s | Walker, Robert M S | 314 | 1905 s | Wilhelm, Frank E | 273 |
| 1896 d | Wallace, William W | 348 | 1900 | Williams, Herbert G. | 91 |
| 1916 <i>l</i> | Ward, Carroll R | 368 | 1910 | Williams, Wayland W. | 125 |
| 1908 | Watkins, C Law | 119 | 1898 | Williamson, Frederic E. | 80 |
| 1899 | Watterson, Moses A | 89 | 1902 | Willing, Mark S | 98 |
| 1907 | Webster, Benjamin | 117 | 1906 s | Willis, Thomas William | 274 |
| * 1923 s | Weil, Victor H | 410 | 1910 | Wilson, Alexander A | 387 |
| \ | Oct) Weirick, David L | 239 | 1897 | Wilson, Francis M | 72 |
| 1889 s | Wheeler, Robert T | 247 | *1943 s | Wilson, Robert T, Jr | 313 |
| 1896 | Wells, Thomas B | 68 | 1910 | Wodell, Ruthven A. | 126 |
| *1943 s | Whelan, G André | 312 | 18947 | Wood, Arthur H | 359 |
| 1926 | Whitaker, George A | 153 | 1888 s | Woodruff, Frank C | 246 |
| 1910 | White, W Preston | 124 | 1898 | Woolsey, John M. | 82 |
| 1891 <i>dp</i> | White, Wilbert W | 334 | * 1930 | Wooster, Hıram E | 157 |
| ★ 1945 | Whitehouse, George B | 235 | 1911 5 | Wrenshall, Richard | 283 |
| 1895 | Whitelaw, William N | 62 | 1927 n | Zurrer, Gertrude | 384 |

FORMS OF BEQUEST

IN answer to many inquires from alumni and friends of the University who plan to remember Yale in their wills, the following forms are suggested:

(GENERAL)

(SPECIFIC)

(It is strongly recommended that a competent lawyer be employed to prepare the will and to supervise its execution in order to comply with all the requirements of the law of the state in which the maker of the will resides. It is also wise to give the University considerable latitude in the use of any fund so that a change of circumstances may not impair the usefulness of the gift. The Treasurer of the University will be glad upon request to review the phrasing of any proposed form of bequest.)